

# Tetrahedron

pp 4341-4346



# Contents

# ARTICLES

# A new efficient and practical synthesis of 2-deoxy-L-ribose Bong Hwan Cho, Jin Hwan Kim, Heung Bae Jeon<sup>\*</sup> and Kwan Soo Kim<sup>\*</sup>



# **Synthesis of L-arabinopyranose containing hederagenin saponins** Karen Plé,\* Martin Chwalek and Laurence Voutquenne-Nazabadioko

The synthesis of eight L-arabinopyranose containing hederagenin saponins, five of which are natural products, and their methyl esters is described.



# Synthesis of alkyl 4-(diethoxymethyl)-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylates: useful scaffold for pp 4363–4371 highly functionalised 3-(pyridin-3-yl)isoxazoles

José Luis García Ruano,\* Cristina Fajardo and M. Rosario Martín\*



# pp 4347-4362

COOR



Palladium-catalyzed cyclization reactions of propargylic carbonates with nucleophiles: a methodology PP 4381–4393 for the syntheses of substituted 2,3-dihydrofurans and benzofurans

Masahiro Yoshida,\* Yukio Morishita, Mika Fujita and Masataka Ihara\*



A new strategy for the synthesis of highly functionalised fluorinated compounds by reaction of lithium pp 4395–4402 dianions of carboxylic acids with perfluoroketene dithioacetals

Enrique Sotoca, Jean-Philippe Bouillon, Salvador Gil, Margarita Parra\* and Charles Portella\*



pp 4403-4407

A new synthesis of (-)-thioambrox and its 8-epimer Maria do Céu Costa,\* Susana G. Teixeira, Cristina B. Rodrigues, Pedro Ryberg Figueiredo and Maria João Marcelo Curto



4336

Reaction of magnesium alkylidene carbenoids with lithium acetylides and lithium thiolates: a novel pp 4409–4418 synthesis of conjugated enynes and vinyl sulfides

Masanori Watanabe, Masatomo Nakamura and Tsuyoshi Satoh\*



# Synthesis of a novel farnesyl transferase inhibitor, ABT-100; selective preparation of a stereogenic pp 4419–4425 tertiary carbinol

Michael J. Rozema,\* Albert W. Kruger, Bridget D. Rohde, Bhadra Shelat, Lakshmi Bhagavatula, James J. Tien, Weijiang Zhang and Rodger F. Henry





# Enantioselective total synthesis of (-)-microcarpalide

Paolo Davoli,\* Raffaele Fava, Stefania Morandi, Alberto Spaggiari and Fabio Prati\*



# Sulfonate protecting groups. Synthesis of O- and C-methylated inositols: D- and L-ononitol, D- and L-laminitol, mytilitol and *scyllo*-inositol methyl ether

Manash P. Sarmah, Mysore S. Shashidhar,\* Kana M. Sureshan, Rajesh G. Gonnade and Mohan M. Bhadbhade\*



pp 4427-4436

pp 4437-4446

# Bi(III) halides as efficient catalysts for the *O*-acylative cleavage of tetrahydrofurans: an expeditious pp 4447–4452 entry to tetralins

Simon J. Coles, James F. Costello,\* William N. Draffin, Michael B. Hursthouse and Simon P. Paver



The utility of the mild (DCM/20  $^{\circ}$ C), high yielding, regioselective, *O*-acylative cleavage of tetrahydrofurans using organic acid halides and catalytic Bi(III) halides is illustrated with the preparation of a tetralin.

# Synthesis and rearrangement of cycloalkyl[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-8/9-ones: an access to pp 4453–4460 cycloalkyl[1,2-*d*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-5-ones

Ouro-Sama Adetchessi, Jean-Michel Léger, Jean Guillon, Isabelle Forfar-Bares, Jean-Jacques Bosc and Christian Jarry\*

4a-Hydroxycycloalkyl[1,2-e]oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidin-9-ones **2** were synthesized from ethyl 2-oxocyclohexanecarboxylate by an one-step cyclocondensation from the 2-amino-2-oxazolines **1a**–**c** in ethanol at room temperature, and easily dehydrated to provide oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidin-9-ones **3**. In refluxing xylene, the reaction conducted with various ethyl 2-oxocycloalkanecarboxylates led to the two isomeric oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidinones **3** and **4**.



pp 4467-4474

**The solvent effect on the reaction constants of** *tert***-butyl radical addition to 2-substituted allyl chlorides PP 4461–4466** Yuh-Wern Wu,\* Hsu-Ting Huang, Zhau-Jie Huang, Huang-Ming Huang and Jyh-Ferng Yang



# **Exhaustive degradation of the ring D of 3,20-epoxy** *ent*-kaurane-type diterpene maoecrystal A Liang Xu and Feng-Peng Wang\*



4338

pp 4475-4483

# Organometallic alkylation of 2-chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine: a study Simona Samaritani, Giovanni Signore, Corrado Malanga and Rita Menicagli\*



Amygdaloidins A–L, twelve new 13 α-OH jatrophane diterpenes from Euphorbia amygdaloides L.pp 4485–4494Gabriella Corea, Caterina Fattorusso, Ernesto Fattorusso and Virginia Lanzotti\*P

Amygdaloidins A–L, new jatrophane diterpenes with unique substitution pattern, have been isolated and their structures established by NMR and MS methods. To deeper investigate the two main conformations adopted by the jatrophanes, we have carried out a molecular modeling calculation on amygdaloidin A and on the previously isolated euphodendroidin I.

# Reduction of indolo[2,3-b]quinoxalines

Robert Engqvist, Birgitta Stensland and Jan Bergman\*



pp 4495-4500

Contents / Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4335-4340

# **OTHER CONTENTS**

4340

Calendar Contributors to this issue Instructions to contributors pp I–V p VII pp IX–XII

\*Corresponding author ()<sup>+</sup> Supplementary data available via ScienceDirect



Full text of this journal is available, on-line from ScienceDirect. Visit www.sciencedirect.com for more information.



This journal is part of **ContentsDirect**, the *free* alerting service which sends tables of contents by e-mail for Elsevier books and journals. You can register for **ContentsDirect** online at: <u>http://contentsdirect.elsevier.com</u>

Indexed/Abstracted in: AGRICOLA, Beilstein, BIOSIS Previews, CAB Abstracts, Chemical Abstracts, Chemical Engineering and Biotechnology Abstracts, Current Biotechnology Abstracts, Current Contents: Life Sciences, Current Contents: Physical, Chemical and Earth Sciences, Current Contents Search, Derwent Drug File, Ei Compendex, EMBASE/Excerpta Medica, Medline, PASCAL, Research Alert, Science Citation Index, SciSearch



ISSN 0040-4020



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4341-4346

# A new efficient and practical synthesis of 2-deoxy-L-ribose

Bong Hwan Cho, Jin Hwan Kim,<sup>†</sup> Heung Bae Jeon\* and Kwan Soo Kim\*

Department of Chemistry, Center for Bioactive Molecular Hybrids, Yonsei University, Seodaemun-gu Sinchon-dong 134, Seoul, 120-749, Korea

Received 27 January 2005; revised 1 March 2005; accepted 2 March 2005

Available online 19 March 2005

**Abstract**—An efficient and practical route for large-scale synthesis of 2-deoxy-L-ribose starting from L-ascorbic acid was developed in eight steps without chromatographic purification for all intermediates. Additionally, (2S,3R)-3,4-epoxy-1,2-*O*-isopropylidenebutane-1,2-diol, a versatile intermediate in carbohydrate synthesis, was also prepared readily in excellent yield as a key intermediate. © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

## 1. Introduction

The use of L-enantiomers of natural and modified nucleosides in medical application has increased dramatically due to their potent biological activity and lower toxicity compared to the corresponding D-nucleosides.<sup>1–6</sup> Among them, L-2'-fluoro-5-methylarabinofuranosyl uracil (L-FMAU),<sup>2</sup> L-thymidine (L-T),<sup>3</sup> L-3'-thiacytidine (L-3TC),<sup>4</sup> L-5-fluoro-3'-thiacytidine (L-FTC),<sup>4a,5</sup> L-2',3'dideoxycytidine (L-ddC),<sup>6</sup> and L-5-fluoro-2',3'-dideoxycytidine  $(L-FddC)^{6b,c}$  have been developed as excellent antiviral agents with greatly reduced toxicity. In addition, oligonucleotides composed of 2-deoxy-L-ribose (2-deoxy-Lerythro-pentose 1) show resistance to digestion by certain nucleases.<sup>7</sup> Enantiomeric L-DNA and meso-DNA are, therefore, valuable tools for studying protein-DNA interactions and are promising antisense agents.<sup>8</sup> Recently, it was reported that 2-deoxy-L-ribose (1) and its analogs enhance apoptosis and suppress the growth of tumors by competitively inhibiting the activities of 2-deoxy-D-ribose and thus these analogs display promise for anti-tumor therapy.9

A great deal of effort, therefore, has been devoted to the synthesis of modified nucleosides with the unnatural L-configuration, which requires ready access to L-carbohydrates, especially L-ribose and its derivatives. For 2-deoxy-L-ribose (1), several syntheses have been published using naturally occurring carbohydrate starting materials

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.03.001

such as L-arabinose<sup>10</sup> and L-ascorbic acid.<sup>11</sup> Even though L-ascorbic acid (2) has been used as a starting material, none of these methods, including our previous experience,<sup>11a</sup> have proved to be an efficient and practical procedure for the preparation of 1 in large quantities. We herein report an efficient and practical method for the large-scale synthesis of 2-deoxy-L-ribose (1) from cheap and commercially available L-ascorbic acid (2).

# 2. Results and discussion

Our synthesis of 2-deoxy-L-ribose (1) commenced with the protection of the 5,6-diol of L-ascorbic acid (2) (Scheme 1). Treatment of 2 with acetyl chloride in acetone according to the published procedure afforded 5,6-O-isopropylidene-Lascorbic acid (3) in 95% yield.<sup>12</sup> Oxidation of 3 with hydrogen peroxide produced threonic acid sodium salt  $4^{13}$ which was then transformed to methyl ester 5 with dimethyl sulfate and sodium bicarbonate in water. At this point, we slightly altered the known procedure<sup>13</sup> for the preparation of 5. Thus, without isolation of the oxidation product 4, it was methylated in situ by slow addition of dimethyl sulfate to maintain the basic condition, which increased the yield of 5. Treatment of the alcohol 5 with tosyl chloride in the presence of pyridine provided tosylate 6 in 95% yield, which was purified by recrystallization from cold (below -10 °C) isopropyl alcohol and hexane. Reduction of the ester 6 with sodium borohydride, and subsequent intramolecular S<sub>N</sub>2 displacement of the tosylate by the alkoxide in the resulting primary alcohol using sodium methoxide smoothly gave the epoxide 7 in 98% yield. The fact that the key intermediate 7 was obtained in 69% overall yield from L-ascorbic acid (2) with no column chromatography clearly indicated that the present method

Keywords: L-Enantiomer; Large-scale synthesis; Epoxide-ring opening; Nitrile.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding authors. Tel.: +82 2 2123 2640/7615; fax: +82 2 365 7608; e-mail addresses: hbj@yonsei.ac.kr; kwan@yonsei.ac.kr

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Present address: Complex Carbohydrate Research Center, University of Georgia, 315 Riverbend Road, Athens, Georgia 30602-4712, USA



#### Scheme 1.

for the preparation of **7** is more efficient and suitable for the industrial application than the previously reported procedures.<sup>13b,c,14</sup>

In the previous reports, 2-deoxy-L-ribose (1) and its derivatives were synthesized by way of dithiane acetal **8**, which was prepared by the epoxide ring opening of **7** with dithiane anion (Scheme 2).<sup>11a,15</sup> Reaction employing dithiane anion and *n*-butyllithium, however, is difficult process to be applied for an industrial mass production. Therefore, we decided to utilize the cyanide as the source of one carbon extension and as the nucleophile for epoxide ring opening as well. Nucleophilic opening of the epoxide ring of the compound **7** with KCN in the presence of



Scheme 2.



Scheme 3.

Table 1. Epoxide ring opening of 7 with cyanide under various conditions

Reagent	Solvent	Temparature (°C)	Yield (%)
Acetone cyanohydrin <sup>16</sup>	THF	40	18
Et <sub>2</sub> AICN <sup>17</sup>	Toluene	0	92
KCN	DMF	60	No reaction
KCN	MeOH	40	72
KCN, 18-crown-6 <sup>18</sup>	CH <sub>3</sub> CN	40	42
KCN, cat. TBAB <sup>16</sup>	H <sub>2</sub> O/DCE	40	98

tetrabutylammonium bromide (TBAB) as a phase transfer catalyst in dichloroethane (DCE) and water afforded almost quantitatively the desired nitrile 9 (Scheme 3, Table 1).<sup>16</sup> This method would also be very efficient for large scale mass production because only simple extraction is necessary for purification of the product 9 due to requirement of only 1 mol% of TBAB and the low partition coefficient of TBAB to Et<sub>2</sub>O. On the other hand, the use of acetone cyanohydrin<sup>16</sup> as a cyanide source failed to open the epoxide ring of 7 effectively. Although the reaction with diethylaluminum cyanide (Et<sub>2</sub>AlCN)<sup>17</sup> gave 92% conversion to 9 in our trial, its use is limited in industrial application due to toxicity and requirement of anhydrous condition. While reaction of 7 with KCN in DMF did not occur, those with KCN in MeOH and with KCN in the presence of 18-crown-6 in CH<sub>3</sub>CN<sup>18</sup> furnished 9 in 72% and 42% yield, respectively.

Since attempts to convert directly the hydroxyl nitrile 9 into an aldehyde with DIBAL-H turned out to be futile, the hydroxyl group of 9 was protected with *t*-butyldimethylsilyl (TBS) chloride to afford compound 10 (Scheme 4). When the TBS protected alcohol 10 was subjected to the reduction with DIBAL-H at -78 °C, aldehyde 11 was obtained in 40% yield. Hydrolysis of both the isopropylidene group and the TBS group in 11 with 1 N HCl in ethanol afforded the crude 1, but we were not able to purify the product 1 without column chromatography because of the inorganic salts generated from the addition of NaOH/NaHCO<sub>3</sub> to neutralize the reaction mixture. Instead of using HCl, hydrolysis of 11 using Dowex 50W-X8 resin<sup>19</sup> in MeOH afforded acetal 12, while the same reaction in H<sub>2</sub>O did not proceed.

The failure to obtain efficiently the pure **1** from **9** without column chromatography separation in the above procedure led us to consider another practical method. Compound **9** was deprotected, hydrolyzed, and lactonized successively at one-pot with conc. sulfuric acid in refluxing water and dichloroethane to give  $\gamma$ -lactone **13** in 96% yield (Scheme 5). Reduction of **13** by disiamylborane [(Sia)<sub>2</sub>BH] in THF



Scheme 4.



#### Scheme 5.

followed by treatment the resulting hemiacetal with aniline in aqueous ethanol gave anilide **14** in 56% yield.<sup>20</sup> Finally, **14** was converted to 2-deoxy-L-ribose (**1**) by transamination using benzaldehyde in the presence of catalytic amount of benzoic acid.<sup>21</sup>

# 3. Conclusion

We have developed an efficient route to 2-deoxy-L-ribose (1) from inexpensive and commercially available L-ascorbic acid (2) in an overall 30% yield. The present method would be utilized as a practical and economical procedure for large-scale synthesis of 1 since no column chromatography is required for purification of any intermediates and reagents used in all steps are inexpensive and easy to handle. Furthermore, the epoxide 7, which is a versatile intermediate in carbohydrate synthesis, was prepared readily and cleanly in large quantity from 2 in excellent yield.

#### 4. Experimental

# 4.1. General

All reagents were purchased from commercial suppliers and used without further purification unless otherwise noted. Thin-layer chromatography was performed using silica gel 60 F254 precoated plates (0.25 mm thickness) with a fluorescent indicator. Melting points are uncorrected. IR spectra were recorded on a Nicolet Impact 400 FT-IR spectrometer. NMR spectra were recorded on a Bruker 250 NMR spectrometer. Chemical shifts are reported in parts per million (ppm) downfield from tetramethylsilane (TMS) unless otherwise noted. Optical rotations were measured with a Rudolph Autopol III automatic polarimeter.

## 4.1.1. 5,6-O-Isopropylidene-L-ascorbic acid (3)

A 10-L round bottomed flask, equipped with a mechanical stirrer and a reflux condenser, was charged with L-ascorbic acid (**2**, 1000 g, 5.68 mol) and acetone (2500 mL). To this solution was added acetyl chloride (440 mL, 6.19 mol). After being stirred for 2 h at 40 °C, the reaction mixture was cooled to -10 °C, then filtered and washed with cold acetone (1000 mL). The filtrate was dried in vacuum oven to afford 1166 g (95%) of the title compound **3** as a white solid:  $R_f$ =0.2 (EtOAc); mp 202.7–203.5 °C [lit.<sup>13a</sup> mp 218–219 °C]; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (250 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O)  $\delta$ 1.38 (s, 6H), 4.18 (dd, J=9.1, 5.0 Hz, 1H), 4.32 (dd, J=9.1, 7.2 Hz, 1H), 4.60 (ddd, J=7.2, 5.0, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 4.93 (d, J=2.2 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (63 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O)  $\delta$  25.7, 26.1, 65.1, 73.7, 74.5, 109.3, 118.4, 152.7, 170.5; IR (neat) 3238, 1758, 1670 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

## 4.1.2. Methyl 3,4-O-isopropylidene-L-threonate (5)

A 10-L round bottomed flask, equipped with a mechanical stirrer, was charged with 5,6-O-isopropylidene-L-ascorbic acid (3, 887 g, 4.1 mol) and distilled water (4000 mL). To this suspended solution was added aqueous 30% NaOH (300 mL) and the reaction mixture was stirred to become a clear solution. To the clear solution was added NaHCO3 (861 g, 10.3 mol), and then 35% hydrogen peroxide (800 mL, 8.2 mol) was added dropwise and the reaction mixture was stirred for further 1 h at room temperature. After sodium sulfite (62 g, 0.49 mol) and NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (517 g, 6.15 mol) were added to the reaction mixture at room temperature, the resulting solution was warmed to 40 °C and dimethylsulfate (1530 mL, 16.4 mol) was added dropwise at 40 °C. After being stirred for 4 h at 40 °C, the reaction mixture was cooled to room temperature, extracted with  $CH_2Cl_2$  (4000 mL×3). The combined organic layers were dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated under reduced pressure to afford 611 g (78%) of the title compound 5 as a colorless oil:  $R_f = 0.57$  (EtOAc); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 1.28 (s, 3H), 1.36 (s, 3H), 3.07 (d, J=8.1 Hz, 1H), 3.83 (s, 3H), 3.99–4.17 (m, 3H), 4.40 (td,  $J_t$ =6.7 Hz,  $J_{\rm d}$ =2.8 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (63 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  25.3, 26.1, 52.8, 65.6, 70.3, 76.3, 110.0, 172.6; IR (neat) 3489, 2992, 1742 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

# **4.1.3.** Methyl 2-*O*-(*p*-toluenesulfonyl)-3,4-*O*-isopropyl-idene-L-threonate (6)

A 6-L round bottomed flask, equipped with a mechanical stirrer, was charged with methyl 3,4-O-isopropylidene-L-threonate (5, 341 g, 1.79 mol) and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (1790 mL). To this solution were added pyridine (555 mL, 7.17 mol) and *p*-toluenesulfonyl chloride (410 g, 2.15 mol) at 0 °C. After being stirred for 10 h at 0 °C, the reaction mixture was quenched with water (1790 mL). The resulting solution was stirred for further 10 min, then the organic layer was

separated and washed with 1 N HCl (1790 mL) and with brine (1790 mL). The organic layer was dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated under reduced pressure to give a crude syrub, which was crystallized from 20% 2-propanol in hexane to afford 587 g (95%) of the title compound **6**:  $R_{\rm f}$ = 0.63 (hexane/EtOAc, 1:1); mp 58.3–59.1 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 1.29 (s, 3H), 1.30 (s, 3H), 2.45 (s, 3H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 3.96 (dd, J=9.0, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 4.05 (dd, J=9.0, 6.6 Hz, 1H), 4.44–4.49 (m, 1H), 4.84 (d, J=4.8 Hz, 1H), 7.19–7.81 (m, 4H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (63 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  21.7, 25.1, 25.9, 52.8, 65.1, 74.6, 77.6, 110.6, 128.2, 129.8, 132.8, 145.3, 166.9; IR (neat) 3002, 2991, 1763 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

# **4.1.4.** (2*S*,3*R*)-3,4-Epoxy-1,2-*O*-isopropylidenebutane-1,2-diol (7)

A 10-L round bottomed flask, equipped with a mechanical stirrer, was charged with methyl 2-O-(p-toluenesulfonyl)-3,4-O-isopropylidene-L-threonate (6, 825 g, 2.4 mol), CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (1200 mL), and MeOH (1200 mL). After the solution was cooled to -5 °C, sodium borohydride (136 g, 3.6 mol) was added portionwise. After stirring for 2 h at rt, sodium methoxide (155 g, 2.9 mol) was added. After being stirred for further 4 h at rt, the reaction mixture was quenched with water (2400 mL) and the organic layer was separated. The aqueous layer was extracted with  $CH_2Cl_2$  (2000 mL×3). The combined organic layers were dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated under reduced pressure to afford 339 g (98%) of the title compound 7 as a colorless oil:  $R_f = 0.42$  (hexane/EtOAc, 2:1); <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $(250 \text{ MHz}, \text{CDCl}_3) \delta 1.37 \text{ (s, 3H)}, 1.46 \text{ (s, 3H)}, 2.66 \text{ (dd, } J =$ 4.9, 2.6 Hz, 1H), 2.85 (dd, J=4.8, 4.0 Hz, 1H), 3.00-3.05 (m, 1H), 3.83–3.95 (m, 2H), 4.13 (dd, *J*=8.1, 6.0 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (63 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 24.6, 25.8, 44.7, 51.2, 66.0, 75.7, 108.9; IR (neat) 2940, 2890, 1380, 1150, 1060 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

# 4.1.5. (2R,3S)-1-Cyano-3,4-O-isopropylidenebutanetriol (9)

A 10-L round bottomed flask, equipped with a mechanical stirrer, was charged with (2S,3R)-3,4-epoxy-1,2-O-isopropylidenebutane-1,2-diol (7, 500 g, 3.45 mol), tetrabutylammonium bromide (33.5 g, 0.1 mol), and dichloroethane (2890 mL). To this solution was added a solution of potassium cyanide (903 g, 13.8 mol) in water (2890 mL). After being stirred for 20 h at 40 °C, the reaction mixture was cooled to room temperature. The organic layer was separated. The aqueous layer was extracted with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3000 mL $\times$ 2). The combined organic layers were dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated under reduced pressure to afford 579 g (98%) of the title compound 9 as a white solid:  $R_{\rm f} = 0.32$  (hexane/EtOAc, 2:1);  $[\alpha]_{\rm D} = +9.2$  (c 2.8, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (250 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 1.35 (s, 3H), 1.42 (s, 3H), 2.58 (dd, J = 16.8, 7.3 Hz, 1H), 2.75 (dd, J =16.8, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 3.47 (m, 1H), 3.83 (m, 1H), 3.94-4.03 (m, 2H), 4.12 (m, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (63 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 23.1, 24.9, 26.7, 66.5, 68.8, 77.3, 110.0, 117.9; IR (neat) 3475, 3000, 2878, 2250 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>8</sub>H<sub>13</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>: C, 56.13; H, 7.65; N, 8.18. Found: C, 56.13; H, 7.71; N, 8.12.

# 4.1.6. 2-Deoxy-L-erythro-pentono-1,4-lactone (13)

A 2-L round bottomed flask, equipped with a mechanical stirrer and a reflux condenser, was charged with (2R,3S)-1-

cyano-3,4-*O*-isopropylidenebutanetriol (**9**, 105 g, 0.61 mol), dichloroethane (610 mL), and water (60 mL). After stirring to become a clear solution, 32.7 mL of concn sulfuric acid was added. The resulting solution was stirred for 1 h at 40 °C, heated to reflux for 5 h, and cooled to room temperature. After addition of THF (1200 mL) and MgSO<sub>4</sub> (150 g), the reaction mixture was stirred for further 1 h at rt. The resulting suspended solution was filtered and concentrated under reduced pressure to afford 78 g (96%) of the title compound **13** as a yellowish syrup:  $R_f$ =0.20 (EtOAc); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (250 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O)  $\delta$ 2.55 (dd, *J*=18.6, 2.6 Hz, 1H), 3.03 (dd, *J*=18.6, 6.7 Hz, 1H), 3.74 (dd, *J*=12.9, 4.3 Hz, 1H), 3.80 (dd, *J*=12.9, 3.1 Hz, 1H), 4.49–4.57 (m, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (63 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O)  $\delta$  38.0, 61.2, 68.5, 89.2, 179.8; IR (neat) 3437, 1937, 1755, 1625 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

# **4.1.7. 2-Deoxy-***N***-phenyl-***L-erythro***-pentofuranosylamine** (14)

A dry, 5-L round bottomed flask, equipped with a thermometer and a magnetic stirring bar, was charged with borane-dimethylsulfide complex (2 M in THF, 926 mL). After the solution was cooled to 0 °C, 2-methyl-2-butene (490 mL, 4.6 mol) was added dropwise and the resulting solution was stirred for 2 h at 0 °C. To this solution was added dropwise a solution of 2-deoxy-L-erythropentono-1,4-lactone (13, 122 g, 0.92 mol) in THF (920 mL) at 0 °C via cannula. The reaction mixture was stirred for 20 h at 20 °C, quenched with water (560 mL) and 6 N hydrochloric acid (8 mL), and stirred for 1 h at rt. The aqueous layer was separated and the organic layer was extracted with water (560 mL). To the combined aqueous layers were added ethanol (1120 mL) and aniline (84 mL, 0.92 mol). The resulting solution was stirred for 3 h at 5 °C. After the solution was cooled to -10 °C, the precipitated solid was collected by filtration, washed with cold acetone, and dried under reduced pressure to afford 108 g (56%) of the title compound 14:  $R_f = 0.65$  (MeOH/EtOAc, 1:5); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (250 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) δ1.69–1.89 (m, 2H), 3.42 (d, J=12.0 Hz, 1H), 3.52 (m, 1H), 3.63–3.74 (m, 2H), 4.40 (d, J=3.8 Hz, 1H), 4.62 (td,  $J_t=9.0$  Hz,  $J_d=2.0$  Hz, 1H), 4.73 (d, J=5.6 Hz, 1H), 6.38 (d, J=8.9 Hz, 1H), 6.56-6.66 (m, J=8.9 Hz, 1Hz), 6.56-6.66 (m, J=8.9 Hz, 1Hz), 6.56-6.66 (m, J=8.9 Hz, 1Hz), 6.56-6.66 (m, J=8.9 Hz), 6.56-6.66 (m, J=8.9 Hz),3H), 7.04–7.10 (m, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (63 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>) δ 34.7, 65.8, 66.8, 68.0, 80.0, 113.3, 117.0, 128.7, 146.5; IR (neat) 3330, 3255, 3062, 2910 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

#### **4.1.8. 2-deoxy-L-ribose** (1)

A 2-L round bottomed flask was charged with 2-deoxy-*N*-phenyl-L-*erythro*-pentofuranosylamine (**14**, 35 g, 0.17 mol), benzaldehyde (35 mL, 0.2 mol), benzoic acid (3.7 g, 0.03 mol), and water (1070 mL). After being stirred for 24 h at rt, the reaction mixture was washed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (1000 mL×3). The aqueous layer was concentrated under reduced pressure to afford 18.3 g (82%) of the title compound **1**:  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.30 (MeOH/EtOAc, 1:5);  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$ = +58 (*c* 1.06, H<sub>2</sub>O) [lit.<sup>21</sup> [ $\alpha$ ]\_{\rm D}= +60 (*c* 1.06, H<sub>2</sub>O)]; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$ 1.47 (m, 1H), 1.77 (m, 1H), 3.41–3.52 (m, 2H), 3.63 (dd, *J*=10.5, 2.4 Hz, 1H), 3.83 (m, 1H), 4.42–4.46 (m, 2H), 4.96 (m, 1H), 6.09 (d, *J*=5.4 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (75 MHz DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  36.8, 63.5, 65.6, 67.9, 91.8. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>5</sub>H<sub>10</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 44.77; H, 7.51. Found: C, 44.71; H, 7.55.

### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a grant from the Korea Science and Engineering Foundation through Center for Bioactive Molecular Hybrids (CBMH).

### **References and notes**

- (a) Okabe, M.; Sun, R.-C.; Tam, S. Y.-K.; Todaro, L. J.; Coffen, D. L. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 4780–4786.
   (b) Schinazi, R. F.; Gosselin, G.; Faraj, A.; Korba, B. E.; Liotta, D. C.; Chu, C. K.; Mathe, C.; Imbach, J.-L.; Sommadossi, J.-P. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 1994, 38, 2172–2174. (c) Gosselin, G.; Mathe, C.; Bergogne, M.-C.; Aubertin, A.-M.; Kirn, A.; Schinazi, R. F.; Sommadossi, J.-P.; Imbach, J.-L. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sci. Vie 1994, 317, 85–89.
   (d) Agrofoglio, L. A.; Challand, S. R. The chemistry of L-Nucleosides; Kluwer Academic: Dordrecht, 1998; pp 285– 319.
- Chu, C. K.; Ma, T. W.; Shanmuganathan, K.; Wang, C. G.; Xiang, Y. J.; Pai, S. B.; Yao, G. Q.; Sommadossi, J.-P.; Cheng, Y.-C. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. **1995**, *39*, 979–981.
- Spadari, S.; Maga, G.; Focher, F.; Ciarrocchi, G.; Manservigi, R.; Arcamone, F.; Capobianco, M.; Carcuro, A.; Colonna, F.; Iotti, S.; Garbesi, A. J. Med. Chem. 1992, 35, 4214–4220.
- (a) Chang, C.-N.; Doong, S.-L.; Zhou, J. H.; Beach, J. W.; Jeong, L. S.; Chu, C. K.; Tsai, C.-H.; Cheng, Y.-C. J. Biol. Chem. 1992, 267, 13938–13942. (b) Chang, C.-N.; Skalski, V.; Zhou, J. H.; Cheng, Y.-C. J. Biol. Chem. 1992, 267, 22414–22420. (c) Beach, J. W.; Jeong, L. S.; Alves, A. J.; Pohl, D.; Kim, H. O.; Chang, C.-N.; Doong, S.-L.; Schinazi, R. F.; Cheng, Y.-C.; Chu, C. K. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 2217–2219.
- (a) Kim, H. O.; Ahn, S. K.; Alves, A. J.; Beach, J. W.; Jeong, L. S.; Choi, B. G.; Van Roey, P.; Schinazi, R. F.; Chu, C. K. J. Med. Chem. 1992, 35, 1987–1995. (b) Hoong, L. K.; Strange, L. E.; Liotta, D. C.; Koszalka, G. W.; Burns, C. L.; Schinazi, R. F. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 5563–5565.
   (c) Schinazi, R. F.; McMillan, A.; Cannon, D.; Mathis, R.; Lloyd, R. M.; Peck, A.; Sommadossi, J.-P.; St. Clair, M.; Wilson, J.; Furman, P. A.; Painter, G.; Choi, W. B.; Liotta, D. C. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 1992, 36, 2423–2431.
   (d) Furman, P. A.; Davis, M.; Liotta, D. C.; Paff, M.; Frick, L. W.; Nelson, D. J.; Dornsife, R. E.; Wurster, J. A.; Wilson, L. J.; Fyfe, J. A.; Tuttle, J. V.; Miller, W. H.; Condreay, L.; Averett, D. R.; Schinazi, R. F.; Painter, G. R. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 1992, 36, 2686–2692.
- (a) Mansuri, M. M.; Farina, V.; Starrett, J. E., Jr; Benigni, D. A.; Brankovan, V.; Martin, J. C. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1991**, *1*, 65–68. (b) Lin, T. S.; Luo, M. Z.; Liu, M. C.; Pai, S. B.; Dutschman, G. E.; Cheng, Y.-C. J. Med. Chem. **1994**, 37, 798–803. (c) Gosselin, G.; Schinazi, R. F.; Sommadossi, J.-P.; Mathe, C.; Bergogne, M.-C.; Aubertin, A.-M.; Kirn, A.; Imbach, J.-L. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. **1994**, 38, 1292–1297. (d) Bolon, P. J.; Wang, P. Y.; Chu, C. K.; Gosselin, G.; Boudou, V.; Pierra, C.; Mathe, C.; Imbach, J.-L.; Faraj, A.; Alaoui, M. A.; Sommadossi, J.-P.; Pai, S. B.; Zhu, Y.-L.; Lin, J.-S.; Cheng, Y.-C.; Schinazi, R. F. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1996**, *6*, 1657–1662.

- (a) Fujimori, S.; Shudo, K.; Hashimoto, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 7436–7438. (b) Damha, M. J.; Giannaris, P. A.; Marfey, P.; Reid, L. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1991, 32, 2573–2576.
   (c) Asseline, U.; Hau, J.-F.; Czernecki, S.; Diguarher, T. L.; Perlat, M.-C.; Valery, J.-M.; Thuong, N. T. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1991, 19, 4067–4074.
- (a) Goodchild, J. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **1990**, *1*, 165–187.
   (b) Uhlmann, E.; Peyman, A. *Chem. Rev.* **1990**, *90*, 543–584.
   (c) Beaucage, S. L.; Iyer, R. P. *Tetrahedron* **1993**, *49*, 6123–6194.
   (d) Hashimoto, Y.; Iwanami, N.; Fujimori, S.; Shudo, K. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1993**, *115*, 9883–9887.
   (e) Damha, M. J.; Giannaris, P. A.; Marfey, P. *Biochemistry* **1994**, *33*, 7877–7885.
- (a) Uchimiya, H.; Furukawa, T.; Okamoto, M.; Nakajima, Y.; Matsushita, S.; Ikeda, R.; Gotanda, T.; Haraguchi, M.; Sumizawa, T.; Ono, M.; Kuwano, M.; Kanzaki, T.; Akiyama, S. *Cancer Res.* 2002, *62*, 2834–2839. (b) Ikeda, R.; Furukawa, T.; Kitazono, M.; Ishitsuka, K.; Okumura, H.; Tani, A.; Sumizawa, T.; Haraguchi, M.; Konatsu, M.; Uchimiya, H.; Ren, X. Q.; Motoya, T.; Yamada, K.; Akiyama, S. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2002, *291*, 806–812. (c) Nakajima, Y.; Gotanda, T.; Uchimiya, H.; Furukawa, T.; Haraguchi, M.; Ikeda, R.; Sumizawa, T.; Yoshida, H.; Akiyama, S. *Cancer Res.* 2004, *64*, 1794–1801.
- (a) Deriaz, R. E.; Overend, W. G.; Stacey, M.; Teece, E. G.; Wiggins, L. F. J. Chem. Soc. **1949**, 1879–1883. (b) Jung, M. E.; Xu, Y. Org. Lett. **1999**, 1, 1517–1519. (c) Zhang, W. J.; Ramasamy, K. S.; Averett, D. R. Nucleosides Nucleotides **1999**, 18, 2357–2365. (d) Shi, Z.-D.; Yang, B.-H.; Wu, Y.-L. Tetrahedron **2002**, 58, 3287–3296. (e) Chong, Y.; Chu, C. K. Carbohydr. Res. **2002**, 337, 397–402. (f) Stewart, A. J.; Evans, R. M.; Weymouth-Wilson, A. C.; Cowley, A. R.; Watkin, D. J.; Fleet, G. W. J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **2002**, 13, 2667–2672.
- (a) Kim, K. S.; Ahn, Y. H.; Hurh, E. Y.; Lee, E. J. J. Korean Chem. Soc. 1994, 34, 783–784. (b) Fazio, F.; Schneider, M. P. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2000, 11, 1869–1876. (c) Fazio, F.; Schneider, M. P. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2001, 12, 2143–2145.
- Jackson, K. G. A.; Jones, J. K. N. Can. J. Chem. 1969, 47, 2498–2501.
- (a) Wei, C. C.; De Bernardo, S.; Tengi, J. P.; Borgese, J.; Weigele, M. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 3462–3467.
   (b) Abushanab, E.; Vemishetti, P.; Leiby, R. W.; Singh, H. K.; Mikkilineni, A. B.; Wu, D. C.-J.; Saibaba, R.; Panzica, R. P. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 2598–2602. (c) Kim, K. S.; Cho, I. H.; Ahn, Y. H.; Park, J. I. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1995, *1*, 1783–1786. (d) Sivaramakrishnan, A.; Nadolski, G. T.; McAlexander, I. A.; Davidson, B. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 213–216.
- (a) Le Merrer, Y.; Gravier-Pelletier, C.; Dumas, J.; Depezay, J. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31*, 1003–1006. (b) Pottie, M.; Van der Eycken, J.; Vandewalle, M. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1991**, *2*, 329–330.
- 15. Vargeese, C.; Abushanab, E. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 4400-4403.
- 16. Mitchell, D.; Koenig, T. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 3281–3284.
- Ko, S. Y.; Masamune, H.; Sharpless, K. B. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 667–671.
- Zubrick, J. W.; Dunbar, B. I.; Durst, H. D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1975, 16, 71–74.

- 19. Corey, E. J.; Ponder, J. W.; Ulrich, P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1980**, *21*, 137–140.
- 20. Kita, Y.; Tamura, O.; Itoh, F.; Yasuda, H.; Kishino, H.; Ke, Y. Y.; Tamura, Y. J. Org. Chem. **1988**, *53*, 554–561.
- Nakaminami, G.; Shioi, S.; Sugiyama, Y.; Isemura, S.; Shibuya, M.; Nakagawa, M. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1972**, 45, 2624–2634.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4347-4362

Synthesis of L-arabinopyranose containing hederagenin saponins

Karen Plé,\* Martin Chwalek and Laurence Voutquenne-Nazabadioko

CNRS FRE 2715 Isolement, Structure, Transformations et Synthèse de Substances Naturelles, Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne, IFR 53 Biomolécules, CPCBAI, Bât. 18, Moulin de la Housse, BP 1039, 51687 Reims, France

Received 7 January 2005; revised 24 February 2005; accepted 2 March 2005

Available online 24 March 2005

Abstract—The synthesis of eight hederagenin saponins, five of which are natural products, and their methyl esters is described as part of an ongoing study of the biological activity of triterpenoid saponins. Six disaccharides consisting of an L-arabinopyranose glycosylated in positions 2, 3, or 4 with a  $\beta$ -D-xylopyranose or a  $\beta$ -D-glucopyranose residue, respectively, were synthesized in good to excellent yields. The saponins were then prepared in good yields through glycosylation with a suitably protected hederagenin derivative followed by total deprotection and treatment with diazomethane.

© 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

### 1. Introduction

Saponins are triterpene or steroid glycosides which are found in a wide variety of plants and certain marine organisms.<sup>1</sup> Interest in saponins is rapidly increasing due to their numerous biological properties,<sup>2,3</sup> but a limiting factor in their evaluation is often the small amounts obtained from natural product extraction. Chemical synthesis offers an alternative to saponin extraction in plants, and opens the door to the preparation of tailor-made molecules. In the study of saponin structure–activity relationships, both the aglycone and the sugar moiety play an important role in the evaluation of biological activity and must be considered individually. It is thus essential to have access to all the positional isomers of a given sugar moiety while keeping the aglycone constant. We have implemented this strategy as part of our ongoing study of the hemolytic activity of hemi-synthetic hederagenin saponins in an attempt to better understand the role of the sugar moiety on hemolysis.<sup>4</sup> Having previously synthesized  $\alpha$ -hederin and its positional isomers with respect to the L-rhamnopyranosyl-L-arabinopyranose disaccharide moiety<sup>5</sup> the synthesis of two



Figure 1. D-Xyl-L-Ara and D-Glc-L-Ara hederagenin saponins.

Keywords: Saponins; Glycosylation; Hederagenin; Natural product synthesis.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +33 3 26 91 84 19; fax: +33 3 26 91 35 96; e-mail: karen.ple@univ-reims.fr

additional families of hederagenin saponins was undertaken (Fig. 1). While keeping an L-arabinopyranose as the first sugar, a D-xylopyranose and a D-glucopyranose were chosen as the second one in the disaccharide moiety. In total, we wished to synthesize eight hederagenin saponins including **2** and **6** having a  $\beta$  configuration between the aglycone and the sugar chain, normally not found in natural sources. Five of the eight saponins are naturally occurring in plants (**1**, **3**, **5**, **7**, **8**), <sup>1,6</sup> and several of the saponins have shown molluscicidal<sup>6b,7</sup> (**3**, **5**), hemolytic<sup>8</sup> (**5**), and cytotoxic<sup>9</sup> (**5**,**7**) activities.

While the synthesis of steroidal saponins has been widely reported in the literature,<sup>10</sup> that of triterpenoid saponins has attracted less attention. A large majority of triterpenoid saponin syntheses involve oleanolic acid as the aglycone,<sup>11</sup> and the use of others remains rare (e.g., hederagenin,<sup>5</sup> glycyrrhetic acid,<sup>12</sup> ursolic acid,<sup>13</sup> or medicagenic acid<sup>14</sup>).

Few examples exist in the literature concerning the synthesis of disaccharides with an L-arabinopyranose at the reducing end. In the  $\beta$ -D-xylopyranosyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranose series, several syntheses have been reported for the disaccharide portion of the saponin OSW-1 ( $\beta$ -D-Xyl-( $1 \rightarrow$ 3)- $\alpha$ -L-Ara).<sup>15</sup> Deng et al. originally reported the use of a benzyl L-arabinopyranose precursor with free hydroxyl groups in positions 3 and 4 and a trichloroacetimidate derivative of  $\beta$ -D-xylopyranose giving a mixture of disaccharides with glycosylation in position 3 being the predominant reaction.<sup>15e</sup> The same authors also reported that glycosylation of a phenyl 1-thio-L-arabinopyranose precursor with free hydroxyl groups in positions 3 and 4 resulted in the  $\beta$ -D-Xyl-(1 $\rightarrow$ 4)- $\alpha$ -L-Ara disaccharide as the major reaction product.<sup>16</sup> In the synthesis of Yu et al.<sup>15c</sup> the target disaccharide  $\beta$ -D-Xyl-(1 $\rightarrow$ 3)- $\alpha$ -L-Ara was prepared in 93% yield from a protected L-arabinopyranose derivative and a D-xylopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate.

In the  $\beta$ -D-glucopyranose- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranose series, Liptak et al. described the first synthesis of a  $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 2)$ - $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranose disaccharide derivative in 1982 as part of a <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectroscopy study of methyl and benzyl  $\beta$ -L-arabinopyranose oligosaccharides.<sup>17</sup> The disaccharide was synthesized in low yield using a suitably protected benzyl  $\beta$ -L-arabinopyranose derivative and an acetobromoglucose in the presence of an excess of mercury cyanide. More recently, Field et al. reported the synthesis of two D-glucopyranose-L-arabinopyranose disaccharides which are fragments of the oat root saponin Avenacin A-1.<sup>18</sup> The desired disaccharides were synthesized in good yields using a thioglycoside donor.

We wish to describe here the efficient synthesis of  $\beta$ -D-xylopyranosyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranose and  $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranose disaccharides and their use in the synthesis of eight hederagenin saponins and their methyl esters as part of a directed study of the hemolytic activity of hederagenin saponins. To our knowledge, this is the first reported synthesis of  $\beta$ -D-Xyl-(1 $\rightarrow$ 2)- $\alpha$ -L-Ara and  $\beta$ -D-Glc-(1 $\rightarrow$ 3)- $\alpha$ -L-Ara disaccharides as well as that of eight hederagenin saponins, five of which are natural products.

## 2. Results and discussion

The previously described L-arabinopyranose derivatives **9**, **10** and **11** were the starting point for the disaccharide syntheses.<sup>5</sup> In the D-xylopyranose series, glycosylation with 2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -D-xylopyranosyl trichloroacetimi-date<sup>19</sup> (**12**) gave the desired disaccharides in good to excellent yields (Scheme 1).

When the same glycosylation strategy was tried in the D-glucopyranose series using 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -D-glucopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (16),<sup>20</sup> the reaction resulted in the isolation of the corresponding orthoesters in good yields (75–92%) with no trace of the desired disaccharides (Scheme 2). Modifying the reaction conditions or attempting orthoester opening with excess TMSOTf or HgBr<sub>2</sub> resulted in total degradation of the starting material. The use of the corresponding per-O-benzoylated thioglycoside donor  $17^{21}$  was also tried with





Scheme 2.





the arabinopyranose acceptor **10**. Once again, the orthoester was isolated in good yield.

Ethyl 2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tetra-*O*-benzyl-1-thio- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranoside (**22**) was then synthesized using an analogous procedure described for D-galactose (Scheme 3).<sup>22</sup> By replacing the benzoate protecting groups in positions 3, 4 and 6 with benzyl groups we hoped to enhance the reactivity of the thioglycoside donor, and avoid, if possible, further orthoester formation.

Compound 22 was then successfully used as a donor in the glycosylation reactions with the arabinopyranose acceptors 9, 10, and 11. The disaccharides were obtained in good to moderate yields with no detectable orthoesters in the reaction mixtures (Scheme 4).

One possible explanation for the moderate yield of disaccharide 24 could be the steric hindrance created by



the addition of a D-glucopyranose in position 3 of the L-arabinopyranose derivative **10**. Optimization of the glycosylation reaction at different temperatures or by the addition of a larger quantity of the thioglycoside donor (up to 3 equiv) did not increase the yield.

The anomeric MPM protecting groups of the disaccharides (13–15, 23–25) were then removed in the presence of aqueous trifluoroacetic acid at room temperature. The resulting hemiacetal was reacted with trichloroacetonitrile in the presence of DBU, giving good to excellent yields of the corresponding trichloroacetimidates (Table 1).

 Table 1. Trichloroacetimidate formation

OR <sub>3</sub>		1. TFA, $H_2O$ , $CH_2CI_2$		$^{2}$ $OR_{3}$ $O$		
R <sub>2</sub> O OR <sub>1</sub>		2. CCl <sub>3</sub> CN, DBU CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub>		R <sub>2</sub> O R <sub>1</sub> O	O ↓ NH CCl <sub>3</sub>	
Disaccharide	$R_1$	R <sub>2</sub>	R <sub>3</sub>	Trichloro acetimidate	Yield	
13	Xyl <sup>a</sup>	OBz	Bz	27	89%	
14	Bz	Xyl	Bz	28	80%	
15	Bz	Bz	Xyl	29	83%	
23	Glc <sup>b</sup>	Bz	Bz	30	78%	

Bz

Glo

31

32

74%

77%

<sup>a</sup> Xyl=(2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzoyl- $\beta$ -D-xylopyranosyl).

Bz

Bz

24

25

<sup>b</sup> Glc =  $(2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl-\beta-D-glucopyranosyl).$ 

Glo

Bz

Saponin synthesis was then performed with the activated disaccharides 27–32 and the previously described allyl hederagenate derivative 33.<sup>5</sup> Coupling at low temperature in the presence of a catalytic amount of TMSOTf gave the protected saponins in excellent yields (Table 2).

As expected, the presence of a benzoate in position 2 of the L-arabinopyranose moiety directed the glycosylation

Table 2. Hederagenin glycosylation

reaction and gave exclusive formation of the  $\alpha$  anomers as a result of neighboring group participation. For the trichloroacetimidates **27** and **30** possessing a sugar residue in position 2, the  $\beta$  anomers were isolated as the major reaction products.

To prepare the corresponding  $\alpha$  anomers of these two saponins, the coupling reaction was carried out in acetonitrile. Use of this solvent is known to promote equatorial bond formation in glycoside synthesis when neighboring group participation is absent.<sup>23</sup> Glycosylation with 2 equiv of the donor in acetonitrile at -35 °C gave a mixture of anomers with the desired  $\alpha$  anomer being the major reaction product in both cases (Table 3).

Separation of the two anomers was possible by reverse phase HPLC in 100% acetonitrile. Based on the <sup>1</sup>H NMR coupling constants of the major  $\alpha$  anomers ( $J_{1,2}$ ,  $J_{4,5a}$ and  $J_{4,5b}$ ), it was observed that for compound **40** with a D-xylopyranosyl-L-arabinopyranose side chain the arabinopyranose ring adopts a <sup>1</sup>C<sub>4</sub> conformation to relieve steric hindrance. In the case of the saponin with a D-glucopyranose-L-arabinopyranose side chain (**41**) the situation is not as clear-cut as several coupling constants remain undetermined.

Total deprotection of the saponin derivatives was performed in one or two steps based on the starting compound. While having previously reported the efficient removal of a hederagenin allyl ester in the presence of pyrrolidine and catalytic amounts of tetrakis(triphenylphosphine) palladium(0) [Pd(PPh\_3)\_4],<sup>4,5</sup> we sought to reduce the somewhat long reaction times necessary to achieve complete deprotection. In a normal de-allylation reaction, excess pyrrolidine serves as a nucleophile, driving the reaction to completion.<sup>24</sup> A recent literature example describes the deprotection of allylphenols in a 10% KOH/MeOH solution in the presence of a catalytic amount of Pd/C.<sup>25</sup> We felt that replacing the pyrrolidine with an excess of KOH could lead



<sup>a</sup> Xyl=(2,3,4-tri-O-benzoyl-β-D-xylopyranosyl).

<sup>b</sup> Glc =  $(2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl-\beta-D-glucopyranosyl).$ 

Table 3. Glycosylation in acetonitrile



to the deprotection of both the allyl and benzoyl protecting groups in one step. It was found that heating the saponin in the presence of 1 equiv of  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$  in a 3% KOH solution in methanol at 60 °C for 6 h afforded the completely deprotected D-xylopyranosyl-L-arabinopyranose saponins (1-4) or the partially protected D-glucopyranosyl-L-arabinopyranose ones in good yield. For the latter compounds, the benzyl groups were then removed by hydrogenolysis in the presence of Pd/C at atmospheric pressure (Table 4). Hydrogenolysis or migration of the double bond in the triterpenoid skeleton was not observed using these reaction conditions. Successful deprotection was also possible with a catalytic amount of  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$  (0.3 equiv) in a mixture of THF/3% KOH/MeOH at 60 °C, with the desired saponins being isolated in fair to excellent yields. The use of as little as 0.1 equiv of Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> was tried for the D-xylopyranosyl-L-arabinopyranose saponins, but in most cases the yields were poorer than those obtained with 0.3 equiv of catalyst.

The corresponding methyl esters (1a-8a) were then

74%

87%

82%

84%

66%

Table 4. Total deprotection of saponins: optimization of reaction conditions



Н Н Glc 82% 65% Method A: 3% KOH/MeOH or THF/3% KOH/MeOH, Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>, 60 °C. Method B: (1) 3% KOH/MeOH or THF/3% KOH/MeOH, Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>, 60 °C; (2) Pd/C,  $H_2$ 

Xyl

Η

Н

Η

84%

82%

88%

78%

Xyl

Η

Н

Н

Glc

Н

Η

 $\operatorname{Glc}^d$ 

Glc

Η

4

5

6

7

8

<sup>a</sup> 3% KOH/MeOH, 60 °C.

35

41

39

36

37

<sup>b</sup> THF/3% KOH/MeOH, 60 °C.

А

В

В

В

R

<sup>c</sup> Xyl=( $\beta$ -D-xylopyranosyl).

<sup>d</sup> Glc =  $(\beta$ -p-glucopyranosyl).

prepared in quantitative yield by diazomethane treatment of the acids 1-8.<sup>26</sup>

### 3. Conclusion

Efficient chemical synthesis afforded a rapid access to eight hederagenin saponins, five of which are naturally occurring products whose synthesis has not yet been reported in the literature. The synthesis of six disaccharides consisting of an L-arabinopyranose substituted in positions 2, 3, or 4 with a  $\beta$ -D-xylopyranose or a  $\beta$ -D-glucopyranose residue was accomplished in good to excellent yields. Coupling of these disaccharides to a protected hederagenin derivative and total deprotection gave the desired saponins in 52–79% overall yields. A deprotection method was developed with Pd(PPh\_3)<sub>4</sub> in the presence of KOH to efficiently remove both the allyl ester and the sugar benzoyl protecting groups in one step. The fully deprotected saponins were thus obtained in good yields with significantly shorter reaction times.

The preparation of triterpenoid saponins in larger quantities facilitates the study of their biological activity. The strategy presented here opens the door to the synthesis of a wide variety of different saponins by simply changing the nature of the aglycone. In addition, structure–activity relationships can be more easily studied when all the positional isomers of a given sugar moiety are readily accessible. The hemolytic and cytotoxic activity of these molecules will be reported in due course.

# 4. Experimental

# 4.1. General methods

All chemicals were reagent grade and used as supplied unless otherwise noted. Dichloromethane (CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) and triethylamine were refluxed over calcium hydride and distilled prior to use. All reactions were performed under an Argon atmosphere unless otherwise indicated. Analytical thin-layer chromatography (TLC) was performed on E. Merck Silica Gel 60 F<sub>254</sub> plates. Compounds were visualized by dipping in an anisaldehyde solution in ethanol and heating. Column chromatography was performed using E. Merck Geduran Silica Gel Si 60 (40-60 μM). Optical rotations were recorded at 22 °C with a Perkin-Elmer 241 polarimeter. ESI-MS were recorded with a Thermofinnigan quadripolar mass spectrometer with positive ion data collected automatically. High Resolution mass spectra were recorded on a Micromass Q-TOF spectrometer. NMR spectra were obtained using a Bruker Avance DRX 500 spectrometer (500 MHz for <sup>1</sup>H and 125 MHz for <sup>13</sup>C). Elemental analyses were performed on a Perkin-Elmer CHN 2400. The HPLC system (Shimadzu) consisted of a solvent delivery system equipped with dual pumps (LC-8A), and a UV spectrophotometric detector (SPD-6A). Preparative HPLC was performed using a Merck Hibar column (250 mm  $\times$  25 mm; Lichrospher RP 18 (7 µm)). Protected saponins were detected at 230 nm.

4.1.1. 4-Methoxybenzyl 2,3,4-tri-O-benzoyl-β-D-xylopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 2)$ -3,4-di-*O*-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranoside (13). General method. In a typical experiment, 4-methoxybenzyl 3,4-di-O-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranoside  $9^5$  (1.5 g, 3.1 mmol), 2,3,4-tri-O-benzoyl-β-D-xylopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate<sup>19</sup> 12 (2.85 g, 4.7 mmol, 1.5 equiv) and 4 Å powdered molecular sieves (6 g) were stirred for 1 h at room temperature in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (75 mL). The mixture was cooled to -20 °C for 30 min followed by the dropwise addition of a 0.1 M solution of TMSOTf in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (1.55 mL, 0.16 mmol, 0.05 equiv). After stirring for 2 h at this temperature, the reaction was quenched with triethylamine (0.5 mL), filtered through Celite and evaporated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography (toluene/ acetone 99:1-98:2) to give 2.62 g (90%) of disaccharide 13 as an amorphous solid.  $R_{\rm f} = 0.47$  (toluene/acetone 9:1).  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$  $+32.9^{\circ}$  (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  3.70 (dd, 1H, J= 12.7, 5.3 Hz, H-5'), 3.85 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.91 (dd, 1H, J =12.3, 2.1 Hz, H-5), 4.29 (dd, 1H, J = 12.4, 4.7 Hz, H-5), 4.39(dd, 1H, J=7.3, 5.5 Hz, H-2), 4.57 (dd, 1H, J=12.8, 3.7 Hz, H-5',  $4.64 \text{ (d, 1H, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ )),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ )),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ )),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ )),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ))),  $4.88 \text{ (d, } J = 10.9 \text{ Hz}, \text{CH}_2\text{MPM}$ ))) 1H, J = 5.3 Hz, H-1), 4.98 (d, 1H, J = 10.9 Hz,  $CH_2$ MPM), 5.25 (d, 1H, J=4.2 Hz, H-1<sup>'</sup>), 5.28 (m, 1H, H-4<sup>'</sup>), 5.35 (dd, 1H, J=6.2, 4.3 Hz, H-2'), 5.53 (dd, 1H, J=7.5, 3.4 Hz,H-3), 5.56 (m, 1H, H-4), 5.71 (t, 1H, J=6.3 Hz, H-3<sup>'</sup>), 6.91 (d, 2H, J=8.6 Hz, Ar-H), 7.21 (t, 1H, J=7.7 Hz, Ar-H), 7.27 (t, 2H, J=7.7 Hz, Ar-H), 7.36–7.49 (m, 11H, Ar-H), 7.59 (m, 2H, Ar-H), 7.73 (d, 2H, J=7.5 Hz, Ar-H), 7.86 (d, 2H, J=7.3 Hz, Ar-H), 7.99 (d, 2H, J=7.2 Hz, Ar-H), 8.05 (d, 2H, J=7.0 Hz, Ar-H), 8.06 (d, 2H, J=7.0 Hz, Ar-H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 55.3 (OCH<sub>3</sub>), 60.8 (C-5'), 61.5 (C-5), 68.0 (C-4), 68.7 (C-4'), 69.2 (C-3'), 69.8 (C-2'), 70.7 (CH<sub>2</sub>MPM), 71.8 (C-3), 74.5 (C-2), 99.7 (C-1<sup>'</sup>), 100.1 (C-1), 113.8 (CH), 128.1 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 128.8 (C), 129.0 (C), 129.1 (C), 129.3 (C), 129.4 (C), 129.6 (CH), 129.7 (CH), 129.8 (CH), 129.9 (CH), 129.9 (CH), 133.0 (C), 133.2 (C), 133.3 (C), 133.4 (C), 159.4 (C), 164.8 (CO), 165.1 (CO), 165.4 (CO), 165.4 (CO), 165.5 (CO). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>53</sub>H<sub>46</sub>O<sub>15</sub>: C, 68.97; H, 5.02. Found: C, 68.60; H, 4.97.

4.1.2. 4-Methoxybenzyl 2,3,4-tri-O-benzoyl-β-D-xylopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -2,4-di-O-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranoside (14). This compound was prepared using the general method described for 13. Reaction of 4-methoxybenzyl 2,4-di-Obenzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranoside 10<sup>5</sup> (0.5 g, 1.0 mmol) and trichloroacetimidate 12 (0.95 g, 1.6 mmol) gave 0.68 g (70%) of 14.  $R_f = 0.47$  (toluene/acetone 9:1).  $[\alpha]_D + 10.5^\circ$ (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  3.67 (dd, 1H, J=12.4, 5.8 Hz, H-5'), 3.75 (dd, 1H, J=12.5, 2.2 Hz, H-5), 3.79 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.32 (dd, 1H, J=7.8, 3.3 Hz, H-3), 4.35 (m, 2H, H-5, H-5'), 4.52 (d, 1H, J=12.2 Hz,  $CH_2$ MPM), 4.63 (d, 1H, J = 5.7 Hz, H-1), 4.67 (d, 1H, J = 12.2 Hz,  $CH_2$ MPM), 5.16 (d, 1H, J = 4.7 Hz, H-1<sup>'</sup>), 5.22 (m, 1H, H-4<sup>'</sup>), 5.34 (dd, 1H, J=6.6, 5.0 Hz, H-2'), 5.56 (m, 1H, H-4), 5.62 (dd, 1H, J=7.5, 6.0 Hz, H-2), 5.65 (t, 1H, J=6.6 Hz, H-3'), 6.71 (d, 2H, J=8.5 Hz, Ar-H), 7.07 (d, 2H, J=8.5 Hz, Ar-H), 7.20-7.63 (m, 15H, Ar-H), 7.81 (d, 2H, J=7.6 Hz, Ar-H), 7.95 (m, 4H, Ar-H), 8.01 (d, 2H, J=7.5 Hz, Ar-H), 8.15 (d, 2H, J = 7.4 Hz, Ar-H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  55.1 (OCH<sub>3</sub>), 60.9 (C-5'), 61.7 (C-5), 68.8 (C-4'), 69.3 (CH<sub>2</sub>MPM), 69.7 (C-4, C-3'), 70.0 (C-2'), 70.8 (C-2), 76.5 (C-3), 98.4 (C-1), 100.4 (C-1'), 113.6 (CH), 128.1 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.3 (CH),

4353

128.4 (CH), 128.8 (C), 129.0 (C), 129.2 (C), 129.3 (C), 129.5 (CH), 129.7 (CH), 129.8 (CH), 129.8 (CH), 129.9 (CH), 132.9 (CH), 133.0 (CH), 133.2 (CH), 159.2 (C), 164.7 (CO), 164.9 (CO), 165.2 (CO), 165.4 (CO), 166.1 (CO). Anal. Calcd for  $C_{53}H_{46}O_{15}$  ( $\cdot$ 0.7 CH<sub>3</sub>OH): C, 68.23; H, 5.20. Found: C, 68.23; H, 5.11.

4.1.3. 4-Methoxybenzyl 2,3,4-tri-O-benzoyl-β-D-xylopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -2,3-di-*O*-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranoside (15). This compound was prepared using the general method described for 13. Reaction of 4-methoxybenzyl 2,3-di-Obenzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranoside 11<sup>5</sup> (0.5 g, 1.0 mmol) and trichloroacetimidate 12 (0.95 g, 1.6 mmol) gave 0.89 g (92%) of **15**.  $R_{\rm f} = 0.46$  (toluene/acetone 9:1).  $[\alpha]_{\rm D} + 9.0^{\circ}$ (*c* 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 3.85 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.87 (m, 2H, H-5, H-5'), 4.39 (dd, 1H, J=12.0, 6.1 Hz, H-5), 4.48 (m, 1H, H-4), 4.57 (dd, 1H, J=12.5, 3.6 Hz, H-5'), 4.64 (d, 1H, J=11.5 Hz,  $CH_2$ MPM), 4.85 (d, 1H, J=4.8 Hz, H-1), 4.90 (d, 1H, J = 11.5 Hz,  $CH_2$ MPM), 5.14 (d, 1H, J = 4.2 Hz, H-1', 5.31 (m, 1H, H-4'), 5.42 (dd, 1H, J =6.0, 4.3 Hz, H-2'), 5.53 (dd, 1H, J = 7.1, 3.2 Hz, H-3), 5.66(dd, 1H, J=7.0, 4.9 Hz, H-2), 5.75 (t, 1H, J=6.0 Hz, H-3'),6.84 (d, 2H, J=8.7 Hz, Ar-H), 7.14–7.62 (m, 17H, Ar-H), 7.82 (d, 2H, J=8.3 Hz, Ar-H), 7.92 (d, 2H, J=8.4 Hz, Ar-H), 8.02–8.07 (m, 6H, Ar-H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  55.2 (OCH<sub>3</sub>), 60.5 (C-5<sup>'</sup>), 62.3 (C-5), 68.4 (C-4<sup>'</sup>), 68.8 (C-3<sup>'</sup>), 69.5 (C-2'), 69.8 (CH<sub>2</sub>MPM), 69.8 (C-2, C-3), 72.1 (C-4), 98.1 (C-1), 99.4 (C-1'), 113.7 (CH), 128.2 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 128.5 (CH), 128.9 (C), 129.0 (C), 129.1 (C), 129.1 (C), 129.2 (C), 129.4 (C), 129.7 (CH), 129.8 (CH), 129.9 (CH), 129.9 (CH), 133.0 (CH), 133.0 (CH), 133.2 (CH), 133.3 (CH), 133.3 (CH), 159.2 (C), 164.8 (CO), 165.2 (CO), 165.5 (CO), 165.7 (CO). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>53</sub>H<sub>46</sub>O<sub>15</sub>: C, 68.97; H, 5.02. Found: C, 68.74; H, 4.71.

4.1.4. 3,4,6-Tri-O-acetyl-1,2-O-(1-ethylthioethylidene)- $\alpha$ -D-glucopyranose (19). A solution of HBr in AcOH (33%, 38 mL) was slowly added to a stirring solution of 1,2,3,4,6-penta-O-acetyl-D-glucopyranose (10.5 g, 26.9 mmol) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (38 mL) at 0 °C. After stirring overnight at room temperature the reaction mixture was diluted with CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, washed with H<sub>2</sub>O (200 mL), NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (satd) (2 $\times$ 200 mL), NaCl (satd) and dried with Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. The solvent was evaporated and the residue (11 g) was taken up in nitromethane (27 mL). After addition of 2,6-lutidine (4.7 mL, 40.4 mmol, 1.5 equiv), ethanethiol (8.0 mL, 107.6 mmol, 4 equiv) and tetrabutylammonium bromide (0.87 g, 2.7 mmol, 0.1 equiv), the reaction was stirred at room temperature for 48 h. The solution was then partitioned between EtOAc and aq NaHCO<sub>3</sub>. The aqueous layer was extracted with EtOAc, dried (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), filtered and evaporated. The residue was purified by column chromatography (cyclohexane/EtOAc 8:2-7:3) to give 9.2 g (83%) of **19** as an oil. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra were performed in deuterated chloroform and were in accordance with published data.<sup>27</sup>

**4.1.5.** 3,4,6-Tri-*O*-benzyl-1,2-*O*-(1-ethylthioethylidene)- $\alpha$ -D-glucopyranose (20). To a solution of orthoester 19 (8.9 g, 22.7 mmol) and benzyl bromide (8.7 mL, 72.6 mmol, 3.2 equiv) in dry THF (55 mL) was added powdered KOH (14 g, 250 mmol, 11 equiv) and the reaction was refluxed overnight with stirring. After the mixture was

cooled, EtOAc was added, and the solution was successively washed with H<sub>2</sub>O (3×), NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (satd) (2×), and  $H_2O$  (2×). The organic layer was dried (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), evaporated, and the crude residue was purified by column chromatography (cyclohexane/EtOAc 97:3) to give 6.8 g (55%) of **20** as an oil.  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$  +17.1° (*c* 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $(CDCl_3)$ :  $\delta$  1.34 (t, 3H, J = 7.5 Hz,  $SCH_2CH_3$ ), 1.99 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub> orthoester), 2.69 (q, 2H, J=7.5 Hz, SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.69 (dd, 1H, J=10.9, 4.2 Hz, H-6a), 3.73 (dd, 1H, J=10.9, 1.9 Hz, H-6b), 3.79 (dd, 1H, J=9.5, 3.1 Hz, H-4), 3.89 (m, 1H, H-5), 3.99 (t, 1H, J=3.0 Hz, H-3), 4.41 (d, 1H, J=11.5 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.58 (d, 1H, J = 12.2 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.60 (d, 1H, J=11.5 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 4.63 (m, 1H, H-2), 4.64 (d, 1H, J=11.9 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.65 (d, 1H, J=11.2 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.75 (d, 1H, J=11.9 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 5.85 (d, 1H, J=5.3 Hz, H-1), 7.24–7.43 (m, 15H, Ar-H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 15.2 (SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 24.8 (SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 27.8 (CH<sub>3</sub> orthoester), 69.1 (C-6), 70.1 (C-5), 71.7 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 72.5 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 73.4 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 74.5 (C-2), 75.1 (C-4), 77.4 (C-3), 98.2 (C-1), 115.7 (C orthoester), 127.6 (CH), 127.8 (CH), 127.9 (CH), 128.0 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 128.5 (CH), 137.6 (C), 137.8 (C), 138.1 (C). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>31</sub>H<sub>36</sub>O<sub>6</sub>S: C, 69.38; H, 6.76. Found: C, 69.50; H, 6.88.

4.1.6. Ethyl 2-O-acetyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (21). To a solution of orthoester 20 (6.6 g, 12.3 mmol) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (26 mL) was added 4 Å molecular sieves (1.6 g), and the mixture was stirred for 1 h. The solution was cooled to 0 °C, and TMSOTf (0.11 mL, mmol, 0.05 equiv) was slowly added. After stirring for 4 h, the reaction was quenched by the addition of Et<sub>3</sub>N, filtered through celite and evaporated to dryness to give 6.4 g of a crude product which was used without further purification in the next step. For identification purposes, a small amount of product was purified by column chromatography (cyclohexane/EtOAc 95:5).  $[\alpha]_D$  +8.6° (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $(CDCl_3)$ :  $\delta$  1.33 (t, 3H, J = 7.4 Hz,  $SCH_2CH_3$ ), 2.05 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>CO), 2.78 (m, 2H, SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.57 (m, 1H, H-5), 3.74 (t, 1H, J=9.0 Hz, H-3), 3.77 (t, 1H, J=8.8 Hz, H-4), 3.78 (dd, 1H, J=11.3, 4.5 Hz, H-6a), 3.83 (dd, 1H, J=11.1, 1.9 Hz, H-6b), 4.43 (d, 1H, J = 10.0 Hz, H-1), 4.62 (d, 1H, J=12.2 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.64 (d, 1H, J=11.0 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.68 (d, 1H, J = 12.1 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.76 (d, 1H, J = 11.4 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.86 (d, 1H, J = 10.6 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.88 (d, 1H, J =11.3 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 5.10 (t, 1H, J=9.2 Hz, H-2), 7.26–7.41 (m, 15H, Ar-H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 14.9 (SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 21.0 (CH<sub>3</sub>CO), 23.8 (SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 68.8 (C-6), 71.7 (C-2), 73.4 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 75.1 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 75.2 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 77.8 (C-4), 79.4 (C-5), 83.4 (C-1), 84.4 (C-3), 127.6 (CH), 127.8 (CH), 127.9 (CH), 128.0 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 137.9 (C), 138.1 (C), 138.2 (C), 169.6 (CO). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>31</sub>H<sub>36</sub>O<sub>6</sub>S: C, 69.38; H, 6.76. Found: C, 69.23; H, 6.88.

**4.1.7. Ethyl 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl-1-thio-\beta-b-glucopyranoside (22).** The crude acetate **21** (6.3 g) was dissolved in a solution of 3% KOH/MeOH (80 mL) and was stirred overnight. The reaction mixture was then diluted with EtOAc, washed with H<sub>2</sub>O (2×), dried (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), filtered and evaporated. The crude product was taken up in pyridine (35 mL) and the reaction was cooled to 0 °C. Benzoyl chloride (2.8 mL, 24.6 mmol, 2 equiv) was added dropwise, and after warming to room temperature, the reaction was heated to 70 °C for 6 h. The solvent was then

removed under reduced pressure and the residue dissolved in EtOAc. The organic layer was washed with  $H_2O$ , 1 N HCl, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (satd), and dried (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>). After filtration and evaporation of the solvent under reduced pressure the crude product was purified by column chromatography (cyclohexane/EtOAc 92:8) to give 3.45 g (49%) of benzoate 22 as an amorphous solid.  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$  +28.3° (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  1.31 (t, 3H, J=7.4 Hz, SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.79 (m, 2H, SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.64 (m, 1H, H-5), 3.81 (dd, 1H, J =11.0, 4.7 Hz, H-6a), 3.83 (t, 1H, J=8.8 Hz, H-4), 3.86 (dd, 1H, J=10.8, 1.7 Hz, H-6b), 3.91 (t, 1H, J=9.0 Hz, H-3), 4.60 (d, 1H, J = 10.0 Hz, H-1), 4.64 (d, 1H, J = 12.1 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.67 (d, 1H, J = 11.5 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.69 (d, 1H, J =12.5 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.73 (d, 1H, J = 11.1 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.81 (d, 1H, J = 11.1 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.89 (d, 1H, J = 10.9 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 5.38 (t, 1H, J=9.6 Hz, H-2), 7.26–8.10 (m, 20H, Ar-H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 14.9 (SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 23.8 (SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 68.9 (C-6), 72.4 (C-2), 73.5 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 75.1 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 75.3 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 77.9 (C-4), 79.5 (C-5), 83.4 (C-1), 84.3 (C-3), 127.6 (CH), 127.7 (CH), 127.8 (CH), 128.0 (CH), 128.2 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 129.8 (CH), 129.9 (C), 133.1 (CH), 137.7 (C), 137.9 (C), 138.1 (C), 165.3 (CO). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>36</sub>H<sub>38</sub>O<sub>6</sub>S: C, 72.02; H, 6.4. Found: C, 72.02; H, 6.31.

4.1.8. 4-Methoxybenzyl 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 2)$ -3,4-di-O-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranoside (23). General method. In a typical experiment, a mixture of alcohol 9 (3.0 g, 6.3 mmol), thioglycoside 22 (5.63 g, 9.4 mmol, 1.5 equiv), and 4 Å powdered molecular sieves (15 g) was stirred for 2 h at room temperature in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (72 mL). The mixture was cooled to 0 °C and N-iodosuccinimide (2.12 g, 9.4 mmol, 1.5 equiv) was added followed by the dropwise addition of triflic acid (0.028 mL, 0.05 equiv). After 2 h at 0 °C, the reaction was quenched with triethylamine and filtered through Celite. The filtrate was washed with NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 10% Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, and water. The organic layer was dried (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), filtered and evaporated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography (toluene/acetone 99:1) to give 5.22 g (82%) of disaccharide 23 as a white amorphous solid.  $R_{\rm f} = 0.58$  (toluene/acetone 9:1).  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$ +33.4° (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 3.63 (m, 1H, H-5'), 3.82 (m, 4H, H-6'a/b, H-3', H-5a), 3.84 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.86 (t, 1H, J=9.5 Hz, H-4'), 4.17 (dd, 1H, J=11.3, 8.0 Hz, H-5b), 4.26 (m, 1H, H-2), 4.54 (d, 1H, J =11.1 Hz,  $CH_2$ MPM), 4.61 (d, 1H, J = 12.1 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.64 (m, 3H,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.75 (d, 1H, J = 11.0 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.83 (d, 1H, J=11.1 Hz,  $CH_2$ MPM), 4.87 (d, 1H, J=10.9 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.90 (d, 1H, J=7.9 Hz, H-1<sup>'</sup>), 4.96 (d, 1H, J=2.6 Hz, H-1), 5.32 (m, 1H, H-4), 5.38 (t, 1H, J=8.3 Hz, H-2'), 5.46 (m, 1H, H-3), 6.87 (d, 2H, J=8.2 Hz, Ar-H), 7.26–7.67 (m, 26H, Ar-H), 7.85 (d, 2H, J=7.9 Hz, Ar-H), 7.90 (d, 2H, J=7.9 Hz, Ar-H), 7.96 (d, 2H, J=7.8 Hz, Ar-H).<sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 55.3 (OCH<sub>3</sub>), 58.8 (C-5), 66.8 (C-4), 68.7 (C-6'), 69.7 (C-3), 69.8 (*C*H<sub>2</sub>MPM), 73.4 (C-2'), 73.6 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 74.9 (C-2), 75.0 ( $2 \times CH_2$ Ph), 75.5 (C-5'), 77.8 (C-4'), 82.6 (C-3'), 98.9 (C-1), 100.9 (C-1'), 113.7 (CH), 127.6 (CH), 127.6 (CH), 127.8 (CH), 127.8 (CH), 128.0 (CH), 128.0 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 129.5 (C), 129.6 (C), 129.7 (CH), 129.7 (CH), 132.9 (CH), 133.0 (CH), 133.1 (CH), 137.6 (C), 137.9 (C), 138.2 (C), 159.4 (C), 164.9 (CO), 165.1 (CO), 165.6 (CO). Anal.

Calcd for C<sub>61</sub>H<sub>58</sub>O<sub>14</sub>: C, 72.18; H, 5.76. Found: C, 71.91; H, 5.89.

4.1.9. 4-Methoxybenzyl 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -2,4-di-O-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranoside (24). This compound was prepared using the general method described for 23. Reaction of 4-methoxybenzyl 2,4-di-O-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranoside 10<sup>5</sup> (0.96 g, 2.0 mmol) and thioglycoside **22** (1.8 g, 3.0 mmol) gave 1.06 g (52%) of **24**.  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.52 (toluene/acetone 9:1). [ $\alpha$ ]<sub>D</sub> +45.4° (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  3.57 (m, 1H, H-5'), 3.64 (dd, 1H, J=12.6, 2.2 Hz, H-5a), 3.66 (m, 2H, H-6'a/b), 3.73 (t, 1H, J = 8.8 Hz, H-4'), 3.76 (t, 1H, J =8.7 Hz, H-3'), 3.79 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.24 (dd, 1H, J=7.9, 3.5 Hz, H-3), 4.31 (dd, 1H, J=12.6, 4.7 Hz, H-5b), 4.39 (d, 1H, J = 12.0 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.42 (d, 1H, J = 11.9 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.45 (d, 1H, J=12.4 Hz,  $CH_2$ MPM), 4.50 (d, 1H, J=5.9 Hz, H-1), 4.55 (m, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph, CH<sub>2</sub>MPM), 4.58 (d, 1H, J=11.1 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.66 (d, 1H, J=11.1 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.77 (d, 1H, J = 10.9 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.80 (d, 1H, J = 7.7 Hz, H-1'), 5.28 (t, 1H, J=8.2 Hz, H-2'), 5.50 (m, 2H, H-2, H-4), 6.69 (d, 2H, J=8.7 Hz, Ar-H), 6.97 (d, 2H, J=8.6 Hz, Ar-H), 7.07–7.60 (m, 24H, Ar-H), 7.83 (d, 2H, J=7.6 Hz, Ar-H), 7.86 (d, 2H, J = 7.3 Hz, Ar-H), 8.16 (dd, 2H, J = 8.4, 1.2 Hz, Ar-H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 55.1 (OCH<sub>3</sub>), 61.9 (C-5), 68.9 (CH<sub>2</sub>MPM), 70.0 (C-4), 71.2 (C-2), 73.4 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 73.4 (C-2<sup>'</sup>), 74.8 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 74.9 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 75.2 (C-5', C-3), 77.7 (C-4'), 82.7 (C-3'), 98.1 (C-1), 101.1 (C-1'), 113.6 (CH), 127.5 (CH), 127.6 (CH), 127.8 (CH), 127.8 (CH), 128.0 (CH), 128.1 (CH), 128.2 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 128.8 (C), 129.6 (CH), 129.7 (CH), 129.8 (C), 130.1 (CH), 132.6 (CH), 133.0 (CH), 137.7 (C), 137.9 (C), 138.2 (C), 159.1 (C), 164.7 (CO), 166.3 (CO). Anal. Calcd for  $C_{61}H_{58}O_{14}$ : C, 72.18; H, 5.76. Found: C, 71.95; H, 5.86.

4.1.10. 4-Methoxybenzyl 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -2,3-di-O-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranoside (25). This compound was prepared using the general method described for 23. Reaction of 4-methoxybenzyl 2,3-di-O-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranoside 11° (0.5 g, 1.0 mmol) and thioglycoside 22 (0.94 g, 1.6 mmol) gave 0.87 g (82%) of 25.  $R_{\rm f} = 0.56$  (toluene/acetone 9:1).  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$  $+7.2^{\circ}$  (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  3.61 (m, 1H, H-5'), 3.77 (m, 2H, H-6'a/b), 3.82 (m, 2H, H-3', H-4'), 3.84 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.86 (m, 1H, H-5a), 4.35 (dd, 1H, J=11.4, 8.3 Hz, H-5b), 4.47 (m, 1H, H-4), 4.53 (d, 1H, J=11.3 Hz,  $CH_2$ MPM), 4.62 (d, 2H, J = 12.2 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.65 (d, 1H, J = 12.8 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.69 (d, 1H, J = 12.2 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.72 (d, 1H, J = 11.0 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.80 (d, 1H, J = 11.4 Hz,  $CH_2$ MPM), 4.81 (d, 1H, J = 7.7 Hz, H-1<sup>'</sup>), 4.85 (m, 2H, H-1,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 5.32 (t, 1H, J = 8.2 Hz, H-2'), 5.45 (dd, 1H, J = 5.3, 3.0 Hz, H-2, 5.47 (dd, 1H, J = 5.4, 2.9 Hz, H-3), 6.82(d, 2H, J=8.6 Hz, Ar-H), 7.10–7.60 (m, 26H, Ar-H), 7.67 (d, 2H, J=7.2 Hz, Ar-H), 7.87 (d, 2H, J=7.3 Hz, Ar-H), 8.30 (d, 2H, J=7.2 Hz, Ar-H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  55.2  $(OCH_3)$ , 60.9 (C-5), 68.6 (C-6'), 69.0 (C-2), 69.3 (CH<sub>2</sub>MPM), 69.7 (C-3), 70.7 (C-4), 73.4 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph, C-2'), 74.9 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 75.0 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 75.2 (C-5'), 77.8 (C-4'), 82.7 (C-3'), 97.0 (C-1), 100.0 (C-1'), 113.7 (CH), 127.6 (CH), 127.7 (CH), 127.7 (CH), 127.8 (CH), 128.0 (CH), 128.1 (CH), 128.2 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 129.1 (C), 129.3 (C), 129.4 (C), 129.6 (CH), 129.7 (CH), 129.8 (CH), 129.8 (CH), 159.2 (C), 164.7 (CO), 164.9 (CO), 165.4 (CO). Anal. Calcd for  $C_{61}H_{58}O_{14}$ : C, 72.18; H, 5.76. Found: C, 72.07; H, 5.80.

4.1.11. 2,3,4-Tri-O-benzoyl- $\beta$ -D-xylopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 2)$ -3,4-di-O-benzoyl-β-L-arabinopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (27). General method. In a typical experiment, trifluoroacetic acid (4.0 mL, 52.5 mmol, 20 equiv) and H<sub>2</sub>0 (0.56 mL, 31.6 mmol, 12 equiv) were added to a solution of the disaccharide 13 (2.42 g, 2.6 mmol) in  $CH_2Cl_2$  (90 mL). The reaction was vigorously stirred overnight before being washed with H<sub>2</sub>O, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (satd), and NaCl (satd). The dried solution (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) was then evaporated under reduced pressure and the residue taken up in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (30 mL). Trichloroacetonitrile (1.3 mL, 12.8 mmol, 5 equiv) was added, followed by DBU (0.04 mL, 0.26 mmol, 0.1 equiv), and the reaction was stirred overnight. The reaction was then evaporated and the crude residue was purified by column chromatography (cyclohexane/EtOAc/Et<sub>3</sub>N 9:1:0.1) to give 2.20 g (89%) of 27 as a white amorphous solid.  $R_{\rm f}$  = 0.53 (cyclohexane/EtOAc 6:4).  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$  +94.6° (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  3.81 (dd, 1H, J = 12.3, 6.7 Hz, H-5'), 4.09 (dd, 1H, J = 13.2, 1.6 Hz, H-5), 4.37 (brd, 1H, J=12.9 Hz, H-5), 4.54 (dd, 1H, J=12.4, 4.4 Hz, H-5'), 4.62 (dd, 1H, J=10.4, 3.6 Hz, H-2), 5.17 (d, 1H, J = 5.4 Hz, H-1'), 5.34 (m, 1H, H-4'), 5.37 (dd, J)1H, J=7.8, 5.5 Hz, H-2'), 5.71 (t, 1H, J=7.5 Hz, H-3'), 5.77 (dd, 1H, J=10.4, 3.5 Hz, H-3), 5.82 (m, 1H, H-4), 6.79 (d, 1H, J=3.5 Hz, H-1), 7.12 (t, 2H, J=7.7 Hz, Ar-H), 7.30–7.67 (m, 15H, Ar-H), 7.80 (d, 2H, J = 8.3 Hz, Ar-H), 7.91 (d, 2H, J=8.4 Hz, Ar-H), 8.04 (d, 2H, J=8.4 Hz, Ar-H), 8.08 (d, 2H, J = 8.4 Hz, Ar-H), 8.82 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 61.7 (C-5<sup>'</sup>), 62.8 (C-5), 69.3 (C-3), 69.4 (C-4'), 69.5 (C-4), 70.2 (C-2'), 70.2 (C-3'), 74.0 (C-2), 95.9 (C-1), 101.7 (C-1<sup>'</sup>), 128.1 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 128.5 (CH), 128.8 (C), 120.0 (C), 129.1 (C), 129.5 (CH), 129.5 (CH), 129.5 (C), 129.8 (CH), 129.9 (CH), 132.9 (C), 133.1 (C), 133.3 (C), 133.4 (C), 161.1 (C=NH), 164.7 (CO), 165.1 (CO), 165.4 (CO), 165.5 (CO). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>47</sub>H<sub>38</sub>Cl<sub>3</sub>NO<sub>14</sub>: C, 59.60; H, 4.04; N, 1.48. Found: C, 59.45; H, 4.07; N, 1.40.

4.1.12. 2,3,4-Tri-O-benzovl- $\beta$ -D-xylopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -2,4-di-O-benzoyl-β-L-arabinopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (28). This compound was prepared using the general method described for 27. Deprotection of disaccharide 14 (0.65 g, 0.7 mmol) followed by trichloroacetimidate formation gave 0.53 g (80%) of 28.  $R_{\rm f}=0.55$ (cyclohexane/EtOAc 6:4).  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$  +45.6° (c 0.5, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  3.81 (dd, 1H, J=12.5, 5.7 Hz, H-5'), 4.20 (dd, 1H, J=13.4, 2.0 Hz, H-5), 4.31 (brd, 1H, J=12.9 Hz, H-5), 4.47 (dd, 1H, J=12.6, 4.0 Hz, H-5'), 4.68 (dd, 1H, J = 10.3, 3.4 Hz, H-3), 5.26 (m, 2H, H-1', H-4'), 5.34 (dd, 1H, J=7.0, 4.8 Hz, H-2'), 5.67 (t, 1H, J=6.8 Hz, H-3'), 5.78 (m, 1H, H-4), 5.85 (dd, 1H, J = 10.3, 3.6 Hz, H-2), 6.74(d, 1H, J=3.6 Hz, H-1), 7.17 (t, 2H, J=7.6 Hz, Ar-H), 7.27(t, 2H, J=7.6 Hz, Ar-H), 7.35 (t, 2H, J=7.7 Hz, Ar-H), 7.40–7.69 (m, 11H, Ar-H), 7.87 (d, 2H, J = 8.3 Hz, Ar-H), 7.92 (d, 2H, J=8.4 Hz, Ar-H), 8.04 (d, 2H, J=8.4 Hz, Ar-H), 8.17 (d, 2H, J = 8.4 Hz, Ar-H), 8.60 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 61.2 (C-5'), 63.1 (C-5), 69.0 (C-4'), 69.5 (C-2), 69.7 (C-3'), 69.9 (C-2'), 71.4 (C-4), 73.5 (C-3), 94.3 (C-1-), 101.4 (C-1<sup>'</sup>), 128.1 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.3 (CH),

128.4 (CH), 128.5 (CH), 128.8 (C), 128.8 (C), 129.2 (C), 129.5 (CH), 129.5 (C), 129.6 (CH), 129.6 (CH), 129.9 (CH), 130.0 (CH), 132.9 (CH), 133.2 (CH), 133.3 (CH), 133.4 (CH), 160.5 (C=NH), 164.6 (CO), 165.2 (CO), 165.3 (CO), 165.4 (CO), 166.1 (CO). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>47</sub>H<sub>38</sub>Cl<sub>3</sub>NO<sub>14</sub>: C, 59.60; H, 4.04; N, 1.48. Found: C, 59.25; H, 3.93; N, 1.35.

4.1.13. 2,3,4-Tri-O-benzoyl- $\beta$ -D-xylopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -2,3-di-O-benzoyl-β-L-arabinopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (29). This compound was prepared using the general method described for 27. Deprotection of disaccharide 15 (0.65 g, 0.7 mmol) followed by trichloroacetimidate formation gave 0.56 g (83%) of **29**.  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.55 (cyclohexane/EtOAc 6:4).  $[\alpha]_D$  + 50.1° (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  3.86 (dd, 1H, J=12.5, 5.1 Hz, H-5'), 4.28 (dd, 1H, J=12.7, 1.5 Hz, H-5), 4.37 (brd, 1H, J=12.7 Hz)H-5), 4.59 (m, 2H, H-4, H-5'), 5.13 (d, 1H, J=3.8 Hz, H-1'), 5.34 (m, 1H, H-4'), 5.54 (dd, 1H, J=5.5, 4.1 Hz, H-2'), 5.77 (t, 1H, J=5.7 Hz, H-3'), 5.87 (dd, 1H, J=10.7, 3.4 Hz, H-2), 5.93 (dd, 1H, J=10.7, 2.9 Hz, H-3), 6.86 (d, 1H, J=3.3 Hz, H-1), 7.24–7.62 (m, 15H, Ar-H), 7.90 (d, 2H, J = 7.4 Hz, Ar-H), 7.94 (d, 2H, J = 7.4 Hz, Ar-H), 7.96(d, 2H, J=7.4 Hz, Ar-H), 8.04 (d, 2H, J=7.4 Hz, Ar-H), 8.18 (d, 2H, J = 7.4 Hz, Ar-H), 8.66 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 60.4 (C-5'), 64.6 (C-5), 68.1 (C-2), 68.2 (C-4'), 68.5 (C-3'), 69.4 (C-2', C-3), 74.8 (C-4), 94.2 (C-1), 100.5 (C-1'), 128.2 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 128.5 (CH), 128.7 (C), 128.9 (C), 129.0 (C), 129.1 (C), 129.2 (C), 129.7 (CH), 129.7 (CH), 129.8 (CH), 130.0 (CH), 133.1 (CH), 133.2 (CH), 133.3 (CH), 133.5 (CH), 160.8 (C=NH), 164.9 (CO), 165.1 (CO), 165.2 (CO), 165.4 (CO), 165.9 (CO). Anal. Calcd for C47H38Cl3NO14: C, 59.60; H, 4.04; N, 1.48. Found: C, 59.23; H, 4.04; N, 1.58.

4.1.14. 2-O-Benzovl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzvl-β-D-glucopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 2)$ -3,4-di-*O*-benzoyl- $\beta$ -L-arabinopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (30). This compound was prepared using the general method described for 27. Deprotection of disaccharide 23 (6.47 g, 6.4 mmol) followed by trichloroacetimidate formation gave 4.6 g (78%) of **30**.  $R_{\rm f} = 0.64$ (cyclohexane/EtOAc 6:4).  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$  +110.7° (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  3.68 (m, 1H, H-5<sup>'</sup>), 3.77 (t, 1H, J=9.1 Hz, H-3'), 3.84 (t, 1H, J = 9.4 Hz, H-4'), 3.87 (m, 2H, H-6'a/b), 4.07 (dd, 1H, J=13.3, 1.8 Hz, H-5a), 4.31 (d, 1H, J=12.9 Hz, H-5b), 4.56 (m, 1H, H-2), 4.57 (d, 1H, J=11.3 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.66 (m, 3H,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.71 (d, 1H, J=11.9 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.84 (d, 1H, J=10.8 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.87 (d, 1H, J=7.8 Hz, H-1'), 5.25 (dd, 1H, J=9.2, 7.9 Hz, H-2'), 5.68 (dd, 1H, J=10.4, 3.5 Hz, H-3), 3.78 (m, 1H, H-4), 6.79 (d, 1H, J=3.6 Hz, H-1), 7.07–7.65 (m, 25H, Ar-H), 7.74 (dd, 2H, J=8.3, 1.2 Hz, Ar-H), 8.05 (dd, 2H, J=8.3, 1.3 Hz, Ar-H), 8.11 (dd, 1H, J = 8.3, 1.3 Hz, Ar-H), 8.64 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 62.7 (C-5), 68.9 (C-6'), 69.4 (C-4), 69.7 (C-3), 73.0 (C-2), 73.4 (C-2'), 73.7 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 75.0 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 75.1 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 75.4 (C-5'), 77.7 (C-4'), 82.5 (C-3'), 96.2 (C-1), 101.6 (C-1'), 127.6 (CH), 127.7 (CH), 127.7 (CH), 127.9 (CH), 128.0 (CH), 128.2 (CH), 128.2 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 128.5 (CH), 129.1 (C), 129.2 (CH), 129.3 (C), 129.5 (CH), 129.6 (CH), 129.6 (C), 129.8 (CH), 132.6 (CH), 132.9 (CH), 133.0 (CH), 133.4 (CH), 137.6 (C), 137.9 (C), 138.1 (C), 161.2 (*C*=NH), 164.6 (CO), 164.9 (CO), 165.5 (CO).

Anal. Calcd for C<sub>55</sub>H<sub>50</sub>Cl<sub>3</sub>NO<sub>13</sub>: C, 63.56; H, 4.85; N, 1.35. Found: C, 63.80; H, 4.59; N, 1.30.

4.1.15. 2-O-Benzovl-3.4.6-tri-O-benzvl-B-D-glucopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -2,4-di-*O*-benzoyl- $\beta$ -L-arabinopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (31). This compound was prepared using the general method described for 27. Deprotection of disaccharide 24 (0.97 g, 1.0 mmol) followed by trichloroacetimidate formation gave 0.66 g (74%) of **31**.  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.65 (cyclohexane/EtOAc 6:4).  $[\alpha]_D$  +68.5° (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 3.66 (m, 1H, H-5'), 3.77 (m, 4H, H-3', H-4', H-6'a, H-6'b), 4.20 (m, 2H, H-5a, H-5b), 4.51 (d, 1H, J=11.9 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.56 (d, 3H, J=11.5 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.60 (dd, 1H, J=10.2, 3.5 Hz, H-3), 4.65 (d, 1H, J= 11.1 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.77 (d, 1H, J = 10.8 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.93 (d, 1H, J = 7.6 Hz, H-1', 5.24 (m, 1H, H-2'), 5.73 (m, 1H, H-4), 5.75 (dd, 1H, J = 10.2, 3.5 Hz, H-2), 6.65 (d, 1H, J = 3.6 Hz)H-1), 7.06–7.62 (m, 24H, Ar-H), 7.66 (dd, 2H, J=8.3, 1.3 Hz, Ar-H), 7.84 (dd, 2H, J=8.4, 1.2 Hz, Ar-H), 8.15 (dd, 2H, J=8.4, 1.4 Hz, Ar-H), 8.52 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 62.9 (C-5), 68.9 (C-6'), 69.6 (C-2), 71.4 (C-4), 73.0 (C-3), 73.4 (C-2'), 73.5 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 74.7 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 75.0 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 75.3 (C-5'), 77.6 (C-4'), 82.5 (C-3'), 94.2 (C-1), 101.5 (C-1<sup>'</sup>), 127.5 (CH), 127.5 (CH), 127.7 (CH), 127.8 (CH), 128.0 (CH), 128.1 (CH), 128.1 (CH), 128.2 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 128.9 (C), 129.3 (CH), 129.4 (C), 129.6 (CH), 129.9 (C), 130.0 (CH), 132.7 (CH), 132.9 (CH), 133.1 (CH), 137.6 (C), 137.8 (C), 138.1 (C), 160.5 (C=NH), 164.6 (CO), 165.1 (CO), 166.3 (CO). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>55</sub>H<sub>50</sub>Cl<sub>3</sub>NO<sub>13</sub>: C, 63.56; H, 4.85; N, 1.35. Found: C, 63.17; H, 4.56; N, 1.38.

4.1.16. 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl-β-D-glucopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -2,3-di-*O*-benzoyl- $\beta$ -L-arabinopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (32). This compound was prepared using the general method described for 27. Deprotection of disaccharide 25 (0.65 g, 0.6 mmol) followed by trichloroacetimidate formation gave 0.52 g (77%) of **32**.  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.63 (cyclohexane/EtOAc 6:4).  $[\alpha]_D$  +66.3° (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 3.54 (m, 1H, H-5'), 3.72 (m, 2H, H-6'a/b), 3.81 (m, 2H, H-3', H-4'), 4.24 (d, 1H, J = 12.5 Hz, H-5a),4.32 (dd, 1H, J=12.6, 1.7 Hz, H-5b), 4.54 (m, 1H, H-4), 4.62 (m, 3H,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.70 (d, 1H, J=11.0 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.77 (d, 1H, J = 11.9 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.79 (d, 1H, J = 7.9 Hz, H-1'), 4.85 (d, 1H, J = 10.9 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 5.47 (m, 1H, H-2'), 5.78 (m, 2H, H-2, H-3), 6.79 (d, 1H, J = 1.7 Hz, H-1), 7.17 -7.54 (m, 24H, Ar-H), 7.78 (d, 2H, J=7.3 Hz, Ar-H), 7.91 (d, 2H, J=7.3 Hz, Ar-H), 7.97 (d, 2H, J=7.3 Hz, Ar-H), 8.60 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 64.8 (C-5), 67.8 (C-2), 68.7 (C-6'), 69.9 (C-3), 73.5 (CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 73.7 (C-2'), 74.8 (C-4), 75.0 (2×CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 75.1 (C-5'), 77.8 (C-4'), 82.8 (C-3'), 94.6 (C-1), 101.9 (C-1'), 127.6 (CH), 127.7 (CH), 127.9 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.5 (CH), 128.8 (C), 129.1 (C), 129.5 (CH), 129.7 (CH), 129.7 (CH), 129.8 (C), 132.7 (CH), 133.1 (CH), 133.2 (CH), 137.7 (C), 137.7 (C), 137.8 (C), 138.0 (C), 160.6 (C=NH), 164.9 (CO), 165.0 (CO), 166.0 (CO). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>55</sub>H<sub>50</sub>Cl<sub>3</sub>NO<sub>13</sub>: C, 63.56; H, 4.85; N, 1.35. Found: C, 63.88; H, 5.14; N, 1.26.

4.1.17. Allyl 3-O-[2,3,4-tri-O-benzoyl- $\beta$ -D-xylopyranosyl-(1 $\rightarrow$ 3)-2,4-di-O-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranosyl]-23-O-benzoylhederagenate (34). General coupling method. In a typical experiment, allyl hederagenate 33<sup>5</sup> (0.150 g,

0.24 mmol), trichloroacetimidate 28 (0.35 g, 0.37 mmol, 1.5 equiv) and 4 Å powdered molecular sieves (1 g) were stirred for 1 h at room temperature in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (4 mL). The mixture was cooled to -20 °C for 30 min followed by the dropwise addition of a 0.1 M solution of TMSOTf in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (0.12 mL, 0.012 mmol, 0.05 equiv). After 6 h at -20 °C the reaction was quenched with triethylamine, filtered through Celite and evaporated. Purification by column chromatography (toluene/acetone 99:1-98.5:1.5) gave 0.32 g (95%) of saponin 34 as a white foam.  $R_f = 0.63$ (toluene/acetone 9:1).  $[\alpha]_D$  +53.1° (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 0.63 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.73 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.90–1.98 (m, 22H, H-1, H-2, H-5, H-6, H-7, H-9, H-11, H-15, H-16, H-19, H-21, H-22), 0.93 (s, 3H, H-25), 0.94 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.96 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.05 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.91 (dd, 1H, J =13.7, 3.8 Hz, H-18), 3.56 (dd, 1H, J=11.6, 4.7 Hz, H-3), 3.66 (dd, 1H, J = 12.5, 5.7 Hz, H-5"), 3.69 (brd, 1H, J =13.6 Hz, H-5'), 3.83 (d, 1H, J = 11.5 Hz, H-23), 4.09 (d, 1H, J = 11.6 Hz, H-23), 4.29 (m, 2H, H-3', H-5'), 4.39 (dd, 1H, J=12.5, 3.8 Hz, H-5"), 4.55 (m, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 4.65 (d, 1H, J=7.1 Hz, H-1<sup>'</sup>), 5.14 (d, 1H, J=4.5 Hz, H-1<sup>"</sup>), 5.19 (m, 1H, H-4"), 5.23 (dd, 1H, J=10.8, 0.8 Hz,  $CH_2CH=CH_2$ ), 5.27 (dd, 1H, J=6.7, 4.7 Hz, H-2"), 5.34 (m, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>, H-12), 5.55 (m, 1H, H-4'), 5.60 (t, 1H, J=6.5 Hz, H-3"), 5.71 (dd, 1H, J=8.9, 7.4 Hz, H-2'), 5.92 (m, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 7.23 (t, 2H, J=7.7 Hz, Ar-H), 7.30–7.65 (m, 16H, Ar-H), 7.70 (d, 2H, J=7.6 Hz, Ar-H), 7.94 (d, 2H, J=7.8 Hz, Ar-H), 7.96 (d, 2H, J= 7.6 Hz, Ar-H), 8.01 (d, 2H, J=7.4 Hz, Ar-H), 8.04 (d, 2H, J=7.3 Hz, Ar-H), 8.16 (d, 2H, J=7.4 Hz, Ar-H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  12.5 (C-24), 15.5 (C-25), 16.9 (C-26), 17.9 (C-6), 22.9 (C-16), 23.4 (C-11), 23.6 (C-30), 25.3 (C-27, C-2), 27.5 (C-15), 30.6 (C-20), 32.3 (C-7, C-22), 33.1 (C-29), 33.8 (C-21), 36.4 (C-10), 38.3 (C-1), 39.3 (C-8), 41.3 (C-18), 41.6 (C-14), 42.1 (C-4), 45.8 (C-19), 46.7 (C-17), 48.0 (C-9), 48.1 (C-5), 60.8 (C-5"), 63.2 (C-5'), 64.8 (CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 65.3 (C-23), 68.8 (C-4"), 69.5 (C-3"), 69.8 (C-2"), 71.0 (C-4'), 71.3 (C-2'), 77.1 (C-3'), 83.4 (C-3), 100.7 (C-1"), 103.2 (C-1'), 117.7 (CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 122.4 (C-12), 128.0 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 128.6 (CH), 128.9 (C), 129.0 (C), 129.2 (C), 129.2 (C), 129.4 (CH), 129.7 (CH), 129.7 (CH), 129.8 (CH), 129.8 (CH), 130.0 (CH), 130.4 (C), 132.5 (CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 132.8 (CH), 132.9 (CH), 133.0 (CH), 133.3 (CH), 143.6 (C-13), 164.6 (CO), 164.9 (CO), 165.2 (CO), 165.4 (CO), 165.8 (CO), 166.2 (CO), 177.3 (C-28). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>85</sub>H<sub>92</sub>O<sub>18</sub>: C, 72.84; H, 6.62. Found: C, 72.77; H, 6.85.

**4.1.18.** Allyl 3-*O*-[2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzoyl-β-D-xylopyranosyl-(1→4)-2,3-di-*O*-benzoyl-α-L-arabinopyranosyl]-23-*O*-benzoylhederagenate (35). This compound was prepared using the general method described for 34. Reaction of allyl hederagenate 33 (0.150 g, 0.24 mmol) and trichloroacetimidate 28 (0.35 g, 0.37 mmol) gave 0.178 g (94%) of 35.  $R_f$ =0.61 (toluene/acetone 9:1). [ $\alpha$ ]<sub>D</sub> +46.0° (*c* 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). As <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C chemical shifts for the hederagenin aglycone are nearly identical to those indicated above, only selected NMR data is presented: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 0.69 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.76 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.95 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.98 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.00 (s, 3H, H-25), 1.07 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.93 (dd, 1H, *J*=13.6, 3.8 Hz, H-18), 3.68 (dd, 1H, *J*=11.6, 4.5 Hz, H-3), 3.77 (brd, 1H, *J*=11.0 Hz, H-5'), 3.82 (dd, 1H, *J*= 12.5, 5.2 Hz, H-5″), 4.02 (d, 1H, *J*=11.4 Hz, H-23), 4.10 (d,

4357

1H, J=11.6 Hz, H-23), 4.34 (dd, 1H, J=12.4, 4.5 Hz, H-5'), 4.44 (m, 1H, H-4'), 4.56 (m, 3H, H-5",  $CH_2CH=CH_2$ ), 4.80 (d, 1H, J=5.9 Hz, H-1'), 5.08 (d, 1H, J=4.0 Hz, H-1"), 5.25 (brd, 1H, J=10.5 Hz,  $CH_2CH=CH_2$ ), 5.30 (m, 1H, H-4"), 5.36 (m, 2H, H-12,  $CH_2CH=CH_2$ ), 5.42 (dd, 1H, J=5.7, 4.2 Hz, H-2"), 5.45 (dd, 1H, J=8.5, 3.2 Hz, H-3'), 5.72 (t, 1H, J=5.7 Hz, H-3"), 5.73 (m, 1H, H-2'), 5.94 (m, 1H,  $CH_2CH=CH_2$ ). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  12.7 (C-24), 15.6 (C-25), 16.9 (C-26), 23.6 (C-30), 25.4 (C-27), 33.1 (C-29), 60.4 (C-5"), 63.5 (C-5'), 65.4 (C-23), 68.5 (C-4"), 68.9 (C-3"), 69.6 (C-2"), 70.0 (C-2'), 71.3 (C-3'), 73.1 (C-4'), 82.4 (C-3), 99.8 (C-1"), 102.3 (C-1'), 122.3 (C-12), 143.6 (C-13), 177.3 (C-28). Anal. Calcd for  $C_{85}H_{92}O_{18}$ : C, 72.84; H, 6.62. Found: C, 72.70; H, 6.70.

4.1.19. Allyl 3-O-[2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl-β-Dglucopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -2,4-di-*O*-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranosyl]-23-O-benzoylhederagenate (36). This compound was prepared using the general method described for 34. Reaction of allyl hederagenate 33 (0.31 g, 0.51 mmol) and trichloroacetimidate **31** (0.79 g, 0.76 mmol) gave 0.71 g (93%) of **36**.  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.72 (toluene/ acetone 9:1).  $[\alpha]_D$  +69.0° (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 0.55 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.72 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.91 (s, 3H, H-25), 0.94 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.97 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.04 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.91 (dd, 1H, J=13.6, 3.8 Hz, H-18), 3.53 (dd, 1H, J=11.6, 4.8 Hz, H-3), 3.58 (m, 1H, H-5''), 3.59 (dl, 1H, J=12.7 Hz, H-5a'), 3.69 (m, 2H, H-3'', H-4"), 3.75 (m, 3H, H-23a, H-6a/b"), 3.96 (d, 1H, J =11.5 Hz, H-23b), 4.19 (dd, 1H, J=9.9, J=3.7 Hz, H-3<sup>'</sup>), 4.28 (dd, 1H, J = 13.4, 1.8 Hz, H-5b<sup>'</sup>), 4.54 (m, 7H, H-1<sup>'</sup>), CH<sub>2</sub>Ph, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 4.61 (d, 1H, J=11.0 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 4.78 (d, 1H, J=10.8 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 4.79 (d, 1H, J=7.7 Hz, H-1"), 5.20 (m, 1H, H-2"), 5.23 (m, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 5.32 (m, 1H, H-12), 5.34 (m, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 5.51 (m, 1H, H-4'), 5.62 (dd, 1H, J=9.8, 7.8 Hz, H-2'), 5.92 (m, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 12.5 (C-24), 15.5 (C-25), 16.9 (C-26), 23.6 (C-30), 25.3 (C-27), 25.4 (C-2), 33.1 (C-29), 64.0 (C-5'), 65.3 (C-23), 69.0 (C-6"), 71.6 (C-4'), 71.7 (C-2'), 73.4 (C-2"), 75.1 (C-5"), 76.6 (C-3'), 77.6 (C-4"), 82.1 (C-3), 82.7 (C-3"), 101.4 (C-1"), 103.4 (C-1<sup>'</sup>), 122.4 (C-12), 143.6 (C-13), 177.3 (C-28). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>93</sub>H<sub>104</sub>O<sub>17</sub> (·0.9 CH<sub>3</sub>OH): C, 74.07; H, 7.12. Found: C, 73.91; H, 7.12.

4.1.20. Allyl 3-O-[2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl-β-Dglucopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -2,3-di-O-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranosyl]-23-O-benzoylhederagenate (37). This compound was prepared using the general method described for 34. Reaction of allyl hederagenate 33 (0.11 g, 0.18 mmol) and trichloroacetimidate **32** (0.28 g, 0.27 mmol) gave 0.25 g (95%) of **37**.  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.70 (toluene/ acetone 9:1).  $[\alpha]_D$  +50.0° (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 0.58 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.75 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.95 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.96 (s, 3H, H-25), 0.98 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.05 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.93 (dd, 1H, J=13.3, 3.1 Hz, H-18), 3.55 (m, 1H, H-5<sup>"</sup>), 3.63 (dd, 1H, J=11.7, 4.5 Hz, H-3), 3.74 (m, 2H, H-6a/b"), 3.76 (m, 1H, H-5a'), 3.80 (m, 2H, H-3'', H-4'', 4.01 (d, 1H, J=11.5 Hz, H-23a), 4.07 (d, 1H, J=11.5 Hz, H-23b), 4.36 (dd, 1H, J=11.8, 6.7 Hz, H-5b'), 4.45 (m, 1H, H-4'), 4.57 (m, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 4.60 (d, 1H, J = 12.3 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.62 (d, 1H, J = 10.9 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.65 (d, 1H, J=9.0 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.67 (d, 1H, J=

12.0 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.73 (d, 1H, J = 11.0 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.80 (d, 1H, J = 7.5 Hz, H-1"), 4.80 (m, 1H, H-1'), 4.85 (d, 1H, J = 10.9 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 5.25 (m, 1H,  $CH_2CH=CH_2$ ), 5.35 (m, 2H, H-12, H-2"), 5.36 (m, 1H,  $CH_2CH=CH_2$ ), 5.95 (m, 1H, H-3'), 5.53 (dd, 1H, J = 6.7, 4.4 Hz, H-2'), 5.95 (m, 1H,  $CH_2CH=CH_2$ ). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  12.6 (C-24), 15.6 (C-25), 16.9 (C-26), 23.6 (C-30), 25.2 (C-2), 25.4 (C-27), 33.1 (C-29), 62.0 (C-5'), 65.5 (C-23), 68.6 (C-6"), 69.8 (C-2', C-3'), 71.4 (C-4'), 73.5 (C-2"), 75.2 (C-5"), 77.7 (C-4"), 82.2 (C-3), 82.7 (C-3"), 100.2 (C-1"), 101.0 (C-1'), 122.4 (C-12), 143.6 (C-13), 177.3 (C-28). Anal. Calcd for  $C_{93}H_{104}O_{17}$ : C, 74.78; H, 7.02. Found: C, 74.51; H, 7.29.

4.1.21. Allyl 3-O-[2,3,4-tri-O-benzoyl-β-D-xylopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 2)$ -2,3-di-O-benzoyl- $\beta$ -L-arabinopyranosyl]-23-O-benzoylhederagenate (38). This compound was prepared at 0 °C using the general method described for 34. Reaction of allyl hederagenate 33 (0.26 g, 0.41 mmol) and trichloroacetimidate 27 (0.59 g, 0.62 mmol) gave 0.55 g (94%) of **38**.  $R_f = 0.62$  (toluene/acetone 9:1).  $[\alpha]_D + 81.9^\circ$ (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  0.83 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.96 (s, 6H, H-24, H-29), 0.99 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.10 (s, 3H, H-25), 1.13 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.96 (dd, 1H, J =14.2, 3.7 Hz, H-18), 3.72 (dd, 1H, J = 11.9, 8.3 Hz, H-5"), 3.82 (brd, 1H, J = 13.0 Hz, H-5'), 3.88 (dd, 1H, J = 11.7, 4.3 Hz, H-3), 4.20 (brd, 1H, J = 12.7 Hz, H-5<sup>'</sup>), 4.33 (m, 2H, H-23), 4.39 (dd, 1H, J = 10.4, 3.5 Hz, H-2'), 4.49 (dd, 1H, J=11.9, 4.8 Hz, H-5"), 4.60 (m, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 5.06 (d, 1H, J=6.2 Hz, H-1"), 5.28 (dd, 1H, J=10.5, 1.0 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 5.39 (m, 6H, H-1', H-2", H-4", H-12,  $CH_2CH=CH_2$ ), 5.62 (dd, 1H, J=10.5, 3.5 Hz, H-3'), 5.69 (m, 1H, H-4'), 5.74 (t, 1H, J=8.4 Hz, H-3"), 5.97 (m, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 13.1 (C-24), 15.8 (C-25), 17.0 (C-26), 21.8 (C-2), 23.6 (C-30), 25.5 (C-27), 33.1 (C-29), 61.0 (C-5'), 62.2 (C-5"), 66.0 (C-23), 69.6 (C-3'), 69.7 (C-4"), 70.2 (C-4'), 70.8 (C-2"), 71.1 (C-3"), 74.8 (C-2'), 78.8 (C-3), 96.7 (C-1'), 102.0 (C-1"), 122.4 (C-12), 143.6 (C-13), 177.3 (C-28). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>85</sub>H<sub>92</sub>O<sub>18</sub>: C, 72.84; H, 6.62. Found: C, 72.45; H, 6.43.

4.1.22. Allyl 3-0-[2-0-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-0-benzyl-β-Dglucopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 2)$ -3,4-di-*O*-benzoyl- $\beta$ -L-arabinopyranosyl]-23-O-benzovlhederagenate (39). This compound was prepared at 0 °C using the general method described for 34. Reaction of allyl hederagenate 33 (0.40 g, 0.65 mmol) and trichloroacetimidate **30** (1.01 g, 0.97 mmol) gave 0.82 g (85%) of **39**.  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.75 (toluene/ acetone 9:1).  $[\alpha]_D$  +83.3° (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 0.81 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.94 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.97 (s, 3H, H-29), 1.01 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.04 (s, 3H, H-25), 1.12 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.96 (dd, 1H, J=13.4, 3.3 Hz, H-18), 3.65 (m, 1H, H-5"), 3.76 (m, 1H, H-3), 3.77 (t, 1H, J=9.2 Hz, H-3"), 3.82 (m, 1H, H-5a'), 3.84 (m, 2H, H-6a/ b"), 3.89 (t, 1H, J = 9.2 Hz, H-4"), 4.23 (dl, 1H, J = 12.6 Hz, H-5b'), 4.27 (d, 1H, J=11.5 Hz, H-23a), 4.31 (d, 1H, J=11.5 Hz, H-23b), 4.37 (dd, 1H, J = 10.5, 3.6 Hz, H-2'), 4.56 (d, 1H, J=12.0 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.58 (d, 1H, J=10.9 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.61 (m, 2H,  $CH_2CH=CH_2$ ), 4.65 (d, 1H, J=11.0 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.68 (d, 2H, J = 11.5 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.85 (d, 1H, J=7.8 Hz, H-1"), 4.87 (d, 1H, J=10.8 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 5.29 (m, 2H, H-2", CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 5.39 (m, 2H, H-1',  $CH_2CH=CH_2$ ), 5.53 (dd, 1H, J=10.5, 3.5 Hz, H-3'), 5.67 (m, 1H, H-4'), 5.97 (m, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>). <sup>13</sup>C NMR 4.1.23. Allyl 3-O-[2,3,4-tri-O-benzoyl-β-D-xylopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 2)$ -2,3-di-O-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranosyl]-23-O-benzoylhederagenate (40). Allyl hederagenate 33 (0.8 g, 1.3 mmol), trichloroacetimidate 27 (2.46 g, 2.6 mmol, 2.0 equiv) and 4 Å powdered molecular sieves (7 g) were stirred for 1 h at room temperature in dry acetonitrile (20 mL). The mixture was cooled to -35 °C for 30 min followed by the rapid addition of a 0.1 M solution of TMSOTf in acetonitrile (3.9 mL, 0.39 mmol, 0.3 equiv). The reaction was stirred at this temperature until tlc indicated the disappearance of the allyl hederagenin. Triethylamine was added and the mixture was filtered through Celite and evaporated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography (toluene/acetone 99:1) to give 0.68 g (38%) of the desired  $\alpha$  anomer, and 0.48 g of a mixture of anomeric products. HPLC separation (100%) acetonitrile) gave a further 0.36 g (20%) of the desired saponin 40 as a white foam (total yield 58%), and 0.12 g (6%) of the  $\beta$  anomer **38** which was previously described above.  $R_f = 0.63$  (toluene/acetone 9:1).  $[\alpha]_D + 47.1^\circ$  (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  0.77 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.79 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.96 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.98 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.02 (s, 3H, H-25), 1.13 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.94 (dd, 1H, J=13.7, 3.8 Hz, H-18), 3.66 (dd, 1H, J=12.0, 7.8 Hz, H-5''), 3.73 (dd, 1H, J=11.6, 4.4 Hz, H-3), 3.84 (dd, 1H, J = 11.6, 3.2 Hz, H-5'), 4.20 (d, 1H, J = 11.4 Hz, H-23), 4.27 (dd, 1H, J=11.7, 7.1 Hz, H-5'), 4.34 (dd, 1H, J=6.0, 3.9 Hz, H-2'), 4.37 (m, 1H, H-23), 4.41 (dd, 1H, J=12.1, 4.4 Hz, H-5"), 4.58 (m, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 4.89 (d, 1H, J=3.5 Hz, H-1<sup>'</sup>), 5.14 (d, 1H, J=5.9 Hz, H-1<sup>''</sup>), 5.26 (d, 1H, J = 10.5 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 5.32 (m, 1H, H-4"), 5.37 (m, 3H, H-12, H-3', CH<sub>2</sub>CH= $CH_2$ ), 5.44 (dd, 1H, J=7.7, 6.1 Hz, H-2"), 5.48 (m, 1H, H-4'), 5.74 (t, 1H, J=7.8 Hz, H-3"), 5.95 (m, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 12.7 (C-24), 15.8 (C-25), 17.0 (C-26), 23.6 (C-30), 25.2 (C-2), 25.4 (C-27), 33.1 (C-29), 59.4 (C-5'), 61.7 (C-5"), 65.7 (C-23), 67.1 (C-4'), 69.2 (C-4"), 70.7 (C-3", C-2", C-3'), 75.1 (C-2'), 82.9 (C-3), 101.0 (C-1"), 101.9 (C-1'), 122.3 (C-12), 143.7 (C-13), 177.3 (C-28). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>85</sub>H<sub>92</sub>O<sub>18</sub>: C, 72.84; H, 6.62. Found: C, 72.69; H, 6.84.

**4.1.24.** Allyl 3-*O*-[2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-Dglucopyranosyl-(1→2)-3,4-di-*O*-benzoyl-α-L-arabinopyranosyl]-23-*O*-benzoylhederagenate (41). This product was prepared in acetonitrile as described for compound 40. Reaction of allyl hederagenate **33** (0.83 g, 1.3 mmol) and trichloroacetimidate **30** (2.8 g, 2.7 mmol) gave 1.22 g (61%) of **41** as well as 0.28 g (14%) of the β coupling product **39**.  $R_f$ =0.69 (toluene/acetone 9:1). [α]<sub>D</sub> +47.5° (*c* 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): δ 0.73 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.76 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.95 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.97 (s, 3H, H-25), 0.98 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.07 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.92 (dd, 1H, *J*=13.7, 3.8 Hz, H-18), 3.64 (dt, *J*=9.7, 3.3 Hz, H-5″), 3.69 (dd, 1H, *J*=11.7, 4.6 Hz, H-3), 3.75 (t, 1H, *J*=9.2 Hz, H-3″), 3.78 (m, 1H, H-5a′), 3.80 (m, 2H, H-6a/b″), 3.85 (t, 1H, *J*= 9.2 Hz, H-4″), 4.20 (dd, 1H, J=12.0, 6.4 Hz, H-5b′), 4.27 (d, 1H, J=11.4 Hz, H-23a), 4.32 (m, 2H, H-2′, H-23b), 4.57 (m, 4H,  $CH_2CH=CH_2$ ,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.60 (m, 2H,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.69 (d, 1H, J=11.2 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.82 (m, 1H, H-1′), 4.83 (d, 1H, J=10.8 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.89 (d, 1H, J=8.0 Hz, H-1″), 5.25 (m, 2H, H-3′,  $CH_2CH=CH_2$ ), 5.31 (dd, 1H, J=9.4, 8.1 Hz, H-2″), 4.35 (m, 1H, H-12), 4.36 (m, 1H,  $CH_2CH==CH_2$ ), 4.38 (m, 1H, H-4′), 5.95 (m, 1H,  $CH_2CH=CH_2$ ). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  12.8 (C-24), 15.6 (C-25), 17.0 (C-26), 23.6 (C-30), 25.1 (C-2), 25.4 (C-27), 33.1 (C-29), 60.2 (C-5′), 65.9 (C-23), 67.4 (C-4′), 69.1 (C-6″), 71.8 (C-3′), 73.4 (C-2″), 74.7 (C-2′), 75.5 (C-5″), 77.8 (C-4″), 82.7 (C-3″), 82.8 (C-3), 101.4 (C-1″), 101.9 (C-1′), 122.3 (C-12), 143.7 (C-13), 177.3 (C-28). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>93</sub>H<sub>104</sub>O<sub>17</sub>: C, 74.78; H, 7.02. Found: C, 74.44; H, 7.31.

**4.1.25.** 3-*O*-[ $\beta$ -D-xylopyranosyl-( $1 \rightarrow 2$ )- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranosyl]hederagenin (1). *General method 1*. In a typical experiment, Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> (0.57 g, 0.49 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added to a solution of saponin **40** (0.680 g, 0.49 mmol) in 3% KOH in MeOH (39 mL). After heating to 60 °C for 6 h, the reaction was neutralized with Amberlite IR 120 (H<sup>+</sup> form), filtered and evaporated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography (CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/MeOH 9:1–8:2) to give 0.280 g (76%) of the deprotected saponin **1** as an amorphous solid.

General method 2. Use of a catalytic amount of  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$ : in a typical experiment  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$  (0.025 g, 0.02 mmol, 0.3 equiv) was added to a solution of saponin **40** (0.102 g, 0.07 mmol) in a THF/3% KOH in MeOH (1:1) mixture (6 mL). After heating to 60 °C for 7 h, the reaction was neutralized with Amberlite IR 120 (H<sup>+</sup> form), filtered and evaporated. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography (CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/MeOH 9:1–8:2) to give 0.048 g (89%) of the deprotected saponin **1** as an amorphous solid.

 $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$  +41.0° (c 0.5, pyridine). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (pyridine-d<sub>5</sub>):  $\delta$ 0.90 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.93 (s, 3H, H-25), 0.98 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.00 (s, 6H, H-24, H-26), 1.03-2.22 (m, 22H, H-1, H-2, H-5, H-6, H-7, H-9, H-11, H-15, H-16, H-19, H-21, H-22), 1.22 (s, 3H, H-27), 3.26 (dd, 1H, J=13.6, 3.8 Hz, H-18), 3.56 (m, 1H, H-5"), 3.64 (brd, 1H, J=11.1 Hz, H-5'), 3.68 (d, 1H, J = 11.0 Hz, H-23), 4.08 (m, 1H, H-2"), 4.10 (m, 1H, H-3"), 4.15 (dd, 1H, J=8.4, 2.3 Hz, H-3'), 4.18 (m, 1H, H-4"), 4.24 (m, 1H, H-5'), 4.25 (m, 1H, H-4'), 4.27 (m, 1H, H-3), 4.31 (dd, 1H, J = 11.4, 5.2 Hz, H-5"), 4.35 (d, 1H, J =11.1 Hz, H-23), 4.53 (brt, 1H, J = 7.5 Hz, H-2'), 5.07 (d, 1H, J=6.5 Hz, H-1"), 5.11 (d, 1H, J=6.6 Hz, H-1'), 5.46 (m, 1H, H-12). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (pyridine-*d*<sub>5</sub>): δ 12.9 (C-24), 15.8 (C-25), 17.1 (C-26), 17.8 (C-6), 23.3 (C-16), 23.4 (C-30), 23.5 (C-11), 25.9 (C-27), 26.0 (C-2), 28.0 (C-15), 30.6 (C-20), 32.5 (C-7), 32.9 (C-22, C-29), 33.8 (C-21), 36.6 (C-10), 38.5 (C-1), 39.4 (C-8), 41.6 (C-18), 41.8 (C-14), 43.3 (C-4), 46.1 (C-19), 46.3 (C-17), 47.0 (C-5), 47.8 (C-9), 63.2 (C-23), 65.6 (C-5'), 67.1 (C-5"), 68.4 (C-4'), 70.6 (C-4"), 73.6 (C-3'), 75.8 (C-2"), 77.9 (C-3"), 81.1 (C-3), 81.5 (C-2'), 104.2 (C-1'), 106.4 (C-1"), 122.3 (C-12), 144.5 (C-13), 179.9 (C-28). HRMS: C<sub>40</sub>H<sub>64</sub>O<sub>12</sub>Na calcd 759.4295; found 759.4316.

**4.1.26. 3**-*O*- $[\beta$ -D-xylopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 2)$ - $\beta$ -L-arabinopyranosyl]hederagenin (2). Using a stoichiometric amount of

 $Pd(PPh_3)_4$  in the general deprotection method 1 described for 1, the deprotection of saponin 38 (0.52 g, 0.37 mmol) gave 0.17 g (64%) of **2**. Use of the catalytic method with 0.115 g (0.08 mmol) of **38** gave 0.050 g (84%) of **2**.  $[\alpha]_{D}$  $+82.2^{\circ}$  (c 0.5, pyridine). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (pyridine-*d*<sub>5</sub>): δ 0.85 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.85 (s, 3H, H-25), 0.92 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.99 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.00 (s, 3H, H-26), 1.24 (s, 3H, H-27), 3.27 (dd, 1H, J=13.5, 3.6 Hz, H-18), 3.50 (dd, 1H, J=11.0, 10.1 Hz, H-5"), 3.70 (d, 1H, J=10.7 Hz, H-23), 3.93 (d, 1H, J=10.9 Hz, H-23), 4.10 (dd, 1H, J=8.7, 7.0 Hz, H-2"), 4.12 (dd, 1H, J=10.5, 1.7 Hz, H-5'; t, 1H, J = 8.6 Hz, H - 3''), 4.18 (m, 1H, H - 4''), 4.21 (dd, 1H, J =11.9, 4.8 Hz, H-3), 4.25 (dd, 1H, J=11.3, 5.1 Hz, H-5"), 4.43 (m, 1H, H-4'), 4.44 (brd, 1H, J=11.3 Hz, H-5'), 4.62 (dd, 1H, J=9.9, 3.1 Hz, H-3'), 4.67 (dd, 1H, J=9.9, 3.2 Hz,H-2'), 5.00 (d, 1H, J=7.1 Hz, H-1''), 5.48 (m, 1H, H-12), 5.69 (d, 1H, J=3.3 Hz, H-1'). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (pyridine- $d_5$ ):  $\delta$ 13.8 (C-24), 15.6 (C-25), 17.2 (C-26), 22.2 (C-2), 23.5 (C-30), 25.9 (C-27), 33.0 (C-29), 64.0 (C-23), 64.3 (C-5<sup>'</sup>), 66.6 (C-5"), 69.2 (C-3'), 70.0 (C-4'), 70.5 (C-4"), 74.8 (C-2"), 77.4 (C-3), 77.5 (C-3"), 79.4 (C-2'), 97.6 (C-1'), 106.6 (C-1"), 122.3 (C-12), 144.6 (C-13), 180.3 (C-28). HRMS: C<sub>40</sub>H<sub>64</sub>O<sub>12</sub>Na calcd 759.4295; found 759.4275.

4.1.27. 3-*O*-[ $\beta$ -D-xylopyranosyl-( $1 \rightarrow 3$ )- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranosyl]hederagenin (3). Using a stoichiometric amount of  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$  in the general deprotection method 1 described for 1, the deprotection of saponin 34 (0.26 g, 0.18 mmol) gave 0.11 g (82%) of **3**. Use of the catalytic method with 0.055 g (0.04 mmol) of **34** gave 0.021 g (72%) of **3**.  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$  $+47.6^{\circ}$  (c 0.5, pyridine). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (pyridine-d<sub>5</sub>): δ 0.91 (s, 3H, H-25), 0.92 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.92 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.98 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.00 (s, 3H, H-26), 1.24 (s, 3H, H-27), 3.27 (dd, 1H, J=13.7, 3.7 Hz, H-18), 3.70 (d, 1H, J = 10.7 Hz, H-23), 3.71 (m, 1H, H-5"), 3.75 (brd, 1H, J = 11.6 Hz, H-5'), 4.03 (dd, 1H, J = 8.8, 7.7 Hz, H-2"), 4.10 (dd, 1H, J=9.4, 3.3 Hz, H-3'), 4.18 (m, 2H, H-3" H-4''), 4.26 (dd, 1H, J=12.0, 2.0 Hz, H-5'), 4.29 (dd, 1H, J = 12.2, 4.6 Hz, H-3), 4.32 (d, 1H, J = 10.6 Hz, H-23), 4.33(dd, 1H, J = 10.7, 5.2 Hz, H-5"), 4.39 (m, 1H, H-4'), 4.59 (dd, 1H, J=9.2, 7.7 Hz, H-2'), 5.04 (d, 1H, J=7.5 Hz, H-1'), 5.20 (d, 1H, J=7.6 Hz, H-1''), 5.47 (m, 1H, H-12). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (pyridine- $d_5$ ):  $\delta$  13.4 (C-24), 15.8 (C-25), 17.2 (C-26), 23.5 (C-30), 25.9 (C-27), 33.0 (C-29), 63.6 (C-23), 66.7 (C-5'), 66.8 (C-5"), 69.0 (C-4'), 70.6 (C-4"), 71.5 (C-2'), 74.9 (C-2"), 77.5 (C-3"), 81.5 (C-3), 83.3 (C-3'), 106.2 (C-1'), 106.3 (C-1"), 122.3 (C-12), 144.5 (C-13), 180.2 (C-28). HRMS: C40H64O12Na calcd 759.4295; found 759.4303.

**4.1.28.** 3-*O*-[β-D-xylopyranosyl-(1→4)-α-L-arabinopyranosyl]hederagenin (4). Using a stoichiometric amount of Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> in the general deprotection method 1 described for 1, the deprotection of saponin 35 (0.32 g, 0.23 mmol) gave 0.14 g (84%) of 4. Use of the catalytic method with 0.108 g (0.08 mmol) of 35 gave 0.042 g (74%) of 4. [α]<sub>D</sub> +46.8° (*c* 0.5, pyridine). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (pyridine-*d*<sub>5</sub>): δ 0.88 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.92 (s, 6H, H-25, H-29), 0.98 (s, 3H, H-30), 0.99 (s, 3H, H-26), 1.23 (s, 3H, H-27), 3.27 (dd, 1H, *J*=13.7, 3.8 Hz, H-18), 3.64 (brt, 1H, *J*= 10.6 Hz, H-5″), 3.67 (d, 1H, *J*=10.7 Hz, H-23), 3.76 (brd, 1H, *J*=11.6 Hz, H-5′), 4.02 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.7, 7.9 Hz, H-2″), 4.13 (t, 1H, *J*=8.8 Hz, H-3″), 4.15 (dd, 1H, *J*=9.3, 3.6 Hz,

H-3'), 4.20 (m, 1H, H-4"), 4.23 (dd, 1H, J=12.2, 4.6 Hz, H-3), 4.26 (brd, 1H, J=11.1 Hz, H-23), 4.27 (m, 1H, H-4'), 4.30 (dd, 1H, J=11.3, 5.2 Hz, H-5"), 4.40 (dd, 1H, J=9.1, 7.4 Hz, H-2'), 4.43 (dd, 1H, J=12.5, 2.2 Hz, H-5'), 4.96 (d, 1H, J=7.3 Hz, H-1'), 5.06 (d, 1H, J=7.7 Hz, H-1"), 5.47 (m, 1H, H-12). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (pyridine- $d_5$ ):  $\delta$  13.3 (C-24), 15.8 (C-25), 17.2 (C-26), 23.5 (C-30), 25.9 (C-27), 33.0 (C-29), 63.9 (C-23), 66.0 (C-5'), 66.9 (C-5"), 70.5 (C-4"), 73.1 (C-2'), 74.0 (C-3'), 75.0 (C-2"), 77.8 (C-3"), 79.2 (C-4'), 81.8 (C-3), 106.1 (C-1'), 106.8 (C-1"), 122.3 (C-12), 144.5 (C-13), 180.1 (C-28). HRMS: C<sub>40</sub>H<sub>64</sub>O<sub>12</sub>Na calcd 759.4295; found 759.4266.

**4.1.29. 3**-*O*-[ $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-( $1 \rightarrow 2$ )- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranosyl]hederagenin (5). General method 1. In a typical experiment, Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> (0.57 g, 0.49 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added to a solution of saponin **41** (0.730 g, 0.49 mmol) in 3% KOH in MeOH (39 mL). After heating to 60 °C for 6 h, the reaction was neutralized with Amberlite IR 120 (H<sup>+</sup> form), filtered and evaporated. The crude residue was taken up in ethanol (84 mL) and Pd/C (2.51 g) was added. The reaction then was placed under H<sub>2</sub>. After stirring for 48 h at room temperature, the mixture was filtered over celite, evaporated, and the crude saponin purified by column chromatography (CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/MeOH 9:1–8:2) to give 0.37 g (82%) of the desired product **5** as an amorphous solid.

General method 2. Use of a catalytic amount of  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$ : in a typical experiment  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$  (0.031 g, 0.03 mmol, 0.3 equiv) was added to a solution of saponin 41 (0.132 g, 0.09 mmol) in a THF/3% KOH in MeOH (1:1) mixture (6 mL). After heating to 60 °C for 7 h, the reaction was neutralized with Amberlite IR 120 (H<sup>+</sup> form), filtered and evaporated. The crude residue was rapidly passed through a silica gel column to remove non-polar impurities (CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/ MeOH, 9.8:0.2) and the partially protected saponin was taken up in ethanol (7 mL) and Pd/C (0.080 g) was added. The reaction then was placed under H<sub>2</sub>. After stirring for 24-48 h at room temperature, the mixture was filtered over celite, evaporated, and the crude saponin purified by column chromatography (CHCl<sub>3</sub>/MeOH 9:1-8:2) to give 0.059 g (87%) of the desired product 5 as an amorphous solid. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (pyridine- $d_5$ ):  $\delta$  0.89 (s, 3H, H-25), 0.91 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.97 (s, 6H, H-30, H-26), 0.98–2.15 (m, 22H, H-1, H-2, H-5, H-6, H-7, H-9, H-11, H-15, H-16, H-19, H-21, H-22), 1.00 (s, 3H, H-24), 1.20 (s, 3H, H-27), 3.27 (dd, 1H, J = 13.6, 3.7 Hz, H-18), 3.70 (brd, 1H, J = 10.7 Hz, H-5a'), 3.73 (d, 1H, J = 10.8 Hz, H-23a), 3.81 (m, 1H, H-5"), 4.09(t, 1H, J=8.0 Hz, H-2''), 4.16 (dd, 1H, J=7.5, 4.5 Hz, H-3),4.18 (t, 1H, J = 8.1 Hz, H-3"), 4.22 (m, 2H, H-23b, H-4"), 4.27 (dd, 1H, J=7.0, 3.7 Hz, H-3'), 4.28 (m, 1H, H-5b'), 4.32 (m, 1H, H-4'), 4.35 (dd, 1H, J = 11.7, 4.5 Hz, H-6a''),4.47 (dd, 1H, J=11.7, 1.6 Hz, H-6b"), 4.60 (t, 1H, J=6.7 Hz, H-2'), 5.19 (d, 1H, J=4.6 Hz, H-1'), 5.20 (d, 1H, J = 7.0 Hz, H-1"), 5.45 (m, 1H, H-12). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (pyridined<sub>5</sub>): δ 13.2 (C-24), 15.7 (C-25), 17.2 (C-26), 17.8 (C-6), 23.4 (C-16), 23.5 (C-30), 23.5 (C-11), 25.7 (C-2), 25.8 (C-27), 28.0 (C-15), 30.6 (C-20), 32.5 (C-7), 32.9 (C-22), 33.0 (C-29), 34.9 (C-21), 36.6 (C-10), 38.3 (C-1), 39.4 (C-8), 41.6 (C-18), 41.8 (C-14), 43.2 (C-4), 46.3 (C-19), 46.3 (C-17), 47.4 (C-5), 47.8 (C-9), 62.1 (C-6"), 64.3 (C-23), 64.8 (C-5'), 67.9 (C-4'), 71.0 (C-4"), 73.2 (C-3'), 75.8 (C-2"), 77.7 (C-3"), 78.0 (C-5"), 80.7 (C-2'), 81.8 (C-3),

103.7 (C-1<sup>'</sup>), 105.4 (C-1<sup>''</sup>), 122.2 (C-12), 144.6 (C-13). HRMS:  $C_{41}H_{66}O_{13}$ Na calcd 789.4401; found 789.4415.

4.1.30. 3-*O*-[ $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-( $1 \rightarrow 2$ )- $\beta$ -L-arabinopyranosyl]hederagenin (6). Using a stoichiometric amount of  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$  in the general deprotection method 1 described for 5, the deprotection of saponin **39** (0.89 g, 0.60 mmol) gave 0.40 g (88%) of 6. Use of the catalytic method with 0.145 g (0.10 mmol) of **39** gave 0.061 g (82%) of **6**.  $[\alpha]_D$  $+74.6^{\circ}$  (c 0.5, pyridine). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (pyridine-d<sub>5</sub>): δ 0.83 (s, 3H, H-25), 0.85 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.92 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.98 (s, 6H, H-26, H-30), 1.20 (s, 3H, H-27), 3.27 (dd, 1H, J=13.7, 3.6 Hz, H-18), 3.68 (d, 1H, J= 10.6 Hz, H-23a), 3.77 (ddd, 1H, J=8.8, 5.4, 2.6 Hz, H-5"), 3.94 (d, 1H, J=10.8 Hz, H-23b), 4.06 (dd, 1H, J=12.0, 1.8 Hz, H-5a'), 4.12 (dd, 1H, J = 9.2, 7.8 Hz, H-2''), 4.15 (m,1H, H-4"), 4.16 (m, 1H, H-3"), 4.23 (dd, 1H, J=11.8, 4.4 Hz, H-3), 4.30 (dd, 1H, J=11.7, 5.4 Hz, H-6a<sup>"</sup>), 4.39 (m, 1H, H-4'), 4.44 (m, 2H, H-6b'', H-5b'), 4.65 (dd, 1H, J=9.9, 3.3 Hz, H-3'), 4.73 (dd, 1H, J=9.9, 3.2 Hz, H-2'), 5.12 (d, 1H, J=7.5 Hz, H-1''), 5.45 (m, 1H, H-12), 5.82 (d, 1H, H-12), 5.82 (d, 1H, H-12), 5.82 (d, 2H, H-J=3.3 Hz, H-1'). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (pyridine- $d_5$ ):  $\delta$  13.8 (C-24), 15.6 (C-25), 17.2 (C-26), 22.2 (C-2), 23.5 (C-30), 25.8 (C-27), 33.0 (C-29), 62.4 (C-6"), 64.2 (C-23), 64.3 (C-5'), 69.2 (C-3'), 70.0 (C-4'), 71.3 (C-4"), 75.2 (C-2"), 77.3 (C-3), 77.9 (C-3"), 77.9 (C-5"), 79.9 (C-2'), 97.7 (C-1'), 106.0 (C-1"), 122.2 (C-12), 144.6 (C-13). HRMS: C<sub>41</sub>H<sub>66</sub>O<sub>13</sub>Na calcd 789.4401; found 789.4374.

4.1.31. 3-*O*-[ $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-( $1 \rightarrow 3$ )- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranosyl]hederagenin (7). Using a stoichiometric amount of Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> in the general deprotection method 1 described for 5, the deprotection of saponin 36 (0.67 g, 0.43 mmol) gave 0.27 g (78%) of 7. Use of the catalytic method with 0.060 g (0.04 mmol) of **36** gave 0.026 g (84%) of **7**.  $[\alpha]_D$  $+46.8^{\circ}$  (c 0.5, pyridine). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (pyridine-d<sub>5</sub>): δ 0.90 (s, 6H, H-25, H-24), 0.91 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.98 (s, 3H, H-30), 0.99 (s, 3H, H-26), 1.24 (s, 3H, H-27), 3.27 (dd, 1H, J=13.8, 4.2, H-18), 3.67 (brd, 1H, J=12.0, H-5a', 3.70 (d, 1H, J=11.0, H-23a), 4.00 (ddd, 1H, J=9.5, 5.3, 1.9 Hz, H-5"), 4.07 (t, 1H, J=8.4 Hz, H-2"), 4.15 (m, 1H, H-3'), 4.18 (t, 1H, J=9.1 Hz, H-4"; m, 1H, H-5b'), 4.26 (m, 1H, H-3), 4.27 (t, 1H, J=8.9 Hz, H-3''), 4.32 (d, 1H, J=11.4 Hz, H-23b), 4.33 (brd, 1H, J = 11.8 Hz, H-6a"), 4.44 (m, 1H, H-4'), 4.54 (dd, 1H, J=11.8, 1.8 Hz, H-6b''), 4.58(dd, 1H, J=9.0, 7.8 Hz, H-2'), 5.01 (d, 1H, J=7.5 Hz, H-1<sup>'</sup>), 5.29 (d, 1H, J=7.8 Hz, H-1<sup>"</sup>), 5.47 (m, 1H, H-12). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (pyridine-*d*<sub>5</sub>): δ 14.5 (C-24), 16.8 (C-25), 18.3 (C-26), 24.6 (C-30), 26.9 (C-27), 27.0 (C-2), 34.0 (C-29), 63.2 (C-6"), 64.8 (C-23), 67.7 (C-5'), 69.9 (C-4'), 72.2 (C-4"), 72.6 (C-2'), 76.2 (C-2"), 78.8 (C-3"), 79.3 (C-5"), 82.6 (C-3), 84.8 (C-3'), 106.7 (C-1"), 107.2 (C-1"), 123.3 (C-12), 145.6 (C-13). HRMS: C<sub>41</sub>H<sub>66</sub>O<sub>13</sub>Na calcd 789.4401; found 789.4391.

**4.1.32.** 3-*O*-[ $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-( $1 \rightarrow 4$ )- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranosyl]hederagenin (8). Using a stoichiometric amount of Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> in the general deprotection method 1 described for 5, the deprotection of saponin 37 (0.80 g, 0.50 mmol) gave 0.34 g (82%) of 8. Use of the catalytic method with 0.122 g (0.08 mmol) of 37 gave 0.041 g (65%) of 8. [ $\alpha$ ]<sub>D</sub> + 35.5° (*c* 0.53, CH<sub>3</sub>OH). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (pyridine- $d_5$ ):  $\delta$  0.89 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.91 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.91

(s, 3H, H-25), 0.98 (s, 3H, H-30), 0.99 (s, 3H, H-26), 1.23 (s, 3H, H-27), 3.27 (dd, 1H, J = 13.6, 3.6 Hz, H-18), 3.67 (d, 1H, J = 10.6 Hz, H-23a), 3.68 (brd, 1H, J = 11.8 Hz, H-5a'), 3.94 (m, 1H, H-5''), 4.05 (m, 1H, H-2''), 4.10 (dd, 1H, J =9.2, 3.4 Hz, H-3'), 4.21 (m, 1H, H-3), 4.22 (m, 2H, H-3", H-4''), 4.27 (d, 1H, J=11.0 Hz, H-23b), 4.32 (m, 1H, H-4'), 4.35 (dd, 1H, J = 12.0, 5.3 Hz, H-6a''), 4.41 (dd, 1H, J = 8.9),7.6 Hz, H-2'), 4.44 (m, 1H, H-5b'), 4.51 (dd, 1H, J=11.9, 1.8 Hz, H-6b"), 4.94 (d, 1H, J = 7.3 Hz, H-1'), 5.23 (d, 1H, J=7.8 Hz, H-1"), 5.44 (m, 1H, H-12). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (pyridined<sub>5</sub>): δ 13.3 (C-24), 15.8 (C-25), 17.2 (C-26), 23.5 (C-30), 25.8 (C-2), 25.9 (C-27), 33.0 (C-29), 62.1 (C-6"), 63.9 (C-23), 66.0 (C-5'), 70.9 (C-4"), 73.2 (C-2'), 74.2 (C-3'), 75.3 (C-2"), 77.9 (C-3"), 78.3 (C-5"), 79.4 (C-4'), 81.8 (C-3), 106.1 (C-1'), 106.4 (C-1"), 122.2 (C-12), 144.6 (C-13). HRMS: C<sub>41</sub>H<sub>66</sub>O<sub>13</sub>Na calcd 789.4401; found 789.4409.

The saponins 1-8 were treated with excess diazomethane<sup>26</sup> to give their corresponding methyl esters in quantitative yields.

4.1.33. Methyl 3-O-[ $\beta$ -D-xylopyranosyl-( $1 \rightarrow 2$ )- $\alpha$ -L-ara**binopyranosyl]hederagenate** (1a).  $[\alpha]_D + 39.0^\circ$  (c 0.5, pyridine). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD):  $\delta$  0.72 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.77 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.93 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.96 (s, 3H, H-30), 0.97-2.06 (m, 22H, H-1, H-2, H-5, H-6, H-7, H-9, H-11, H-15, H-16, H-19, H-21, H-22), 1.00 (s, 3H, H-25), 1.19 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.89 (dd, 1H, J=13.7, 3.9 Hz, H-18), 3.18 (dd, 1H, J=11.1, 10.7 Hz, H-5"), 3.23 (dd, 1H, J=9.1, 7.7 Hz, H-2"), 3.26 (d, 1H, J = 10.1 Hz, H-23), 3.33 (m, 1H, H-3"), 3.48 (ddd, 1H, J = 10.2, 8.9, 5.4 Hz, H-4''), 3.54 (dd, 1H, J = 13.2, 2.6 Hz,H-5'), 3.61 (dd, 1H, J=12.3, 4.8 Hz, H-3), 3.64 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.72 (m, 1H, H-23), 3.74 (m, 1H, H-3'), 3.75 (m, 1H, H-2'), 3.84 (m, 3H, H-5", H-4', H-5'), 4.48 (d, 1H, J =6.4 Hz, H-1'), 4.51 (d, 1H, J=7.6 Hz, H-1"), 5.27 (m, 1H, H-12). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD): δ 11.6 (C-24), 14.9 (C-25), 16.2 (C-26), 17.3 (C-6), 22.5 (C-30), 22.6 (C-16), 23.1 (C-11), 25.0 (C-27), 25.0 (C-2), 27.3 (C-15), 30.1 (C-20), 31.8 (C-7), 32.1 (C-29), 32.1 (C-22), 33.3 (C-21), 36.2 (C-10), 38.0 (C-1), 39.1 (C-8), 41.3 (C-18), 41.4 (C-14), 42.6 (C-4), 45.6 (C-19), 46.4 (C-5), 46.6 (C-17), 47.5 (C-9), 50.7 (OCH<sub>3</sub>), 62.8 (C-23), 64.7 (C-5<sup>'</sup>), 65.7 (C-5<sup>''</sup>), 68.0 (C-4<sup>'</sup>), 69.7 (C-4"), 72.6 (C-3'), 74.5 (C-2"), 76.4 (C-3"), 79.6 (C-2'), 81.5 (C-3), 103.3 (C-1'), 104.8 (C-1"), 122.3 (C-12), 143.6 (C-13), 178.6 (C-28). HRMS: C<sub>41</sub>H<sub>66</sub>O<sub>12</sub>Na calcd 773.4452; found 773.4425.

**4.1.34.** Methyl 3-*O*-[β-D-xylopyranosyl-(1→2)-β-L-arabinopyranosyl]hederagenate (2a). [α]<sub>D</sub> +87.2° (*c* 0.5, pyridine). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD): δ 0.69 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.77 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.93 (s, 3H, H-30), 0.96 (s, 3H, H-29), 1.00 (s, 3H, H-25), 1.19 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.89 (dd, 1H, *J*=13.7, 4.1 Hz, H-18), 3.21 (dd, 1H, *J*=11.3, 10.4 Hz, H-5″), 3.27 (dd, 1H, *J*=9.0, 7.4 Hz, H-2″), 3.33 (m, 1H, H-23), 3.34 (t, 1H, *J*=8.9 Hz, H-3″), 3.47 (d, 1H, *J*=11.2 Hz, H-23), 3.50 (m, 1H, H-4″), 3.59 (dd, 1H, *J*=12.4, 1.2 Hz, H-5′), 3.64 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.65 (dd, 1H, *J*=11.4, 4.7 Hz, H-3), 3.83 (dd, 1H, *J*=9.3, 3.4 Hz, H-2′), 3.88 (dd, 1H, *J*=11.4, 5.3 Hz, H-5″), 3.94 (m, 1H, H-4′), 3.95 (m, 1H, H-3′), 3.98 (brd, 1H, *J*=12.2 Hz, H-5′), 4.41 (d, 1H, *J*=7.4 Hz, H-1″), 5.14 (d, 1H, *J*=3.4 Hz, H-1′), 5.28 (m, 1H, H-12). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD): δ 12.4 (C-24), 14.8 (C-25),

16.2 (C-26), 21.6 (C-2), 22.5 (C-30), 25.0 (C-27), 32.1 (C-29), 50.7 (OCH<sub>3</sub>), 63.2 (C-5'), 63.5 (C-23), 65.4 (C-5"), 68.1 (C-3'), 69.4 (C-4'), 69.7 (C-4"), 73.9 (C-2"), 76.3 (C-3"), 77.2 (C-3), 78.4 (C-2'), 97.0 (C-1'), 105.4 (C-1"), 122.3 (C-12), 143.6 (C-13), 178.6 (C-28). HRMS:  $C_{41}H_{66}O_{12}Na$  calcd 773.4452; found 773.4456.

4.1.35. Methyl 3-O-[ $\beta$ -D-xylopyranosyl-( $1 \rightarrow 3$ )- $\alpha$ -L-ara**binopyranosyl]hederagenate** (3a).  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$  +49.0° (c 0.5, pyridine). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD): δ 0.74 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.77 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.93 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.96 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.00 (s, 3H, H-25), 1.19 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.89 (dd, 1H, J=13.5, 3.4 Hz, H-18), 3.23 (dd, 1H, J=11.0, 10.7 Hz, H-5"), 3.31 (m, 1H, H-23), 3.32 (m, 1H, H-2"), 3.36 (t, 1H, J=8.2 Hz, H-3"), 3.52 (m, 1H, H-4"), 3.58 (brd, 1H, J=12.4 Hz, H-5'), 3.63 (m, 2H, H-3, H-3'), 3.64 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.65 (m, 1H, H-23), 3.71 (dd, 1H, J=9.3, 7.6 Hz, H-2'), 3.87 (dd, 1H, J = 12.4, 2.0 Hz, H-5'), 3.88 (dd, 1H, J = 11.3)5.4 Hz, H-5''), 3.97 (m, 1H, H-4'), 4.36 (d, 1H, J = 7.5 Hz, H-1<sup>'</sup>), 4.53 (d, 1H, J=7.1 Hz, H-1<sup>"</sup>), 5.27 (m, 1H, H-12). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD):  $\delta$  11.9 (C-24), 15.0 (C-25), 16.2 (C-26), 22.5 (C-30), 25.1 (C-27), 32.1 (C-29), 50.8 (OCH<sub>3</sub>), 63.6 (C-23), 65.4 (C-5'), 65.5 (C-5"), 68.3 (C-4'), 69.6 (C-4"), 70.7 (C-2'), 73.7 (C-2"), 76.0 (C-3"), 82.0 (C-3), 82.2 (C-3'), 104.7 (C-1', C-1"), 122.3 (C-12), 143.6 (C-13), 178.5 (C-28). HRMS: C<sub>41</sub>H<sub>66</sub>O<sub>12</sub>Na calcd 773.4452; found 773.4450.

4.1.36. Methyl 3-O-[ $\beta$ -D-xylopyranosyl-( $1 \rightarrow 4$ )- $\alpha$ -L-ara**binopyranosyl]hederagenate** (4a).  $[\alpha]_{D}$  +45.2° (c 0.5, pyridine). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD):  $\delta$  0.69 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.73 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.89 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.92 (s, 3H, H-30), 0.96 (s, 3H, H-25), 1.15 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.85 (dd, 1H, J=13.7, 3.8 Hz, H-18), 3.16 (dd, 1H, J=11.0, 10.8 Hz, H-5''), 3.25 (m, 1H, H-2''), 3.26 (d, 1H, J=11.4 Hz, H-23), 3.29 (m, 1H, H-3"), 3.46 (m, 1H, H-4"), 3.50 (m, 1H, H-2'), 3.51 (m, 1H, H-5'), 3.53 (m, 1H, H-3'), 3.58 (dd, 1H, J =11.5, 4.7 Hz, H-3), 3.59 (m, 1H, H-23), 3.60 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.85 (dd, 1H, J=11.4, 5.3 Hz, H-5''), 3.83 (m, 1H, H-4'),4.03 (dd, 1H, J=12.6, 2.4 Hz, H-5'), 4.28 (d, 1H, J=6.4 Hz, H-1<sup>'</sup>), 4.39 (d, 1H, J=7.1 Hz, H-1<sup>''</sup>), 5.23 (m, 1H, H-12). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD): δ 11.9 (C-24), 14.9 (C-25), 16.2 (C-26), 22.5 (C-30), 25.0 (C-27), 32.1 (C-29), 50.7 (OCH<sub>3</sub>), 63.3 (C-23), 65.1 (C-5'), 65.5 (C-5"), 69.6 (C-4"), 71.9 (C-2'), 73.0 (C-3'), 73.8 (C-2"), 76.3 (C-3"), 78.4 (C-4'), 82.0 (C-3), 104.9 (C-1'), 105.6 (C-1"), 122.3 (C-12), 143.6 (C-13), 178.6 (C-28). HRMS: C<sub>41</sub>H<sub>66</sub>O<sub>12</sub>Na calcd 773.4452; found 773.4441.

**4.1.37.** Methyl 3-*O*-[β-D-glucopyranosyl-(1→2)-α-L-arabinopyranosyl]hederagenate (5a). [α]<sub>D</sub> +39.8° (*c* 0.5, pyridine). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD): δ 0.74 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.77 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.93 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.96 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.00 (s, 3H, H-25), 1.19 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.89 (dd, 1H, *J*=13.6, 3.9 Hz, H-18), 3.23 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.7, 7.9 Hz, H-2″), 3.25 (t, 1H, *J*=9.1 Hz, H-4″), 3.28 (m, 1H, H-5″), 3.32 (m, 1H, H-23a), 3.38 (dd, 1H, *J*=9.0, 8.7 Hz, H-3″), 3.54 (dd, 1H, *J*=13.3, 3.3 Hz, H-5a′), 3.64 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>; m, 1H, H-3), 3.65 (m, 1H, H-6a″), 3.67 (d, 1H, *J*=11.2 Hz, H-23b), 3.77 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.1, 3.1 Hz, H-3′), 3.85 (m, 1H, H-4′), 3.86 (m, 3H, H-6b″, H-5b′, H-2′), 4.56 (d, 1H, *J*=6.2 Hz, H-1′), 4.63 (d, 1H, *J*=7.8 Hz, H-1″), 5.27 (m, 1H, H-12). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD): δ 11.9 (C-24), 14.9 (C-25), 16.2

(C-26), 22.5 (C-30), 24.9 (C-2), 25.0 (C-27), 32.0 (C-29), 50.7 (OCH<sub>3</sub>), 61.4 (C-6"), 63.3 (C-23), 64.1 (C-5'), 67.6 (C-4'), 70.2 (C-4"), 72.4 (C-3'), 74.5 (C-2"), 76.5 (C-3"), 76.8 (C-5"), 77.9 (C-2'), 82.2 (C-3), 103.1 (C-1'), 103.2 (C-1"), 122.3 (C-12), 143.6 (C-13), 178.6 (C-28). HRMS:  $C_{42}H_{68}O_{13}Na$  calcd 803.4558; found 803.4554.

4.1.38. Methyl 3-O-[ $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-( $1 \rightarrow 2$ )- $\beta$ -L-ara**binopyranosyl]hederagenate** (6a).  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$  +72.2° (c 0.5, pyridine). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD):  $\delta$  0.69 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.77 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.93 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.96 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.00 (s, 3H, H-25), 1.19 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.90 (dd, 1H, J=13.8, 3.9 Hz, H-18), 3.27 (m, 1H, H-4"), 3.28 (m, 1H, H-2"), 3.30 (m, 1H, H-5"), 3.34 (m, 1H, H-23a), 3.38 (t, 1H, J=8.8 Hz, H-3"), 3.50 (d, 1H, J=11.1 Hz, H-23b), 3.60 (dd, 1H, J = 12.1, 1.6 Hz, H-5a'), 3.64 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.67 (dd, 1H, J=11.8, 5.7 Hz, H-6a<sup>"</sup>), 3.72 (dd, 1H, J=11.6, 4.5 Hz, H-3), 3.86 (dd, 1H, J=9.5, 3.3 Hz, H-2'), 3.90 (dd, 1H, J=11.8, 2.0 Hz, H-6b''), 3.94 (m, 1H, H-4'), 3.96(dd, 1H, J=9.7, 3.4 Hz, H-3'), 3.99 (brd, 1H, J=12.0 Hz, H-5b', 4.49 (d, 1H, J=7.7 Hz, H-1''), 5.28 (m, 1H, H-12; d, 1H, J=3.2 Hz, H-1'). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD):  $\delta$  12.4 (C-24), 14.8 (C-25), 16.2 (C-26), 22.1 (C-2), 22.5 (C-30), 25.0 (C-27), 32.0 (C-29), 50.7 (OCH<sub>3</sub>), 61.5 (C-6<sup>"</sup>), 63.3 (C-5<sup>'</sup>), 63.5 (C-23), 68.0 (C-3'), 69.4 (C-4'), 70.3 (C-4"), 74.2 (C-2"), 76.5 (C-3"), 76.6 (C-5"), 78.0 (C-3), 78.6 (C-2'), 97.8 (C-1'), 104.5 (C-1"), 122.4 (C-12), 143.6 (C-13), 178.6 (C-28). HRMS: C<sub>42</sub>H<sub>68</sub>O<sub>13</sub>Na calcd 803.4558; found 803.4554.

4.1.39. Methyl 3-O-[ $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-( $1 \rightarrow 3$ )- $\alpha$ -L-ara**binopyranosyl]hederagenate** (7a).  $[\alpha]_D$  +47.0° (c 0.5, pyridine). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD):  $\delta$  0.84 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.87 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.93 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.96 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.00 (s, 3H, H-25), 1.19 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.89 (dd, 1H, J = 13.5, 4.0 Hz, H-18), 3.30 (m, 1H, H-5"), 3.32 (m, 1H, H-2"), 3.32 (m, 1H, H-23a), 3.37 (t, 1H, J=8.5 Hz, H-4"), 3.40 (t, 1H, J = 8.6 Hz, H-3"), 3.59 (dd, 1H, J = 12.8, 1.2 Hz, H-5a'), 3.64 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>; m, 1H, H-3), 3.65 (m, 1H, H-3<sup> $\prime$ </sup>; d, 1H, J=11.6 Hz, H-23b), 3.71 (dd, 1H, J=12.1, 5.4 Hz, H-6a<sup>"</sup>; dd, 1H, J=9.8, 7.5 Hz, H-2<sup>'</sup>), 3.85 (dd, 1H, J=11.9, 2.1 Hz, H-6b"), 3.88 (dd, 1H, J=13.0, 2.2 Hz, H-5b'), 4.06 (m, 1H, H-4'), 4.37 (d, 1H, J=7.4 Hz, H-1'), 4.56 (d, 1H, J=7.7 Hz, H-1"), 5.27 (brt, 1H, J=3.3 Hz, H-12). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD): δ 11.9, (C-24), 15.0 (C-25), 16.2 (C-26), 22.5 (C-30), 24.8 (C-2), 25.0 (C-27), 32.0 (C-29), 50.7 (OCH<sub>3</sub>), 60.9 (C-6"), 63.7 (C-23), 65.4 (C-5'), 68.1 (C-4'), 69.7 (C-4"), 70.6 (C-2'), 73.9 (C-2"), 76.2 (C-3"), 76.5 (C-5"), 82.0 (C-3), 82.8 (C-3'), 104.1 (C-1"), 104.7 (C-1<sup>'</sup>), 122.3 (C-12), 143.6 (C-13), 178.6 (C-28). HRMS: C<sub>42</sub>H<sub>68</sub>O<sub>13</sub>Na calcd 803.4558; found 803.4534.

**4.1.40.** Methyl 3-*O*-[ $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-( $1 \rightarrow 4$ )- $\alpha$ -L-arabinopyranosyl]hederagenate (8a). [ $\alpha$ ]<sub>D</sub> +22.1° (*c* 0.5, pyridine). Selected NMR data: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD):  $\delta$  0.73 (s, 3H, H-24), 0.77 (s, 3H, H-26), 0.93 (s, 3H, H-29), 0.96 (s, 3H, H-30), 1.00 (s, 3H, H-25), 1.19 (s, 3H, H-27), 2.89 (dd, 1H, *J*=13.7, 3.9 Hz, H-18), 3.30 (m, 2H, H-2", H-5"), 3.32 (m, 1H, H-23a), 3.33 (m, 1H, H-4"), 3.37 (t, 1H, *J*=8.6 Hz, H-3"), 3.56 (m, 3H, H-2', H-3', H-5a'), 3.63 (m, 1H, H-3), 3.64 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>; d, 1H, *J*=11.2 Hz, H-23b), 3.68 (dd, 1H, *J*=12.0, 5.3 Hz, H-6a"), 3.87 (dd, 1H, *J*=12.1, 2.1 Hz, H-6b"), 3.93 (m, 1H, H-4'), 4.20 (dd, 1H, *J*=12.7, 2.4 Hz,

H-5b'), 4.33 (d, 1H, J=6.8 Hz, H-1'), 4.49 (d, 1H, J=7.6 Hz, H-1"), 5.27 (m, 1H, H-12). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CD<sub>3</sub>OD):  $\delta$  11.9 (C-24), 14.9 (C-25), 16.2 (C-26), 22.5 (C-30), 24.7 (C-2), 25.0 (C-27), 32.1 (C-29), 50.7 (OCH<sub>3</sub>), 61.1 (C-6"), 63.3 (C-23), 65.1 (C-5'), 69.8 (C-4"), 71.9 (C-2'), 73.0 (C-3'), 73.9 (C-2"), 76.4 (C-3"), 76.5 (C-5"), 78.5 (C-4'), 81.9 (C-3), 104.8 (C-1'), 104.9 (C-1"), 122.3 (C-12), 143.6 (C-13), 178.6 (C-28). HRMS: C<sub>42</sub>H<sub>68</sub>O<sub>13</sub>Na calcd 803.4558; found 803.4531.

# Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the CNRS (Centre National de Recherche Scientifique) and the French Research Ministry for financial support as well as the PhD scholarship for MC.

# **References and notes**

- Hostettmann, K.; Marston, A. In Saponins; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, 1995.
- Sparg, S. G.; Light, M. E.; van Staden, J. J. Ethnopharmacol. 2004, 94, 219–243.
- Francis, G.; Kerem, Z.; Makkar, H. P. S.; Becker, K. Br. J. Nutr. 2002, 88, 587–605.
- Chwalek, M.; Plé, K.; Voutquenne-Nazabadioko, L. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 2004, 52, 965–971.
- Plé, K.; Chwalek, M.; Voutquenne-Nazabadioko, L. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 1588–1603.
- (a) Higuchi, R.; Kawasaki, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1976, 24, 1021–1032.
   (b) Jayasinghe, U. L. B.; Fujimoto, Y.; Hostettmann, K. Nat. Prod. Lett. 1988, 12, 135–138.
   (c) Joshi, B. S.; Moore, K. M.; Pelletier, S. W. J. Nat. Prod. 1992, 55, 1468–1476.
   (d) Zhu, N.; Sheng, S.; Sang, S.; Jhoo, J-W.; Bai, N.; Karwe, M. V.; Rosen, R. T.; Ho, C.-T. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2002, 50, 865–867.
- 7. (a) Gopalsamy, N.; Gueho, J.; Julien, H. R.; Owadally, A. W.; Hostettmann, K. *Phytochemistry* **1990**, *29*, 793–795.
  (b) Domon, B.; Hostettmann, K. *Helv. Chem. Acta* **1983**, *66*, 422–428.
- Kawai, H.; Kuroyanagi, M.; Umehara, K.; Ueno, A.; Satake, M. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1988, 36, 4769–4775.
- Jung, H.-J.; Lee, C. O.; Lee, K.-T.; Choi, J.; Park, H.-J. Biol. Pharm. Bull. 2004, 27, 744–747.
- 10. Pellissier, H. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 5123-5162.
- 11. (a) Yu, B.; Xie, J.; Deng, S.; Hui, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999,

121, 12196–12197. (b) Seebacher, W.; Haslinger, E.; Rauchensteiner, K.; Jurenitsch, J.; Presser, A.; Weis, R. Monatsh. Chem. 1999, 130, 887–897. (c) Seebacher, W.; Weis, R.; Jurenitsch, J.; Rauchensteiner, K.; Haslinger, E. Monatsh. Chem. 1999, 130, 1383–1391. (d) Seebacher, W.; Weis, R.; Jurenitsch, J.; Rauchensteiner, K.; Haslinger, E. Monatsh. Chem. 2000, 131, 985–996. (e) Sun, J.; Han, X.; Yu, B. Carbohydr. Res. 2003, 338, 827–833. (f) Peng, W.; Sun, J.; Lin, F.; Han, X.; Yu, B. Synlett 2004, 259–262.

- (a) Takechi, M.; Tanaka, Y. *Phytochemistry* **1993**, *32*, 1173–1175.
   (b) Saito, S.; Sasaki, Y.; Kuroda, K.; Hayashi, Y.; Sumita, S.; Nagamura, Y.; Nishida, K.; Ishiguro, I. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1993**, *41*, 539–543.
   (c) Ullah, N.; Seebacher, W.; Weis, R.; Jurenitsch, J.; Rauchensteiner, K.; Haslinger, E. *Monatsh. Chem.* **2000**, *131*, 787–794.
- 13. Takechi, M.; Tanaka, Y. Phytochemistry 1993, 34, 675-677.
- Levy, M.; Zehavi, U.; Naim, M.; Polacheck, I. Carbohydr. Res. 1989, 193, 115–123.
- (a) Suhr, R.; Thiem, J. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 2004, 23, 261–276. (b) Deng, L.; Wu, H.; Yu, B.; Jiang, M.; Wu, J. Biorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2004, 14, 2781–2785. (c) Yu, W.; Jin, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 6576–6583. (d) Ma, X.; Yu, B.; Hui, Y.; Miao, Z.; Ding, J. Carbohydr. Res. 2001, 334, 159–164. (e) Deng, S.; Yu, B.; Lou, Y.; Hui, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 202–208.
- Ma, X.; Yu, B.; Hui, Y.; Xiao, D.; Ding, J. Carbohydr. Res. 2000, 329, 495–505.
- 17. Liptak, A.; Szurmai, Z.; Nanasi, P.; Neszmelyi, A. *Tetrahedron* **1982**, *38*, 3489–3497.
- Mukhopadhyay, B.; Field, R. A. Carbohydr. Res. 2004, 339, 1285–1291.
- 19. Chen, L.; Kong, F. Carbohydr. Res. 2002, 337, 2335-2341.
- 20. Ziegler, T.; Jurisch, C. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2000**, *11*, 3403–3418.
- Verduyn, R.; Douwes, M.; van der Klein, P. A. M.; Mösinger, E. M.; van der Marel, G. A.; van Boom, J. H. *Tetrahedron* **1993**, *49*, 7301–7316.
- Thijssen, M.; Halkes, K.; Kamerling, J.; Vliegenthart, J. *Biorg. Med. Chem.* **1994**, *2*, 1309–1317.
- 23. Schmidt, R. R.; Behrendt, M.; Toepfer, A. Synlett **1990**, 694–696.
- 24. Guibe, F. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 2967-3042.
- Yamada, M.; Watanabe, S.; Hoshino, O.; Ishizaki, M.; Hayashida, M.; Tanaka, A.; Hara, H. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* 2003, *51*, 1220–1221.
- 26. Lombardi, P. Chem. Ind. (London) 1990, 21, 708.
- Suhr, R.; Pfefferkorn, P.; Weingarten, S.; Thiem, J. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2003, 1, 4373–4379.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4363-4371

# Synthesis of alkyl 4-(diethoxymethyl)-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylates: useful scaffold for highly functionalised 3-(pyridin-3-yl)isoxazoles

José Luis García Ruano,\* Cristina Fajardo and M. Rosario Martín\*

Departamento de Química Orgánica, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Ciudad Universitaria de Cantoblanco, Madrid 28049, Spain

Received 6 January 2005; revised 24 February 2005; accepted 2 March 2005

Available online 23 March 2005

Abstract—The methyl 4-(diethoxymethyl)-3-(pyridin-3-yl)isoxazole-5-carboxylate obtained by domino 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition and elimination starting of pyridine-3-nitrile oxide and methyl 4,4-diethoxy-3-*p*-tolylsulfinylbut-2-enoate is a convenient scaffold for the synthesis of other new highly functionalised 3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazoles-5-carboxylic acid derivatives and isoxazole-annulated heterocycles. © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

# 1. Introduction

Aromatic heterocycles are valuable synthetic templates for the preparation of new compounds with specific biological or material properties. The pursuit of these properties requires efficient synthetic routes that allow rapid assembly and variation of multiple pendant substituents on the heteroaromatic core, or the construction of diverse aromatic heterocycles with defined substitution patterns. Isoxazole derivatives have been used as key intermediates in synthesis<sup>1</sup> and have been investigated intensively for the last several years because of their biological activities.<sup>2–7</sup> In spite of this wide spectrum of properties, the number of isoxazoles trisubstituted by different functional groups, useful as scaffolds in the synthesis of many differently trisubstituted isoxazoles, is scarce. This is the case of the 3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazoles exhibiting interesting properties as anti-inflammatory,<sup>8</sup> herbicidal,<sup>9</sup> antiaggregating agents,<sup>10</sup> muscarinic acetylcholine receptor agonist<sup>11</sup> (useful as nootropics and therapeutic agents for cerebral neuronal diseases), or plant growth-regulatory and with antistress activity.<sup>12</sup>

One of the most general methods to prepare isoxazole derivatives involves the 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of nitrile oxides to alkynes or alkenes bearing an easily removable substituent at the double bond, which makes them act as synthetic equivalents of alkynes. In this context, several

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.03.004

years ago our group reported that cycloadditions of bromonitrile, benzonitrile or acetonitrile oxides to methyl but-2-ynoates 1 evolved with moderate regioselectivity, whereas with methyl 4,4-dimethoxy-3-(pyrrolidin-1-yl)but-2-enoate **2** were completely regioselective,  $^{13}$  yielding the adduct with the oxygen at the dipole joined to the C-3 at the dipolarophile (Scheme 1). Afterwards we demonstrated that the sulfinyl group was able to control the regioselectivity and therefore the opposite regioisomer could be isolated, as major or exclusive, in reactions of benzonitrile oxides with tert-butyl 4,4-diethoxy-3-p-tolylsulfinylbut-2-enoate 3 and 5-alkoxy-3-p-tolylsulfinylfuranones<sup>14</sup> (Scheme 1). This strong influence of the sulfinyl group on the regioselectivity of these reactions was rationalised on the basis of their electrostatic interactions with the charged atoms at the dipole.

The interest of 3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazoles derivatives and the above mentioned results, prompted us to investigate the reactions of pyridine-3-nitrile oxide (5) with alkyl 4.4-diethoxy-3-p-tolylsulfinylbut-2-enoates, and the corresponding sulfones, in order to provide a regioselective way for preparing highly functionalised 3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazoles. The other method for obtaining isoxaxoles, i.e. condensation of 1,3-dicarbonylic compounds with hydroxylamine, afforded a regioisomeric mixture of 3-pyridin-3vlisoxazoles.<sup>15</sup> In this paper we describe the results of this study which has allowed to find a highly regioselective synthesis of 4-(diethoxymethyl)-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5carboxylates. We will also describe their usefulness as a scaffold in the synthesis of other 3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole derivatives containing multiple pendant substituents on the heteroaromatic core.

*Keywords*: 3-Pyridin-3-ylisoxazoles; Cycloaddition; Sulfoxides; Sulfones; Nitrile oxides.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding authors. Tel.: +34 91 4974703; fax: +34 91 4973966; e-mail: rosario.martin@uam.es



Scheme 1.

### 2. Results and discussion

Initially we investigated the reactions of the pyridine-3nitrile oxide with the sulfinylbutenolide **4**, because it had shown to be the most efficient sulfinyl dipolarophile in the reactions with benzonitrile oxide (higher reactivity and selectivity than for acyclic acrylate **3**). However, the cyclic dipolarophiles afforded complex reaction mixtures where the expected products were the minor ones and could not be isolated.

Then we studied the reactions of nicotinonitrile oxide **5** with *tert*-butyl 4,4-diethoxy-3-*p*-tolylsulfinylbut-2-enoate **3**.<sup>14</sup> The reaction was performed at 80 °C for 2 h, the dipole being generated 'in situ' by slow addition of triethylamine (via a syringe pump) on to 3-[chloro(hydroxyimino)-methyl]pyridinium chloride.<sup>16</sup> It afforded a mixture of two regioisomeric isoxazoles **6A** and **6B** (Scheme 2).





The low reactivity of the *tert*-butoxycarbonyl group in some of the reactions that we will describe next, made necessary the synthesis of the more reactive methoxycarbonyl derivatives. For that reason we also performed the reaction of **5** with the ester 7,<sup>17</sup> under similar reaction conditions, which afforded a mixture of compounds **8A** and **8B** (Scheme 2).

The regioselectivity of theses reactions was very high (only 2% of **6A** could be detected from <sup>1</sup>H NMR of the crude reaction). The major regioisomers **6B** and **8B** were easily

purified and isolated in good yields (64 and 68% respectively) by column chromatography from their crude reaction. Also interesting is the fact that regioselectivity observed in reactions of **3** with pyridine-3-nitrile oxide was slightly higher than that obtained with benzonitrile oxide (Scheme 1), which reinforces the hypothesis that electrostatic interactions of sulfinyl group with nitrile oxides could be one of the main factors governing the regioselectivity of these reactions (see above).

The structure of adducts was assigned on the basis of the chemical shifts of the acetalic protons of both regioisomeric isoxazoles, and mainly, from the  $\delta$  value for the more deshielded carbon at the isoxazole ring. In accordance with the rule reported by us,<sup>13,14</sup> the lowest  $\delta$  values of the acetalic proton correspond to regioisomers exhibiting the oxygen at dipole joined to C-2 at the dipolarophile. The chemical shift of C-5 for the major regioisomers **6B** (157.8) and **8B** (157.6 ppm) is in agreement with those expected for 5-alkoxycarbonyl derivatives.<sup>18</sup>

At this point we decided to study the behaviour of the 2-sulfonylacrylate **9** in their reactions with pyridine-3-nitrile oxide. Our aim was to compare the regioselectivity of this reaction with that observed for the sulfinyl derivatives **3** and **7** in order to collect proofs evidencing the role of the electrostatic interactions in the course of these reactions. Sulfone **9** required 3 h at 80 °C, to give a 62:38 mixture of isoxazolines **10A** and **10B** (Scheme 3), which were isolated by column chromatography with 41 and 26% yields, respectively.





The structures of the primary adducts **10A** and **10B** (Scheme 3) were assigned on the basis of the chemical shift of <sup>13</sup>C NMR of CH at the isoxazoline ring. The largest difference between the  $\delta$  values of the saturated carbons must be assigned to regioisomer **10B** and the lowest one to **10A** (see Scheme 3).

The comparison of the results obtained from dipolarophiles **3** or **7** (Scheme 2) with those resulting from **9** (Scheme 3) indicates a lower regioselectivity for the sulfone but, which is more important, an inversion in the sense of the addition (**10A** is the major one, whereas **6B** and **8B** were predominant for sulfoxides) was observed.

Although only scattered studies<sup>19</sup> dealting with the directing effect of sulfoxides and sulfones, are reported in the literature, the higher tendency of vinyl sulfones<sup>19,20</sup> to give adducts bearing the sulfonyl group at C-4 of isoxazo-line, is in agreement with the results reported by us in this paper. It is emphasised that the regioselectivity observed in the addition of nitrile oxides to dipolarophiles **3** and **7** is the same that reported for  $\beta$ -sulfinyl- $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated ketone<sup>19b</sup> but opposite to that for vinyl sulfoxides.<sup>19a,21</sup>

# 2.1. Preparation of highly functionalised 3-pyridin-3ylisoxazoles

We then studied the use of our 3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazoles **6B** and **8B** as scaffolds to the introduction of different functional groups at C-4 and C-5 of the isoxazole ring.



Scheme 4.

The election of the groups was made bearing in mind their potential pharmacological usefulness. Thus, the introduction of amine and amide functions in our 3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazoles was considered because there have been reported interesting properties for some other isoxazoles containing amide<sup>4,5a,22</sup> or amine<sup>5b,23</sup> groups. The sulfonamide moiety was also introduced because it is a pharmacophore.<sup>24</sup>

The preparation of amides can be performed by reaction of appropriate alkyl esters with ammonium hydroxide, primary amines, or secondary amines. However, the reaction of the highly hindered tert-butyl ester 6B was unsuccessful due to the low reactivity of the tert-butoxycarbonyl group towards nucleophiles. On the other hand, the best way to introduce the amine functions at 4-position of 3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate from 6B involves the hydrolysis of the acetal group and subsequently reductive amination. However the *tert*-butoxycarbonyl group is unstable under the acidic conditions required for the hydrolysis of the acetal and therefore, reaction of 6B with formic acid afforded a mixture of the expected ester-aldehyde 11 along with the acid-aldehyde 12 (Scheme 4). The 11/12 ratio depends on the temperature and the reaction time. On the basis on these poor results we decided to prepare the methyl ester 8B. The reaction of 8B with different amines evolved smoothly and afforded the corresponding amides 13a-c in high yields (Scheme 4). Analogously, reaction of 8B with formic acid exclusively yielded the ester-aldehyde 14 (Scheme 4).

The transformations carried out on the versatile formyl group of 3-pyridin-3-yl-4-formylisoxazole-5-carboxylic acid derivatives are show in Scheme 5.<sup>25</sup>

Reductive amination of the ester-aldehydes 11 and 14 gave the corresponding ester-amines 15 and 16 in moderate yields due to the formation of variable amounts of the corresponding ester-alcohols 17 and 18. The alcohol 18 can be obtained in quantitative yield as a sole compound by reduction of 14 with sodium triacetoxyborohydride (Scheme 5). The reaction of the ester aldehyde 14 with diazomethane yielded the oxiranyl compound 20, in moderate yield due to the formation of the ketone 21 as a by product. The oxirane 20 could also be obtained in 74%



yield when diazomethane was added to an ether/MeOH solution of acid **12**.

### 4. Experimental

The hydroxymethylisoxazoles **17** or **18** open the access to new isoxazole derivatives through Mitsunobu reaction. Thus we have obtained the bioisoster of the homologous carboxylic acid by reaction of **18** with the 5-phenyltetrazole in the presence of triphenylphosphine and diethyl diazene-1,2-dicarboxylate (Scheme 5). It is noteworthy the formation of the 2-substituted tetrazole **19** as the sole compound. The structure of **19** has been assigned on the basis of the preferential formation of the 2,5-disubstituted regioisomers when the primary alcohols react with phenyltetrazol.<sup>26</sup> The comparison of the chemical shifts of the phenyl protons of **19** with those reported for the same group in other 1,5- and 2,5-tetrazoles confirms this assignment.

Isoxazoles bearing a phenylsulfonamide substituent are useful in the treatment of inflammatory processes.<sup>27</sup> Our scaffold is also suitable for introducing such a function. Starting from **18**, we have also incorporated this function by reaction with *tert*-butyl (phenylsulfonyl)carbamate, under Mitsunobu conditions [diethyl diazene-1,2-dicarboxylate (DEAD) and triphenylphosphine]. The yield of compound **22** was high (94%) and its reaction with an excess of piperidine at 40 °C gave the corresponding amide–sulfonamide **23** in one-pot process (Scheme 5).

Additionally, the relative position of the ester and acid functions at our scaffold, is also proper to obtain annulatedisoxazoles. The structural similarity of isoxazolopyridazinone and isoxazolopyridone, which has been reported as metabotropic glutamate receptor antagonist (useful in the treatment of anxiety, depression, schizophrenia, Alzheimer disease, etc),<sup>28</sup> prompted us to carry out the reactions shown in Scheme 6, which gave 3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazolopyridazinone **24** in good yields.





## 3. Conclusion

The results reported in this paper reveal that the sulfinylester **7**, is an adequate starting material for preparing 3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazoles in a one-pot sequence by cycloaddition with pyridine-3-nitrile oxide. The obtained isoxazole is a good scaffold to the synthesis of a broad variety of 3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylic acid derivatives functionalised at C-4 and annulated-isoxazoles.

### 4.1. General

All moisture sensitive reactions were performed in flamedried glasswares equipped with rubber septa under positive pressure of argon. THF was distilled from sodiumbenzophenone under argon and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> over P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>. Silica gel 60 (230-400 mesh ASTM) and DC-Alufolien 60 F<sub>254</sub> were used for flash column chromatography and analytical TLC, respectively. Melting points were determined in a Gallenkamp apparatus in open capillary tubes and are uncorrected. Microanalyses were performed with a Perkin-Elmer 2400 CHN and Perkin Elmer 2400 C-10II CHNS/O analysers. NMR spectra were determined in a CDCl<sub>3</sub> solutions, unless otherwise is indicated, at 300 and 75 MHz for <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR respectively; chemical shifts  $(\delta)$  are reported in ppm and J values are given in hertz. The IR spectra frequencies are given in  $cm^{-1}$ . The dipolarofile 3 was obtained following the procedure previously reported by us.<sup>14</sup>

**4.1.1. Methyl (2***E***)-4,4-diethoxy-2-[(4-methylphenyl)sulfinyl]but-2-enoate (7).** This compound was obtained from methyl bromoacetate following the procedure reported by us for the preparation of racemic compound **3**.<sup>14</sup> Yield 81%, white solid, mp 44–45 °C (hexane), IR (KBr): 1731, 1652, 1595, 1219, 1057. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.21 and 1.23 (2t, J=7.1 Hz, 6H), 2.37 (s, 3H), 3.64 (m, 4H), 3.66 (s, 3H), 5.81 (d, J=6.9 Hz, 1H), 7.03 (d, J=6.9 Hz, 1H), 7.26 and 7.53 (AA'BB' system, 4H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 15.2, 15.3, 21.5, and 52.1 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 61.7 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 96.6, 126.0 and 130.0 (CH), 139.7 (C), 139.9 (CH), 140.8, 142.5 and 162.3 (C). Anal. calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>5</sub>S: C 58.87, H 6.79, S 9.82. Found: C 58.71, H 6.70, S 9.75.

4.1.2. Methyl (2E)-4,4-diethoxy-2-[(4-methylphenyl)sulfonyl]but-2-enoate (9). To a stirred solution of methyl-(E)-4,4-diethoxy-2-[(4-methylphenyl)sulfinyl]-but-2-enoate (7) (72 mg, 0.22 mmol) in dry dichloromethane (1.7 mL), under argon at room temperature, was added a solution of *m*-CPBA (100 mg, 0.48 mmol) in dry dichloromethane (5.5 mL). The mixture was allowed to stand at room temperature for 2 h, afterwards it was washed with NaHSO<sub>3</sub> solution (40%) and saturated aqueous NaHCO<sub>3</sub>. The organic layer was dried (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) filtered and concentrated in vacuo. The residue obtained was as colourless oil corresponding to the sulfone 9 (73 mg, 97%). Colourless oil, IR (film): 1735, 1641, 1597, 1325, 1157, 1090. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.18 (t, *J*=7.0 Hz, 6H), 2.44 (s, 3H), 3.74 (s, 3H), 3.59 (m, 4H), 5.47 (d, J =5.3 Hz, 1H), 7.19 (d, J = 5.3 Hz, 1H), 7.33 and 7.77 (AA'BB' system, 4H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 15.1, 21.7 and 52.7 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 62.1 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 97.1, 128.7 and 129.7 (CH), 136.3, 138.9 and 145.0 (C), 145.7 (CH), 161.9 (C). Anal. calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>6</sub>S: C 56.12, H 6.48, S 9.36. Found: C 56.14, H 6.81, S 9.40.

### 4.2. General procedure for the cycloaddition reaction

To a mixture of 1.4 mmol of sulfinyl or sulfonyl dipolarophile **3**, **7** or **9** and 19 mmol (for **3** and **7**) or 8.4 mmol (for **9**) of 3-[chloro(hydroximino)methyl]pyridinium chloride in toluene (11 mL), heated at 80 °C, was

4367

slowly added with a syringe pump (0.5  $\mu$ l/seg) triethylamine (40 or 18 mmol for the sulfinyl or sulfonyl dipolarophiles respectively). After stirring at 80 °C, for additional 2 h in the case of **3** and **7** or 3 h for **9**, the reaction mixture was cooled at room temperature and dichloromethane and water were added. The organic layer was separated and the aqueous was extracted with dichloromethane. The combined organic layers were washed with brine, dried (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) and the solvent was removed in vacuum. The residue was analysed by <sup>1</sup>H NMR and the obtained ratio of the regioisomeric adduct was indicated in Schemes 2 and 3. Purification and yields are indicated in each case.

**4.2.1.** *tert*-Butyl 4-(diethoxymethyl)-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (6B). It was obtained as the major adduct from 3, and purified by column chromatography (hexane/ethyl acetate, 4:1). Colourless oil, yield 64%, IR (film): 1737, 1723, 1597, 1572, 1298, 1155, 1061. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.04 (t, J=7.1 Hz, 6H), 1.56 (s, 9H), 3.40 (dq, J=7.1, 9.4 Hz, 2H), 3.66 (dq, J=7.1, 9.4 Hz, 2H), 6.02 (s, 1H), 7.28 (ddd, J=0.8, 4.8, 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.26 (dt, J=1.6, 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.58 (dd, J=1.6, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 9.10 (d, J=1.6 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 14.9 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 28.0 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 63.5 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 84.7 (C), 95.7 (CH), 121.6 (C), 122.7 (CH), 125.1(C), 137.0, 150.0 and 150.4 (CH), 156.1, 157.8 and 160.3 (C). Anal. calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>24</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>: C 62.05, H 6.94, N 8.04. Found: C 61.63, H 7.05, N 8.01.

**4.2.2.** *tert*-Butyl 5-(diethoxymethyl)-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-4-carboxylate (6A). This compound was obtained as the minor adduct from **3** and could not be isolated as a pure isomer. The signals are measured from the spectrum of a **6A** and **6B** mixture. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.26 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 6H), 1.40 (s, 9H) 3.78 (m, 4H), 6.14 (s, 1H), 7.39 (ddd, J=0.9, 4.8, 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.93 (m, 1H), 8.70 (dd, J=1.7, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 8.82 (dd, J=0.9, 2.3 Hz, 1H).

**4.2.3.** Methyl 4-(diethoxymethyl)-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (8B). It was obtained as the major adduct from 7, and purified by flash column chromatography (hexane/ethyl acetate, 4:1). Colourless oil, yield 69%, IR (film): 1734, 1597, 1572, 1295, 1061. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.09 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 6H), 3.46 (dq, J=7.0, 9.3 Hz, 2H), 3.72 (dq, J=7.0, 9.3 Hz, 2H), 4.01 (s, 3H), 6.11 (s, 1H), 7.35 (ddd, J=0.8, 4.8, 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.33 (m, 1H), 8.66 (dd, J= 1.6, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 9.18 (d, J=1.6 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 14.9 and 53.0 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 63.7 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 95.5 and 122.7 (CH), 122.9 and 124.8 (C), 137.1, 150.0 and 150.6 (CH), 156.5, 157.6 and 160.5 (C). Anal. calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>18</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>: C 58.82, H 5.92, N 9.15. Found: C 58.77, H 5.83, N 9.04.

**4.2.4. Methyl 5-(diethoxymethyl)-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-4-carboxylate (8A).** It was obtained as the minor adduct from 7 and could not be isolated. The signal of the acetalic proton at 6.15 ppm is observed in the <sup>1</sup>H NMR of the crude mixture.

**4.2.5.** Methyl 5-(diethoxymethyl)-4-[(4-methylphenyl)sulfonyl]-3-pyridin-3-yl-4,5-dihydroisoxazole-4-carboxylate (10A). It was obtained as the major adduct from the sulfonyl dipolarophile 9. This compound was isolated by column chromatography (hexane/ethyl acetate, 2:1) and subsequent precipitation with hexane, yield 41%, white solid, mp 115–116 °C, IR (KBr): 1762, 1595, 1326, 1146 and 1078. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.09 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 3H), 1.20 (t, J= 7.0 Hz, 3H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 3.41 (dq, J=7.0, 9.1 Hz, 1H), 3.66 (m, 3H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 4.48 (d, J=7.0 Hz, 1H), 5.38 (d, J=7.0 Hz, 1H), 7.34 (ddd, J=0.8, 4.8, 8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.24 and 7.67 (AA'BB' system, 4H), 8.14 (m, 1H), 8.65 (dd, J= 1.6, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 9.00 (d, J=1.9 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 14.7, 15.0, 21.6 and 53.5 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 61.4 and 64.5 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 87.0 (C), 88.2, 98.8, 123.0 (CH), 124.0 (C), 129.4 and 130.7 (CH), 132.3 (C), 135.1 (CH), 146.5 (C), 148.9 (CH), 150.4 (C), 150.8 (CH), 163.1 (C). Anal. calcd for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>26</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>7</sub>S: C 57.13, H 5.67, N 6.06, S 6.93. Found: C 56.87, H 5.51, N 5.98, S 6.91.

4.2.6. Methyl 4-(methoxymethyl)-5-[(4-methylphenyl)sulfonyl]-3-pyridin-3-yl-4,5-dihydroisoxazole-5-carboxylate (10B). It was obtained as the minor adduct from 9 and purified by column chromatography (hexane/ethyl acetate, 2:1), yield 26%, white solid, mp 144-145 °C (ether/hexane), IR (KBr): 1754, 1595, 1328, 1235, 1075. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 0.96 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 3H), 1.0 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 3H), 2.40 (s, 3H), 3.19 (dq, J=7.0, 9.1 Hz, 1H), 3.65 (m, 3H), 3.72 (s, 3H), 4.80 (d, J=4.0 Hz, 1H), 4.95 (d, J=4.0 Hz, 1H), 7.29 (m, 3H), 7.83 (m, 2H), 7.94 (m, 1H), 8.62 (dd, J =1.6, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 8.81 (bd, J = 1.6 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 14.5, 14.9, 21.7 and 53.3 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 56.1 (CH), 64.0 and 64.8 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 100.4 (CH), 104.0 (C), 122.9 (CH), 125.1 (C), 129.7 and 130.5 (CH), 130.9 (C), 135.4 (CH), 146.4 (C), 149.0 and 150.8 (CH), 156.8 (C), 163.1 (C). Anal. calcd for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>26</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>7</sub>S: C 57.13, H 5.67, N 6.06, S 6.93. Found: C 56.77, H 5.53, N 6.00, S 6.84.

# **4.3.** Formolysis of *t*-butyl or methyl 4-(diethoxymethyl)-**3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylates**

Formic acid (75 mmol) was added to **6B** or **8B** (1.5 mmol) and the mixture was allowed to stand under argon at room temperature for 2.5 and 3 h, respectively. After removed of formic acid and formates under reduced pressure, the crude reaction mixture was analysed by <sup>1</sup>H NMR (**11** and **12** in a ratio 84:16 from **6B**, whereas starting from **8B** only the ester–aldehyde **14** was observed). The compounds obtained are separated and purified as is indicated in each case.

**4.3.1.** *tert*-**Butyl 4-formyl-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5carboxylate** (11). It was obtained from **6B** and isolated by column chromatography (hexane/ethyl acetate, 2:1) after removed of acid **12**. Yield 82%, white solid, mp 74– 76 °C.(from ether/hexane), IR (film): 1743, 1724, 1697, 1592, 1152. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.68 (s, 9H), 7.43 (ddd, J=1.2, 4.7,8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.12 (m, 1H), 8.75 (dd, J=1.8, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 8.98 (d, J=2.3 Hz, 1H), 10.55 (s, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 28.0 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 86.6 and 120.3 (C), 123.1 (CH), 123.3 (C), 137.0, 149.7 and 151.5 (CH), 154.9, 159.6 and 165.2 (C), 184.8 (CH).

**4.3.2. 4-Formyl-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylic acid** (12). It was obtained from **6B** along with esteraldehyde **11**. Compound **12** was isolated in 13% yield by filtration of the solid formed by addition of dichloromethane to the crude reaction mixture. White solid, decomposed at higher temperature than 169 °C, IR (KBr): 3419, 3094, 2523, 1689, 1626, 1568, 1211. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>): 7.59 (dd, J=4.9, 7.9 Hz, 1H), 8.15 (m, 1H), 8.74 (d, J=4.9 Hz, 1H), 8.87 (bs, 1H), 10.38 (s, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ ): 119.9 and 123.6 (C), 123.8, 137.3, 149.2 and 151.3 (CH), 157.3 and 159.2 (C), 185.7 (CH), 185.9 (C).

**4.3.3.** Methyl 4-formyl-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (14). It was isolated in quantitative yield by filtration of the solid formed by addition of ether to the crude reaction mixture obtained from **8B**. White solid, mp 95–96 °C (diethyl ether), IR (KBr): 1732, 1683, 1592, 1438, 1305, 1258. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 4.11 (s, 3H), 7.44 (ddd, J=0.8, 5.1, 7.8 Hz, 1H), 8.13 (dt, J=2.0, 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.75 (dd, J=1.6, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 8.99 (d, J=2.0 Hz, 1H), 10.57 (s, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 53.8 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 121.0 (C), 123.1, 136.9, 149.7 and 151.6 (CH), 156.3, 159.6 and 163.8 (C), 184.3 (CH). Anal. calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>8</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C 56.90, H 3.47, N 12.04. Found: C 56.76, H 3.59, N 11.79.

4.3.4. 4-(Diethoxymethyl)-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5carboxamide (13a). A mixture of concentrated ammonium hydroxyde (1.73 mL of 25% solution) and methyl 4-(diethoxymethyl)-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (8B) (115 mg, 0.37 mmol) was stirred at room temperature for 2 h and then extracted with dichloromethane. The combined organic layers were dried  $(Na_2SO_4)$  and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure to gave a residue. It was purified by flash column chromatography on silica gel (hexane/ethyl acetate, 2:1) to give 95 mg (87%) of pure amide 13a. White solid, mp 87-88 °C (diethyl ether/ hexane), IR (KBr): 3416, 3141, 1700, 1629, 1101, 1046. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.14 (t, J=7.1 Hz, 6H), 3.52 (dq, J=7.1, 9.5 Hz, 2H), 3.75 (dq, J=7.1, 9.5 Hz, 2H), 5.99 (bs, 1H), 6.14 (s, 1H), 7.03 (bs, 1H), 7.39 (ddd, J=0.9, 4.9, 8.0 Hz, 1H), 8.31 (ddd, J=1.6, 2.2, 8.0 Hz, 1H), 8.70 (dd, J=1.6, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 9.14 (d, J = 2.2 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 14.8 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 63.4 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 95.4 (CH), 120.2 (C), 122.9 (CH), 124.8 (C), 137.1, 149.5 and 150.5 (CH), 158.2, 158.8 and 160.7 (C). Anal. calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>17</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C 57.72, H 5.88, N 14.42. Found: C 57.60, H 5.92, N 14.30.

# 4.4. General procedure for the preparation of amides from amines and the ester–isoxazole 8B

A mixture of 0.14 mmol methyl 4-(diethoxymethyl)-3pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (**8B**) and 0.30 mmol of the corresponding amine was stirred at room temperature for the time indicated in each case. The crude mixture was dissolved in dichloromethane and washed with water. The organic layer was dried ( $Na_2SO_4$ ) and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure. The amide was isolated following the procedure indicated in each case.

**4.4.1. 3-[4-(Diethoxymethyl)-5-(piperidin-1-ylcarbonyl)**isoxazol-3-yl]pyridine (13b). It was obtained after 3 days of reaction of **8B** with piperidine and isolated by filtration of the solid precipitate by addition of hexane to the crude reaction mixture. Yield 87%, mp: 84–85 °C, IR (KBr): 1657, 1592, 1570, 1286, 1053. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.11 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 6H), 1.61–1.68 (m, 6H), 3.31 (m, 2H), 3.51 (dq, J=7.0, 9.4 Hz, 2H), 3.60–3.73 (m, 4H), 5.62 (s, 1H), 7.38 (ddd, J= 0.9, 4.8, 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.22 (m, 1H), 8.68 (dd, J=1.8, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 9.08 (dd, J=0.9, 2.1 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 14.9 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 24.3, 25.3, 26.2, 43.1, 48.0 and 62.3 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 95.3 (CH), 116.4 (C), 123.2 (CH), 124.8 (C), 136.4, 149.6 and 150.8 (CH), 157.9, 158.8 and 163.1 (C).

**4.4.2.** *N*-Benzyl-4-(diethoxymethyl)-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxamide (13c). It was obtained after 2 h of reaction of **8B** with benzylamine. It was isolated as an oil by column chromatography (hexane–ethyl acetate, 2:1), yield 99%, IR (film): 3284, 1678, 1598, 1537, 1524, 1291, 1060. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.09 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 6H), 3.50 (dq, J=7.0, 9.5 Hz, 2H), 3.70 (dq, J=7.0, 9.5 Hz, 2H), 4.64 (d, J=5.8 Hz, 2H), 6.14 (s, 1H), 7.30–7.39 (m, 6H), 7.58 (m, 1H), 8.29 (dt, J= 2.0, 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.68 (dd, J=1.5, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 9.11 (d, J= 1.9 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 14.9 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 43.5 and 63.5 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 95.5 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 119.6 (C), 123.0 (CH), 124.8 (C), 127.9 and 128.8 (CH), 136.9 (C), 137.0, 149.8 and 150.7 (CH), 156.2, 159.2 and 160.7 (C).

# 4.5. Synthesis of 4-(dialkylamino)methyl-3-pyridin-3ylisoxazole-5-carboxylates. General procedure

A solution of aldehydes **11** or **14** (0.5 mmol), amine (0.5 mmol, except with piperidine, that 0.6 mmol of amine was used) and acetic acid (0.5 mmol) in dichloroethane (4 mL), under argon at room temperature, was allowed to stand during the time  $t_1$  indicated in each case. After 0.70 mmol of sodium triacetoxyborohydride was added to the reaction mixture and then it was allowed to stand at room temperature for the time  $t_2$  indicated in each case. Saturated sodium bicarbonate solution was added to the reaction mixture and the aqueous layer was extracted with dichloromethane. The combined organic layers were dried (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) and, after removing the solvent under reduced pressure, the residue was analysed by <sup>1</sup>H NMR. The products were isolated as indicated in each case.

4.5.1. tert-Butyl 4-[(4-phenylpiperazin-1-yl)methyl]-3pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (15a). It was obtained along with compound 17 (75:25 mixture of 15a/ 17) from aldehyde 11 and 4-phenylpiperazine, after 1  $(t_1)$ and 3  $(t_2)$  hours, respectively. Flash column chromatography (hexane/ ethyl acetate, 3:2), yield 69%, solid, mp 98-99 °C (hexane), IR (KBr): 1722, 1602, 1576, 1448, 1296, 1156. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.65 (s, 9H), 2.68 (m, 4H), 3.16 (m, 4H), 3.73 (s, 2H), 6.87 (m, 3H), 7.25 (m, 2H), 7.41 (dd, J =4.8, 7.8 Hz, 1H), 8.37 (m, 1H), 8.71 (dd, J=1.6, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 9.24 (d, J = 1.6 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 28.2 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 49.0, 49.2 and 52.4 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 84.6 (C), 116.1 (CH), 119.1 (C), 119.8 and 123.4 (CH), 125.0 (C), 129.1, 136.4, 149.9 and 150.9 (CH), 151.1, 156.4, 158.9 and 162.1 (C). Anal. calcd for C<sub>24</sub>H<sub>28</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C 68.55, H 6.71, N 13.32. Found: C 68.59, H 6.80, N 13.33.

**4.5.2.** *tert*-Butyl **4-**[(**4**-phenylpiperidin-1-yl)methyl]-**3**pyridin-**3**-ylisoxazole-**5**-carboxylate (15b). It was obtained along with compound **17** (77:23 mixture of **15b**/ **17**) from aldehyde **11** and 4-phenylpiperidine, after 2 ( $t_1$ ) and 4 ( $t_2$ ) hours, respectively. Flash column chromatography (hexane/ acetone, 10:1), yield 48%, colourless oil, IR (film): 1734, 1599, 1216, 1156. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.63 (s, 9H), 1.65 (m, 2H), 1.82 (m, 2H), 2.24 (m, 2H), 2.50 (m, 1H), 2.95 (m, 2H), 3.66 (s, 2H), 7.18–7.33 (m, 5H). 7.42 (ddd, J=0.8, 4.8, 7.8 Hz, 1H), 8.57 (m, 1H), 8.72 (dd, J=1.6, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 9.27 (d, J=2.4 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 28.2 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 33.5

4369

(CH<sub>2</sub>), 42.5 (CH), 49.4 and 53.6 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 84.4 and 119.9 (C), 123.4 (CH), 125.2 (C), 126.2, 126.8, 128.4 and 136.5 (CH), 146.1 (C), 150.0 and 150.9 (CH), 156.6, 158.8 and 162.2 (C).

**4.5.3.** Methyl 4-(piperidin-1-ylmethyl)-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (16a). It was obtained along with compound **18** (77:23 mixture of **16a/18**) from aldehyde **14** and piperidine, after 1 ( $t_1$ ) and 3 ( $t_2$ ) hours, respectively. Flash column chromatography (hexane/ ethyl acetate, 3:2), yield 63%, white solid, mp 100–101 °C (ethyl acetate, hexane), IR (KBr): 1732, 1598, 1572, 1310, 1296, 1232. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.48 (m, 6H), 2.44 (m, 4H), 3.61 (s, 2H), 4.01 (s, 3H), 7.41 (dd, J=4, 8, 8, 1 Hz, 1H), 8.42 (m, 1H), 8.71 (dd, J=1.6, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 9.25 (d, J=1.6 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 24.2, 26.0 and 49.6 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 52.7 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 53.8 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 121.3 (C), 123.3 (CH), 124.9 (C), 136.6, 150.0 and 150.9 (CH), 157.3, 157.8 and 162.3 (C). Anal. calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>19</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C 63.77, H 6.36, N 13.94. Found: C 64.07, H 6.66. N 13.93.

**4.5.4.** Methyl 4-{[4-(2-methoxyphenyl)piperazin-1yl]methyl}-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (16b). It was obtained along with compound 18 (88:12 mixture of 16b/18) from the aldehyde 14 and 4-(2-methoxyphenyl)phenylpiperazine, after 4 ( $t_1$  and  $t_2$ ) hours. Flash column chromatography (hexane/ ethyl acetate, 2:1), yield 53%, solid, mp 109–110 °C, IR (KBr): 1734, 1596, 1502, 1294, 1238. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 2.71 (m, 4H), 3.03 (m, 4H), 3.75 (s, 2H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 4.01 (s, 3H), 6.92 (m, 4H), 7.41 (ddd, J=0.9, 4.8, 8.0 Hz, 1H), 8.39 (m, 1H), 8.71 (dd, J=1.8, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 9.27 (d, J=1.6 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 48.9, 50.6 and 52.6 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 52.7 and 55.3 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 111.2 and 118.2 (CH), 120.4 (C); 120.9, 123.0 and 123.4 (CH), 124.8 (C), 136.4 (CH), 141.0 (C), 149.9 and 150.9 (CH), 152.2, 157.6, 157.7 and 162.2 (C).

**4.5.5.** *tert*-Butyl 4-(hydroxymethyl)-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (17). It was obtained along with the amines resulting from reductive amination of aldehyde 11 with 4-phenylpiperazine and 4-phenylpiperidine. It was isolated as pure compound by column chromatography (hexane/ ethyl acetate, 3:2; or hexane/acetone 10:1) in 22 and 17% yields, respectively. White solid, mp 123–124 °C (ethyl acetate/hexane), IR (KBr): 3240, 1729, 1607, 1312, 1156. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.66 (s, 9H), 3.23 (bs, 1H), 4.77 (s, 2H), 7.45 (ddd, J=0.8, 4.8, 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.05 (m, 1H), 8.75 (dd, J=1.1, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 8.94 (bs, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 28.1 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 53.1 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 85.2 (C), 123.1 (CH), 123.8 and 124.4 (C), 136.1, 149.1 and 151.0 (CH), 156.8, 158.8 and 160.8 (C). Anal. calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C 60.86, H 5.84, N 10.14. Found: C 60.59, H 6.23, N 9.99.

**4.5.6.** Methyl **4-(hydroxymethyl)-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (18).** Procedure (a). To a solution of 78 mg (0.34 mmol) of methyl 4-formyl-3-pyridin-3ylisoxazol-5-carboxylate (14) in 2 mL of dichloromethane was added, at room temperature, 450 mg (2.02 mmol) of sodium triacetoxyborohydride. After stirring for 4 h at room temperature the mixture was neutralised with a saturated solution of sodium bicarbonate to pH 7, and then extracted several times with dichloromethane. The combined organic layers were dried and the solvent was removed at reduced pressure to give 78 mg (0.34 mmol) of compound 18 as a white solid. Quantitative yield.

Procedure (b). It was obtained along with the reductive amination products of aldehyde **14** with piperidine and 4-(2-methoxyphenyl)piperidine. It was isolated as a pure compound by column chromatography (hexane/ ethyl acetate, 3:2; or hexane/ethyl acetate 2:1, respectively) in 24 and 12% yields, respectively. White solid, mp 119–120 °C (ethyl acetate/hexane), IR (film): 3129, 1737, 1623, 1599, 1577, 1459, 1308, 1212. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 2.80 (bs, 1H), 4.05 (s, 3H), 4.83 (s, 2H), 7.47 (ddd, J=0.8, 4.8, 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.12 (m, 1H), 8.74 (dd, J=1.6, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 9.00 (d, J= 2.2 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 53.1 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 53.3 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 123.8 (CH), 124.0 and 124.1 (C), 136.2, 149.1 and 151.2 (CH), 157.5, 158.2 and 161.0 (C).

# 4.6. Reaction of diazomethane with 4-formyl-3isoxazole-5-carboxylic acid and their corresponding methyl ester

Procedure (a). To a stirred solution of methyl 4-formyl-3pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (14) (128 mg, 0.55 mmol) in methanol (4 mL), cooled at 0 °C, was added a ethereal solution of diazomethane (4 mL, c.a. 24 mmol) and the resulting mixture was stirred for 1 h. The solid was filtered off (55 mg) and analysed by <sup>1</sup>H NMR (starting material and the corresponding hemiketal). The residue obtained after removed the solvent of the filtrate was purified by column chromatography (hexane/ethyl acetate, 3:2) to give pure oxirane **20** and ketone **21** in 36 and 6% of yield respectively (63 and 10% based on the recovered starting material).

Procedure (b). To a stirred mixture of acid **12** (0.092 mmol), ethyl ether (2 mL), and methanol (0.2 mL), cooled at 0  $^{\circ}$ C, was added an excess of 0.6 M ethereal solution of diazomethane for 6 h. The solvents were evaporated under vacuum and the residue analysed by <sup>1</sup>H NMR showed the signal corresponding to the oxirane **20** and the ketone **21** (83:17), which were isolated by column chromatography (ethyl acetate–hexane, 1:2) in 74 and 14% yields, respectively.

**4.6.1. Methyl 4-oxiran-2-yl-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5carboxylate (20).** White solid, mp 98–99 °C (ethyl acetate/hexane), IR (KBr): 1736, 1613, 1591, 1444, 1304. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 2.75 (dd, J=2.6, 5.0 Hz, 1H), 3.12 (dd, J=4.2, 5.0 Hz, 1H), 4.04 (s, 3H), 4.29 (dd, J=2.6, 4.2 Hz, 1H), 7.42 (dd, J=4.8, 8.0 Hz, 1H), 8.10 (m, 1H), 8.74 (dd, J= 1.6, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 8.97 (d, J=2.1 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 44.0 (CH), 48.2 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 53.1 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 120.7 (C), 123.3 (CH), 124.0 (C), 136.3, 149.3 and 151.3 (CH), 157.2, 158.3 and 160.6 (C).

**4.6.2.** Methyl 4-acetyl-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (21). IR (film): 1735, 1703, 1597, 1304, 1259. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 2.61 (s, 3H), 4.05 (s, 3H), 7.41 (ddd, J=0.9, 4.8, 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.97 (m, 1H), 8.74 (dd, J=1.6, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 8.85 (d, J=2.4 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 32.2 and 53.5 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 123.5 (C), 123.6 (CH), 124.1 (C), 135.9, 149.0 and 151.6 (CH), 156.6, 157.7, 158.9, and 194.6 (C).

4.6.3. Methyl 4-[(5-phenyl-2H-tetrazol-2-yl)methyl]-3pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (19). To a solution of 63 mg (0.27 mmol) of methyl 4-(hydroxymethyl)-3-47 mg pyridin-3-ylisoxazol-5-carboxylate (18), (0.32 mmol) of 5-phenyl-1*H*-tetrazole and 106 mg (0.40 mmol) of triphenylposphine in 3 mL of dry tetrahydrofurane, was added, at room temperature under argon, 64 μL (0.40 mmol) of diethyl diazene-1,2-dicarboxylate (DEAD). The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 3.5 h. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the residue was purified by flash column chromatography on silica gel (hexane/ethyl acetate, 1:1). White solid, mp 81-82 °C (ethyl acetate/hexane), yield 90%, IR (KBr): 1751, 1735, 1608, 1447, 1229. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 4.03 (s, 3H), 6.03 (s, 2H), 7.43 (m, 4H), 8.01 (m, 3H), 8.72 (bd, J=3.6 Hz, 1H), 8.95 (bs, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 44.9 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 53.3 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 115.8 and 123.2 (C), 123.7 (CH), 126.7 (C), 126.8, 128.8, 130.5, 135.9, 149.0 and 151.6 (CH), 156.8, 158.9, 161.2 and 165.3 (C). Anal. calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>14</sub>N<sub>6</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C 59.67, H 3.89, N 23.19. Found: C 59.49, H 3.81, N 23.03.

4.6.4. Methyl 4{[(tert-butoxycarbonyl)(phenylsulfonyl)amino]methyl}-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (22). A mixture of methyl 4-(hydroxymethyl)-3-pyridin-3vlisoxazole-5-carboxylate (18) (59 mg, 0.25 mmol), tertbutyl (phenylsulfony)carbamate (219.49 mg, 0.83 mmol), diethyl diazene-1,2-dicarboxylate (DEAD) (65.31 mg, triphenylphosphine 0.375 mmol) and (98.36 mg, 0.375 mmol) in tetrahydrofurane (8.8 mL), was allowed stirred at room temperature under argon for 2.5 h. After removed the solvent the residue was purified by column chromatography [first ethyl acetate/hexane, 1:3, and then ethyl acetate/hexane, 1:2] to give 112 mg (94%) of sulfonamide 22. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.22 (s, 9H), 4.00 (s, 3H), 5.37 (s, 2H), 7.37 (dd, J=4.9, 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.46 (m, 2H), 7.58 (m, 3H), 7.84 (dt, J = 1.9, 7.9 Hz, 1H), 8.64 (d, J = 1.9 Hz, 1H), 8.69 (dd, J = 1.5, 4.9 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 27.7 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 38.6 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 53.0 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 85.4 (C), 120.1 (C), 123.4 (CH), 124.0 (C), 127.6, 128.7, 133.6 and 136.5 (CH), 139.6 (C), 149.3 (CH), 150.0 (C), 151.0 (CH), 157.4, 158.0 and 161.2 (C).

**4.6.5.** *N*-{[5-(Piperidin-1-ylcarbonyl)-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazol-4-yl]methyl}benzenesulfonamide (23). To a mixture of methyl4{[(*tert*-butoxycarbonyl)(phenylsulfonyl)amino]methyl}-3-pyridin-3-ylisoxazole-5-carboxylate (22) (60 mg, 0.13 mmol) and piperidine (1.01 mmol) was stirred for 4 dais at 40 °C. The compound 23 was isolated by column chromatography (ethyl acetate/hexane, 3:2) in 56% yield. <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.72 (m, 6H), 3.68 (m, 4H), 4.05 (d, J= 6.4 Hz, 2H), 6.36 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 1H), 7.51 (m, 4H), 7.79 (m, 2H), 8.02 (m, 1H), 8.75 (dd, J=1.7, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 8.85 (dd, J=0.7, 3.1 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 24.3, 25.6, 26.6, 36.1, 44.2 and 47.9 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 118.2 and 123.7 (C), 123.8, 127.0, 129.1, 132.7, 136.1 (CH), 139.5 (C), 149.16 and 151.3 (CH), 156.8, 160.0 and 162.9 (C).

**4.6.6. 3-Pyridin-3-ylisoxazolo[4,5-***d***]<b>pyridazin-7(6***H***)-one** (**24**). Procedure (a). A mixture of acid **12** (0.29 mmol), hydrazine hydrate 80% (0.44 mmol), acetic acid (0.3 mL) and ethanol (3 mL) was refluxed for 3.5 h. After cooling the reaction mixture the isoxazolopyridazinone **24** was isolated by filtration and washed with ethanol. Yield 83%.

Procedure (b). Following the procedure (a) outlined above, methyl ester **14** (0.19 mmol) and hydrazine hydrate of 80% (0.28 mmol), after refluxing for 2 h afforded the compound **24** in 81% yield.

Procedure (c). A mixture of **8B** (0.10 mmol), hydrazine hydrate 80% (0.15 mmol), acetic acid (0.7 mL) and water (1 mL) was heated at 90 °C for 1 h. After cooling the reaction mixture the isoxazolopyridazinone **24** was isolated by filtration and washed with ethanol. Yield 79%.

Pale yellow solid (decomposed at higher temperature than 201 °C), IR (KBr): 3072 (broad), 1648, 1356. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ ): 7.66 (dd, J=4.8, 8.0 Hz, 1H), 8.42 (m, 1H), 8.80 (s, 1H), 8.83 (dd, J=1.6, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 9.19 (d, J= 2.0 Hz, 1H), 13.60 (s, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ ): 119.1 and 123.0 (C), 124.6, 132.5, 135.9 and 148.5 (CH), 152.2 (C), 152.3 (CH), 155.7 and 159.9 (C). Anal. calcd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>6</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C 56.08, H 2.82, N 26.16. Found: C 55.85, H 2.98, N 25.66.

# Acknowledgements

We thank CAICYT (Grant BQU2003-04012) and Janssen-Cilag S.A. for financial support. We thank Comunidad Autónoma de Madrid for a Predoctoral Fellowship to C.F. and Miss Pleite S. for the preparation of sulfonamides **22** and **23**.

## **References and notes**

- (a) Baraldi, P. G.; Barco, A.; Benetti, S.; Pollini, G. P.; Simoni, D. *Synthesis* **1987**, 857–869. (b) Martin, L.; Polo, C.; Ramos, V.; Torroba, T.; Marcaccini, S. *Heterocycles* **1993**, *36*, 2259–2265.
- AMPA receptor antagonist: Madsen, U.; Sløk, F. A.; Stensbøl, T. B.; Bräuner-Osborne, H.; Lützhøft, H. H.; Poulsen, M. V.; Eriksen, L.; Krogsgaard-Larsen, P. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 2000, 35, 69–76.
- Antibacterial activity: Kang, Y. K.; Shin, K. J.; Yoo, K. H.; Seo, K. J.; Hong, C. Y.; Lee, C.; Park, S. Y.; Kim, D. J.; Park, S. W. Biorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2000, 10, 95–99.
- Antiplatelet effect: Xue, C.; Roderick, J.; Mousa, S.; Olson, R. E.; DeGrado, W. F. *Biorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 1998, *8*, 3499–3504.
- Anticonvulsant agents: (a) Lepage, F.; Tombret, F.; Cuvier, G.; Marivain, A.; Gillardin, J. M. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* **1992**, *27*, 581–593. (b) Eddintong, N. D.; Cox, D. S.; Roberts, R. R.; Butcher, R. J.; Edafiogho, I. O.; Stables, J. P.; Cooke, N.; Goodwin, A. M.; Smith, C. A.; Scott, K. R. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* **2002**, *37*, 635–648.
- Antiviral properties: (a) Lee, Y.; Kim, B. H. *Biorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2002, *12*, 1395–1397. (b) Diana, G. D.; McKinlay, M. A.; Brisson, C. J.; Zalay, E. S.; Miralles, J. V.; Salvador, U. J. *J. Med. Chem.* 1985, *28*, 748–752.
- Immunostimulatory activity: Ryng, S.; Machoń, Z.; Wieczorek, Z.; Zimecki, M.; Mokrosz, M. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 1998, *33*, 831–836.
- 8. Fr Patent No. 1526466; Chem. Abstr. 1968, 71, 61373.
- Auinbauh, S. M.; Lee, L. F.; McDermott, L. L. US Patent No. 512961; Chem. Abstr. 1992, 117, 171434.
- Demina, O. V.; Varfolomeev, S. D.; Vzheshch, P. V.; Tatarintsev, A. V. RU Pat. No. 2088229-C1; *Chem. Abstr.* 1998, 128, 43855.
- Kim, Y.; Kang, S. B.; Keum, G.; Jang, M. S.; Kong, J. Y.; Jeong, D. Y. US Patent No. 2003 114491; *Chem. Abstr.* 2003, *139*, 53009.
- Vasilin, V. K.; Kajgorodova, E. A.; Krapivin, G. D.; Nen'ko, N. I.; Fedjun, E. V. RU Patent No. 2196772; *Chem. Abstr.* 2003, 139, 395921.
- Fariña, F.; Fraile, M. T.; Martín, M. R.; Martín, M. V.; Martínez, A. *Heterocycles* **1995**, *40*, 285–292.
- García, J. L.; Fraile, A.; Martín, M. R. *Tetrahedron* 1999, 55, 14491–14500.
- (a) Belgodere, E.; Bossio, R.; De Sio, F.; Marcaccini, S.; Pepino, R. *Heterocycles* **1983**, 20, 501–504. (b) Crawley, L. S.; Fanshawe, W. J. J. *Heterocycl. Chem.* **1977**, 14, 531–534.
- 16. Paul, R.; Tchelitcheff, S. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1962, 2215–2221.
- 17. The dipolarophile **7** was obtained from methyl bromoacetate following the procedure reported by us in reference 14 for the preparation of racemic compound **3**.
- 18. Values for C-5 of 5-(diethoxymethyl)isoxazole-4-carboxylates are close to 170 ppm, see reference 13. Unfortunately, the <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra for compounds 6A and 8A could not be recorded due to their low proportion in the reaction mixture.
- (a) Caramella, P.; Albini, E.; Bandiera, T.; Coda, A. C.; Grünanger, P.; Albini, F. M. *Tetrahedron* **1983**, *39*, 689–699.

(b) Barzaghi, M.; Beltrame, P. L.; Dalla, P.; Del Buttero, P.; Licandro, E.; Maiorana, S.; Zecchi, G. *J. Org. Chem.* **1983**, *48*, 3807–3810.

- 20. de Blas, J.; Carretero, J. C.; Domínguez, E. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1995**, *6*, 1035–1038.
- (a) Bravo, P.; Bruché, L.; Crucianelli, M.; Farina, A.; Meille, S. V.; Merli, A.; Seresini, P. J. Chem. Res. (S) **1996**, 348–349.
   Bravo, P.; Bruché, L.; Crucianelli, M.; Farina, A.; Meille, S. V.; Merli, A.; Seresini, P. J. Chem. Res. (M) **1996**, 1901–1923. (b) Bravo, P.; Bruché, L.; Merli, A.; Fronza, G. Gazz. Chim. Ital. **1994**, 124, 275–277.
- Cavicchioli, M.; Pevarello, P.; Salom, B.; Vulpetti, A. Patent No. WO 2003013517; *Chem. Abstr.* 2003, *138*, 187773.
- Kano, H.; Adachi, I.; Kido, R.; Hirose, K. J. Med. Chem. 1967, 10, 411–418.
- Owa, T.; Okauchi, T.; Yoshimatsu, K.; Sugi, N. H.; Ozawa, Y.; Nagasu, T.; Koyanagi, N.; Okabe, T.; Kitoh, K.; Yoshino, H. *Biorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2000, 10, 1223–1226 and references therein cited.
- 25. Formolysis of acetal group in the 4-(diethoxymethyl)-3pyridin-3-ylisoxazol-5-carboxamides followed by reductive amination also afforded the corresponding amide-amines in good yields, personal communication.
- 26. Purchase, C. F.; White, A. D. Synth. Commun. 1996, 26, 2687–2694.
- Talley, J. J.; Brown, D. L.; Nagarajan, S.; Carter, J. S.; Weier, R. M.; Stealey, M. A.; Colins, P. W.; Rogers, R. S.; Seibert, K. PCUS5633272; *Chem. Abstr.* **1997**, *127*, 65756.
- Nakamura, M.; Kurihara, H.; Ohkubo, M.; Tsukamoto, N. PC US 2004176407; *Chem. Abstr.* 2004, 141, 243542.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4373-4379

### Desymmetrization of spiro-activated *meso*-cyclopropanes via nucleophilic substitution

Paul Müller\* and David Riegert

Department of Organic Chemistry, University of Geneva, 30, Quai Ernest Ansermet, CH-1211 Geneva 4, Switzerland

Received 17 December 2004; revised 28 February 2005; accepted 2 March 2005

Available online 23 March 2005

Abstract—The spiro-activated cyclopropane 1 undergoes desymmetrization either with Li-thiophenoxide in the presence of a chiral complexing ligand, or with ion pairs formed from thiophenols and aromatic chiral amines. The latter procedure is more efficient and provides the ring-opened thioether **6** in up to 79% yield and up to 60% ee. © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

### 1. Introduction

Epoxides and aziridines undergo ring opening under a variety of conditions. According to the substitution pattern of the heterocyclic three-membered ring, the reactions may be regioselective, and efficient systems for catalytic desymmetrization of *meso*-epoxides<sup>1</sup> and *meso*-aziridines<sup>2</sup> have been reported. The analogous ring-opening of cyclopropanes<sup>3</sup> has been known for some time, and has found numerous applications in natural products synthesis.<sup>4</sup>



**3** 99%, 77% ee

### Scheme 1.

\* Corresponding author. Tel.: +41 22 379 6527; fax: +41 22 379 3215; e-mail: paul.muller@chiorg.unige.ch

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.03.005

However, to our knowledge, only an isolated example of a desymmetrization of a *meso*-cyclopropane has been reported: It concerns the sprioactivated cyclopropane 1, which reacts in the presence of catalytic quantities cob(I)alamin (Vitamine  $B_{12}$ ) to the substituted cyclohexene 3, which was isolated in 99% yield and 77% ee.<sup>5</sup> The proposed reaction mechanism involves nucleophilic attack of cob(I)alamin, associated with ring-opening to the intermediate 2, which then reacts further via reductive elimination to 3. Since cob(I)alamin is chiral, and since the tertiary carbon atoms, where substitution takes place, are enantiotopic, the reaction may be enantioselective. Cob(I)alamin has also been found to desymmetrize cyclohexene oxide and the *N*-sulfonated aziridine corresponding to  $1^6$  (Scheme 1).

In the desymmetrization of **1** the attacking nucleophile itself is chiral owing to the presence of the chiral ligand of Vitamine  $B_{12}$ , and the same holds for the desymmetrization of aziridines with chiral cuprate reagents.<sup>7</sup> In other desymmetrizations involving nucleophilic substitution, the chiral environment is created via association of the leaving group with a chiral Lewis acid. Alternatively, the chiral electrophile may be associated with both the leaving group and the nucleophile.<sup>8</sup> In continuation of our previous research on desymmetrization of *N*-sulfonated aziridines<sup>7</sup> we have investigated the desymmetrization of **1** with thiophenoxide. Compound **1** was selected as substrate owing to the low pK<sub>a</sub> of 7.3 for Meldrum's acid, which suggests the suitability of the corresponding anion as leaving group.

For the preparation of 1 the original procedure of Scheffold was used.<sup>5,9</sup> Although the sequence is long, it allows a large scale preparation of 1. For small-scale synthesis, the

*Keywords*: Nucleophilic substitution; Chiral ion pairs; Thiophenoxide; Chiral ligand; Chinchonine.

reaction of the phenyliodoniumylide **4** derived from Meldrum's acid with cyclohexene in the presence of  $[Rh_2(OAc)_4]$  is, however, more convenient.<sup>10</sup>

### 2. Results and discussion

# 2.1. Desymmetrization with Li-thiophenoxide in the presence of chiral ligands

In a first series of experiments, the desymmetrization of 1 was attempted using Li-thiophenoxide (4a) in the presence of chiral ligands 8-16 (Chart 2), capable to coordinate the Li-cation.<sup>11</sup> This combination has been used in the past for asymmetric conjugate additions to unsaturated ketones (Michael addition).<sup>11,12</sup> In the case of the conjugate addition, the reaction is catalytic with respect to Li-thiophenoxide owing to the large difference in pK<sub>a</sub> of the carbonyl compound (20-25), which results from the conjugate addition and the  $pK_a$  of thiophenol (6.5 in  $H_2O$ , 10.3 in DMSO). At the end of the catalytic cycle, the enolate formed upon addition will deprotonate the unreacted thiophenol, so that the required thiophenoxide reagent will be regenerated. The situation is less favorable in the case of the opening of 1: the  $pK_a$  of Meldrum's acid is 4.8 (H<sub>2</sub>O) and 7.3 (DMSO), respectively.<sup>13</sup> The value for 2,2,5-trimethyl-1,3-dioxa-cyclohexane-4,6-dione, which may serve as model for 5-substituted derivatives of Meldrum's acid in DMSO is 7.4 (Chart 1 and Scheme 2).<sup>14</sup>







#### Chart 2.

Thus, the respective conjugate bases are not sufficiently basic to deprotonate thiophenol, so that the reaction requires at least stoichiometric amounts of thiophenoxide, or BuLi, respectively, to go to completion. Eventually, the desymmetrizations were carried out by treating 1 with 2 equiv of thiophenol (4a), which was converted to the Li-salt by treatment with BuLi in the appropriate solvent at -20 °C, and by allowing the temperature to reach 25 °C overnight. The enantiometric excess (ee) of the substitution product 6a

Table 1. Ring opening of 1 with Li-thiophenoxide (4a) in the presence of chiral ligands  $^{\rm a}$ 

Run	Ligand	Solvent	BuLi	Yield 6a (%)	ee (%)
1	_	DME	2.0	66	_
2	Sparteine (8)	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	2.0	78	24
3	Sparteine (8)	Et <sub>2</sub> O	2.0	48	21
4	Sparteine (8)	PhCH <sub>3</sub> <sup>b</sup>	2.0	99	8
5	Sparteine (8)	THF	2.0	54	13
6	Sparteine (8)	THF <sup>c</sup>	2.0	78	6
7	Sparteine (8)	PhCH3 <sup>d</sup>	1.0	31	9
8	Sparteine (8)	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	0	64	20
9	9	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	2.0	91	0
10	10	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	2.0	20	5
11	11	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	2.0	85	3
12	12	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	2.0	69	13
13	13	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	2.0	40	0
14	14	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	2.0	92	9
15	15	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	2.0	53	9
16	16	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	2.0	69	6
17	17	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	2.0	18	9
18	17	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	0	68	50

<sup>a</sup> Conditions: Ratios of 1/PhSH/BuLi/ligand=1:2:2:2 in 4.0 ml of solvent.
 <sup>b</sup> With 2.0 equiv of BF<sub>3</sub>.

<sup>c</sup> With 2.0 equiv of LiCl.

<sup>d</sup> With 1.0 equiv of **8** and 1.0 equiv of BuLi with respect to **1**.

Scheme 2.

was determined after conversion to 7 with dimethyliminium iodide (Chart 2).<sup>15</sup> The expected *trans*-configuration of the substituents of 6a was confirmed by its NOESY spectra, which showed no interaction between the methine protons of the cyclohexane ring.<sup>16</sup> The enantioselectivity of the reaction is modest. The best result (78% yield and 24% ee) was obtained with sparteine (8) as ligand and in toluene as solvent (Table 1, entry 2). In more polar solvents such as  $Et_2O$  or THF the ee decreased to 21 and 13%, respectively. This may be attributed to weaker association of the Li-thiophenoxide to the chiral ligand. Addition of BF<sub>3</sub> to the reaction mixture in PhCH<sub>3</sub> resulted in an increase of the yield to 91%, but was associated with a decrease in enantioselectivity to 8%. Similarly, the enantioselectivity decreased upon addition of LiCl to the reaction in THF. A selection of chiral ligands was tested, mainly consisiting of tertiary diamines, amino ethers or diethers, but the results were disappointing. Even the tridentate ligand 15 of Tomioka<sup>17</sup> afforded only marginal enantioselectivity.

When the amount of sparteine (8) was decreased to 1 equiv, the yield decreased to 31%, and the enantioselectivity to 9%. Suprisingly, however, in the absence of BuLi, the enantioselectivity of the reaction with sparteine was re-established and reached 20% (entry 8). This indicates that complexation of the Li-thiophenoxide by the chiral ligand is not required for desymmetrization, and that formation of a chiral ion pair by deprotonation of thiophenol by sparteine may also lead to a chiral substitution product. When chinchonidine (17) was used as chiral ligand, the enantioselectivity increased from 9% in the presence of BuLi to 50% in its absence (Table 1, entries 17 and 18). Chiral ion pairs have been used widely and successfully for enantioselective reactions, such as conjugate additions,<sup>18</sup> and they are also involved in phase transfer catalyzed enantio-selective alkylations.<sup>19,20</sup> Accordingly, a second set of experiments was realized using ion pairs formed via deprotonation of thiophenol by a chiral amine.

### 2.2. Desymmetrization of 1 with chiral ion pairs

The reaction conditions were optimized with chinchonidine (17) as base (Scheme 3). The cyclopropane 1 (1.0 equiv)



Table 2. Desymmetrization of 1 with thiophenols in the presence of chinchonine  $(17)^{a}$ 

Cpd	Solvent	R	R′	<b>R</b> ″	Yield (%)	ee (%) <sup>b</sup>
6a	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	Н	Н	Н	68	50
6a	CHCl <sub>3</sub>	Н	Н	Н	51	32
6a	CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub>	Н	Н	Н	78	23
6a	PhCF <sub>3</sub>	Н	Н	Н	54	15
6a	$C_5H_{12}$	Н	Н	Н	63	10
6a	Dioxane	Н	Н	Н	69	42
6a	THF	Н	Н	Н	65	26
6a	Et <sub>2</sub> O	Н	Н	Н	54	31
6b	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	Br	Н	Н	39	60
6c	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	Me	Н	Cl	56	60
6d	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	Cl	Н	Cl	9	34
6e	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	OMe	Н	Н	13	20
6f	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	F	Н	Н	36	6
6g	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	t-Bu	Н	Н	0	_
6h	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	Me <sub>3</sub> Si	Н	Н	0	_
6i	PhCH <sub>3</sub>	Н	$NO_2$	Н	0	—

<sup>a</sup> Conditions: At room temperature; 1.0 equiv of 1, 2.0 equiv of thiophenol (6), 2.0 equiv of chinchonidine (17).

<sup>b</sup> Determined on **6** by HPLC.



sparteine (8) 64%, 20% ee

chinchonidine (17) 68%, 50% ee





N(CH<sub>2</sub>Ph)

NH<sub>2</sub>

'NH,

.NH<sub>2</sub>

22 56%. 21% ee

24 13%, 20% ee

quinine (19) 70%, 46% ee



MeO

quinchonine (18)

50%, 43% ee

quinidine (20)





23 66%, 20% ee

Chart 3.

was added to a mixture of the appropriate thiophenol (2.0 equiv) and the chiral amine (2.0 equiv) at room temperature, and the reaction mixture was stirred overnight. The effect of solvent and substituent of the thiophenol on yield and enantioselectivity is shown in Table 2.

Toluene was found to be the most efficient solvent and led to an ee of 50%, followed by dioxane and chloroform with 42 and 32%, respectively. In general, the enantioselectivity decreased in the more polar solvents; however, pentane seems to be exceptional. The reaction proceeded well in 63% yield, but only with 10% ee. Small substituents in ortho position of the thiophenol led to an increase in enantioselectivity, which culminated at 60% with 2-bromo- and 2-methyl-6-chlorophenol. No reaction occurred, however, with sterically very crowding substituents such as 2-*t*-butyl and 2-trimethylsilyl. 4-Nitrophenol was equally unreactive, presumably owing to its low  $pK_a$  and its corresponding low nucleophilicity.

A selection of chiral amines (8, 17–24) was investigated with 5a and the results are shown in Chart 3. The chinchonin derived bases were most efficient and afforded enantio-selectivities in the range of 50%. With other bases, however, the ee remained modest, in the range of ca 10%.<sup>16</sup>

### 3. Conclusion

Our results show that the desymmetrization of spiroactivated *meso*-cyclopropanes via chiral ion pairs is feasible. It was not possible, in the framework and time scale of the present project to achieve synthetically useful enantioselectivities, to examine other nucleophiles, nor to determine the absolute configurations of the products.

### 4. Experimental

### 4.1. General

See Ref. 21 All reactions were carried out under inert atmosphere (argon). CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, MeCN, and chlorobenzene were dried over CaH<sub>2</sub> and distilled. The other solvents were purchased from Fluka or Acros and used without purification. Flash chromatography (FC): silica gel 32-63 60 Å Merck 9385. TLC: Macherey-Nagel Polygram Sil/UV<sub>254</sub>; detection by UV light or with KMnO<sub>4</sub>. Optical rotations were measured on JASCO DIP-1000 digital polarimeter. The enantiomeric excess of the products was determined by HPLC (Chiracel OF); t<sub>R</sub> in minutes. IR Spectra: Mattson instruments Polaris FT-IR instrument, NaCl cells, in cm<sup>-</sup> NMR spectra: Bruker AMX-300, chemical shifts  $\delta$  in ppm with respect to  $SiMe_4$  (=0 ppm), coupling constants in Hz. MS: Varian CH4 or SM1 spectrometer with electron impact or electrospray; m/z (rel %). High resolution (HR) MS: VG-7070 analytical spectrometer (data system 11 250, resolution 7000).

### 4.2. Origin of chiral ligands

The chiral ligands, which were not commercially available, were synthesized according to published procedures: **9**: Ref. 22; **11**: Ref. 23; **12**: Ref. 24; **13**: Ref. 7b; **14**, **15**: Ref. 17; **16**: Ref. 25; **23**: Ref. 26.

**4.2.1. Synthesis of** (1S,2R)-*N*,*N*-**dimethyl-2-methoxy-1,2-diphenylethylamine** (10).<sup>27</sup> To (1S,2R)-*N*,*N*-dimethyl-2-hydroxy-1,2-diphenyl-ethylamine<sup>28</sup> (1.00 g, 4.13 mmol) in DMF (5.0 mL) was added NaH (207 mg, 5.2 mmol) at room temperature. The mixture was stirred during 3 h. MeI (0.63 g, 4.31 mmol) in DMF (5.0 mL) was added dropwise by syringe at 0 °C, and the mixture was stirred for 3 h. It was decomposed with ice-water (15 mL). The solution was extracted with AcOEt (3×30 mL), and the combined organic layers were washed with satd NaCl, dried (MgSO<sub>4</sub>), filtered, and evaporated in vacuo. The residue was prified by flash chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, CHCl<sub>3</sub>/MeOH 10:1) to yield 10 (378 mg, 36%) as colorless solid, mp 116-118 °C.  $[\alpha]_D^{25} = +12.4$  (c=0.50, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). IR (CHCl<sub>3</sub>): 3320w, 2760w, 1670s, 1450w, 1180w, 880m. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 2.81 (*s*, 3H); 2.88 (*s*, 3H); 3.15 (*s*, 3H); 3.50-3.54 (m, 1H); 4.65-4.68 (m, 1H); 6.88-6.95 (m, 2H); 6.99–7.05 (m, 2H); 7.09–7.16 (m, 6H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (125 MHz): 43.6 (q); 56.9 (q); 76.7 (d); 83.1 (d); 127.2 (d); 127.3 (d); 127.4 (d); 127.7 (d); 130.0 (d); 139.9 (s);162.5 (s).

### 4.3. Synthesis of 2',2'-dimethylspiro{bicyclo-[4.1.0]heptane-7,5'-[1,3]dioxane}-4',6'-dione (1)

4.3.1. Dimethyl bicyclo[4.1.0]heptane-7,7-dicarboxylate.<sup>5</sup> To  $Me_2S_2$  (7.06 g, 75 mmol) in  $CH_2Cl_2$  (45 mL) was added SO<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (10.12 g, 75 mmol) at -50 °C. After 5 min of stirring, cyclohexene (15.2 mL, 150 mmol) was added dropwise in 30 min The solvent and the SO<sub>2</sub> was then evaporated in vacuo, and the oily residue was transferred to sodium dimethyl malonate (prepared from dimethyl malonate (21.8 g, 165 mmol and sodium methoxide (165 mmol in 150 mL of MeOH). After 5 h of reflux the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure. After addition of H<sub>2</sub>O, the mixture was extracted with  $Et_2O$  (3×80 mL). The organic layer was washed (satd NaCl, 50 mL), dried (MgSO<sub>4</sub>), and filtered. Evaporation of the solvent afforded a brownish oil, to, which dimethyl sulfate (20.8 g, 165 mmol) was added. The mixture was stirred overnight and subsequently treated with NaOMe (300 mmol) in MeOH (300 mL) and heated to reflux for 30 min The volatiles were evaporated under reduced pressure, H<sub>2</sub>O (150 mL) was added, and the mixture was extracted with Et<sub>2</sub>O (4×150 mL). The combined organic layers were washed (satd NaCl), dried (MgSO<sub>4</sub>), filtered and evaporated in vacuo. The brownish residue was recrystallized at -4 °C in Et<sub>2</sub>O to afford dimethyl bicyclo[4.1.0]heptane-7,7dicarboxylate (21.21 g, 77%) as colorless crystals, mp 83–85 °C (Lit.<sup>5</sup> 82–87 °C). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 0.93– 0.97 (m, 2H); 1.18-1.22 (m, 2H); 1.77-1.86 (m, 6H); 3.62 (s, 3H); 3.72(s, 3H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 19.6 (t); 20.6 (t); 25.4 (q); 35.2 (q); 52.2 (d); 52.6 (d); 1657.9 (s); 171.6 (s).

**4.3.2. Bicyclo[4.1.0]heptane-7,7-dicarboxylic acid.**<sup>5</sup> Dimethyl bicyclo[4.1.0]heptane-7,7-dicarboxylate (5.00 g, 32.5 mmol) and KOH (24.0 g) in MeOH/H<sub>2</sub>O 1:1 (120 mL) were heated to reflux for 24 h. Most of the solvent was then evaporated under reduced pressure. H<sub>2</sub>O (75 mL) was added. The solution was extracted with Et<sub>2</sub>O (4×50 mL),

and the aqueous layer was treated with 25% HCl and evaporated. The residue was recrystallized from H<sub>2</sub>O to give bicyclo[4.1.0]heptane-7,7-dicarboxylic acid (97%) as color-less crystals, mp 177–179 °C (Lit.<sup>5</sup> 176–177 °C). IR (CHCl<sub>3</sub>): 3700w, 2210br, 1705s. <sup>1</sup>H (200 MHZ, DMSO- $d_6$ ): 0.98–1.22 (*m*, 4H); 1.56–1.59 (*m*, 2H); 1.64–1.83 (*m*, 4H); 3.60 (br, 1H); 12.6 (br, 2H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ ): 19.3 (*t*); 20.4 (*t*); 23.5 (*d*); 35.2 (*s*); 168.4 (*s*); 172.5 (*s*).

4.3.3. 2',2'-Dimethylspiro{bicyclo[4.1.0]heptane-7,5'-[1,3]dioxane}-4',6'-dione (1).<sup>5,10</sup> A suspension of bicyclo-[4.1.0]heptane-7,7-di-carboxylic acid (4.20 g, 22.8 mmol) in isopropenyl acetate (4.00 mL, 36.8 mmol) was stirred vigourously at 0 °C for 10 min Conc. sulfuric acid (0.20 mL) was added in 10 min and the mixture was stirred for 14 h at 0 °C. Ice-water (1:1, 8 mL) was added to the greenish solution, and the precipitate was filtered and washed with H<sub>2</sub>O (8 mL). The aqueous layer was extracted with  $Et_2O$  (4×30 mL), the organic phase was washed (satd NaCl), dried (MgSO<sub>4</sub>) and concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by two successive recrystaslizations from hexane to afford 1 (2.06 g, 40%) as yellow crystals, mp 82-84 °C (Lit.<sup>3b</sup> 87-88 °C). IR (CHCl<sub>3</sub>): 1768s, 1740s. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 1.28-1.32 (*m*, 2H); 1.62–1.74 (*m*, 4H); 1.72 (*s*, 6H); 1.95–2.00 (*m*, 2H); 2.56–2.59 (*m*, 2H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (75 MHz): 18.5 (*d*); 20.3 (q); 27.4 (t); 32.7 (d); 35.9 (t); 104.0 (s); 164.8 (s); 169.1 (s). MS: 209 (2, M<sup>+</sup> - 15), 167 (24), 166 (100), 148 (53), 138 (94), 122 (32), 120 (66), 94 (40), 93 (49), 91 (69), 80 (51), 79 (85), 77 (39).

# 4.4. Desymmetrization of spiro-activated *meso*-cyclo-propanes

**4.4.1. General procedure for desymmetrization with Li-thiophenoxide.** To *n*-BuLi (1.6 M in hexane, 9.92 mmol) in PhCH<sub>3</sub> (4.0 mL) at -20 °C was added thiophenol (**5a**, 0.92 mmol) dropwise by syringe. After 5 min of stirring the chiral ligand was added and the mixture was stirred for 30 min at -20 °C. The cyclopropane **1** (100 mg, 0.46 mmol) in PhCH<sub>3</sub> (1.0 mL) was added by syringe, and the mixture was allowed to warm up to room temperature overnight. It was hydrolyzed with aqueous citric acid (5%, 10 mL); the organic layer was separated and the aqueous phase was extracted with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3×10 mL). The combined organic layers were dried (MgSO<sub>4</sub>), filtered and concentrated in vacuo, and the crude residue was purified by chromatography.

**4.4.2. General procedure for desymmetrization with chiral ion pairs.** To the appropriate chiral ligand (0.92 mmol) in PhCH<sub>3</sub> (6.0 mL) was added the thiophenol 5 (0.92 mmol) within 5 min at room temperature. The mixture was stirred vigourously for 10 min, where upon the cyclopropane 1 (100 mg, 0.46 mmol) in PhCH<sub>3</sub> (1.0 mL) was added dropwise. After stirring of the mixture overnight, it was decomposed with aqueous citric acid (5%, 10 mL), and worked up as above.

### 4.5. Data for substitution products 6

**4.5.1. 5**-(*trans*-2-Phenylsulfanylcyclohexyl)–2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxane-4,6-dione (6a). Chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, AcOEt/pentane 1:9) afforded **6a** (245 mg, 79%) as colorless solid, mp 112–114 °C.  $[\alpha]_D^{25} = +10$  (c=1.01, CHCl<sub>3</sub>) for 50% ee. IR (CHCl<sub>3</sub>): 2932m, 2856w, 1780m, 1744s, 1382w, 1287s, 1207m. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 1.25–1.44 (m, 4H); 1.56–1.65 (m, 2H); 1.71 (s, 3H); 1.74 (s, 3H); 1.69–1.77 (m, 2H); 2.18–2.20 (m, 1H); 2.48–2.55 (m, 1H); 3.71–3.75 (m, 1H); 7.24–7.31 (m, 3H); 7.41–7.43 (m, 2H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (125 MHz): 25.8 (t); 26.6 (t); 26.8 (q); 27.8 (t); 28.3 (q); 34.9 (t); 43.4 (d); 48.2 (d); 49.6 (d); 104.8 (s); 127.4 (d); 129.0 (d); 129.2 (d); 132.7 (d); 133.6 (s); 164.5 (s); 165.6 (s). MS: 334 (M<sup>+</sup>, 20), 276 (10), 232 (12), 204 (21), 191 (14), 190 (78), 167 (49), 149 (20), 139 (15), 123 (93), 110 (47), 109 (22), 95 (67), 81 (87), 79 (41), 77 (22), 67 (38), 65 (21), 55 (100). HR-MS: 334.1216 (C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>4</sub>S<sup>+</sup>; calcd 334.1238).

4.5.2. 5-[trans-2-(2-Bromophenylsulfanyl) cyclohexyl]-2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxane-4,6-dione (6b). Chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, AcOEt/pentane 15:85) afforded 6b (359 mg, 39%) as colourless solid, mp 116–118 °C.  $[\alpha]_D^{25} = +23.2$ (c=0.99, CHCl<sub>3</sub> for 60% ee. IR (CHCl<sub>3</sub>): 2932m, 2856w, 1780m, 1744s, 1382w, 1297s, 1207m. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 1.36–1.39 (*m*, 4H); 1.41–1.62 (*m*, 3H); 1.73 (*s*, 3H); 1.74 (s, 3H); 2.26–2.29 (m, 1H); 2.55–2.60 (tt, J=11.8, 3.0 Hz, 1H); 3.85–3.91 (m, 1H); 4.60 (s, 1H); 7.06–7.09 (td, J=5.5, 1.5 Hz, 1H); 7.48–7.50 (*dd*, J=8.0, 1.5 Hz, 1H); 7.55–7.57 (*dd*, J=8.5, 3.5 Hz, 2H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (125 MHz): 26.3 (t); 26.7 (t); 26.8 (q); 27.9 (t); 28.3 (q); 34.9 (t); 43.3 (d); 48.1 (d); 49.7 (d); 104.7 (s); 126.3 (s); 127.9 (d); 128.1 (*d*); 132.4 (*d*); 133.2 (*d*); 135.7 (*s*); 164.5 (*s*); 165.6 (*s*). MS: 414; 412 (M<sup>+</sup>, 7), 334 (14), 293 (14), 270 (40), 268 (39), 190 (53), 167 (71), 149 (95), 139 (15), 129 (21), 123 (77), 112 (14), 110 (28), 109 (19), 108 (18), 95 (44), 91 (14), 85 (16), 81 (99), 80 (20), 79 (28), 71 (38), 70 (22), 67 (24), 59 (20), 58 (100), 57 (46), 55 (88). HR-MS: 414.0322  $(C_{18}H_{21}O_4S^{81}Br^+; \text{ calc. } 414.0324); 412.0365 (C_{18}H_{21}O_4-C_{18}H_{21}O_4 \hat{S}^{79}\hat{B}r^+$ ; calc. 412.0344). Enantiomer separation by HPLC (Chiracel OF; hexane/isopropanol 19:1, 0.1 mL/min.  $\tau_1 =$ 53.3 (major),  $\tau_2 = 56.4$  min).

4.5.3. 5-[trans-2-(2-Chloro-6-methylphenyl-sulfanyl)cyclohexyl]-2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxane-4,6-dione (6c). Chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, AcOEt/pentane 1:9) afforded 6c (515 mg, 56%) as colorless solid. MP102-104 °C.  $[\alpha]_D^{22} = +14$  (c=1.03, CHCl<sub>3</sub>) for 60% ee. IR (CHCl<sub>3</sub>): 2923m, 2843w, 1770m, 1744s, 1378w, 1302s, 1207m, 945m, 790s. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 1.24–1.37 (*m*, 4H); 1.66–1.72 (*m*, 3H); 1.74 (*s*, 3H); 1.78 (*s*, 3H); 2.01–2.06 (*m*, 1H); 2.61–2.63 (*m*, 1H); 3.75–3.81 (*m*, 1H); 4.55 (*s*, 1H); 7.12–7.17 (*m*, 2H); 7.28–7.30 (*dd*, J = 11.9, 1.8 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (125 MHz): 25.6 (t); 26.65 (t); 26.67 (q); 27.8 (t); 28.3 (q); 31.7 (q); 34.8 (t); 44.0 (d); 48.0 (d); 51.3 (d); 104.6 (s); 127.8 (d); 128.5 (s); 129.0 (d); 131.5 (d); 141.2 (s); 145.7 (*s*); 164.0 (*s*); 165.5 (*s*). MS: 384;382 (M<sup>+</sup>, 4), 240 (25), 239 (13), 238 (67), 167 (75), 166 (36), 158 (41), 149 (66), 138 (34), 123 (86), 95 (40), 93 (23), 91 (21), 81 (100), 80 (28), 79 (41), 67 (25), 59 (26), 58 (72), 57 (26), 55 (82), 81 (100), 80 (28), 79 (41), 67 (25), 59 (26), 58 (72), 57 (26), 55 (82), 53 (24). HR-MS 384.0965 ( $C_{19}H_{23}O_4S^{37}Cl^+$ ; calc. 384.0976); 382.0999 ( $C_{19}H_{23}O_4S^{35}Cl^+$ ; calc. 382.1006). Enantiomer separation by HPLC (Chiracel OF, hexane/ isopropanol 19:1, 0.2 mL/min.  $\tau_1 = 18.8$  (major),  $\tau_2 =$ 24.2 min).

4.5.4. trans-5-[2-(2,6-Dichlorophenylsulfanyl)-cyclohexyl]-2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxane-4,6-dione (7d). Chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, AcOEt/pentane 1:4) afforded 7d (33 mg, 9% as colorless semi-solid.  $\left[\alpha\right]_{D}^{25} = +31$  (c=0.7, CHCl<sub>3</sub>) for 34% ee. IR (CHCl<sub>3</sub>): 2923m, 2843w, 1770m, 1744s, 1378w, 1302s, 1207m, 945m, 790s. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 1.24–1.42 (*m*, 4H); 1.48–1.58 (*m*, 3H); 1.73 (*s*, 3H); 1.79 (s, 3H); 2.28-2.33 (m, 1H); 2.59-2.65 (m, 1H); 3.89-3.94 (m, 1H); 4.68 (s, br, 1H); 7.16-7.19 (m, 1H); 7.37-7.39 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (125 MHz): 25.6 (*t*); 26.66 (*t*); 26.68 (q); 27.8 (t); 28.3 (q); 34.9 (t); 44.0 (d); 48.0 (d); 51.3 (d); 104.6 (s); 128.5 (s); 128.8 (d); 129.9 (d); 131.1 (s); 132.3 (s); 141.2 (s); 145.7 (s); 164.0 (s); 165.5 (s). MS: 402;404 (M<sup>+</sup>, <1), 356 (12), 293 (14), 260 (24), 258 (35), 179 (10), 177 (14), 167 (32), 150 (11), 149 (100), 142 (16), 127 (17), 123 (33), 95 (21), 85 (18), 81 (51), 80 (11), 79 (14), 70 (17), 58 (543), 57 (38), 55 (31). HR-MS: 402.0448  $(C_{18}H_{20}O_4^{35}Cl_2^+; \text{ calcd } 402.0459); 404.0430 (C_{18}H_{20}O_4^-)$  $S^{35}Cl^{37}Cl^+$ ; calc. 404.0430). Enantiomer separation by HPLC (Chiracel OF, hexane/isopropanol 19:1, 0.2 mL/ min.;  $\tau_1 = 22.2$ , (major),  $\tau_2 = 28.8$  min).

4.5.5. 5-[2-(trans-2-Methoxyphenylsulfanyl)-cyclohexyl]-2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxane-4,6-dione (6e). Chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, AcOEt/pentane 1:9) afforded **6e** (43 mg, 13%) as colorless solid, mp 105–107 °C.  $[\alpha]_D^{25} = +3.7$  (*c*=1.00, CHCl<sub>3</sub>) for 20% ee. IR (CHCl<sub>3</sub>): 2915w, 2867w, 1743m, 1586s, 1412m, 1294s, 940m, 743s. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 1.25–1.41 (*m*, 4H); 1.52–1.66 (*m*, 3H); 1.75 (3H); 1.84 (s, 3H); 2.16–2.23 (m, 1H); 2.31–2.36 (m, 1H); 3.60– 3.65 (m, 1H); 3.80 (s, 3H); 5.28 (s, br, 1H); 6.87-6.93 (m, 2H); 7.29–7.32 (*dd*, *J*=8.2, 1.8 Hz, 1H); 7.45–7.47 (*dd*, *J*= 7.6, 1.8 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (125 MHz): 25.7 (*t*); 26.3 (*t*); 26.7 (t); 27.3 (t); 26.4 (q); 34.7 (t); 42.5 (d); 48.6 (d); 55.8 (d); 60.3 (q); 104.5 (s); 110.8 (d); 110.8 (d); 119.6 (s); 121.0(d); 128.8 (d); 137.0 (d); 133.2 (d); 135.7 (s); 159.7(s); 164.3 (s); 165.8 (s). MS: 364 (M<sup>+</sup>, 14), 220 (24), 167 (11),149 (10), 140 (100), 123 (31), 95 (22), 81 (27), 79 (12), 77 (19), 67 (14), 65 (10), 58 (34), 53 (11). HR-MS: 364.1313  $(C_{19}H24_04S^+; calcd 364.1345)$ . Enantiomer separation by HPLC (Chiracel OF, hexane/isopropanol 19:1, 0.2 mL/ min.;  $\tau_1 = 34.6$  (major),  $\tau_2 = 37.5$  min).

4.5.6. 5-[trans-2-(2-Fluorophenylsulfanyl) cyclohexyl]-2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxane-4,6-dione (6e). Chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, AcOEt/pentane 20:80) afforded **6e** (116 mg, 36%) as colorless solid, mp 103 °C.  $[\alpha]_D^{25} = +0.8 \ (c = 1.00, \text{ CHCl}_3)$ for 6% ee. IR (CHCl<sub>3</sub>): 2932m, 2856w, 1780m, 1744s, 1382w, 1297s, 1207m. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 1.37-1.41 (*m*, 2H); 1.56–1.62 (*m*, 2H); 1.69–1.72 (*m*, 3H); 1.76 (*s*, 3H); 1.83 (s, 3H); 2.23–2.25 (m, 1H); 2.34–2.38 (m, 1H); 3.85-3.91 (m, 1H); 5.01 (s, 1H); 7.07-7.13 (m, 2H); 7.30-7.35 (*m*, 1H); 7.47–7.50 (*td*, J=7.6, 1.8 Hz, 1H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (125 MHz): 25.6 (*t*); 26.5 (*q*); 26.7 (*t*); 27.5 (*t*); 28.4 (*q*); 35.1 (*t*); 42.7 (*d*); 48.2 (*d*); 50.1 (*d*); 104.7 (*s*); 116.1 (*s*); 124.5 (d); 130.6 (d); 130.7 (d); 137.3 (d); 162.0 (s); 164.0 (s); 164.3 (s). MS: 352 (M<sup>+</sup>, 3), 209 (18), 208 (100), 167 (63), 149 (39), 139 (16), 128 (26), 123 (69), 95 (37), 83 (15), 81 (91), 89 (19), 79 (25), 67 (21), 59 (17), 58 (20), 57 (14), 55 (70). Enantiomer separation by HPLC (Chiracel OF, hexane/isopropanol 19:1, 0.2 mL/min.;  $\tau_1 = 26.4$  (major),  $\tau_2 = 28.8$  min).

#### 4.6. Conversion of 6a with N,N-dimethyliminium iodide

4.6.1. Methyl 2-[trans-2-(phenylsulfanyl) cyclohexyl] acrylate (7). To 6a (240 mg, 0.72 mmol) in MeOH (10 mL) was added, with stirring, N,N-dimethyliminium iodide (1.80 mmol) at room temperature. The mixture was heated to reflux overnight. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo, and the residue was dissolved in Et<sub>2</sub>O (10 mL). The organic layer was washed successively with NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (10 mL), KHSO<sub>4</sub> (10%, 10 mL), and satd NaCl (20 mL), dried (MgSO<sub>4</sub>) and concentrated. The oily residue ws purified by chromatography (Si<sub>2</sub>, AcOEt/pentane 1:4) to afford 7 (193 mg, 97%) as yellow oil.  $[\alpha]_D^{25} = -4.7$  (c=0.5, CHCl<sub>3</sub>) for 50% ee. IR (CHCl<sub>3</sub>): 2933m, 1746s, 1448m, 1300s, 1206m, 993w, 750m. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHZ, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 1.28-1.40 (m, 4H); 1.68-1.72 (m, 2H); 1.79-1.83 (m, 1H); 2.05-2.09 (m, 1H); 2.51-2.58 (m, 1H); 3.24-3.30 (m, 1H); 3.75 (s, 3H); 5.65 (s, 1H); 6.24 (s, 1H); 7.24–7.26 (m, 1H); 7.27–7.30 (*m*, 2H); 7.36–7.38 (*m*, 2H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (125 MHz): 26.0 (t); 26.5 (t); 34.2 (t); 34.8 (t); 46.6 (d); 50.6(d); 51.7(q); 125.4(t); 126.8(d); 128.6(d); 132.7(d); 134.7 (s); 143.4 (s); 167.2 (s). MS: 276 (M<sup>+</sup>, 31), 167 (69), 166 (13), 136 (14), 135 (100), 117 (15), 110 (36), 109 (15), 107 (76), 91 (26), 81 (15), 79 (52), 77 (18), 67 (17), 65 (17), 59 (14), 53 (12). HR-MS: 276.1174 ( $C_{16}H_{20}O_2S^+$ ; calcd 276.1184). Enantiomer separation by HPLC (Chiracel OF, hexane/isopropanol 19:1, 0.2 mL/min.;  $\tau_1 = 10.0$  (major),  $\tau_2 = 11.0$  min).

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (Projects No. 20-52581.97 and 2027-048156). Support and sponsorship concerted by COST Action D24 'Sustainable Chemical Processes: Stereoselective Transition Metal-Catalysed Reactions' are kindly acknowledged. The authors are indebted to A. Pinto and J.-P. Saulnier for the NMR spectra, and D. Klink for the mass spectra.

#### **References and notes**

- (a) Hodgson, D. M.; Gibbs, A. R.; Lee, G. P. *Tetrahedron* 1996, 52, 14361–14384. (b) Jacobsen, E. N.; Wu, M. H. In *Comprehensive Asymmetric Catalysis*; Jacobsen, E. N., Pfaltz, A., Yamamoto, H., Eds.; Springer: New York, 1999. (c) Cole, M. B.; Shimizu, K. D.; Krueger, C. A.; Harrity, J. P.; Snapper, M. L.; Hoveyda, A. H. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* 1996, 35, 1668–1671. (d) Shimizu, K. D.; Cole, M. B.; Krueger, C. A.; Kuntz, K. W.; Snapper, M. L.; Hoveyda, A. H. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* 1997, 36, 1704–1797. (e) Oguni, N.; Miyagi, Y.; Itoh, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1998, 39, 9023–9026. (f) Schaus, S. E.; Jacobsen, E. N. *Org. Lett.* 2000, 2, 1001–1004.
- (a) Hayashi, M.; Ono, K.; Hoshimi, H.; Oguni, N. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. **1994**, 2699–2700. (b) Hayashi, M.; Ono, K.; Hoshimi, H.; Oguni, N. Tetrahedron **1996**, 52, 7817–7820. (c) Li, Z.; Fernández, M.; Jacobsen, E. N. Org. Lett. **2000**, 2, 1001–1004.
- 3. (a) Danishefsky, S.; Rovnyak, G. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40,

114–115. (b) Danishefsky, S.; Singh, R. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
1975, 97, 3239–3241. (c) Danishefsky, S.; Singh, R. K. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 3807–3808. (d) McKinney, M. A.; Kremer, K. G.; Aicher, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1984, 25, 5477–5480.

- 4. (a) Danishefsky, S. Acc. Chem. Res. 1979, 12, 66–72.
  (b) Livinghouse, T.; Stevens, R. V. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1978, 754–756.
- 5. Troxler, T.; Scheffold, R. Helv. Chim. Acta 1994, 77, 1193–1202.
- (a) da-Zhang, Z.; Scheffold, R. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1993**, *76*, 2602–2615.
   (b) Su, H.; Walder, L.; da-Zhang, Z.; Scheffold, R. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1988**, *71*, 1073–1078.
- 7. (a) Müller, P.; Nury, P. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 2001, 84, 662–667.
  (b) Müller, P.; Nury, P. *Org. Lett.* 1999, *1*, 439–441.
- (a) Harsen, K. B.; Leighton, J. L.; Carsten, D. H.; Jacobsen, E. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1995**, 117, 5897–5898. (b) Iida, T.; Yamamoto, N.; Sasai, H.; Shibasaki, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1997**, 118, 4783–4784. (c) McCleland, B. W.; Nugent, W. A.; Finn, M. G. J. Org. Chem. **1998**, 63, 6656–6666.
- (a) Ohishi, J. Synthesis 1980, 690–691. (b) Musso, H. Chem. Ber. 1968, 101, 3710–3720. (c) Danishefsky, S.; Singh, R. K. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 2969–2970.
- Müller, P.; Allenbach, Y.; Robert, E. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2003, 14, 779–785.
- 11. Tomioka, K. Synthesis 1990, 541-549.
- (a) Nishimura, K.; Ono, M.; Nagakoa, Y.; Tomioka, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 12974–12975. (b) Doi, H.; Sakai, T.; Iguchi, M.; Yamada, K.; Tomioka, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 2886–2887. (c) Tomioka, K.; Nishimura, K. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 8199–8203.
- 13. Bordwell, F. G. Acc. Chem. Res. 1988, 21, 456-463.
- Nakamura, S.; Hirao, T.; Ohwada, T. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 4309–4316.
- Hin, B.; Majer, P.; Tsukamoto, T. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 7365–7368.
- 16. Riegert, D., Ph. D. thesis, University of Geneva, 2004.
- 17. (a) Okuda, M.; Tomioka, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35,

4585–4586. (b) Inoue, I.; Shindo, M.; Koga, K.; Kanal, M.; Tomioka, K. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1995**, *6*, 2527–2533. (c) Hussein, M. A.; Iida, A.; Tomioka, K. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 11219–11228. (d) Doi, H.; Sakai, T.; Iguchi, M.; Yamada, K.; Tomioka, K. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125*, 2886–2887.

- (a) Hiemstra, H.; Wynberg, H. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 417–430. (b) Davies, J.; Jones, J. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 5405–5410.
- (a) Shiori, T.; Arai, S. In *Stimulating Concepts in Chemistry*; Vögtle, F., Stoddart, J. F., Shibasaki, M., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinham, 2000; pp 124–143. (b) O'Donnel, M. J. In *Catalytic Asymmetric Synthesis*; Ojima, I., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: NewYork, 2000. (c) O'Donnell, M. J. *Aldrichimica Acta* **2001**, *34*, 3.
- (a) Ooi, T.; Takeuchi, M.; Kameda, M.; Maruoka, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 5228–5229. (b) Lygo, B.; Wainwright, P. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 8595–8598. (c) Park, H.-G.; Jeong, B.-S.; Yoo, M.-S.; Lee, J.-H.; Park, B.-S.; Kim, M. G.; Jew, S.-S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 3497–3500.
- 21. Müller, P.; Nury, P. Helv. Chim. Acta 2001, 84, 662-677.
- 22. Correa, A.; Denis, J.-N.; Greene, A. E. Syn. Commun. 1991, 21, 1–9.
- Davies, S. G.; Coole, S.; Goodfellow, C. L.; Sulton, K. H.; Middlemiss, D.; Naylor, A. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 1990, *1*, 817–842.
- Ammurio, D.; Khan, K.; Kuendig, E. P. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 2258–2259.
- (a) Modin, S. A.; Andersson, P. G. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 6736–6738.
   (b) Vecchietti, V.; Giordani, A.; Giardina, G.; Clarke, G. D. J. Med. Chem. 1991, 34, 397–401.
- Manganey, P.; Grosjean, F.; Alexakis, A.; Norman, J. F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 2675–2676.
- (a) Müller, P.; Nury, P.; Bernardinelli, G. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2001**, 4137–4147. (b) Jiang, Y.-Z.; Qin, Y.; Mi, A.-Q.; Wu, L.-J. *Chin. J. Chem.* **1996**, *14*, 74–79.
- Tong, P.-E.; Li, P.; Chan, A. S. C. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2001, *12*, 2301–2304.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4381-4393

# Palladium-catalyzed cyclization reactions of propargylic carbonates with nucleophiles: a methodology for the syntheses of substituted 2,3-dihydrofurans and benzofurans

Masahiro Yoshida,\* Yukio Morishita, Mika Fujita and Masataka Ihara\*

Department of Organic Chemistry, Graduate School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Tohoku University, Aobayama, Sendai 980-8578, Japan

Received 8 February 2005; revised 28 February 2005; accepted 28 February 2005

Available online 18 March 2005

**Abstract**—Phenoxy-substituted 2,3-dihydrofurans were synthesized by the palladium-catalyzed reaction of 5-methoxycarbonyloxy-3-pentyn-1-ol with phenols. The propargylic carbonate containing a nucleophilic phenoxy group also reacted in the presence of palladium to produce the product. The reaction of 1-(2-hydroxyphenyl)-3-methoxycarbonyloxy-1-propyne with 2-methyl-1,3-cyclohexanedione or 2-methyl-1,3-cyclohexanedione yielded the substituted benzofurans. The propargylic compound having a acetoxy group as a leaving group exhibited similar reactivity.

© 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### **1. Introduction**

The reactions of propargylic compounds with palladium catalysts have received much attention due to their versatile and specific reactivity, and extensive studies of these have now been attempted.<sup>1</sup> Palladium-catalyzed reaction of propargylic carbonates with nucleophiles is one of the most successful chemical processes that have been developed.<sup>2,3</sup> The reaction can be normally carried out under neutral conditions, and a number of various complex molecules can be prepared by specific substrate design. Based upon our knowledge of these reactions, we have recently developed the cascade reaction of propargylic carbonates, containing a hydroxyl group at the propargylic position, with phenols (Scheme 1).<sup>4</sup> During the reactions,





Keywords: Palladium; Cyclization; Dihydrofurans; Phenols.

\* Corresponding authors. Fax: +81 22 2176877;

e-mail: mihara@mail.pharm.tohoku.ac.jp

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02.077

the initially formed  $\pi$ -propargylpalladium species are subjected to the nucleophilic attack of phenols leading to the  $\pi$ -allylpalladium intermediate, and then cyclization via the fixation of the resulting CO<sub>2</sub> produces the phenoxysubstituted cyclic carbonates. To examine the scope of the reactivity of hydroxyl-substituted propargylic compounds with nucleophiles, we have focused on the propargylic



Scheme 2.

compound 1 which has a hydroxyl group at the homopropargylic position (Scheme 2). When the substrate 1 is subjected to the reaction with nucleophile in the presence of palladium catalyst, the corresponding  $\pi$ -propargylpalladium complex 3 would be initially formed. There would be two possible pathways from 3, one is the intermolecular attack of a nucleophile leading to 5, and the other is the intramolecular attack of the resulting hydroxy ion to give cyclized intermediate 4. Herein, we describe a palladium-catalyzed reaction of propargylic carbonates, possessing a homopropargylic hydroxyl group, with nucleophiles.<sup>5</sup>

### 2. Results and discussion

The substrates 1a-g for the palladium-catalyzed reactions were synthesized as follows (Scheme 3). The aldehyde 6

having a p-methoxybenzyloxy (MPM) group was subjected to the Corey-Fuchs reaction to afford the propargylic alcohol 7a. Reaction of 7a with methyl chloroformate followed by deprotection of MPM group in the presence of 2,3-dichloro-5,6-dicyano-1,4-benzoquinone (DDQ) and  $H_2O$  gave a propargylic carbonate **1a**. To synthesize substrates containing a substituent at the propargylic position, oxidation of 7a and the subsequent addition of methyl lithium yielded a methyl-substituted propargylic alcohol 7b. According to the same procedure for 1a, 7b was converted to the methyl-substituted propargylic carbonate 1b in 2 steps. Similarly, the substrates 1c and 1d having a pentyl and a phenyl group were obtained, respectively, from 7a. The substrate 1e, which has no substituent at the propargylic position, was also synthesized from 7e. For the preparation of the substrate **1f** having a cyclohexane ring, cyclohexene oxide 9 was subjected to the reaction with tetrahydro-2-(2-propynyloxy)-2H-pyran followed by



deprotection of THP group to afford diol **10**. The diol **10** was selectively transformed to the propargylic carbonate **1f**. To test the internal reaction, *p*-methoxyphenyl (PMP) carbonate **1g** was synthesized from **7a** with PMP chloroformate.

Our initial attempt at the palladium-catalyzed reactions began with **1a** and *p*-methoxyphenol (**2a**) (Table 1). When **1a** was subjected to the reaction with **2a** in the presence of 5 mol% Pd<sub>2</sub>(dba)<sub>3</sub>·CHCl<sub>3</sub> and 20 mol% 1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)ethane (dppe) in dioxane at 60 °C, the dihydrofuran **11aa** having a *p*-methoxyphenoxy group was produced in 45% yield (entry 1). Although the similar reactivity was observed in the presence of 1,3-bis(diphenylphosphino)propane (dppp) (entry 2), the yields have were increased when 1,4-bis(diphenylphosphino)butane (dppb) and 1,1'-bis(diphenylphosphino)ferrocene (dppf) were used as a ligand, respectively (entries 3 and 4). On the other hand, it was made clear that monodentate ligands P(*o*-Tol)<sub>3</sub> and PPh<sub>3</sub> were less effective for the reactions (entries 5 and 6).

Table 1. Optimization studies in the palladium-catalyzed reaction of 1a with *p*-methoxyphenol (2a)

OH OCO <sub>2</sub> Me 1a	HO-OMe 2a 5 mol % Pd <sub>2</sub> (dba) <sub>3</sub> ·CHC 20 mol % ligand dioxane, 60°C, 8-36 h	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Entry	Ligand	Yield (%) <sup>a</sup>
1	dppe	45 (61)
2	dppp	40 (45)
3	dppb	74
4	dppf	84
5	P(o-Tol) <sub>3</sub>	N.R.
6 <sup>b</sup>	PPh <sub>3</sub>	15 (28)

PMP = p-methoxyphenyl.

<sup>a</sup> The yields in parentheses are based on recovered starting material.

<sup>b</sup> 10 mol% Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> was used as a palladium catalyst.

The structure of the resulting product **11aa** was determined by the transformation to the known compound  $12^6$ (Scheme 4). Thus, catalytic hydrogenation of **11aa**, followed by the removal of a *p*-methoxyphenyl group with CAN produced compound **12**.





A plausible mechanism for the formation of the dihydrofuran **11** is shown in Scheme 5. In this process, the palladium catalyst initially promotes decarboxylation of a propargylic carbonate **1** to generate the allenylpalladium complex **13**. Species **13** is regarded as the  $\pi$ -propargylpalladium complex **3**,<sup>7</sup> which undergoes intramolecular nucleophilic attack<sup>7d</sup> by the resulting internal hydroxide to produce the  $\pi$ -allylpalladium intermediate **4**. Finally, regioselective addition of phenoxide to **4** at the less



Scheme 5.

hindered site produces dihydrofuran  $11.^{8}$  As another possible pathway, the initial reaction of the phenoxide with the  $\pi$ -propargyl complex **3** followed by the cyclization of the resulting  $\pi$ -allyl complex **5** could yield dihydropyran  $14.^{9}$  but no formation of 14 was observed.

To examine the scope of this reaction, various substituted phenols were used as the nucleophiles (Table 2). The corresponding dihydrofurans **11ab–11ad** formed in high yields when phenols bearing an electron donating group **2b–2d** reacted with propargylic carbonate **1a** (entries 1–3). Reactions of phenol (**2e**) and 1-naphthol (**2f**) also produced the corresponding products **11ae** and **11af** in good yields (entries 4 and 5). Dihydrofurans **11ag–11ai** were obtained in acceptable yields by the reactions employing an electron withdrawing group substituted phenols **2g–2i** (entries 6–8).

Table 2. Reactions of propargylic carbonate 1a with various phenols 2b-2i

OH 1a	OCO <sub>2</sub> Me 5 mol % Pd <sub>2</sub> (c 20 mol % dppt 60 °C, 14-21 h	R 2b-2i Iba)₃•CHCl₃ 5, dioxane	OAr 11ab-ai
Entry	ArOH	Product	Yield (%) <sup>a</sup>
1	<b>2b</b> : R=2-OMe	11ab	83
2	2c: R = 4-Me	11ac	76
3	<b>2d</b> : $R = 2,4,6$ -trimethyl	11ad	76
4	<b>2e</b> : R=H	11ae	82
5	<b>2f</b> : 1-naphthol	11af	64
6	2g: R = 4-Cl	11ag	70
7	$2\mathbf{\tilde{h}}$ : R=4-F	11ah	43 (55)
8	<b>2i</b> : R=4-acetyl	11ai	61

<sup>a</sup> The yields in parentheses are based on recovered starting material.

<b>Table 3.</b> Reactions of various propa	rgylic carbonates	1b–1d with	<i>p</i> -methoxyphenol <b>2a</b> <sup>a</sup>
--	-------------------	------------	--

Entry	Substrate	Product	Yield (%)	
1 <sup>b</sup>	$\overset{OH}{\longleftarrow} \overset{OCO_2Me}{1b}$		64	
2 <sup>b</sup>	$ \overset{OH}{\longleftarrow} \overset{OCO_2Me}{\bigvee}_{Pen} $		71	
3°	$ \overset{OH}{\longleftarrow} \overset{OCO_2Me}{\bigvee}_{Ph} $ 1d	Ph OPMP 11da	66	

<sup>a</sup> Reactions were carried out in the presence of 5 mol% Pd<sub>2</sub>(dba)<sub>3</sub>·CHCl<sub>3</sub>, 20 mol% ligand, and 1.1 equiv of *p*-methoxyphenol **2a** in dioxane at 60 °C for 12–24 h.

<sup>b</sup> dppf was used as a ligand.

<sup>c</sup> dppb was used as a ligand.

The results of the reactions of propargylic carbonates **1b–1d**, possessing various substituents at the propargylic position, with *p*-methoxyphenol (**2a**) were summarized in Table 3. The methyl substituted compound **1b** underwent the reaction that formed the dihydrofuran **11ba** in 64% yield (entry 1). Reactions of pentyl- and phenyl-substituted substrates **1c** and **1d** also afforded the corresponding products **11ca** and **11da** in 71 and 66% yields, respectively (entries 2 and 3). These results show that the regioselective addition of phenol can proceed even in the presence of a bulky substituent at the propargylic position.

The reaction of propargylic carbonate **1e** having no substituent at the 2-position was then examined (Table 4). When the palladium-catalyzed reaction of **1e** with *p*-methoxyphenol (**2a**) was carried out in the presence of dppf at 60 °C, the corresponding product **11ea** was produced in 33% yield. It was found that the yield was slightly increased by carrying out the reaction at 50 °C (entry 2). Although bidentate ligands such as dppe, dppp and dppb were not effective (entries 3–5), the yield was improved to 47% by using Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> as the catalyst (entry 6).<sup>10</sup>

Table 4. Palladium-catalyzed reaction of unsubstituted substrate 1e with 2a

( <sup>ОН</sup>	_OCO <sub>2</sub> Me -	HO-OMe 5 mol % Pd <sub>2</sub> (dba) <sub>3</sub> ·CHCl <sub>3</sub> 20 mol % ligand	
1e		dioxane, 4-17 h	11ea
Entry	Ligand	Temperature (°C)	Yield (%)
1	dppf	60	33
2	dppf	50	39
3	dppe	50	11
4	dppp	50	30
5	dppb	50	36
6 <sup>a</sup>	PPh <sub>3</sub>	50	47

<sup>a</sup> 10 mol% Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> was used as a palladium catalyst.

We next examined the reaction of the substrate **1f** carrying a cyclohexane ring (Table 5). The substrate **1f** reacted with *p*-methoxyphenol (**2a**) in the presence of palladium catalyst with dppf to give the *trans*-fused bicyclic product **11fa** in 46% yield (entry 1). The low yield would reflect the difficulties to construct the strained *trans*-product **11fa**. The similar results were observed by the reactions using dppb and PPh<sub>3</sub> (entries 2 and 3).

Table 5. Palladium-catalyzed reaction of cyclic substrate 1f with 2a



	8		
1	dppf	46	
2	dppb	31	
3 <sup>a</sup>	PPh <sub>3</sub>	44	

<sup>a</sup> 10 mol% Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> was used as a palladium catalyst.

The reaction of **1g**, possessing a latent nucleophilic *p*-methoxyphenolic moiety as a part of the carbonate leaving group, was then examined (Scheme 6). When **1g** was subjected to the palladium catalyzed reaction, the corresponding dihydrofuran **11aa** was provided in 73% yield. On this reaction, the substrate initially releases the phenoxide, which then acts as a nucleophile for the resulting  $\pi$ -allyl complex to produce the product.



Scheme 6.



Scheme 7.





Table 6. Palladium-catalyzed reaction of 1h with 2-methyl-1,3-cyclohexanedione 2j



<sup>a</sup> 10 mol% Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> was used as a palladium catalyst.

<sup>b</sup> 40 mol% ligand was used.

Our next attention was turned to the reactivity of the phenolsubstituted propargylic compounds since the formation of the substituted benzofurans was anticipated (Scheme 7). It was expected that the substituted benzofurans can be synthesized from the reaction of the substrates with nucelophiles. Preparation of the substrates was carried out as follows (Scheme 8). The Sonogashira reaction of silylprotected iodophenol **15** with propargylalcohol yielded the coupled product **16**, whose reaction with methyl chloroformate followed by desilylation with TBAF lead to the propargylic carbonate **1h**. To examine the reactivity of acetoxy group as a leaving group, the propargylic acetate **1i** was prepared from **16** in two steps. Initial attempts for the reactions of **1h** with various phenols failed, because the reactive phenolic hydroxy group would also act as an additional nucleophile leading to the formation of polymerized products. However, we were delighted that the reaction successfully proceeded when 2-methyl-1,3-cyclohexanedione 2j was used as a nucleophile (Table 6). The reaction of **1h** with **2j** in the presence of 5 mol% Pd<sub>2</sub>(dba)<sub>3</sub>·CHCl<sub>3</sub> and 20 mol% dppe in dioxane at 60 °C was carried out, the substituted benzofuran 11hj was obtained in 55% yield (entry 1). The reactions using other bidentate ligands were also effective (entries 2–6), and the vield was improved to 85% when 1,5-bis(diphenylphosphino)pentane (dpppentane) was employed (entry 4). Furthermore, it was clear that the monodentate ligands also catalyzed the reactions (entries 7–9).<sup>10</sup> The best yield was obtained by the reaction using  $P(OPr^{i})_{3}$  (87% yield in entry 9).

The reactions of **1h** with 1,3-cyclopentanedione **2k** were next examined (Table 7). When **1h** was subjected to the palladium-catalyzed reaction with **2k**, the corresponding benzofuran **11hk** was obtained (entry 1). Although the yield was not high in the presence of dpppentane and P(OPr<sup>*i*</sup>)<sub>3</sub> (26 and 40% yields in entries 1 and 2), the desired product was produced in 87% yield by the reaction with dppf (entry 3).

We also attempted the reaction using dimethyl malonate (2l) as a nucleophile (Scheme 9). Interestingly, when 2l was used for the reaction with 1h, *O*-alkylated benzofuran 11hl was obtained in 83% yield. The *O*-alkylated structure was determined by the hydrolysis of the product to form a known benzofuran-2-yl methanol (17). It was expected that in this case the reaction would proceed via the regioselective addition at the oxygen atom to the  $\pi$ -allyl complex 18 and the hydrolysis of the resulting enol ether 19 during the workup. It is not clear why the unusual *O*-alkylation occurs prior to the *C*-alkylation, and several examples concerning the regioselective *O*-alkylation of malonates to  $\pi$ -allyl-palladium complexes have been previously reported.<sup>11</sup>

Table 7. Palladium-catalyzed reaction of 1h with 2-methyl-1,3-cyclopentanedione 2k

GH CH CH CH CH CH CH CH CH CH CH CH CH CH	CO <sub>2</sub> Me 5 mol % Pd <sub>2</sub> (dba) <sub>3</sub> ·CHCl 20 mol % ligand dioxane, 60°C, 1	$\frac{2k}{3} \qquad 11hk$
Entry	Ligand	Yield (%) <sup>a</sup>
1 2 <sup>b</sup>	dpppentane $P(OPr^i)_3$	26 40 (49)

87

<sup>a</sup> The yields in parentheses are based on recovered starting material.

dppf

<sup>b</sup> 40 mol% ligand was used.

3



#### Scheme 9.

Finally, the reaction of **1i**, having a propargylic acetoxy group as a leaving group, was investigated (Scheme 10). When the palladium-catalyzed reaction of **1i** with **2j** was performed, the desired product **11hj** was produced in 79% yield. The result shows that the acetoxy group was also effective as a leaving group in the reaction.





### 3. Conclusion

In conclusion, we have developed a methodology for the synthesis of substituted 2,3-dihydrofurans and benzofurans using a palladium catalyst. The reactions of propargylic compounds having a hydroxyl group at the homopropargylic position with nucleophiles produce a variety of dihydrofurans and benzofurans in one step. Recently, much attention has been paid to the synthesis of natural products containing these furan rings, which exhibit potentially very interesting biological activities.<sup>12</sup> Our process could, therefore, provide an efficient protocol for production of these molecules. Efforts to extend the scope of these reactions and their consequent application to the syntheses of natural products are currently in progress.

### 4. Experimental

### 4.1. General

All nonaqueous reactions were carried out under a positive atmosphere of argon or nitrogen in dried glassware unless otherwise indicated. Materials were obtained from commercial suppliers and used without further purification except when otherwise noted. Solvents were dried and distilled according to standard protocols. The phrase 'residue upon workup' refers to the residue obtained when the organic layer was separated and dried over anhydrous MgSO<sub>4</sub> and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure. Compounds 6,<sup>13</sup>  $7e^{14}$  and  $15^{15}$  were prepared according to the literature methods. All new compounds were determined to be >95% pure by <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectroscopy.

4.1.1. 5-(4-Methoxybenzyloxy)-4,4-dimethyl-2-pentyn-1ol (7a). To a stirred solution of PPh<sub>3</sub> (39.4 g, 150.2 mmol) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (100 mL) was added CBr<sub>4</sub> (24.9 g, 75.1 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was allowed to warm to rt. After stirring was continued for 30 min, a solution of the aldehyde 6 (5.56 g, 25.0 mmol) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (50 mL) was added to the mixture at 0 °C, and stirring was continued for 7 h at rt. The resulting mixture was quenched with saturated aqueous NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and extracted with AcOEt. The combined extracts were washed with brine, and the residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEthexane (15:85 v/v) as eluent to give dibromide (8.0 g, 21.2 mmol, 85%) as a colorless oil. To a stirred solution of the dibromide (3.58 g, 9.46 mmol) in THF (60 mL) was added dropwise BuLi (13.2 mL, 1.59 M in hexane solution, 20.6 mmol) at -78 °C. After stirring was continued for 1 h at the same temperature, and for an additional 1 h at rt, to the reaction mixture was added paraformaldehyde (442 mg, 14.7 mmol) at -78 °C. The mixture was allowed to warm to rt over a period of 2 h, and then stirred for 10 h at the same temperature. The reaction mixture was diluted with water and extracted with AcOEt. The residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt-hexane (30:70 v/v) as eluent to give propargylic alcohol 7a (2.30 g, 9.27 mmol, 98%) as a colorless oil;  $R_f = 0.28$  (AcOEthexane = 3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.21 (s, 6H), 2.04 (br s, 1H), 3.27 (s, 2H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 4.23 (s, 2H), 4.53 (s, 2H), 6.88 (dt, J = 8.4, 3.0 Hz, 2H), 7.27 (dt, J = 8.4, 3.0 Hz, 2H);  ${}^{13}$ C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  25.9, 32.3, 51.2, 55.2, 73.0, 77.9, 78.6, 91.8, 113.8, 129.2, 130.5, 159.3; IR (neat) 3381, 2968, 2930, 2866,  $1514 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ ; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 248 [M<sup>+</sup>, 1], 247 (1), 231 (1), 217 (18), 216 (1), 200 (2), 96 (1), 81 (1), 66 (1), 52 (1); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>20</sub>O<sub>3</sub> [M<sup>+</sup>] 248.1412. Found 248.1390.

4.1.2. 1-Methoxycarbonyloxy-5-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)-4,4-dimethyl-2-pentyne (8a). To a stirred solution of propargylic alcohol 7a (2.30 g, 9.82 mmol) and pyridine (2.4 mL, 29.5 mmol) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (46 mL) was added dropwise methyl chlorocarbonate (1.0 mL, 13.0 mmol) at 0 °C, and stirring was continued for 1 h at the same temperature. The reaction mixture was diluted with water and extracted with AcOEt. The combined extracts were washed with saturated NH<sub>4</sub>Cl and brine. The residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEthexane (15:85 v/v) as eluent to give the propargylic carbonate 8a (2.65 g, 9.07 mmol, 92%) as a colorless oil;  $R_{\rm f} = 0.50$  (AcOEt-hexane = 3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.21 (s, 6H), 3.27 (s, 2H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 4.52 (s, 2H), 4.74 (s, 2H), 6.88 (d, J=7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.27 (d, J=7.8 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  25.8, 32.5, 55.0, 55.3, 56.3, 72.9, 73.4, 77.6, 93.7, 113.6, 129.0, 130.4, 155.1, 158.9; IR (neat) 2966, 2936, 2858, 1755, 1269 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) m/z (relative intensity) [306 (M<sup>+</sup>), 1], 261 (3), 231 (3), 216 (1), 200 (6), 199 (21), 185 (4), 169 (1), 138 (1), 122 (15), 94 (1), 79 (9), 64 (1), 50 (1). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>5</sub>: C, 66.65; H, 7.24. Found: C, 66.46; H, 7.11.

4.1.3. 5-Methoxycarbonyloxy-2,2-dimethyl-3-pentyn-1ol (1a). To a stirred solution of the MPM ether 8a (2.65 g, 9.07 mmol) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (50 mL) and H<sub>2</sub>O (5 mL) was added DDQ (2.47 g, 10.9 mmol) at rt. After stirring was continued for 1.5 h, the reaction mixture was diluted water, and extracted with AcOEt. The combined extracts were washed with brine, and the residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt-hexane (30:70 v/v) as eluent to give the alcohol 1a (1.67 g, 8.97 mmol, 99%) as a colorless oil;  $R_f = 0.23$  (AcOEt-hexane = 3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.20 (s, 6H), 2.35 (br s, 1H), 3.41 (s, 2H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 4.73 (s, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  25.0, 34.2, 55.0, 56.0, 71.2, 74.7, 92.8, 155.0; IR (neat) 3450, 2924, 2855, 1747, 1269 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) m/z(relative intensity)  $[155 (M-OMe)^+, 6], 185 (1), 171 (1),$ 156 (2), 154 (1), 139 (1), 127 (1), 122 (1), 111 (5), 110 (1), 95 (4), 80 (100), 65 (5), 51 (2). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>14</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 58.05; H, 7.58. Found: C, 57.83; H, 7.34.

4.1.4. 5-(4-Methoxybenzyloxy)-1,4,4-trimethyl-2-pentyn-1-ol (7b). To a stirred solution of alcohol 7a (1.76 g, 7.07 mmol) in DMSO (15 mL), triethylamine (9 mL) and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (9 mL) was added sulfur trioxide pyridine complex (4.50 g, 28.3 mmol) at rt. After stirring was continued for 19 h, the reaction mixture was diluted with water, and extracted with AcOEt. The organic layers were washed with brine, and the residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt-hexane (15:85 v/v) as eluent to give the aldehyde. To a stirred solution of the aldehyde in THF (40 mL) was added dropwise MeLi (8.8 mL, 1.20 M in Et<sub>2</sub>O solution, 10.6 mmol) at -78 °C. After stirring was continued for 1 h at the same temperature, the reaction mixture was quenched with water, and extracted with AcOEt. The combined organic layers were washed with brine, and the residue upon workup was chromatographed

on silica gel with AcOEt–hexane (15:85 v/v) as eluent to give the alcohol **7b** (1.51 g, 5.76 mmol, 82% for 2 steps) as a colorless oil;  $R_f$ =0.33 (AcOEt–hexane=3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.20 (s, 6H), 1.41 (d, *J*=6.6 Hz, 3H), 3.26 (s, 2H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 4.50 (q, *J*=6.6 Hz, 1H), 4.52 (s, 3H), 6.87 (d, *J*=8.8 Hz, 2H), 7.27 (d, *J*=8.8 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  24.7, 26.1, 32.3, 55.3, 58.5, 72.9, 82.2, 90.1, 113.6, 129.0, 130.5, 159.0; IR (neat) 3416, 2974, 2934, 2900, 2866, 2837, 1612, 1514, 1248 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m*/*z* (relative intensity) 262 [M<sup>+</sup>, 1], 261 (1), 247 (1), 245 (1), 230 (1), 217 (23), 215 (1), 163 (4), 149 (1), 137 (4), 135 (8), 122 (14), 121 (100), 106 (1), 90 (1), 79 (1), 64 (1), 50 (1); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>3</sub> [M<sup>+</sup>] 262.1569. Found 262.1531.

4.1.5. 1-Methoxycarbonyloxy-5-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)-1,4,4-trimethyl-2-pentyne (8b). By following the same procedure described for 8a, the propargylic carbonate 8b was prepared from the alcohol 7b in 95% yield on a 3.7 mmol scale; colorless oil;  $R_f = 0.60$  (AcOEt-hexane = 3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.20 (s, 6H), 1.50 (d, J=6.6 Hz, 3H), 3.28 (s, 2H), 3.78 (s, 3H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 4.52 (s, 2H), 5.34 (q, J=6.6 Hz, 1H), 6.88 (d, J=8.6, 2.4 Hz, 2H), 7.27 (d, J=8.6 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  21.9, 25.8, 32.3, 54.7, 55.2, 64.9, 72.9, 77.8, 77.9, 91.9, 113.7, 129.0, 130.6, 154.8, 159.1; IR (neat) 2966, 2934, 2856, 1765, 1747 1514, 1443, 1267 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) m/z (relative intensity) 320 [M<sup>+</sup>, 1], 245 (5), 230 (1), 217 (4), 214 (1), 213 (18), 205 (1), 199 (6), 183 (1), 151 (1), 137 (8), 136 (2), 122 (13), 121 (100), 108 (3), 106 (1), 92 (1), 90 (1), 80 (1), 56 (1), 53 (1); HRMS (EI) calcd for  $C_{18}H_{24}O_5$ [M<sup>+</sup>] 320.1624. Found 320.1657.

**4.1.6. 5-Methoxycarbonyloxy-2,2,5-trimethyl-3-pentyn-1-ol (1b).** By following the same procedure described for **1a**, the alcohol **1b** was prepared from the MPM ether **8b** in 99% yield on a 3.6 mmol scale; colorless oil;  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.28 (AcOEt–hexane=3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.19 (s, 6H), 1.51 (d, J=6.8 Hz, 3H), 2.11 (br s, 1H), 3.38 (s, 2H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 5.29 (q, J=6.6 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  21.7, 25.12, 25.14, 34.2, 54.8, 64.7, 71.4, 79.4, 90.9, 154.7; IR (neat) 3420, 2970, 2937, 2874, 1747, 1732, 1445, 1267 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 169 [(M–OMe)<sup>+</sup>, 5], 185 (1), 141 (1), 136 (1), 125 (2), 124 (1), 110 (3), 108 (2), 97 (1), 93 (39), 92 (2), 85 (1), 78 (3), 73 (1), 63 (1), 58 (1), 50 (1), 43 (8), 42 (1). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 59.98; H, 8.05. Found: C, 59.81; H, 7.89.

**4.1.7. 1-(4-Methoxybenzyloxy)-2,2-dimethyl-3-decyn-5**ol (7c). To a stirred solution of alcohol **7a** (1.11 g, 4.47 mmol) in DMSO (10 mL), triethylamine (6 mL) and  $CH_2Cl_2$  (6 mL) was added sulfur trioxide pyridine complex (2.85 g, 17.9 mmol) at rt. After the mixture was stirred for 10.5 h, to the reaction mixture was diluted with water, and extracted with AcOEt. The organic layers were washed with brine, and the residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt–hexane (15:85 v/v) as eluent to give the aldehyde. To the stirred magnesium ribbon (218 mg, 8.95 mmol) in THF (29 mL) was added *n*-amylbromide (1.18 mL, 8.95 mmol) at 0 °C. After stirring was continued for 1.5 h, the aldehyde in THF (10 mL) was added at the same temperature. After stirring was continued for 2 h, the reaction mixture was quenched with water and extracted with AcOEt. The combined organic layers were washed with brine, and the residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt-hexane (15:85 v/v) as eluent to give the alcohol 7c (912 mg, 2.86 mmol, 64%) as a colorless oil;  $R_f = 0.48$  (AcOEt-hexane=3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  0.89 (t, J=6.8 Hz, 3H), 1.12 (s, 6H), 1.29-1.34 (m, 4H), 1.36-1.42 (m, 2H), 1.59-1.68 (m, 3H), 3.26 (s, 2H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 4.32 (dd, J=11.0, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 4.52 (s, 2H), 6.87 (d, J=8.6 Hz, 2H), 7.26 (d, J=8.6 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  14.0, 22.6, 24.9, 26.1, 31.5, 32.3, 38.0, 55.2, 62.5, 72.9, 78.0, 81.5, 90.7, 113.6, 128.9, 130.4, 158.9; IR (neat) 3418, 2961, 2932, 2858, 1614, 1514, 1248 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) m/z (relative intensity) 318 [M<sup>+</sup>, 1], 301 (1), 287 (1), 286 (1), 270 (2), 244 (1), 230 (1), 217 (32), 211 (1), 197 (1), 182 (1), 167 (1), 163 (4), 138 (1), 137 (4), 122 (12), 121 (100), 110 (1), 108 (2), 107 (2), 92 (1), 91 (3), 78 (3), 66 (1), 42 (1); HRMS (EI) calcd for  $C_{20}H_{30}O_3$  [M<sup>+</sup>] 318.2195. Found 318.2174.

4.1.8. 5-Methoxycarbonyloxy-1-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)-2,2-dimethyl-3-decyne (8c). By following the same procedure described for 8a, the propargylic carbonate 8c was prepared from the alcohol 7c in 97% yield on a 2.9 mmol scale; colorless oil;  $R_f = 0.45$  (AcOEt-hexane = 2:8 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  0.88 (t, J=6.9 Hz, 3H), 1.20 (s, 6H), 1.27-1.31 (m, 4H), 1.40-1.47 (m, 2H), 1.70-1.80 (m, 2H), 3.28 (s, 2H), 3.77 (s, 3H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 4.51 (s, 2H), 5.23 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 1H), 6.85-6.88 (m, 2H), 7.25–7.27 (m, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 13.9, 22.4, 24.5, 25.8, 31.2, 31.6, 32.4, 35.1, 54.7, 55.2, 68.7, 72.9, 77.9, 92.6, 113.7, 129.0, 130.7, 155.0, 159.0; IR (neat)  $2957, 2932, 2860, 1755, 1747, 1614, 1514, 1443, 1267 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ MS (EI) *m*/*z* (relative intensity) 376 [M<sup>+</sup>, 1], 333 (1), 305 (1), 301 (10), 286 (2), 272 (1), 269 (33), 258 (1), 255 (3), 244 (7), 239 (1), 230 (2), 225 (1), 217 (12), 198 (1), 195 (1), 193 (1), 183 (1), 171 (1), 163 (1), 159 (1), 151 (1), 139 (1), 137 (9), 124 (1), 121 (100), 107 (6), 71 (1), 59 (2), 57 (1), 43 (2); HRMS (EI) calcd for  $C_{22}H_{32}O_5$  [M<sup>+</sup>] 376.2250. Found 376.2227.

4.1.9. 5-Methoxycarbonyloxy-2,2-dimethyl-3-decyn-1-ol (1c). By following the same procedure described for 1a, the alcohol 1c was prepared from the MPM ether 8c in 99% yield on a 2.8 mmol scale; colorless oil;  $R_f = 0.18$  (AcOEthexane = 2:8 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  0.89 (t, J=6.9 Hz, 3H), 1.19 (s, 6H), 1.26–1.35 (m, 4H), 1.40–1.44 (m, 2H), 1.72-1.83 (m, 2H), 2.06 (br s, 1H), 3.38 (s, 2H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 5.19 (t, J = 6.6 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 13.9, 22.4, 24.6, 25.15, 25.18, 31.2, 34.3, 34.9, 54.8, 68.6, 71.4, 78.6, 91.6, 154.9; IR (neat) 3443, 2953, 2932, 2872, 1747, 1445, 1267 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 279 [(M+Na)<sup>+</sup>, 1], 241 (1), 225 (3), 197 (1), 183 (1), 181 (2), 180 (1), 171 (1), 164 (1), 150 (100), 135 (23), 120 (1), 112 (1), 108 (9), 96 (4), 84 (1), 71 (2), 57 (4), 43 (12). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>24</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 65.60; H, 9.44. Found: C, 65.31; H, 9.27.

**4.1.10. 5-(4-Methoxybenzyloxy)-4,4-dimethyl-1-phenyl-2-pentyn-1-ol (7d).** To a stirred solution of alcohol **7a** (963 g, 3.88 mmol) in DMSO (10 mL), triethylamine (6 mL) and  $CH_2Cl_2$  (6 mL) was added sulfur trioxide pyridine complex (2.47 g, 15.5 mmol) at rt. After stirring

was continued for 10 h, the reaction mixture was diluted with water, and extracted with AcOEt. The organic layers were washed with brine, and the residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt-hexane (15:85 v/v) as eluent to give the aldehyde. To a stirred solution of the aldehyde in THF (40 mL) was added dropwise PhMgBr (5.8 mL, 1.03 M in THF solution, 5.82 mmol) at 0 °C. After stirring was continued for 2 h at the same temperature, and the reaction mixture was quenched with water and extracted with AcOEt. The combined extracts were washed with brine, and the residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt-hexane (15:85 v/v) as eluent to give the alcohol 7d (1.10 g, 3.38 mmol, 87%) as a colorless oil;  $R_{\rm f} = 0.40$  (AcOEt-hexane = 3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.24 (s, 6H), 2.44 (br s, 1H), 3.31 (s, 2H), 3.78 (s, 3H), 4.50 (s, 2H), 5.44 (s, 1H), 6.84 (dd, J =6.9, 2.0 Hz, 2H), 7.22–7.36 (m, 5H), 7.52–7.54 (m, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  26.1, 26.1, 32.6, 55.3, 64.6, 72.9, 80.0, 92.9, 113.6, 126.7, 128.0, 128.3, 128.9, 130.4, 141.1, 158.9; IR (neat) 3404, 2968, 2939, 2864, 2837, 1612, 1514, 1454, 1246 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 324 [M<sup>+</sup>, 2], 307 (2), 276 (1), 247 (1), 217 (22), 215 (3), 203 (2), 187 (3), 186 (1), 173 (5), 172 (1), 170 (3), 158 (1), 157 (3), 156 (4), 145 (1), 143 (1), 141 (2), 133 (1), 131 (1), 121 (100), 109 (3), 107 (4), 106 (2), 90 (1), 79 (2); HRMS (EI) calcd for  $C_{21}H_{24}O_3$  [M<sup>+</sup>] 324.1725. Found 324.1735.

4.1.11. 1-Methoxycarbonyloxy-5-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)-4,4-dimethyl-1-phenyl-2-pentyne (8d). By following the same procedure described for 8a, the propargylic carbonate 8d was prepared from the alcohol 7d in 87% yield on a 3.4 mmol scale; colorless oil;  $R_f = 0.38$  (AcOEt-hexane = 2:8 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.24 (s, 6H), 3.31 (s, 2H), 3.77 (s, 3H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 4.50 (s, 2H), 6.32 (s, 1H), 6.84 (dt, J=8.6, 2.0 Hz, 2H), 7.22–7.22 (m, 2H), 7.32–7.35 (m, 3H), 7.52–7.55 (m, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 25.8, 25.8, 32.7, 54.9, 55.3, 70.1, 72.9, 76.1, 77.8, 94.7, 113.6, 127.8, 128.5, 128.9, 130.5, 136.9, 154.8, 158.9; IR (neat) 2968, 2934, 2855, 2845, 1755, 1747, 1614, 1514, 1258 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) m/z (relative intensity) 382 [M<sup>+</sup>, 1], 307 (11), 305 (11), 292 (1), 276 (5), 274 (1), 246 (1), 231 (1), 230 (1), 219 (1), 217 (11), 207 (1), 200 (1), 198 (1), 186 (2), 178 (1), 170 (17), 168 (1), 156 (11), 154 (1), 153 (2), 151 (1), 141 (5), 139 (1), 138 (1), 137 (7), 126 (1), 121 (100), 114 (1), 107 (1), 102 (1), 90 (1), 75 (1), 59 (1), 56 (1); HRMS (EI) calcd for  $C_{22}H_{32}O_5$  [M<sup>+</sup>] 382.1780. Found 382.1789.

**4.1.12. 1-Methoxycarbonyloxy-4,4-dimethyl-1-phenyl-2pentyn-1-ol** (**1d**). By following the same procedure described for **1a**, the alcohol **1d** was prepared from the MPM ether **8d** in quantitative yield on a 3.0 mmol scale; colorless oil;  $R_f$ =0.25 (AcOEt–hexane=3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.23 (s, 3H), 1.23 (s, 3H), 1.91 (br s, 1H), 3.43 (s, 2H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 6.28 (s, 1H), 7.35–7.40 (m, 3H), 7.51–7.53 (m, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  25.10, 25.13, 34.5, 55.0, 70.0, 71.4, 77.7, 93.7, 127.6, 128.6, 129.1, 154.8; IR (neat) 3420, 2970, 2932, 2872, 1755, 1747, 1732, 1454, 1443, 1325, 1258 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 262 [M<sup>+</sup>, 3], 247 (7), 203 (11), 187 (15), 186 (8), 172 (29), 170 (2), 169 (10), 168 (16), 165 (2), 157 (32), 156 (100), 154 (9), 153 (12), 142 (15), 130 (5), 126 (2), 118 (3), 114 (2), 91 (14), 85 (23), 79 (3), 59 (6), 47 (7), 43 (5). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>18</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 68.68; H, 6.92. Found: C, 68.72; H, 6.92.

4.1.13. 1-Methoxycarbonyloxy-5-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)-2-pentyne (8e). By following the same procedure described for 8a, the propargylic carbonate 8e was prepared from the alcohol 7e in 77% yield on a 9.5 mmol scale; colorless oil;  $R_{\rm f} = 0.45$  (AcOEt-hexane = 3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  2.52 (t, J=6.8 Hz, 2H), 3.55 (t, J=6.8 Hz, 2H), 3.80 (s, 6H), 4.47 (s, 2H), 4.72 (s, 2H), 6.87 (d, J=8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.26 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 20.3, 55.0, 55.3, 56.1, 67.6, 72.6, 74.5, 85.1, 113.8, 129.3, 129.3, 130.0, 159.1; IR (neat) 3003, 2957, 2910, 2862, 2837, 1755, 1514, 1445, 1265 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) m/z (relative intensity) [278 (M<sup>+</sup>), 7], 191 (1), 153 (1), 151 (1), 137 (7), 127 (1), 121 (100), 109 (2), 107 (2), 95 (1), 89 (2), 59 (3); HRMS (EI) calcd for  $C_{15}H_{18}O_5$  [M<sup>+</sup>] 278.1154, found 278.1137. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>18</sub>O<sub>5</sub>: C, 64.74; H, 6.52. Found: C, 64.69; H, 6.54.

**4.1.14. 5-Methoxycarbonyloxy-3-pentyn-1-ol** (1e). By following the same procedure described for **1a**, the alcohol **1e** was prepared from the MPM ether **8e** in 98% yield on a 3.6 mmol scale; colorless oil;  $R_f = 0.33$  (AcOEt–hexane = 1:1 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.84 (br s, 1H), 2.51 (tt, J = 6.1, 2.2 Hz, 2H), 3.73 (dt, J = 11.8, 6.1 Hz, 2H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 4.73 (t, J = 2.2 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  23.1, 55.1, 56.0, 60.7, 75.4, 85.0, 155.2; IR (neat) 3371, 2959, 2881, 1755, 1747, 1447, 1269 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) [158 (M<sup>+</sup>), 1], 159 (1), 157 (1), 143 (1), 141 (1), 127 (10), 113 (1), 111 (1), 101 (1), 99 (10), 98 (1), 89 (1), 83 (28), 82 (8), 71 (3), 70 (1), 66 (2), 59 (19), 52 (100), 43 (33); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>10</sub>O<sub>4</sub> [M<sup>+</sup>] 158.0579, found 158.0541. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>10</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 53.16; H, 6.37. Found: C, 53.20; H, 6.38.

4.1.15. (1R\*,2R\*)-2-(3-Hydroxy-1-pentynyl)cyclohexan-1-ol (10). To a stirred solution of tetrahydro-2-(2-propynyloxy)-2H-pyrane (3.1 mL, 21.8 mmol) and  $BF_3 \cdot Et_2O$ (3.3 mL, 26.1 mmol) in THF (190 mL) was added dropwise *n*-BuLi (15.3 mL, 1.59 M in hexane solution, 23.9 mmol) at -78 °C. After stirring was continued for 1 h, cyclohexene oxide (2.14 g, 21.8 mmol) in THF (10 mL) was added dropwise to the reaction mixture, and stirring was continued for an additional 1 h at the same temperature. The reaction mixture was quenched with water, and the resulting mixture was extracted with AcOEt. The combined extracts were washed with satd NH<sub>4</sub>Cl and brine, and the residue upon workup was used for next step without further purification. To a stirred solution of the above residue in MeOH (50 mL) was added TsOH·H<sub>2</sub>O (20 mg) at rt, and stirring was continued for 10 h at 50 °C. The mixture was diluted with water, and extracted with AcOEt. The combined extracts were washed with brine, and the residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt-hexane (40:60 v/v) as eluent to give the diol **10** (2.07 g, 18.0 mmol, 83%) as a colorless oil;  $R_f = 0.25$  (AcOEt-hexane = 1:1 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 1.11–1.42 (m, 4H), 1.63–1.68 (m, 1H), 1.74–1.77 (m, 1), 1.94–2.05 (m, 2H), 2.21–2.26 (m, 1H), 2.98 (br s, 2H), 3.46 (ddd, J=20.2, 3.8, 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.26 (d, J=1.4 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 24.4, 24.9, 31.2, 33.6, 39.0, 51.1, 73.6, 80.3, 87.5; IR (neat) 3317, 2936, 2858, 1450, 1065, 1013 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) m/z (relative intensity) [153  $(M-H)^+$ , 1], 137 (1), 136 (11), 123 (1), 122 (5), 111 (1), 110 (1), 99 (1), 98 (4), 97 (3), 96 (3), 92 (89), 91 (100), 87 (1), 86 (1), 82 (6), 81 (22), 80 (31), 78 (32), 74 (1), 73 (1), 69 (9), 67 (29), 64 (2), 57 (21), 56 (5), 55 (31), 51 (11), 44 (8), 43 (23); HRMS (EI) calcd for  $C_9H_{13}O_2$  [ $(M-H)^+$ ] 153.0921, found 153.0901.

4.1.16.  $(1R^*, 2R^*)$ -2-(1-Methoxycarbonyloxy-2-pentyn)cyclohexan-1-ol (1f). By following the same procedure described for 8a, the propargylic carbonate 1f was prepared from the alcohol 10 in 78% yield on a 6.0 mmol scale; colorless oil;  $R_f = 0.50$  (AcOEt-hexane = 1:1 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $(400 \text{ MHz}, \text{CDCl}_3) \delta 1.12 - 1.42 \text{ (m, 4H)}, 1.63 - 1.67 \text{ (m, 1H)},$ 1.73–1.76 (m, 1H), 1.95–2.03 (m, 2H), 2.23–2.29 (m, 1H), 2.55 (br s, 1H), 3.46 (ddd, J = 19.2, 9.8, 4.1 Hz, 1H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 4.74 (d, J=2.0 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 24.1, 24.7, 30.7, 33.2, 38.9, 55.0, 56.1, 73.2, 75.6, 89.4, 155.1; IR (neat) 3418, 2936, 2860, 1767, 1755, 1747, 1730, 1450, 1447, 1267 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) m/z (relative intensity) 212 [M<sup>+</sup>, 1], 153 (1), 137 (14), 123 (1), 111 (1), 110 (1), 106 (1), 99 (1), 98 (1), 97 (6), 94 (32), 93 (69), 92 (100), 86 (1), 85 (2), 84 (12), 82 (7), 73 (1), 69 (7), 67 (31), 59 (18), 57 (17), 56 (4), 43 (24), 42 (4). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 62.25; H, 7.60. Found: C, 62.11; H, 7.44.

4.1.17. 1-(4-Methoxyphenoxycarbonyloxy)-5-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)-4,4-dimethyl-2-pentyne (8g). By following the same procedure described for 8a, the propargylic carbonate 8g was quantitatively prepared from the alcohol 7a with 4-methoxyphenyl chloroformate on a 2.6 mmol scale; colorless oil;  $R_f = 0.53$  (AcOEt-hexane = 3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 1.23 (s, 6H), 3.29 (s, 2H), 3.78 (s, 3H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 4.53 (s, 2H), 4.83 (s, 2H), 6.85-6.91 (m, 3H), 7.07 (d, J=9.1 Hz, 2H), 7.17 (d, J=9.1 Hz, 1H), 7.27 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 25.8, 32.6, 55.2, 55.6, 55.8, 65.8, 72.9, 73.1, 77.6, 94.2, 113.6, 114.34, 114.39, 121.6, 121.7 129.0, 130.4, 144.51, 144.55, 153.4, 157.3, 157.4, 159.0; IR (neat) 2968, 2936, 2909, 2860, 2837, 1776, 1771, 1759, 1614, 1514, 1504, 1234 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) m/z (relative intensity) [398 (M<sup>+</sup>), 4], 231 (7), 184 (1), 151 (1), 149 (2), 138 (1), 137 (5), 135 (2), 124 (20), 121 (100), 108 (1), 96 (1), 80 (2), 66 (1), 54 (1); HRMS (EI) calcd for  $C_{23}H_{26}O_6$  [M<sup>+</sup>] 398.1729. Found 398.1714.

4.1.18. 5-(4-Methoxyphenoxycarbonyloxy)-2,2-dimethyl-3-pentyn-1-ol (1g). By following the same procedure described for 1a, the alcohol 1g was prepared from the MPM ether 8g in 73% yield on a 0.64 mmol scale; colorless oil;  $R_{\rm f} = 0.20$  (AcOEt-hexane = 3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 1.21 (s, 6H), 2.25 (br s, 1H), 3.41 (s, 2H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 4.82 (s, 2H), 6.87 (dd, J=6.8, 2.2 Hz, 2H), 7.08 (dd, J=6.8, 2.2 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) & 25.0, 34.2, 55.50, 55.59, 71.2, 74.4, 93.4, 114.3, 121.6, 144.4, 153.4, 157.3; IR (neat) 3418, 2970, 2936,  $2872, 2839, 1767, 1761, 1610, 1510, 1504, 1242, 1205 \text{ cm}^{-1};$ MS (EI) m/z (relative intensity) [278 (M)<sup>+</sup>, 21], 279 (4), 247 (4), 170 (1), 167 (1), 135 (1), 126 (1), 125 (11), 124 (100), 123 (26), 110 (2), 107 (3), 97 (1), 96 (1), 94 (2), 84 (1), 80 (28), 73 (1), 68 (1), 57 (2), 56 (1), 43 (12), 42 (1); HRMS (EI) calcd for  $C_{15}H_{18}O_5$  [M<sup>+</sup>] 278.1154. Found 278.1138.

### **4.2.** General procedure for the reactions of 5-methoxycarbonyloxy-3-pentyn1-ols with phenols. Reaction of 1a with 2a

To a stirred solution of the propargylic carbonate **1a** (38.7 mg, 0.208 mmol) in dioxane (2 mL) were added *p*-methoxyphenol (**2a**) (28.4 mg, 0.229 mmol), Pd<sub>2</sub>(dba)<sub>3</sub>. CHCl<sub>3</sub> (10.8 mg, 10.4 µmol) and dppf (23.0 mg, 41.6 µmol) in sealed tube at rt. After the stirring was continued for 17 h at 60 °C, the reaction mixture was concentrated. The residue was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt–hexane (2:98 v/v) as eluent to give the 2,3-dihydrofuran **11aa** (41 mg, 0.175 mmol, 84%) as colorless crystals (entry 4 in Table 1).

**4.2.1. 3,3-Dimethyl-5-(4-methoxyphenoxymethyl)-2,3dihydrofuran (11aa).**  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.70 (AcOEt-hexane=3:7 v/v); mp 28–29 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.15 (s, 6H), 3.76 (s, 3H), 4.07 (s, 2H), 4.46 (s, 2H), 4.91 (s, 1H), 6.82 (dt, *J*=9.3, 2.8 Hz, 2H), 6.89 (dt, *J*=9.3, 2.8 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  27.6, 43.0, 55.6, 64.2, 83.1, 110.5, 114.6, 116.1, 152.3, 152.9, 154.3; IR (KBr) 2866, 1506, 1229 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 234 [M<sup>+</sup>, 75], 219 (4), 111 (46), 96 (4), 81 (9), 65 (3), 51 (2); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>18</sub>O<sub>3</sub> [M<sup>+</sup>] 234.1256. Found 234.1275.

**4.2.2. 3,3-Dimethyl-5-(2-methoxyphenoxymethyl)-2,3dihydrofuran (11ab).** Yield 83%; colorless crystals;  $R_f$ = 0.65 (AcOEt–hexane = 3:7 v/v); mp 31–32 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.13 (s, 6H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 4.05 (s, 2H), 4.58 (s, 2H), 4.91 (s, 1H), 6.92 (m, 4H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  27.7, 55.8, 64.6, 83.1, 110.4, 111.9, 114.9, 120.7, 121.8, 147.9, 149.9, 152.0; IR (KBr) 2957, 2930, 2866, 1504, 1251 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 234 [M<sup>+</sup>, 53], 219 (6), 203 (3), 111 (78), 96 (10), 81 (23), 65 (11), 51 (7). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>18</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 71.77; H, 7.74. Found: C, 71.78; H, 7.67.

**4.2.3. 3,3-Dimethyl-5-(4-methyphenoxymethyl)-2,3dihydrofuran (11ac).** Yield 76%; colorless needle;  $R_f =$  0.75 (AcOEt–hexane = 3:7 v/v); mp 44–45 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.15 (s, 6H), 2.28 (s, 3H), 4.07 (s, 2H), 4.48 (s, 2H), 4.92 (s, 1H), 6.84 (d, J=8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.06 (d, J=8.5 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  20.5, 27.7, 43.1, 63.6, 83.1, 110.3, 114.7, 129.7, 130.2, 152.0, 156.3; IR (KBr) 2953, 2918, 2882, 2862, 1518, 1498, 1460, 1250 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 218 [M<sup>+</sup>, 54], 203 (8), 188 (1), 127 (1), 111 (52), 96 (11), 81 (19), 65 (16), 51 (8); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>18</sub>O<sub>2</sub> [M<sup>+</sup>] 218.1307. Found 218.1301.

**4.2.4. 3,3-Dimethyl-5-(2,4,6-trimethyphenoxymethyl)-2,3-dihydrofuran (11ad).** Yield 76%; colorless oil;  $R_{\rm f}$ = 0.80 (AcOEt-hexane = 3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.16 (s, 6H), 2.23 (s, 3H), 2.26 (s, 6H), 4.08 (s, 2H), 4.25 (s, 2H), 4.92 (s, 1H), 6.80 (d, J=0.5 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  16.2, 20.7, 27.8, 43.1, 67.2, 83.1, 110.5, 129.2, 130.6, 133.1, 152.3, 153.4; IR (neat) 2957, 2924, 2866, 1485, 1462, 1215 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 246 [M<sup>+</sup>, 96], 231 (5), 216 (1), 201 (1), 119 (4), 111 (67), 96 (4), 81 (9), 65 (4), 51 (1); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>2</sub> [M<sup>+</sup>] 246.1620. Found 246.1612. **4.2.5. 3,3-Dimethyl-5-phenoxymethyl-2,3-dihydrofuran** (**11ae**). Yield 82%; colorless oil;  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.73 (AcOEthexane = 3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.15 (s, 6H), 4.07 (s, 2H), 4.51 (s, 2H), 4.93 (s, 1H), 6.93–6.97 (m, 3H), 7.27 (t, *J*=8.0 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  27.7, 43.2, 63.3, 83.1, 110.4, 114.8, 121.0, 129.3, 151.8, 158.4; IR (neat) 2959, 2928, 2868, 1599, 1495, 1238 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 204 [M<sup>+</sup>, 100], 189 (35), 174 (1), 127 (1), 111 (57), 96 (19), 81 (22), 65 (20), 51 (11); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>2</sub> [M<sup>+</sup>] 204.1150. Found 204.1128.

**4.2.6. 3,3-Dimethyl-5-(1-naphthoxymethyl)-2,3-dihydrofuran (11af).** Yield 64%; colorless oil;  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.75 (AcOEthexane = 3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.17 (s, 6H), 4.09 (s, 2H), 4.70 (s, 2H), 5.01 (s, 1H), 6.84 (d, J= 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.33–7.49 (m, 4H), 7.76–7.80 (m, 1H), 8.29– 8.32 (m, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  27.8, 43.2, 63.8, 83.2, 105.4, 109.9, 120.6, 122.1, 125.1, 125.6, 125.7, 126.3, 127.3, 134.4, 152.0, 154.2; IR (neat) 3053, 2953, 2930, 2866, 1581, 1462, 1269 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 254 [M<sup>+</sup>, 100], 239 (17), 224 (2), 127 (28), 111 (15), 96 (2), 81 (5), 65 (3), 51 (3); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>18</sub>O<sub>2</sub> [M<sup>+</sup>] 254.1307. Found 254.1310.

**4.2.7. 5-(4-Chlorophenoxymethyl)-3,3-dimethyl-2,3dihydrofuran (11ag).** Yield 70%; colorless crystals;  $R_f$ = 0.75 (AcOEt–hexane=3:7 v/v); mp 38–39 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.15 (s, 6H), 4.06 (s, 2H), 4.49 (s, 2H), 4.92 (s, 1H), 6.85–6.89 (m, 2H), 7.20–7.25 (m, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  27.7, 43.2, 63.7, 83.1, 110.8, 116.1, 125.9, 129.2, 151.4, 157.0; IR (KBr) 2959, 2924, 2868, 1493, 1238 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m*/*z* (relative intensity) 238 [M<sup>+</sup>, 85], 240 (30), 225 (5), 223 (15), 203 (11), 127 (6), 111 (100), 96 (22), 81 (28), 65 (9), 51 (4); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>15</sub>O<sub>2</sub>Cl [M<sup>+</sup>] 238.0761. Found 238.0725.

**4.2.8. 5-(4-Fluorophenoxymethyl)-3,3-dimethyl-2,3dihydrofuran (11ah).** Yield 43% (55% based on recovered starting material); colorless crystals;  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.75 (AcOEthexane=3:7 v/v); mp 52–53 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.15 (s, 6H), 4.06 (s, 2H), 4.47 (s, 2H), 4.91 (s, 1H), 6.86–6.98 (m, 4H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 27.7, 43.2, 64.1, 83.1, 110.7, 115.5, 115.8, 115.9, 116.0, 151.6, 154.5, 156.2, 158.5; IR (KBr) 2959, 2934, 2868, 1504, 1205 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 222 [M<sup>+</sup>, 100], 207 (17), 192 (1), 127 (1), 111 (65), 96 (16), 81 (18), 65 (3), 51 (1); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>15</sub>O<sub>2</sub>F [M<sup>+</sup>] 222.1056. Found 222.1034.

**4.2.9. 5-(4-Acetylphenoxymethyl)-3,3-dimethyl-2,3-di-hydrofuran** (**11ai**). Yield 61%; colorless oil;  $R_f$ =0.50 (AcOEt–hexane=3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.16 (s, 6H), 2.55 (s, 3H), 4.07 (s, 2H), 4.58 (s, 2H), 4.95 (s, 1H), 6.97 (d, *J*=8.7 Hz, 2H), 7.92 (d, *J*=8.7 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  26.4, 27.7, 43.2, 63.3, 83.2, 111.0, 114.4, 130.4, 130.5, 151.0, 162.2, 196.6; IR (neat) 2961, 2932, 2868, 1682, 1675 1599, 1460, 1360, 1259 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m*/*z* (relative intensity) 246 [M<sup>+</sup>, 100], 231 (27), 216 (6), 109 (11), 94 (1), 81 (20), 65 (6), 51 (2); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>18</sub>O<sub>3</sub> [M<sup>+</sup>] 246.1256. Found 246.1246.

**4.2.10. 3,3-Dimethyl-5-(4-methoxyphenoxy-1-ethyl)-2,3dihydrofuran** (11ba). Yield 64%; colorless oil;  $R_f$ =0.75

4391

(AcOEt-hexane = 3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 1.10 (s, 6H), 1.47 (d, J=6.6 Hz, 3H), 3.76 (s, 3H), 4.01 (dd, J=12.6, 8.5 Hz, 2H), 4.65 (q, J=6.6 Hz, 1H), 4.76 (s, 1H), 6.77–6.81 (m, 2H), 6.87–6.91 (m, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  19.3, 27.70, 27.72, 43.0, 55.7, 71.3, 82.9, 108.0, 114.3, 117.7, 151.9, 154.1, 156.2; IR (neat) 2957, 2936, 2870, 1504, 1229 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 248 [M<sup>+</sup>, 25], 233 (1), 161 (1), 148 (1), 135 (2), 125 (48), 123 (9), 109 (50), 107 (3), 97 (4), 96 (1), 94 (1), 82 (1), 80 (1), 79 (4), 68 (1), 67 (8), 64 (1), 55 (21), 54 (1), 52 (1), 43 (20), 42 (1), 39 (3); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>20</sub>O<sub>3</sub> [M<sup>+</sup>] 248.1412. Found 248.1383.

4.2.11. 3,3-Dimethyl-5-(4-methoxyphenoxy-1-hexyl)-2,3dihydrofuran (11ca). Yield 71%; colorless oil;  $R_f = 0.75$ (AcOEt-hexane = 3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 0.88 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 3H), 1.078 (s, 3H), 1.083 (s, 3H), 1.23-1.51 (m, 6H), 1.76–1.84 (m, 2H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 3.98 (dd, J =14.4, 8.3 Hz, 2H), 4.45 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 1H), 4.74 (s, 1H), 6.78–6.81 (m, 2H), 6.86–6.89 (m, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 14.1, 22.6, 25.1, 27.6, 27.8, 31.6, 33.5, 43.0, 55.7, 75.7, 82.8, 109.0, 114.3, 117.5, 152.4, 154.0, 155.1; IR (neat) 2955, 2930, 2870, 1506, 1227 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 304 [M<sup>+</sup>, 27], 182 (5), 181 (36), 166 (15), 152 (1), 151 (7), 139 (1), 138 (3), 135 (2), 126 (1), 124 (30), 123 (20), 110 (2), 108 (1), 107 (4), 96 (2), 84 (1), 80 (1), 71 (3), 67 (6), 57 (3), 55 (17), 43 (10), 42 (1); HRMS (EI) calcd for  $C_{19}H_{28}O_3$  [M<sup>+</sup>] 304.2038. Found 304.2011.

**4.2.12. 3,3-Dimethyl-5-(4-methoxyphenoxy-1-benzyl)-2,3-dihydrofuran** (**11da**). Yield 66%; colorless crystals;  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.73 (AcOEt-hexane=3:7 v/v); mp 109–110 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.10 (s, 3H), 1.11 (s, 3H), 3.73 (s, 3H), 4.02 (dd, *J*=15.2, 8.3 Hz, 2H), 4.80 (s, 1H), 5.51 (s, 1H), 6.75 (d, *J*=9.0 Hz, 2H), 6.88 (d, *J*=9.0 Hz, 2H), 7.28–7.36 (m, 3H), 7.45 (d, *J*=7.1 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  27.6, 27.7, 43.0, 55.6, 77.3, 83.2, 110.2, 114.3, 117.5, 127.0, 128.0, 128.3, 138.4, 152.0, 154.1, 154.9; IR (KBr) 2957, 2939, 2866, 1504, 1225 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 310 [M<sup>+</sup>, 4], 187 (100), 172 (6), 170 (1), 160 (1), 155 (1), 142 (2), 130 (3), 123 (3), 118 (2), 110 (1), 107 (1), 106 (1), 95 (2), 90 (1), 80 (1), 77 (3), 67 (1), 51 (1); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>3</sub> [M<sup>+</sup>] 310.1569. Found 310.1546.

**4.2.13. 5-(4-Methoxyphenoxymethyl)-2,3-dihydrofuran** (**11ea**). Yield 47%; colorless needles;  $R_f$ =0.70 (AcOEthexane=3:7 v/v); mp 35–36 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  2.68 (dt, *J*=9.5, 1.0 Hz, 2H), 3.76 (s, 3H), 4.43 (t, *J*=9.5 Hz, 2H), 4.48 (d, *J*=1.0 Hz, 2H), 5.01 (s, 1H), 6.82 (dt, *J*=9.5, 2.5 Hz, 2H), 6.89 (dt, *J*=9.5, 2.5 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  30.0, 55.7, 63.9, 70.5, 98.8, 114.4, 115.8, 152.5, 153.7, 154.0; IR (KBr) 2953, 2932, 2897, 2862, 2833, 1674, 1510, 1504, 1456, 1232, 1211 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m*/*z* (relative intensity) 206 [M<sup>+</sup>, 55], 207 (9), 191 (1), 175 (1), 149 (1), 137 (3), 131 (1), 124 (100), 123 (39), 122 (1), 108 (1), 107 (3), 92 (5), 83 (19), 69 (2), 57 (1); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>14</sub>O<sub>3</sub> [M<sup>+</sup>] 206.0943. Found 206.0931.

**4.2.14.** *trans*-2-(4-Methoxyphenoxymethyl)-3a,4,5,6,7, 7a-hexahydrobenzofuran (11fa). Yield 46%; colorless

needles;  $R_f$ =0.65 (AcOEt–hexane=3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  0.92–1.45 (m, 4H), 1.68–1.77 (m, 1H), 1.84–1.88 (m, 1H), 1.99–2.01 (m, 1H), 2.21–2.25 (m, 1H), 2.42–2.49 (m, 1H), 3.67 (ddd, *J*=14.8, 11.8, 3.4 Hz, 1H), 3.76 (s, 3H), 4.38–4.53 (m, 2H), 5.19 (s, 1H), 6.80–6.83 (m, 2H), 6.87–6.91 (m, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 24.8, 25.8, 29.5, 30.5, 55.7, 64.7, 90.1, 106.3, 114.4, 114.5, 116.0, 118.5, 152.6, 154.0, 155.1; IR (neat) 2936, 2860, 2831, 1510, 1504, 1234, 1227 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 260 [M<sup>+</sup>, 73], 177 (1), 175 (1), 165 (1), 164 (4), 149 (2), 137 (100), 123 (18), 107 (21), 83 (1), 69 (4), 57 (2), 42 (1), 41 (14); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>20</sub>O<sub>3</sub> [M<sup>+</sup>] 260.1412. Found 260.1395.

4.2.15. 4,4-Dimethyl-2-hydroxymethyltetrahydrofuran (12). To a stirred solution of the 2,3-dihydrofuran 11aa (158 mg, 0.678 mmol) in MeOH (12 mL) was added 10 wt% of Pd-C (10 mg) under 1 atm of hydrogen at rt, and stirring was continued for 13 h. After filteration and evaporation of the reaction mixture, the residue was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt-hexane (20:80 v/v) as eluent to give the tetrahydrofuran (147 mg, 0.622 mmol, 92%). To a stirred solution of the tetrahydrofuran (45 mg, 0.190 mmol) and pyridine (23 µL, 0.286 mmol) in MeCN (7.5 mL) and water (1.9 mL) were added ammonium cerium(IV) nitrate (251 mg, 0.457 mmol) at 0 °C. After stirring was continued for 2 h at the same temperature, the reaction mixture was diluted with water, and extracted with Et2O. The combined extracts were washed with satd NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and brine, and the residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEthexane (30:70 v/v) as eluent to give the alcohol 12 (8 mg, 0.0615 mmol, 32%) as a colorless oil. The spectrum data of 12 was in complete agreement with that of an authentic sample.<sup>6</sup>

# **4.3.** Procedure for the palladium-catalyzed reaction of 1g (Scheme 6)

To a stirred solution of the propargylic carbonate **1g** (36.4 mg, 99.9  $\mu$ mol) in dioxane (1 mL) were added Pd<sub>2</sub>(dba)<sub>3</sub>·CHCl<sub>3</sub> (5.2 mg, 4.99  $\mu$ mol) and dppf (11 mg, 20.0  $\mu$ mol) in sealed tube at rt. After the stirring was continued for 11 h at 60 °C, the reaction mixture was concentrated. The residue was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt–hexane (2:98 v/v) as eluent to give the 2,3-dihydrofuran **11aa** (17 mg, 72.6  $\mu$ mol, 73%) as colorless crystals.

**4.3.1.** *tert*-**Butyldimethyl-2-(1-hydroxy-2-propyn)phenoxysilane (16).** To a stirred solution of *tert*-butyldimethyl-2-iodophenoxysilane (3.03 g, 9.06 mmol), PdCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> (318 mg, 0.453 mmol), CuI (86 mg, 0.453 mmol) in NEt<sub>3</sub> (68 mL) was added propargylic alcohol (0.60 mL, 9.97 mmol) at rt. After stirring was continued for 23 h at the same temperature, water (68 mL) the reaction mixture was diluted with water at the same temperature, and stirring was continued for 30 min. The resulting mixture was extracted with Et<sub>2</sub>O. The combined extracts were washed with brine, and the residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt– hexane (15:85 v/v) as eluent to give the propargylic alcohol **16** (2.02 g, 7.69 mmol, 85%) as a colorless oil;  $R_f$ =0.50 (AcOEt–hexane=3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  0.26 (s, 6H), 1.16 (s, 9H), 1.93 (br s, 1H), 4.22 (d, J= 7.3 Hz, 2H), 6.78 (dt, J=7.3, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 6.83 (dd, J=7.3, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 7.00–7.04 (m, 1H), 7.51 (dd, J=7.3, 1.0 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  –4.1, 18.6, 26.0, 51.7, 83.1, 92.1, 116.1, 120.2, 121.6, 129.8, 133.9, 157.0; IR (neat) 3329, 2961, 2930, 2897, 2885, 2858, 1487, 1445, 1286, 1258 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m*/*z* (relative intensity) 262 [M<sup>+</sup>, 1], 245 (1), 207 (7), 205 (100), 192 (1), 190 (1), 177 (3), 175 (4), 162 (3), 150 (1), 147 (4), 135 (6), 131 (7), 76 (2), 55 (1), 43 (1). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>2</sub>Si: C, 68.65; H, 8.45. Found: C, 68.39; H, 8.07.

4.3.2. 2-(1-Methoxylcarbonyloxy-2-propyn)phenol (1h). To a stirred solution of propargylic alcohol 16 (373 mg, 1.42 mmol) and pyridine (0.46 mL, 5.69 mmol) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (8.0 mL) was added dropwise methyl chlorocarbonate (1.0 mL, 13.0 mmol) at 0 °C, and stirring was continued for 1 h at the same temperature. The reaction mixture was diluted with water and extracted with AcOEt. The combined extracts were washed with aqueous NH<sub>4</sub>Cl and brine. To a stirred solution of the residue upon workup in THF (28 mL) was added TBAF (1.7 mL, 1.70 mmol) at -78 °C, and stirring was continued for 5 min at the same temperature. The reaction mixture was quenched with 1.0 M HCl, and extracted with AcOEt. The combined organic layers were washed with brine, and the residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt-hexane (30:70 v/v) as eluent to give propargylic carbonate 1h (258 mg, 1.38 mmol, 97% for 2 steps) as colorless needles;  $R_{\rm f}=0.18$ (AcOEt-hexane=2:8 v/v); mp 63-64 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR(400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 3.85 (s, 3H), 4.98 (s, 2H), 5.94 (s, 1H), 6.86 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 6.94 (d, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 7.25  $(dt, J=7.3, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (dd, J=7.6, 1.7 Hz, 1H); {}^{13}C$ NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 55.1, 56.0, 81.9, 89.1, 108.0, 114.9, 120.0, 130.9, 131.8, 155.2, 157.3; IR (KBr) 3445, 1755, 1747, 1738, 1730, 1487, 1447, 1269 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) m/z (relative intensity) 206 [M<sup>+</sup>, 58], 207 (8), 205 (1), 175 (1), 147 (5), 131 (47), 130 (100), 105 (1), 101 (4), 93 (1), 92 (1), 89 (4), 76 (6), 75 (5), 59 (3), 43 (1). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>10</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 64.07; H, 4.89. Found: C, 63.91; H, 4.88.

4.3.3. 2-(1-Acetoxy-2-propyn)phenol (1i). To a stirred solution of propargylic alcohol **30** (118 mg, 450 µmol), pyridine (73 µL, 899 µmol) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (5.0 mL) was added acetic anhydride (51 µL, 540 µmol) at 0 °C, and stirring was continued for 2.5 h at the same temperature. To the reaction mixture was added 10% aq HCl, and the resulting mixture was extracted with AcOEt. The organic layers were washed with brine, and the residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt-hexane (5:95 v/v) as eluent to give the acetate (130 mg, 427 µmol, 95%) as a colorless oil. To the acetate (97 mg, 321 µmol) in THF (6.5 mL) was added TBAF (0.39 mL, 385  $\mu$ mol) at -78 °C, and stirring was continued for 10 min at the same temperature. The reaction mixture was quenched with 10% aq HCl, and extracted with AcOEt. The combined extracts were washed with brine, and the residue upon workup was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEthexane (20:80 v/v) as eluent to give the phenol 1i (60 mg, 315  $\mu$ mol, 98%) as colorless needles;  $R_{\rm f}$ =0.18 (AcOEthexane = 2:8 v/v); mp 74–75 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  2.13 (s, 3H), 4.92 (s, 2H), 5.96 (s, 1H), 6.85 (dt,

*J*=7.6, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 6.94 (dd, *J*=8.3, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 7.25 (dt, *J*=8.3, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (dd, *J*=7.6, 1.6 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  20.9, 52.8, 81.1, 90.2, 108.2, 114.9, 120.2, 131.0, 131.8, 157.3, 170.4; IR (KBr) 3408, 2928, 1734, 1726, 1715, 1504, 1452, 1259 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m*/*z* (relative intensity) 190 [M<sup>+</sup>, 70], 191 (10), 189 (1), 147 (26), 146 (2), 131 (100), 130 (35), 105 (1), 92 (1), 85 (1), 76 (3), 43 (15). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>10</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 69.46; H, 5.30. Found: C, 69.28; H, 5.38.

# **4.4.** General procedure for the reactions of propargylic carbonate 1h with nucleophiles. Reaction of 1h with 2a

To a stirred solution of propargylic carbonate **1h** (20.3 mg, 98.5  $\mu$ mol) in dioxane (1 mL) were added 2-methylcyclohexane-1,3-dione (37.3 mg, 295  $\mu$ mol), Pd<sub>2</sub>(dba)<sub>3</sub>·CHCl<sub>3</sub> (5.1 mg, 4.92  $\mu$ mol) and P(OPr<sup>*i*</sup>)<sub>3</sub> (9.7  $\mu$ L, 39.4  $\mu$ mol) in sealed tube at rt. After stirring was continued for 15 h at 60 °C, the reaction mixture was concentrated and the residue was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt–hexane (30:70 v/v) as eluent to give the 2-benzofuran **11hj** (22 mg, 85.8  $\mu$ mol, 87%) as a colorless crystals (entry 9 in Table 6).

**4.4.1. 2-{(2-Methylcyclohexane-1,3-dionyl)methyl}benzofuran** (**11hj**).  $R_f$ =0.25 (AcOEt-hexane=3:7 v/v); mp 86–87 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.37 (s, 3H), 1.75–1.98 (m, 2H), 2.55–2.71 (m, 4H), 3.34 (s, 2H), 6.37 (s, 1H), 7.12–7.20 (m, 2H), 7.33 (d, *J*=6.8 Hz, 1H), 7.44 (dd, *J*=2.2, 6.8 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  17.2, 23.1, 34.9, 38.4, 63.3, 104.5, 110.7, 110.7, 120.5, 122.6, 123.5, 128.4, 154.2, 209.7; IR (KBr) 2966, 2936, 2876, 1730, 1705, 1697, 1695, 1454, 1254 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 256 [M<sup>+</sup>, 70], 258 (2), 257 (14), 184 (3), 172 (4), 157 (7), 145 (2), 131 (100), 107 (1), 105 (1), 91 (2), 89 (2), 76 (2). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 74.98; H, 6.29. Found: C, 75.08; H, 6.31.

**4.4.2.** 2-{(2-Methylcyclopentane-1,3-dionyl)methyl}benzofuran (11hk). Yield 87%; colorless needles;  $R_f$ = 0.30 (AcOEt-hexane = 3:7 v/v); mp 91–92 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.25 (s, 3H), 2.46–2.60 (m, 2H), 2.66– 2.80 (m, 2H), 3.17 (s, 2H), 6.39 (s, 1H), 7.14–7.22 (m, 2H), 7.33 (d, *J*=7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.44 (d, *J*=7.1 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  20.6, 34.5, 35.2, 55.5, 104.7, 110.7, 120.7, 122.9, 123.9, 128.2, 153.1, 154.3, 215.6; IR (KBr) 2972, 2928, 1771, 1732, 1715, 1697, 1456, 1418, 1254 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 242 [M<sup>+</sup>, 37], 243 (7), 244 (1), 227 (1), 198 (1), 184 (1), 158 (3), 143 (1), 131 (100), 107 (2), 105 (1), 91 (1), 89 (2), 83 (1), 76 (1), 69 (1), 55 (3); HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>14</sub>O<sub>3</sub> [M<sup>+</sup>] 242.0943. Found 242.0950.

**4.4.3. 2-Benzofuranylmethyl methyl malonate (11hl).** Yield 83%; colorless oil;  $R_f = 0.40$  (AcOEt-hexane = 3:7 v/v); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  3.45 (s, 2H), 3.73 (s, 3H), 5.28 (s, 2H), 6.79 (s, 1H), 7.20–7.33 (m, 2H), 7.47 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.56 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  41.1, 52.6, 59.5, 107.4, 111.3, 121.3, 122.9, 124.9, 127.7, 151.0, 155.1, 165.9, 166.5; IR (neat) 2955, 1767, 1755, 1747, 1738, 1732, 1454, 1337, 1256, 1146 cm<sup>-1</sup>; MS (EI) *m/z* (relative intensity) 248 [M<sup>+</sup>, 40], 249 (6), 233 (1), 147 (72), 133 (1), 131 (100), 101 (5), 91 (10), 89 (6), 76 (3), 59 (7), 43 (2); HRMS (EI) calcd for  $C_{13}H_{12}O_5$  [M<sup>+</sup>] 248.0685. Found 248.0671.

# 4.5. Procedure for the palladium-catalyzed reaction of propargylic acetate 1i with 2j

To a stirred solution of propargylic acetate **1i** (7.5 mg, 39.4 µmol) in dioxane (0.4 mL) were added 2-methylcyclohexane-1,3-dione (15 mg, 118 µmol), Pd<sub>2</sub>(dba)<sub>3</sub>. CHCl<sub>3</sub> (2 mg, 2.00 µmol) and dppf (4.4 mg, 7.89 µmol) in sealed tube at rt. After stirring was continued for 12 h at 60 °C, the reaction mixture was concentrated and the residue was chromatographed on silica gel with AcOEt–hexane (30:70 v/v) as eluent to give the 2-benzofuran **11hj** (8 mg, 31.2 µmol, 79%), which was identical with the above compound **11hj** in all respects (Scheme 10).

### Acknowledgements

This study was supported in part by a Grant-in-Aid for the Encouragement for Young Scientists (B) from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) (for M.Y.).

#### **References and notes**

- 1. Tsuji, J. In *Palladium Reagents and Catalysts: Innovations in Organic Synthesis*; Wiley: New York, 1995; pp 453.
- (a) Tsuji, J.; Minami, I. Acc. Chem. Res. 1987, 20, 140. (b) Minami, I.; Yuhara, M.; Watanabe, H.; Tsuji, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1987, 334, 225. (c) Tsuji, J.; Mandai, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 2589.
- For recent examples of palladium-catalyzed reactions of propargylic carbonates with nucleophiles, see; (a) Fournier-Nguefack, C.; Lhoste, P.; Sinou, D. Synlett 1996, 553. (b) Labrosse, J.-R.; Lhoste, P.; Sinou, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 9025. (c) Labrosse, J.-R.; Lhoste, P.; Sinou, D. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 527. (d) Kozawa, Y.; Mori, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 1499. (f) Damez, C.; Labrosse, J.-R.; Lhoste, P.; Sinou, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 557. (g) Tsutsumi, K.; Yabukami, T.; Fujimoto, K.; Kawase, T.; Morimoto, T.; Kakiuchi, K. Organometallics 2003, 22, 2996. (h) Kozawa, Y.; Mori, M. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 8068. (i) Tsubakiyama, M.; Sato, Y.; Mori, M. Heterocycles 2004, 64, 27.

- 4. (a) Yoshida, M.; Ihara, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 616. (b) Yoshida, M.; Fujita, M.; Ishii, T.; Ihara, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 4874. (c) Yoshida, M.; Fujita, M.; Ihara, M. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3325. (d) Yoshida, M.; Ihara, M. Chem. Eur. J. 2004, 2886.
- A part of the results about our preliminary studies have been published: Yoshida, M.; Morishita, Y.; Fujita, M.; Ihara, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 1861.
- 6. Tan, H.; Espenson, J. H. J. Mol. Catal. A 2000, 152, 83.
- (a) Su, C.-C.; Chen, J.-T.; Lee, G.-H.; Wang, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 1938. (b) Ogoshi, S.; Tsutsumi, K.; Kurosawa, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 493, C19. (c) Tsutsumi, K.; Ogoshi, S.; Nishiguchi, S.; Kurosawa, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 1938. (d) Tsutsumi, K.; Kawase, T.; Kakiuchi, K.; Ogoshi, S.; Okada, Y.; Kurosawa, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1999, 72, 2687. (e) Ogoshi, S.; Kurosawa, H. J. Synth. Org. Chem. Jpn 2003, 61, 14.
- 8. Recently, Mori reported a similar type of palladium-catalyzed reaction of propargylic carbonates with benzoate leading to formation of substituted carbapenams, isoquinolines and benzoazepines; see Ref. 3h,i.
- 9. We previously observed the formation of phenoxy substituted dihydrofuran as a byproduct by the reaction of 4-methoxy-carbonyloxy-2-butyn-1-ol with phenol, see Ref. 4a,b.
- 10. It is generally believed that the monodentate ligand is not suitable for the reactions of propargylic compounds with soft nucleophiles (see Refs. 2c, 3g and 7d). The observed result using monodentate PPh<sub>3</sub> is therefore interesting in view of this hypothesis although the precise details of this reaction mechanism are still unclear.
- Åkermark, B.; Zetterberg, K.; Hansson, S.; Krakenberger, B.; Vitagliano, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1987, 335, 133.
- For examples: (a) Schuda, P. F. *Top. Curr. Chem.* **1980**, *91*, 75.
   (b) Nore, P.; Honkanen, E. *J. Heterocycl. Chem.* **1980**, *17*, 985.
   (c) Middlemiss, D.; Drew, G. M.; Ross, B. C..; Robertson, M. J.; Scopes, D. I. C.; Dowle, M. D.; Akers, J.; Cardwell, K.; Clark, K. L.; Coote, S.; Elbred, C. D.; Hamblett, J.; Hilditch, A.; Hirst, G. C.; Jack, T.; Montana, J.; Panchal, T. A.; Paton, J. S. M.; Shah, P.; Stuart, G.; Travers, A. *Biomed. Chem. Lett.* **1991**, *1*, 711.
- 13. Trieselmann, T.; Hoffmann, R. W. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 1292.
- 14. Esumi, T.; Iwabuchi, Y.; Irie, H.; Hatakeyama, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 877.
- Wu, M.-J.; Lee, C.-Y.; Lin, C.-F. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 4077.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4395-4402

## A new strategy for the synthesis of highly functionalised fluorinated compounds by reaction of lithium dianions of carboxylic acids with perfluoroketene dithioacetals<sup> $\ddagger$ </sup>

Enrique Sotoca,<sup>a,b</sup> Jean-Philippe Bouillon,<sup>a,†</sup> Salvador Gil,<sup>b</sup> Margarita Parra<sup>b,\*</sup> and Charles Portella<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>UMR n° 6519 "Réactions Sélectives et Applications", CNRS-Université de Reims Champagne Ardenne, B.P. 1039, 51687 REIMS Cedex 2 France

<sup>b</sup>Departamento de Química Orgánica, Facultat de Químicas, Universidad de Valencia, Dr. Moliner, 50, 46100 Burjassot Valencia, Spain

Received 18 November 2004; revised 21 February 2005; accepted 28 February 2005

Available online 19 March 2005

**Abstract**—The reaction of perfluoroketene dithioacetal with lithium dienediolates of carboxylic acids proceeds at the  $\omega$  position probably through an addition to the  $\pi$  system followed by elimination of the vinylic fluoride. The preparative value of this reaction depends strongly on the reaction and work-up conditions. The overall process lead to highly functionalised synthons containing a trifluoromethyl group. © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

### 1. Introduction

Perfluoroketene dithioacetals **1** are versatile building blocks due to the easy nucleophilic substitution of its vinylic fluoride and to the presence of a masked carboxylic function.<sup>1</sup> Fluorine substituents in organic compounds significantly modify their physico-chemical properties, chemical reactivity<sup>2</sup> and biological activity when compared to their non-fluorinated analogs.<sup>3</sup>

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathsf{R}_{\mathsf{F}} & \mathsf{SEt} & \mathsf{1a} \ \mathsf{R}_{\mathsf{F}} = \mathsf{CF}_3 \\ & \mathsf{F} & \mathsf{SEt} & \mathsf{1b} \ \mathsf{R}_{\mathsf{F}} = \mathsf{C}_2\mathsf{F}_5 \end{array}$$

The increasing interest in trifluoromethylated heterocycles,<sup>4</sup> along with the need for new fluorinated building blocks for parallel synthesis, prompted us to investigate the reactivity of a ketone enolate to obtain  $\gamma$ -keto- $\alpha$ -trifluoromethyl-thioesters as key intermediates for the preparation of trifluoromethyl  $\gamma$ -lactones,<sup>1b</sup>  $\gamma$ -lactams,<sup>1c</sup> pyrroles and furans,<sup>1d</sup> pyridazines,<sup>1e</sup> and  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated lactams.<sup>1f</sup>

As reported in a preliminary communication,<sup>5</sup> it was

interesting to extend the scope of this chemistry to enolates of carboxylic acid derivatives. Simultaneously to the study of the reaction of **1a** with ethyl acetate enolate and its 2-TMS derivative as a synthetic equivalent,<sup>6</sup> we have investigated its reaction with ene- and dienediolates of carboxylic acids and with dianions derived from *ortho*methyl aromatic and heteroaromatic acids. Such a reaction would constitute a direct access to  $\alpha$ -trifluoromethyl- $\epsilon$ dicarboxylic acid derivatives where both carboxylic moieties are differentiated.

Double deprotonation of carboxylic acids by lithium dialkylamides is the most common method for the generation of their lithium endiolates. These amides, especially when derived from sterically hindered amines, have a low nucleophilicity and are soluble in non-polar solvents.<sup>8</sup> In these solvents, lithium enolates generally exist as complex ion pair aggregated structures. The metal centres of dimers, tetramers and higher oligomers may be coordinated to solvent molecules or other chelating ligands such as the amines resulting from the deprotonation. The information available confirms the complexity present in aggregated reacting species whose reactivity can be influenced by many different factors.<sup>9</sup>

### 2. Results and discussion

We have previously reported<sup>5</sup> the optimization of the reaction conditions for the obtention of compounds **3** (Scheme 1) with yields ranging from moderate to high

<sup>\*</sup> Fluorinated Ketene Dithioacetals. Part 13. For part 12, see Ref. 6.

*Keywords*: Fluorine compounds; Lithium dianions; Ketene dithioacetals; Fluoride substitution.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding authors. Tel.: +34 963544339; fax: +34 963543152 (M.P.); tel.: +33 326913234; fax: +33 326913166 (C.P.);

e-mail addresses: margarita.parra@uv.es; charles.portella@univ-reims.fr <sup>†</sup> Present address: Sciences et Méthodes Séparatives-EA 3233, Université de Rouen, IRCOF, F-76821 Mont-Saint-Aignan Cedex, France.

de Rouen, IRCOF, F-70821 Mont-Saint-Aignan Cedex, France.

<sup>0040–4020/\$ -</sup> see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02.082



Scheme 1.

Table 1. Addition of enediolates of (2) to 1a

Entry	Starting acid	Acid product	Yield (%)	<b>1a</b> recovered in the neutral fraction (%)
1	2a	3a	50	24
2	2b	3b	53	14
3	2c	3c	67	22
4	2d	3d	62	25
5	2e	3e	92	8

amine, that in most cases allows to generate the enediolates from the corresponding acid without Barbier's reduction,<sup>10</sup> does not improve the results in this case. The reaction workup had to be optimised when compared with the standard procedure (see Section 3), the fluorinated products being more volatile and less polar than non-fluorinated analogues.<sup>5</sup> Optimised results are summarized in Table 1. It is worth noting that both the starting acid and, more importantly, the perfluoroketene dithioacetal, are easily recovered during the work-up and reused.



Scheme 2.

Table 2. Reaction of dienediolates of (4) with 1a

Entry	Starting acid	Yield (%)	5:6	<b>1a</b> recovered in the neutral fraction (%)
1	4a	53	78:22	9
2	4b	56	50:50	30

(Table 1). The best reaction conditions are: 1 h at room temperature; lithium diisopropylamide as a base in equimolecular amount. Using a sub-stoichiometric amount of We have extended the procedure to the addition of lithium dienediolates from  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated carboxylic acids (Scheme 2). It is well known that those dienediolates behave as ambident nucleophiles through either their  $\alpha$  or  $\gamma$  carbon atom, leading to single or predominant adducts when allowed to react with electrophiles under adequate conditions.<sup>9,11</sup> Thus,  $\alpha$ -attack is favoured for irreversible reactions whereas  $\gamma$ -adducts are obtained on addition to carboxylic compounds or nitriles under equilibrium conditions.<sup>12,13</sup>

The results obtained for the addition of tiglic 4b and



Scheme 3.

dimethylacrylic **4a** acids to the ketene dithioacetal **1a** are reported in Table 2. Double bond *E* geometry for every compound **5** and **6** was determined by NOE experiments, the corresponding *Z* isomers were not observed. Only  $\gamma$ -attack occurred, but an important amount of the adduct undergoes migration of the double bond, leading to the compounds **5** and **6**, respectively. Such an isomerization had already been observed in  $\alpha$ -allyl alkylation products,<sup>14</sup> but required thermal activation (170 °C at least) leading to thermodynamically more stable products, as it was determined by computational calculation. We had not previously observed such an isomerization at room temperature under basic conditions but, in this case, deprotonation of the adduct intermediate seems more feasible (Scheme 3).

On reaction of dienediolates to electrophiles,  $\alpha$ -adducts are expected as the major kinetic product. The fact that only  $\gamma$ -like adducts **5** or **6** are obtained, agrees with a reversible mechanism depicted in Scheme 3. In a first reversible step, the dianion attacks a sp<sup>2</sup> carbon atom, leading to the most stable intermediate that should be the  $\gamma$ -adduct<sup>9</sup> (path b). The subsequent elimination of fluoride may give an intermediate that either gives the  $\gamma$ -adduct **5** or, on deprotonation, leads to a  $\pi$ -extended 5-trifluoromethyl-trienediolate that is expected<sup>7,9a</sup> to be regioselectively protonated at the  $\alpha$  position to form the isomerised acids **6**.

This methodology can be extended to dianions derived from *ortho*-methyl aromatic acids (Scheme 4). The synthetic interest of the dianion from *o*-toluic acid **7a** has been amply demonstrated<sup>13b,15</sup> but, surprisingly, the dianions from 2-methylnicotinic **7b**, 3-methyl-2-thiophenecarboxylic **7c**, 3-methyl-2-picolinic **7d** and 2,5-dimethyl-3-furoic **7e** acids has received much less attention.<sup>16</sup>

The results obtained for the addition of these dianions and the perfluoroketene dithioacetal **1a** are summarised in Table 3. Despite an optimised reaction time for each acid, only moderate yields were obtained except for **8c** (entry 3).

In summary, we have found that this new development of the chemistry of dianions of carboxylic acids can be applied either to saturated, unsaturated, aromatic or heteroaromatic acids. In the case of dianions derived from unsaturated



Scheme 4.

**Table 3.** Addition of dianions from *o*-methyl arenic acids (7) to 1a under optimised conditions<sup>a</sup>

Entry	Starting acid	Acid product	Yield (%)	<b>1a</b> recovered in the neutral fraction (%)
1	7a	8a	40	46
2	7b	8b	33	44
3	7c	8c	80	10
4	7d	8d	39	0
5	7e	8e	39	10

<sup>a</sup> Room temperature; for 4 to 24 h.

carboxylic acids, the first addition step proceeds regioselectively through the  $\gamma$ -position of the dienediolate. The overall process may be considered as a formal synthesis of  $\alpha$ -trifluoromethyl  $\gamma$ -or  $\varepsilon$ -dicarboxylic acid derivatives, where one carboxylic function is masked,<sup>4,6</sup> and constitutes a new application of perfluoroketene dithioacetal **1** as a versatile building block toward the synthesis of multifunctionalised perfluoroalkylated derivatives.

### 3. Experimental

The melting points were determined with a Cambridge Instruments microscope and a Büchi apparatus type 535. IR spectra were obtained with a Matteson Satellite FTIR, type 3000, spectrophotometer. NMR spectra were obtained in CDCl<sub>3</sub> solution from the following spectrophotometers: Varian, types UNITY 300 VXR (300 MHz) and Bruker, types ADVANCE AC-250 (250 MHz), AC-300 (300 MHz), AC-400 (400 MHz) and AC-500 (500 MHz). High resolution mass spectra were determined with a Fisons VG Autoespec. Silica gel Merck 60 (230–400 mesh) was used for flash column chromatography with hexane (mixture of isomers)–Et<sub>2</sub>O mixtures for elution. TLC is revealed with bromocresol green indicator.

All reactions were carried out under argon, using standard conditions, in oven dried glassware. THF was freshly distilled from blue benzophenone ketyl, while the amines were distilled from CaH<sub>2</sub>. The reaction temperature of -78 °C was achieved by cooling with a CO<sub>2</sub>/acetone bath. Organic extracts were dried over anhyd MgSO<sub>4</sub> and evaporated under reduced pressure with a rotary evaporator and a bath at 40 °C.

### 3.1. General procedure

*n*-Butyl lithium (1.6 M in Hexane from Fluka for 2a, 2b, 2c, 2d, 2e, 4a, 4b and 1.6 M in Hexane from Aldrich for 7a, 7b, 7c, 7d, 7e, 2.50 mmol) was introduced into a previously purged reaction flask. Hexane was evaporated under vacuum and THF (2 mL) followed by the amine (2.25 mmol) were added at -78 °C. The mixture was stirred for 15 min at 0 °C. The acid 2, 4 or 7 (1.125 mmol) was slowly added at -78 °C. After 1 h at 0 °C (1 h rt for 7a) the perfluoroketene dithioacetal 1a (1.125 mmol) in THF (1 mL) was slowly added at -78 °C. The solution was stirred at rt (1 h for 2a, 2b, 2c, 2e, 4a, 4b, 4 h for 2d, 7b, 7d and 8 h for 7a, 7c, 7e) and quenched with water (15 mL). The reaction mixture was extracted with hexane (3× 15 mL). These fractions yielded mainly unreacted

perfluoroketene dithioacetal. The aqueous layer was continuously extracted with diethyl ether for 24 h. The etheral fraction was washed with concentrated HCl until pH=1 to give the condensation product (3, 5, 6 or 8) with chromatographic purity. The remaining aqueous fraction was acidified with concentrated HCl until pH=1, then extracted with hexane ( $3 \times 15$  mL). This fraction led to products 3, 5, 6 and 8 with 5–10% of unreacted starting acid. The remaining aqueous phase was extracted with ethyl acetate ( $3 \times 15$  mL) leading to unreacted starting acid.

**3.1.1. 4,4-Bis(ethylsulfanyl)-3-trifluoromethyl-3-butenoic acid (3a).** From acetic acid **2a** (68 mg, 1.125 mmol) and 1,1-bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2,3,3,3-tetrafluoropropene **1a** (263 mg, 1.125 mmol), the reaction was carried out following the general procedure. Yield: 152 mg (50%), as brown oil.

IR (NaCl).  $\nu_{\text{max}} = 3054$ , 2987, 1732, 1422, 1265, 896, 739 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 300 MHz).  $\delta$  = 1.20–1.26 (m, 6H, 2 S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.80–2.86 (m, 4H, 2 S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.77 (s, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>–COOH).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 125 MHz).  $\delta$ =15.1 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 15.3 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 28.5 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 29.4 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 37.6 (q, <sup>3</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=2.6 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>-COOH), 123.1 (q, <sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=273.9 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>), 129.4 (q, <sup>2</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=29.3 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>-*C*=C-S), 147.6 (q, <sup>3</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=2.6 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>-C=C-S), 176.0 (s, COOH).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 282 MHz).  $\delta = -56.9$  (s).

MS (EI). m/z (%): 274 (M<sup>+</sup>, 15), 246 (M<sup>+</sup> – Et, 62), 245 (M<sup>+</sup> – 2Me, 81), 229 (M<sup>+</sup> – COOH, 100), 225 (M<sup>+</sup> – 2Me– F, 80), 218 (M<sup>+</sup> – 2F–H<sub>2</sub>O, 26), 200 (M<sup>+</sup> – COOH–Et, 29), 185 (M<sup>+</sup> – SEt–Et, 12), 165 (M<sup>+</sup> – SEt–Et–HF, 47), 139 (85), 117 (38), 89 (M<sup>+</sup> – CH<sub>2</sub>COOH–Et, 16), 75 (17), 61 (SEt, 19).

HRMS. m/z calculated for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>13</sub>F<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>: 274.0309, found: 274.0318.

**3.1.2. 4,4-Bis(ethylsulfanyl)-3-trifluoromethyl-2,2dimethylbut-3-enoic acid (3b).** From isobutyric acid **2b** (99 mg, 1.125 mmol) and 1,1-bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2,3,3,3tetrafluoropropene **1a** (263 mg, 1.125 mmol), the reaction was carried out following the general procedure. Yield: 179 mg (53%), yellow crystals; mp 85–88 °C.

IR (NaCl).  $\nu_{\text{max}} = 2966$ , 2929, 1693, 1528, 1448, 1380, 1267, 1156, 1109 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 250 MHz).  $\delta$  = 1.24 (t, *J*=7.1 Hz, 3H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.27 (t, *J*=7.1 Hz, 3H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.57 (s, 6H, CH<sub>3</sub>-C-COOH), 2.84 (q, *J*=7.1 Hz, 2H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.86 (q, *J*=7.1 Hz, 2H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 63 MHz). δ = 12.5 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 13.5 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 25.4 (s, CH<sub>3</sub>), 27.8 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>), 28.4 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>), 48.8 (s, *C*–COOH), 122.6 (q, <sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=278.1 Hz,

CF<sub>3</sub>), 133.2 (q,  ${}^{2}J_{CF}$ =26.0 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>-C=C-S), 145.8 (q,  ${}^{3}J_{CF}$ =3.4 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>-C=C), 182.6 (s, COOH).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 235 MHz).  $\delta = -53.5$  (s).

MS(EI). m/z (%): 302 (M<sup>+</sup>, 22), 287 (M<sup>+</sup> – CH<sub>3</sub>, 10), 273 (M<sup>+</sup> – Et, 73), 257 (M<sup>+</sup> – COOH, 100), 195 (M<sup>+</sup> – COOH–SEt, 73) 167 (M<sup>+</sup> – COOH–SEt–Et, 57).

HRMS. m/z calculated for  $C_{11}H_{17}F_3O_2S_2$ : 302.0622, found: 302.0634.

**3.1.3. 4,4-Bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2-propyl-3-trifluoromethyl-3-butenoic acid (3c).** From valeric acid **2c** (113 mg, 1.125 mmol) and 1,1-bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2,3,3,3-tetrafluoropropene **1a** (263 mg, 1.125 mmol), the reaction was carried out following the general procedure. Yield: 238 mg (67%), yellow crystals; mp 84–86 °C.

IR (NaCl).  $\nu_{\text{max}} = 3500 - 2500$ , 2966, 1711, 1416, 1299, 1162, 1140, 1117, 660 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 300 MHz).  $\delta$ =0.94 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H, CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.3 (m, 6H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.4 (m, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.5 (m, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.6 (m, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>-CH-COOH), 2.1 (m, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>-CH-COOH), 2.7–3.0 (m, 4H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.61 (ddm, *J*=7.9, 5.4 Hz, 1H, CH-COOH).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 126 MHz). δ = 14.3 (s, CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 14.9 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 15.2 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 20.8 (s, CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH-COOH), 28.6 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>), 28.9 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>), 32.0 (s, CH<sub>2</sub>-CH-COOH), 48.5 (s, CH-COOH), 123.3 (q, <sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=275.6 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>), 135.2 (q, <sup>2</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=27.4 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>-*C*=C-S), 146.2 (q, <sup>3</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=3.4 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>-C=*C*-S), 178.6 (s, COOH).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 282 MHz).  $\delta = -54.6$  (s).

MS(EI). m/z (%): 316 (M<sup>+</sup>, 44), 287 (M<sup>+</sup> – Et, 57), 271 (M<sup>+</sup> – Me–Et, 87), 255 (M<sup>+</sup> – SEt, 36), 235 (31), 210 (50), 183 (47), 165 (42), 139 (M<sup>+</sup> – 2SEt–CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>, 100), 103 (28).

HRMS. m/z calculated for  $C_{12}H_{19}F_3O_2S_2$ : 316.0779, found: 316.0789.

**3.1.4. 4,4-Bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2-phenyl-3-trifluoromethyl-3-butenoic acid (3d).** From phenylacetic acid **2d** (153 mg, 1.125 mmol) and 1,1-bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2,3,3,3-tetrafluoropropene **1a** (263 mg, 1.125 mmol), the reaction was carried out following the general procedure. Yield: 239 mg (62%), colourless crystals; mp 98–100 °C.

IR (NaCl).  $\nu_{\text{max}} = 3500 - 2500$ , 2988, 1712, 1549, 1451, 1295, 1130, 706 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 400 MHz).  $\delta$ =1.23 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.27 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.8 (m, 2H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.9 (m, 2H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 6.01 (s, 1H, CH–COOH), 7.2–7.4 (m, 5H, Ph).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 100 MHz).  $\delta = 14.9$  (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 15.2 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 28.7 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>), 29.3 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>), 53.6 (s, CH–COOH), 123.3 (q,  ${}^{1}J_{CF}$ =275.6 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>), 127.8 (s, CH<sub>Ar</sub>), 128.8 (s, CH<sub>Ar</sub>), 129.1 (s, CH<sub>Ar</sub>), 134.8 (q,  ${}^{2}J_{CF}$ =28.1 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>–C=C–S), 135.5 (s, Cq<sub>Ar</sub>), 147.4 (m, CF<sub>3</sub>–C=C–S), 176.7 (s, COOH).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 282 MHz).  $\delta = -53.4$  (s).

MS (EI). m/z (%): 350 (M<sup>+</sup>, 27), 330 (M<sup>+</sup> – HF, 7), 321 (M<sup>+</sup> – Et, 13), 300 (M<sup>+</sup> – HF–2Me, 14), 289 (M<sup>+</sup> – SEt, 57), 259 (M<sup>+</sup> – SEt–Et, 9), 241 (17), 227 (M<sup>+</sup> – 2SEt–H, 100), 215 (M<sup>+</sup> – PhCHCOOH, 21), 195 (M<sup>+</sup> – PhCHCOOH–HF, 82), 179 (M<sup>+</sup> – Ph–COOH–2Me–F, 26), 151 (M<sup>+</sup> – PhCHCOOH–HF–Me–Et, 30), 121 (9), 77 (C<sub>5</sub>H<sub>5</sub>, 6).

HRMS. *m*/*z* calculated for  $C_{15}H_{17}F_3O_2S_2$ : 350.0622, found: 350.0622.

**3.1.5. 4,4-Bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2-benzyl-3-trifluoromethyl-3-butenoic acid (3e).** From hydrocinnamic acid **2e** (169 mg, 1.125 mmol) and 1,1-bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2,3,3,3-tetrafluoropropene **1a** (263 mg, 1.125 mmol), the reaction was carried out following the general procedure. Yield: 370 mg (92%), colourless crystals; mp 161–164 °C.

IR (KBr).  $v_{\text{max}} = 3445, 3085, 2972, 2924, 1716, 1636, 1454, 1454, 1294, 1180, 1163 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ .

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 250 MHz).  $\delta = 1.06$  (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.07 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.39 (dq, J = 13.0, 7.3 Hz, 1H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.55–2.80 (m, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.90 (dd, J = 14.1, 10.5 Hz, 1H, Ph–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH–COOH), 3.56 (dd, J = 14.1, 4.3 Hz, 1H, Ph–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH–COOH), 4.98 (ddm, J = 10.5, 4.3 Hz, 1H, CH–COOH), 7.1–7.3 (m, 5H, Ph).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 63 MHz).  $\delta$  = 15.1 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 15.2 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 28.8 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>), 29.0 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>), 36.2 (s, CH<sub>2</sub>–CH–COOH), 50.9 (s, CH–COOH), 123.6 (q, <sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>= 277.3 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>), 126.9 (s, CH<sub>Ar</sub>), 128.7 (s, CH<sub>Ar</sub>), 130.2 (s, CH<sub>Ar</sub>), 131.8 (q, <sup>2</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=27.4 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>–C=C–S), 138.3 (s, Cq<sub>Ar</sub>), 148.0 (q, <sup>3</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=2.7 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>–C=C–S), 177.7 (s, COOH).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 235 MHz).  $\delta = -54.2$  (s).

MS (EI). m/z (%): 364 (M<sup>+</sup>, 4), 273 (M<sup>+</sup> - C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>7</sub>, 100), 211 (M<sup>+</sup> - C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>7</sub>-SEt, 28), 183 (M<sup>+</sup> - C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>7</sub>-SEt-Et, 18), 91 (C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>7</sub>, 25).

HRMS. m/z calculated for  $C_{16}H_{19}F_3O_2S_2$ : 364.0779, found: 364.0797.

### **3.2.** Reaction of 3-methylcrotonic acid with 1,1bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2,3,3,3-tetrafluoropropene

The reaction of 3-methylcrotonic acid 4a (113 mg, 1.125 mmol) and 1,1-bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2,3,3,3-tetrafluoropropene 1a (263 mg, 1.125 mmol) was carried out following the general procedure. Yield: 175 mg (53%) as yellow oil (mixture 5a and 6a, 78:22). Column chromatography on silica gel led to the isolation of both products. **3.2.1.** 2-(*E*)-6,6-Bis-(ethylsulfanyl)-3-methyl-5-trifluoromethyl-hexa-2,5-dienoic acid (5a). Yellow oil.

IR(KBr).  $\nu = 3500-2900$ , 2967, 2929, 1694, 1644, 1418, 1296, 1259, 1216, 1158, 1128, 1093 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 400 MHz).  $\delta$ =1.26 (t, *J*=7.3 Hz, 3H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.30 (t, *J*=7.3 Hz, 3H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.21 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>-C=), 2.86 (q, *J*=7.3 Hz, 2H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.89 (q, *J*=7.3 Hz, 2H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.54 (s, 2H, =C-CH<sub>2</sub>-C=), 5.57 (s, 1H, =CH-COOH).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 100 MHz).  $\delta$ =14.8 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-*C*H<sub>3</sub>), 15.0 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-*C*H<sub>3</sub>), 19.2 (s, CH<sub>3</sub>-*C*=), 28.0 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>), 29.1 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>), 42.5 (q, <sup>3</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=2.7 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>-C-*C*H<sub>2</sub>), 115.5 (s, C=*C*H-COOH), 122.9 (q, <sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=275.0 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>), 132.5 (q, <sup>2</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=28.0 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>-*C*=C-S), 146.3 (s, =*C*(SEt)<sub>2</sub>), 158.7 (s, CH<sub>3</sub>-*C*=CH), 171.8 (s, COOH).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 282 MHz).  $\delta = -56.5$  (s).

MS (EI). m/z (%): 314 (M<sup>+</sup>, 2), 285 (M<sup>+</sup> – Et, 85), 253 (M<sup>+</sup> – SEt, 41), 177 (M<sup>+</sup> – 2SEt–CH<sub>3</sub>, 53), 159 (M<sup>+</sup> – CH=CHCHCOOH–CH<sub>3</sub>–2Et, 61), 140 (M<sup>+</sup> – SEt–CO<sub>2</sub>–CF<sub>3</sub>, 100).

HRMS. m/z calculated for  $C_{12}H_{17}F_3O_2S_2$ : 314.0622, found: 314.0599.

Further elution allowed the isolation of **6a** as yellow oil.

**3.2.2. 3**-(*E*)-**6**,**6**-Bis-(ethylsulfanyl)-**3**-methyl-**5**-trifluoromethyl-hexa-**3**,**5**-dienoic acid (6a). IR(KBr).  $\nu$ =3500–2800, 2968, 2929, 1709, 1654, 1417, 1291, 1261, 1211, 1101 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 400 MHz).  $\delta = 1.27$  (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.30 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.74 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>–C=), 2.87 (q, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.88 (q, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.19 (s, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>–COOH), 5.88 (s, 1H, CH=).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 125 MHz).  $\delta$ =14.8 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 14.9 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 18.5 (s, CH<sub>3</sub>-C=), 27.9 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>), 29.4 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>), 43.9 (s, CH<sub>2</sub>-COOH), 122.9 (q, <sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>= 274.7 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>), 123.8 (s, CF<sub>3</sub>-C-CH=C), 131.4 (q, <sup>2</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>= 29.9 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>-C=C-S), 136.0 (s, C=C-CH<sub>2</sub>COOH), 144.8 (s, =C(SEt)<sub>2</sub>), 176.0 (s, COOH).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 282 MHz).  $\delta = -56.2$  (s).

MS (EI). m/z (%): 314 (M<sup>+</sup>, 1), 285 (M<sup>+</sup> – Et, 85), 239 (M<sup>+</sup> – CH<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>2</sub>COOH, 19), 179 (M<sup>+</sup> – CH<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>2</sub>-COOH–SEt, 11), 89 ((C<sub>4</sub>H<sub>3</sub>F<sub>2</sub>)<sup>+</sup>, 13), 69 ((CF<sub>3</sub>)<sup>+</sup>, 83).

HRMS. m/z calculated for  $C_{12}H_{17}F_3O_2S_2$ : 314.0622, found: 314.0556.

# **3.3.** Reaction of tiglic acid with 1,1-bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2,3,3,3-tetrafluoropropene

The reaction of tiglic acid **4b** (113 mg, 1.125 mmol) with 1,1-bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2,3,3,3-tetrafluoropropene **1a** 

(263 mg, 1.125 mmol) was carried out following the general procedure. Yield: 184 mg (56%) as yellow oil (mixture **5b** and **6b**, 50:50). Column chromatography led to the isolation of both products.

**3.3.1.** 2-(*E*)-6,6-Bis-(ethylsulfanyl)-2-methyl-5-trifluoromethyl-hexa-2,5-dienoic acid (5b). Yellow oil.

IR(KBr).  $\nu = 2929$ , 2852, 1770, 1698, 1455, 1297, 1262, 1166, 1128 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 400 MHz).  $\delta = 1.27$  (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.28 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.94 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>-C=), 2.85 (q, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.90 (q, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.58 (d, J = 7.4 Hz, 2H, =C-CH<sub>2</sub>-C=), 6.70 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 1H, CH=C).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 100 MHz).  $\delta$  = 12.7 (s, C=C-*C*H<sub>3</sub>), 14.6 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-*C*H<sub>3</sub>), 15.1 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-*C*H<sub>3</sub>), 28.0 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>), 28.8 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>), 29.7 (s, =C-*C*H<sub>2</sub>-*C*=), 115.1 (q, <sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>= 275.4 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>), 128.3 (q, <sup>2</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=35.5 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>-*C*=C-S), 129.5 (s, CH<sub>3</sub>-*C*-COOH), 139.6 (s, *C*H=C-COOH), 145.1 (s, =*C*(SEt)<sub>2</sub>), 171.0 (s, COOH).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 282 MHz).  $\delta = -55.3$  (s).

MS (EI). m/z (%): 314 (M<sup>+</sup>, 34), 285 (M<sup>+</sup> – Et, 100), 239 (M<sup>+</sup> – 2CH<sub>3</sub>–COOH, 50), 223 (M<sup>+</sup> – CH=CHCH<sub>3</sub>–COOH, 46), 221 (M<sup>+</sup> – CH<sub>3</sub>CHCOOH–F, 95), 97 ((C<sub>5</sub>H<sub>5</sub>O<sub>2</sub>)<sup>+</sup>, 53).

HRMS. m/z calculated for  $C_{12}H_{17}F_3O_2S_2$ : 314.0622, found: 314.0688.

Further elution led to the isolation of **6b** as yellow oil.

**3.3.2. 3**-(*E*)-**6**,**6**-Bis-(ethylsulfanyl)-2-methyl-5-trifluoromethyl-hexa-3,5-dienoic acid (6b). IR(KBr).  $\nu$ =3000–2800, 1699, 1301, 1261, 1161, 1124 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 400 MHz).  $\delta = 1.28$  (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.29 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.39 (d, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>–CH–COOH), 2.89 (q, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.90 (q, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.30 (m, 1H, CH–COOH), 6.01 (ddd, J = 16.4, 8.1, 1.8 Hz, 1H, CF<sub>3</sub>–C–CH=CH), 6.61 (d, J = 16.4 Hz, 1H, CF<sub>3</sub>–C–CH).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 125 MHz).  $\delta$ =14.8 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 14.9 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 17.0 (s, CH<sub>3</sub>–CH–COOH), 28.9 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>), 29.7 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>), 43.5 (s, CH–COOH), 122.8 (q, <sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=275.1 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>), 125.7 (s, CF<sub>3</sub>–C–CH), 131.4 (q, <sup>2</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=28.3 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>–C=C–S), 133.2 (s, CH=CH–C– COOH), 144.5 (s, =*C*–(SEt)<sub>2</sub>), 179.1 (s, COOH).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 282 MHz).  $\delta = -56.5$  (s).

MS (EI). m/z (%): 314 (M<sup>+</sup>, 12), 285 (M<sup>+</sup> – Et, 100), 239 (M<sup>+</sup> – CH<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>2</sub>COOH, 19), 223 (M<sup>+</sup> – SEt–Et, 28), 179 (M<sup>+</sup> – CH<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>2</sub>COOH–SEt, 23).

HRMS. m/z calculated for  $C_{12}H_{17}F_3O_2S_2$ : 314.0622, found: 314.0556.

**3.3.3.** 2-(3',3'-Bis-(ethylsulfanyl)-2'-trifluoromethylallyl)-benzoic acid (8a). From *ortho*-toluic acid 7a (155 mg, 1.125 mmol) and 1,1-bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2,3,3,3tetrafluoropropene 1a (263 mg, 1.125 mmol), the reaction was carried out following the general procedure. Yield: 158 mg (40%) as a brown oil.

IR (KBr).  $\nu_{\text{max}} = 3600 - 3200, 2963, 2938, 1694, 1297, 1244, 1160, 1129, 1091 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ .

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 300 MHz).  $\delta = 1.23$  (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.30 (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.83 (q, J = 7.5 Hz, 2H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.84 (q, J = 7.5 Hz, 2H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.50 (s, 2H, Ar-CH<sub>2</sub>), 7.08 (d,  $J_{cd} = 7.5$  Hz, 1H, Hd, CH<sub>Ar</sub>–C<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>2</sub>), 7.28 (t,  $J_{ab} = 7.5$  Hz,  $J_{bc} = 7.5$  Hz, 1H, Hb, CH<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>–CAr–COOH), 7.45 (dt,  $J_{cd} = 7.5$  Hz,  $J_{cb} = 7.5$  Hz,  $J_{ac} = 1.2$  Hz, 1H, Hc, CH<sub>Ar</sub>–CA<sub>r</sub>–CH<sub>2</sub>), 8.12 (dd.,  $J_{ab} = 7.5$  Hz,  $J_{ac} = 1.2$  Hz, 1H, Ha, CH<sub>Ar</sub>–CA<sub>r</sub>–COOH).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 75 MHz).  $\delta$  = 17.8 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 18.7 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 28.0 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>), 29.0 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>), 35.1 (s, Ar-CH<sub>2</sub>), 123.2 (q, <sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=275.9 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>), 127.8 (s, *C*H<sub>Ar</sub>–C<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>2</sub>), 131.0 (s, *C*<sub>Ar</sub>–COOH), 131.8 (s, *C*H<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>–C<sub>Ar</sub>–COOH), 131.9 (s, *C*H<sub>Ar</sub>–C<sub>Ar</sub>–COOH), 132.8 (s, *C*H<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>–COOH), 134.6 (q, <sup>2</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=27.6 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>–C=C–S), 140.6 (s, *C*<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>2</sub>), 145.0 (s, =*C*(SEt)<sub>2</sub>), 170.4 (s, COOH).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 282 MHz).  $\delta = -56.5$  (s).

MS (EI). m/z (%): 350 (M<sup>+</sup>, 4), 321 (M<sup>+</sup> – Et, 11), 289 (M<sup>+</sup> – SEt, 75), 229 (M<sup>+</sup> – Ph–COOH, 37), 195 (M<sup>+</sup> – CH<sub>2</sub>–C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>COOH–HF, 72), 179 (M<sup>+</sup> – CH<sub>2</sub>C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>COOH–HF–CH<sub>4</sub>, 59), 133 ((CH C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>COO)<sup>+</sup>, 100), 77 (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, 23).

HRMS. m/z calculated for  $C_{15}H_{17}F_3O_2S_2$ : 350.0622, found: 350.0622.

**3.3.4.** 2-(3',3'-Bis-(ethylsulfanyl)-2'-trifluoromethylallyl)-nicotinic acid (8b). From 2-methylnicotinic acid 7b (155 mg, 1.125 mmol) and 1,1-bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2,3,3,3tetrafluoropropene 1a (263 mg, 1.125 mmol), the reaction was carried out following the general procedure. Yield: 108 mg (33%), as yellow oil.

IR (KBr).  $\nu_{\text{max}} = 2925, 2853, 1790, 1580, 1455, 1296, 1261, 1157, 1130, 804 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ .

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 500 MHz).  $\delta$ =1.29 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.35 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.83 (q, *J*=7.5 Hz, 2H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.87 (q, *J*=7.5 Hz, 2H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.69 (s, 2H, Ar-CH<sub>2</sub>), 7.26 (dd, *J*<sub>bc</sub>=7.9 Hz, *J*<sub>ab</sub>=4.7 Hz, 1H, Hb, *CH*<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>–C<sub>Ar</sub>–COOH), 8.34 (dd, *J*<sub>cb</sub>=7.9 Hz, *J*<sub>ca</sub>=1.8 Hz, 1H, Hc, *CH*<sub>Ar</sub>–C<sub>Ar</sub>–COOH), 8.66 (dd, *J*<sub>ab</sub>=4.7 Hz, *J*<sub>ac</sub>=1.8 Hz, 1H, Ha, N–CH<sub>Ar</sub>).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 125 MHz).  $\delta$  = 14.8 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 15.0 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 28.8 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>), 29.8 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>), 39.5 (s, Ar-CH<sub>2</sub>), 121.2 (N–CH<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>), 123.2 (q, <sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub> = 274.0 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>), 123.4 (s, *C*<sub>Ar</sub>–COOH), 135.1 (q, <sup>2</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub> = 27.6 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>–C=C–S), 139.3 (s, CH<sub>Ar</sub>–C<sub>Ar</sub>–COOH), 143.1 (s, =*C*(SEt)<sub>2</sub>), 152.6 (s, N–CH<sub>Ar</sub>), 160.4 (s, N–*C*<sub>Ar</sub>), 170.6 (s, COOH). <sup>19</sup>F NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 282 MHz).  $\delta = -56.5$  (s,).

MS (EI). m/z (%): 290 (M<sup>+</sup> – COOH–CH<sub>4</sub>, 100), 256 (M<sup>+</sup> – 2Et–2F, 38), 229 (M<sup>+</sup> – C<sub>5</sub>H<sub>5</sub>O<sub>2</sub>N, 71), 85 (M<sup>+</sup> – CF<sub>3</sub>–SEt–CH<sub>3</sub>, 28), 71 ((CH<sub>2</sub>C=CSH)<sup>+</sup>, 37), 69 ((CF<sub>3</sub>)<sup>+</sup>, 24), 57 ((CFCCH<sub>2</sub>)<sup>+</sup>, 46).

HRMS. m/z calculated for  $C_{12}H_{11}F_3NS_2$  (M<sup>+</sup>-COOH-CH<sub>4</sub>): 290.0285, found: 290.0320.

**3.3.5. 3-(3',3'-Bis-(ethylsulfanyl)-2'-trifluoromethylallyl)-thiophene-2-carboxylic acid (8c).** From 3-methyl-2-thiophenecarboxylic acid **7c** (163 mg, 1.125 mmol) and 1,1-bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2,3,3,3-tetrafluoro-propene **1a** (263 mg, 1.125 mmol), the reaction was carried out following the general procedure. Yield: 320 mg (80%) as white solid; mp 55–57 °C.

IR (KBr).  $\nu_{\text{max}} = 2961, 2926, 1532, 1431, 1296, 1271, 1152, 1129, 1088 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ .

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 500 MHz).  $\delta = 1.25$  (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.33 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.88 (q, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.89 (q, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.45 (s, 2H, Ar-CH<sub>2</sub>), 6.85 (d, J = 4.8 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>Ar</sub>-CH<sub>Ar</sub>-S), 7.53 (d, J = 4.8 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>Ar</sub>-CH<sub>Ar</sub>-S).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 125 MHz).  $\delta$ =14.9 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–*C*H<sub>3</sub>), 14.9 (s, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–*C*H<sub>3</sub>), 28.0 (s, S–*C*H<sub>2</sub>), 28.9 (s, S–*C*H<sub>2</sub>), 33.0 (s, Ar-*C*H<sub>2</sub>), 120.9 (q, <sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>=275.5 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>), 125.7 (s, S–*C*<sub>Ar</sub>–COOH), 129.2 (s, *C*H<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>–S), 132.1 (s, *C*H<sub>Ar</sub>–S), 134.6 (q, <sup>2</sup>*J*=27.6 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>–*C*=C–S), 145.1 (CF<sub>3</sub>– C=*C*–S), 148.0 (*C*<sub>Ar</sub>–C<sub>Ar</sub>–COOH), 166.8 (s, COOH).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 282 MHz).  $\delta = -56.4$  (s).

MS (EI). m/z (%): 356 (M<sup>+</sup>, 8), 326 (M<sup>+</sup> – 2Me, 13), 295 (M<sup>+</sup> – SEt, 100), 265 (M<sup>+</sup> – HSEt–Et, 56), 233 (M–HSEt–SEt, 26), 201 (M<sup>+</sup> – HSEt–COOH–F–CH<sub>3</sub>, 47).

HRMS. m/z calculated for  $C_{13}H_{15}F_3O_2S_3$ : 356.0186, found: 356.0143.

**3.3.6. 3-(3',3'-Bis-(ethylsulfanyl)-2'-trifluoromethylallyl)-2-picolinic acid (8d).** From 3-methyl-2-picolinic acid **7d** (78 mg, 0.563 mmol) and 1,1-bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2,3,3,3-tetrafluoropropene **1a** (132 mg, 0.563 mmol), the reaction was carried out following the general procedure. Yield: 84 mg (39%), as a red oil.

IR (KBr).  $\nu_{\text{max}} = 3500 - 2500, 2969, 2929, 1760, 1714, 1559, 1298, 1124, 779 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ .

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (MeOD, 400 MHz).  $\delta = 1.23$  (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.32 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.94 (q, J = 7.3 Hz, 4H, S–CH<sub>2</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.54 (s, 2H, Ar-CH<sub>2</sub>), 7.63 (dd,  $J_{bc} = 7.9$  Hz,  $J_{ab} = 4.4$  Hz, 1H, Hb,  $CH_{Ar}$ –CH<sub>Ar</sub>–C<sub>Ar</sub>–COOH), 7.66 (d,  $J_{cb} = 7.9$  Hz, 1H, Hc,  $CH_{Ar}$ –CH<sub>Ar</sub>–N), 8.53 (d,  $J_{ab} = 4.4$  Hz, 1H, H<sub>a</sub>, N–CH<sub>Ar</sub>).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (MeOD, 100 MHz). δ=13.9 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 14.1 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 27.6 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>), 28.6 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>), 34.0 (s, Ar-CH<sub>2</sub>), 114.4 (s, C<sub>Ar</sub>-CH<sub>2</sub>), 123.2 (q, <sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>= 273.7 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>), 126.5 (s, N–CH<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>), 132.3 (q,  ${}^{2}J_{CF}$ = 27.7 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>–*C*=C–S), 137.8 (s, CH<sub>2</sub>–C<sub>Ar</sub>–CH<sub>Ar</sub>), 145.3 (s, CH<sub>Ar</sub> N), 146.3 (s, =*C*–(SEt)<sub>2</sub>), 147.7 (s, C<sub>Ar</sub>–COOH), 166.6 (s, COOH).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR (MeOD, 282 MHz).  $\delta = -57.7$  (s).

MS (EI). m/z (%): 351 (M<sup>+</sup>, 29), 322 (M<sup>+</sup> – Et, 100), 291 (M<sup>+</sup> – SEt, 76), 290 (M<sup>+</sup> – HSEt, 75) 278 (M<sup>+</sup> – Et–CO<sub>2</sub>, 37), 276 (M<sup>+</sup> – Et–CO<sub>2</sub>, 25), 260 (M<sup>+</sup> – Et–HSEt, 81), 242 (42%), 216 (82%), 214 (60%), 196 (46%), 185 (53%), 149 (26%), 62 (SC<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub><sup>+</sup>, 23%).

HRMS. m/z calculated for  $C_{14}H_{16}F_3NO_2S_2$ : 351.0574, found: 351.0534.

**3.3.7.** 2-(3',3'-Bis-(ethylsulfanyl)-2'-trifluoromethylallyl)-5-methyl-3-furoic acid (8e). From 2,5-dimethyl-3furoic acid 7e (158 mg, 1.125 mmol) and 1,1-bis(ethylsulfanyl)-2,3,3,3-tetrafluoro-propene 1a (263 mg, 1.125 mmol), the reaction was carried out following the general procedure. Yield: 155 mg (39%) as a yellow oil.

IR (KBr).  $\nu_{\text{max}} = 2927, 2855, 1688, 1458, 1298, 1162, 1130, 808 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ .

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 400 MHz).  $\delta$ =1.29 (t, *J*=7.3 Hz, 6H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.24 (s, 3H, C<sub>Ar</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.87 (q, *J*=7.3 Hz, 2H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.89 (q, *J*=7.3 Hz, 2H, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.45 (s, 2H, Ar-CH<sub>2</sub>), 6.30 (s, 1H, CH<sub>Ar</sub>-C<sub>Ar</sub>-O).

<sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 100 MHz).  $\delta$ =13.1 (s, CH<sub>3</sub>-C=), 15.0 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 15.3 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 27.9 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>), 28.8 (s, S-CH<sub>2</sub>), 30.3 (s, Ar-CH<sub>2</sub>), 106.5 (s, CH<sub>3</sub>-C<sub>Ar</sub>=CH<sub>Ar</sub>), 113.4 (s, C<sub>Ar</sub>-COOH), 122.9 (q, <sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CF</sub>= 274.8 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>), 131.9 (q, <sup>2</sup>*J*=27.9 Hz, CF<sub>3</sub>-C=C-S), 145.4 (s, CF<sub>3</sub>-C=C-S), 151.2 (s, CH<sub>3</sub>-C<sub>Ar</sub>-O), 157.2 (s, C<sub>Ar</sub>-C<sub>Ar</sub>-COOH), 168.7 (s, COOH).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 282 MHz).  $\delta = -59.1$  (s).

MS (EI). *m*/*z* (%): 354 (M<sup>+</sup>, 17), 293 (M<sup>+</sup> – SEt, 76), 263 (M<sup>+</sup> – HSEt–Et, 100), 139 (C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>7</sub>O<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup>, 50), 105 (27%).

HRMS. m/z calculated for  $C_{14}H_{17}F_3O_3S_2$ : 354.0571, found: 354.0656.

### Acknowledgements

The present research has been supported in Spain by DCICYT (PPQ2002-00986) and in France by European Commission (Marie Curie Training Site HPMT-CT-2000-00112).

#### **References and notes**

(a) Muzard, M.; Portella, C. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 29–31.
 (b) Huot, J. F.; Muzard, M.; Portella, C. Synlett 1995, 247–248.
 (c) Hénin, B.; Huot, J. F.; Portella, C. J. Fluorine Chem. 2001,

*107*, 281–283. (d) Bouillon, J. P.; Hénin, B.; Huot, J. F.; Portella, C. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2002**, 1556–1561. (e) Brulé, C.; Bouillon, J. P.; Nicolaï, E.; Portella, C. *Synthesis* **2003**, 436–442. (f) Bouillon, J. P.; Tinant, B.; Nuzillard, J. M.; Portella, C. *Synthesis* **2004**, 711–721.

- (a) Wilkinson, J. A. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 505–519.
   (b) Hiyama, T. Organofluorine Compounds: Chemistry and applications; Springer: Berlin, 2000. (c) Welch, J. T.; Eswarakrishnan, S. Fluorine in Bioorganic Chemistry; Wiley: New York, 1991. (d) Ruzicka, L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 1320–1357. (e) Silvester, M. J. Aldrichimica Acta 1995, 28, 45–54. (f) Resnati, G. Il Farmaco 1990, 45, 1137–1167.
- 3. (a) Biomedicinal Aspects of Fluorine Compounds; Filler, R., Kobayashi, Y., Eds.; Elsevier: New York, 1982. (b) Welch, J. T. Tetrahedron 1987, 43, 3123–3197. (c) Hewitt, C. D.; Silvester, M. J. Aldrichimica Acta 1988, 21, 3–10. (d) Differding, E.; Frick, W.; Long, R. W.; Martin, P.; Schmit, C.; Vegustra, S.; Greuter, H. Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg 1990, 99, 647–671. (e) Silvester, M. J. Aldrichimica Acta 1991, 24, 31–38.
- Portella, C.; Bouillon, J.-P. Perfluoroketene dithioacetals. In *Fluorine—Containing Synthons*; Soloshonok, V. A., Ed.; ACS Publications Division and Oxford University Press: Washington, DC, 2005; in press.
- Sotoca, E.; Bouillon, J. P.; Gil, S.; Parra, M.; Portella, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 8315–8317.
- Brulé, C.; Bouillon, J. P.; Portella, C. *Tetrahedron* 2004, 60, 9849–9855.
- (a) Mekelburger, H. B.; Wilcos, C. S. Formation of enolates. In *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis*; Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; pp 99–131. (b) Claiden, J. Organolithiums: Selectivity for Synthesis. In Baldwin, J. E., William, R. M., Eds.; Tetrahedron Organic Chemistry Series; Pergamon: Oxford, 2002; Vol. 23, pp 77–78.
- Juaristi, E.; Beck, A. K.; Hansen, J.; Matt, T.; Mukhopedhyay, T.; Simon, M.; Seebach, D. *Synthesis* **1993**, 1271–1290.
- 9. (a) Gil, S.; Parra, M. Current Organic Chemistry 2002, 6,

283–302. (b) Gil, S.; Parra, M. Recent Res. Dev. Org. Chem.
2002, 6, 449–481. (c) Majewski, M.; Green, J. R.; Snieckus, V. Tetrahedron Lett. 1986, 27, 535–538. (d) Kusumoto, T.; Ichikawa, S.; Asaka, K.; Sato, K.-I.; Hiyama, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 1071–1074. (e) Streitwieser, A.; Weng, Z.-R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 6213–6219. (f) Brun, E. M.; Gil, S.; Parra, M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2001, 12, 915–921. (g) Parra, M.; Sotoca, E.; Gil, S. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 1386–1388.

- Brun, E. M.; Casades, I.; Gil, S.; Mestres, R.; Parra, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 5443–5446.
- (a) Brun, E. M.; Gil, S.; Mestres, R.; Parra, M. *Tetrahedron* 1998, 54, 15305–15320. (b) Brun, E. M.; Gil, S.; Mestres, R.; Parra, M. *Synthesis* 2000, 1160–1165. (c) Brun, E. M.; Gil, S.; Mestres, R.; Parra, M. *Synlett* 2001, 156–159. (d) Gil, S.; Torres, M.; Ortuzar, N.; Wincewicz, R.; Parra, M. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2004, 2160–2165.
- (a) Cainelli, G.; Cardillo, G.; Contento, M.; Umani Ronchi, A. J. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. I 1973, 400–404.
   (b) Johnson, P. R.; White, J. D. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 4424–4429.
   (c) Parra, M.; Mestres, R.; Aparicio, D.; Durana, N.; Rubio, G. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans I 1989, 327–332.
- (a) Brun, E. M.; Gil, S.; Mestres, R.; Parra, M. Synlett **1999**, 1088–1090.
   (b) Brun, E. M.; Gil, S.; Mestres, R.; Parra, M. Synthesis **2000**, 273–280.
   (c) Brun, E. M.; Gil, S.; Parra, M. ArkivokX**2002**, 80–89.
- Domingo, L. R.; Gil, S.; Parra, M.; Saez, J. A.; Torres, M. *Tetrahedron* 2003, 59, 6233–6239.
- (a) Guion, T. S.; Koller, M. U.; Lachicotte, R. J.; Rutledge, R. N.; Hildebron, K. C.; Le, P. H.; Bearn, C. F. Synth. Commun. 1996, 26, 1753–1762. (b) Julia, M.; Pfency-Saint Jalmes, V.; Plé, K.; Verpeaux, J.-N.; Hollingworth, G. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1996, 133, 15–24. (c) Belletire, J. L.; Speletzer, E. G. Synth. Commun. 1986, 16, 575–584.
- (a) Gould, N. P.; Lee, T.-J. J. Org. Chem. 1980, 45, 4528–4530.
   (b) Epsztajn, J.; Poltka, M. W.; Scionows, J. Synth. Commun. 1992, 22, 1239–1249.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4403-4407

### A new synthesis of (-)-thioambrox and its 8-epimer

Maria do Céu Costa,\* Susana G. Teixeira, Cristina B. Rodrigues, Pedro Ryberg Figueiredo and Maria João Marcelo Curto

Instituto Nacional de Engenharia, Tecnologia e Inovação (INETI), Departamento de Tecnologia das Indústrias Químicas, Estrada do Paço do Lumiar 1649-038 Lisboa, Portugal

Received 27 August 2004; revised 14 February 2005; accepted 28 February 2005

Available online 18 March 2005

Abstract—This new and straightforward synthesis of (-)-thioambrox 2, a sulphur compound whose odour resembles *ambergris*, starts from sclareolide 4. The stereoselectivity of the final cyclization is independent of the catalyst selected, and compound 2 is always favoured over (+)-*iso*-thioambrox 3. With hydrochloric acid as catalyst, the cyclization is unexpectedly stereospecific to give 2 in high yield at room temperature.

© 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

### 1. Introduction

With a consumption close to 20 tons per year, (-)-ambrox<sup>®†</sup> **1** is the prime substitute for sperm whale's *ambergris*.



In spite of electronic-topological investigations<sup>1</sup> of the *ambergris* odour indicated (-)-thioambrox, **2**, as inactive, we were still interested in comparing it with its 8-epimer **3**, not reported to the best of our knowledge. The synthesis of **2** was reported in five steps starting from sclareolide **1**.<sup>2</sup>

### 2. Results and discussion

We propose here a three steps synthesis of both (-)-thioambrox **2** and its epimer (+)-8-*iso*-thioambrox **3** via a new 8-hydroxy-12-sulphanyl intermediate **6** (Scheme 1).

Moreover, alternative reaction conditions were investigated to evaluate the variation in the diastereoselective ratio.



Scheme 1. Synthesis of (-)-thioambrox 2 and its 8-epimer 3. (a) Lawesson's reagent (1.0 equiv), refluxing toluene, 61%; (b) LiAlH<sub>4</sub> (1.4 equiv), Et<sub>2</sub>O, rt, 71%; (c) HCl (aq.) 37% or anhydrous ZnCl<sub>2</sub> or anhydrous *p*-TsOH (Table 1).

Thus, sclareolide **4** was converted to the corresponding thionolactone **5** using Lawesson's reagent<sup>3,4</sup> in a yield of 61%. Compound **5** was then reduced with lithium aluminum hydride to obtain the desired intermediate **6** (71%).

Keywords: Thioambrox; iso-Thioambrox; Stereoselective cyclization.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +351 210924749; fax: +351 217168100; e-mail: ceu.costa@ineti.pt

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Ambrox<sup>®</sup> is a registered trade-mark of Firmenich S. A., and subsequent commercial brands. Systematic name for Ambrox is: (-)-8(-12-epoxy-13,14,15,16-tetranorlabdane.

<sup>0040–4020/\$ -</sup> see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02.081

Entry	<b>6</b> (mmol)	<i>p</i> -TsOH (mmol)	DCM (mL)	Toluene (mL)	ZnCl <sub>2</sub> (mmol) dichloro- ethane	HCl (mL) (aq.) 37%	Т	Time	Products distribution (%) <sup>a</sup>				
									6	2	3	1	Others
1	0.08	0.07	3	_	_		Reflux	46 h	_	88.8	11.2	_	_
2	0.10	0.06	_	4	_	_	Reflux	2 h	_	61.9	28.4	4.6	5.1
3	0.10	0.06	_	4	_	_	Reflux	3 h	_	62.0	29.0	4.1	4.8
4	0.10	0.06	—	4	—	—	Reflux	68 h	—	55.9	27.0	2.4	14.7
5	0.10	0.06	—	4	—	—	Reflux	92 h	_	53.5	29.7	1.5	15.3
6	0.05	0.03	2		—	—	rt	1 h	9.4	31.0	—	—	59.6
7	0.05	0.03	2		—	—	rt	2 h	t	32.6	—	—	66.3
8	0.05	0.03	2		—	—	rt	5 h	_	32.8	—	—	67.2
9	0.05	0.03	2		—	—	rt	24 h	_	39.6	—	—	60.4
10	0.03	0.02	_	1.5	—	—	rt	1 h	96.3	2.3	—	—	t
11	0.03	0.02	_	1.5	—	—	rt	5 h	78.9	12.0	—	—	9.1
12	0.03	0.02	_	1.5	—	—	rt	24 h	_	73.1	t	—	26.0
13	0.21	—	15	_	—	0.01	rt	5 min	84.3	11.3	—	t	3.6
14	0.21	_	15	_	_	0.01	rt	30 min	62.2	32.0	_	_	5.8
15	0.21	_	15		—	0.01	rt	40 min	54.3	39.6		—	6.1
16	0.21	_	15		—	0.01	rt	1 h	24.1	66.6		—	8.7
17	0.21	_	15		—	0.02	rt	1 h:15 min	4.2	87.0		—	8.7
18	0.21	_	15		—	0.02	rt	1 h:30 min	—	91.6		—	8.4
19	0.09	_	—		1.97	—	rt	15 min	18.9	66.3		2.0	12.8
20	0.09	_	—		1.97	—	rt	45 min	1.5	85.4		1.6	11.5
21	0.09	—	—	—	1.97	—	rt	1 h:15	—	88.7	—	1.1	10.2
22	0.09	—	—	—	1.97	—	rt	1 h:45 min	—	90.0	—	t	9.3
23	0.09	_	—	—	1.97	—	rt	2 h:15 min	—	90.2	—	t	8.8

Table 1. Acid catalyzed intramolecular cyclization of 6 under different experimental conditions

<sup>a</sup> Percentages from GC analysis of the crude reaction mixtures. t—means traces.



Scheme 2. Proposed mechanism for HCl catalyzed cyclization.

The key step to 2 or its epimer 3 is the subsequent cyclization. A strong acid-catalyzed cyclization reaction may proceed by attack of the primary thiol group on the tertiary carbocation I leading to epimers at C-8.

Our approach is based on the direct alcohol-thiol ring closure using *p*-toluenesulphonic acid (Table 1).<sup>5,6</sup> At room temperature the treatment of **6** with *p*-TsOH–CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (entries 6–9) and *p*-TsOH–toluene (entries 10–12), afforded **2** stereoselectively with an increasing amount of unsaturated compounds after prolonged reaction time.

The conversion of the starting material **6** was completed after 5 h (entry 8) with *p*-TsOH–CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> at room temperature. With *p*-TsOH–toluene a higher percentage of **6** (entry 11) remained unreacted. These results agree with those reported for the synthesis of (-)-ambrox<sup>®</sup>**1**.<sup>5</sup>

The accumulation of by-products varied also with the temperature and with reaction times. These by-products were identified (GC–MS) as a mixture of olefins, which is again in accordance with studies on the synthesis of (-)-ambrox<sup>®</sup>1.<sup>5</sup>

Further experiments on the conversion of **6** into **2** were then performed in the presence of Lewis acids (e.g.,  $ZnCl_2$ )<sup>7</sup> or with catalytic amounts of hydrochloric acid in 1,2-dichloroethane and dichloromethane, respectively, at room temperature. When **6** was treated with  $ZnCl_2$ , (entries 19–23) a competition between the nucleophilic primary SH of C-12 and the tertiary OH group at C-8 was observed since traces of **1** were detected along with the expected formation of **2** (Table 2).

Finally, the reaction of 6 with an inorganic acid, HCl (entries 13–18), surprisingly afforded 2 in 91% yield with stereochemical control (Table 3).

We propose a mechanism operating by two  $S_N 2$ 

**Table 2.** <sup>13</sup>C NMR's data and  $[\alpha]_{D}^{20}$  (*c*=1.01, CHCl<sub>3</sub>)

substitutions, each causing an inversion to explain this result (see Scheme 2).

Table 2 shows relevant <sup>13</sup>C NMR's data. The spectrum of compound **5** shows at  $\delta$  223 ppm the presence of thionolactone group at C-12 instead of the signal at 176.8 characteristic of sclareolide **4**. The configuration of the two diastereomers **2** and **3** was established by the analysis of the C-8 chemical shift which is at lower value in compound **2** where the methyl is axial. This result was further confirmed by NOESY where an interaction between the protons of C-20 and C-17 was present in **2** but not in its diastereomer **3**.

In conclusion, we have developed a novel and efficient stereocontrolled route to either (-)-thioambrox 2 and/or the epimer (+)-8-*iso*-thioambrox 3 from sclareolide 4, via a three steps procedure, in good yield.

While (-)-thioambrox **2** reveals a weak scent of *ambergris* type according to a panel of expert perfumers (Olivier REISS, FRUTAROM LTD) its 8-epimer **3** is completely odourless, even upon warming in ethanol.

This clean synthesis of (-)-thioambrox 2 and its epimer (+)-8-*iso*-thioambrox 3 also confirmed that the replacement of oxygen by sulphur decreases significantly the odoriferous properties of ambergris type odorants.

### 3. Experimental

### 3.1. General and instrumentation

Anhydrous diethyl ether was used as freshly distilled from sodium-benzophenone, toluene from sodium, and dichloromethane from calcium hydride under N<sub>2</sub> and degassed before use. All other solvents were purified and dried following standard procedures. Reactions were monitored by gas chromatography (GC) and/or thin layer chromatography (TLC). Chromatographic separations were carried out on columns of SiO<sub>2</sub> (Merck silica gel 60, 230–400 mesh) at medium pressure. Optical rotations ( $[\alpha]_{D}^{20}$ ) were measured with a Perkin-Elmer 251 model automatic polarimeter using quartz cells of 1 dm path length, in CHCl<sub>3</sub> solution; concentration (c, expressed in cg/mL) is given in parentheses. Infrared (IR) spectra were recorded on a FT-IR Perkin–Elmer 1725x spectrometer using a thin film between NaCl plates or as KBr pellets. Melting points (mp) were determined in a Reichert Thermovar apparatus and are uncorrected. GC analyses were performed on a Fissions Instruments 8000 Series gas chromatograph fitted with a DB-1 capillary column (15 m, 0.32 mm, 0.25 µm; carrier

Compound	$[\alpha]_{\mathrm{D}}^{20}$ (°)	<sup>13</sup> C NMR					
		C-8	C-9	C-11	C-12		
4	+47.0	86.4	59.6	28.7	176.8		
5	+146.2	95.4	59.6	43.3	223.1		
6	+11.0	73.7	60.8	30.5	27.3		
2	- 42.4	54.4	65.9	24.6	28.3		
3	+32.5	56.7	63.4	29.4	30.9		

Spectral data are in close agreement with those previously reported.<sup>8</sup>

gas: He; flow rate: 1 mL/min; oven temperature program: 190 °C (2 min)-210 °C (5 min)-230 °C (5 min)-260 °C (10 min) at a rate of 10 °C (min) between platforms; injector temperature: 250 °C; flame ionization detector: 300 °C; retention time (rt). NMR spectra were run on a General Electric QE-300 spectrometer with resonance frequency of 300 MHz for <sup>1</sup>H and 75.6 MHz for <sup>13</sup>C at room temperature using CDCl<sub>3</sub> as solvent and TMS as internal reference. Proton spectra assignments are supported by <sup>1</sup>H-<sup>1</sup>H COSY and carbon spectra assignments are supported by DEPT analysis and <sup>13</sup>C-<sup>1</sup>H correlations. The chemical shifts ( $\delta$ ) are reported in parts per million (ppm), coupling constants (J) are in hertz (Hz), multiplicity of signals are expressed as s: singlet, d: doublet, t: triplet, m: multiplet, dd: double dublet, dt: double triplet. 2D NMR experiments (HMBC, NOESY) were carried out for compounds 2 and 3 on a Brucker 400 spectrometer. Mass spectra were recorded in a Kratos MS 25 RF instrument, by EI at 70 eV, and in an ITD GC-MS Finnigan. High Resolution Mass Spectra (HRMS) were recorded on Finnigan MAT HSQ30 by Laser Desorption. Elemental analyses were performed in a Fisons EA-1108 instrument.

3.1.1. 13,14,15,16-Tetranorlabdan-8\alpha-12-thionolide: 5. A mixture of sclareolide 4 (311.0 mg, 1.2 mmol) and Lawesson's reagent (497.2 mg, 1.2 mmol) in dry toluene (4 mL) was heated at 110 °C for 3 h under nitrogen atmosphere. After cooling and filtration, the solvent was removed in vacuo, the crude product was purified by flash chromatography using ether/*n*-hexane (3:7, v:v) as eluant to yield 5 (199.8 mg, 61%) as a yellow solid; mp: 157-162 °C;  $[\alpha]_{D}^{20} = +146.2^{\circ} (c = 1.01, \text{ CHCl}_{3}), \text{ IR (KBr) } 1184, 1153 (C=S), 1021 (C-O-C) \text{ cm}^{-1}; ^{1}\text{H} \text{ NMR: (CDCl}_{3},$ 300 MHz): δ 0.84 (3H, s, 18-CH<sub>3</sub>), 0.89 (3H, s, 19-CH<sub>3</sub>), 0.91 (3H, s, 20-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.00-1.28 (2H, m, 1-H<sub>ax</sub>, 3-H<sub>ax</sub>), 1.04 (1H, dd,  $J_{5ax,6ax}$ =12.6 Hz,  $J_{5ax,6eq}$ =2.4 Hz, 5-H<sub>ax</sub>), 1.30– 1.50 (4H, m, 1-H<sub>eq</sub>, 2-H<sub>ax</sub>, 3-H<sub>eq</sub>, 6-H<sub>ax</sub>), 1.39 (3H, s, 17-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.55–1.93 (3H, m, 2-H<sub>eq</sub>, 6-H<sub>eq</sub>, 7-H<sub>ax</sub>), 1.99 (1H, dd, J<sub>9ax,11</sub>=6.6 Hz, J<sub>9ax,11</sub>=13.8 Hz, 9-H<sub>ax</sub>), 2.17 (1H, dt, J=3.0, 3.3 Hz, 7-H<sub>eq</sub>), 2.23 (1-H, dd,  $J_{11.9ax}=13.8$  Hz,  $J_{gem}=17.4$  Hz, 11-H), 2.91 (1H, dd,  $J_{11.9ax}=6.6$  Hz,  $J_{gem}=$ 17.4 Hz, 11-H') ppm; <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 75.6 MHz):  $\delta$  15.2 (C-20), 18.1 (C-2), 20.8 (C-6), 20.9 (C-17), 20.9 (C-18), 33.1 (C-4), 33.2 (C-19), 36.5 (C-10), 39.4 (C-7), 38.5 (C-1), 42.1 (C-3), 43.3 (C-11), 56.6 (C-5), 59.6 (C-9), 95.4 (C-8), 223.1 (C-12) ppm; EIMS *m*/*z* (%): 266.2 (M<sup>+</sup>, 13.8), 251.2 (M<sup>+</sup>-Me, 5.2), 232.2 (10.7), 191.2 (19.2), 175.1  $(10.3), 163.1 (6.4), 137.1 (C_{10}H_{17}^+, 17.2), 123.1 (33.2), 109.1$ (40.1), 95.1 (48.7), 69.1 (46.9), 67 (47.3), 55.1 (51.6), 41 (100).

**3.1.2. 13,14,15,16-Tetranorlabdan-8\alpha-ol-12-thiol: 6.** To a stirred solution of thionosclareolide **5** (607 mg, 2.3 mmol) in freshly distilled Et<sub>2</sub>O (45 mL), was added LiAlH<sub>4</sub> (121.6 mg, 3.2 mmol) under nitrogen and the stirring maintained for 2 h and 30 min at room temperature. When the reaction was complete, the mixture was extracted with Et<sub>2</sub>O and the organic phases were washed with water and saturated solution of NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, and dried over anhydrous MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Removal of solvent in vacuo afforded, the crude product which was purified by flash chromatography (Et<sub>2</sub>O/*n*-hexane 1:1, v:v) to yield **6** (438 mg, 71.2%) as an oil; rt = 6.68 min;  $[\alpha]_{D}^{D} = +11.0^{\circ}$  (*c* = 1.01, CHCl<sub>3</sub>), IR (film) 3435

(OH), 2552, 910 (SH) cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 300 MHz):  $\delta$  0.78 (6H, s, 18-CH<sub>3</sub>, 20-CH<sub>3</sub>), 0.86 (3H, s, 19-CH<sub>3</sub>), 0.87–0.97 (2H, m, 1-H<sub>ax</sub>, 5-H<sub>ax</sub>), 1.08–1.20 (2H, m, 3-H<sub>ax</sub>, 9-H<sub>ax</sub>), 1.13 (3H, s, 17-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.20–1.47 (4H, m, 7-H<sub>ax</sub>, 2-H<sub>ax</sub>, 6-H<sub>ax</sub>, 3-H<sub>eq</sub>) 1.48–1.78 (5H, m, 11-H<sub>2</sub>, 1-H<sub>eq</sub>, 2-H<sub>eq</sub>, 6-H<sub>eq</sub>), 1.88 (1H, dt, *J*=3.0, 11.2 Hz, 7-H<sub>eq</sub>), 2.50–2.75 (2H, m, 12-H<sub>2</sub>) ppm; <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 75.6 MHz):  $\delta$  15.5 (C-20), 18.4 (C-2), 20.5 (C-6), 21.5 (C-18), 23.9 (C-17), 27.3 (C-12), 30.5 (C-11), 33.2 (C-4), 33.4 (C-19), 39.0 (C-10), 39.8 (C-1), 41.9 (C-3), 44.6 (C-7), 56.0 (C-5), 60.8 (C-9), 73.7 (C-8) ppm; HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>30</sub>OS (M+Na)<sup>+</sup> 293.1910, found 293.1912; EIMS *m/z* (%): 270 (M<sup>+</sup>,0), 252 (M<sup>+</sup> - H<sub>2</sub>O, 6.3), 237 (8.4), 221 (100), 191 (10.3), 177 (6.1), 137 (C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>17</sub><sup>+</sup>, 47.2), 109 (38.2), 97 (41.3), 95 (37.4), 81 (42.1), 69 (45.9), 55 (47.9), 41 (69.1).

#### 3.2. 8*α*,12-Epithio-13,14,15,16-tetranorlabdane: 2

3.2.1. In the presence of inorganic acid. To a stirred solution of 8\alpha-hydroxy-12-sulphanyl-13,14,15,16-tetranorlabdane 6 (56.7 mg, 0.21 mmol) in dry dichloromethane (5 mL) and Molecular Sieves (350 mg), HCl 37% (0.02 mL) was added dropwise under nitrogen and at 0-5 °C. The mixture was stirred for 45 min from 0 to 5 °C to room temperature. The mixture was extracted with CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> and organic phases were washed with water and NaHCO<sub>3</sub> saturated solution and then dried over anhydrous MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Removal of solvent in vacuo afforded the crude product, which was purified by flash chromatography (n-hexane) to yield 2 (32.1 mg, 60.7%) as a white solid; rt = 5.08 min;  $[\alpha]_{D}^{20} = -42.4^{\circ}(c = 1.01, \text{CHCl}_{3}); \text{ mp: } 51-52.5^{\circ}\text{C}, \text{ IR (KBr)}$ 636 (C–S) cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 300 MHz):  $\delta$  0.83 (3H, s, 18-CH<sub>3</sub>), 0.86 (3H, s, 20-CH<sub>3</sub>), 0.87 (3H, s, 19-CH<sub>3</sub>), 0.95  $(1H, dd, J = 12.3, 2.4 Hz, 5-H_{ax}), 0.99-1.08 (1H, m, 1-H_{ax}),$ 1.10-1.29 (1H, m, 3-H<sub>ax</sub>), 1.38 (3H, s, 17-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.30-1.80 (9H, m, 6-H<sub>2</sub>, 2-H<sub>2</sub>, 1-H<sub>ea</sub>, 3-H<sub>ea</sub>, 11-H, 7-H<sub>ax</sub>, 9-H<sub>ax</sub>), 2.00–2.15 (2H, m, 11-H', 7-H<sub>eq</sub>), 2.81–2.93 (1H, m, 12-H), 3.04–2.96 (1H, m, 12-H') ppm; <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 75.6 MHz): δ 15.6 (C-20), 18.5 (C-2) 19.9 (C-6), 21.3 (C-18), 24.6 (C-11), 26.6 (C-17), 28.3 (C-12), 33.1 (C-4), 33.5 (C-19), 38.1 (C-10), 40.8 (C-1), 40.9 (C-7), 42.2 (C-3), 54.4 (C-8), 56.8 (C-5), 65.9 (C-9) ppm; HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>28</sub>OS 252.1906, found 252.1902; EIMS *m/z* (%): 252 (M<sup>+</sup>, 75.4), 237 (M<sup>+</sup>-Me, 70.7), 191 (69.4), 163  $(13.4), 137 (C_{10}H_{17}^+, 37.6), 123 (27.7), 121 (22.6), 115$ (36.2), 113 (35.7), 109 (28.9), 95 (43.5), 81 (58.9), 69 (67.1), 55 (58.4), 41 (100). Anal. Found C, 76.16; H, 11.18; S, 12.67%. C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>26</sub>S requires C, 76.12; H, 11.18; S, 12.70%.

**3.2.2.** In the presence of a Lewis acids. To a stirred solution of compound **6** (13.0 mg, 0.05 mmol) in 1,2-dichloroethane (2 mL) was added anhydrous zinc chloride (12.8 mg, 0.09 mmol) under nitrogen and at room temperature. The mixture was stirred for 2 h at room temperature until the reaction was complete, then the mixture was extracted with  $CH_2Cl_2$  and the organic phases were washed with water and dried over anhydrous MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Removal of solvent in vacuo afforded the crude product, which was purified by flash chromatography (*n*-hexane) to yield **2** (6.5 mg, 54.1%) as a white solid.

Catalyst	Solvent	Temp.		% Conversion	
			2	3	
<i>p</i> -TsOH	$CH_2Cl_2$	Reflux	89	11	
p-TsOH	Tol.	Reflux	62	28	
ZnCl <sub>2</sub>	$CH_2Cl_2$	rt	90		
HCl 37%	CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub>	rt	90	_	

Table 3. Cyclization of 6

Complete conversion of starting material.

### 3.3. Mixtures of $8\alpha$ ,12-epithio-13,14,15,16-tetranorlabdane: 2; $8\beta$ ,12-epithio-13,14,15,16-tetranorlabdane: 3

*General procedure*. Reactions of **6** in presence of acidic catalysts were monitored by Gas Chromatography (GC) for different periods. Yields reported in Table 1 represent an average of at least two independent runs.

3.3.1. In the presence of anhydrous *p*-TsOH in dry CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> at reflux. To a stirred solution of compound 6 (22.7 mg, 0.1 mmol) in dry CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (3 mL) pre-heated at 85 °C and under nitrogen, anhydrous p-TsOH (13.9 mg, 0.07 mmol) was added. The mixture was stirred for 5 h at 85 °C until completion, then it was extracted with CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> and organic phases were washed with water, saturated aq. NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, brine and dried over anhydrous MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Removal of solvent in vacuo afforded, the crude product, which was purified by flash chromatography (n-hexane) to yield 2 (4.0 mg, 18.9%) as a white solid and 3 (0.8 mg, 3.7%) as a white solid; rt = 4.56 min;  $[\alpha]_D^{20} = +32.5^{\circ}$  (c = 1.01, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); mp: 71–72 °C; IR (KBr) 613 (C–S) cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 300 MHz): δ 0.70–0.90 (2H, m, 5-H<sub>ax</sub>, 3-H<sub>ax</sub>), 0.86 (3H, s, 18-CH<sub>3</sub>), 0.88 (3H, s, 19-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.05-1.25 (1H, m, 3-Heg), 1.13 (3H, s, 20-CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.30-1.70 (8H, m, 1-H<sub>2</sub>, 2-H<sub>2</sub>, 6-H<sub>2</sub>, 7-H<sub>ax</sub>, 9-H<sub>ax</sub>), 1.37 (3H, s, 17-CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.00–2.25 (3H, m, 11-H<sub>2</sub>, 7-H<sub>eq</sub>), 2.88–2.85 (1H, m, 12-H), 3.02–2.94 (1H, m, 12-H') ppm;  $^{13}\mathrm{C}$  NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 75.6 MHz): δ 15.6 (C-20), 18.4 (C-2), 18.8 (C-6), 22.1 (C-18), 29.4 (C-11), 30.9 (C-12), 33.0 (C-4), 33.7 (C-19), 37.2 (2C, C-17 and C-7) 37.6 (C-10), 41.8 (C-1 or C-3), 41.9 (C-3 or C-1), 54.1 (C-5), 56.7 (C-8), 63.4 (C-9) ppm; HRMS (EI) calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>28</sub>OS: 252.1906, found 252.1905; EIMS/ GC m/z (%): 252 ( $M^+$ , 21.4), 237 ( $M^+$  – Me, 100), 203.2  $(1.7), 167.2 (2.8), 137.1 (C_{10}H_{17}^+, 7.1), 113.1 (18.8), 95.2$ (6.9), 81.2 (7.7), 79.2 (4.8), 41.0 (1.6). Anal. Found C, 76.14; H, 11.20; S, 12.68%. C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>26</sub>S requires C, 76.12; H, 11.18; S, 12.70%.

# **3.4.** In the presence of anhydrous *p*-TsOH in dry toluene at reflux

To a mixture of **6** (415 mg, 1.54 mmol) in dry toluene (50 mL) pre-heated under reflux at 110 °C and nitrogen, anhydrous *p*-TsOH (234 mg, 1.23 mmol) was added. After completion the reaction mixture was cooled to room temperature, the solvent removed in vacuo, the crude product extracted with  $CH_2Cl_2$  and organic phases were washed with water, saturated aq. NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, brine and dried (MgSO<sub>4</sub>). Removal of solvent in vacuo afforded a crude product, which was purified by flash chromatography (*n*-hexane) to yield **2** (168.9 mg, 43.6%) as a white solid and **3** (73.1 mg, 18.8%) as a white solid.

### **References and notes**

- Dimoglo, A. S.; Vlad, P. F.; Shvets, N. M.; Coltsa, M. N. New J. Chem. 1995, 19, 1217–1226.
- Chapuis, C.; Barthe, M.; Vuilleumier, C. XV Conference on Isoprenoids, Federation of European Chemical Societies; Zakopane, Poland, September, 1993.
- Scheibye, S.; Kristensen, J.; Lawesson, S. O. *Tetrahedron* 1979, 35, 1339–1343.
- 4. Jang, D. O.; Song, S. H.; Cho, D. H. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 3479–3488.
- Castro, J. M.; Salido, S.; Altarejos, J.; Nogueras, M.; Sánchez, A. *Tetrahedron* 2002, 58, 5941–5949 and references cited therein.
- Barrero, A. F.; Altarejos, J.; Alvarez-Manzaneda, E. J.; Ramos, J. M.; Salido, S. *Tetrahedron* 1993, 49, 6251–6262.
- Zahara, J.-P.; Chauvet, F.; Coste-Manière, I.; Martres, P.; Perfetti, P.; Waegell, B. *Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr.* **1997**, *134*, 1001–10024.
- Urones, J. G.; Basabe, P.; Marcos, I. S.; González, J. L.; Jiménez, V.; Sexmero, M. J.; Lithgow, A. M. *Tetrahedron* 1992, 48, 9991–9998.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4409-4418

# Reaction of magnesium alkylidene carbenoids with lithium acetylides and lithium thiolates: a novel synthesis of conjugated enynes and vinyl sulfides

Masanori Watanabe, Masatomo Nakamura and Tsuyoshi Satoh\*

Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Tokyo University of Science; Kagurazaka, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 162-8601, Japan

Received 28 January 2005; accepted 25 February 2005

Available online 22 March 2005

Abstract—Magnesium alkylidene carbenoids were generated from 1-chlorovinyl *p*-tolyl sulfoxides with *i*-PrMgCl at -78 °C in THF or toluene via the sulfoxide–magnesium exchange reaction. Reaction of the generated magnesium alkylidene carbenoids with lithium acetylides or lithium thiolates gave conjugated enynes or vinyl sulfides, respectively, in moderate to good yields. The intermediate of this reaction was found to be the alkenyl anion and it could be trapped with some electrophiles to give tetra-substituted conjugated enynes and vinyl sulfides. © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Carbenes and carbenoids are a highly reactive carbon species and are frequently used as useful intermediates in organic synthesis.<sup>1</sup> Alkylidene carbenes and carbenoids are a quite interesting and highly reactive carbon species.<sup>2</sup> The carbenoids generated from alkylhalides or alkenylhalides with alkylmetals, such as alkyllithium or a Grignard reagent by halogen–metal or hydrogen–metal exchange reaction have been known to have both nucleophilic and electrophilic nature,<sup>3</sup> because the carbenoids have the nature of  $\alpha$ -halocarbanion and a carbene–metal complex at the same time.

We recently reported generation of magnesium alkylidene carbenoids **2** from 1-chlorovinyl *p*-tolyl sulfoxides **1**, which were synthesized from ketones and chloromethyl *p*-tolyl sulfoxide in three steps in high overall yield, with a Grignard reagent<sup>4</sup> via sulfoxide–magnesium exchange reaction.<sup>5</sup> The reaction of the generated magnesium alkylidene carbenoids **2** with water or benzaldehyde gave chloroolefins **3** (E=H) or the adduct **3** (E=PhCH(OH)).<sup>4</sup> These reactions reveal the nucleophilic nature of the magnesium alkylidene carbenoids **2** (see Scheme 1).

On the other hand, the reaction of the magnesium alkylidene carbenoids **2** with some nucleophiles (such as Grignard reagents<sup>4b</sup> and lithium  $\alpha$ -sulfonyl carbanions<sup>6</sup>) gave the adducts, alkenylmetal **4**, from which allenes and tetra-

substituted olefins 5, were obtained.<sup>7</sup> These reactions reveal the electrophilic nature of the magnesium alkylidene carbenoids 2.

In continuation of our interest in the study of the reactivity of the magnesium alkylidene carbenoids generated from 1-chlorovinyl *p*-tolyl sulfoxides with a Grignard reagent, we investigated the reaction of 2 with lithium acetylides and lithium thiolates and found that the reactions give conjugated enynes 6 and vinyl sulfides 7, respectively, in moderate to good yields. In this paper the details of the results are reported.

### 1. Results and discussion

# **1.1.** Generation of the magnesium alkylidene carbenoids and the reaction with lithium acetylides to give conjugated enynes

First, 1-chlorovinyl *p*-tolyl sulfoxide **8** was synthesized from cyclopentadecanone and chloromethyl *p*-tolyl sulfoxide.<sup>8</sup> The vinyl sulfoxide **8** was treated with *tert*butylmagnesium chloride (0.13 equiv) in THF at -78 °C to remove a trace of moisture in the reaction mixture.<sup>6</sup> To this mixture was added isopropylmagnesium chloride (3 equiv) at -78 °C. The sulfoxide–magnesium exchange reaction took place instantaneously to afford the magnesium alkylidene carbenoid **9** in a quantitative yield.<sup>6</sup> To this solution of the carbenoid **9**, lithium carbanion of 1-hexyne (3 equiv), generated from 1-hexyne with *n*-butyllithium, was added through a cannula and the reaction mixture was

*Keywords*: Sulfoxides; Sulfoxide–magnesium exchange; Magnesium alkylidene carbenoid; Conjugated enyne; Vinyl sulfide.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +81 3 5228 8272; fax: +81 3 3235 2214; e-mail: tsatoh@ch.kagu.tus.ac.jp

<sup>0040–4020/\$ -</sup> see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02.084



Scheme 1.



Scheme 2.

stirred and slowly allowed to warm to room temperature (Scheme 2).

This reaction gave a somewhat complex mixture; however, we obtained interesting compound **10** as a main product in 39% yield. The product **10** showed  $C_{22}H_{38}$  as the molecular formula and absorption at 2067 cm<sup>-1</sup> in its IR spectrum which indicated the presence of a triple bond. <sup>1</sup>H NMR showed one vinyl-H ( $\delta$  5.26, singlet). From these data the structure of the product was unambiguously determined to be the conjugated enyne **10**. The chemistry of this result is quite interesting, because the carbon–carbon bond between sp<sup>2</sup> and sp carbons, which is recognized to be very difficult by the ionic reactions, is realized.

We next investigated improvement of the yield of the conjugated enyne **10**, and the results of the examination are summarized in Table 1. Addition of 9 equiv of DMPU or TMEDA as an additive gave disappointing results (entries 2 and 3). Addition of 9 equiv of DME was found to be effective (entry 4) and from this result it was suggested that ethers would give better yield. Use of 1,4-dioxane or cyclopentyl methyl ether (CPME) was found to be effective in this reaction and especially CPME worked to give **10** in 64% yield (entries 5 and 6). 12-Crown-4 showed some effect in this reaction (entry 7). Toluene and CPME itself did not give satisfactory results (entries 8 and 10).

With these improved conditions in hand, we investigated the generality of this reaction and the results are summarized in Table 2. The reaction was carried out under the best conditions mentioned above. Arylacetylenes gave about 40-50% yield of the enyne **11** (entries 1–3). The

 Table 1. Examination of the conditions for the synthesis of enyne 10 from

 1-chlorovinyl p-tolyl sulfoxide 8



Entry	Solvent	Additive	Yield of <b>10</b> (%)		
1	THF	_	39		
2	THF	DMPU	14		
3	THF	TMEDA	28		
4	THF	DME	57		
5	THF	1,4-Dioxane	58		
6	THF	<b>CPME</b> <sup>a</sup>	63		
7	THF	12-Crown-4	50		
8	Toluene	_	41		
9	Toluene	DME	42		
10	CPME	—	52		

<sup>a</sup> Cyclopentyl methyl ether. Nine equivalents of CPME was added as an additive.
Table 2. Synthesis of enyne 11 from 1-chlorovinyl p-tolyl sulfoxide 8 with some lithium acetylides



<sup>a</sup> Isolated yield after silica gel column chromatography.

<sup>b</sup> Lithium acetylide ethylenediamine complex was used.

<sup>c</sup> Five equivalents of ethynylmagnesium chloride was added.

arylacetylene having an electron-donating group (OCH<sub>3</sub>) gave better yield compared with that having electronwithdrawing group (F) (entries 2 and 3). Trimethylsilylacetylene gave the desired enyne; however, the yield was found to be low. When lithium acetylide ethylenediamine complex was used as an acetylide, only a complex mixture was obtained (entry 5). However, excess ethynylmagnesium chloride gave the desired enyne **11e** in 24% yield.

As the intermediate of this reaction is thought to be the alkenyl carbanion 12,<sup>4,6</sup> we quenched this reaction with

 $CD_3OD$  and the deuterated enyne **13** was obtained in 63% yield with 93% of deuterium incorporation (Scheme 3). We tried to trap the intermediate **12** with some electrophiles in the hope of getting further substituted conjugated enynes. First, to the reaction mixture was added benzaldehyde. From the tlc analysis the product was thought to be the adduct **14**; however, in the isolation process it decomposed rapidly. The reaction with iodomethane gave an inseparable mixture of the methylated product **15** and protonated product **10**. Treatment of the intermediate **12** with iodine gave the desired iodide **16** in 44% yield.

We investigated this reaction with other 1-chlorovinyl p-tolyl sulfoxide  $17^{4b}$  with the lithium carbanion of 1-hexyne (Scheme 4). This reaction gave the desired enyne **19a** in 64% yield. Deuterium was incorporated by the quenching with CD<sub>3</sub>OD and the deuterium incorporation was found to be 96%. Treatment of this reaction with iodine gave iodinated conjugated enyne **19c** in 59% yield.

Conjugated enynes are quite interesting and important compounds in synthetic organic chemistry<sup>9</sup> and several methods for their synthesis have been reported.<sup>10</sup> Although the yields are not satisfactory, our method for the synthesis of conjugated enynes described above is fairly unique.<sup>11</sup>

# **1.2. Reaction of the magnesium alkylidene carbenoids** with lithium thiolate; a novel synthesis of tri-substituted alkenyl sulfides including tetra-substituted alkenyl sulfides

We investigated the reaction of the magnesium alkylidene carbenoid with sulfur nucleophile (Scheme 5). The magnesium alkylidene carbenoid **18** was generated from 1-chlorovinyl *p*-tolyl sulfoxide **17** as above in THF and then 3 equiv of lithium thiolate of *p*-toluenethiol, generated from the thiol with *n*-BuLi, was added. The temperature of the





#### Scheme 5.

reaction mixture was slowly allowed to warm to 0 °C to give the desired vinyl sulfide **20a** in 51% yield (entry 1).

Improvement of the yield of **20a** in this reaction was investigated as shown in Scheme 5. Ten equivalents of the additive, HMPA, TMEDA or DME, were added to the THF solution and some effect was shown with DME (entry 2–4). Changing the solvent to toluene gave better yield (entry 5).

Finally, toluene with 10 equiv of DME was found to be the choice for the solvent system of this reaction and 80% yield of the vinyl sulfide **20a** was obtained.

Vinyl sulfides are important compounds in organic synthesis, such as masked carbonyl compounds.<sup>12</sup> Several methods for synthesis of the vinyl sulfides have been reported;<sup>13</sup> however, synthesis of vinyl sulfide from

Table 3. Synthesis of vinyl sulfides 20 from 1-chlorovinyl p-tolyl sulfoxides with lithium thiolates via the magnesium alkylidene carbenoids

1) t-BuMgCl (0.13 eq.)

		$ \begin{array}{c} R^{1} \longrightarrow CI & 2) \not\vdash PrMgCI (3) \\ R^{2} & S(O)Tol \end{array} $	eq.)	$ = \left\{ \begin{matrix} CI \\ MgCI \end{matrix} \right\} \xrightarrow[-78]{} \mathbb{RSLi (3 eq.)} \\ \hline Toluene-DME \\ -78 \sim 0 \ ^{\circ}\mathrm{C} \end{matrix} $	$R^1 H$ $R^2 SR$ 20		
Entry	1-Chlorovinyl p-tolyl sulfoxide			RSLi	Yield of <b>20</b> <sup>a</sup>	Yield of <b>20</b> <sup>a</sup>	
		$R^1$	$R^2$			(%)	
1	17	-(H <sub>2</sub> C) <sub>2</sub> (CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> -		CH <sub>3</sub> O-	20b	82	
2		17		CI	20c	72	
3 4		17 17		<i>n</i> -C <sub>12</sub> H <sub>25</sub> SLi (CH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> CSLi	20d 20e	60 <sup>b</sup> 39	
5	8	(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>14</sub>		CH3 — SLi	20f	51	
6	21	CH <sub>3</sub>	CH <sub>3</sub>	CH3 - SLi	20g	77	
7	22	Ph	Ph	CH3-	20h	68	
8	23	Ph (E) S(O)Tol	I	CH3-SLi	Ph <sup>H<sub>3</sub>CH SR 20i</sup>	65 <sup>c</sup>	
9	24	$\begin{array}{c} Ph & CI \\ H_3C & CI \\ H_3C & S(O)Tol \end{array}$		CH <sub>3</sub> -SLi	Ph <sup>H</sup> <sub>3</sub> C Ph <sup>20j</sup> H	79 <sup>d</sup>	

<sup>a</sup> Isolated yield after silica gel column chromatography.

<sup>b</sup> THF was used as a solvent.

<sup>c</sup> The product was a mixture of Z-isomer 20i and E-isomer 20j (20i:20j=3.5:1).

<sup>d</sup> The product was a mixture of *E*-isomer **20j** and *Z*-isomer **20i** (**20i**:**20j**=1:5).



#### Scheme 6.

alkylidene carbenoid with thiolate is a unique way which has not been reported yet.

Encouraged by the results described above, we studied the generality of this reaction (Table 3). 4-Methoxybenzenethiol gave a similar yield of vinyl sulfide **20b** (entry 1); however, the benzenethiol having an electron-withdrawing group, chlorine, at the 4-position gave vinyl sulfide **20c** in slightly lower yield (entry 2). As the lithium thiolate of dodecanethiol was insoluble in toluene, the reaction with the magnesium alkylidene carbenoid was carried out in THF, and 60% yield of the vinyl sulfide **20d** was obtained (entry 3). 2-Methyl-2-propanethiol gave a somewhat lower yield of **20e** and steric hindrance was thought to be the reason for the low yield (entry 4).

This reaction was investigated using the 1-chlorovinyl p-tolyl sulfoxides derived from cyclopentadecanone (8), acetone (21), benzophenone (22) and 4-phenyl-2-butanone (23 and 24) with lithium p-toluenethiolate (Table 3, entries 5–9). As shown in Table 3, entries 5–7, 1-chlorovinyl p-tolyl sulfoxides 8, 21 and 22 gave the desired vinyl sulfides (20f, 20g, and 20h) in moderate to good yields. Somewhat interestingly, the geometrical isomer E-vinyl sulfide 23 gave Z-isomer 20i predominantly. In contrast to this, Z-vinyl sulfoxide 24 gave E-vinyl sulfide 20j stereospecifically; however, the stereospecificity was not so high (entries 8 and 9).

As described above for the reaction of the magnesium alkylidene carbenoid **9** with lithium acetylides (Scheme 3), the intermediate of the reaction of the magnesium alkylidene carbenoid **18** with lithium *p*-toluenethiolate was again thought to be the alkenyl anion **25** (Scheme 6). To confirm this, the reaction was quenched with  $D_2O$  and we obtained deuterated vinyl sulfide **26** in 80% yield with 98% deuterium incorporation. If the intermediate **25** would react with other electrophiles, the reaction achieved a new method for the synthesis of fully substituted vinyl sulfides. We investigated this feasibility and the results are summarized in Table 4.

The vinylthio anion **27** was generated from **17** and lithium *p*-toluenethiolate, as described above in Scheme 6 and 7 equiv of benzaldehyde was added to the reaction mixture at 0 °C; however, not the desired adduct **28a** (see Table 4)

but a complex mixture was obtained. After some investigation it was found that the reaction was best conducted at -40 °C and the adduct **28a** was obtained in 64% yield (entry 1). In the case of propanal the best yield was obtained at 0 °C; however, the yield was much lower compared with that of benzaldehyde (entry 2). All other reactions were best carried out at -40 °C.

Benzoylchloride gave the enone having a tolylsulfanyl group at the  $\alpha$ -position **28c** in 54% yield. Ethyl chloroformate gave the desired product **28d** in only 11% yield (entry 4). The reaction with iodine gave the desired alkenyliodide **28e** in good yield. Iodomethane, styrene oxide and carbon disulfide did not react at all with the intermediate anion **27**.

To investigate the generality of this reaction, the 1-chlorovinyl *p*-tolyl sulfoxide derived from acetone **21** was treated with *i*-PrMgCl followed by lithium *p*-toluenethiolate and the generated carbanion was treated with benzaldehyde and iodine. This reaction afforded the adduct **28f** and iodide **28g** in 58 and 72% yield, respectively (entries 6 and 7). Finally, this reaction was carried out with **17** and *p*-methoxybenzenthiol followed by benzaldehyde to give **28h** in 49% yield. From the results described above, the generality of the procedure was confirmed.

In conclusion, we have developed a new method for synthesis of conjugated enynes and vinyl sulfides by the reaction with magnesium alkylidene carbenoids and lithium acetylides or lithium thiolates in moderate to good yields. In some cases the intermediates, alkenyl anions, could be trapped with electrophiles. These reactions offer a unique and good procedure for the synthesis of highly substituted enynes and vinyl sulfides.

#### 2. Experimental

#### 2.1. General

All melting points are uncorrected. <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra were measured in a CDCl<sub>3</sub> solution with JEOL JNM-LA 400 and 500 spectrometer. Electron-impact mass spectra (MS) were obtained at 70 eV by direct insertion. Silica gel 60 (MERCK) containing 0.5% fluorescence reagent 254 and

Table 4. Synthesis of tri-substituted vinyl sulfides 28 from 1-chlorovinyl *p*-tolyl sulfoxides with lithium thiolates and electrophiles via the magnesium alkylidene carbenoids



<sup>a</sup> Isolated yield after silica gel column chromatography.

a quartz column were used for column chromatography and the products having UV absorption were detected by UV irradiation. In experiments requiring a dry reagent and solvent, DMPU, TMEDA, toluene and HMPA were distilled from CaH<sub>2</sub> and THF, cyclopentyl methyl ether, 1,4-dioxane and DME were distilled from diphenylketyl.

**2.1.1.** (Hept-2-ynylidene)cyclopentadecane (10). To a solution of 8 (100 mg; 0.25 mmol) in 20 ml of dry THF in a flame-dried flask at -78 °C under argon atmosphere was added *t*-BuMgCl (0.033 mmol) dropwise with stirring. After 10 min, *i*-PrMgCl (0.75 mmol) was added dropwise to the

reaction mixture at -78 °C to give the magnesium alkylidene carbenoid **9**. *n*-BuLi (0.8 mmol) was added to a solution of 1-hexyne (0.086 ml; 0.75 mmol) in 6 ml of dry THF and dry CPME (0.27 ml; 2.3 mmol) in another flamedried flask at -78 °C under argon atmosphere to give a white muddy solution. This solution was added to a solution of the carbenoid **9** through a canula. Temperature of the reaction mixture was gradually allowed to warm to room temperature for 2 h. The reaction was quenched with satd aq NH<sub>4</sub>Cl and the whole was extracted with hexane–AcOEt and the extract was dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>. After removal of the solvent, the product was purified by silica gel column chromatography to give **10** (48.4 mg; 64%) as a colorless oil; IR (neat) 2930, 2858, 2067 (triple bond), 1638, 1460 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  0.92 (3H, t, *J*=7.2 Hz), 1.32–1.55 (28H, m), 2.06 (2H, t, *J*=7.3 Hz), 2.28 (2H, t, *J*=7.4 Hz), 2.33 (2H, dt, *J*=6.9, 2.1 Hz), 5.26 (1H, s). MS *m*/*z* (%) 302 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 259 (11), 245 (9), 161 (13), 147 (24), 136 (35), 121 (29), 105 (42). Calcd for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>38</sub>: M, 302.2971. Found: *m*/*z* 302.2981.

**2.1.2.** (3-Phenylprop-2-ynylidene)cyclopentadecane (11a). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 2929, 2857, 2198 (triple bond), 1595, 1489, 1459, 1443, 910, 754, 690 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.33–1.60 (24H, m), 2.15 (2H, t, *J*=7.3 Hz), 2.40 (2H, t, *J*=7.4 Hz), 5.51 (1H, s), 7.25–7.31 (3H, m), 7.39–7.42 (2H, m). MS *m*/*z* (%) 322 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 169 (15), 167 (26), 128 (20), 91 (16). Calcd for C<sub>24</sub>H<sub>34</sub>: M, 322.2658. Found: *m*/*z* 322.2653.

**2.1.3. {3-(4-Methoxyphenyl)prop-2-ynylidene}cyclopentadecane (11b).** Colorless oil; IR (neat) 2930, 2857, 2192 (triple bond), 1603, 1508, 1459, 1442, 1290, 1247, 1171, 1038, 830 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.24–1.59 (24H, m), 2.14 (2H, t, J=7.2 Hz), 2.38 (2H, t, J=7.3 Hz), 3.81 (3H, s), 5.49 (1H, s), 6.83 (2H, d, J=8.8 Hz), 7.34 (2H, d, J=8.8 Hz). MS *m*/*z* (%) 352 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 197 (11), 185 (10), 171 (5), 145 (4) 121 (9). Calcd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>36</sub>O: M, 352.2685. Found: *m*/*z* 352.2775.

**2.1.4.** {**3-(4-Fluorophenyl)prop-2-ynylidene**}cyclopentadecane (11c). Yellow oil; IR (neat) 2930, 2858, 2199 (triple bond), 1599, 1506, 1460, 1231, 1155, 834 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$ 1.33–1.58 (24H, m), 2.15 (2H, t, J=7.4 Hz), 2.38 (2H, t, J=7.6 Hz), 5.49 (1H, s), 7.00 (2H, t, J=8.6 Hz), 7.36–7.40 (2H, m). MS *m*/*z* (%) 340 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 185 (28), 173 (24), 146 (25), 109 (18). Calcd for C<sub>24</sub>H<sub>33</sub>F: M, 340.2609. Found: *m*/*z* 340.2559.

**2.1.5. {3-(Trimethylsilyl)prop-2-ynylidene}cyclopentadecane (11d).** Colorless oil; IR (neat) 2929, 2858, 2132 (triple bond), 1615, 1461, 1249 (C–Si), 1085, 842, 759 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  0.18 (9H, s), 1.32–1.53 (24H, m), 2.08 (2H, t, J= 7.1 Hz), 2.32 (2H, t, J=7.7 Hz), 5.32 (1H, s). MS *m/z* (%) 318 (M<sup>+</sup>, 48), 303 (47), 244 (8), 194 (7), 73 (100). Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>38</sub>Si: M, 318.2741. Found: *m/z* 318.2751.

**2.1.6.** (**Prop-2-ynylidene**)cyclopentadecane (11e). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 3312, 2929, 2857, 2098 (triple bond), 1619, 1459, 1350, 1288, 1173 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.32–1.53 (24H, m), 2.10 (2H, t, *J*=7.3 Hz), 2.33 (2H, t, *J*=7.4 Hz), 3.00 (1H, d, *J*=2.4 Hz), 5.28 (1H, s). MS *m*/*z* (%) 246 (M<sup>+</sup>, 28), 147 (16), 133 (30), 119 (42), 107 (63), 93 (93), 80 (100). Calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>30</sub>: M, 246.2337. Found: *m*/*z* 246.2347.

**2.1.7.** {(**1-Deuterio**)hept-2-ynylidene}cyclopentadecane (13). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 2930, 2858, 2238 (triple bond), 1615, 1460, 1350, 1298, 730, 710 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  0.92 (3H, t, *J*=7.0 Hz), 1.32–1.55 (28H, m), 2.06 (2H, t, *J*=7.4 Hz), 2.28 (2H, t, *J*=7.4 Hz), 2.33 (2H, t, *J*=7.0 Hz). MS *m*/*z* (%) 303 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 260 (13), 246 (10), 150 (14), 137 (42), 134 (31), 108 (30). Calcd for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>37</sub>D: M, 303.3034. Found: *m*/*z* 303.3034.

2.1.8. (1-Methylhept-2-ynylidene)cyclopentadecane (15). To a solution of 8 (100 mg; 0.25 mmol) in 20 ml of dry THF in a flame-dried flask at -78 °C under argon atmosphere was added *t*-BuMgCl (0.033 mmol) dropwise with stirring. After 10 min, *i*-PrMgCl (0.75 mmol) was added dropwise to the reaction mixture at -78 °C to give the magnesium alkylidene carbenoid 9. n-BuLi (0.8 mmol) was added to a solution of 1-hexyne (0.086 ml; 0.75 mmol) in 6 ml of dry THF and CPME (0.27 ml; 2.3 mmol) in another flame-dried flask at -78 °C under argon atmosphere to give a white muddy solution. This solution was added to a solution of the carbenoid 9 through a canula. Temperature of the reaction mixture was gradually allowed to warm to -10 °C for 2 h. Iodomethane (1.75 mmol) was added dropwise to the reaction mixture. Temperature of the reaction mixture was gradually allowed to warm to room temperature for 30 min. The reaction was quenched by adding satd aq NH<sub>4</sub>Cl and the whole was extracted with AcOEt. The product was purified by silica gel column chromatography. As this product was an inseparable mixture with **10**, only the data for <sup>1</sup>H NMR is reported: <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  0.92 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz), 1.32–1.54 (28H, m), 1.78 (3H, s), 2.06 (2H, t, J=7.4 Hz), 2.28 (2H, t, J=7.1 Hz), 2.34 (2H, t, J=6.7 Hz).

**2.1.9.** (1-Iodohept-2-ynylidene)cyclopentadecane (16). Yellow oil; IR (neat) 2929, 2858, 2208 (triple bond), 1458, 1350, 1325, 1104, 738 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  0.92 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz), 1.32–1.56 (28H, m), 2.24 (2H, t, J=7.8 Hz), 2.38–2.43 (4H, m). MS m/z (%) 428 (M<sup>+</sup>, 96), 375 (16), 301 (72), 265 (27), 225 (35), 189 (17), 149 (32), 109 (62), 81 (100). Calcd for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>37</sub>I: M, 428.1940. Found: m/z 428.1941.

**2.1.10.** 8-(Hept-2-ynylidene)-1,4-dioxaspiro[4,5]decane (19a). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 2954, 2875, 2213 (triple bond), 1634, 1442, 1374, 1271, 1249, 1228, 1120, 1083, 1035, 945, 908, 684 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  0.92 (3H, t, J= 7.3 Hz), 1.43 (2H, sextet, J=7.3 Hz), 1.52 (2H, quintet, J= 7.2 Hz), 1.71 (4H, quintet, J=6.7 Hz), 2.29–2.35 (4H, m), 2.54 (2H, t, J=6.4 Hz), 3.97 (4H, s), 5.26 (1H, s). MS m/z (%) 234 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 205 (20), 191 (14), 148 (15), 133 (22), 119 (20), 105 (27), 91 (38). Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>2</sub>; M, 234.1618. Found: m/z 234.1613.

**2.1.11.** 8-(1-Deuteriohept-2-ynylidene)-1,4-dioxaspiro-[4,5]decane (19b). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 2954, 2875, 2237 (triple bond), 1626, 1443, 1365, 1239, 1121, 1084, 1035, 942, 903, 664 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  0.92 (3H, t, J= 7.3 Hz), 1.39–1.46 (2H, m), 1.42 (2H, sextet, J=7.3 Hz), 1.52 (2H, quintet, J=7.2 Hz), 1.70 (4H, quintet, J= 6.4 Hz), 2.32 (4H, quintet, J=6.6 Hz), 2.54 (2H, t, J= 6.4 Hz), 3.97 (4H, s). MS m/z (%) 235 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 206 (22), 192 (17), 149 (17), 134 (26), 120 (26), 106 (32), 92 (40). Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>21</sub>DO<sub>2</sub>: M, 235.1680, Found: m/z 235.1674.

**2.1.12.** 8-(1-Iodohept-2-ynylidene)-1,4-dioxaspiro[4,5]decane (19c). Yellow oil; IR (neat) 2956, 2875, 2208 (triple bond), 1678, 1633, 1435, 1366, 1277, 1236, 1218, 1121, 1083, 1034, 944, 908, 804 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  0.92 (3H, t, *J*=7.3 Hz), 1.39–1.47 (2H, m), 1.51–1.55 (2H, m), 1.68 (4H, quintet, *J*=6.6 Hz), 2.41 (2H, t, *J*=7.0 Hz), 2.54 (2H, t, *J*=6.4 Hz), 2.70 (2H, t, *J*=6.4 Hz), 3.97 (4H, s). MS *m*/*z* (%) 360 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 322 (11), 233 (24), 232 (14), 195 (19), 189 (33), 151 (17), 147 (16), 105 (22). Calcd for  $C_{15}H_{21}O_2I$ : M, 360.0586. Found: *m/z* 360.0579.

2.1.13. 8-{(p-Tolylsulfanyl)methylene}-1,4-dioxaspiro-[4.5]decane (20a). To a solution of 17 (65.4 mg; 0.2 mmol) in 6 ml of dry toluene in a flame-dried flask at -78 °C under argon atmosphere was added *t*-BuMgCl (0.025 mmol) dropwise with stirring. After 10 min, *i*-PrMgCl (0.60 mmol) was added dropwise to the reaction mixture at -78 °C to give the magnesium alkylidene carbenoid 18. n-BuLi (0.66 mmol) was added to a solution of p-toluenethiol (74.5 mg; 0.6 mmol) in 6 ml of dry toluene and dry DME (0.21 ml; 2 mmol) in another flame-dried flask at -78 °C under argon atmosphere to give the thiolate anion. This solution was added to a solution of the carbenoid 18 through a canula. Temperature of the reaction mixture was gradually allowed to warm to 0 °C for 2 h. The reaction was quenched by satd aq NH<sub>4</sub>Cl and the whole was extracted with CHCl<sub>3</sub>. The organic layer was washed once with water and dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>. After removal of the solvent, the product was purified by silica gel column chromatography to give **20a** (44.2 mg; 80%) as a colorless oil; IR (neat) 2948, 2880, 1492, 1120, 1085, 1034, 908, 805 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.71–1.76 (4H, m), 2.32 (3H, s), 2.40 (2H, t, J=6.4 Hz), 2.53 (2H, t, J=6.6 Hz), 3.98 (4H, s),5.92 (1H, s), 7.10 (2H, d, J=8.0 Hz), 7.21 (2H, d, J= 8.3 Hz). MS m/z (%) 276 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 215 (12), 153 (63), 109 (27), 99 (17), 91 (17). Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>20</sub>O<sub>2</sub>S: M, 276.1183. Found: m/z 276.1179.

**2.1.14.** 8-{(4-Methoxyphenylsulfanyl)methylene}-1,4dioxaspiro[4.5]decane (20b). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 2949, 2883, 1593, 1494, 1287, 1245, 1120, 1084, 1033, 908, 825, 757 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.73 (4H, t, *J*=6.5 Hz), 2.37 (2H, t, *J*=6.5 Hz), 2.52 (2H, t, *J*=6.5 Hz), 3.79 (3H, s), 3.98 (4H, s), 5.87 (1H, s), 6.85 (2H, d, *J*=8.9 Hz), 7.29 (2H, d, *J*=8.9 Hz). MS *m*/*z* (%) 292 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 231 (12), 153 (50), 139 (27), 109 (27). Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>20</sub>O<sub>3</sub>S: M, 292.1132. Found: *m*/*z* 292.1138.

**2.1.15.** 8-{(4-Chlorophenylsulfanyl)methylene}-1,4dioxaspiro[4.5]decane (20c). Colorless needles; mp 50.5– 51.5 °C (hexane); IR (KBr) 2954, 2877, 1622, 1473, 1132, 1118, 1089, 1029, 913, 812, 682 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.72 (2H, t, *J*=6.7 Hz), 1.76 (2H, t, *J*=6.6 Hz), 2.43 (2H, t, *J*= 6.6 Hz), 2.53 (2H, t, *J*=6.6 Hz), 3.98 (4H, s), 5.91 (1H, s), 7.21 (2H, d, *J*=8.6 Hz), 7.25 (2H, d, *J*=8.6 Hz). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>17</sub>ClO<sub>2</sub>S: C, 60.70; H, 5.77; Cl, 11.94; S, 10.80. Found: C, 60.82; H, 5.74; Cl, 11.87; S, 10.88%.

**2.1.16.** 8-{(Dodecylsulfanyl)methylene}-1,4-dioxaspiro-[4.5]decane (20d). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 2926, 2854, 1120, 1085, 1035, 908 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  0.88 (3H, t, J= 7.0 Hz), 1.22–1.32 (16H, m), 1.36–1.39 (2H, m), 1.60 (2H, t, J= 7.5 Hz), 1.68 (4H, t, J=6.4 Hz), 2.30 (2H, t, J= 6.4 Hz), 2.40 (2H, t, J=6.6 Hz), 2.62 (2H, t, J=7.3 Hz), 3.97 (4H, s), 5.66 (1H, s). MS *m*/*z* (%) 354 (M<sup>+</sup>, 81), 293 (16), 185 (77), 153 (100), 99 (34). Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>38</sub>O<sub>2</sub>S: M, 354.2590. Found: *m*/*z* 354.2581.

**2.1.17.** 8-{(*tert*-Butylsulfanyl)methylene}-1,4-dioxaspiro-[4.5]decane (20e). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 2955, 2881, 1457, 1364, 1270, 1120, 1085, 1035, 909 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.33 (9H, s), 1.67 (2H, t, J=6.6 Hz), 1.70 (2H, t, J=6.4 Hz), 2.36 (2H, t, J=6.4 Hz), 2.48 (2H, t, J=6.6 Hz), 3.97 (4H, s), 5.87 (1H, s). MS m/z (%) 242 (M<sup>+</sup>, 52), 186 (63), 153 (100), 124 (18), 99 (25), 86 (40), 57, (39). Calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>2</sub>S: M, 242.1339. Found: m/z 242.1340.

**2.1.18.** {(*p*-Tolylsulfanyl)methylene}cyclopentadecane (20f). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 2928, 2857, 1492, 1459, 1216, 1092, 803, 759 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.25–1.52 (24H, m), 2.16 (2H, t, *J*=7.6 Hz), 2.27 (2H, t, *J*=7.7 Hz), 2.31 (3H, s), 5.90 (1H, s), 7.09 (2H, d, *J*=7.9 Hz), 7.20 (2H, d, *J*=7.9 Hz). MS *m*/*z* (%) 344 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 124 (15), 95 (8), 69 (10), 55 (14). Calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>36</sub>S: M, 344.2535. Found: *m*/*z* 344.2529.

**2.1.19. 2-Methylpropenyl** *p***-tolyl sulfide (20g).** Colorless oil; IR (neat) 2967, 2910, 2727, 1892, 1492, 1440, 1372, 1302, 1171, 1091, 1062, 1017, 857, 804 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.86, 1.87, 2.31 (each 3H, s), 5.88 (1H, s), 7.09, 7.20 (each 2H, d, *J*=8.3 Hz). MS *m/z* (%) 178 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 163 (31), 135 (13), 105 (13), 91 (21). Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>14</sub>S: M, 178.0815. Found: *m/z* 178.0806.

**2.1.20. 2,2-Diphenylethenyl** *p***-tolyl sulfide** (**20h**). Colorless needles; mp 84–85 °C, (AcOEt–hexane); IR (KBr) 3027, 1583, 1491, 1442, 816, 807, 775, 754, 701, 693 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  2.34 (3H, s), 6.82 (1H, s), 7.14–7.44 (14H, m). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>18</sub>S: C, 83.40; H, 6.00; S, 10.60. Found: C, 83.28; H, 5.96; S, 10.73%.

**2.1.21.** (**Z**)-2-Methyl-4-phenyl-1-(*p*-tolylsulfanyl)-1butene (20i). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 3026, 2922, 1604, 1493, 1454, 1376, 1091, 1032, 1017, 804, 743, 698 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.86 (3H, d, *J*=1.2 Hz), 2.31 (3H, s), 2.59 (2H, dd, *J*=8.3, 7.6 Hz), 2.76 (2H, dd, *J*=8.6, 7.3 Hz), 5.91 (1H, d, *J*=1.2 Hz), 7.08 (2H, d, *J*=8.0 Hz), 7.15–7.20 (3H, m), 7.23–7.24 (2H, m), 7.27–7.30 (2H, m). MS *m*/*z* (%) 268 (M<sup>+</sup>, 70), 177 (100), 149 (39), 144 (53), 129 (19), 91 (36). Calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>20</sub>S: M, 268.1284. Found: *m*/*z* 268.1283.

**2.1.22.** (*E*)-2-Methyl-4-phenyl-1-(*p*-tolylsulfanyl)-1butene (20j). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 3026, 2921, 1601, 1493, 1454, 1376, 1091, 1030, 1017, 805, 745, 699 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.88 (3H, s), 2.30 (3H, s), 2.47 (2H, t, *J*= 7.8 Hz), 2.79 (2H, t, *J*=7.8 Hz), 5.83 (1H, s), 7.05 (4H, s), 7.18–7.23 (3H, m), 7.29 (2H, t, *J*=7.6 Hz). MS *m*/*z* (%) 268 (M<sup>+</sup>, 58), 177 (100), 149 (31), 144 (48), 129 (19), 91 (38). Calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>20</sub>S: M, 268.1284. Found: *m*/*z* 268.1277.

**2.1.23.** 8-(Deuterio-*p*-tolylsulfanylmethylene)-1,4-dioxaspiro[4.5]decane (26). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 2949, 2880, 1492, 1440, 1364, 1274, 1226, 1122, 1087, 1034, 929, 899, 806 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.73 (4H, quintet, *J*=6.1 Hz), 2.31 (3H, s), 2.40 (2H, t, *J*=6.4 Hz), 2.53 (2H, t, *J*=6.6 Hz), 3.98 (4H, s), 7.10 (2H, d, *J*=8.3 Hz), 7.21 (2H, d, *J*=8.3 Hz). MS *m*/*z* (%) 277 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 216 (14), 154 (60), 110 (27). Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>19</sub>DO<sub>2</sub>S: M, 277.1245. Found: *m*/*z* 277.1242.

**2.1.24. 2-(1,4-Dioxaspiro[4.5]dec-8-ylidene)-1-phenyl-2-**(*p*-tolylsulfanyl)ethanol (28a). To a solution of 17 (98.1 mg; 0.3 mmol) in 12 ml of dry toluene in a flamedried flask at -78 °C under argon atmosphere was added t-BuMgCl (0.04 mmol) dropwise with stirring. After 10 min, *i*-PrMgCl (0.9 mmol) was added dropwise to the reaction mixture at -78 °C to give the magnesium alkylidene carbenoid 18. n-BuLi (0.96 mmol) was added to a solution of *p*-toluenethiol (112 mg; 0.9 mmol) in 9 ml of dry toluene and dry DME (0.31 ml; 3 mmol) in another flame-dried flask at -78 °C under argon atmosphere to give thiolate anion. This solution was added to the solution of the carbenoid 18 through a canula. Temperature of the reaction mixture was gradually allowed to warm to -40 °C for 1 h. Benzaldehyde (2.1 mmol) was added dropwise to the reaction mixture. After 15 min, the reaction was guenched by satd aq NH<sub>4</sub>Cl. The whole was extracted with CHCl<sub>3</sub> and the organic layer was washed once with water and dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>. After removal of the solvent, the product was purified by silica gel flash column chromatography to give **28a** (73.4 mg; 64%) as a colorless oil; IR (neat) 3460 (OH), 2953, 2884, 1601, 1492, 1449, 1226, 1123, 1084, 1034, 944, 908, 806, 754, 700, 662 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.60–1.67 (2H, m), 1.76–1.86 (2H, m), 2.26 (3H, s), 2.61–2.66 (1H, m), 2.72–2.77 (3H, m), 2.89 (1H, d, J=9.8 Hz, OH), 3.97 (4H, s), 5.97 (1H, d, J=9.8 Hz), 6.99 (2H, d, J=8.3 Hz), 7.04 (2H, d, J=8.3 Hz), 7.23 (1H, t, J=7.2 Hz), 7.29 (2H, t, J=7.2 Hz), 7.34 (2H, d, J = 7.2 Hz). MS m/z (%) 382 (M<sup>+</sup>, 98), 364 (27), 189 (37), 155 (100), 105 (39), 99 (48), 91 (44), 77 (33). Calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>26</sub>O<sub>3</sub>S: M, 382.1601. Found: *m/z* 382.1608.

**2.1.25.** 1-(1,4-Dioxaspiro[4.5]dec-8-ylidene)-1-(*p*-tolyl-sulfanyl)-2-butanol (28b). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 3468 (OH), 2959, 2877, 1492, 1123, 1085, 1034, 910, 805 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  0.87 (3H, t, *J*=6.2 Hz), 1.45–1.53 (1H, m), 1.57–1.65 (3H, m), 1.68–1.83 (2H, m), 2.23 (1H, d, *J*= 10.1 Hz, OH), 2.28 (3H, s), 2.54–2.73 (4H, m), 3.96 (4H, s), 4.66 (1H, dt, *J*=10.1, 7.2 Hz), 7.04 (2H, d, *J*=8.0 Hz), 7.21 (2H, t, *J*=8.0 Hz). MS *m*/*z* (%) 334 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 243 (18), 230 (21), 215 (22), 193 (20), 107 (19), 99 (18). Calcd for C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>26</sub>O<sub>3</sub>S: M, 334.1602. Found: *m*/*z* 334.1602.

**2.1.26. 2-(1,4-Dioxaspiro[4.5]dec-8-ylidene)-1-phenyl-2-**(*p*-tolylsulfanyl)ethanone (28c). Colorless needles; mp 104.5–105.5 °C, (AcOEt–hexane); IR (KBr) 2964, 2898, 1662 (CO), 1492, 1448, 1208, 1089, 1028, 916, 809, 707 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.72 (2H, t, *J*=6.6 Hz), 1.86 (2H, t, *J*=6.6 Hz), 2.26 (3H, s), 2.40 (2H, t, *J*=6.4 Hz), 2.90 (2H, t, *J*=6.6 Hz), 3.95–4.01 (4H, m), 7.01 (2H, d, *J*=7.6 Hz), 7.13 (2H, d, *J*=8.3 Hz), 7.40 (2H, t, *J*=7.8 Hz), 7.52 (1H, tt, *J*=7.4, 1.4 Hz), 7.79 (2H, dd, *J*=8.5, 1.4 Hz). MS *m/z* (%) 380 (M<sup>+</sup>, 95), 257 (100), 213 (53), 189 (32), 105 (92), 77 (55). Calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>24</sub>O<sub>3</sub>S: M, 380.1446. Found: *m/z* 380.1441. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>24</sub>O<sub>3</sub>S: C, 72.60; H, 6.36; S, 8.43. Found: C, 72.59; H, 6.36; S, 8.36%.

**2.1.27.** (1,4-Dioxaspiro[4.5]dec-8-ylidene)-(*p*-tolylsulfanyl)acetic acid ethyl ester (28d). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 2983, 1733 (CO), 1493, 1374, 1246, 1090, 1045, 916, 757 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.07 (3H, t, *J*=7.2 Hz), 1.77 (2H, t, *J*=6.6 Hz), 1.80 (2H, t, *J*=6.6 Hz), 2.30 (3H, s), 2.64 (2H, t, *J*=6.6 Hz), 2.79 (2H, t, *J*=6.6 Hz), 3.98 (4H, s), 4.04 (2H, q, *J*=7.0 Hz), 7.07 (2H, d, *J*=8.0 Hz), 7.20 (2H, d, *J*=8.0 Hz). MS *m*/*z* (%) 348 (M<sup>+</sup>, 86), 303 (33), 302 (100), 225 (59), 183 (33), 179 (63), 119 (35). Calcd for C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>24</sub>O<sub>4</sub>S: M, 348.1395. Found: *m*/*z* 348.1397.

**2.1.28.** 8-{**Iodo**-(*p*-tolylsulfanyl)methylene}-1,4-dioxaspiro[4.5]decane (28e). Colorless needles; mp 106–107 °C (AcOEt–hexane); IR (KBr) 2937, 2870, 1490, 1214, 1123, 1084, 1033, 906, 805 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.69 (2H, t, *J*=6.6 Hz), 1.78 (2H, t, *J*=6.6 Hz), 2.33 (3H, s), 2.69 (2H, t, *J*=6.6 Hz), 2.90 (2H, t, *J*=6.6 Hz), 3.99 (4H, s), 7.16 (4H, s). MS *m*/*z* (%) 402 (M<sup>+</sup>, 35), 275 (100), 189 (55), 155 (58), 135 (21), 99 (44). Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>19</sub>IO<sub>2</sub>S: M, 402.0150. Found: *m*/*z* 402.0144. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>19</sub>IO<sub>2</sub>S: C, 47.77; H, 4.76; I, 31.55; S, 7.97. Found: C, 47.81; H, 4.60; I, 31.71; S, 7.59%.

**2.1.29. 3-Methyl-1-phenyl-2-**(*p*-tolylsulfanyl)but-2-en-1ol (28f). Colorless oil; IR (neat) 3437 (OH), 2922, 1622, 1600, 1492, 1449, 1017, 805, 700 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.99 (3H, s), 2.11 (3H, s), 2.27 (3H, s), 2.80 (1H, d, J=10.1 Hz, OH), 5.94 (1H, d, J=10.1 Hz), 7.00 (2H, d, J=8.6 Hz), 7.04 (2H, d, J=8.6 Hz), 7.23 (1H, t, J=7.2 Hz), 7.30 (2H, t, J=7.6 Hz), 7.36 (2H, d, J=7.7 Hz). MS *m*/*z* (%) 284 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 178 (27), 177 (35), 162 (33), 144 (29), 143 (78), 77 (32). Calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>20</sub>OS: M, 284.1233. Found: *m*/*z* 284.1230.

**2.1.30. 1-Iodo-2-methylpropenyl** *p*-tolyl sulfide (28g). Colorless needles; mp 44–45 °C, (AcOEt–hexane); IR (KBr) 2908, 1489, 1204, 1183, 1071, 1016, 866, 803 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  2.10 (3H, s), 2.17 (3H, s), 2.33 (3H, s), 7.15 (4H, s). MS *m*/*z* (%) 304 (M<sup>+</sup>, 39), 177 (100), 162 (38), 143 (60), 129 (18). Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>13</sub>IS: M, 303.9782. Found: *m*/*z* 303.9771.

**2.1.31. 2-(1,4-Dioxaspiro[4.5]dec-8-ylidene)-2-(4-meth-oxyphenylsulfanyl)-1-phenylethanol (28h).** Colorless oil; IR (neat) 3461 (OH), 2952, 1594, 1493, 1449, 1244, 1122, 1033, 755 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $\delta$  1.59–1.70 (2H, m), 1.74–1.84 (2H, m), 2.65–2.80 (4H, m), 2.92 (1H, d, J=9.8 Hz, OH), 3.75 (3H, s), 3.95–3.98 (4H, m), 5.96 (1H, d, J=9.8 Hz), 6.72 (2H, dt, J=9.6, 2.7 Hz), 7.08 (2H, dt, J=9.6, 2.7 Hz), 7.22 (1H, t, J=7.2 Hz), 7.29 (2H, t, J=6.7 Hz), 7.33 (2H, d, J=7.4 Hz). MS m/z (%) 398 (M<sup>+</sup>, 100), 290 (8), 241 (10), 205 (26), 155 (24). Calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>26</sub>O<sub>4</sub>S: M, 398.1549. Found: m/z 398.1543.

#### Acknowledgements

We thank Zeon Corporation, Japan, for providing us cyclopentyl methyl ether (CPME).

#### **References and notes**

- (a) Kirmse, W. Carbene Chemistry; Academic: New York, 1971. (b) Oku, A.; Harada, T. J. Synth. Org. Chem. Jpn. 1986, 44, 736. (c) Oku, A. J. Synth. Org. Chem. Jpn. 1990, 48, 710.
   (d) Dorwald, F. Z. Metal Carbenes in Organic Synthesis; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 1999. (e) Carbene Chemistry; Bertrand, G., Ed.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 2002.
- (a) Stang, P. J. Chem. Rev. 1978, 78, 383. (b) Knorr, R. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 3795. (c) Ohe, K.; Miki, K.; Uemura, S. J. Synth. Org. Chem. Jpn. 2004, 62, 978.

- Some selected recent papers and reviews in this category. (a) Topolsky, M.; Duraisamy, M.; Rachon, J.; Gawronski, J.; Gawronska, K.; Goedken, V.; Walborsky, H. M. J. Org. Chem. **1993**, 58, 546. (b) Harada, T.; Katsuhira, T.; Hattori, K.; Oku, A. Tetrahedron **1994**, 50, 7987. (c) Alami, M.; Crousse, B.; Linstrumelle, G. Tetrahedron Lett. **1995**, 36, 3687. (d) Taber, D. F.; Meagley, R. P.; Doren, D. J. J. Org. Chem. **1996**, 61, 5723. (e) Braun, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **1998**, 37, 430. (f) Kasatkin, A.; Whitby, R. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, 121, 7039. (g) Boche, G.; Lohrenz, C. W. Chem. Rev. **2001**, 101, 697. (h) Taber, D. F.; Christos, T. E.; Neubert, T. D.; Batra, D. J. Org. Chem. **1999**, 64, 9673. (i) Marek, I. Tetrahedron **2002**, 58, 9463. (j) Yanagisawa, H.; Miure, K.; Kitamura, M.; Narasaka, K.; Ando, K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. **2003**, 76, 2009.
- (a) Satoh, T.; Takano, K.; Someya, H.; Matsuda, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1995**, *36*, 7097. (b) Satoh, T.; Takano, K.; Ota, H.; Someya, H.; Matsuda, K.; Koyama, M. *Tetrahedron* **1998**, *54*, 5557.
- (a) Satoh, T. J. Synth. Org. Chem. Jpn. 1996, 54, 481. (b) Satoh, T. J. Synth. Org. Chem. Jpn. 2003, 61, 98.
- (a) Satoh, T.; Sakamoto, T.; Watanabe, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, 43, 2043. (b) Satoh, T.; Sakamoto, T.; Watanabe, M.; Takano, K. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **2003**, 51, 966.
- 7. Satoh, T. Chem. Rec. 2004, 3, 329.
- Satoh, T.; Kawashima, T.; Takahashi, S.; Sakai, K. *Tetrahedron* 2003, 59, 9599.
- 9. For example: (a) Saito, S.; Yamamoto, Y. Chem. Rev. 2000,

100, 2901. (b) Saito, S.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Synth. Org. Chem. Jpn. 2001, 59, 346. (c) Tykwinski, R. R.; Zhao, Y. Synlett 2002, 1939. (d) Saito, S.; Yamamoto, Y. In Negishi, E., Ed.; Handbook of Organopalladium Chemistry for Organic Synthesis; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 2002; Vol. 1, pp 1635–1646.

- (a) Brandsma, L.; Verkruijsse, H. D. Synthesis of Acetylenes, Allenes and Cumulenes; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1981. (b) Brandsma, L. Preparative Acetylenic Chemistry 2nd ed.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1988. (c) Gevorgyan, V. In Negishi, E., Ed.; Handbook of Organopalladium Chemistry for Organic Synthesis; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 2002; Vol. 1, pp 1463–1469. (d) Silveira, C.; Braga, A.; Vieira, A. S.; Zent, G. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 662. (e) Pal, M.; Parasuraman, K.; Subramanian, V.; Dakarapu, R.; Yeleswarapu, K. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 2305.
- Addition of alkynyllithium to cycloalkylidene carbenes to give enynes is known: Harada, T.; Iwazaki, K.; Otani, T.; Oku, A. *J. Org. Chem.* **1998**, *63*, 9007.
- 12. (a) Hase, T. A.; Koskimies, J. K. *Aldrichim. Acta* 1982, *15*, 35.
  (b) Satoh, T.; Taguchi, D.; Suzuki, C.; Fujisawa, S. *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57*, 493.
- (a) Hase, T. A. Umpoled Synthons; Wiley: New York, 1987; pp 56–57. (b) Takai, K.; Fujimura, O.; Kataoka, Y.; Utimoto, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 211. (c) Labiad, B.; Willeman, D. Synthesis 1989, 143. (d) Cohen, T.; Doubleday, M. D. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 4784.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4419-4425

## Synthesis of a novel farnesyl transferase inhibitor, ABT-100; selective preparation of a stereogenic tertiary carbinol

Michael J. Rozema,\* Albert W. Kruger, Bridget D. Rohde, Bhadra Shelat, Lakshmi Bhagavatula, James J. Tien,<sup>†</sup> Weijiang Zhang<sup>‡</sup> and Rodger F. Henry

GPRD Process Research and Development, 1401 Sheridan Rd., Dept. R450, Bldg. R8-1, Abbott Laboratories, North Chicago, IL 60064-6285, USA

Received 23 December 2004; revised 21 February 2005; accepted 24 February 2005

Available online 16 March 2005

Abstract—A stereoselective synthesis of ABT-100 1, a novel farnesyl transferase inhibitor, is described. The key step involves a stereoselective addition of the heterocyclic zinc reagent 10 to chiral  $\alpha$ -keto ester 9 in > 10:1 diastereoselectivity using menthol as the chiral auxiliary. Crystallization of the product as the dimeric zinc complex facilitates isolation of product in >99:1 dr. The biaryl linkage is formed by the use of a Suzuki coupling employing only 0.06 mol% of the catalyst. Coupling of the two fragments is accomplished using a S<sub>N</sub>Ar reaction between diol 5 and arylfluoride 4. The overall yield for the five step sequence is 37% on kilogram scale. © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

Mutation of the *ras*-oncogene regulating cell growth and proliferation is implicated in up to 25% of human cancers.<sup>1</sup> After transcription of the protein and further activation by normal *ras*-protein activation processes (cysteine-farnesylation, cleavage of a tripeptide and C-terminal methylation), the mutated *ras*-protein drives uncontrolled cell growth and proliferation.<sup>2</sup> One strategy for disruption of this process is by inhibition of the farnesylation step which is mediated by farnesyl transferase (FT). ABT-100 **1**<sup>3</sup> has been identified as an FT inhibitor possessing excellent potency, bioavailability and pharmacokinetics. Herein, we disclose our development of a kilogram-scale process to prepare ABT-100 to support



*Keywords*: Farnesyl-transferase; FTI; Inhibitor; Chiral keto-ester; Asymmetric addition; Chiral tertiary alcohol; Chiral quaternary alcohol; Organozinc reagent; Lewis acid; Suzuki coupling; Palladium coupling.

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02.072

further biological evaluation. Key to our success was the development of a method for the generation of the chiral quaternary alcohol bearing a heterocyclic substituent.

#### 2. Results and discussion

Racemic ABT- $100^3$  is readily generated by the nonselective addition of imidazolyl Grignard reagent **2** to ketone **3** (Eq. 1). While the enantiomers are readily separated by chromatography on small scale (up to ca. 5 g),<sup>4</sup> the limited solubility of *rac*-ABT-100 in typical mobile phases severely limits the scalability of this method. In addition, experiments conducted to effect a classical resolution of the enantiomers by the formation of chiral salts found no promising leads. Therefore, we desired to develop an efficient and robust means to generate the single enantiomer of ABT-100.



After a brief examination of enantioselective additions of 2 to ketone 3 without success, we shifted to the disconnection

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 847 935 3490; fax: +1 847 938 2258; e-mail: michael.rozema@abbott.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Present address: ARYx Therapeutics 2255 Martin Ave. Suite F, Santa Clara, CA 95050, USA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup> Present address: Theravance, Inc. 901 Gateway Boulevard, South San Francisco, CA 94080, USA.

strategy shown in Eq. 2. We reasoned biaryl **4** could be assembled from commercially available starting materials using a Suzuki protocol. Diol **5** could come from the diastereoselective addition of an imidazolyl organometallic to a ketone of the type **6** or **7** with an appropriate chiral auxiliary,<sup>5,6</sup> and the two coupled together using an  $S_NAr$  reaction (Eq. 2).<sup>7</sup>



The diastereoselective addition of organometallics to  $\alpha$ -keto esters<sup>5</sup> and to a lesser extent  $\alpha$ -keto ethers<sup>6</sup> bearing a chiral auxiliary constitutes an efficient method for the stereoselective synthesis of tertiary alcohols. Auxiliaries such as menthol, <sup>5a,b</sup> 8-phenyl-menthol, <sup>5c</sup> *trans*-2-substituted cyclohexanols, <sup>5d,e</sup> carbohydrate<sup>5f</sup> and amino-indanol<sup>5g</sup> based derivatives have found many useful applications. Use of menthol as the chiral auxiliary provides many advantages: low cost, availability, good selectivity (vide infra) and a tendency for intermediates to be crystalline.

Starting from commercially available ethyl (4-cyanophenyl)-oxo-acetate **8** (Scheme 1), the (-)-menthyl ester was prepared using a modification<sup>8</sup> of the titanium (IV) alkoxide-catalyzed transesterification conditions developed by Seebach.<sup>9</sup> Thus, treatment of **8** with (-)-menthol (1.5 equiv) in the presence of a catalytic amount of titanium (IV) ethoxide (15 mol%) in xylene at 80 °C provided (-)-menthyl ester **9** in 79% yield. The reaction was pushed to completion by distillation of the ethanol generated by passing a stream of nitrogen through the reaction vessel. Using fewer than 1.5 equiv of menthol led to incomplete conversion, presumably because the ethoxide ligands on the catalyst were exchanged for menthol during the reaction. While menthyl ester 9 is crystalline, it was difficult to separate the product from the excess (-)-menthol without resorting to a chromatographic purification. To render the (-)-menthol inert in the next step, the hydroxy function was protected in situ as an acetate. This conversion was best accomplished by the addition of acetic anhydride directly to the reaction mixture after cooling and then reheating to 80 °C. After an aqueous work-up, the mixture of menthyl ester 9 and menthyl acetate is carried into the next reaction as a concentrated solution in toluene.

Initial studies into the diastereoselective addition to (-)-menthyl  $\alpha$ -keto ester 9 employed Grignard reagent 2, prepared by magnesium-iodide exchange using ethylmagnesium chloride,<sup>10</sup> and resulted in **11** in a 2.3:1 diastereomeric ratio (dr). Pretreatment of 9 with magnesium bromide etherate at low temperature  $(-40 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$  afforded slightly better selectivity (dr 4:1). In general, literature examples of the addition of Grignard reagents to (-)-menthyl  $\alpha$ -keto esters give the best results when the Grignard reagent is used in the presence of zinc chloride.<sup>5a,b</sup> In our hands, the addition of zinc chloride resulted in precipitation of the Grignard reagent and low conversions, although the stereoselectivity improved to > 10:1. Reasoning that in most of these systems the Grignard reagent is first transmetallated to the corresponding zinc reagent, direct preparation of the imidazolyl-zinc reagent was pursued.

Using the zinc activation procedure of Knochel,<sup>11</sup> imidazolyl-zinc reagent **10** was conveniently prepared through the direct insertion of zinc metal on laboratory scale (Eq. 3).



On larger scales, it was important to maintain adequate stirring and to control the addition rate of imidazolyl iodide 12 to the activated zinc. If the concentration of 12 becomes too high during the insertion reaction, a precipitate coats the surface of the zinc metal and conversion to the imidazolzinc reagent ceases. It was shown in laboratory experiments that in THF the addition of 12 to 10 forms a stringy insoluble substance, the exact nature of which was not determined, but which is assumed to be a coordination complex between the iodoimidazole nitrogen and imidazolylzinc reagent.<sup>12</sup> Not surprisingly, it was also found that the stirring rate is important for this heterogeneous reaction. Slow stir rates increase the probability of the reaction stalling. Therefore, controlling the addition rate of 12 and ensuring adequate stirring of the heterogeneous reaction mixture led to an efficient and reproducible reaction.

$$N \longrightarrow I \qquad Zn^* \qquad 10 \qquad (3)$$

$$12$$

In the absence of a Lewis acid, the imidazolylzinc reagent **10** does not react with the  $\alpha$ -keto ester **9**. Of the handful of Lewis acids screened (ZnCl<sub>2</sub>, Zn(OTf)<sub>2</sub>, BF<sub>3</sub>·OEt<sub>2</sub>, Ti(OEt)<sub>4</sub>, MgBr<sub>2</sub>·OEt<sub>2</sub>), only MgBr<sub>2</sub>·OEt<sub>2</sub> effected the addition of the imidazolyl moiety to the ketone. Thus, in the presence of MgBr<sub>2</sub>·OEt<sub>2</sub> in THF at 0 °C, the tertiary alcohol **11** was generated with a diastereomeric ratio of 10–11:1 and in 75–85% yield. The selectivity of the addition under these conditions is not greatly affected by temperature. Even at elevated temperatures (50 °C), the selectivity decreases only slightly to 7.5:1. At lower temperatures (-40 °C), the reaction becomes gelatinous and difficult to stir and any increase in selectivity is negated by lower conversions.

Due to the propensity of the imidazolyl moiety to bind to zinc,<sup>12</sup> the product is isolated as a 2:1 complex with zinc chloride after washing the reaction mixture with saturated aqueous NH<sub>4</sub>Cl and crystallizing from toluene. Using this procedure, the diastereomeric ratio of the isolated ester was increased to greater than 99:1. The structure of the zinc complex has been established by single crystal X-ray analysis of a sample crystallized from acetonitrile (Fig. 1). In order to proceed to the reduction of the ester, the product was liberated from the zinc complex. This was most effectively accomplished by treatment of the complex with the disodium salt of EDTA. Tertiary alcohol **11** is routinely

obtained in 65-75% yield and with a diastereomeric ratio of >99.8:0.2.

Ester **11** was selectively reduced to diol **5** by reaction with NaBH<sub>4</sub> in methanolic THF at 50 °C (Scheme 1). Under these conditions, concomitant reduction of the nitrile was not observed. The only detected impurity was a trace amount (<0.5%) of the nitrile methanolysis product.<sup>13</sup> Nitrile reduction to the amine becomes more competitive when stronger reducing agents are employed (NaBH<sub>4</sub>/HOAc or LiBH<sub>4</sub>). Using the NaBH<sub>4</sub> procedure, yields of 90–95% of pure **5** were routinely obtained.

The biphenyl subunit of ABT-100 was assembled from boronic ester **13** and bromofluorobenzonitrile **14** (Eq. 4) using a Suzuki protocol.<sup>14</sup> While as little as 0.025 mol% (Ph<sub>3</sub>P)<sub>2</sub>PdCl<sub>2</sub> effects complete conversion in 15 h, to obtain reasonable reaction times (<6 h), a larger amount of catalyst (0.06 mol%) was typically used. Sodium bicarbonate was used as the base in toluene/water mixtures under an inert atmosphere. Biphenyl **4**<sup>15</sup> was consistently produced in 98% yield and excellent purity.



With the two coupling partners in hand, the aryl ether formation was examined. The  $S_NAr$  reaction could be accomplished using a variety of bases (LiHMDS, NaHMDS, KHMDS, KOtBu, KOH) in polar aprotic solvents (DMF, DMSO). The reaction is conveniently run with milled KOH in THF/DMSO at low temperature (<15 °C) (Scheme 1). The choice of base and stoichiometry influence not only the reaction rate but also the impurity profile. As shown in Eq. 5, the alkylated diol 1 can react with the excess base to form epoxide 15 and phenol 16.<sup>16</sup> This degradation is more prevalent with the potassium bases. However, using lithium bases results in slow reactions and incomplete conversions. A balance of a reasonable conversion with acceptable levels of decomposition can be achieved by running the reaction at temperatures below 15 °C. With KOH, trace amounts of



nitrile hydrolysis products as well as a dialkylated product are also seen.<sup>13</sup> These impurities are rejected in the precipitation of the freebase by the addition of methanol and by final salt formation.



The final isolation consists of dissolving the unpurified freebase in hot isopropanol, filtering and converting to the HCl salt by the addition of aqueous HCl. The final product can be recrystallized from EtOH to produce larger particles with better handling properties.

In summary, we have developed a stereoselective and scaleable synthesis of ABT-100 that produced material of >99% ee and in an overall yield of 37% in five steps on kilogram scale. The process is highlighted by a diastereoselective addition of an imidazolylzinc reagent to an  $\alpha$ -ketoester to produce the stereogenic tertiary alcohol and the formation of the biaryl ether through an S<sub>N</sub>Ar reaction. In addition, an efficient Suzuki reaction to produce the biaryl moiety and a selective ester reduction to produce the requisite diol were also developed.

#### 3. Experimental

#### 3.1. General

<sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra were taken in CDCl<sub>3</sub> unless otherwise indicated with CHCl<sub>3</sub> (7.26 ppm) used as an internal standard. All reactions were performed in appropriate glassware equipped with an overhead stirrer, thermocouple, nitrogen inlet/outlet, and if necessary a reflux condenser or distillation apparatus. All reactions were conducted under positive nitrogen pressure. Commercial grade anhydrous solvents and reagents were used without any further purification. Analytical HPLC conditions were Zorbax Eclipse XDB-C8 column with 5 mM  $K_2HPO_4/5$  mM  $KH_2PO_4$  buffer (pH 7) and acetonitrile mobile phase and detection at 205 nm unless otherwise noted. Analytical GC was done on Alltech DB-1 column and helium make-up gas. Infrared analyses were performed on neat samples on microscope stage (MIC).

**3.1.1.** (4-Cyanophenyl)-2-oxo-acetic acid (1R,2S,5R)menthyl ester (9). A suitably equipped reaction vessel was charged with ethyl 4-cyanobenzoylformate 8 (2.94 kg, 14.5 mol), xylene (2.94 kg), (1R,2S,5R)-(-)-menthol (3.39 kg, 21.7 mol, 1.5 equiv), and Ti(OEt)<sub>4</sub> (494.9 g, 2.17 mol, 0.15 equiv). Stirring was initiated under a nitrogen atmosphere and the mixture was then heated 80 °C. The ethanol produced was distilled off with the aid of a constant N<sub>2</sub> flow through the reaction mixture. The mixture was stirred for not less than 8 h. The reaction progress was monitored by GC and was considered complete when <1% ethyl ester remains. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was cooled to ambient temperature. Acetic anhydride (2.22 kg, 21.7 mol, 1.5 equiv) was added, the reaction mixture was heated to 80 °C and stirred for not less than 12 h. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was cooled to ambient temperature and diluted with ethyl acetate (44.2 kg). The ethyl acetate solution was washed twice with a 10% HCl solution ( $2 \times 19.6$  L). The organic layer was washed with a solution of NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (0.98 kg) in distilled water (19.6 L). Caution. CO2 evolution was observed during neutralization. The organic layer was washed with a solution of NaCl (3.92 kg) in distilled water (19.6 L). The organic layer was filtered through a silica gel pad (1.96 kg) and concentrated to an oil under vacuum. Toluene (8.65 kg) was added and the resulting solution was concentrated under vacuum to an oil. A second portion of toluene (8.65 kg) was added and the resulting solution was concentrated under vacuum to an oil to be used as is in the next reaction. A portion of the oil was analyzed by HPLC and found to be ca. 50% 9 by weight (79% yield) Karl Fischer analysis of the oil indicated the presence of 0.01% water. A sample of the crude toluene solution was purified for characterization by silica gel chromatography (95/5 to 90/10, hexanes/EtOAc). The fractions that contained product were concentrated to an oil that solidified. Mp 41.5-42.5 °C. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.10 (ddd, J = 8.4, 1.7, 1.5 Hz, 2H), 7.80 (ddd, J =8.4, 1.7, 1.5 Hz, 2H), 5.00 (td, J=10.9, 4.5 Hz, 1H), 2.15 (m, 1H), 1.91 (m, 1H), 1.74 (m, 2H), 1.15 (m, 1H), 1.56 (m, 4H), 0.97 (d, J=6.6 Hz, 3H), 0.91 (d, J=7.0 Hz, 3H), 0.83 (d, J=7.0 Hz, 3H) ppm. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 184.2, 161.9, 135.3, 132.3, 129.9, 117.6, 117.3, 77.7, 46.9, 40.7, 34.2, 31.8, 26.5, 23.6, 22.2, 20.9, 16.5. IR (MIC) 2232, 1714, 1699 cm<sup>-1</sup>.  $[\alpha]_{\rm D} = -84.4$  (*c*=0.963, MeOH). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>23</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>, C 72.82, H 7.40, N 4.47; found C 72.66, H 7.53, N 4.29.

3.1.2. Imidazolylzinc iodide reagent (10). A suitable reaction vessel was charged with zinc dust (1.51 kg, 23.1 mol, 4.5 equiv), THF (3.2 L) and 1,2-dibromoethane (40 mL, 0.46 mol, 0.1 equiv). The resulting slurry was heated to reflux and stirred for not less than 30 min with effervescence observed due to the evolution of ethylene. The reaction mixture was then cooled to <50 °C, the chlorotrimethylsilane (56 mL, 0.44 mol) was added and stirring was continued for not less than 5 min with a slight exotherm of 0.5 °C observed. After heating the reaction mixture back to reflux, a solution of 5-iodo-1-methyl-1Himidazole 12 (1.6 kg, 7.7 mol, 1.5 equiv) in THF (9.6 L) was then added dropwise over 6 h using a metering pump. The reaction mixture was sampled periodically to ensure that reaction is proceeding, monitoring by HPLC the conversion of 5-iodo-1-methyl-1H-imidazole 12 to methyl-1*H*-imidazole (hydrolyzed zinc reagent 10)). After an additional 15 min, the reaction was cooled to ambient temperature, and the stirring was stopped to allow the excess zinc dust to settle. The solution of **10** was decanted from the excess zinc for use in the next step.

**3.1.3.** S-(4-Cyanophenyl)-hydroxy-(3-methyl-3*H*-imidazol-4-yl)-acetic acid (1*R*,2*S*,5*R*)-menthyl ester (11). Addition of zinc reagent 10 to ketone 9. A suitable reaction vessel was charged with THF (12 L) and magnesium bromide diethyl etherate (1.32 kg, 5.1 mol, 1.0 equiv). *Note.* The dissolution of magnesium bromide etherate is exothermic and best performed by adding the solid to the solvent. An external cooling bath is used to keep the temperature below 35 °C. After cooling the resulting slurry to below 25 °C, the (4-cyanophenyl)-oxo-acetic acid menthyl ester 9 (3.12 kg, 51% potent; 1.59 kg, 5.08 mol) was added. After stirring the resulting suspension for 30 min at less than 25 °C, the solution of zinc reagent 10 was added using a metering pump at such a rate to keep the reaction temperature below 30 °C. The reaction mixture was stirred at 25 °C and was considered complete when the ratio of product to starting material remained unchanged by HPLC. The reaction was quenched with a solution of NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (3.6 kg) in water (12 L) and filtered through celite (350 g, washing the pad with THF, 4 L). The layers were separated and the organic layer washed with a solution of NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (3.6 kg) and water (12 L). The THF layer was distilled down to approximately 16 L then toluene (32 L) was added. The volume was concentrated down to approximately 16 L by distillation. The resulting suspension was heated to 90 °C for not less than 8 h, and allowed to cool slowly over 16 h to ambient temperature. The zinc complex of 11 was then collected by filtration and washed twice with toluene (8 and 4 L). The complex was dried by a  $N_2$  flow. A sample suitable for X-ray analysis was obtained by slow evaporation from acetonitrile.

Decomplexation of zinc complex. The zinc complex of 11 was taken up in ethyl acetate (32 L) and THF (16 L). The organic layer was washed three times with one-third of a Na<sub>2</sub>EDTA solution prepared from Na<sub>2</sub>EDTA (5 kg) and distilled water (95 L). The layers were allowed to stir for 20 min and then separated. The organic layer was then filtered through celite (300 g), washing with ethyl acetate (8 L), and then distilled down to 4 L. The resulting slurry was heated to reflux to dissolve most of the solids. Heptane (20 L) was added over 30 min maintaining a gentle reflux. The resulting slurry was cooled to ambient temperature and stirred for 10 h. Heptane (8 L) was added and stirred for 1 h. The product was collected by filtration, washed with heptane (4 L), and dried under N<sub>2</sub> flow for 1 h. Product was dried in vacuo at 50 °C for not less than 12 h to afford a white solid **11** (1.38 kg, 68%). The diasterometric ratio of the product was determined to be 99.8:0.2 by HPLC analysis. Mp 166.5–167.5 °C. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>) δ 7.85 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (dt, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.49 (s, 1H), 71.8 Hz, 2H), 6.69 (d, J=1.1 Hz, 1H), 7.07 (s, 1H), 4.61 (td, J=10.9, 4.3 Hz, 1H), 3.29 (s, 3H), 1.96 (m, 1H), 1.60 (m, 1H), 1.53 (m, 1H), 1.45 (m, 1H), 1.18 (m, 1H), 0.90 (m, 4H), 0.89 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 3H), 0.60 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 3H), 0.44 (d, J=6.9 Hz, 3H) ppm. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  170.3, 144.7, 140.1, 131.6, 129.1, 127.4, 118.1, 112.1, 78.9, 75.4, 47.1, 40.6, 34.1, 33.3, 31.7, 25.7, 23.0, 22.2, 20.7, 15.7 ppm. IR (KBr) 2960, 2240, 1740, 1460, 1200, 1090 cm<sup>-1</sup>. MS (ESI) (M+1) 396.  $[\alpha]_{\rm D} = -113.4$  (c=0.991, MeOH). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>29</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, C 69.85, H 7.39, N 10.62; found C 69.65, H 7.51, N 10.53. ICP Zn = 12 ppm.

**3.1.4.** *S*-4-[1,2-Dihydroxy-1-(3-methyl-3*H*-imidazol-4-yl)-ethyl]-benzonitrile (5). A suitable reaction vessel was charged with **11** (1.34 kg, 3.39 mol) and NaBH<sub>4</sub> (256 g,

6.77 mol, 2.0 equiv) followed by THF (13.3 L, 10 vol). To the resulting slurry was added MeOH (2.69 L, 2 mL/g) over not less than 30 min in 3 portions. Caution. A large amount of headspace should be allowed due to the large amount of gas evolution in the quench step. A slow addition of MeOH is used to minimize a small exotherm  $(6-7 \degree C)$  that is otherwise experienced. The reaction mixture was then warmed to  $50 \pm 10$  °C over 20–30 min. After less than 0.1% of ester remains by HPLC (Zorbax Extend-C18 column, mobile phase 10 mM NH<sub>4</sub>OH/MeOH), the mixture was cooled to less than 30 °C and slowly quenched with aqueous citric acid (40% w/w, 13.3 L) maintaining the temperature below 40 °C. Caution. Care should be exercised in the rate of addition of the quenching solution because the large amount of heat and gas evolution can cause frothing and foaming. After stirring overnight (12–18 h), the reaction mixture was extracted with heptane  $(2 \times 13.3 \text{ L})$ , mixing the contents for not less than 10 min. After the addition of THF (13.3 L), a 50% w/w aqueous KOH solution was used to adjust the pH to between 8 and 9. A water bath was used to maintain temperature below 40 °C. The layers were separated after the temperature is below 30 °C. To the organic layer was added a solution of 40% w/w aqueous citric acid (6.7 L) and the THF was removed by distillation. The distillation was complete when the amount of THF remaining was less than 1.6% (v/v) by GC analysis. Crystallization of 5 was accomplished by adjusting the pH to  $8.5 \pm 0.5$  using an aqueous KOH solution (50% w/w, 4.3 L). Note. A cooling bath was used to keep the internal temperature below 35 °C. Diol 5 is collected by filtration, washed with water  $(2 \times 1.3 \text{ L})$  and dried in a vacuum oven at 60 °C for not less than 12 h to afford 0.74 kg of a white solid (91%). The enantiomeric excess of the product was determined to be 99.2% by HPLC analysis using a Chiralpak AD column  $(4.6 \times 250 \text{ mm}; \text{ flow } 1.0 \text{ mL/min};$ mobile phase 80:20 hexane/ethanol; 23 °C; 210 nm; 9.09 min (major enantiomer) and 12.66 min (minor enantiomer). Mp 186.0–186.6 °C. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO $d_6$ )  $\delta$  7.70 (dt, J=8.4, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.53 (dt, J=8.4, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.53 (s, 1H), 7.2 (d, J=1.0 Hz, 1H), 4.00 (d, J=11.3 Hz, 1H), 3.89 (d, J = 11.1 Hz, 1H), 3.30 (s, 3H) ppm. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>) δ 149.1, 140.3, 134.4, 132.6, 128.1, 127.4, 119.3, 111.7, 75.1, 70.2, 33.5 ppm. IR (MIC) 2220 cm<sup>-1</sup>.  $[\alpha]_{\rm D} = -145.4$  (*c* = 1.03, MeOH). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>13</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, C 64.19, H 5.39, N 17.27; found C 63.93, H 5.70, N 17.10. MS (ACPI) (M+1) 244.0.

3.1.5. 6-Fluoro-4'-(trifluoromethoxy)-[1,1'-biphenyl]-3carbonitrile (4).<sup>16</sup> A suitable reaction vessel was charged with 3-bromo-4-fluorobenzonitrile 14 (2.63 kg, 12.9 mol), 4-trifluoromethoxyphenyl boronic acid 13 (3.06 kg, 14.7 mol, 1.1 equiv), bis(triphenylphosphine)-palladium(II) chloride (6.0 g,  $8.4 \times 10^{-3}$  mol, 0.06 mol%), NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (1.66 kg, 19.8 mol, 1.5 equiv), nitrogen-presparged toluene (6.6 L), and presparged water (6.8 L). The reaction mixture was heated to 75-85 °C until the aryl bromide was consumed (<1%), as determined by HPLC analysis (Zorbax Eclipse XDB-C8, 0.1% H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>/acetonitrile mobile phase) (about 2 h). Note. Carbon dioxide gas evolution is prominent as the reaction mixture is heated. Upon reaction completion, the reaction mixture was cooled to 60–65 °C, and the layers were separated above 45 °C. The organic layer was filtered through a pad of silica gel (2.6 kg pre-wet with 5 L toluene), the silica gel pad was rinsed with toluene (12.8 L) and the filtrates were concentrated. Note: Small amounts of toluene are used to quantitate the transfers. Residual toluene was removed from the resulting oil by azeotropic distillation with ethanol-methanol (95:5;  $3 \times 6.4$  L) until GC analysis showed that the percentage of toluene in alcohol solvent was under 0.5%. The resultant solid and/or solution was dissolved in ethanol-methanol (95:5; 6.4 L) and heated to about 40 °C. The homogeneous solution was removed from the heat, and water (6.4 L) was added dropwise while the solution was stirred and allowed to cool to room temperature. After cooling to room temperature, the slurry was then filtered. The solid was rinsed with 1:1 EtOH/water solution (12.8 L) at room temperature and then rinsed with water (6.4 L). The white solid was dried under nitrogen flow for approximately 1 h and then dried in a vacuum oven with N<sub>2</sub> stream at maximum of 50 °C (25-30 mm Hg) for approximately 90 h until the residual ethanol was minimized to afford 3.56 kg 4 (98% yield). Mp 62.2–62.9 °C. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.76 (dd, J=7.0, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 7.68 (ddd, J=8.4, 4.5, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 7.57 (m, 2H), 7.35 (m, 2H), 7.30 (dd, J=9.7, 8.5 Hz, 1H) ppm. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 161.9, 149.5, 134.9, 133.5, 131.9, 130.4, 129.5, 121.2 (2), 120.4, 117.8, 117.7, 109.1 ppm. IR (KBr) 2230, 1516, 1490, 1265, 1256, 1222,  $1161 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ . HRMS (FAB): calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>7</sub>F<sub>4</sub>NO [M<sup>+</sup>]: 281.0464, found 281.0466. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>7</sub>F<sub>4</sub>NO, C 59.80, H 2.51, N 4.98; found C 59.74, H 2.56, N 4.90. ICP analysis: Pd <3 ppm, B <1 ppm, Na 2 ppm.

3.1.6. 6-[2-(4-Cyano-phenyl)-2-hydroxy-2-(3-methyl-3Himidazol-4-yl)-ethoxy]-4'-trifluoromethoxy-biphenyl-3carbonitrile (1). A suitable reaction vessel submersed in a cooling bath was charged with diol 5 (0.71 kg, 2.92 mol), biaryl fluoride 4 (1.07 kg, 3.81 mol, 1.3 equiv), and milled KOH (0.20 kg, 3.20 mol, 1.1 equiv). The bath temperature was adjusted to not more than 10 °C and THF (1.90 kg) was charged. The slurry was stirred and the internal temperature was adjusted to not more than -5 °C. Dimethylsulfoxide (2.48 kg) was charged slowly to the reaction mixture. Note: The reaction was slightly exothermic with the addition of DMSO. The milky solution was stirred for not less than 5 h at -2 °C. The reaction mixture was stirred for not less than 36 h at 14 °C. The reaction was judged to be complete if diol 5 peak area% was less than 3% by HPLC (Zorbax-C8 column 20 mM NH<sub>4</sub>OAc/acetonitrile mobile phase). The internal temperature of the reaction mixture was lowered to not more than 0 °C and a 20% methanol in water solution (19 kg) was slowly charged keeping the temperature at not more than 20 °C. Note. The quench of reaction mixture was initially exothermic. The solid was collected by filtration and washed with methanol (6 kg) and distilled water (6 kg). The wet cake was allowed to dry under a N<sub>2</sub> flow for 1 h. The solid was washed with a 20% ethyl acetate in heptane solution  $(2 \times 5 \text{ kg})$  and then heptane (10 kg). The solid as the crude free-base was allowed to dry under a N<sub>2</sub> flow for not less than 1 h. A suitable reaction vessel was charged with the crude solid and isopropanol (40 kg). The temperature was adjusted to 70 °C and the reaction mixture was stirred until most of the solids dissolved. The resulting solution was filtered into a suitable vessel through a  $0.2 \,\mu m$ in-line filter, rinsing the reactor with isopropanol (3 kg). The

internal temperature of the solution was adjusted to 60 °C and 1 M HCl (37% HCl, 0.29 kg) in isopropanol (1.83 kg) was added through the 0.2 µm in-line filter keeping the temperature at not more than 65 °C. The internal temperature of the reaction mixture was adjusted to 0 °C and the reaction mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 2 h. The precipitated product was collected by filtration and washed with isopropanol (6 kg, filtered through the in-line filter). The solid was allowed to dry under a N2 flow for not less than 1 h. To achieve suitable particle size properties, the salt was recrystallized from ethanol. The wet solid from the filter was transferred into a clean reactor. Ethanol (35 kg) was charged through a 0.2 µm in-line filter and the contents were heated to reflux to dissolve the solids. The contents of the reactor were distilled to a volume of approximately 20 L at atmospheric pressure and the reaction mixture was stirred with slow agitation at reflux for 3 h to help increase particle size. The temperature of the slurry was adjusted slowly to 0 °C at a rate of approximately 10 °C/h because slow cooling reduces the smaller size particle formation. The slurry was stirred at 0 °C for 3 h. The solid product was collected by filtration and dried under a N2 flow for 1 h. The solid was dried in a dryer at  $60 \pm 10$  °C for 16 h under nitrogen to afford 1.13 kg of a white flocculent powder (75%) with 99.8% ee (HPLC, Chiralcel OD-RH column  $(150 \times 4.6 \text{ mm}, 5 \mu\text{m}; \text{flow } 1.0 \text{ mL/min}; \text{mobile phase } 50:50$ 20 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>/acetonitrile; ambient temperature; 234 nm; 6 min (minor enantiomer) and 9.5 min (major enantiomer)). Mp 249.1–250.1 °C. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>) δ 15.00 (s, 1H), 8.00 (d, J=1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.86 (dd, J=8.7, 2.3 Hz, 1H), 7.75 (d, J=2.3 Hz, 1H), 7.67 (m, 2H), 7.47 (d, J = 8.9 Hz, 1H), 7.42 (m, 2H), 7.37 (m, 4H), 7.18 (s, 1H), 4.76 (d, J = 10.1 Hz, 1H), 4.61 (d, J = 10.1 Hz, 1H), 3.37 (s, 3H) ppm; <sup>13</sup>C NMR (125 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>) δ 158.1, 147.7, 145.5, 137.4, 134.8, 134.2, 134.0, 133.9, 131.9, 131.3, 129.5, 127.3, 123.2 (CF<sub>3</sub>), 121.1 (CF<sub>3</sub>), 120.4, 119.1 (CF<sub>3</sub>), 118.7, 118.4, 118.4, 117.0 (CF<sub>3</sub>), 113.8, 110.6, 103.7, 74.1, 72.0, 34.8 ppm. IR (MIC) 3274, 3160, 2232, 1261 cm<sup>-</sup>  $[\alpha]_{\rm D} = -57.8$  (c = 1.02, MeOH). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>27</sub>H<sub>20-</sub> CIF<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, C 59.95, H 3.73, N 10.36; found C 59.74, H 3.60, N 10.29. ICP < 20 ppm for all metals.

#### Acknowledgements

We thank Cathie Linton, Eric Kristensen and Mike Moore for analytical support. We also thank Mike Fitzgerald for the preparative separation of the enantiomers of the ABT-100 and Howard Morton for his helpful discussions.

#### **References and notes**

- Bos, J. L. In *Molecular Genetics in Cancer Diagnosis*; Cossman, J., Ed.; Elsevier: USA, 1990; p 273.
- Prendergast, G. C.; Rane, N. Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs 2001, 10, 2105.
- Claiborne, A. K.; Gwaltney, S. L., II; Hasvold, L. A.; Li, Q.; Li, T.; Lin, N.- H.; Mantei, R. A.; Rockway, T. W.; Sham, H. L.; Sullivan, G. M.; Tong, Y.; Wang, G.; Wang, L.; Wang, X.; Wang, W.-B. Patent Appl. US2003/0087940 A1, May 8, 2003.

- 4. Conditions for the semi-preparative HPLC: Chiracel OD,  $20 \mu DP$  (300 g), hexane-ethanol (70:30), 100 mL/min, ambient temperature, 700 mg racemic material in 40 mL warm ethanol injections.
- (a) Boireau, G.; Deberly, A.; Abenhaïm, D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1988, 29, 2175. (b) Boireau, G.; Deberly, A.; Abenhaïm, D. *Tetrahedron* 1989, 45, 5837. (c) Whitesell, J. K.; Deyo, D.; Bhattacharya, A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1983, 802. (d) Basavaiah, D.; Bharathi, T. K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1991, 32, 3417. (e) Basavaiah, D.; Krishna, P. R. *Tetrahedron* 1995, 51, 12169. (f) Loupy, A.; Monteux, D. A. *Tetrahedron* 2002, 58, 1541. (g) Senanayake, C. H.; Fang, K.; Grover, P.; Bakale, R. P.; Vandenbossche, C. P.; Wald, S. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1999, 40, 819.
- Charette, A. B.; Benslimane, A. F.; Mellon, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1995**, *36*, 8557.
- For recent examples of aryl-ether synthesis using the S<sub>N</sub>Ar reaction on electron deficient fluoro-aromatics see: (a) Temal-Laib, T.; Chastanet, J.; Zhu, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 583. (b) Stark, H.; Sadek, B.; Krause, M.; Hüls, A.; Ligneau, X.; Ganellin, C. R.; Arrang, J.-M.; Schwartz, J.-C.; Schunack, W. J. Med. Chem. 2000, 43, 3987–3994. (c) East, S. P.; Joullié, M. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 7211. (d) For general reviews on the S<sub>N</sub>Ar reaction, see Wells, K. M.; Shi, Y.-J.; Lynch, J. E.; Humphrey, G. R.; Volante, R. P.; Reider, P. J. Tetradedron Lett. 1996, 37, 6439. (e) Zoltewicz, J. A. Top.

*Curr. Chem.* **1975**, *59*, 33–64. (f) Burnnet, J. F.; Zahler, R. E. *Chem. Rev.* **1951**, *49*, 273.

- 8. Krasik, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 4223.
- Seebach, D.; Hungerbuehler, E.; Naef, R.; Shnurrenberger, P.; Weidman, B.; Zueger, M. Synthesis 1982, 138.
- (a) Holden, K. G.; Mattson, M. N.; Cha, K. H.; Rapoport, H. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 5913. (b) Panosyan, F. B.; Still, I. W. J. Can. J. Chem. 2001, 79, 1110. (c) Burm, B. E. A.; Blokker, P.; Jongmans, E.; van Kampen, E.; Wanner, M. J.; Koomen, G.-J. Heterocycles 2001, 55, 495.
- (a) Yeh, M. C. P.; Knochel, P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1988**, *29*, 2395. (b) Knochel, P.; Yeh, M. C. P.; Berk, S. C.; Talbert, J. J. Org. Chem. **1988**, *53*, 2392.
- Wilkinson, G., Ed.; Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry; Pergamon: Oxford, 1987; Vol. 5, p 925.
- 13. Evidence for this impurity comes from LC–MS data and by independent synthesis.
- For reviews, see: (a) Miyaura, N.; Suzuki, A. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 2457. (b) Suzuki, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 576, 147.
- 15. Biphenyl 4 is referenced in a Japanese patent with no procedure on its synthesis or characterization. Ikeda, A.; Ozaki, M.; Honami, R.; Yumita, T.; Yano, H.; Nakano, Y; Kurihara, Y.; Hirano, T. Preparation of triazole derivatives as insecticides and acaricides. PCT Int. Appl, 1994.
- The labile epoxide 15 was never isolated. Evidence for its existence comes from LC–MS data.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4427-4436

### Enantioselective total synthesis of (-)-microcarpalide

Paolo Davoli,\* Raffaele Fava, Stefania Morandi, Alberto Spaggiari and Fabio Prati\*

Dipartimento di Chimica, Università di Modena e Reggio Emilia, via Campi 183, I-41100 Modena, Italy

Received 8 December 2004; revised 10 February 2005; accepted 24 February 2005

Available online 17 March 2005

Abstract—The enantioselective total synthesis of the actin-targeting metabolite (-)-microcarpalide is described. Key steps include ringclosing metathesis (RCM) for the final construction of the 10-membered lactone framework and stereoselective homologation of boronic esters for the insertion of all stereocentres with the desired absolute configuration. In particular, the acidic fragment was prepared in seven steps from a suitable chiral bromomethane boronate by means of two sequential stereoselective homologations to install the two stereocentres with the correct final *R* stereochemistry, employing (-)-pinanediol as the chiral director. Subsequent elaboration to the required C<sub>7</sub> backbone entailed nucleophilic displacement with a vinyl Grignard reagent, oxidative cleavage of the boronic scaffold and protection deprotection manipulations. Interestingly, when the tribenzyloxy diene ester resulting from DCC-mediated coupling of the two key synthons was subjected to RCM in the presence of Grubbs' catalyst, the reaction proceeded stereoselectively to yield the desired *trans* oxecin-2-one, albeit with poor conversion.

© 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

Actin-targeting small molecules are currently receiving an increasing interest as potential lead structures for the development of new therapeutic agents. The organization of the actin cytoskeleton plays a prominent role in a variety of processes such as cell shape change, cell migration and, ultimately, tumor cell invasion and metastasis. Hence, compounds that are capable of interfering with actin dynamics may offer promising opportunities as novel anticancer drugs.<sup>1</sup>

Microcarpalide (1) is a novel alkyl-substituted nonenolide (Scheme 1) that was discovered from fermentation broths of an unidentified endophytic fungus isolated from *Ficus microcarpa* L. in the framework of a search campaign for new secondary metabolites with anticytoskeletal activity.<sup>2</sup> In particular, microcarpalide was found to display a remarkable disrupting action on actin microfilaments, while showing only weak toxicity to mammalian cells.<sup>2</sup> By virtue of such a peculiar biological activity, the apparently simple, but yet stereochemically demanding macrocyclic structure of this new fungal metabolite has aroused the interest of the chemical community, and a few total syntheses have appeared accordingly.<sup>3–7</sup>



Scheme 1. Retrosynthetic disconnections.

*Keywords*: Fungal metabolites; Nonenolides; Actin-targeting compounds; Microfilament disrupting activity; Asymmetric homologation; Boronic esters; Ring-closing metathesis.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding authors. Tel.: +39 59 2055056; fax: +39 59 373543 (F.P.); e-mail: prati.fabio@unimore.it

<sup>0040–4020/\$ -</sup> see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02.069

In the course of our previous total synthesis of microcarpalide, we had successfully exploited Matteson's asymmetric homologation<sup>8</sup> to insert sequentially the two stereocentres at positions 10 and 1' with the required *S* absolute configuration, using (+)-pinanediol as the chiral director.<sup>5</sup> Along this line, we reasoned that the two remaining stereocentres, namely 5*R* and 6*R*, could be also installed likewise by an enantioselective approach featuring the stereoselective homologation of suitable chiral boronic esters, rather than from the chiral pool.<sup>3–6</sup> Hence, a modified retrosynthetic route was devised, as outlined in Scheme 1.

Our synthetic strategy relied again on ring-closing metathesis (RCM)<sup>9</sup> for the final construction of the 10-membered unsaturated macrocycle, owing to the inherently convergent nature of this powerful transformation.<sup>10</sup> Accordingly, tactical disconnection of (-)-microcarpalide (1) into subunits  $\mathbf{A}^5$  and **B** was envisaged (Scheme 1).

Retrosynthetically, the acidic fragment **B** can be ultimately deconvoluted to chiral boronate E (Scheme 1), which is easily obtained from the corresponding halobromomethane and (-)-pinanediol that serves as the chiral auxiliary of choice. In particular, chain elongation of **E** by means of a suitable lithium enolate should firstly provide C<sub>3</sub> boronic ester **D**, which would then undergo two consecutive stereoselective homologations in the presence of (dichloromethyl)lithium to afford  $\alpha$ -chloro boronate C (Scheme 1). The stereochemical outcome of both homologation reactions would be controlled by (-)-pinanediol as the chiral director, which would induce the desired R absolute configuration at the newly inserted chlorine-bearing carbon atoms. Nucleophilic displacement by a vinyl Grignard reagent, followed by alkaline oxidative removal of the boronic scaffold and protection-deprotection manipulations, would finally result in the required C<sub>7</sub> terminal alkene **B** bearing two adjacent hydroxy groups in a *threo* fashion with the correct R stereochemistry (Scheme 1).

#### 2. Results and discussion

#### 2.1. Initial manouvre: synthesis of the C<sub>3</sub> unit

The enantioselective route to the C<sub>7</sub> fragment **B** began with the preparation of the appropriate chiral halomethaneboronate **3** which was required to build up the C<sub>3</sub> starting unit by nucleophilic displacement with the lithium enolate of *tert*-butylacetate.<sup>11,12</sup> For the carboxylic group, in particular, we envisaged that protection as a *tert*-butyl ester would be appropriate, owing to its well-known resistance to strongly basic environments such as those that were planned to be encountered in all the subsequent steps of our synthetic voyage, homologations included,<sup>11,13,14</sup> and because of great ease of deprotection.

Initial experiments were focused on exploring the performance of different halogen derivatives (3a-c) in the reaction with *tert*-butylacetate in the presence of LDA (Scheme 2).<sup>11,12</sup> Chloro derivative **3a** was prepared from bromochloromethane (**2a**) according to a literature procedure.<sup>15</sup> By close analogy, pinanediol bromomethaneboronate (**3b**) was



Scheme 2. (a) *n*-BuLi, THF, -78 °C, then B(OMe)<sub>3</sub>, -78 °C, then TMSCI or TMSBr, -78 °C $\rightarrow$ rt, then (1*R*,2*R*,3*S*,5*R*)-(-)-pinanediol, rt; (b) NaI, acetone, rt (86%); (c) *tert*-butylacetate, LDA, THF, -78 °C.

readily synthesized in 73% overall yield by sequential treatment of dibromomethane (**2b**) with *n*-BuLi, trimethylborate<sup>16</sup> and trimethylbromosilane<sup>†</sup> in THF at -78 °C, followed by addition of (–)-pinanediol at rt.<sup>12,15</sup> Formation of the C–B bond was confirmed by a broad signal at 8.2 ppm in the <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum. In contrast, iodo analogue **3c** was obtained in 86% yield from **3a** by halogen exchange with sodium iodide in dry acetone (Scheme 2).<sup>12,17</sup> The presence of a new highfield signal (–22.8 ppm) in the <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum was suggestive of an iodine-bearing carbon atom,<sup>18</sup> which was confirmed by the correlation with the CH<sub>2</sub>B protons in the COSY spectrum.

For the assembly of the C<sub>3</sub> unit, *tert*-butylacetate and halomethaneboronates **3a–c** were treated with LDA in THF at -78 °C (Scheme 2).<sup>12</sup> In the case of chloro derivative **3a**, only partial conversion was achieved and 2-[*tert*-butoxy-carbonyl]ethaneboronate (**4**) was obtained in only 28% yield, along with *tert*-butylacetoacetate as the main reaction product arising from Claisen self-condensation of *tert*-butylacetate.<sup>11</sup> In contrast, most satisfactorily, reaction with bromomethaneboronate **3b** provided the displacement product **4** in 75% yield, whereas a slightly lower yield was observed with the iodo analogue **3c** (65%).

#### 2.2. Asymmetric synthesis of the C<sub>7</sub> fragment

With a substantial amount of  $C_3$  boronic ester 4 in hand, we set sails for the acidic  $C_7$  fragment that was required for the assembly of the diene ester to be subsequently used in the RCM macrocyclization.

To this end, we devised applying two subsequent stereoselective homologations on chiral boronic ester **4** to install the two contiguous stereocentres with the required *R* absolute configuration, by analogy to the preparation of the alcoholic  $C_{11}$  fragment performed in the course of our previous total synthesis.<sup>5</sup> In the present case, however, (–)pinanediol had to be used as the chiral director for the homologation reaction, since it is reported to induce the *R* absolute configuration at the newly formed stereocentre.<sup>8,13</sup>

Addition of in situ-generated (dichloromethyl)lithium to chiral *tert*-butoxycarbonyl boronate 4 at -100 °C in THF,<sup>19</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> When trimethylchlorosilane was used instead, <sup>15</sup> products **3a** and **3b** were formed in a 1:1 ratio.



Scheme 3. (a) (Dichloromethyl)lithium, ZnCl<sub>2</sub>, THF,  $-100 \degree \text{C} \rightarrow \text{rt}$ ; (b) benzyl alcohol, *n*-BuLi, THF,  $-78 \degree \text{C} \rightarrow \text{rt}$ , then reflux (44% over two steps); (c) (dichloromethyl)lithium, ZnCl<sub>2</sub>, THF,  $-100 \degree \text{C} \rightarrow \text{rt}$ ; (d) vinylmagnesium bromide, THF,  $-78 \degree \text{C} \rightarrow \text{rt}$  (32% over two steps); (e) H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, NaOH, THF,  $0 \degree \text{C} \rightarrow 45 \degree \text{C}$  (89%); (f) NaH, DMF, PhCH<sub>2</sub>Br,  $-35 \degree \text{C} \rightarrow -10 \degree \text{C}$  (48%).

followed by treatment with zinc chloride (1 M solution in diethyl ether),<sup>8,14</sup> resulted in chain extension to  $\alpha$ -chloro derivative 5 in 66% yield and diastereoisomeric excess greater than 98% (Scheme 3). Successful insertion of a Clbearing carbon atom into the carbon-boron bond was confirmed by a broad resonance at 43.7 ppm in the <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum; in addition, a doublet of doublets at 3.51 ppm accounting for the H-1 proton featured in the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum. The diastereoselectivity of the homologation was determined by using the Hendo proton of the pinanyl moiety (1.17 ppm, doublet) as diagnostic marker,<sup>13</sup> as already reported.<sup>5</sup> Since (-)-pinanediol is known to direct stereoselectively the formation of (R)- $\alpha$ -chloroboronic esters,<sup>8,13</sup> the  $\vec{R}$  absolute configuration could be assigned to 1-chloropropaneboronate 5. Most conveniently, isolation and purification of chloro derivative 5 could be avoided, and the subsequent nucleophilic displacement with (benzyloxy)lithium at -78 °C in THF<sup>5</sup> was actually carried out via a one-pot homologation-substitution sequence, which afforded 1-benzyloxy derivative 6 in 44% overall yield from 4 (Scheme 3). The presence of a small quantity of unreacted 4 did not have any detrimental effect during the reaction on crude  $\alpha$ -chloroboronic ester 5. Boronate 6 features a benzyl-protected hydroxy function with S absolute configuration,<sup>20</sup> which corresponds to the desired 5R stereochemistry in the target metabolite.<sup>2</sup>

The synthetic route continued with the sequential insertion of the second stereocentre, which was installed again by means of Matteson's asymmetric homologation. Exposure of boronic ester **6** to (dichloromethyl)lithium at -100 °C in THF,<sup>19</sup> followed by zinc chloride (1 M in Et<sub>2</sub>O),<sup>8</sup> resulted in the formation of 2-benzyloxy-1-chlorobutaneboronate **7** in 52% yield (Scheme 3). Despite the use of zinc chloride, which is usually employed to improve yield<sup>5,13</sup> and diastereoselectivity,<sup>13</sup> the homologation displayed only incomplete conversion (70% by NMR), although the diastereoselectivity was excellent (d.e.  $\geq 98\%$ ).

Completion of the desired  $C_7$  framework of the acidic fragment was achieved by treating compound 7 with

vinylmagnesium bromide in THF at -78 °C, to afford 1-vinylbutaneboronate **8** in 33% yield (Scheme 3). Yet again, the homologation–substitution sequence gave higher yields when performed on boronic ester **6** as a one-pot procedure (32% total yield over two steps), which avoided purification of the  $\alpha$ -chloro intermediate **7**. Likewise, unreacted **6** did not affect the outcome of the nucleophilic displacement with the vinyl Grignard reagent, but care had to be taken to remove all zinc salts during homologation workup before moving to the substitution reaction. Diastereoisomerically pure alkene **8** already bears the two contiguous stereocentres with the correct final *R*,*R* absolute configuration required by (-)-microcarpalide.

Having successfully played its role as chiral director, the boronic scaffold was removed by exposure to alkaline hydrogen peroxide in THF,<sup>8,13,21</sup> which revealed the masked hydroxy function thus providing alcohol **9** in 89% yield (Scheme 3). Since the reaction is well known to occur with retention of configuration, the same R,R stereochemistry could be also assigned to allylic alcohol **9**.

Protection of the released hydroxy group in 9 as a benzyl ether was deemed the most convenient one, since the same protecting group was already in place and therefore both could be removed together later in the synthetic sequence. Furthermore, no apparent functional group incompatibility with the subsequent key RCM was to be feared, since successful formation of a closely related 10-membered lactone had been reported in the presence of benzyloxy substituents both at the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  positions to one of the metathesizing olefinic side chains.<sup>4</sup> Careful treatment of 5-hydroxyhept-6-enoic ester 9 with a stoichometric amount of sodium hydride in DMF at -35 °C in the presence of benzyl bromide provided the desired ether **10** in 48% yield (Scheme 3), along with the free acid 11 (Scheme 4) and the undesired benzyl ester in 16 and 7% yield, respectively. When NaH was used in slight excess (1.3 equiv) at rt instead,<sup>22</sup> the product yield dropped to 2%, and formation of unidentified by-products occurred. The tert-butyl protection



(-)-microcarpalide (1)

Scheme 4. (a) TFA, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt (100%); (b) DCC, DMAP, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt (66%); (c) Grubbs' catalyst, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, reflux (61%; 43% conversion); (d) TiCl<sub>4</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 0  $^{\circ}$ C (58%).

at the carboxylic group clearly revealed limitations and it is tempting to speculate that the moderate yields observed in the course of the two homologation-substitution sequences might be explained by the occurrence of such a deprotection in stronger basic environments, despite the very low temperature.

Treatment of dibenzyloxy ester **10** with TFA at rt proceeded without incident to afford the desired free acid **11** in quantitative yield (Scheme 4).

#### 2.3. Completion of the total synthesis

Having accomplished the stereoselective synthesis of the required  $C_7$  acid **11**, the stage was set to assemble the diene ester for the key RCM macrocyclization. The appropriate alcohol partner **12** had been already synthesized in our own group through an enantioselective approach.<sup>5</sup> Therefore, acid **11** was coupled to alcohol **12** in the presence of DCC and DMAP in methylene chloride at rt, to provide ester **13** in 66% yield (Scheme 4).

Exposure of diene ester **13** to Grubbs' catalyst (22.5 mol%) under high dilution (0.52 mM) in anhydrous degassed dichloromethane under reflux<sup>9</sup> afforded the expected macrolactone **14** in 61% yield (Scheme 4), though, regrettably, with poor conversion (43%), which could not be improved by increasing the reaction time up to 140 h. Much to our delight, however, the RCM macrocyclization resulted in exclusive formation of (*E*)-oxecin-2-one **14** 

bearing the desired *trans* geometry at the newly formed double bond (Scheme 4), and no *cis* analogue could be detected. The doublet of doublet at 5.69 ppm in the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum displaying a coupling constant  $J_{\text{H-7,H-8}} = 15.7$  Hz allowed us to assign the *E* stereochemistry to **14** beyond any shadow of doubt.

Excellent stereoselectivity in the formation of the required trans macrolactone by means of RCM has been reported in the course of the recent total synthesis of (-)-microcarpalide by Gurjar et al., using a diene ester nearly identical to 13, except for the methoxyethoxymethyl (MEM) protecting group at 1'-OH.<sup>4</sup> When compared to their 67% yield, however, our poor conversion, even over a longer reaction time, is puzzling. Admittedly, in fact, such a discrepancy within so closely related metathesizing substrates is difficult to explain, especially in the absence of any inherent functional incompatibility to RCM. In contrast, metathetic ring closure of similar dienes bearing an acetonide group spanning O-5 and O-6 was reported to proceed uneventfully in excellent yield and comparable selectivity, regardless of the hydroxyl protection at C-1<sup>'</sup> as MOM<sup>3</sup> or benzyl ether.<sup>5</sup> In those cases, however, the conformational constraint intrinsic to the acetonide protection might have favoured alignment of the two alkene appendages in a cyclisation-friendly conformation, as suggested by Fürstner et al. on similar systems leading to nonenolides.<sup>23</sup> However, such a predisposition toward metathetic ring closure can be also attained by means of acyclic constraints.<sup>9a,e</sup> For instance, the nature of protecting groups at neighbouring allylic and homoallylic hydroxy functions was found to be decisive for the successful formation of 10-membered carbocycles by RCM.<sup>24</sup> Similarly, fine tuning of the protection at the allylic position was required to construct the framework of herbarumin III, a fungal nonenolide, by ring-closing metathesis, either with Grubbs' first or second generation catalyst.25

Although it cannot be excluded a priori that even a remote appendage might exert a dramatic effect in the formation of 10-membered macrocycles by RCM, this hypothesis remains undoubtedly a topic for further investigations which will have to be verified over a broader range of substrates. In this respect, the influence of remote substituents on the E/Z ratio in ring-closing metathesis has been reported for larger ring systems, such as epothilones<sup>26</sup> and salicylihalamides,<sup>27</sup> which feature a 16- and 12membered lactone skeleton, respectively. Yet again, the strong dependency of the metathetic process on the intimate nature of the 1, $\omega$ -diene substrate itself, and especially of its appendages, *either close or remote*, is posing considerable challenges at drawing up general and reliable guidelines for controlling the formation of medium-sized rings by RCM, even within a given ring size and catalyst.

Completion of the total synthesis required cleavage of the three benzyl groups protecting the hydroxy functions at positions 5, 6 and 1'. Accordingly, tribenzyl ether **14** was treated with TiCl<sub>4</sub> in dichloromethane at 0 °C<sup>5</sup> to afford the target metabolite (**1**) in 58% yield (Scheme 4). The product had spectral properties in perfect agreement with those

reported in the literature for synthetic<sup>5</sup> and natural microcarpalide (1).<sup>2</sup>

#### 4. Experimental

#### **3.** Conclusions and future prospects

To date, five different syntheses of microcarpalide are available in the literature,<sup>3–7</sup> although, for the sake of stereochemical accuracy, four of them only have dealt with the natural (-) enantiomer.<sup>3–5,7</sup> In all cases except one,<sup>7</sup> at least one of the two key subunits was prepared from the chiral pool.<sup>3–6</sup> Ishigami and Kitahara, in constrast, employed an original convergent approach that featured two different Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylations to install the four stereocentres, and a Julia olefination followed by Yamaguchi macrolactonization for the final assembly of the oxecin-2-one scaffold.<sup>7</sup>

In the present case, all four stereocentres have been installed by asymmetric synthesis using (+)- or (-)-pinanediol as chiral auxiliary during stereoselective homologations of appropriate boronic esters. Final steps included DCCmediated coupling of the two chiral synthons (**11** and **12**) bearing appropriate terminal alkene appendages, stereoselective ring-closing metathesis of the resulting diene ester (**13**) and ultimate release of the three protected hydroxy functions by treatment with titanium tetrachloride.

The enantioselective route herein disclosed represents a flexible and convergent approach to microcarpalide and analogues thereof, which should be of value in the framework of SAR studies aiming at shedding light on the mechanism of action of this peculiar fungal metabolite, whose original endophytic producer has meanwhile been lost.<sup>28</sup> Moreover, the stepwise insertion of stereocenters by means of Matteson's asymmetric homologation would also allow the introduction of suitably labelled atoms at defined positions, a feature that could be appealing for future biological studies.

Microcarpalide (1) bears structural resemblance to a family of phytotoxins such as herbarumins<sup>29</sup> and pinolidoxin,<sup>30</sup> with which it shares a common nonenolide architecture. These fungal toxins interfere with the self-defense system in plants and might, therefore, hold promise as lead compounds for developing new herbicidal agents.<sup>23,31</sup> Although the phytotoxicity of microcarpalide has not been tested as yet, it is tempting to suggest that a similar biological activity might also occur.

Furthermore, a number of 10-membered lactones of polyketide biosynthetic origin are currently being isolated from a variety of fungal species,<sup>32</sup> endophytic fungi included,<sup>33</sup> and it is likely that these organisms might well harbour a much greater chemical diversity in this respect. Most interestingly, these fungal nonenolides are endowed with the most diverse biological activities, and might, therefore, represent a promising class of future lead structures for a variety of applications. Yet again, design and synthesis of analogues should be of great value to gain some insight into structure-activity relationships within this fascinating family of fungal metabolites.

#### 4.1. General

All solvents used were anhydrous, unless stated otherwise, and all reactions requiring anhydrous conditions were performed using oven-dried and argon-flushed glassware. Anhydrous tetrahydrofuran and diethyl ether were prepared by standard methods and freshly distilled over sodium benzophenone ketyl prior to use. Dichloromethane and N,Ndimethylformamide were dried according to standard procedures and stored upon 3 Å molecular sieves. Acetone was dried over potassium carbonate. (1R, 2R, 3S, 5R) - (-)-Pinanediol, dibromomethane, tert-butylacetate and all other reagents were obtained from Aldrich. (-)-Pinanediol chloromethaneboronate (3a) was prepared following the procedure described by Strynadka and colleagues,<sup>15</sup> except for the replacement of chloroiodomethane with bromochloromethane (2a) as the starting material. First generation Grubbs' catalyst [bis(tricyclohexylphosphine) benzylidine ruthenium(IV) dichloride] was purchased from Strem Ltd and maintained in a Schlenk flask under Ar atmosphere. Chromatographic purification of compounds was carried out on silica gel (60–200  $\mu$ m). Details of analytical TLC have been already described.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra were recorded in CDCl<sub>3</sub> solution (except for 1, for which  $CD_3CN$  was used)<sup>2,5</sup> on a Bruker DPX200 or Avance 400 spectrometer; chemical shifts ( $\delta$ ) are reported in ppm downfield from TMS as internal standard (s singlet, d doublet, t triplet, q quartet, m multiplet, br broad signal); coupling constants (J) are given in Hz Two-dimensional NMR techniques (COSY, HMBC, HSQC) were utilized to aid in the assignment of signals in <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra, in particular for 5,6,1'-O,O,Otribenzylmicrocarpalide (14). IR spectra were recorded on a Perkin-Elmer 1600 FTIR spectrophotometer; wavenumbers  $(\nu_{\text{max}})$  are in cm<sup>-1</sup>. For mass spectra determinations a Finnigan MAT SSQ A and a Hewlett-Packard HP5972 spectrometer were used (EI, 70 eV). Elemental analyses were performed with a Carlo Erba Elemental Analyzer mod. 1110. Optical rotations were measured in chloroform at 20 °C with a Perkin-Elmer 241 polarimeter and are expressed in  $10^{-1} \text{ deg cm}^2 \text{ g}^{-1}$ ; concentration (c) is in g 100 mL $^{-1}$ .

**4.1.1.** (-)-Pinanediol bromomethaneboronate (3b). Commercially available dibromomethane (2.03 mL, 29.08 mmol) and freshly distilled trimethyl borate (2.81 mL, 25.10 mmol) were dissolved in THF (20 mL) in a 4-necked 100-mL flask equipped with two dropping funnels and a mechanical stirrer, and cooled to -78 °C. n-Butyllithium (2.5 M solution in hexanes, 10.5 mL, 26.25 mmol) was slowly added dropwise under Ar flow over a 40 min period, using additional THF (5 mL) for washing. After stirring for 1 h, bromotrimethylsilane (3.84 mL, 29.09 mmol) was introduced, washing with THF (5 mL). Formation of a white precipitate occurred. The suspension was left to warm to rt overnight, and an orange-yellow clear solution was obtained. A solution of (1R, 2R, 3S, 5R)-(-)-pinanediol (4.5 g, 26.43 mmol) in dry THF (17 mL) was then added at rt under Ar flow and left to react for 1 h. The reaction mixture was partitioned between ethyl acetate (230 mL) and water (50 mL) and phases were separated. The aqueous layer was extracted with ethyl acetate  $(3 \times 30 \text{ mL})$  and the pooled organic phases were dried (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>). After filtration and concentration in vacuo, the crude liquid was purified by chromatography with light petroleum/ethyl acetate 70:30, affording bromomethaneboronate **3b** as a pale yellow oil (5.017 g, 73%) yield),  $[\alpha]_{\rm D} = -22.5 (c \ 2.8, \text{CHCl}_3)$ . <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz):  $\delta$ 0.80 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.16 (1H, d, J=11.0 Hz, pinanyl *H<sub>endo</sub>*), 1.25 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.37 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.71–2.39 (5H, m, pinanyl protons), 2.57 (2H, s,  $CH_2Br$ ), 4.32 (1H, dd, J=8.7, 1.8 Hz, CHOB). <sup>13</sup>C NMR:  $\delta$  8.2 (br, CB), 23.9, 26.2, 27.0, 28.4, 35.2, 38.2, 39.3, 51.2, 78.5, 86.7. IR (neat): v<sub>max</sub> 1242, 1340, 1416. MS, m/z: 272–274 (1:1, M<sup>+</sup>, 11), 257–259 (1:1, 32), 231 (33), 216–218 (1:1, 30), 203-205 (1:1, 52), 189 (25), 176 (26), 152 (25), 134 (74), 119 (30), 109 (30), 96 (80), 83 (100), 81 (66), 67 (62), 55 (51%). Anal. Calcd for  $C_{11}H_{18}BBrO_2$ : C, 48.40; H, 6.65. Found: C, 48.48; H, 6.71.

**4.1.2.** (-)-Pinanediol iodomethaneboronate (3c). A solution of (-)-pinanediol chloromethaneboronate  $(3a)^{15}$ (1.01 g, 4.42 mmol) in dry acetone (7 mL) was added dropwise at rt over 5 min to a stirred solution of sodium iodide in acetone (14 mL). The flask was wrapped in aluminium foil to protect from light. Formation of a white powdery precipitate was observed. After 3 h, the dark yellow suspension was repeatedly centrifuged and the clear solution was pipetted off, washing the residual solid with diethyl ether. The pooled organic phases were evaporated to dryness, partitioned between satd Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> (15 mL) and diethyl ether (50 mL), and the organic layer was washed with brine (10 mL) and water (10 mL). After drying over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and filtration, the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to afford iodo derivative 3c (1.223 g, 86%) yield) as a dense yellow liquid which turned brown upon prolonged exposure to light.  $[\alpha]_{\rm D} = -23.6$  (*c* 3.2, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz): δ 0.88 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.28 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, pinanyl  $H_{endo}$ ), 1.33 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.43 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.85-2.00 (2H, m, pinanyl protons), 2.12 (1H, t, J=5.1 Hz, pinanyl proton), 2.24 (2H, s, CH<sub>2</sub>I), 2.25–2.56 (2H, m, pinanyl protons), 4.40 (1H, dd, J=8.8, 2.0 Hz, CHOB). <sup>13</sup>C NMR:  $\delta - 22.8$  (br, ICB), 25.3, 27.7, 28.4, 29.7, 36.7, 39.8, 40.7, 52.8, 79.9, 87.9. IR (neat):  $\nu_{\text{max}}$  1241, 1380. MS, *m/z*: 320 (M<sup>+</sup>, 66), 305 (64), 291 (5), 277 (30), 265 (58), 251 (98), 224 (92), 193 (3), 179 (14), 152 (33), 134 (79), 127 (19), 124 (43), 96 (52), 83 (100), 67 (89), 55 (73%). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>18</sub>BIO<sub>2</sub>: C, 41.29; H, 5.67. Found: C, 41.33; H, 5.51.

**4.1.3.** (–)-Pinanediol 2-[*tert*-butoxycarbonyl]ethaneboronate (4). In a four-necked 100-mL flask, (–)pinanediol bromomethaneboronate (3b) (5.017 g, 18.38 mmol) and *tert*-butyl acetate (2.97 mL, 22.06 mmol) were dissolved in freshly distilled THF (23 mL) and cooled to -78 °C. In a separate flask, fresh LDA was prepared by treating diisopropylamine (3.09 mL, 22.06 mmol) with *n*-butyllithium (2.5 M solution in hexanes, 8.1 mL, 20.22 mmol) in THF (11 mL) at -78 °C, followed by gradual warming to rt over 1 h. The LDA solution thus formed was slowly added via syringe at -78 °C under magnetic stirring and Ar flow over a 30 min period. After leaving to warm to rt overnight, the reaction mixture was partitioned between light petroleum (100 mL) and satd NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (180 mL). The aqueous layer was extracted with light petroleum  $(2 \times 85 \text{ mL})$  and the combined organic phases were washed with brine (50 mL), dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered and concentrated under reduced pressure to give a syrupy orange liquid. After chromatographic purification using light petroleum/diethyl ether 80:20 as the eluant, the title compound 4 (4.254 g, 75% yield) was obtained as a dense pale yellow oil,  $[\alpha]_D = -17.5$  (c 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). Following the same procedure, the title compound could be also prepared from halomethaneboronates 3a and 3c, albeit in lower yield (28% and 65%, respectively). When 3a was used, *tert*-butylacetoacetate was also recovered<sup>11</sup> after column chromatography in addition to the unreacted substrate. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz):  $\delta$  0.72 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.03 (2H, t, J=7.5 Hz, H-1), 1.19 (1H, d, J=10.8 Hz, pinanyl H<sub>endo</sub>), 1.29 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.37 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.44 (9H, s, t-Bu), 1.70–2.30 (5H, m, pinanyl protons), 2.36 (2H, t, J=7.5 Hz, H-2), 4.27 (1H, dd, J=8.7, 2.0 Hz, pinanyl CHOB). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: δ 6.8 (br, CB), 25.3, 27.7, 28.5, 29.5, 29.9, 31.4, 36.8, 39.5, 40.9, 52.7, 79.2, 81.1, 86.9, 175.0. IR (neat): v<sub>max</sub> 1150, 1390, 1731. MS,  $m/z: 252 ([M-56]^+, 2), 235 (1), 210 (0.4), 196 (0.7), 181$ (27), 167 (10), 154 (22), 135 (50), 119 (13), 109 (25), 99 (46), 93 (49), 83 (41), 67 (28), 57 (100), 55 (41), 43 (26%). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>29</sub>BO<sub>4</sub>: C, 66.25; H, 9.48. Found: C, 66.31; H, 9.40.

4.1.4. (-)-Pinanediol (1R)-3-[tert-butoxycarbonyl]-1chloropropaneboronate (5). A solution of methylene chloride (260 µL, 4.06 mmol) in THF (5 mL) was cooled at -100 °C and treated with a 2.5 M solution of *n*-butyllithium in hexanes (930 µL, 2.32 mmol) under Ar flow and mechanical stirring. After 55 min, the solution of boronate 4 (618 mg, 2.02 mmol) in THF (6 mL) was added dropwise at -100 °C over a 20 min period and the flask was warmed to -78 °C. Zinc chloride (1 M solution in diethyl ether, 3.6 mL, 3.64 mmol) was then added during a 20 min period, washing with THF (2 mL), and the reaction mixture was left to stir at rt for 22 h. After dilution with light petroleum (70 mL), the mixture was washed repeatedly with water  $(5 \times 35 \text{ mL})$  and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was dissolved again in light petroleum (50 mL) and washed with water  $(2 \times 25 \text{ mL})$  for complete removal of zinc salts. The organic phase was dried (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), filtered and concentrated in vacuo. Chromatographic purification of the crude residue with light petroleum/ethyl acetate 80:20 afforded the desired product 5 in 90% purity (by NMR) as a dense pale yellow oil (520 mg, 66% yield),  $[\alpha]_D = -26.1$  (c 4.6), whilst unreacted substrate 4 accounted for the remainder 10%. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz):  $\delta$  0.84 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.17 (1H, d, J=10.9 Hz, pinanyl H<sub>endo</sub>), 1.29 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.42 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.44 (9H, s, t-Bu), 1.84–2.58 (9H, m, 5 pinanyl protons,  $2 \times H-2$ ,  $2 \times H-3$ ), 3.51 (1H, dd, J=9.0, 5.4 Hz, H-1), 4.36 (1H, dd, J=8.7, 1.8 Hz,pinanyl CHOB). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: δ 25.2, 27.6, 28.3, 29.4, 29.7, 30.6, 34.2, 36.5, 39.5, 40.7, 43.7 (br, ClCHB), 52.5, 79.8, 81.5, 87.9, 173.3. MS, m/z: 300–302 (3:1,  $[M-56]^+$ , 2), 285-287 (3:1, 1), 256-258 (3:1, 0.5), 249 (0.5), 231-233 (3:1, 26), 215 (2), 204 (10), 179 (4), 161 (11), 149 (11), 135 (69), 109 (22), 99 (64), 93 (45), 83 (31), 67 (30), 57 (100), 55 (39), 44 (6%).

4.1.5. (-)-Pinanediol (1S)-1-benzyloxy-3-[tert-butoxycarbonyl]propaneboronate (6). A solution of boronate 4 (2.11 g, 6.85 mmol) in THF (7 mL) was slowly added at -100 °C over 15 min to a mechanically stirred solution of (dichloromethyl)lithium prepared from CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (882 µL, 13.76 mmol) and n-BuLi (2.5 M solution in hexanes, 3.2 mL, 8 mmol) in THF (8 mL) at -100 °C, by close analogy to the procedure reported above. Subsequently, a 1 M solution of  $ZnCl_2$  in diethyl ether (12.3 mL, 12.3 mmol) was added at -78 °C over a 20 min period, washing with THF (3 mL), and the mixture was left to stir at rt. After 18 h the reaction mixture was diluted with light petroleum (70 mL), washed with water  $(4 \times 35 \text{ mL})$ , evaporated to dryness, dissolved in fresh light petroleum (50 mL) and re-washed with water ( $4 \times 25$  mL). The organic layer was dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered and concentrated in vacuo to yield chloro boronate 5 as a yellow liquid (2.24 g)which was used without further purification. In a separate 50-mL flask equipped with a reflux condenser, benzyl alcohol (671 µL, 6.48 mmol) was dissolved in THF (3 mL) and titrated with a 2.5 M solution of n-BuLi in hexanes (2.8 mL, 7.0 mmol) at -78 °C under magnetic stirring and Ar flow in the presence of a few crystals of oven-dried (110 °C, 2 h) 1,10-phenanthroline as indicator, until the colour turned dark red. The mixture was then stirred at -78 °C for 15 min and briefly warmed to rt for 5 min. Subsequently, a solution of crude 5 (2.24 g) in THF (7 mL) was slowly dropped in at -78 °C, whereupon the solution turned lemon yellow in colour. After leaving to warm to rt overnight, the reaction mixture was heated under reflux for 2 h under Ar atmosphere until TLC showed disappearance of the homologation product 5. The mixture was then partitioned between light petroleum (45 mL) and satd NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (45 mL), phases were separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with diethyl ether  $(3 \times 35 \text{ mL})$ . The combined organic phases were dried (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), filtered and evaporated under reduced pressure to give a viscous dark yellow oil. Chromatographic purification with light petroleum/diethyl ether 90:10 as the eluant afforded the title compound **6** as a dense bright yellow oil (1.304 g, 44%)yield over two steps),  $[\alpha]_D = -0.79$  (c 1.2, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz): δ 0.84 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.15 (1H, d, J=10.7 Hz, pinanyl H<sub>endo</sub>), 1.30 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.40 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.43 (9H, s, t-Bu), 1.84–2.38 (7H, m, 5 pinanyl protons and  $2 \times H-2$ ), 2.39 (2H, t, J=7.7 Hz, H-3), 3.36 (1H, dd, J=7.3, 5.9 Hz, H-1), 4.32 (1H, dd, J=8.6, 1.8 Hz, pinanyl CHOB), 4.50 (1H, d, J = 11.9 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 4.61 (1H, d, J=11.9 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 7.20–7.39 (5H, m, arom). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: δ 25.3, 27.9, 28.1, 28.4, 29.5, 30.0, 33.9, 36.7, 39.5, 40.9, 52.6, 67.9 (br, CHB), 73.6, 79.5, 81.3, 87.6, 128.7, 129.2, 129.6, 140.3, 174.4. IR (neat): v<sub>max</sub> 698, 736, 1150, 1374, 1730. MS, *m/z*: 429 ([M+1]<sup>+</sup>, 2), 373 (3), 355 (9), 281 (11), 265 (7), 225 (2), 179 (2), 153 (27), 135 (59), 109 (13), 93 (25), 91 (100), 57 (27%). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>37</sub>BO<sub>5</sub>: C, 70.10; H, 8.71. Found: C, 70.33; H, 8.55.

**4.1.6.** (-)-**Pinanediol** (1*R*,2*R*)-2-benzyloxy-4-[*tert*butoxycarbonyl]-1-chlorobutaneboronate (7). By close analogy to the synthesis of **5**, (dichloromethyl)lithium was prepared by treatment of dichloromethane (195  $\mu$ L, 3.04 mmol) in THF (6 mL) with *n*-BuLi (2.5 M solution in hexanes, 0.7 mL, 1.75 mmol) at -100 °C. Benzyl ether **6** (648 mg, 1.51 mmol) was dissolved in THF (6 mL) and added dropwise over 20 min to the (dichloromethyl)lithium solution at -100 °C, under mechanical stirring and Ar flow. The reaction mixture was then warmed to -78 °C and ZnCl<sub>2</sub> (1 M solution in Et<sub>2</sub>O, 1.66 mL, 1.66 mmol) was introduced. After leaving to warm to rt overnight, the mixture was diluted with light petroleum (200 mL) washed with water  $(4 \times 100 \text{ mL})$ , evaporated to dryness, dissolved again in fresh light petroleum (130 mL) and thoroughly washed with water ( $4 \times 80$  mL). The organic layer was dried (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), filtered and concentrated under reduced pressure to afford a dense dark yellow oil (532 mg, 52% yield),  $[\alpha]_{\rm D} = -5.6$  (c 2.1), which was used as such for the next step. In addition to the desired homologation product (7), NMR analysis revealed also the presence of 30% of unreacted substrate. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz):  $\delta$  0.85 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.22 (1H, d, J=10.8 Hz, pinanyl H<sub>endo</sub>), 1.30 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.41 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.44 (9H, s, t-Bu), 1.84–2.43 (7H, m, 5 pinanyl protons and  $2 \times H$ -3), 2.35 (2H, t, J=7.4 Hz, H-4), 3.63 (1H, d, J=6.6 Hz, H-1), 3.83 (1H, ddd, J = 7.4, 6.6, 4.7 Hz, H-2), 4.38 (1H, dd, J =8.6, 2.0 Hz, pinanyl CHOB), 4.60 (1H, d, J=11.2 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 4.72 (1H, d, J=11.2 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 7.25–7.40 (5H, m, arom). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: δ 25.3, 27.7, 28.4, 28.9, 29.5, 29.8, 32.8, 36.6, 39.6, 40.7, 46.2 (br, ClCHB), 52.6, 74.1, 80.0, 80.9, 81.6, 88.3, 129.0, 129.2, 129.7, 139.7, 173.9. The EI-MS was unobtainable.

4.1.7. (-)-Pinanediol (1R,2R)-2-benzyloxy-4-[tertbutoxycarbonyl]-1-vinylbutaneboronate (8). Following the same procedure reported above, (dichloromethyl)lithium was prepared by treating methylene chloride (396 µL, 6.17 mmol) in THF (4 mL) with n-BuLi (2.5 M solution in hexanes, 1.43 mL, 3.58 mmol) at -100 °C. A solution of benzyloxy derivative 6 (1.317 g, 3.07 mmol) in THF (7 mL) was added dropwise at -100 °C over a 15 min period, and the temperature was raised to -78 °C. Zinc chloride (1 M solution in Et<sub>2</sub>O, 5.5 mL, 5.5 mmol) was introduced and the reaction mixture was left to warm to rt overnight. Similarly as above, the mixture was diluted with light petroleum (200 mL) washed with water ( $4 \times 100$  mL), concentrated in vacuo, dissolved in fresh light petroleum (70 mL) and washed again with water ( $4 \times 50$  mL). The organic phase was dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered and concentrated under reduced pressure to give crude  $\alpha$ -chloro derivative 7 as a dense bright yellow oil (1.256 g) which was employed immediately for the substitution reaction without further purification. Vinylmagnesium bromide (1 M solution in THF, 3.2 mL, 3.2 mmol) was added dropwise via syringe over 10 min to a stirred solution of crude 7 in THF (20 mL) at -78 °C and the mixture was left to react for 1 h at this temperature. After warming to rt overnight, the reaction mixture was partitioned between light petroleum (90 mL) and satd ammonium chloride (60 mL). Phases were separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with light petroleum ( $3 \times 30$  mL). The organic phases were combined, dried (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), filtered and concentrated in vacuo to give a dark yellow residue. Purification by column chromatography using light petroleum/diethyl ether mixtures of increasing polarity (from 100 to 80:20) as eluants, afforded vinyl derivative 8 as a bright yellow dense liquid (459 mg) in 32% overall yield (over two steps),  $[\alpha]_{\rm D} = +3.8$  (c 1.6, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz):  $\delta$  0.82 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.13 (1H, d, J = 10.2 Hz, pinanyl

 $H_{endo}$ ), 1.26 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.33 (3H, s, pinanyl CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.44 (9H, s, t-Bu), 1.74–2.42 (10H, m, 5 pinanyl protons, *H*-1,  $2 \times H$ -3 and  $2 \times H$ -4), 3.74 (1H, ddd, J=7.7, 6.6, 4.1 Hz, H-2), 4.26 (1H, dd, J = 8.7, 2.0 Hz, pinanyl CHOB), 4.52 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 4.59 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 5.04 (1H, dd, J=9.9, 2.0 Hz,  $CH=CH_2$ ), 5.10 (1H, ddd, J = 17.1, 2.0, 0.8 Hz, CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 5.84 (1H, dt, J =17.1, 9.9 Hz, CH=CH<sub>2</sub>), 7.20–7.36 (5H, m, arom). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: δ 25.3, 27.6, 28.4, 29.0, 29.5, 29.9, 32.2, 36.7, 39.5, 40.8, 52.7, 72.4, 79.2, 80.7, 81.3, 87.1, 117.4, 128.6, 129.0, 129.5, 137.0, 140.2, 174.5 (CHB not seen). IR (neat):  $v_{\text{max}}$ 697, 736, 905, 992, 1152, 1636, 1730. MS, m/z: 469 ([M+ 1]<sup>+</sup>, 0.4), 413 (0.3), 397 (0.7), 305 (1), 249 (5), 217 (2), 193 (54), 159 (12), 135 (18), 106 (26), 91 (100), 79 (10), 57 (16%). Anal. Calcd for  $C_{28}H_{41}BO_5\!\!:$  C, 71.79; H, 8.82. Found: C, 71.65; H, 9.01.

4.1.8. (4R,5R)-4-Benzyloxy-5-hydroxyhept-6-enoic acid *tert*-butyl ester (9). Vinyl boronate 8 (537 mg, 1.15 mmol) was dissolved in THF (10 mL) and treated with sodium hydroxide (2.2 M solution, 1.56 mL, 3.44 mmol) at 0 °C for 10 min under magnetic stirring. Upon addition of hydrogen peroxide (35% w/w solution, 272 µL, 3.11 mmol) at 0 °C, a white precipitate formed. After 15 min at 0 °C, the cloudy solution was stirred at 45 °C for an additional 1 h until TLC analysis (light petroleum/diethyl ether 50:50) revealed disappearance of the starting boronate. The reaction mixture was partitioned between diethyl ether (40 mL) and water (20 mL), phases were separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with diethyl ether  $(3 \times 10 \text{ mL})$ . The pooled organic phases were dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, filtered and concentrated in vacuo. Purification of the thick yellow residue by column chromatography, using light petroleum/ diethyl ether 70:30 as the eluant, afforded the title compound 9 (313 mg, 89% yield) as a dense pale yellow oil,  $[\alpha]_{\rm D} = +14.0$  (c 1.6, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz):  $\delta$ 1.45 (9H, s, t-Bu), 1.73–2.06 (2H, m, H-3), 2.20–2.48 (1H, br, CHOH), 2.36 (2H, t, J=7.5 Hz, H-2), 3.44 (1H, m, H-4), 4.09 (1H, tt, J=5.9, 1.4 Hz, H-5), 4.58 (1H, d, J=11.3 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 4.66 (1H, d, J = 11.3 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 5.24 (1H, dt, J =10.5, 1.4 Hz, H-7), 5.38 (1H, dt, J=17.2, 1.4 Hz, H-7), 5.91 (1H, ddd, J=17.2, 10.5, 5.9 Hz, H-6), 7.25-7.45 (5H, m, m)arom). <sup>13</sup>C NMR: δ 25.8, 28.1, 31.0, 72.9, 74.3, 80.3, 81.1, 116.9, 127.8, 127.9, 128.5, 137.4, 138.1, 172.8. IR (neat): v<sub>max</sub> 698, 736, 923, 994, 1094, 1154, 1455, 1497, 1729, 3454 (br). MS, m/z: 306 (M<sup>+</sup>, 0.5), 305 (1), 265 (1), 249 (0.3), 232 (0.4), 214 (1), 193 (44), 173 (1), 155 (1), 129 (26), 91 (100), 73 (24), 57 (9), 41 (5%). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>26</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 70.56; H, 8.55. Found: C, 70.75; H, 8.48.

**4.1.9.** (4*R*,5*R*)-4,5-Dibenzyloxyhept-6-enoic acid tertbutyl ester (10). Sodium hydride (60% suspension in mineral oil, 22 mg, 0.55 mmol) was slurried in DMF (1.1 mL) and added via syringe to a stirred solution of alcohol **9** (162 mg, 0.53 mmol) and benzyl bromide (69  $\mu$ L, 0.58 mmol) in DMF (0.8 mL) at -35 °C. Vigorous gas release was observed. The reaction mixture was stirred at -35 °C for 1 h 10 min, warmed to -20 °C during 1 h and finally kept at -10 °C for an additional 1 h. After quenching with cold water (10 mL), the mixture was extracted with light petroleum (4×15 mL). The combined organic phases were washed with water (10 mL) and brine (10 mL), and dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. Filtration and rotary evaporation afforded a dark yellow crude residue which was purified by chromatography on silica gel, eluting with light petroleum/diethyl ether mixtures from 100 to 50:50. The desired dibenzyl ether **10** was obtained (93 mg, 44% yield) as a dense pale yellow oil, along with (4R,5R)-4,5dibenzyloxy-hept-6-enoic acid (**11**, 29 mg), (4R,5R)-4,5dibenzyloxy-hept-6-enoic acid benzyl ester (16 mg) and unreacted **9** (13 mg). The undesired benzyl ester was identified on the basis of <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectroscopy only (data not shown).

*Compound* **10**:  $[\alpha]_D = +9.5$  (*c* 1.7, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz):  $\delta$  1.45 (9H, s, *t*-Bu), 1.62–2.02 (2H, m, *H*-3), 2.20–2.46 (2H, m, *H*-2), 3.55 (1H, ddd, J = 9.2, 5.9, 3.7 Hz, *H*-4), 3.92 (1H, dd, J = 7.4, 5.9 Hz, *H*-5), 4.43 (1H, d, J = 12.0 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 4.57 (1H, d, J = 11.4 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 4.66 (1H, d, J = 12.0 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 4.78 (1H, d, J = 11.4 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 5.28–5.38 (2H, m, *H*-7), 5.86 (1H, ddd, J = 16.2, 11.4, 7.4 Hz, *H*-6), 7.25–7.44 (10H, m, arom). <sup>13</sup>C NMR:  $\delta$  26.3, 28.1, 31.6, 70.6, 73.4, 80.0, 80.2, 82.7, 118.9, 127.45, 127.53, 127.7, 128.0, 128.3, 135.1, 138.5, 138.7, 172.9. IR (neat):  $\nu_{max}$  697, 734, 929, 997, 1072, 1165, 1455, 1497, 1734. MS, *m/z*: 339 ([M – 57]<sup>+</sup>, 0.2), 249 (2), 232 (0.6), 193 (29), 181 (5), 143 (2), 125 (3), 101 (2), 92 (6), 91 (100), 85 (2), 65 (4), 57 (5%). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>32</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 75.73; H, 8.13. Found: C, 75.94; H, 7.98.

4.1.10. (4*R*,5*R*)-4,5-Dibenzyloxyhept-6-enoic acid (11). tert-Butyl ester 10 (93 mg, 0.23 mmol) was dissolved in dichloromethane (1 mL) and stirred at rt in the presence of TFA (520 µL, 7.0 mmol), until disappearance on TLC (light petroleum/diethyl ether 80:20) occurred. After 2 h the reaction mixture was evaporated under reduced pressure to afford the free acid 11 (80 mg, 100% yield) as a dense light brown oil,  $[\alpha]_D = +9.7 (c \ 1.5, CHCl_3)$ , which was used without further purification for the next DCC-mediated coupling reaction. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz):  $\delta$  1.66–2.04 (2H, m, H-3), 2.22–2.56 (2H, m, H-2), 3.57 (1H, ddd, J = 9.2, 5.8, 3.6 Hz, H-4, 3.95 (1 H, dd, J=7.4, 5.8 Hz, H-5), 4.42 (1 H, 100 Hz)d, J = 11.9 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.56 (1H, d, J = 11.4 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.67 (1H, d, *J*=11.9 Hz, *CH*<sub>2</sub>Ph), 4.78 (1H, d, *J*=11.4 Hz,  $CH_2Ph$ ), 5.29–5.39 (2H, m, H-7), 5.84 (1H, ddd, J=16.4, 11.2, 7.4 Hz, *H*-6), 7.19–7.42 (10H, m, arom), 8.10–8.40 (1H, br, COO*H*). <sup>13</sup>C NMR:  $\delta$  25.9, 30.3, 70.6, 73.4, 79.9, 82.5, 119.2, 127.6, 127.7, 127.8, 128.1, 128.4, 134.9, 138.3, 179.8. IR (neat): v<sub>max</sub> 698, 736, 931, 995, 1071, 1454, 1497, 1709, 3064 (br). MS, *m/z* (as the corresponding methyl ester, obtained by treatment with diazomethane in diethyl ether): 354 (M<sup>+</sup>, 0.02), 263 (0.4), 246 (8), 207 (14), 157 (4), 140 (4), 115 (6), 91 (100), 65 (6). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>24</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 74.09; H, 7.11. Found: C, 74.18; H, 7.02.

**4.1.11.** (4R,5R)-4,5-Dibenzyloxyhept-6-enoic acid, (1'S,1''S)-1'-(1''-benzyloxyheptyl)-3'-butenyl ester (13). (4S,5S)-5-Benzyloxyundec-1-en-4-ol (12)<sup>5</sup> (37 mg, 0.134 mmol) was dissolved in methylene chloride (3.5 mL) and added via syringe to a stirred solution of acid 11 (48 mg, 0.141 mmol) in the same solvent (1 mL). DCC (35 mg, 0.17 mmol) and DMAP (3 mg, 0.025 mmol) were added at rt and the reaction mixture was stirred for 25 h. After removal of the white powdery precipitate, the solvent was evaporated in vacuo and the crude residue was purified by chromatography with light petroleum/diethyl

ether 90:10 to afford ester 13 as a dense pale yellow liquid (53 mg, 66% yield),  $[\alpha]_{\rm D} = +1.9$  (*c* 1.4, CHCl<sub>3</sub>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz):  $\delta$  0.89 (3H, t, J=6.5 Hz, H-7"), 1.06–2.09 (12H, m, H-2" to H-6", H-3), 2.23-2.56 (4H, m, H-2 and H-2', 3.41–3.64 (2H, m, H-4 and H-1''), 3.92 (1H, dd, J=7.3, 6.0 Hz, H-5), 4.42 (1H, d, J=12.0 Hz,  $CH_2$ Ph), 4.54  $(1H, d, J=11.4 \text{ Hz}, CH_2\text{Ph}), 4.60 (2H, s, PhCH_2OC-1''),$ 4.65 (1H, d, J=12.0 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 4.75 (1H, d, J=11.4 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>Ph), 4.95–5.15 (3H, m, H-1<sup>'</sup> and 2×H-4<sup>'</sup>), 5.25–5.37 (2H, m, H-7), 5.62-5.92 (2H, m, H-6 and H-3'), 7.22-7.43 (15H, m, arom). <sup>13</sup>C NMR:  $\delta$  14.0, 22.6, 25.6, 26.3, 29.4, 29.9, 30.6, 31.7, 34.3, 70.6, 72.3, 73.2, 73.4, 79.0, 80.2, 82.6, 117.5, 119.0, 127.5, 127.6, 127.7, 127.8, 127.9, 128.3, 134.2, 135.1, 138.5, 138.56, 138.62, 173.1. IR (neat): v<sub>max</sub> 734, 911, 930, 997, 1070, 1109, 1454, 1497, 1735, 2856, 2927, 3031, 3055. MS, *m*/*z*: 599 ([M+1]<sup>+</sup>, 0.4), 507 (0.5), 491 (0.3), 451 (5), 401 (2), 384 (1), 349 (1), 293 (2), 259 (9), 253 (5), 233 (3), 205 (2), 181 (30), 135 (5), 125 (8), 113 (6), 91 (100), 85 (16), 65 (5%). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>39</sub>H<sub>50</sub>O<sub>5</sub>: C, 78.22; H, 8.42. Found: C, 78.39; H, 8.47.

4.1.12. (5R, 6R, 7E, 10S) - 10 - [(1'S) - 1' - Benzyloxyheptyl] -5,6-dibenzyloxy-3,4,5,6,9,10-hexahydro-2H-oxecin-2one (14). First generation Grubbs' catalyst (22 mg, 0.027 mmol) was added to a solution of diene ester 13 (72 mg, 0.12 mmol) in freshly distilled degassed anhydrous dichloromethane (230 mL) and the mixture was heated under reflux under Ar flow. Air was then bubbled in under vigorous magnetic stirring to favour catalyst decomposition and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure, affording a dark brown oily residue which was chromatographed using light petroleum/diethyl ether mixtures of increasing polarity (from 100 to 70:30) as eluants to provide the title oxecine 14 (18 mg, 26% yield),  $[\alpha]_D = -28.8$  (c 1.5, CHCl<sub>3</sub>), along with unreacted diene 13 (41 mg). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz):  $\delta 0.93$  (3H, t, J = 6.8 Hz, H - 7'), 1.22–1.52 (8H, br m, H-3' to H-6'), 1.54–1.70 (2H, m, H-2'), 2.01–2.17 (1H, m, H-4), 2.17–2.27 (1H, m, H-3), 2.27–2.39 (3H, m, H-4 and 2×H-9), 2.60-2.72 (1H, m, H-3), 3.47-3.57 (1H, m, H-1<sup>'</sup>), 3.76 (1H, t, J=5.4 Hz, H-5), 4.14 (1H, br d, J= 4.9 Hz, H-6), 4.52 (1H, d, J=11.9 Hz, PhCH<sub>2</sub>OC-5), 4.53  $(1H, d, J = 12.4 \text{ Hz}, PhCH_2OC-6), 4.60 (1H, d, J = 11.9 \text{ Hz},$ PhCH<sub>2</sub>OC-5), 4.66 (2H, AB system, PhCH<sub>2</sub>OC-1<sup>'</sup>), 4.70 (1H, d, J=12.4 Hz, PhCH<sub>2</sub>OC-6), 5.26 (1H, dt, J=9.7, 4.8 Hz, H-10), 5.69 (1H, dd, J=15.7, 1.9 Hz, H-7), 5.71-5.80 (1H, m, H-8), 7.24-7.42 (15H, m, arom). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz): δ 14.0 (C-7'), 22.6 (C-6'), 23.7 (br, C-4), 25.4 (C-3'), 28.9 (br, C-3), 29.4 (C-4'), 30.7 (C-2'), 31.8 (C-5'), 35.9 (C-9), 71.3 (PhCH<sub>2</sub>OC-5), 71.5 (PhCH<sub>2</sub>OC-6), 72.6 (PhCH<sub>2</sub>OC-1<sup>'</sup>), 76.4 (C-10), 77.3 (C-6), 78.3 (br, C-5), 79.7 (C-1'), 126.6 (C-8), 127.2, 127.4, 127.5, 128.0, 128.33, 128.35, 128.40, 131.6 (C-7), 138.4, 138.6, 138.8, 175.3 (C-2). IR (neat):  $v_{\text{max}}$  737, 978, 1027, 1072, 1120, 1148, 1222, 1274, 1377, 1454, 1496, 1737, 2856, 2932, 3030, 3064. MS, m/z: 571 ([M+1]<sup>+</sup>, <0.1), 378 (0.8), 287 (3), 253 (11), 244 (1), 205 (2), 181 (9), 160 (5), 113 (4), 91 (100), 85 (5), 65 (2%). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>37</sub>H<sub>46</sub>O<sub>5</sub>: C, 77.86; H, 8.12. Found: C, 77.94; H, 8.21.

#### **4.2.** Microcarpalide (1)

5,6,1'-O,O,O-Tribenzylmicrocarpalide (14) (23 mg, 0.040 mmol) was dissolved in dichloromethane (2 mL)

and treated at 0 °C with a solution of titanium tetrachloride (53  $\mu$ L, 0.484 mmol) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (0.5 mL). After stirring for 1 h, water (3 mL) was added to the turbid brown mixture. The organic phase was separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (3×3 mL). The pooled organic phases were washed with satd NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (20 mL) and brine (20 mL), and dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. After filtration and concentration in vacuo, the crude greenish-brown residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel using AcOEt as the eluant, to afford a colourless viscous liquid (7 mg, 58% yield) whose spectral properties matched perfectly those reported in the literature for synthetic<sup>5</sup> and natural microcarpalide (1).<sup>2</sup>

#### Acknowledgements

Financial support from MIUR (COFIN 2003) and Università di Modena e Reggio Emilia ('Progetto Giovani Ricercatori' to P.D.) was greatly appreciated. Thanks are due to Adriano Benedetti and Maria Cecilia Rossi (Centro Interdipartimentale Grandi Strumenti) for spectroscopic assistance throughout the project. We are indebted to Stefano Baldini for preliminary experiments with halomethaneboronates **2a,c** and to Prof. Thomas Hemscheidt (Department of Chemistry, University of Hawai'i at Mānoa, Honolulu) for kindly sharing with us unpublished information about the endophytic fungal strain from which  $1^2$ was originally isolated. We also thank the Fondazione Cassa di Risparmio di Modena for funding the purchase of the 400 MHz NMR spectrometer.

#### **References and notes**

- (a) Giganti, A.; Friederich, E. The Actin Cytoskeleton as a Therapeutic Target: State of the Art and Future Directions. In *Progress in Cell Cycle Research*, Vol. 5; Meijer, L., Jézéquel, A., Roberge, M., Eds.; Kluwer: Amsterdam, 2003; pp 511– 525. (b) Fenteany, G.; Zhu, S. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* 2003, *3*, 593–616. (c) Rao, J. Y.; Li, N. *Curr. Cancer Drug Targets* 2004, *4*, 267–283.
- 2. Ratnayake, A. S.; Yoshida, W. Y.; Mooberry, S. L.; Hemscheidt, T. Org. Lett. 2001, *3*, 3479–3481.
- Murga, J.; Falomir, E.; García-Fortanet, J.; Carda, M.; Marco, J. A. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 3447–3449.
- Gurjar, M. K.; Nagaprasad, R.; Ramana, C. V. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 2873–2875.
- Davoli, P.; Spaggiari, A.; Castagnetti, L.; Prati, F. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2004, 2, 38–47.
- 6. Banwell, M. G.; Loong, D. T. J. *Heterocycles* **2004**, *62*, 713–734.
- 7. Ishigami, K.; Kitahara, T. Heterocycles 2004, 63, 785-790.
- (a) Matteson, D. S. Acc. Chem. Res. 1988, 21, 294–300. (b) Matteson, D. S. Chem. Rev. 1989, 89, 1535–1551. (c) Matteson, D. S. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 581, 51–65.
- Reviews: (a) Deiters, A.; Martin, S. F. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 2199–2238. (b) Prunet, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 2826–2830. (c) Trnka, T. M.; Grubbs, R. H. Acc. Chem. Res. 2001, 34, 18–29. (d) Fürstner, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3012–3043. (e) Maier, M. E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000,

39, 2073–2077. (f) Grubbs, R. H.; Chang, S. *Tetrahedron* **1998**, 54, 4413–4450. (g) Amstrong, S. K. J. Chem. Soc., *Perkin Trans. 1* **1998**, 371–388.

- 11. Matteson, D. S.; Beedle, E. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1987**, *28*, 4499–4502.
- 12. Whiting, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 1503-1506.
- Matteson, D. S.; Sadhu, M. K.; Peterson, M. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 810–819.
- Hiscox, W. C.; Matteson, D. S. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 614–615, 314–317.
- Ness, S.; Martin, R.; Kindler, A. M.; Paetzel, M.; Gold, M.; Jensen, S. E.; Jones, J. B.; Strynadka, N. C. J. *Biochemistry* 2000, *39*, 5312–5321.
- 16. Michnick, T. J.; Matteson, D. S. Synlett 1991, 631-632.
- Wuts, P. G. M.; Thompson, P. A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1982, 234, 137–141.
- Breitmaier, E.; Voelter, W. Carbon-13 NMR Spectroscopy, 3rd ed.; VCH: Weinheim, 1987.
- (a) Matteson, D. S.; Majumdar, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 7588–7590.
   (b) Matteson, D. S.; Majumdar, D. Organometallics 1983, 2, 1529–1535.
- (a) Midland, M. M.; Zolopa, A. R.; Halterman, R. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 248–249. (b) Matteson, D. S. Acc. Chem. Res. 1970, 3, 186–193.
- (a) Matteson, D. S.; Ray, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 7590–7591. (b) Matteson, D. S.; Ray, R.; Rocks, R. R.; Tsai, D. J. S. Organometallics 1983, 2, 1536–1543.
- 22. Greene, T. W.; Wuts, P. G. M. *Protective Groups in Organic Synthesis*, 3rd ed.; Wiley: New York, 1999; pp 76–77.
- Fürstner, A.; Radkowski, K.; Wirtz, C.; Goddard, R.; Lehmann, C. W.; Mynott, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 7061–7069.
- 24. (a) Beumer, R.; Bayón, P.; Bugada, P.; Ducki, S.; Mongelli,

N.; Riccardi Sirtori, F.; Telser, J.; Gennari, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2003**, *44*, 681–684. (b) Caggiano, L.; Castoldi, D.; Beumer, R.; Bayón, P.; Telser, J.; Gennari, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2003**, *44*, 7913–7919. (c) Beumer, R.; Bayón, P.; Bugada, P.; Ducki, S.; Mongelli, N.; Riccardi Sirtori, F.; Telser, J.; Gennari, C. *Tetrahedron* **2003**, *59*, 8803–8820.

- 25. Gurjar, M. K.; Karmakar, S.; Mohapatra, D. K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2004**, *45*, 4525–4526.
- Meng, D.; Su, D.-S.; Balog, A.; Bertinato, P.; Sorensen, E. J.; Danishefsky, S. J.; Zheng, Y.-H.; Chou, T.-C.; He, L.; Horwitz, S. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 2733–2734.
- 27. (a) Fürstner, A.; Thiel, O. R.; Blanda, G. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 3731–3734. (b) Snider, B. B.; Song, F. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 1817–1820.
- 28. Hemscheidt, T. Personal communication, February 2004.
- (a) Rivero-Cruz, J. F.; García-Aguirre, G.; Cerda-García-Rojas, C. M.; Mata, R. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 5337–5344. (b) Rivero-Cruz, J. F.; Macías, M.; Cerda-García-Rojas, C. M.; Mata, R. J. Nat. Prod. **2003**, *66*, 511–514.
- 30. (a) Evidente, A.; Lanzetta, R.; Capasso, R.; Vurro, M.; Bottalico, A. *Phytochemistry* **1993**, *34*, 999–1003. (b) Evidente, A.; Capasso, R.; Abouzeid, M. A.; Lanzetta, R.; Vurro, M.; Bottalico, A. *J. Nat. Prod.* **1993**, *56*, 1937–1943 (please note that the stereochemistry of pinolidoxin has since been revised by Fürstner's group).<sup>23</sup>
- Diez, E.; Dixon, D. J.; Ley, S. V.; Polara, A.; Rodriguez, F. Synlett 2003, 1186–1188.
- (a) Rukachaisirikul, V.; Pramjit, S.; Pakawatchai, C.; Isaka, M.; Supothina, S. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2004**, *67*, 1953–1955. (b) Chu, M.; Mierzwa, R.; Xu, L.; He, L.; Terracciano, J.; Patel, M.; Gullo, V.; Black, T.; Zhao, W.; Chan, T.-M.; McPhail, A. T. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2003**, *66*, 1527–1530.
- Weber, D.; Sterner, O.; Anke, T.; Gorzalczancy, S.; Martino, V.; Acevedo, C. J. Antibiot. 2004, 57, 559–563.

<sup>10.</sup> Fürstner, A. Synlett 1999, 1523–1533.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4437-4446

### Sulfonate protecting groups. Synthesis of O- and C-methylated inositols: D- and L-ononitol, D- and L-laminitol, mytilitol and scyllo-inositol methyl ether

Manash P. Sarmah,<sup>a</sup> Mysore S. Shashidhar,<sup>a,\*</sup> Kana M. Sureshan,<sup>a,†</sup> Rajesh G. Gonnade<sup>b</sup> and Mohan M. Bhadbhade<sup>b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Division of Organic Synthesis, National Chemical Laboratory, Pashan Road, Pune 411 008, India <sup>b</sup>Center for Materials Characterization, National Chemical Laboratory, Pashan Road, Pune 411 008, India

Received 8 December 2004; revised 10 February 2005; accepted 24 February 2005

Available online 23 March 2005

Abstract—Syntheses of D- and L-ononitol, D- and L-laminitol, mytilitol and scyllo-inositol methyl ether starting from myo-inositol are described. One or two of the myo-inositol 1,3,5-orthoformate hydroxyl groups were protected as tosylates. These mono or ditosylates served as key intermediates for the preparation of O- and C-methyl inositols. Racemic 2,4-di-O-tosyl-myo-inositol 1,3,5-orthoformate was resolved as its diastereomeric camphanates. Use of sulfonate groups for the protection of inositol hydroxyl groups resulted in substantial improvement in the overall yield of O- and C-methyl inositols.

© 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

Selective protection and deprotection of various functional groups is an indispensable tool for the synthesis of complex organic compounds. Molecules having non-equivalent functional groups of the same kind (polyols, polyamines, polyacids, etc.) pose challenges during their chemical manipulation, as the difference in their reactivity is often subtle. A number of methods have been explored to achieve regioselective protection and deprotection of hydroxyl groups of inositols<sup>1</sup> and these have provided means for the synthesis of phosphoinositols, other natural products and their analogs.<sup>2</sup> myo-Inositol orthoesters have been used extensively for the synthesis of phosphoinositols and their derivatives.<sup>1,3</sup> We developed methods for the regiospecific sulfonylation of the three hydroxyl groups of myo-inositol 1,3,5-orthoformate and had shown<sup>4</sup> that their sulfonate derivatives can be cleaved with retention of configuration, since *myo*-inositol orthoesters possess the rigid adamantane frame-work. Although hydroxyl groups are seldom protected as their sulfonates due to problems (such as elimination, nucleophilic substitution, etc.) associated with their deprotection, we were able to utilize sulfonate

e-mail: shashi@dalton.ncl.res.in

derivatives of myo-inositol orthoformate for the efficient preparation of precursors for inositol phosphates<sup>4,5</sup> and scyllo-inositol.<sup>6</sup> We herein describe the synthesis of a few naturally occurring O- and C-methylated inositol derivatives (and their unnatural enantiomers) via the protection of



Figure 1.

Keywords: Cyclitol; Inositol; Sulfonate; Protecting group; Orthoester. \* Corresponding authors. Tel./fax: +91 20 25893153;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Present address: Department of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, University of Bath, Bath BA2 7AY, UK.

<sup>0040-4020/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02.073

*myo*-inositol orthoformate hydroxyl groups as the corresponding tosylates.

Cyclitols, their derivatives and analogs have continued to attract the attention of chemists and biologists due to their involvement in various biological processes<sup>7</sup> in eukaryotic cells. Although cyclitol derivatives occur in plants as well as animals, their biological role in plants has not been investigated as extensively as in animals. O-methylated inositols (Fig. 1) such as (+)-ononitol (1D-4-O-methylmyo-inositol, **D1**), (+)-bornesitol (1D-3-O-methyl-myoinositol, **D2**), sequovitol (5-*O*-methyl-*myo*-inositol, **3**), (+)-pinitol (1D-3-O-methyl-chiro-inositol, **D4**) and (-)quebrachitol (11-2-O-methyl-chiro-insoitol, L5), are present in seeds of many plants, frequently in combination with one another; their glycosylated derivatives are abundant in seeds such as adzuki bean.<sup>8</sup> O-methyl-scylloinositol (7) has been isolated from mung beans.<sup>9</sup> C-methyl inositols, (-)-laminitol (D6) and mytilitol (8), having myoand scyllo-type configurations, respectively, occur in marine algae.<sup>10</sup> Galactosyl cyclitols are thought to protect mem-branes and other cellular structures during seed desiccation or storage in the dry state.<sup>11</sup> Racemic<sup>12</sup> as well as enantiomeric ononitols<sup>13</sup> have been synthesized from *myo*inositol. Epimerization of pinitol in acetic acid results in the formation of ononitol as one of the products.<sup>14</sup> Posternak<sup>15</sup> established the absolute configuration of laminitol and reported its first synthesis.<sup>16</sup> Racemic and the naturally occurring (-)-laminitol have also been synthesized from *myo*-inositol,<sup>17</sup> toluene<sup>18</sup> and D-glucose.<sup>19</sup>

#### 2. Results and discussion

The racemic ditosylate  $10^4$  (Scheme 1) was obtained in high



**Scheme 1.** (a) RCl, DMAP, pyr, 80–100 °C, 12 h, **11** (44%), **dia11** (43%); (b) *iso*-BuNH<sub>2</sub>, MeOH-DCM, reflux, 6 h, 96%; (c) MeI, NaH, DMF, 5 min, 95%; (d) NaOMe, MeOH, reflux, 12 h, 99%; (e) aq. TFA, 1 h, 100%.

yield by the ditosylation of the triol **9** and resolved as diastereomeric camphanates **11** and **dia11**; their absolute configurations were established by X-ray crystallography (Fig. 2). Aminolysis of the diastereomer **11** gave the enantiomeric ditosylate **L10**. Methylation of **L10** followed by methanolysis of the tosylates (in **L12**) and hydrolysis of the orthoformate (in **D13**<sup>20</sup>) gave the natural ononitol **D1** in 32% overall yield from *myo*-inositol.

Similar sequence of reactions (Scheme 2) on **dia11** provided the unnatural ononitol **L1** in 31% yield. Earlier methods of synthesis<sup>13</sup> gave ononitol (racemic or enantiomeric) in less than 20% yield.

We also attempted to use the ditosylate **10** for the synthesis of laminitol. Oxidation of racemic **10** provided the gem diol **14** (Scheme 3) as the major product (see Section 4 and Supplementary material). The diol **14** did not react with methylmagnesium iodide under the conditions used for the C-methylation of the racemic ketone **18**. Hence, we synthesized enantiomeric laminitols from the dibenzyl ethers **D17** and **L17**. Enantiomeric ethers **D17** and **L17** were prepared from the racemic monotosylate **16** as described previously.<sup>4</sup>

Oxidation of the dibenzyl ether L17 (Scheme 3) by Swern's method provided the corresponding ketone L18 as the major product, in contrast to the oxidation of the ditosylate 10. Grignard reaction of the ketone L18 with methylmagnesium iodide gave the corresponding C-methyl derivative L19. Cleavage of the benzyl groups by hydrogenolysis followed by acid hydrolysis of the orthoformate provided the natural D-laminitol (D6) in 30% overall yield from *myo*-inositol. Orthoesters of *myo*-inositol are known to be cleaved by Grignard reagents at higher temperatures;<sup>21</sup> however, we did not observe such cleavage under the conditions (0 °C to ambient temperature) used for the Grignard reaction on L18.

An identical reaction sequence from **D17** (Scheme 4) provided the unnatural laminitol (**L6**) in 30% overall yield. Similarly, racemic laminitol was also prepared (overall yield 61%) from the racemic dibenzyl ether **17**. The overall yield in previously reported methods for the synthesis of laminitol (racemic or enantiomeric) did not exceed 15%.<sup>16–19</sup> X-ray crystal structure (Fig. 2) of racemic laminitol orthoformate **20** clearly showed that the *myo*-configuration was retained after the Grignard reaction on **18** (or its enantiomers).

The high yielding (overall yield 48% from *myo*-inositol) synthesis of mytilitol (**8**, Scheme 5) was completed starting from the known ketone **21**.<sup>6</sup> Reaction of **21** with methylmagnesium iodide gave the C-methyl orthoformate **22**. Methanolysis of the tosylates followed by acetylation gave the diacetate **23**, *scyllo*- configuration of which was established by X-ray crystallography (Fig. 2). The triol **24** was isolated as its diacetate **23** as these triols are good metal complexing agents<sup>22</sup> and could bind to metal ions present on silica gel resulting in a reduction in their isolated yield.<sup>6</sup> Aminolysis of the acetates in **23** followed by acid hydrolysis of the orthoformate provided **8**, which was characterized as its hexaacetate (**25**). The previously reported synthesis of **8** 



Figure 2. ORTEP view of the compounds 11 (A), dia11 (B), 20 (C) and 23 (D). Ellipsoids are drawn at 30% probability level.



Scheme 2. (a) iso-BuNH<sub>2</sub>, MeOH-DCM, reflux, 6 h, 97%; (b) MeI, NaH, DMF, 5 min, 95%; (c) NaOMe, MeOH, reflux, 12 h, 99%; (d) aq. TFA, 1 h, 98%.



Scheme 3. (a) DMSO, (COCl)<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -78 °C, 1 h then Et<sub>3</sub>N, rt, 3 h, 82% (for 14+15), 95% for (L18); (b) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, DMSO, 40 h, 94%; (c) as in Ref. 4; (d) MeMgI, Et<sub>2</sub>O, 0 °C-rt, 4 h, 88%; (e) Pd(OH)<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>/30 psi, MeOH, 10 h, 98%; (f) aq. TFA, 1 h, 98%.

from glucose gave this C-methyl inositol in 3% overall yield.  $^{19}$ 

Naturally occurring *scyllo*-inositol methyl ether (7) was also obtained from the ketone **21**. Reduction of **21** with sodium borohydride as reported earlier<sup>6</sup> followed by methylation with methyl iodide provided the methyl ether **26**. Removal of the tosylates by methanolysis and acid hydrolysis of the orthoformate gave the natural *scyllo*-inositol methyl ether (7) in an overall yield of 60% from *myo*-inositol. It is interesting to note that the ketone **18** and the symmetric ketone **21** were stable while the unsymmetric ketone **15** exists almost completely as the gem diol **14** (see Supporting information). The factors that could control the relative stability of a ketone and its gem diol (or the ease of

hydration of a ketone) are electrophilicity of the carbonyl carbon and steric factors that could stabilize the ketone or the gem diol. Further work is necessary to completely understand the relative stability of *myo*-inositol 1,3,5-orthoformate derived ketones<sup>23</sup> **15**, **18** and **21** and the corresponding gem diols resulting by their hydration.

#### 3. Conclusions

We have demonstrated that O- and C-alkylated cyclitol derivatives can be synthesized by the protection of inositol orthoester hydroxyl groups as the corresponding tosylates. It is interesting to note that both O- and C-alkylation could be carried out efficiently in the presence of sulfonate moieties



Scheme 4. (a) DMSO,  $(COCl)_2$ ,  $CH_2Cl_2$ , -78 °C, 1 h then  $Et_3N$ , rt, 3 h, 95%; (b) MeMgI,  $Et_2O$ , 0 °C-rt, 4 h, 88%; (c) Pd(OH)<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>/30 psi, MeOH, 10 h, 98%; (d) aq. TFA, 1 h, 98%.



**Scheme 5.** (a) MeMgI, Et<sub>2</sub>O, THF, 0 °C–rt, 6 h, 74%; (b) NaOMe, MeOH, 12 h, reflux, 94% (for **27**); (c) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, pyr, rt, 24 h, 95%; (d) *iso*-BuNH<sub>2</sub>, MeOH, reflux, 12 h, 96%; (e) aq. TFA, 1 h, 100% (for **8**), 96% (for **7**); (f) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, DMAP, pyr, 24 h, 93%; (g) NaBH<sub>4</sub>, MeOH, THF, 30 min, 99%; (h) MeI, NaH, DMF, 5 min, 92%.

as the adamantane framework does not allow the tosylate groups to function as leaving groups. As evident from the yields of the final products, this unusual protection of hydroxyl groups as their sulfonates resulted in efficient synthesis of inositol derivatives. These synthetic sequences are perhaps among the very few reports in the literature where tosylate groups have been used for the protection of hydroxyl groups and the preparation of enantiomeric end products. Synthesis of complex cyclitol derivatives using this strategy is being pursued presently in our laboratory.

#### 4. Experimental

#### 4.1. General

For details on general experimental conditions see Ref. 4. The orthoformate **9**,<sup>24</sup> racemic ditosylate **10**,<sup>4</sup> benzyl ethers **D17** and **L17**,<sup>4</sup> the ketone **21**,<sup>6</sup> 2-*O*-benzoyl-*myo*-inositol 1,3,5-orthoformate,<sup>25</sup> 4,6-di-*O*-tosyl-*myo*-inositol 1,3,5-orthoformate<sup>6</sup> and (1*S*)-(-)-camphanoyl chloride<sup>26</sup> were prepared as reported earlier. All the compounds previously reported in the literature were characterized by comparison of their <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra, melting point and/or specific rotation with those of authentic samples. Specific rotations were determined using a Bellingham ADP220 polarimeter (accuracy  $\pm 0.1^{\circ}$ ).

**4.1.1.** D- and L-2,4-Di-O-tosyl-6-O-[1S]-camphanoyl-myoinositol 1,3,5-orthoformate (dia11 and 11). Racemic 10 (1.000 g, 2.008 mmol), DMAP (0.050 g) and freshly prepared (1S)-(-)-camphanoyl chloride (0.566 g, 2.614 mmol) were dissolved in dry pyridine (10 mL) and heated at 80 °C for 10 h. The reaction mixture was cooled to ambient temperature, pyridine was evaporated under reduced pressure and the residue was worked-up with dichloromethane. Flash column chromatography of the gum obtained gave 11 (0.600 g, 44%), dia11 (0.585 g, 43%) and a mixture of 11 and dia11 (0.135 g, 10%). Data for 11: white solid, mp 184–185 °C; [found: C, 55.04; H, 5.03.  $C_{31}H_{34}O_{13}S_2$  requires C, 54.86; H, 5.05%];  $R_f$  (50% dichloromethane/light petroleum) 0.32;  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}^{25} = -25.4$  (*c* 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\rm max}$  (Nujol) 1788, 1768 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{\rm H}$  (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 7.83 (2H, d, *J*=10.0 Hz), 7.78 (2H, d, *J*=10.0 Hz), 7.43 (2H, d, J = 10.0 Hz), 7.39 (2H, d, J = 10.0 Hz), 5.50 (1H, s), 5.48–5.45 (1H, m), 5.10–5.05 (1H, m), 4.74 (1H, d, J = 2.0 Hz, 4.52–4.48 (1H, m), 4.23–4.20 (1H, m), 4.07– 4.03 (1H, m), 2.48 (3H, s), 2.45 (3H, s), 2.45–2.40 (1H, m), 2.05-1.90 (2H, m), 1.73-1.65 (1H, m), 1.15 (3H, s), 1.07 (3H, s), 0.95 (3H, s); δ<sub>C</sub> (125 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 177.7, 166.1, 146.1, 145.7, 132.5, 131.9, 130.4, 130.3, 128.1, 128.0, 102.6, 90.5, 71.8, 69.5, 68.8, 68.0, 67.7, 66.6, 54.8, 54.4, 30.4, 28.8, 21.7, 21.6, 16.6, 9.7. Data for dia11: mp 222-225 °C; [found: C, 54.77; H, 4.84. C<sub>31</sub>H<sub>34</sub>O<sub>13</sub>S<sub>2</sub> requires C, 54.86; H, 5.05%];  $R_{\rm f}$  (50% dichloromethane/light petroleum) 0.29;  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}^{26} = -7.7$  (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\rm max}$  (Nujol) 1776 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{\rm H}$  (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 7.83 (2H, d, J= 10.0 Hz), 7.73 (2H, d, J = 10.0 Hz), 7.50–7.40 (4H, m), 5.65-5.55 (1H, m), 5.48 (1H, d, J=5.0 Hz), 5.00-4.93 (1H, m), 4.90-4.85 (1H, m), 4.40-4.30 (2H, m), 4.15-4.05 (1H, m), 2.48 (6H, s), 2.55-2.40 (1H, m), 2.12-2.05 (1H, m), 2.05-1.90 (1H, m), 1.80-1.70 (1H, m), 1.15 (3H, s), 1.10 (3H, s), 0.98 (3H, s); δ<sub>C</sub> (125 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 177.5, 165.9, 146.4, 145.8, 133.0, 131.6, 130.5, 130.3, 128.1, 127.8, 102.6, 90.7, 72.0, 69.5, 67.9, 67.7, 66.5, 54.9, 54.3, 30.5, 29.0, 21.8, 17.0, 16.7, 9.7.

**4.1.2.** L-2,4-Di-*O*-tosyl-*myo*-inositol 1,3,5-orthoformate (L10). Isobutylamine (2 mL) and 11 (0.400 g, 0.590 mmol) were dissolved in a mixture of methanol (10 mL) and dichloromethane (10 mL) and refluxed for 6 h. Removal of the solvents under reduced pressure, usual work-up with dichloromethane followed by column chromatography gave L10 (0.286 g, 96%) as a white solid; mp 112–114 °C; [found: C, 50.37; H, 4.42.  $C_{21}H_{22}O_{10}S_2$  requires C, 50.60; H, 4.45%];  $[\alpha]_D^{29} = -9$  (*c* 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{max}$  (CHCl<sub>3</sub>) 3659–3184 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$  (300 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 7.82 (4H, t, *J*=8.8 Hz), 7.41 (2H, d, *J*=8.1 Hz), 7.35 (2H, d, *J*=8.0 Hz), 5.44 (1H, d, *J*=1.4 Hz), 5.10–5.02 (1H, m), 5.02–4.95 (1H, m), 4.60–4.50 (1H, m), 4.40–4.30 (1H, m), 4.25–4.15 (1H, m), 4.10–4.00 (1H, m), 2.65–2.45 (1H, broad, D<sub>2</sub>O exchangeable), 2.49 (3H, s), 2.46 (3H, s);

 $\delta_{\rm C}$  (50.3 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 146.1, 145.5, 133.0, 131.9, 130.3, 130.1, 128.0, 127.8, 102.3, 72.9, 71.4, 69.6, 68.6, 66.6, 21.6.

4.1.3. L-2,4-Di-O-tosyl-6-O-methyl-myo-inositol 1,3,5orthoformate (L12). To a solution of methyl iodide (0.086 g, 0.606 mmol) and L10 (0.200 g, 0.402 mmol) in dry DMF (3 mL), was added sodium hydride (0.011 g, 0.458 mmol) and stirred for 5 min. Reaction was quenched with ice, DMF was evaporated under reduced pressure and the reaction mixture was worked-up with dichloromethane to obtain a gum. Purification of the gum by column chromatography gave L12 (0.195 g, 95%) as a gum; [found: C, 51.79; H, 4.88.  $C_{22}H_{24}O_{10}S_2$  requires C, 51.55; H, 4.72%];  $[\alpha]_D^{29} = -5$  (c 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\delta_H$  (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 7.85 (2H, d, J=8.2 Hz), 7.78 (2H, d, J=8.2 Hz), 7.39 (2H, d, J=3.5 Hz), 7.36 (2H, d, J=3.5 Hz), 5.44 (1H, d, J=1.2 Hz), 5.07-4.95 (1H, m), 4.94-4.85 (1H, m), 4.45-4.37 (1H, m), 4.30–4.20 (1H, m), 4.14–4.03 (1H, m), 4.00–3.90 (1H, m), 3.38 (3H, s), 2.48 (3H, s), 2.47 (3H, s);  $\delta_{\rm C}$ (50.3 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 145.7, 145.3, 133.1, 132.2, 130.0, 127.7, 102.4, 74.3, 72.3, 69.6, 69.4, 68.6, 66.6, 57.0, 21.5.

**4.1.4.** D-4-*O*-Methyl-*myo*-inositol 1,3,5-orthoformate (D13). To a stirred solution of L12 (0.142 g, 0.277 mmol) in dry methanol (5 mL) was added sodium methoxide (0.151 g, 2.796 mmol) and the mixture refluxed for 12 h. The reaction was quenched with ice, methanol was evaporated under reduced pressure and the product was purified by flash chromatography to obtain D13 (0.056 g, 99%) as a white solid; mp 102–104 °C; [found: C, 47.15; H, 5.72. C<sub>8</sub>H<sub>12</sub>O<sub>6</sub> requires C, 47.06; H, 5.92%];  $[\alpha]_D^{20} = +3.9$  (*c* 1, EtOH);  $\nu_{max}$  (nujol) 3523, 3475–3105 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{\rm H}$  (200 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD) 5.36 (1H, s), 4.38–4.28 (1H, m), 4.26–4.18 (1H, m), 4.18–4.05 (2H, m), 4.00–3.90 (2H, m), 3.39 (3H, s);  $\delta_{\rm C}$  (125 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD) 104.3, 77.7, 76.1, 73.6, 69.8, 69.1, 61.2, 57.9.

**4.1.5. D**-**Ononitol (D1).** The orthoformate **D13** (0.040 g, 0.196 mmol) was stirred with a mixture of trifluoroacetic acid (0.9 mL) and distilled water (0.3 mL) for 1 h. Evaporation of solvents under reduced pressure followed by co-evaporation with toluene gave D-ononitol **D1** (0.038 g, 100%) as a white solid; mp 167–169 °C; lit.<sup>13</sup> mp 167–169 °C;  $[\alpha]_D^{D=} + 5.2$  (*c* 2.2, H<sub>2</sub>O); lit.<sup>13</sup>  $[\alpha]_D = +5.5$  (*c* 2.2, H<sub>2</sub>O).

**4.1.6.** D-2,4-Di-*O*-tosyl-*myo*-inositol **1,3,5**-orthoformate (D10). Reaction of dia11 (0.450 g, 0.663 mmol) with isobutylamine (3 mL) as in Section 4.1.2 gave D10 (0.320 g, 97%) as a white solid; mp 112–113 °C; [found: C, 50.66; H, 4.63.  $C_{21}H_{22}O_{10}S_2$  requires C, 50.60; H, 4.45%];  $[\alpha]_{D}^{29} = +9$  (*c* 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{max}$  (CHCl<sub>3</sub>) 3583–3340 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{H}$  and  $\delta_{C}$  were similar to that of L10.

**4.1.7.** D-2,4-Di-*O*-tosyl-6-*O*-methyl-*myo*-inositol 1,3,5orthoformate (D12). Methylation of D10 (0.310 g, 0.622 mmol) with methyl iodide (0.114 g, 0.803 mmol) as in Section 4.1.3 gave D12 (0.300 g, 95%) as a gum; [found: C, 51.79; H, 4.83.  $C_{22}H_{24}O_{10}S_2$  requires C, 51.55; H, 4.72%];  $[\alpha]_D^{27} = +5$  (*c* 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\delta_H$  and  $\delta_C$  were similar to that of L12.

4.1.8. L-4-O-Methyl-myo-inositol 1,3,5-orthoformate

(L13). Methanolysis of D12 (0.250 g, 0.488 mmol) as in Section 4.1.4 gave L13 (0.099 g, 99%) as a white solid; mp 102–104 °C; [found: C, 47.00; H, 5.81.  $C_8H_{12}O_6$  requires C, 47.06; H, 5.92%];  $[\alpha]_D^{20} = -3.8$  (*c* 1, EtOH);  $\nu_{max}$  (nujol) 3523, 3472–3076 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$  and  $\delta_C$  were similar to that of D13.

**4.1.9.** L-**Ononitol (L1).** Acid hydrolysis of L13 (0.060 g, 0.294 mmol) as in Section 4.1.5 gave L-ononitol (L1, 0.056 g, 98%) as a white solid; mp 167–169 °C; lit.<sup>13</sup> mp 168–169 °C;  $[\alpha]_D^{26} = -5.2 (c 2, H_2O)$ ; lit.<sup>13</sup>  $[\alpha]_D = -5.7 (c 2, H_2O)$ .

4.1.10. Racemic 4,6-di-O-benzyl-epi-inosose 1,3,5-orthoformate (18). To a cooled  $(-78 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$  solution of oxalyl chloride (0.303 g, 2.405 mmol) in dry dichloromethane (3 mL) was added drop wise, a solution of dry dimethylsulfoxide (0.341 g, 4.372 mmol) in dry dichloromethane (2 mL) and the reaction mixture stirred for 15 min. To this mixture was added (drop wise) a solution of the racemic dibenzyl ether 17 (0.800 g, 2.162 mmol) in dry dichloromethane (5 mL) and stirring was continued for 1 h. Dry triethylamine (1.096 g, 10.851 mmol) was then added and the reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature slowly. The reaction was quenched by the addition of a few drops of water and the organic layer was separated, dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure. Purification of the product by column chromatography afforded a mixture of the racemic ketone 18 and the corresponding gem diol (0.730 g, 92%) as a gum; [found: C, 66.73; H, 5.68.  $C_{21}H_{20}O_6 \cdot 0.5H_2O$  requires C, 66.83; H, 5.61%.];  $\nu_{max}$ (neat) 3630–3180, 1765 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$  (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 7.52– 7.26 (8H, m), 7.25–7.12 (2H, m), 5.67 (1H, d, J=1.4 Hz), 4.69 (2H, q, J=12.3, 12.2 Hz), 4.63–4.51 (2H, m), 4.51– 4.39 (2H, m), 4.39–4.30 (2H, m), 3.76 (1H, d, *J*=1.5 Hz);  $\delta_{\rm C}$  (50.3 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 198.5, 136.1, 135.6, 127.8, 127.6, 127.4, 127.2, 127.1, 102.1, 78.1, 75.9, 75.7, 71.0, 70.9, 70.5, 69.7, 69.6.

4.1.11. Racemic laminitol orthoformate (20). To a stirred cooled (ice bath) solution of racemic 18 (0.150 g, 0.408 mmol) in dry diethyl ether (5 mL), a freshly prepared solution (1.0 M, 2.0 mL) of methylmagnesium iodide in diethylether was added and stirring continued and the reaction mixture was allowed to warm to ambient temperature (3-4 h) while stirring. The reaction mixture was then diluted with dichloromethane (10 mL) and washed with a saturated aqueous solution of ammonium chloride (3 mL). The aqueous layer was extracted with dichloromethane  $(3 \times 5 \text{ mL})$ , the combined organic layer was washed with brine (5 mL) and the solvent removed by evaporation under reduced pressure to obtain a gum. Purification of this gum by column chromatography afforded racemic 19 (0.138 g, 88%) as a gum;  $v_{\text{max}}$ (CHCl<sub>3</sub>) 3595–3338 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{\rm H}$  (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 7.50– 7.25 (8H, m), 7.25–7.15 (2H, m), 5.52 (1H, d, J=1.0 Hz), 4.73 (2H, q, J=15.6, 12.3 Hz), 4.54 (2H, q, J=10.8, 4.9 Hz), 4.39 (1H, t, J=3.9 Hz), 4.33 (1H, s, D<sub>2</sub>O exchangeable), 4.28-4.18 (1H, m), 4.02-3.96 (1H, m), 3.96-3.86 (2H, m), 1.56 (3H, s); δ<sub>C</sub> (50.3 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 137.7, 135.9, 128.7, 128.6, 128.4, 127.9, 102.6, 75.9, 74.8, 72.8, 71.9, 71.3, 69.7, 69.3, 67.3, 24.1. Racemic **19** (0.120 g, 0.313 mmol) was subjected to hydrogenolysis (30 psi) in the presence of Pearlmann's catalyst (20% Pd(OH)<sub>2</sub> on carbon, 0.044 g) in methanol (5 mL) for 6 h. Removal of the catalyst by filtration followed by removal of the solvent under reduced pressure gave racemic **20** (0.063 g, 98%) as a white solid which was crystallized from methanol. mp 179–181 °C; [found: C, 47.00; H, 6.30. C<sub>8</sub>H<sub>12</sub>O<sub>6</sub> requires C, 47.06; H, 5.92%];  $\nu_{max}$  (nujol) 3656–3011 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{\rm H}$  (200 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD) 5.30 (1H, d, J=1.5 Hz), 4.34 (1H, t, J=3.9 Hz), 4.10–4.04 (1H, m), 3.98–3.93 (1H, m), 3.77–3.70 (1H, m), 3.63 (1H, dd, J=2.0, 1.9 Hz,), 1.44 (3H, s);  $\delta_{\rm C}$  (50.3 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD) 102.8, 78.7, 74.1, 73.3, 70.2, 68.2, 61.1, 23.7.

**4.1.12. Racemic laminitol** (6). Racemic **20** (0.030 g, 0.147 mmol) was treated with a mixture of trifluoroacetic acid (0.8 mL) and water (0.2 mL) at room temperature for 1 h. Removal of trifluoroacetic acid and water under reduced pressure gave racemic laminitol (6, 0.028 g, 98%) as a white solid; mp 256–258 °C; lit.<sup>17b</sup> mp 262–268 °C;  $\delta_{\rm H}$  (200 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O) 4.07–3.93 (1H, m), 3.54–3.41 (3H, m), 3.28–3.13 (1H, m), 1.20 (3H, s).

**4.1.13.** L-4,6-Di-*O*-benzyl-*epi*-inosose 1,3,5-orthoformate (L18). Oxidation of L17 (0.370 g, 1.000 mmol) as in Section 4.1.10 gave L18 (0.350 g, 95%) containing a small amount of the corresponding gem diol, as a gum; [found: C, 66.43; H, 5.63.  $C_{21}H_{20}O_6 \cdot 0.6H_2O$  requires C, 66.52; H, 5.64%];  $[\alpha]_D^{26} = -21.0$  (*c* 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>).<sup>27</sup>

**4.1.14. D-Laminitol orthoformate (D20).** C-methylation of **L18** (0.100 g, 0.272 mmol) as in Section 4.1.11 afforded **L19** (0.093 g, 89%) as a gum;  $[\alpha]_D^{26} = -9$  (*c* 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\text{max}}$ ,  $\delta_{\text{H}}$  and  $\delta_{\text{C}}$  were similar to that of racemic **19**. Hydrogenolysis of **L19** (0.080 g, 0.208 mmol) as in Section 4.1.11 gave **D20** (0.042 g, 98%) as a white solid; mp 179–181 °C; [found: C, 47.25; H, 5.86. C<sub>8</sub>H<sub>12</sub>O<sub>6</sub> requires C, 47.06; H, 5.92%];  $[\alpha]_D^{27} = -3$  (*c* 1, EtOH);  $\nu_{\text{max}}$ ,  $\delta_{\text{H}}$  and  $\delta_{\text{C}}$  were similar to that of racemic **20**.

**4.1.15.** D-Laminitol (D6). Hydrolysis of the orthoformate D20 (0.030 g, 0.147 mmol) as in Section 4.1.12 gave D-laminitol (D6, 0.027 g, 95%); mp 257–259 °C; lit.<sup>10b</sup> mp 260 °C,  $[\alpha]_D^{27} = -2.9$  (*c* 1, H<sub>2</sub>O); lit.<sup>18</sup>  $[\alpha]_D = -3$  (*c* 1, H<sub>2</sub>O);  $\delta_H$ : same as in Section 4.1.12.

**4.1.16.** D-4,6-Di-*O*-benzyl-*epi*-inosose 1,3,5-orthoformate (D18). Oxidation of D17 (0.370 g, 1.000 mmol) as in Section 4.1.10 gave D18 (0.350 g, 95%) containing a small amount of the corresponding gem diol, as a gum; [found: C, 66.37; H, 5.51.  $C_{21}H_{20}O_6 \cdot 0.6H_2O$  requires C, 66.52; H, 5.64%];  $[\alpha]_{26}^{26} = +21.2$  (*c* 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>).<sup>27</sup>

**4.1.17.** L-Laminitol orthoformate (L20). C-methylation of **D18** (0.100 g, 0.272 mmol) as in Section 4.1.11 afforded **D19** (0.092 g, 88%) as a gum;  $[\alpha]_D^{26} = +9$  (*c* 1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\text{max}}$ ,  $\delta_{\text{H}}$  and  $\delta_{\text{C}}$  were similar to that of racemic **19**. The dibenzyl ether **D19** (0.080 g, 0.208 mmol) was subjected to hydrogenolysis as in Section 4.1.11 to obtain **L20** (0.041 g, 98%) as a white solid; mp 178–180 °C; [found: C, 47.21; H, 5.86. C<sub>8</sub>H<sub>12</sub>O<sub>6</sub> requires C, 47.06; H, 5.92%.];  $[\alpha]_D^{25} = +3$  (*c* 1, EtOH);  $\nu_{\text{max}}$ ,  $\delta_{\text{H}}$  and  $\delta_{\text{C}}$  were similar to that of racemic **20**.

**4.1.18.** L-Laminitol (L6). Hydrolysis of L20 (0.030 g, 0.147 mmol) as in Section 4.1.12 gave L-laminitol (L6, 0.028 g, 98%) as a white solid; mp 258–261 °C;  $[\alpha]_D^{27} = +3.3$  (*c* 1, H<sub>2</sub>O);  $\delta_{\text{H}}$ : same as in Section 4.1.12.

**4.1.19. 2-***C***-Methyl-4,6-di**-*O*-tosyl-*scyllo*-inositol **1,3,5**orthoformate (**22**). The ketone **21** (0.750 g, 1.512 mmol) was allowed to react with a freshly prepared diethylether solution of methylmagnesium iodide (1 M, 5.3 mL) in a mixture of dry diethylether (9 mL) and dry THF (3 mL) as in Section 4.1.11 (reaction time 6 h) to obtain **22** (0.572 g, 74%); mp 152–153 °C; [Found: C, 51.94; H, 4.85. C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>24</sub>O<sub>10</sub>S<sub>2</sub> requires C, 51.55; H, 4.72%.];  $\nu_{max}$  (CHCl<sub>3</sub>) 3730–3078 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{\rm H}$  (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 7.85 (4H, d, *J*= 8.8 Hz), 7.40 (4H, d, *J*=7.8 Hz), 5.39 (1H, s), 5.17 (2H, t, *J*=3.9 Hz), 4.35–4.25 (1H, m), 3.95–3.80 (2H, m), 3.22 (1H, s, D<sub>2</sub>O exchangeable), 2.48 (6H, s), 1.46 (3H, s);  $\delta_{\rm C}$  (50.3 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 145.8, 132.4, 130.1, 128.0, 101.8, 72.7, 71.9, 67.2, 24.6, 21.5.

4.1.20. 2-C-Methyl-4,6-di-O-acetyl-scyllo-inositol 1,3,5orthoformate (23). The ditosylate 22 (0.400 g, 0.781 mmol) was suspended in dry methanol (5 mL) containing sodium methoxide (0.421 g, 7.796 mmol) and refluxed for 9 h. The reaction mixture was guenched with a few drops of 2% hydrochloric acid solution (to pH 5) and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure and dried to obtain a solid. The solid obtained was suspended in dry pyridine (5 mL) containing acetic anhydride (3 mL) and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 24 h. Usual work-up with dichloromethane followed by column chromatography gave the diacetate 23 (0.217 g, 96%); mp 130-132 °C; [found: C, 50.15; H, 5.44. C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>8</sub> requires C, 50.00; H, 5.60%.];  $\nu_{\text{max}}$  (CHCl<sub>3</sub>) 3560, 1745 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{\text{H}}$ (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 5.60 (2H, t, J=4.0 Hz), 5.53 (1H, s), 4.53–4.45 (1H, m), 4.10–4.04 (2H, m), 3.59 (1H, d, J= 0.9 Hz, D<sub>2</sub>O exchangeable), 2.13 (6H, s), 1.56 (3H, s);  $\delta_{\rm C}$ (50.3 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 168.3, 102.3, 72.4, 68.0, 67.8, 66.1, 24.6, 20.7.

**4.1.21. Mytilitol orthoformate (24).** Isobutylamine (2 mL) and **23** (0.150 g, 0.521 mmol) were dissolved in methanol (5 mL) and refluxed for 6 h. The solvents were evaporated under reduced pressure to obtain a gum. The gum obtained was washed with hot light petroleum (60–80 °C) several times followed by dichloromethane to obtain **24** as a white solid (0.101 g, 94%); mp 199–201 °C; [found: C, 47.52; H, 5.74. C<sub>8</sub>H<sub>12</sub>O<sub>6</sub> requires C, 47.06; H, 5.92%];  $\nu_{max}$  (Nujol) 3450–3100 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{\rm H}$  (200 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD) 5.24 (1H, s), 4.30 (2H, t, J=3.9 Hz), 4.10–4.00 (1H, m), 3.72 (2H, q, J=2.5, 1.9 Hz), 1.34 (3H, s);  $\delta_{\rm C}$  (50.3 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD) 103.3, 76.4, 72.7, 69.4, 26.0.

**4.1.22.** Mytilitol hexaacetate (25). The orthoformate 24 (0.090 g, 0.441 mmol) was stirred with trifluoroacetic acid (1.6 mL) and distilled water (0.4 mL) for 1 h. Evaporation of the solvents followed by co-evaporation with toluene gave mytilitol (**8**, 0.085 g, 100%) as a white solid; mp 264–266 °C;  $\delta_{\rm H}$  (200 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O) 3.23 (5H, s), 0.97 (3H, s). Mytilitol (**8**, 0.030 g, 0.155 mmol), was stirred with acetic anhydride (0.5 mL) and DMAP (0.005 g) in dry pyridine (1 mL) at room temperature for 24 h. Evaporation of the solvents under reduced pressure followed by usual work-up

with dichloromethane gave a gum. Purification of this gum by column chromatography gave the known hexaacetate **25** (0.065 g, 93%) as a white solid; mp 179–180 °C; lit.<sup>19</sup> mp 181 °C.

4.1.23. 2-O-Methyl-4,6-di-O-tosyl-scyllo-inositol 1,3,5orthoformate (26). To a solution of 2.4-di-O-tosyl-scylloinositol 1,3,5-orthoformate<sup>6</sup> (0.662 g, 1.329 mmol) in dry DMF (4 mL) was added methyl iodide (0.568 g, 4.002 mmol) and the mixture stirred for 5 min. Sodium hydride (0.041 g, 1.708 mmol) was added and stirring continued for additional 5 min. The reaction was quenched by the addition of ice. Evaporation of DMF under reduced pressure followed by work up with dichloromethane by usual procedure gave 26 (0.627 g, 92%) as a white solid; mp 149-150 °C; [found: C, 51.78; H, 4.88. C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>24</sub>O<sub>10</sub>S<sub>2</sub> requires C, 51.55; H, 4.72%]; δ<sub>H</sub> (300 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 7.85 (4H, d, J=8.3 Hz), 7.37 (4H, d, J=8.8 Hz), 5.45 (1H, s),5.24–5.06 (2H, m), 4.52–4.43 (2H, m), 4.24–4.15 (1H, m), 4.11–4.03 (1H, m), 3.35 (3H, s), 2.46 (6H, s); δ<sub>C</sub> (75 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 145.0, 133.0, 129.8, 127.7, 102.4, 72.9, 69.6, 67.6, 67.2, 56.9, 21.5.

**4.1.24.** 2-*O*-Methyl-*scyllo*-inositol 1,3,5-orthoformate (27). Sodium methoxide (0.475 g, 8.796 mmol) and 26 (0.461 g, 0.900 mmol) were dissolved in dry methanol (5 mL) and refluxed for 8 h. Evaporation of the solvent and purification of the product by flash chromatography gave 27 (0.172 g, 94%) as a white solid; mp 128–129 °C; [found: C, 47.18; H, 6.23.  $C_8H_{12}O_6$  requires C, 47.06; H, 5.92%];  $\nu_{max}$  (CHCl<sub>3</sub>) 3469–3332 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$  (300 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O) 5.64 (1H, s), 4.59–4.53 (2H, m), 4.50–4.44 (2H, m), 4.40–4.33 (1H,

Table 1. Crystal data for compounds 11, dia11, 20 and 23

m), 4.27–4.22 (1H, m), 3.47 (3H, s);  $\delta_{\rm C}$  (125 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O) 101.3, 74.2, 69.9, 68.4, 65.6, 57.1.

**4.1.25.** *scyllo*-Inositol methyl ether (7). The orthoformate **27** (0.050 g, 0.245 mmol) was stirred with a mixture of trifluoroacetic acid (0.4 mL) and distilled water (0.1 mL) for 1 h. Evaporation of solvents under reduced pressure followed by co-evaporation with toluene gave **7** (0.047 g, 96%) as a white solid; mp 248–249 °C; lit.<sup>9</sup> mp 243 °C; [found: C, 43.39; H, 7.26.  $C_7H_{14}O_6$  requires C, 43.30; H, 7.27%];  $\nu_{max}$  (Nujol) 3630–3032 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$  (200 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O) 3.85 (3H, s), 3.50–3.20 (4H, m), 3.20–2.95 (2H, m);  $\delta_C$  (50.3 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O) 45.4, 35.5, 34.9, 21.9.

4.1.26. Oxidation of racemic 2,4-di-O-tosyl-myo-inositol **1,3,5-orthoformate** (10). To a cooled  $(-78 \degree C)$  solution of oxalyl chloride (0.520 g, 4.127 mmol) in dry dichloromethane (4 mL) was added drop wise, a solution of dry dimethyl sulfoxide (0.627 g, 8.038 mmol) in dry dichloromethane (3 mL) and the reaction mixture stirred for 15 min. To this mixture was added (drop wise) a solution of racemic 10 (1.000 g, 2.008 mmol) in dry dichloromethane (8 mL) and stirring was continued for 1 h. Dry triethylamine (1.234 g, 12.218 mmol) was then added and the reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature slowly. The reaction was quenched by adding a few drops of water and the organic layer was separated, dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure. Purification of the crude product by column chromatography gave a mixture (0.850 g, 82%) of the racemic gem diol 14 and the ketone 15 as a white solid; mp 133–134 °C;  $\nu_{\rm max}$  and  $\delta_{\rm H}$ , see Supplementary data.  $\delta_{\rm C}$ (50.3 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 146.1, 145.6, 133.0, 131.9, 130.5,

Crystal data	11	dia11	20	23
Molecular formula	$C_{31}H_{34}O_{13}S_2$	C <sub>31</sub> H <sub>34</sub> O <sub>13</sub> S <sub>2</sub>	$C_8H_{12}O_6$	C <sub>12</sub> H <sub>16</sub> O <sub>8</sub>
Molecular mass	678.70	678.70	204.18	288.25
Crystal size (mm)	$0.71 \times 0.14 \times 0.08$	$0.74 \times 0.08 \times 0.07$	$0.57 \times 0.27 \times 0.22$	$0.58 \times 0.48 \times 0.37$
Temp. (K)	293(2)	293(2)	293(2)	293(2)
Crystal system	Orthorhombic	Orthorhombic	Orthorhombic	Monoclinic
Space group	$P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$	$P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$	$P$ na $2_1$	$P2_1/n$
a (Å)	9.057(4)	20.24(4)	11.722(5)	8.019(3)
$b(\mathbf{A})$	15.627(7)	17.98(4)	9.029(4)	14.251(5)
c (Å)	22.226(10)	9.14(2)	8.155(4)	11.837(4)
β(°)				106.583(5)
$V(Å^3)$	3146(2)	3326(12)	863.1(6)	1296.4(8)
Z	4	4	4	4
<i>F</i> (000)	1424	1424	432	608
D calc [g cm <sup>-3</sup> ]	1.433	1.355	1.571	1.477
$\mu (\text{mm}^{-1})$	0.237	0.224	0.136	0.126
Absorption correction	Multi-scan	Multi-scan	Multi-scan	Multi-scan
T <sub>min</sub>	0.8497	0.8517	0.9263	0.9306
T <sub>max</sub>	0.9824	0.9843	0.9706	0.9548
Reflns. collected	15,869	16,688	3847	11,785
Unique reflns.	5531	5836	1230	2269
Observed reflns.	4589	3666	1211	2219
Index range	$-10 \Rightarrow h \Rightarrow 10,$	$-12 \Rightarrow h \Rightarrow 24,$	$-13 \Rightarrow h \Rightarrow 6$ ,	$-9 \Rightarrow h \Rightarrow 9$ ,
-	$-18 \Rightarrow k \Rightarrow 16,$	$-21 \Rightarrow k \Rightarrow 21,$	$-10 \Rightarrow k \Rightarrow 9,$	$-16 \Rightarrow k \Rightarrow 16,$
	$-26 \Rightarrow l \Rightarrow 24$	$-10 \Rightarrow l \Rightarrow 10$	$-6 \Rightarrow l \Rightarrow 9$	$-14 \Rightarrow l \Rightarrow 14$
$R_1 \left[ I > 2\sigma(I) \right]$	0.0594	0.0743	0.0282	0.0587
$wR_2$	0.1106	0.1136	0.0734	0.1444
Goodness-of-fit	1.155	1.066	1.073	1.134
$\Delta \rho_{\rm max}, \Delta \rho_{\rm min} \ ({\rm e} {\rm \AA}^{-3})$	-0.239, 0.213	-0.161, 0.208	-0.162, 0.154	-0.157, 0.309
CCDC number	255,367	255,368	255,369	255,370

130.3, 130.2, 128.0, 127.8, 102.6, 102.4, 89.2, 75.6, 74.7, 72.7, 71.0, 70.1, 69.8, 69.4, 69.1, 69.0, 21.7.

#### 4.2. X-ray crystallography

Crystals of the compounds 11 and dia11 were obtained from dichloromethane-light petroleum, those of racemic 20 were obtained from methanol and crystals of 23 were obtained from chloroform-light petroleum. Good quality crystals were selected using Leica Polarizing microscope. X-ray intensity data were collected on a Bruker SMART APEX CCD diffractometer with graphite monochromatized (Mo  $K_{\alpha} = 0.71073$  Å) radiation at room temperature. All the data were corrected for Lorentzian, polarization and absorption effects using Bruker's SAINT and SADABS programs. SHELX-97<sup>28</sup> was used for structure solution and full matrix least squares refinement on  $F^2$ . Hydrogen atoms were included in the refinement as per the riding model. Crystal data and details of data collection, structure solution and refinements for 11, dia11, 20 and 23 are summarized in Table 1 and their ORTEP<sup>29</sup> plots are shown in Figure 2. Crystallographic data (excluding structure factors) for the structures in this paper have been deposited with the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre as supplementary publication numbers CCDC-255367-CCDC-255370. Copies of these data can be obtained free of charge via www.ccdc.cam.ac.uk/conts/retrieving.html (or from Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre, 12 Union Road, Cambridge CB21EZ, UK; fax: (+44)1223-336-033; or deposit@ccdc.cam.ac.uk.

#### Acknowledgements

The Department of Science and Technology, New Delhi supported this work. MPS and KMS are recipients of Senior Research Fellowships of the Council of Scientific and Industrial Research, New Delhi.

#### Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02. 073.

IR and <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of oxidation products of **10**, **17** and **21** are available on-line as Supplementary data.

#### **References and notes**

- 1. Sureshan, K. M.; Shashidhar, M. S.; Praveen, T.; Das, T. *Chem. Rev.* **2003**, *103*, 4477.
- (a) Suzuki, T.; Suzuki, S. T.; Yamada, I.; Koashi, Y.; Yamada, K.; Chida, N. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 2874. (b) Chida, N.; Ogawa, S. Chem. Commun. 1997, 807.
- 3. (a) Sculimbrene, B. R.; Morgan, A. J.; Miller, S. J. Chem.

*Commun.* **2003**, 1781. (b) Shashidhar, M. S. *ARKIVOC* **2002**, VII, 63 and references cited therein.

- Sureshan, K. M.; Shashidhar, M. S.; Praveen, T.; Gonnade, R. G.; Bhadbhade, M. M. *Carbohydr. Res.* 2002, *337*, 2399.
- Sureshan, K. M.; Das, T.; Shashidhar, M. S.; Gonnade, R. G.; Bhadbhade, M. M. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2003**, 1035.
- Sarmah, M. P.; Shashidhar, M. S. Carbohydr. Res. 2003, 338, 999.
- (a) Billington, D. C. *The Inositol Phosphates. Chemical Synthesis and Biological Significance*; VCH: New York, 1993.
   (b) *Phosphoinositides: Chemistry, Biochemistry and Biomedical Applications*; Bruzik, K. S., Ed.; ACS Symposium Series 718; American Chemical Society: Washington, DC, USA, 1999. (c) Dalko, P. I.; Sinay, P. In Schmalz, H.-G., Wirth, T., Eds.; Organic Synthesis Highlights V, 1–14; Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH: Weinheim, Germany, 2003. (d) Schedler, D. J. A.; Baker, D. C. *Carbohydr. Res.* 2004, *339*, 1585.
- 8. Peterbauer, T.; Brereton, I.; Richter, A. *Carbohydr. Res.* 2003, 338, 2017 and references cited therein.
- 9. Ueno, Y.; Hasegawa, A.; Tsuchiya, T. Carbohydr. Res. 1973, 29, 520.
- (a) Lindberg, B.; Mcpherson, J. Acta Chem. Scand. 1954, 8, 1875. (b) Percival, E.; Young, M. Carbohydr. Res. 1974, 32, 195.
- 11. Obendorf, R. L. Seed Sci. Res. 1997, 7, 63.
- 12. Das, T.; Shashidhar, M. S. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1998**, *308*, 165 and references cited therein.
- Pietrusiewicz, K. M.; Salamończyk, G. M. Synth. Commun. 1995, 25, 1863 and references cited therein.
- Angyal, S. J.; Gorin, P. A. J.; Pitman, M. E. J. Chem. Soc. 1965, 1807.
- 15. Posternak, T.; Falbriard, J.-G. Helv. Chim. Acta 1960, 43, 2142.
- 16. Posternak, T.; Falbriard, J.-G. Helv. Chim. Acta 1961, 44, 2080.
- (a) Gigg, J.; Gigg, R. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1997**, 299, 77. (b) Angyal, S. J.; Klavins, J. E.; Mills, J. A. *Aust. J. Chem.* **1974**, 27, 1075.
- 18. Carless, H. A. J.; Oak, O. Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 1671.
- Sato, K.-I.; Bokura, M.; Taniguchi, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1994, 67, 1633.
- 20. (a) This methyl ether is given the compound number D13 (although its precursor is L12, also see changes in D to L series in Schemes 2–4) so as to adhere to the convention of giving the lowest atom number to the inositol ring carbon carrying a substituent other than the hydroxyl group. For a discussion on the nomenclature of inositols and their derivatives see Refs. 1, 7a and (b) Parthasarathy, R.; Eisenberg, F., Jr. *Biochem. J.* 1986, 235, 313. (c) Nomenclature committee—IUB *Biochem. J.* 1989, 258, 1.
- Yeh, S.-M.; Lee, G. H.; Wang, Y.; Luh, T.-Y. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 8315.
- 22. Angyal, S. J. Carbohydr. Res. 2000, 325, 313.
- For other *myo*-inositol orthoester derived ketones reported in the literature see (a) Craig, B. N.; Janssen, M. U.; Wickersham, B. M.; Rabb, D. M.; Chang, P. S.; O'Leary, D. J. *J. Org. Chem.* **1996**, *61*, 9610. (b) Paquette, L. A.; Ra, C. S.; Gallucci, J. C.; Kang, H.-J.; Ohmori, N.; Arrington, M. P.; David, W.; Brodbelt, J. S. *J. Org. Chem.* **2001**, *66*, 8629. (c) Paquette, L. A.; Tae, J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 4974. (d) Riley, A. M.; Guédat, P.; Schlewer, G.; Spiess, B.; Potter, B. V. L. *J. Org. Chem.* **1998**, *63*, 295. (e) Wu, Y.; Zhou, C.; Roberts,

M. F. Biochemistry **1997**, *36*, 356. (f) Kim, T.-H.; Holmes, A. B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **2001**, 2524.

- 24. Praveen, T.; Shashidhar, M. S. Carbohydr. Res. 2001, 330, 409.
- 25. Sureshan, K. M.; Shashidhar, M. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2000, *41*, 4185.
- 26. Gerlach, H.; Kappes, D.; Boeckman, R. K., Jr.; Maw, G. N. Org. Synth. **1993**, 71, 48.
- 27. IR, <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra were similar to that of racemic **18**.
- Sheldrick, G. M. SHELX97. Program for crystal structure solution and refinement; University of Göttingen: Germany, 1997.
- 29. Burnett, M. N.; Johnson, C. K. *ORTEP III, report ORNL-6895*; Oak Ridge National Laboratory: Tennesse, U.S.A., 1996.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4447-4452

## Bi(III) halides as efficient catalysts for the *O*-acylative cleavage of tetrahydrofurans: an expeditious entry to tetralins

Simon J. Coles,<sup>a</sup> James F. Costello,<sup>b,\*</sup> William N. Draffin,<sup>b</sup> Michael B. Hursthouse<sup>a</sup> and Simon P. Paver<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>EPSRC National Crystallographic Service, Department of Chemistry, University of Southampton, Highfield, SO17 1BJ Southampton, UK <sup>b</sup>Department of Chemistry, University of the West of England, Coldharbour Lane, BS16 1QY Bristol, UK

Received 8 December 2004; revised 9 February 2005; accepted 24 February 2005

Available online 19 March 2005

Abstract—The mild (DCM/20 °C), quantitative, regioselective, O-acylative cleavage of tetrahydrofurans using organic acid halides with catalytic Bi(III) halides is reported. X-ray crystallography is used to rationalise the failure of the reaction in the case of certain crowded acid chlorides, and a useful aspect of chemoselectivity is revealed. The synthetic potential of this reaction is illustrated with a highly efficient O-acylative cleavage/intramolecular alkylation approach to tetralins.

© 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

Recent contributions from these laboratories illustrate the unique synthetic, stereoelectronic and mechanistic characteristics of main group organometallic complexes, especially those derived from Bi(V).<sup>1</sup> Our interest in Bi(III) complexes as catalysts for organic synthesis is stimulated by their versatility, low cost, lack of toxicity, and ease of use in the laboratory.<sup>2</sup> The selective *O*-acylative cleavage and subsequent intramolecular trapping of cations generated from cyclic ethers is a transformation of much potential in organic synthesis. This is particularly so when one considers furanoses as substrates for such transformations.

It has been known for some time that cyclic ethers undergo cleavage in the presence Lewis acids to afford 4-halobutanes.<sup>3</sup> However, the reason why acylative cleavage has failed to attain preparative importance may be attributed to the fact that the Lewis acids are used stoichiometrically. In addition, the vast majority of Lewis acids examined to date fail to afford regioselective cleavage (i.e., 1° vs 2°) and often require extended periods of heating for reaction to occur (ZnCl<sub>2</sub>,<sup>4</sup> FeCl<sub>3</sub>,<sup>5</sup> MgBr<sub>2</sub>,<sup>6</sup> AlCl<sub>3</sub><sup>7</sup>). Other Lewis acids suffer from the additional drawbacks of being air sensitive (BCl<sub>3</sub>,<sup>8</sup> TiCl<sub>4</sub><sup>9</sup>) environmentally toxic (Hg<sup>10</sup>), or expensive (SmI<sub>2</sub>,<sup>11</sup> Cp<sub>2</sub>YCl,<sup>12</sup> Cr, Mo, W, Co,<sup>13</sup> Nb, Ta<sup>14</sup>). Regioselective cleavage may be achieved using catalytic Pd(II);<sup>15</sup> however, prolonged heating with a stoichiometric amount of the Lewis acid SnBu<sub>3</sub>Cl is required for reaction to proceed. Expensive Pt(II) and Rh(I) salts catalyse a highly exothermic cleavage of 2-methytetrahydrofuran to afford the corresponding 2° halide.<sup>16</sup> However, it seems unlikely that the selective functionalisation of a tetrahydrofuran in the presence of a tetrahydropyran can be achieved, as the two are cleaved at similar rates. We describe herein a mild (DCM/20 °C), quantitative, regioselective methodology for the O-acylative cleavage of tetrahydrofurans using organic acid halides and catalytic amounts of Bi(III) halides. We provide details of the scope and chemoselectivity of the reaction, including a structural analysis of a catalystcarboxylic acid complex. Finally, we report a short and versatile entry to tetralins, which illustrates the synthetic utility of Bi(III)-catalysed acylative cleavage.

#### 2. Results and discussion

#### 2.1. The reactions of tetrahydrofuran

Stirring a solution of tetrahydrofuran **1** and benzoyl chloride (BzCl) with BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%) in DCM for 24 h affords 4-chlorobutyl benzoate **2a** in an isolated yield of 85% (Scheme 1). Reaction fails to occur in the absence of catalyst. Products consistent with the operation of a unimolecular mechanism, that is, carbonium ion rearrangement to afford 3-chlorobutylbenzoate, are not detected in the crude reaction mixtures by GC–MS, <sup>1</sup>H or <sup>13</sup>C NMR

Keywords: O-Acylative cleavage; Ether; Tetralins.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +44 117 328 2468; fax: +44 117 344 2904; e-mail: james.costello@uwe.ac.uk

<sup>0040–4020/\$ -</sup> see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02.080


Scheme 1. (i) RCOX, BiX<sub>3</sub> (5%), DCM, rt.

analyses. A 1:1 mixture of diethyl ether, THF 1, BzCl and BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%) affords 2a alone, consistent with the greater Lewis basicity of the cyclic ether.

Figure 1 depicts the evolution of 2a, as determined by GC. The reaction is approximately 40% complete after 7 h when 5% BiCl<sub>3</sub> is used. Doubling the catalyst loading to 10% BiCl<sub>3</sub> affords 2a in 80% yield after 1 h. The corresponding bromide **2b** may be prepared using BzBr and BiBr<sub>3</sub> (5%). Figure 1 demonstrates the accelerating effect which this combination of catalyst and electrophile have upon the rate at which 1 undergoes cleavage. The formation of 2b is essentially complete after 6 h. This should be compared to the formation of 2a which progresses to a mere 30% during the same time. The cleavage of 1 with AcCl and  $BiCl_3$  (5%) to afford 3 is complete within 4 h, compared to the formation of 2a which is generated to the extent of ca. 15% during the same period. This correlates with the pK<sub>a</sub>s of the corresponding carboxylic acids [R=Ph (4.19); Me(4.75)].<sup>17</sup> This simple study concludes that cleavage of **1** is accelerated by; (a) increasing the catalyst loading, and/or (b) changing the halogen of RCOX from Cl to Br.



Figure 1. The evolution of 2-3/5-6 as determined by GC analysis.

GC–MS and <sup>1</sup>H NMR analyses of crude reaction mixtures indicate that the formation of **2–3** is accompanied by 3–5% of the extended ether  $\text{RCO}_2(\text{CH}_2)_4\text{O}(\text{CH}_2)_4\text{X}$ ,<sup>14</sup> which is presumably formed by the reaction of **1** with an *O*-acylated intermediate. As expected, this side-reaction becomes significant when **1** is used as solvent. For example, mixing AcCl and BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%) in an excess of **1** affords a 2:1 mixture of **3** and AcO(CH<sub>2</sub>)<sub>4</sub>O(CH<sub>2</sub>)<sub>4</sub>Cl, respectively.

The greater strain within five-membered 1 with respect to six-membered tetrahydropyran is manifest in the extent to which the latter undergoes acylative cleavage. Thus, treatment of tetrahydropyran with BzCl and BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%) affords the corresponding 5-chlorobutyl benzoate in 15%

yield after 48 h. In the case of pyrrolidine, exclusive N-acylation is observed with BzCl and BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%), whereas 4-chlorobutyl thioacetate is observed (5% after 48 h) when tetrahydrothiophene is treated with AcCl and BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%).

In conclusion, the BiCl<sub>3</sub> catalysed acylative cleavage of **1** affords the corresponding 4-halobutyl acyloxyesters in near quantitative yields without rearrangement in less than 1 h (i.e., AcCl; 10% BiCl<sub>3</sub>). Competitive studies indicate that the 5-membered ring system is cleaved in preference to both six-membered and acyclic ethers.

#### 2.2. The reactions of 2-methyltetrahydrofuran

Ether 4 reacts with BzCl and BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%) to afford the 4-chloropentyl ester **5a** in near quantitative yield after 7 h (Scheme 2; Fig. 1). The corresponding bromide **5b** is readily prepared using BzBr and BiBr<sub>3</sub> (5%). An attractive characteristic of the Bi (III) catalysed process is the complete regiocontrol accompanying this *O*-acylative cleavage, to afford a secondary alkyl halide. Figure 1 illustrates the relative rates at which  $1 (\rightarrow 2a)$  and  $4 (\rightarrow 5a)$  undergo cleavage with BzCl and BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%). The alkyl substituent serves to accelerate the rate of reaction approximately three-fold. Figure 1 illustrates the rate acceleration accompanying cleavage of 4 with AcCl and BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%) to afford **6**. Here, reaction is complete within 1 h, compared to cleavage with BzCl which requires 7 h for completion.



Scheme 2. (i) RCOX, BiX<sub>3</sub> (5%), DCM, rt.

Exposing 1 to equimolar quantities of BiBr<sub>3</sub> and BzCl generates a 3:1 mixture of  $\gamma$ -haloesters 2b and 2a, respectively. Conversely, treatment of 1 with equimolar quantities of BiCl<sub>3</sub> and BzBr affords a 3:2 ratio of 2a and 2b, respectively.<sup>18</sup> The near statistical distribution of halogen incorporated into the product from both the electrophile/Lewis acid implies that in the stoichiometric case at least, the Lewis acid behaves as a halide reservoir, perhaps



**Figure 2.** (a) Halide mixing prior to ether cleavage; (b) co-ordination of Bi(III) to an acid chloride possessing a  $3^{\circ} \alpha$ -centre incorporating an ethereal function (i.e., camphanic acid chloride g).

operating via some coordinated Bi(III)-ether species (Fig. 2a).

#### 2.3. Acid halide structure and the rate of ring cleavage

The cleavage of **4** with a variety of acid chlorides RCOCl (a-g Table 1) to afford the corresponding esters 7a-g was attempted (Scheme 2). The reaction proceeds smoothly and in high yield when  $R = a \rightarrow e^{.19}$  Here, both steric crowding at the  $\alpha$ -centre  $(1^{\circ} \rightarrow 3^{\circ})$  and the opportunity for chelation via ethereal and carboxyester moieties (i.e., **b**-d) exists. However in the case of **f**, which possesses a  $3^{\circ} \alpha$ -centre bearing an ether function, reaction fails to occur with BiCl<sub>3</sub> or BiBr<sub>3</sub>, even after several days. The addition of 1 equiv of benzylamine to afford the corresponding amide indicates that Bi(III) catalysed cleavage of 4 is inhibited by the acid chloride. Cyclic ethers 1, 4 and 2,5-dimethyltetrahydrofuran also fail to undergo  $BiX_3$  (X=Cl; Br) catalysed cleavage with (-)-camphanic acid chloride  $\mathbf{g}^{\dagger}$  (a 3°  $\alpha$ -centre bearing an ethereal function). Again, treatment of the crude mixtures with benzylamine (to afford the corresponding amide) demonstrates that the acid chloride remains intact. In conclusion, acid chlorides possessing a 3° α-centre incorporating an ethereal function fail to undergo the expected Bi(III) catalysed *O*-acylative cleavage reaction.





Single crystals of  $[BiCl_3]:[(-)-camphanic acid]$  suitable for X-ray crystallographic analysis<sup>20</sup> were grown from a chloroform solution. As expected,<sup>21</sup> the BiCl<sub>3</sub> unit adopts a pyramidal geometry in the solid-state (Cl–Bi–Cl=ca. 90°) although the overall coordination geometry is best described

as a distorted pentagonal pyramid, resulting from secondary bonding from a molecule of water and two oxygen atoms of the camphanic acid residue (Fig. 3). Such interactions are wholly consistent with current bonding models<sup>22</sup> in which the Lewis base (in this case, O atoms) donates  $\sigma_{nb}$  into the Bi–Cl  $\sigma^*$  orbital, forming an almost linear  $\sigma_{nb}$  (O)  $\rightarrow$  Bi–Cl ( $\sigma_{nb} \rightarrow \sigma^*$ ) arrangement.<sup>23</sup> The carbonyl oxygen atom of the carboxylic acid residue forms a strong secondary bonding interaction with the metal centre [Bi···O(4)=2.68 Å)]. The neighbouring ethereal oxygen atom forms a weaker secondary bond Bi [Bi···O(2)=3.13 Å]. Importantly, mutual coordination of O(2) and O(4) to the Bi metal centre renders the carboxylic acid carbonyl and ethereal oxygen atoms essentially coplanar [C(1)–O(2)–C=O(4)= 9°].

A search of the CSD indicates that in the solid state at least, the preferred bonding mode of Lewis acids (SbCl<sub>5</sub>,<sup>24</sup> AlCl<sub>3</sub><sup>25</sup>) towards acid chlorides is via the carbonyl oxygen atom. Therefore, X-ray crystallography suggests that in solution, mutual coordination of the chlorocarbonyl and ethereal moieties of camphanic acid chloride to BiCl<sub>3</sub> (Fig. 2b) enforces a sterically crowded environment about the plane of the chlorocarbonyl moiety, which deters attack by the cyclic ether.



Figure 3. The molecular structure of  $\operatorname{BiCl}_3$  coordinated to (-)-camphanic acid.

## 2.4. The assisted cleavage of geminal/vicinal exocylic ethers

A clear orange solution is generated upon the addition of  $BiCl_3$  (5%) to a mixture of 2-ethoxytetrahydrofuran and BzCl in DCM. The colour darkens over the course of 0.5 h to afford a black solution, from which ethyl benzoate, the product of exocyclic ether cleavage, could be isolated in 70% yield. We were unable to isolate any other derivatives of 2-ethoxytetrahydrofuran from the residue of the reaction. This observation is somewhat unexpected, as a competitive experiment described earlier between diethyl ether and tetrahydrofuran 1 established a preference for cyclic ether cleavage. It would appear then, that the greater Lewis acidity of the cyclic ether serves to direct *O*-acylation to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> (1*S*)-3-Oxo-4,7,7-trimethyl-2-oxabicyclo[2.2.1]heptane-1-carboxylic acid chloride.

geminal acyclic ether (Fig. 4a). We examined the reactivity of methyltetrahydrofurfuryl ether, which possesses vicinal cyclic and acyclic ethereal oxygen atoms. When exposed to AcCl or BzCl with BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%) for 2 h, a black solution results from which the corresponding acetate or benzoate esters could be isolated in >50% yield. It would appear then that the cyclic ether oxygen atom also assists cleavage of the vicinal and exocylic ether moiety (Fig. 4b).



Figure 4. The assisted cleavage of (a) geminal, and (b) vicinal exocylic ethers.

#### 2.5. Intramolecular friedel-crafts alkylation

To illustrate the synthetic utility of the Bi(III) catalysed cleavage of cyclic ethers, we prepared 2-(3-phenylprop-1-yl)-tetrahydrofuran  $8^{26}$  (Scheme 3). *O*-Acylative cleavage of **8** using AcCl and BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%) results in a smooth acylation/cyclisation cascade reaction, presumably via **9**, to afford the acetylated tetralin **10** in 87% isolated yield after 3 h. This constitutes an improvement upon the previously reported approach from **8**, which requires quantitative amounts of TiCl<sub>4</sub> to afford the unprotected alcohol in 65% yield.<sup>26</sup>

otherwise stated, all other materials were purchased from Aldrich or Avocado and used without further purification. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra were recorded on a JEOL Eclipse + 300 (300 MHz) spectrometer, using CDCl<sub>3</sub> as solvent and referenced to residual CHCl<sub>3</sub>, with chemical shifts being reported as  $\delta$  (ppm) from tetramethylsilane, and J values measured in Hz. Gas chromatography was performed on a Perkin-Elmer GC8500 instrument using an HP5 fused silica capillary column, helium carrier gas and flame ionization detector. The initial oven temperature was 100 °C, which was held for 2 min. at which point a temperature ramp of 20 °C a minute was initiated until a final temperature of 250 °C was achieved. All injections were normalized against an internal standard (10%) of n-octadecane. HR-ESI-MS were performed by the University of Bristol mass spectrometry service. <sup>13</sup>C NMR resonance anisochronicity of the order 3-8 Hz are indicated with an asterix.

Compounds 2a,<sup>27</sup> 3,<sup>15</sup> 5a,<sup>14</sup> 6,<sup>16</sup> 7a,<sup>28</sup> and  $10^{26}$  afforded analytical data identical to those reported previously. All new products were determined to be >95% pure by GC and <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectroscopy.

## **3.2.** A typical procedure for the Bi(III) catalysed cleavage reaction

**3.2.1. 4-Chlorobutyl benzoate** (**2a**).<sup>27</sup> To a mixture of **1** (500 mg, 7 mmol) and benzoyl chloride (1.00 g, 7 mmol) in DCM (25 mL) was added BiCl<sub>3</sub> (100 mg, 0.32 mmol). The reaction mixture was stirred at rt for 24 h, after which time water (10 mL) was added to afford a suspension which was extracted with chloroform ( $3 \times 15$  mL). The combined



Scheme 3. AcCl, BiCl3 (5%), DCM, rt.

To summarise, rapid access to 4-halobutyl and pentyl esters is described via the mild, high yielding, environmentally benign, regioselective Bi(III) catalysed *O*-acylative cleavage of tetrahydrofurans. The ethereal oxygen atom of tetrahydrofuran assists in the cleavage of geminal/vicinal ethereal substituents. Finally, the potential of Bi(III) catalysis for *O*-acylative cleavage/intramolecular trapping strategies is illustrated with an expeditious synthesis of a tetralin. We shall expand upon the synthetic applications and mechanistic aspects of this process shortly.

#### 3. Experimental

#### 3.1. General

Reactions were performed under an atmosphere of dry nitrogen. Dichloromethane (DCM) was distilled under an atmosphere of nitrogen from calcium hydride. Unless extracts were dried (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) and concentrated in vacuo to afford an oil characterised as **2a** (94%). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.05 (2H, d, *J*=7.0 Hz), 7.56 (1H, t, *J*=7.0 Hz), 7.45 (2H, m), 4.35 (2H, m), 3.60 (2H, m), 1.95–1.85 (4H, m); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.7, 133.1, 130.3, 129.6, 128.5, 64.2, 44.6, 29.3, 26.3. MS (EI) *m*/*z*=212 (M<sup>+</sup>).

**3.2.2. 4-Bromobutyl benzoate** (**2b**). Reaction of **1** and benzoyl bromide in the presence of BiBr<sub>3</sub> (5%) afforded the bromoester as a clear oil (92%). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.05 (2H, d, *J*=7.0 Hz), 7.56 (1H, t, *J*=7.0 Hz), 7.45 (2H, t, *J*=7.0 Hz), 4.35 (2H, m), 3.45 (2H, m), 2.10–1.84 (4H, m); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.6, 133.1, 130.3, 129.6, 128.5, 64.2, 33.3, 29.5, 27.5;  $\nu_{max}$ (liquid film) 2965, 1719, 1451, 1275, 712 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>13</sub>O<sub>2</sub>BrNa (M+Na<sup>+</sup>) 278.9992. Found 278.9998.

**3.2.3. 4-Bromopentyl benzoate** (5b). Reaction of **4** and benzoyl bromide in the presence of  $BiBr_3$  (5%) afforded the

bromoester as a clear oil (95%). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.05 (2H, d, J=7.0 Hz), 7.56 (1H, t, J=7.0 Hz), 7.45 (2H, m), 4.35 (2H, m), 4.20 (1H, m), 2.05–1.85 (4H, m), 1.71 (3H, d J=6.0 Hz); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.7, 133.1, 130.3, 129.6, 128.5, 64.4, 51.0, 37.7, 27.5, 26.6;  $\nu_{max}$ (liquid film) 2960, 1719, 1277, 1115, 712 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS calcd for C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>15</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-BrNa (M+Na<sup>+</sup>) 293.0147. Found 293.0155.

**3.2.4. 4-Chloropentyl phenoxyacetate (7b).** Reaction of **4** and phenoxyacetyl chloride in the presence of BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%) afforded the chloroester as a clear oil (92%). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.31 (2H, m), 7.06 (1H, t, *J*=7.0 Hz, *p*-Ph), 6.90 (2H, d *J*=7.0 Hz), 4.64 (2H, s), 4.28 (2H, m), 4.05 (1H, m), 1.98–1.65 (4H, m), 1.47 (3H, d *J*=6.0 Hz). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  169.4, 157.8, 129.7, 121.9, 114.7, 65.4, 64.9, 58.2, 36.6, 25.9, 25.5;  $\nu_{max}$ (liquid film) 2969, 2928, 1807, 1600, 1495, 1216, 754 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>17</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-ClNa (M+Na<sup>+</sup>) 279.0758. Found 279.0763.

**3.2.5. 4-Chloropentyl** (*S*)-(-)-2-acetoxypropionate (7c). Reaction of **4** and (*S*)-(-)-2-acetoxypropionyl chloride in the presence of BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%) afforded the chloroester as a clear oil (96%). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  5.10 (1H, m), 4.18 (2H, m), 4.05 (1H, m), 2.08 (3H, s), 1.95–1.65 (4H, m), 1.48, 1.45 (3H, 2×d *J*=6.0 Hz), 1.49 (3H, d *J*=5.0 Hz); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ . 175.9, 171.1, 170.7\*, 68.8, 68.3, 64.8\*, 58.0, 36.5\*, 25.8, 25.5, 20.7\*, 17.0, 16.8;  $\nu_{max}$ (liquid film) 3476 (br), 2991, 1743, 1238, 1101 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS calcd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>17</sub>O<sub>4</sub>ClNa (M+Na<sup>+</sup>) 259.0708. Found 259.0712.

**3.2.6. 4-Chloropentyl** 2'-furoate (7d). Reaction of **4** and 2-furoyl chloride in the presence of BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%) afforded the chloroester as a clear oil (90%). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.59 (1H, m), 7.18 (1H, m), 6.52 (1H, m), 4.35 (2H, m), 4.15 (1H, m), 2.05–1.75 (4H, m), 1.52 (3H, d *J*=6.0 Hz); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  158.8, 146.5, 118.1, 111.9, 64.4, 58.2, 36.7, 30.4, 26.1, 25.5;  $\nu_{max}$ (liquid film) 2966, 1727, 1475, 1298, 1181, 1120, 764 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS calcd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>13</sub>O<sub>3</sub>ClNa (M+Na<sup>+</sup>) 239.0445. Found 239.0451.

**3.2.7. 4-Chloropentyl norborn-2**'-ene-5'-carboxylate (7e). Reaction of **4** with a 1:1 mixture of *endo/exo* norborn-2-ene-5-carboxylic acid chloride in the presence of BiCl<sub>3</sub> (5%) afforded a 1:1 mixture of *endo/exo* chloroesters (GC retention times=30.72/30.98 min). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  6.10–5.95 (2H, m), 4.10–3.95 (4H, m), 3.12 (1H, br s), 2.95–2.85 (1H, m), 2.15 (2H, m), 1.95–1.56 (5H, m), 1.44 (3H, d *J*=6.0 Hz), 1.42–1.20 (2H, m); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  176.1, 174.6, 138.0, 137.8, 135.7, 132.3, 63.9, 63.7, 58.1, 49.6, 46.6, 46.4, 45.7, 43.3, 43.1, 42.5, 41.6, 36.8, 36.7, 30.3, 29.2, 26.0, 25.9, 25.4;  $\nu_{max}$ (liquid film) 2973, 2874, 1731, 1446, 1174 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>19</sub>O<sub>2</sub>ClNa (M+Na<sup>+</sup>) 265.0966. Found 265.0976.

**3.2.8.** Tetralin (10).<sup>26</sup> To a mixture of **8** (250 mg, 1.32 mmol) and acetyl chloride (103 mg, 1.32 mmol) in DCM (25 mL) was added BiCl<sub>3</sub> (20 mg, 5%). The solution was stirred at room temperature for 6 h, concentrated in vacuo and subjected to flash chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>/CHCl<sub>3</sub>) to afford a clear oil characterised as **10** (213 mg, 87%). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.35–7.05 (4H, m), 3.68 (2H, m), 3.02 (1H, m), 2.83 (2H, m), 2.04 (3H, s), 1.72–1.45 (8H, m); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  171.2, 136.2, 136.0, 129.2, 128.8, 125.7, 125.6,

63.3, 37.4, 32.9, 27.9, 27.8, 27.0, 26.9, 19.9. MS (EI) m/z=232 (M<sup>+</sup>).

#### 3.3. Data retrieval

Crystal structures were located within version 5.25 (November 2003 release) of the Cambridge Structural Database (CSD) which contained 298,097 entries.<sup>29</sup>

#### Acknowledgements

The author thanks the Leverhulme Trust, the EPSRC and UWE for financial support. J. F. C. thanks Prof. Guy Lloyd-Jones for helpful comments in the preparation of this manuscript.

#### **References and notes**

- Barucki, H.; Coles, S. J.; Costello, J. F.; Hursthouse, M. B. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2003, *6*, 2877. Coles, S. J.; Costello, J. F.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Smith, S. *J. Organomet. Chem.* 2002, *662*, 98. Barucki, H.; Coles, S. J.; Costello, J. F.; Hursthouse, M. B. *J. Organomet. Chem.* 2001, *622*, 265. Barucki, H.; Coles, S. J.; Costello, J. F.; Gelbrich, T.; Hursthouse, M. B. *J. Chem. Soc.*, *Dalton Trans.* 2000, 2319.
- Le Roux, C.; Dubac, J. Synlett 2002, 2, 181. Leonard, N. M.; Wieland, L. C.; Mohan, R. S. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 8373. Suzuki, H. In Organobismuth Chemistry; Suzuki, H., Matano, Y., Eds.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 2001.
- Johnson, F. In Olah, G. A., Ed.; Friedel–Crafts and Related Reactions; Interscience: New York, 1965; Vol. 4, pp 1–109.
- 4. Cloke, J. B.; Pilgrim, F. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1939, 61, 2667.
- 5. Ganem, B.; Small, V. R., Jr J. Org. Chem. 1974, 39, 3728.
- Goldsmith, D. J.; Kennedy, E.; Campbell, R. G. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 3571.
- 7. Green, L.; Hemeon, I.; Singer, R. D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 1343.
- Malladi, R. R.; Kabalka, G. W. Synth. Commun. 2002, 32, 1997.
- 9. Delaney, P. A.; Johnstone, R. A. W.; Entwistle, I. D. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1986, 1855.
- 10. Luzzio, F. A.; Bobb, R. A. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 1851.
- 11. Kwon, D. W.; Kim, Y. H.; Lee, K. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 9488.
- 12. Qian, C.; Qiu, A.; Huang, Y.; Chen, W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1991, 412, 53.
- Alper, H.; Huang, C.-C. J. Org. Chem. **1973**, 38, 64. Guo, Q.; Miyaji, T.; Gao, G.; Hara, R.; Takahashi, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **2001**, 1018. Iqbal, J.; Srivastava, R. R. Tetrahedron **1991**, 47, 3155.
- Guo, Q.; Miyaji, T.; Hara, R.; Shen, B.; Takahashi, T. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 7377.
- 15. Pri-Bar, I.; Stille, J. K. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47, 1215.
- Fitch, J. W.; Payne, W. G.; Westmoreland, D. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 751.
- Ionisation Constants of Organic Acids in Aqueous Solution; Serjent, E. P., Dempsey, B., Eds.; I.U.P.A.C Chemical Data Series; Pergamon: Oxford, 1979; Vol. 23.
- 18. BiCl<sub>3</sub> has been shown to be an effective reagent for

transhalogenation, but the process is slow in the case of primary bromoalkanes. Boyer, B.; Keramane, E.-M.; Arpin, S.; Montéro, J.-L.; Roque, J.-P. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 1971.

- (±)-Norborn-2-ene-5-carboxylic acid chloride (R=e); prepared by the reaction of freshly cracked 1,3 cyclopentadiene with acryloyl chloride. Sinner, F.; Buchmeiser, M. R.; Tessadri, R.; Mupa, M.; Wurst, K.; Bonn, G. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 2790.
- 20. Orthorhombic, P2(1)2(1)2(1), 120 K, a=7.9470(5), b=13.8667(13), c=17.911(2) Å, reflections measured/obs= 38187/4286 ( $R_{int}=0.028$ ), wR2=0.0346 (all data), R=0.015 (obs),  $\rho_{max}/\rho_{min}=0.466/-0.965$  e Å<sup>-3</sup>. Crystallographic data for the structural analysis has been deposited with the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre with deposition number CCDC256908.
- 21. For example, see Eveland, J. R.; Whitmire, K.H *Inorg. Chim. Acta* **1996**, *249*, 41 and references cited therein.

- 22. Pyykkö, P. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 597.
- 23. Starbuck, J.; Norman, N. C.; Orpen, A. G. *New J. Chem.* **1999**, 23, 969.
- Chevrier, B.; Le Carpentier, J.-M.; Weiss, R. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. B, Crystallogr. Cryst. Chem. 1972, 28, 2659. 2667. Chevrier, B.; Le Carpentier, J.-M.; Weiss, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 5718.
- 25. Rasmussen, S. E.; Brock, N. C. Acta Chem. Scand. 1966, 20, 1351.
- Harrowven, D. C.; Dennison, S. T.; Howes, P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1994**, *35*, 4243.
- 27. Camps, F.; Gasol, V.; Guerro, A. Synthesis 1987, 5, 511.
- 28. Mimero, P.; Saluzzo, C.; Amouroux, R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1994**, *35*, 1553.
- 29. Fletcher, D. A.; McMeeking, R. F.; Parkin, D. J. Chem. Inf. Comput. Sci. 1996, 36, 746.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4453-4460

# Synthesis and rearrangement of cycloalkyl[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-8/9-ones: an access to cycloalkyl[1,2-*d*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-5-ones

Ouro-Sama Adetchessi, Jean-Michel Léger, Jean Guillon, Isabelle Forfar-Bares, Jean-Jacques Bosc and Christian Jarry\*

EA 2962—Pharmacochimie, UFR de Pharmacie, Université Victor Segalen Bordeaux 2, 146, rue Léo Saignat, 33076 Bordeaux Cedex, France

Received 8 December 2004; revised 9 February 2005; accepted 24 February 2005

Available online 18 March 2005

Abstract—2-Substituted-4a-hydroxy-9*H*-cycloalkyl[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-9-ones **2a**-**c** were synthesized by an one-step cyclocondensation from the 5-substituted-2-amino-2-oxazolines **1a**-**c** with ethyl 2-oxocyclohexanecarboxylate in ethanol at room temperature, and easily dehydrated to provide 2-substituted-9*H*-cycloalkyl[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-9-ones **3**. In refluxing xylene, the reaction conducted with various ethyl 2-oxocycloalkanecarboxylates led to the two isomeric 2-substituted-8/9*H*-cycloalkyl[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-8/9-ones **3** and 2-substituted-5*H*-cycloalkyl[1,2-*d*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-5-ones **4**. The structure of some compounds was unambiguously established using X-ray crystallography. According to results from the DSC analysis of compound **2a**, formation of the thermodynamically stable pyrimidinones **4** could be related to an intramolecular rearrangement of kinetically controlled pyrimidinones **3**. © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

Heteroamidines are synthons useful for the preparation of various bi- or tricyclic fused pyrimidinones with a bridgehead nitrogen atom,<sup>1–4</sup> described as new bronchodilators,<sup>5</sup> anti-inflammatory derivatives,<sup>6</sup> and analgesics.<sup>7</sup>

We have previously reported the synthesis of bicyclopyrimidinones based on the reactivity of the amidine moiety of 2-amino-2-oxazolines with bis-electrophiles.<sup>8–10</sup> As with other cyclic amidines, the 2-amino-2-oxazolines **1** have two competing sites for potential ring-annulation, introducing regioselectivity considerations. An empirical observation has emerged from our studies as well as those of others which indicates that in such reactions the endocyclic nitrogen atom is the most nucleophilic and attacks the most electrophilic carbon of the biselectrophile. A ring closure between the exocyclic nitrogen atom and the second electrophilic center generally concludes the synthesis. Nevertheless, a second regioisomer is frequently isolated during ring-annulation, suggesting the possibility of another reaction pathway.<sup>11–13</sup> As a continuation of our research on potential pharmaceutical tools,<sup>14,15</sup> we now report the one-step ring-annulation of 5-substituted-2-amino-2-oxazolines 1a-c with ethyl 2-oxocycloalkanecarboxylates. In ethanol at room temperature, 2-substituted-4a-hydroxy-9H-cycloalkyl[1,2-e]oxazolo[3,2-a] pyrimidin-9-ones 2 were synthesized from ethyl 2-oxocyclohexanecarboxylate. These compounds were not particularly stable and can be easily dehydrated to provide 2-substituted-9H-cycloalkyl[1,2-e]oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidin-9-ones 3. In refluxing xylene, the same reaction led to the two linearly and angularly annelated isomeric 2-substituted-8/9H-cycloalkyl[1,2-e]oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidin-8/9-ones 3 and 2-substituted-5*H*-cycloalkyl[1,2-d]oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidin-5-ones 4. A differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) analysis of 2a was performed in order to understand the simultaneous formation of 3 and 4 in refluxing xylene.

Based on the reactivity of 2-amino-2-oxazolines, this synthetic process deserves further interesting development to access to potential biological substituted bi- or tricyclic pyrimidines.

#### 2. Results and discussion

5-Substituted-2-amino-2-oxazolines 1a-c, prepared from

*Keywords*: Oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidinone; Intramolecular rearrangement; DSC analysis; X-ray crystallography.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +33 5 57 57 11 76; fax: +33 5 57 57 13 52; e-mail: christian.jarry@chimphys.u-bordeaux2.fr

<sup>0040–4020/\$ -</sup> see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02.079



Scheme 1. Synthesis of oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidinones 2a-c, 3a-f and 4a-f.

the corresponding epoxides,<sup>16</sup> were used as starting materials in the synthesis of tricyclic fused pyrimidinones (Scheme 1).

The reaction of **1a–c** with equimolar quantities of ethyl 2-oxocyclohexane-carboxylate at 25 °C in ethanol during 72 h only afforded the unexpected 4a-hydroxycyclohexyl[1,2-e]oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidinones 2a-c. The IR spectra of 2a-c indicated a strong OH band at 3300- $3100 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ . Due to their total unsolubility in common organic solvents, a solid state <sup>13</sup>C CP MAS NMR experiment (CP: cross polarization, MAS: magic angle spinning) was achieved for compound 2a. The data confirmed the structure, that is, the signals at 88.2 ppm and at 46.6 ppm were assigned to the C-4a and C-8a carbons of the heterocycle, respectively. The structure of 2c was unambiguously established by X-ray crystallography (Table 1). As shown by the spatial group  $(P2_1/c)$ , compound **2c** was an enantiomeric mixture of 2(S)-4a(S)-8a(R)- and 2(R)-4a(R)-8a(S)-hydroxycyclohexyl[1,2-e]oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidinones, obtained through an anti-addition of the endocyclic nitrogen atom of 1 on the ketone function,

Table 1. Products and yields (%)

Com- pounds 2–4	a	b	с	d	e	f
2 3 4	50 61 <sup>a</sup> , 35 <sup>b</sup> 42 <sup>b</sup>	65 52 <sup>a</sup> , 35 <sup>b</sup> 38 <sup>b</sup>	81 47 <sup>a</sup> , 30 <sup>b</sup> 39 <sup>b</sup>	22 <sup>b</sup> 35 <sup>b</sup>	$\frac{1}{25^{b}}$ $40^{b}$	21 <sup>b</sup> 28 <sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> From **2** by dehydration.

<sup>b</sup> General procedure from **1**.



Figure 1. A view of 2c with our numbering scheme. Displacement ellipsoids are drawn at the 30% probability level.

followed by the formation of the amide group between the exocyclic nitrogen atom of the amidine and the ester moiety (Fig. 1).

On the other hand, the oxazolo cycle was found to be quite planar, while in the pyrimidine ring the deviation of C(2) atom was noticed at 0.59(1) Å from the least-square plane defined by the other atoms. Moreover, the cyclohexene ring showed a chair conformation.

Compounds **2a–c** were found to be relatively stable with respect to an intramolecular dehydration leading to the expected angularly fused cyclohexyl[1,2-e]oxazolo[3,2-a]-pyrimidinones **3a–c** (Scheme 1, Table 1).

5-Substituted-2-amino-2-oxazolines 1a-c were then reacted with ethyl 2-oxocyclopentane- or-hexanecarboxylates in refluxing xylene to give a mixture of the isomeric angularly and linearly annelated nitrogen bridgehead compounds 3a-fand 4a-f (21–35 and 28–42% yields, respectively) (Scheme 1, Table 1). The angularly fused cyclohexyl[1,2-e]oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidinones 3a-f were isolated by crystallization in the reaction solution, while the linearly products 4a-f were isolated from the mother liquor by column chromatography. The IR spectra of 3a-f indicated the presence of a large conjugated C=O band at 1665- $1670 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ , while the similar C=O in compounds 4a-f was observed at 1675–1680 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The C=N bands were noticed at 1610 - 1630 and 1635 - 1640 cm<sup>-1</sup> in compounds 3a-f and 4a-f, respectively. The NOESY experiments showed a NOE effect between proton H-3 and H-5 in compounds 3, while no correlation was observed between the two corresponding protons in 4.<sup>13</sup> For the unequivocal assignment of the two different possible structures X-ray single crystal analyses were performed. Unfortunately, suitable crystals were obtained only for compounds 3a (Fig. 2) and 4e (Fig. 3).



Figure 2. A view of 3a with our numbering scheme. Displacement ellipsoids are drawn at the 30% probability level.



Figure 3. A view of 4e with our numbering scheme. Displacement ellipsoids are drawn at the 30% probability level.

The 3D structures of **3a** and **4e** confirmed the isomerization, as anticipated on the basis of NOESY data. In compound **4e**, the tricyclic moiety is almost planar, the maximum deviation from planarity is found lying 0.005 Å. The C(14)–N(19) and C(17)–C(18) bonds in **4e** were 1.290(8) and 1.350(9) Å, respectively, as typically observed for double bonds. In compound **3a**, the distances in the pyrimidine ring were 1.367(7) Å for C(1)–N(10), and 1.343(8) Å for C(1)–C(6). In **3a** the bicyclic oxazolopyrimidine system was found quite planar, for example, C(4) deviates by 0.37(3) Å from the plane in the cyclohexenyl cycle. Moreover, in the pyrimidine ring, the measured bond lengths are shortened because of a  $\pi$ -electronic delocalisation, indicating a pseudo-aromatic character.

To understand the simultaneous formation of the two isomeric pyrimidinones 3 and 4 during the ring-annulation reaction achieved in refluxing xylene, a differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) analysis of 2a was performed (Fig. 4).



Figure 4. DSC analysis of compound 2a.



Figure 5. Determination of melting point by DSC analysis for compounds 2a, 3a and 4a.

DSC analysis of a hermetically sealed sample of 2a displays (i) a sharp endothermic peak at 191.3 °C assigned to its fusion, (ii) a slight and broad exothermic peak at 198.4 °C attributed to a phase transition leading to the kinetically dehydrated pyrimidinone **3a**, and (iii) a sharp endothermic peak at 265.5 °C corresponding to 3a fusion. The exothermic onset observed at 270 °C was related to the sublimation of **3a** leading to the thermodynamically stable pyrimidinone 4a the structure of which was identical to the previously synthesized compound. The 2a, 3a and 4a melting points were determined individually by DSC analysis to confirm the results (Fig. 5). A same isomerization process into linearly annelated pyrimidinones 4 was noticed by sublimating **3** at 150 °C under 1 mmHg during 6 h (Scheme 1). According to this preliminary DSC study the formation of the thermodynamically stable pyrimidinones 4 seems to be related to an intramolecular rearrangement of the kinetically controlled pyrimidinones 3 first formed during the ringannulation reaction performed in xylene at reflux, through an hypothetical isomerization process as depicted in Scheme 2.



Scheme 2. Possible mechanism of isomerization process.

A similar isomerization reaction has been observed in the pyrimido[1,2-*a*]isoindole series.<sup>17,18</sup> Finally, the total hydrolysis of **3a** and **4a** achieved by heating them in basic medium for 1 h provided **5** and **6** (Scheme 3). HMBC experiments confirmed the structural assignment of the two isomers since there are enough long range correlations. For isomer **5**, a sole long range  ${}^{1}H{-}^{13}C$  correlation was observed between carbon 2 and proton NCH<sub>2</sub>. For isomer **6**, the similar proton NCH<sub>2</sub> was correlated with carbons 2 and 4.

#### 3. Conclusion

In conclusion, we reported the one-step ring-annulation of

various 2-amino-2-oxazolines 1a-c with ethyl 2-oxocyclohexanecarboxylate in ethanol at room temperature leading to the 2-substituted-4a-hydroxy-9H-cycloalkyl[1,2-e]oxazolo[3,2-a] pyrimidin-9-ones 2 which can be easily dehydrated to provide the 2-substituted-9H-cycloalkyl[1,2-e]oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidin-9-ones **3**. The isomeric linearly and angularly annelated oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidinones **3** and 4 were obtained when the reaction was performed in xylene reflux. The product structures were established by X-ray crystallography. The thermic behaviour of compound 2a was studied by DSC. The results permit to explain the formation of the thermodynamically stable pyrimidinones 4 through an intramolecular rearrangement of the kinetically controlled pyrimidinones 3, occuring during the xylene heating. Due to the potential biological properties of substituted bi- or tricyclic pyrimidines, this synthetic approach deserves development involving other functionalised fused bis-electrophile  $\beta$ -keto-esters.

#### 4. Experimental

#### 4.1. General

Commercially reagents were used as received without additional purification. Melting points were determined with an SM-LUX-POL Leitz hot-stage microscope and are uncorrected. IR spectra were recorded on an BRUKER IFS-25 spectrophotometer. Absorption spectra was measured on a PERKIN ELMER Lambda 2 UV-Vis scanning spectrophotometer. NMR spectra were recorded with tetramethylsilane as an internal standard using a BRUKER AC 200 spectrometer (<sup>1</sup>H, <sup>13</sup>C) or using a BRUKER AVANCE 500 spectrometer (<sup>1</sup>H, <sup>13</sup>C, HMQC, HMBC, TOCSY, ROESY). Splitting patterns have been designated as follows: s =singlet; d=doublet; t=triplet; q=quartet; qt=quintuplet; m=mutiplet. The solid state  ${}^{13}C$  NMR spectrum was recorded using the CP MAS technique (CP: cross polarization, MAS: magic angle spinning) on a BRUKER DPX 400 spectrometer. Analytical TLC was carried out on 0.25 precoated silica gel plates (POLYGRAM SIL G/UV<sub>254</sub>) with visualisation by irradiation with a UV lamp. Silica gel 60 (70-230 mesh) was used for column chromatography. Elemental analyses (C, H, N) for new compounds were performed by CNRS (Vernaison-France)



Scheme 3. Synthesis of cycloalkylpyrimidinones 5 and 6.

and agreed with the proposed structures within  $\pm 0.3\%$  of the theoretical values. All solvents and reagents were purchased from Acros and Aldrich Chimie and used without further purification.

#### 4.2. Syntheses of 5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4a-hydroxy-2substituted-methyl-9*H*-cyclohexa[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-9-one 2a–c (General Procedure)

To a solution of 0.02 mol of 5-substituted-2-amino-2-oxazolines  $1a-c^{16}$  in 100 ml of ethanol was added 0.02 mol of ethyl 2-oxocyclohexanecarboxylate. After 72 h of stirring at room temperature, the formed precipitate was filtered, washed with diethyl ether and dried to yield compounds 2a-c.

**4.2.1.** 5,6,7,8-Tetrahydro-4*a*-hydroxy-2-phenoxymethyl-*9H*-cyclohexa[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-9-one 2a. White crystals (3.16 g, 50%); mp 192 °C; <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CPMAS technique)  $\delta$  24.7 (C-6), 26.3 (C-7), 35.3 (C-8), 37.2 (C-5), 46.6 (C-8a), 52.3 (C-3), 74.8 (OCH<sub>2</sub>), 80.8 (C-2), 88.2 (COH), 117.8 (C-2' and C-6'), 126.3 (C-4'), 133.7 (C-3' and C-5'), 162.5 (C-1'), 170.2 (C=N), 185.2 (CO); IR (KBr) 3265 cm<sup>-1</sup> (OH), 1680 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=O), 1620 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=N). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>20</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 64.54; H, 6.37; N, 8.85. Found: C, 64.81; H, 6.48; N, 8.89.

**4.2.2.** 5,6,7,8-Tetrahydro-4a-hydroxy-2-(4-ethylphenoxymethyl)-9*H*-cyclohexa[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-9one 2b. White crystals (4.47 g, 65%); mp 210 °C; IR (KBr) 3360 cm<sup>-1</sup> (OH), 1670 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=O), 1615 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=N). Anal. Calcd for  $C_{19}H_{24}N_2O_4$ : C, 66.30; H, 7.02; N, 8.13. Found: C, 66.36; H, 6.88; N, 8.30.

**4.2.3.** 5,6,7,8-Tetrahydro-4a-hydroxy-2-(1-piperidinomethyl)-9*H*-cyclohexa[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-9one 2c. White crystals (4.97 g, 81%); mp 268 °C; IR (KBr) 3320 cm<sup>-1</sup> (OH), 1670 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=O), 1615 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=N). Anal. Calcd for  $C_{16}H_{25}N_3O_3$ : C, 62.52; H, 8.20; N, 13.70. Found: C, 62.44; H, 8.45; N, 13.76.

#### 4.3. Dehydration of 5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4a-hydroxy-2substituted-methyl-9*H*-cyclohexa[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-9-one 2a–c (General Procedure)

To 75 ml of a 1 M aqueous solution of hydrochloric acid was added 0.015 mol of 5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4a-hydroxy-2-substituted-methyl-9*H*-cyclohexa[1,2-e]oxazolo[3,2-a]-pyrimidin-9-one (**2a–c**). After 24 h of stirring at room temperature, the formed precipitate was filtered, washed with water and dried to yield compounds **3a–c**.

**4.3.1. 5,6,7,8-Tetrahydro-2-phenoxymethyl-9***H***-cyclohexa[<b>1**,2-*e*]oxazolo[**3**,2-*a*]pyrimidin-9-one **3a**. White crystals (2.72 g, 61%); mp > 260 °C (DMF); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  1.78 (m, 2H, H-6), 1.78 (m, 2H, H-7), 2.26 (t, 2H, *J*=6.20 Hz, H-8), 2.60 (t, 2H, *J*=6.20 Hz, H-5), 4.44 (m, 4H, OCH<sub>2</sub> and H-3), 5.43 (m, 1H, H-2), 6.97 (t, 1H, *J*=7.80 Hz, H-4'), 7.01 (d, 2H, *J*=7.80 Hz, H-2' and H-6'), 7.35 (t, 2H, *J*=7.80 Hz, H-3' and H-5'); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (50 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  20.8 (C-6), 21.6 (C-7), 22.2 (C-8), 26.5 (C-5), 43.4 (C-3), 67.0 (OCH<sub>2</sub>), 70.0 (C-2), 110.1 (C-8a), 114.4 (C-2' and C-6'), 121.4 (C-4'),

129.5 (C-3' and C-5'), 149.6 (C-4a), 151.1 (C-1'), 158.1 (C-10a), 163.1 (CO); IR (KBr) 1670 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=O), 1620 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=N). Anal. Calcd for  $C_{17}H_{18}N_2O_3$ : C, 68.44; H, 6.08; N, 9.39. Found: C, 68.23; H, 6.21; N, 9.41.

4.3.2. 5,6,7,8-Tetrahydro-2-(4-ethylphenoxymethyl)-9Hcyclohexa[1,2-e]oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidin-9-one **3b**. White crystals (2.54 g, 52%); mp >260 °C (DMF);  $^{1}$ H NMR (200 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  1.13 (t, 3H, J=7.55 Hz, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.66 (m, 4H, H-6 and H-7), 2.19 (t, 2H, J = 6.50 Hz, H-8), 2.48 (m, 2H, H-5), 2.58 (q, 2H, J=7.55 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>), 4.07 (dd, 1H, J=9.70, 6.85 Hz, H-3b), 4.26 (m, 2H, OCH<sub>2b</sub> and H-3a), 4.37 (dd, 1H, J=9.75, 8.85 Hz, OCH<sub>2a</sub>), 5.27 (m, 1H, H-2), 6.86 (d, 2H, J = 8.80 Hz, H-2<sup>'</sup> and H-6<sup>'</sup>), 7.12 (d, 2H, J=8.80 Hz, H-3' and H-5'); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (50 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) δ 15.6 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 21.2 (C-6), 21.7 (C-7), 22.3 (C-8), 23.1 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 27.0 (C-5), 43.9 (C-3), 67.2 (OCH<sub>2</sub>), 71.2 (C-2), 112.3 (C-8a), 114.7 (C-2' and C-6'), 129.3 (C-3' and C-5'), 137.9 (C-4'), 150.1 (C-4a), 150.8 (C-1'), 157.6 (C-10a), 164.2 (CO); IR (KBr)  $1670 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  (C=O),  $1620 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ (C=N). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>22</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 69.92; H, 6.79; N, 8.58. Found: C, 69.98; H, 6.97; N, 8.67.

**4.3.3. 5,6,7,8-Tetrahydro-2-(1-piperidinomethyl)-9***H***cyclohexa[<b>1,2**-*e*]oxazolo[**3,2**-*a*]pyrimidin-9-one **3c**. White crystals (2.04 g, 47%); mp 234 °C (Heptane); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.41 (m, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 1.50 (m, 4H, CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 1.65 (m, 2H, H-7), 1.76 (m, 2H, H-6), 2.32– 2.55 (m, 8H, NCH<sub>2</sub> pip., NCH<sub>2</sub> and H-8), 2.70 (t, 2H, *J*= 7.30 Hz, H-5), 3.92 (dd, 1H, *J*=9.60, 7.60 Hz, H-3b), 4.20 (dd, 1H, *J*=9.60, 8.65 Hz, H-3a), 4.98 (m, 1H, H-2); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  21.3 (C-6 and C-7), 22.1 (C-8), 23.8 (CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 24.9 (CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 25.9 (C-5), 47.8 (C-3), 55.4 (NCH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 60.8 (NCH<sub>2</sub>), 76.3 (C-2), 115.2 (C-8a), 143.5 (C-4a), 159.4 (C-10a), 172.1 (CO); IR (KBr) 1665 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=O), 1625 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=N). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>23</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C, 66.41; H, 8.01; N, 14.52. Found: C, 66.58; H, 7.92; N, 14.63.

#### 4.4. Syntheses of 2-substituted-methyl-cycloalkyl[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidinones 3a–f and 2-substitutedmethyl-cycloalkyl[1,2-*d*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidinones 4a–f (General Procedure)

A solution of 0.02 mol of 5-substituted-2-amino-2-oxazolines **1a–c** and 0.02 mol of ethyl 2-oxocycloalkylcarboxylate in 100 ml of xylene was refluxed for 4 h. The formed precipitate was filtered, washed with petroleum ether and crystallized from the appropriate solvent to yield the 2-substituted-methyl-cycloalkyl[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidinones **3a–f**. The mother liquor obtained after filtration was evaporated to dryness, and the residue was subjected to chromatography on silica gel with a chloroform-methanol mixture (90:10) as eluent to give the 2-substituted-methylcycloalkyl[1,2-*d*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidinones **4a–f**.

**4.4.1.** 5,6,7,8-Tetrahydro-2-phenoxymethyl-9*H*-cyclohexa[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-9-one 3a. White crystals (2.08 g, 35%).

**4.4.2. 6,7,8,9-Tetrahydro-2-phenoxymethyl-5H-cyclohexa**[**1,2-***d*]**oxazolo**[**3,2-***a*]**pyrimidin-5-one 4a.** White crystals (2.50 g, 42%); mp 144 °C ( $C_2Cl_4$ ); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.72 (m, 4H, H-7 and H-8), 2.44 (t, 2H, J=5.50 Hz, H-6), 2.56 (t, 2H, J=5.50 Hz, H-9), 4.27 (m, 4H, OCH<sub>2</sub> and H-3), 5.19 (m, 1H, H-2), 6.85 (d, 2H, J=7.30 Hz, H-2' and H-6'), 6.97 (t, 1H, J=7.30 Hz, H-4'), 7.26 (t, 2H, J=7.30 Hz, H-3' and H-5'); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  21.8 (C-8), 21.9 (C-7), 22.2 (C-9), 31.9 (C-6), 44.2 (C-3), 67.4 (OCH<sub>2</sub>), 75.8 (C-2), 114.3 (C-5a), 114.6 (C-2' and C-6'), 121.8 (C-4'), 129.5 (C-3' and C-5'), 156.2 (C-9a), 157.7 (C-1'), 161.1 (C-10a), 161.4 (CO); IR (KBr) 1680 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=O), 1635 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=N). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>18</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 68.44; H, 6.08; N, 9.39. Found: C, 68.27; H, 6.07; N, 9.35.

## **4.4.3.** 5,6,7,8-Tetrahydro-2-(4-ethylphenoxymethyl)-9*H*-cyclohexa[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-9-one 3b. White crystals (2.28 g, 35%).

4.4.4. 6,7,8,9-Tetrahydro-2-(4-ethylphenoxymethyl)-5H-**4b.** cyclohexa[1,2-d]oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidin-5-one White crystals (2.47 g, 38%); mp 104 °C ( $C_2Cl_4$ );  $^{1}H$ NMR (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.17 (t, 3H, J=7.55 Hz, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.71 (m, 4H, H-7 and H-8), 2.29 (m, 2H, H-6), 2.55 (m, 2H, H-9), 2.60 (q, 2H, J=7.55 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>), 4.17 (m, 2H, H-3), 4.28 (m, 2H, OCH<sub>2</sub>), 5.17 (m, 1H, H-2), 6.77 (d, 2H, J =8.30 Hz, H-2' and H-6'), 7.07 (d, 2H, J = 8.30 Hz, H-3' and H-5'); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 15.7 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 21.8 (C-8), 21.9 (C-7), 22.2 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 27.9 (C-9), 31.9 (C-6), 44.2 (C-3), 67.6 (OCH<sub>2</sub>), 75.8 (C-2), 114.4 (C-5a), 114.6 (C-2' and C-6'), 128.7 (C-3' and C-5'), 137.7 (C-4'), 155.8 (C-1'), 156.2 (C-9a), 161.2 (C-10a), 161.4 (CO); IR (KBr) 1675  $cm^{-1}$  (C=O), 1640 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=N). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>22</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 69.92; H, 6.79; N, 8.58. Found: C, 69.84; H, 6.89; N, 8.62.

## **4.4.5.** 5,6,7,8-Tetrahydro-2-(1-piperidinomethyl)-9*H*-cyclohexa[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-9-one 3c. White crystals (1.73 g, 30%).

**4.4.6. 6,7,8,9-Tetrahydro-2-(1-piperidinomethyl)-5***H***cyclohexa[1,2-***d***]oxazolo[3,2-***a***]pyrimidin-5-one <b>4c**. White crystals (2.25 g, 39%); mp 140 °C (C<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>4</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.36 (m, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 1.49 (m, 4H, CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 1.68 (m, 4H, H-7 and H-8), 2.44 (m, 8H, NCH<sub>2</sub>, NCH<sub>2</sub> pip. and H-6), 2.65 (t, 2H, *J*=7.10 Hz, H-9), 3.99 (dd, 1H, *J*=9.75, 7.40 Hz, H-3b), 4.23 (dd, 1H, *J*= 9.75, 8.90 Hz, H-3a), 4.98 (m, 1H, H-2); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  21.7 (C-8), 21.9 (C-7), 22.2 (C-9), 23.8 (CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 25.9 (CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 31.8 (C-6), 46.0 (C-3), 55.3 (NCH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 61.1 (NCH<sub>2</sub>), 77.0 (C-2), 114.1 (C-5a), 156.2 (C-9a), 156.4 (C-10a), 161.4 (CO); IR (KBr) 1680 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=O), 1635 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=N). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>23</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C, 66.41; H, 8.01; N, 14.52. Found: C, 66.37; H, 7.97; N, 14.43.

**4.4.7. 5,6,7-Trihydro-2-phenoxymethyl-8***H***-cyclopenta[1,2-***e***]oxazolo[3,2-***a***]pyrimidin-8-one 3d. White crystals (1.25 g, 22%); mp > 260 °C (MeOH); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) \delta 2.02 (qt, 2H,** *J***=7.45 Hz, H-6), 2.52 (t, 2H,** *J***=7.45 Hz, H-7), 2.86 (t, 2H,** *J***=7.45 Hz, H-7), 4.13 (dd, 1H,** *J***=9.90, 6.60 Hz, H-3b), 4.29 (m, 2H, OCH<sub>2b</sub> and H-3a), 4.40 (dd, 1H,** *J***=9.75, 8.90 Hz, OCH<sub>2a</sub>), 5.32 (m, 1H, H-2), 6.93 (d, 2H,** *J***=7.80 Hz, H-2' and H-6'), 6.97 (t, 1H,** *J***=7.80 Hz, H-4'), 7.31 (t, 2H,** *J***=7.80 Hz, H-3'** 

and H-5'); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (50 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  20.9 (C-6), 27.8 (C-7), 29.8 (C-5), 46.0 (C-3), 67.7 (OCH<sub>2</sub>), 76.5 (C-2), 114.7 (C-2' and C-6'), 117.4 (C-7a), 121.3 (C-4'), 129.6 (C-3' and C-5'), 151.0 (C-4a), 157.9 (C-1'), 160.3 (C-9a), 169.2 (CO); IR (KBr) 1670 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=O), 1630 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=N). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 67.59; H, 5.67; N, 9.85. Found: C, 67.40; H, 5.71; N, 9.83.

4.4.8. 6,7,8-Trihydro-2-phenoxymethyl-5H-cyclopenta[1,2-d]oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidin-5-one 4d. White crystals (1.99 g, 35%); mp 146 °C (C<sub>2</sub>HCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR  $(200 \text{ MHz}, \text{CDCl}_3) \delta 2.05 \text{ (qt, 2H, } J = 7.60 \text{ Hz}, \text{H-7}\text{)}, 2.71 \text{ (t,})$ 2H, J=7.60 Hz, H-6), 2.75 (t, 2H, J=7.60 Hz, H-8), 4.18 (dd, 1H, J=10.75, 4.00 Hz, H-3b), 4.30 (m, 3H, OCH<sub>2</sub> and H-3a), 5.26 (m, 1H, H-2), 6.84 (d, 2H, J = 7.70 Hz, H-2<sup>'</sup> and H-6'), 6.96 (t, 1H, J=7.70 Hz, H-4'), 7.26 (t, 2H, J=7.70 Hz, H-3' and H-5');  ${}^{13}$ C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  21.6 (C-7), 26.7 (C-6), 34.9 (C-8), 44.1 (C-3), 67.4 (OCH<sub>2</sub>), 76.5 (C-2), 114.6 (C-2' and C-6'), 117.3 (C-5a), 121.9 (C-4'), 129.5 (C-3' and C-5'), 157.7 (C-8a), 158.8 (C-1'), 159.4 (C-9a), 170.7 (CO); IR (KBr)  $1680 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  (C=O), 1640 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=N). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 67.59; H, 5.67; N, 9.85. Found: C, 67.56; H, 5.88; N, 9.96.

4.4.9. 5,6,7-Trihydro-2-(4-ethylphenoxymethyl)-8Hcyclopenta[1,2-e]oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidin-8-one 3e. White crystals (1.56 g, 25%); mp >260 °C (MeOH);  $^{1}$ H NMR (200 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  1.15 (t, 3H, J=7.55 Hz, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.01 (qt, 2H, J=7.45 Hz, H-6), 2.51 (t, 2H, J=7.45 Hz, H-7), 2.56 (q, 2H, J=7.55 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.84 (t, 2H, J = 7.45 Hz, H-5), 4.11 (dd, 1H, J = 10.0, 6.60 Hz, H-3b), 4.24 (m, 2H, OCH<sub>2b</sub> and H-3a), 4.40 (dd, 1H, J=9.80, 8.90 Hz, OCH<sub>2a</sub>), 5.30 (m, 1H, H-2), 6.85 (d, 2H, J =8.55 Hz, H-2' and H-6'), 7.12 (d, 2H, J = 8.55 Hz, H-3' and H-5'); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (50 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  15.9(CH<sub>3</sub>), 20.9 (C-6), 27.3 (CH<sub>2</sub>),27.8 (C-7), 29.8 (C-5), 46.0 (C-3), 67.9 (OCH<sub>2</sub>), 76.6 (C-2), 114.6 (C-2' and C-6'), 117.4 (C-7a), 128.7 (C-3' and C-5'), 136.6 (C-4'), 151.0 (C-4a), 156.0 (C-1<sup>'</sup>), 160.3 (C-9a), 169.1 (CO); IR (KBr) 1665 cm<sup>-</sup> (C=O), 1630 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=N). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>20</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 69.21; H, 6.45; N, 8.97. Found: C, 69.45; H, 6.52; N, 8.93.

4.4.10. 6,7,8-Trihydro-2-(4-ethylphenoxymethyl)-5Hcyclopenta[1,2-d]oxazolo[3,2-a]pyrimidin-5-one 4e. White crystals (2.49 g, 40%); mp 115 °C ( $C_2HCl_3$ ); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  1.13 (t, 3H, J=7.55 Hz, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.06 (qt, 2H, J=7.50 Hz, H-7), 2.59 (q, 2H, J=7.55 Hz, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.71 (t, 2H, J=7.50 Hz, H-6), 2.75 (t, 2H, J=7.50 Hz, H-8), 4.16 (dd, 1H, J=10.75, 4.00 Hz, H-3b), 4.32 (m, 3H, OCH<sub>2</sub> and H-3a), 5.25 (m, 1H, H-2), 6.78 (d, 2H, J = 8.80 Hz, H-2' and H-6'), 7.07 (d, 2H, J = 8.80 Hz, H-3' and H-5');  ${}^{13}$ C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  15.7 (CH<sub>3</sub>), 21.6 (C-7), 26.7 (CH<sub>2</sub>), 27.9 (C-6), 34.9 (C-8), 44.1 (C-3), 67.6 (OCH<sub>2</sub>), 76.6 (C-2), 114.6 (C-2' and C-6'), 117.2 (C-5a), 128.8 (C-3' and C-5'), 137.7 (C-4'), 155.8 (C-8a), 158.8 (C-1<sup>'</sup>), 159.4 (C-9a), 170.7 (CO); IR (KBr) 1680 cm<sup>-</sup> (C=O), 1635 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=N). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>20</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C, 69.21; H, 6.45; N, 8.97. Found: C, 69.39; H, 6.58; N, 9.03.

4.4.11. 5,6,7-Trihydro-2-(piperidinomethyl)-8*H*-cyclopenta[1,2-*e*]oxazolo[3,2-*a*]pyrimidin-8-one 3f. White crystals (1.15 g, 21%); mp 240 °C (EtOH); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  1.42 (m, 6H, CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 1.95 (qt, 2H, *J*=7.35 Hz, H-6), 2.47-2.67 (m, 8H, NCH<sub>2</sub> pip., NCH<sub>2</sub> and H-7), 2.81 (t, 2H, *J*=7.35 Hz, H-5), 3.92 (dd, 1H, *J*= 9.50, 7.45 Hz, H-3b), 4.31 (dd, 1H, *J*=9.50, 8.70 Hz, H-3a), 5.08 (m, 1H, H-2); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (50 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  20.9 (C-6), 23.7 (CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 25.6 (CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 27.8 (C-7), 29.8 (C-5), 47.9 (C-3), 54.6 (NCH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 60.6 (NCH<sub>2</sub>), 76.8 (C-2), 117.3 (C-7a), 151.1 (C-4a), 160.2 (C-9a), 169.2 (CO); IR (KBr) 1665 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=O), 1615 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=N). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>21</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C, 65.43; H, 7.69; N, 15.26. Found: C, 65.63; H, 7.78; N, 15.10.

**4.4.12. 6,7,8-Trihydro-2-(piperidinomethyl)-5***H***-cyclopenta[1,2-***d***]oxazolo[3,2-***a***]pyrimidin-5-one 4f. Pale yellow crystals (1.54 g, 28%); mp 122 °C (Heptane); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) \delta 1.38 (m, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 1.50 (m, 4H, CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 2.05 (qt, 2H,** *J***=7.55 Hz, H-7), 2.49 (m, 4H, NCH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 2.69 (m, 6H, NCH<sub>2</sub>, H-6 and H-8), 4.00 (dd, 1H,** *J***=11.45, 7.30 Hz, H-3b), 4.24 (dd, 1H,** *J***=11.45, 8.80 Hz, H-3a), 5.00 (m, 1H, H-2); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) \delta 21.6 (C-7), 23.7 (CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 25.4 (CH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 26.9 (C-6), 34.7 (C-8), 45.6 (C-3), 55.2 (NCH<sub>2</sub> pip.), 61.1 (NCH<sub>2</sub>), 78.0 (C-2), 116.7 (C-5a), 158.8 (C-9a), 159.6 (C-10a), 170.7 (CO); IR (KBr) 1680 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=O), 1635 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=N). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>21</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C, 65.43; H, 7.69; N, 15.26. Found: C, 65.52; H, 7.85; N, 15.22.** 

#### 4.5. Syntheses of 1-[(2-hydroxy-3-phenoxy)propyl]cyclohexa[1,2-*d*]pyrimidin-2,4-dione 5 and 3-[(2-hydroxy-3phenoxy)propyl]cyclohexa[1,2-*d*]pyrimidin-2,4-dione 6 (General Procedure)

To a suspension of 0.02 mol of **3a** or **4a** in 50 ml of water was added 0.06 mol of sodium hydroxide. The reaction mixture was heated under reflux for 1 h. After cooling, the mixture was filtered and the filtrate was adjusted at pH=6 with a diluted aqueous solution of hydrochloric acid. The precipitate was filtered, dried and crystallized in methanol to give **5** or **6**.

**4.5.1.** 1-[(2-Hydroxy-3-phenoxy)propyl]cyclohexa[1,2-*e*]pyrimidin-2,4-dione **5.** White crystals (3.28 g, 52%); mp 182 °C (CH<sub>3</sub>OH); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  1.51 (m, 2H, H-6), 1.66 (m, 2H, H-7), 2.20 (m, 2H, H-8), 2.52 (m, 2H, H-5), 3.76 (m, 1H, NCH<sub>2a</sub>), 3.95 (m, 3H, OCH<sub>2</sub> and NCH<sub>2b</sub>), 4.12 (m, 1H, CH), 5.43 (d, 1H, *J*=5.30 Hz, OH), 6.91 (d, 2H, *J*=7.35 Hz, H-2' and H-6'), 6.95 (t, 1H, *J*= 7.35 Hz, H-4'), 7.33 (t, 2H, *J*=7.35 Hz, H-3' and H-5'), 11.14 (br s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  20.7 (C-7), 21.6 (C-6), 21.9 (C-5), 26.1 (C-8), 45.8 (NCH<sub>2</sub>), 66.5 (CH), 70.2 (OCH<sub>2</sub>), 107.7 (C-4a), 114.5 (C-2' and C-6'), 120.7 (C-4'), 129.5 (C-3' and C-5'), 150.9 (C-8a), 151.1 (C-2), 158.4 (C-1'), 163.2 (C-4); IR (KBr) 3440 cm<sup>-1</sup> (OH), 1690 and 1670 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=O). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>20</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 64.54; H, 6.37; N, 8.85. Found: C, 64.68; H, 6.15; N, 9.05.

**4.5.2. 3-**[(2-Hydroxy-3-phenoxy)propyl]cyclohexa[1,2-*e*]pyrimidin-2,4-dione 6. White crystals (2.71 g, 43%); mp 168 °C (CH<sub>3</sub>OH); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (200 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  1.56 (m, 4H, H-6 and H-7), 2.12 (t, 2H, *J*=5.60 Hz, H-5), 2.30 (t, 2H, *J*=5.60 Hz, H-8), 3.86 (m, 4H, OCH<sub>2</sub> and NCH<sub>2</sub>), 4.10 (m, 1H, CH), 5.23 (br s, 1H, OH), 6.83 (d, 2H, J= 7.60 Hz, H-2' and H-6'), 6.92 (t, 1H, J=7.60 Hz, H-4'), 7.26 (t, 2H, J=7.60 Hz, H-3' and H-5'), 10.85 (br s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  21.1 (C-7), 21.3 (C-6), 21.4 (C-8), 25.6 (C-5), 42.9 (NCH<sub>2</sub>), 65.9 (CH), 70.9 (OCH<sub>2</sub>), 105.2 (C-4a), 114.3 (C-2' and C-6'), 120.5 (C-4'), 129.4 (C-3' and C-5'), 147.6 (C-2), 151.2 (C-8a), 158.5 (C-1'), 163.5 (C-4); IR (KBr) 3440 cm<sup>-1</sup> (OH), 1720 and 1640 cm<sup>-1</sup> (C=O). Anal. Calcd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>20</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C, 64.54; H, 6.37; N, 8.85. Found: C, 64.43; H, 6.29; N, 8.97.

#### 4.6. Crystallographic study

The structure of compounds **2c**, **3a** and **4e** has been established by X-ray crystallography (Figs. 1–3). The data were corrected for Lorentz and polarization effects and for empirical absorption correction.<sup>19</sup> The structure was solved by direct methods Shelx 86.<sup>20</sup> and refined using Shelx 97<sup>21</sup> suite of programs. CCDC-253584, CCDC-253585 and CCDC-253586 contains the supplementary crystallographic data for this paper.<sup>22</sup>

#### 4.7. Thermal analysis (DSC)

The thermal properties of compound **2a** were studied using a PERKIN-ELMER DSC-7 differential scanning calorimeter. Dry nitrogen at 1.5 atm was used as carrier gas, the heating rate of 10 °C min<sup>-1</sup> was adopted, and the sample mass was  $4.4(\pm 0.1)$  mg. Solid phases were characterized in the 30–300 °C temperature range. Pure samples of indium and naphthalene were used to calibrate the temperature scale and the differential energy axis. DSC signals were analysed by the shape factor method.<sup>23</sup>

#### **References and notes**

- Vasudevan, A.; Mavandadi, F.; Chen, L.; Gangjee, A. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 634–638.
- Stoss, P.; Kaes, E.; Eibel, G.; Thewalt, U. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1991, 28, 231–236.
- 3. Reiter, J.; Berecz, G.; Pallagi, I. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1991, 28, 721–729.
- Santagati, A.; Santagati, M.; Russo, F.; Ronsisvalle, G. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1988, 25, 949–953.
- Hermecz, I.; Vasvari-Debreczy, L.; Horvath, A.; Balogh, M.; Kokosi, J.; DeVos, C.; Rodriguez, L. J. Med. Chem. 1987, 30, 1543–1549.
- 6. Laliberte, R. US Patent 3,594,378, 1971; *Chem. Abstr.* 1971, 75, 76831.
- Tsuji, M.; Inoe, T.; Tagami, Y.; Betsupu, K.; Saida, M.; Taniguchi, Y.; Nakahara, M. Jpn. Patent 63,192,784, 1988; *Chem. Abstr.* 1989, 110, 39021.
- Adetchessi, O.-S.; Desor, D.; Forfar, I.; Jarry, C.; Léger, J.-M.; Laguerre, M.; Carpy, A. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1997, 34, 429–434.
- Chaimbault, C.; Bosc, J.-J.; Léger, J.-M.; Négrier, P.; Capelle, F.; Jarry, C. J. Pharm. Sci. 2000, 89, 1496–1504.
- Forfar, I.; Guillon, J.; Massip, S.; Léger, J.-M.; Fayet, J.-P.; Jarry, C. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2001, 38, 823–827.

- 11. Kaugars, G.; Martin, S. E.; Nelson, S. J.; Watt, W. *Heterocycles* **1994**, *38*, 2593–2603.
- 12. Ouhabi, J.; Jarry, C.; Zouanate, A.; Carpy, A. Arch. Pharm. 1997, 330, 367–371.
- Forfar, I.; Jarry, C.; Laguerre, M.; Léger, J.-M.; Pianet, I. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 12819–12828.
- Chaimbault, C.; Bosc, J.-J.; Jarry, C.; Daulouede, S.; Vincendeau, P. *Pharm. Pharmacol. Commun.* 2000, 6, 101–105.
- Guillon, J.; Mamani-Matsuda, M.; Massip, S.; Léger, J.-M.; Thiolat, D.; Mossalayi, D.; Jarry, C. J. Enzym. Inhib. Med. Chem. 2002, 17, 391–396.
- 16. Jarry, C.; Golse, R.; Panconi, E.; Creuzet, M. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 1986, 21, 138–142.
- Kovtunenko, V. A.; Ishchenko, V. V.; Tyltin, A. K.; Babichev, F. S. Dokl. Akad. Nauk. 1988, 299, 373–375.
- 18. Babichev, F. S.; Kovtunenko, V. A.; Ishchenko, V. V.; Tyltin,

A. K.; Yudina, T. A. Khim. Geterotsikl. Soed. 1985, 10, 1368–1371.

- 19. North, A. C. T.; Phillips, D. C.; Mathews, F. S. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. A 1968, 24, 351–359.
- Sheldrick, G. M.; Kröger, C.; Goddard, R. SHELX 86 in Crystallographic Computing 3; Oxford University Press: New-York, 1985; pp 175–189.
- 21. Sheldrick, G. M. SHELX 97: Program for the Refinement of the Crystal Structures; University of Göttingen: Germany, 1997.
- 22. CCDC-253584, CCDC-253585 and CCDC-253586 can be obtained free of charge via www.ccdc.cam.ac.uk/conts/ retrieving.html (or from the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre, 12 Union Road, Cambridge, CB2 1EZ, UK; fax: +44 1223 336033; or deposit@ccdc.cam.ac.uk).
- 23. Courchinoux, R.; Chanh, N. B.; Haget, Y.; Calvet, T.; Estop, E.; Cuevas-Diarte, M. A. J. Chim. Phys. **1989**, 83, 561–593.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4461-4466

## The solvent effect on the reaction constants of *tert*-butyl radical addition to 2-substituted allyl chlorides

Yuh-Wern Wu,\* Hsu-Ting Huang, Zhau-Jie Huang, Huang-Ming Huang and Jyh-Ferng Yang

Chemical Engineering Department, I-Shou University, Ta-Hsu, Kaohsiung 84008, Taiwan, ROC

Received 25 October 2004; revised 17 February 2005; accepted 18 February 2005

Available online 22 March 2005

Abstract—The  $\rho$  values of free radical  $S_H 2'$  reactions have been determined in various solvents. The correlation of Hammett  $\rho$  with Taff's  $\pi^*$  gives a *W* value of 0.70. The *W* value is a measure of susceptibility of the reaction constant to change in solvent polarity. However, the *W* value is 2.64 in the dissociation reactions of substituted benzoic acids. The free radical reactions are less susceptible to the solvent effect than ionic reactions and this could be rationalized in terms of the partial charge formed in the transition state of free radical reaction is less than that of heterolytic reaction. The  $\rho$  values in  $S_H 2'$  reactions might not reflect truly the partial charge separation at transition state, however, it might be a measure of the susceptibility of the reaction to the electronic effect of the substituents. © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The addition reactions of alkyl radicals to alkenes have been intensively investigated from both the theoretical and the experimental points of view<sup>1</sup> in the last two decades. Walling and Mayor first proposed partial charge formation in free radical reaction to explain the alternating effect in copolymerization reaction.<sup>2</sup> Since then a number of radical reactions have been studied and the results were rationalized by a polar effect on the transition state. In our previous work,<sup>3</sup> the Hammett  $\rho$  value of an S<sub>H</sub>2' reaction of *tert*-butyl radical with 2-substituted allyl chloride is 3.39 in DMSO. The observed  $\rho$  value seems quite large compared with those of other free radicals addition reactions.<sup>4</sup> However, the large  $\rho$  values (3.1–3.8) have been reported by Giese for the addition of cyclohexyl radical to substituted alkene.<sup>5</sup> Ito also found that ArS and PhSe radicals addition to methylsubstituted allenes gave  $\rho$  values were greater than 4.<sup>6</sup> Giese has reported that the rates of addition of alkyl radicals to alkenes are controlled mainly by the polar effects of the substituents.<sup>7</sup> If the size of  $\rho$  is an indication of the extent of charge development at the transition state;<sup>8</sup> we will expect that there is a significant charge separation at the transition state in free radical  $S_H 2'$  reactions. It is unlikely that free radical addition reactions ( $\rho > 3$ ) have so substantial charge separations at the transition states. Martin and Gleicher even pointed out that the  $\rho$  value (-0.29) of trichloromethyl radical addition to substituted-3-phenyl-1-propene was too

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02.083

large for radical addition reaction.<sup>9</sup> Ito suggested that the large  $\rho^+$  value observed in radical addition to substituted allene only a part of each observed  $\rho^+$  value is attributed to the polar nature of the transition state.<sup>8,10</sup> Bartnick et al.<sup>11</sup> reported that the  $\rho$  value was 2.57 for the dissociation reaction of substituted benzoic acids in DMSO, however, the  $\rho$  value is 3.39 for the free radical S<sub>H</sub>2' reactions in DMSO. It seems quite implausible that the  $\rho$  value of heterolytic reaction is less than that of homolytic reaction. In this article, we try to use the solvent effect to solve this problem.

#### 2. Results and discussion

The reactions of t-BuHgCl with 2-substituted allyl chlorides (1), under photolytic condition, gave corresponding products (2) in good yields (Eq. 1).<sup>3</sup> The competitive kinetic experiments were carried out by a pair of 2-substituted allyl chloride and allyl chloride (at least 10 times with respect to t-BuHgCl) and after at least 3 half-lives determining the relative amounts of two adducts by GC. Identification of substitution products was confirmed by comparison of their GC-MS data with those of the authentic compounds synthesized by the methods reported in the literature.<sup>3</sup> The expected products (2) were observed only in the competitive reactions, therefore, there was no solvent involved in the reactions. The relative rate  $(k/k_0)$ , where  $k_0$  is the rate constant of allyl chloride) was measured by the relative yields of the two addition products. The relative rates in different solvents are given in Table 1. The  $\rho$  value, which is obtained by the correlation of log  $k/k_0$  versus  $\sigma_m$ , is listed in Table 2.

*Keywords*: Solvent effect; Free radical  $S_H 2'$  reaction; *tert*-Butyl radical addition; 2-Substituted allyl chlorides; *W* value; Hammett reaction constant.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +886 7657 7711; fax: +886 7657 7056; e-mail: m9237018@stmail.isu.edu.tw

Substituent X	Relative rate in DMSO <sup>b</sup>	Relative rate in benzene	Relative rate in ether	Relative rate in THF
Cl	22.08	14.15	15.66	19.0
Н	1	1	1	1
CH <sub>3</sub>	0.87	0.97	0.92	0.96
CH <sub>2</sub> OPh	3.04	4.53	3.24	3.10
CH <sub>2</sub> SiMe <sub>3</sub>	0.36	0.28		

Table 1. Relative rates in the  $S_H 2'$  reactions of *t*-butyl radical with 2-substituted allyl chlorides<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> The mixture in a 5 mm quartz tube was irradiated at 37±2 °C with a 100 W UV lamp ca. 20 cm from the tube. Each reaction was run at least three times. Error is ±4%.

<sup>b</sup> The data was cited from Ref. 3a.

**Table 2.** The  $\rho$  value of the S<sub>H</sub>2' reactions of *t*-butyl radical with 2-substituted allyl chlorides in different solvents and Taft's solvent parameters

Solvent	ρ	Correlation coefficient	$\pi^*$	α	
DMSO	3.39 <sup>a</sup>	0.990	1.00	0	
Benzene	3.09	0.976	0.59	0	
THF	3.07	0.978	0.58	0	
Diethyl ether	2.88	0.971	0.27	0	

<sup>a</sup> The  $\rho$  value was cited from Ref. 3a.



$$X = H, CH_3, Cl, CH_2OPh, CH_2SiMe_3$$

Russell et al.<sup>3b</sup> indicated that the *tert*-butyl radical addition to allyl derivatives proceeded with the stepwise  $S_H 2'$ reaction mechanism, which is shown in Scheme 1, and the radical addition to double bond is a rate-determining step. The alkyl radical adds to the terminal carbon of the double bond to form an intermediate radical, which undergoes fast  $\beta$ -elimination of the leaving group X<sup>\*</sup> in a chain process. However, Wu et al.<sup>12</sup> studied the mechanism of the  $S_H 2'$ reaction by leaving group effect and secondary  $\alpha$ -deuterium kinetic isotope effect. The free radical  $S_H 2'$  reactions seem to favor the concerted mechanism, which is shown in Scheme 2.



free radical reactions but also their sensitivity to the Bu-t (1) transmission of polar effect. This sensitivity is quantitatively characterized by the value of the Hammett reaction constant

The effect of solvent polarity on the rate of a reaction is one

of the most useful criteria for the determining mechanism.

Typically, potential solvent effects are ignored in reactions

of simple alkyl radicals because of small charge separation in free radical reaction. This can be confirmed from the works of Russell,<sup>13</sup> Walling,<sup>14</sup> Huyser<sup>15</sup> and others.<sup>16</sup> However, the validity of this widespread opinion was not so universal as originally believed. The solvent has been shown to influence not only the reactivity and selectivity of

characterized by the value of the Hammett reaction constant  $\rho$ . From Table 2, it seems obvious that the  $\rho$  value of *tert*butyl radical addition to 2-substituted allyl chloride is solvent dependent. Therefore, the polar effect in radical addition reactions is dependent upon the solvent effect. If the  $\rho$  value reflects the partial charge is formed in the transition state of free radical addition reaction, the  $\rho$  values listed in Table 2 are still too large for free radical  $S_{\rm H}2'$ reactions. In terms of a quantitative measure of solvent polarity, by far the most common is the dielectric constant. The dependence of the Hammett reaction constant  $\rho$  on the solvent is often very marked and has been discussed since the earliest day of LEFR. Hammett himself predicted a linear relationship with the reciprocal of the dielectric constant.<sup>17</sup> Ponec and Hajek reported that the solvent effect on the Hammett reaction constant  $\rho$  of two models of free radical reactions, the addition to substituted styrenes and H-abstraction from substituted toluenes, which were studied by the CNDO/2 calculation.<sup>18</sup> They indicated that



the absolute value of both negative  $\rho$  constants for electrophilic radicals and positive  $\rho$  constants for nucleophilic radicals decreased on increasing the dielectric constants. However, for some reactions this holds approximately within a limited range of solvents, but extending the range often reveals marked deviations. The major drawback of this treatment is that because dielectric constant is a bulk property, it neglects specific solvent-solute interactions that might be occurring on a molecular level. Dielectric constants are determined by evaluating how solvent between two plates affects the strength of the field that can be built up. The usual measurement is made with a macroscopic distance between the plates. The dielectric constant therefore reflects an average of solvent arrangements over macroscopic distances. The dielectric constant parameter is inappropriate at the microscopic or molecular level for solvent between dipolar molecules.<sup>1</sup>

Ingold and Howard found that a change in  $\rho$  produced by a change in a solvent might be due to either to a change in the polarizability of the solvent or to a complexing of the radical with a solvent, particularly if it is aromatic, in the free radical hydrogen abstraction reaction of substituted phenol.<sup>20</sup> They suggested it would seem reasonable that an increase in the polarizability or dielectric constant of the solvent would tend to stabilize a charged transition state of free radical reaction and thereby increase  $\rho$  value. Engstrom and DuBose<sup>21</sup> also reported the similar conclusion from studying the substituent and solvent effects on the rate of perester decomposition. The rate constants were measured in three solvents. The rate constants correlated with  $\sigma^+$ to give a  $\rho$  value of -0.77 (dodecane), -0.75 (benzene), -0.91 (acetonitrile). The higher  $\rho$  value in acetonitrile may indicate a more polar transition upon which the substituent can exert a greater influence. They concluded that only a partial charge develops in the transition state the increased solvent polarity might cause increased polar character in the transition state, making the reaction more sensitive to substituents and the higher  $\rho$  value was observed.

Ito and Matsuda<sup>22</sup> studied the rate of addition of *p*-aminobenzenethyl radical to styrene in various solvents. On correlation of the rate constant with  $E_{\rm T}$ , they found that the solvents are divided into three groups. Group I was thought to have a strict linear dependence, while one group is above the line (group II) and the other is below the line (group III). More accurately it will be said that each group has its own line. Ito and Matsuda<sup>23</sup> also studied the rate of addition of *p*-*t*-butylphenylthiyl radical to two nitrones in various solvents. They plotted the rate constant versus the Kirwood parameter  $(\varepsilon - 1)/(2\varepsilon + 1)$ , and found that the solvents are divided into two groups. Alfassi et al.<sup>24</sup> studied the effect of solvents and mixture of solvents on the rate constants for addition of anion radical to unsaturated alcohols. Correlation of the rate constant with the dielectric constant shows two lines. We might ask what reasons cause different separated lines in the above works. The plausible guess is that the types of the intermolecular force between the solvents and the transition states of radical reactions would be responsible for the difference. For example, the solvents in group I in Ito's work<sup>22</sup> would have similar type of the intermolecular force between the solvents and the transition states of radical addition reactions and this would be true in

group II and III. Therefore, a good linear relationship of the rate constant with the solvent parameter was observed in Ito's work. In other words, the types of intermolecular force between the solvents and the transition states of radical addition reactions are all different among groups I, II and III.

It might be possible to correlate kinetic data with the single solvent parameter if we choose the suitable solvent system based on the similar type of the intermolecular force between the solvent and reaction species. Generally, it is recognized that small charge separation in the transition state of free radical addition reaction and the  $\rho$  value of free radical reaction would be affected mostly by the specific intermolecular interaction between the solvent and the transition state. The intermolecular force between the solvent and a partial charged transition state of free radical reaction might be either the dipole- induced dipole force or dipole-dipole force if the solvents are limited in the range of nonpolar aprotic solvents to polar aprotic solvents. Increasing the polarity of the aprotic solvent should stabilize a charged transition state and increase the polar character of the transition state, then, increasing  $\rho$  value would be observed. The linear relationship between the  $\rho$  value and empirical solvent parameter would be predicted if the effect of intermolecular force between the solvent and the transition state could be reflected truly by the empirical solvent parameter. Several scales for measuring the sensitivity of a reaction to change in solvent polarity are available. There are several excellent reviews on this topic.<sup>25</sup> Taft and co-workers<sup>26</sup> proposed in 1977 the  $\pi^*$ scale which is based on the solvent-induced shifts of the  $\pi \rightarrow \pi^*$  transition absorption band of seven solutes. The  $\pi^*$ scale was adequate for solutes which cannot form hydrogen bonds. They described the  $\pi^*$  scale as a measure of the ability of the medium to stabilize a charge or a dipole by virtue of it's dielectric effect. Therefore, the  $\pi^*$  scale is a suitable model to describe the effect of the intermolecular force between the aprotic solvent and the transition state in free radical reaction. Eq. 2 would be followed if there is linear relationship between  $\rho$  values of free radical S<sub>H</sub>2' reactions and Taft's  $\pi^*$  scale.

$$\rho = W\pi^* + c \tag{2}$$

The W value is a measure of the sensitivity of the reaction constant to change in solvent polarity and c is a constant. The plot of  $\rho$  values, which are listed in Table 2, of free radical S<sub>H</sub>2' reactions in different solvents with Taft's  $\pi^*$  scale is shown in Figure 1 and gives W value of 0.70 and an excellent correlation coefficient of 0.998.

Trying to confirm that  $\rho$  values of free radical  $S_H 2'$  reactions reflects only a small partial charge formation in the transition state, a comparison was made between the sensitivity of a heterolytic reaction and the  $S_H 2'$  radical reaction to change in solvent polarity. It is likely to assume that the intermolecular force between the aprotic solvent and the transition state in a heterolytic reaction might be either the ion-dipole force or ion-induced dipole force; therefore, increasing the polarity of the aprotic solvent should stabilize a charged transition state and increasing  $\rho$ value would be observed. If the Taft's  $\pi^*$  scale could reflect



**Figure 1.** Correlation of  $\rho$  values for the S<sub>H</sub>2' reactions of 2-substituted allyl chlorides with Taft's  $\pi^*$ . The *W* is 0.70 and correlation coefficient is 0.998.

the effect of intermolecular force between the aprotic solvents and transition states in ionic reactions, then Eq. 2 might be obeyed in the heterolytic reaction.

It might assume that the solvent effect on the heterolytic reaction would be more significant than that on the homolytic reaction because the charge separation of transition state in the heterolytic reaction should be larger than that of the homolytic reaction, then, the W value of the heterolytic reaction would be greater than that of the homolytic reaction. This was validated by Engstrom and DuBose.<sup>21</sup>

From the above discussion, we have to find the literature of the solvent effect on heterolytic reaction in order to compare with that of homolytic reaction and limit the solvents have a similar type of intermolecular force as we choose in the free radical reaction. Fortunately, Bartnicka et al.<sup>11</sup> reported that the solvent effect on the Hammett reaction constants of dissociation reactions of substituted benzoic acids. The solvent effects were studied in 11 different solvents, which included protic and aprotic solvents. Treatment of Bartnicka's results of 11 different solvents by means of Eq. 2 gave a poor line. However, the  $\rho$  values of four different aprotic solvents, which with a small Taft's  $\alpha$  value, of substituted benzoic acid cited from the literature<sup>11</sup> are listed in Table 3. Correlation  $\rho$  values of the dissociation reactions of substituted benzoic acids with Taft's  $\pi^*$  scale of the solvents listed in Table 3 is shown in Figure 2 and gives W value of 2.64 and rather good correlation coefficient of 0.968. It might be plausible that the assumption of Taft's  $\pi^*$  scale might reflect truly the effect of intermolecular force between the aprotic solvent and the transition states of both kinds of reactions due to the correlation coefficients are excellent in both of radical and ionic reactions. The ratio of two W values for free radical  $S_{\rm H}2^\prime$  reaction and the dissociation reaction of substituted benzoic acid is about 0.27. It is clear that free radical  $S_H 2'$  reaction is less susceptible to the solvent effect than the ionic reaction is.

**Table 3**. The  $\rho$  values of the dissociation reactions of substituted benzoic acids<sup>11</sup> and solvent parameters

Solvent	ρ	$\pi^*$	α
DMSO	2.57	1.00	0
DMF	2.30	0.88	0
Propylene carbonate	2.01	0.83	0
Acetonitrile	1.95	0.75	0.19



**Figure 2.** Correlation of  $\rho$  values for the dissociation reactions of substituted benzoic acids with Taft's  $\pi^*$ . The *W* is 2.64 and correlation coefficient is 0.968.

Ponec and Hajek reported that influence of the solvent effect on the reaction constants in free radical addition reactions by CNDO/2 calculation.<sup>18</sup> They indicated that the difference between free radical and heterolytic reactions of the solvent effect on the reaction constant is probably quantitative one, consisting in the lower polarity of transition state in the former case. This is also consistent with our experimental results. The ratio of two *W* values is 0.27, which might be rationalized in terms of the partial charge formed in the transition state of free radical reaction is less than that of heterolytic reaction and the susceptibility of solvent effect of free radical  $S_H 2'$  reaction might be about one-fourth of that of dissociation reaction of substituted benzoic acid.

The  $\rho$  value of dissociation reactions of substituted benzoic acid in DMSO is 2.57, which is less than that ( $\rho = 3.39$ ) of free radical  $S_H 2'$  reaction in DMSO. It seems unlikely that there is more charge separation at the transition state of free radical  $S_H 2'$  reaction than that of substituted benzoic acid. Why does free radical  $S_H 2'$  reaction has a higher  $\rho$  value even though the charge separation at the transition state is smaller than that of the ionic reaction? There are two factors that might influence the susceptibility of substituent effect, one is the partial charge formed in the transition state, and the other is the distance between the substituent and the reaction center. The more partial charge is generated in the transition state, the higher susceptibility of substituent effect is, and the higher  $\rho$  value is observed. However, the solvent effects on both kinds of reactions have already indicated that the heterolytic reaction has more developed charge at the transition state than that of free radical reaction. The partial charge at the transition state would be not a major factor to be responsible for the free radical  $S_H 2'$  reaction has a higher  $\rho$  value. The shorter the distance between substituent and reaction center is, the higher the susceptibility of substituent effect is, and the higher  $\rho$  value is observed. If we look over free radical addition reaction, which has a high  $\rho$  value, more carefully, we find that the substituents in these high  $\rho$ values of free radical reactions are all at the  $\alpha$  position of the reaction center.<sup>3a,5,6</sup> This means that the interaction between the reaction center and the substituent is through the distance of one bond. However, the substituent, which is on the benzene ring, is far away from the reaction center in dissociation reactions of substituted benzoic acids and the interaction between the reaction center and the substituent is through the distance of more than four bonds which depends upon the position of the substituent on the benzene ring. The distance between the substituent and the reaction center is shorter in free radical addition reaction than that in the heterolytic reaction. Therefore, the susceptibility of substituent effect might be higher in free radical  $S_H 2'$  reaction than that in the ionic reaction. This might be responsible for that free radical  $S_H 2'$  reaction of 2-substituted allyl chloride has a high  $\rho$  value even though the charge separation at the transition state of free radical  $S_H 2'$  reaction. The substituent effect of photolytic reactions of 2-(substituted phenyl)-3-chloro-1-propene with *t*-BuHgCl is under investigation currently in order to give more evidence to clarify the distance between the substituent and the reaction center is the factor to influence the susceptibility of the substituent effect.

The  $\rho$  value in free radical addition to 2-substituted allyl chloride might not reflect truly the partial charge separation at the transition state, however, it could be considered to be a measure of the susceptibility of the reaction under consideration to the electronic effect of the substituents.

#### 3. Experimental

#### 3.1. General

Analytical gas chromatography was performed using Perkin–Elmer Autosystem with a DB-5 column (0.25  $\mu$ M, 60 M) and a flame ionization detector. GC–MS were recorded on a Quattro GCMS 5022 spectrometer or HP 5890 Series II Gas Chromatograph with HP 5972A MSD.

#### 3.2. Materials

Solvents were purchased from Riedel-de Haen and Mallinckrodt. Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide (DMF) were distilled from calcium hydride and stored over 4 Å molecular sieves under nitrogen; diethyl ether, benzene and tetrahydrofuran were distilled from sodium metal. Other solvents were purchased and used without purification. Allyl chloride, 2-methylallyl chloride, 2-chloroallyl chloride, 2-chloromethylallyl chloride, and biphenyl were purchased from Aldrich Chemical Company. 2-(Phenoxymethyl)allyl chloride was synthesized by the methods reported in the literature.<sup>27</sup> In most cases, the reagents were used without further purification. Organomercurials were synthesized by the standard Grignard procedure.<sup>3</sup>

## **3.3.** General procedure for competitive photostimulated reactions of 2-substitutedallyl halides with *t*-butyl-mercury chloride.<sup>3a</sup>

A pair of 2-substitutedallyl halides (1.0 mmol), *t*-BuHgCl (0.1 mmol) and internal standard (0.05 mmol of biphenyl) was dissolved in 1 mL of nitrogen-purged dry dimethylsulfoxide. The solution was divided into dry and nitrogenpurged four quartz tubes (0.25 mL in each tube) each equipped with a rubber septum. The tubes were irradiated at  $37 \pm 2$  °C with a 100 W UV lamp placed about 20 cm from the reaction tubes. Reaction tubes we removed at various times and the yields of the substitution products were determined by Gas Chromatography. Identification of substitution products was confirmed by comparison of their GC–MS data with those of the authentic compounds synthesized by the method described in our previous reports.<sup>3a,27</sup> GLC yields were determined by using an internal standard (biphenyl) and were corrected with predetermined response factors. The relative rate ratios of the competitive reactions are shown in Table 1.

#### Acknowledgements

This research was supported by a grant from National Science Council of ROC to Y. W. W. (NSC 83-0208-M-214-T).

#### **References and notes**

- 1. Jone, M. J.; Moad, G.; Rizzardo, V.; Solomon, D. H. J. Org. Chem. **1989**, *54*, 1607–1611 and references cited therein.
- 2. Walling, C.; Mayor, R. F. Chem. Rev. 1950, 46, 191-287.
- 3. (a) Wu, Y. W. J. Chin. Chem. Soc. 1996, 43, 507–509.
  (b) Russell, G. A.; Nogviwatchai, P.; Wu, Y. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 4921.
- Hajek, M.; Silhavy, P.; Spirkova, B. Coll. Czeh. Chem. Commun. 1990, 55, 2949–2955 and references cited therein.
- 5. Giese, B.; Meixner, J. Chem. Ber. 1981, 114, 2138-2145.
- 6. Ito, O. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 1466-1471.
- 7. Giese, B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1983, 22, 753-764.
- Johnson, C. D. *The Hammett Equation*; Ebswoorth, E. A. V., Elmore, D. T., Padley, P. J., Schofield, K., Eds.; Cambridge University Press: London, 1973; pp 7–11.
- Martin, M. M.; Gleicher, G. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1964, 86, 233–238.
- 10. Ito, O.; Mutsuda, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 5871-5874.
- Bartnicka, H.; Bojanowska, I.; Kalinowski, M. K. Aust. J. Chem. 1993, 46, 31–36.
- 12. Wu, Y. W.; Huang, S. H.; Tseng, T. F.; Yang, J. F. J. Chin. Chem. Soc. 2004, 51, 1005–1011.
- (a) Russell, G. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 2977–2978.
   (b) Russell, G. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1958, 80, 4987–4996.
   (c) Russell, G. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1958, 80, 4997–5001.
   (d) Russell, G. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1958, 80, 5002–5004.
   (e) Russell, G. A. Tetrahedron 1960, 8, 101–106. (f) Hendry, D. C.; Russell, G. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1964, 86, 2368–2371.
   (g) Russell, G. A.; Williamson, R. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1964, 86, 2357–2364.
- (a) Walling, C.; Mayahi, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1959, 81, 1485–1489. (b) Walling, C.; Wagner, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1964, 86, 3368–3375. (c) Walling, C.; Miller, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 4181–4187. (d) Walling, C.; Gibian, M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1965, 87, 3361–3364. (e) Walling, C.; Jacknow, B. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1960, 82, 6113–6115.
- 15. (a) Huyser, E. S. Adv. Free Rad. Chem. 1965, 1, 771.
  (b) Huyser, E. S.; Kim, L. J. Org. Chem. 1967, 32, 618–621.
- (a) den Hertog, H. J.; Smit, P. Proc. Chem. Soc. 1959, 32.
   (b) Kennedy, R.; Ingold, K. U. Can. J. Chem. 1966, 44, 2381–2385. (c) Gilliom, C.; Ward, P. J.; Huang, R. L. J. Chem. Soc. C 1966, 935.
- 17. Hammett, L. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1937, 59, 96.

- 18. Ponec, R.; Hajek, M. Coll. Czch. Chem. Commun. 1988, 53, 2714–2721.
- 19. Kosower, E. M. An Introduction to Physical Organic Chemistry; Wiley: New York, 1968; p 262.
- 20. Howard, J. A.; Ingold, K. U. Can. J. Chem. 1963, 41, 1744–1751.
- 21. Engstrom, J. P.; DuBose, J. C. J. Org. Chem. 1973, 38, 3817–3822.
- 22. Ito, O.; Matsuda, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 568.
- 23. Ito, O.; Matsuda, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1984, 57, 1745.
- 24. Alfassi, Z. B.; Padmadja, S.; Neta, P.; Huie, R. E. Int. J. Chem. Kinet. **1993**, 25, 151.
- 25. (a) Reichardt, C. Chem. Rev. 1994, 94, 2319. (b) Reichardt, C.

In rev. and Enl., Ed.; Solvent and Solvent Effects in Organic Chemistry 2; VCH: New York, 1988. (c) Tanko, J. M;
Suleman, N. K. Energetics of Organic Free Radicals; Simoes,
J. A. M.; Greenberg, A.; Liberman, J. F., Eds. Blackie Academic & Profession: London, New York, 1996; Chapter 8.
(d) Alfassi, Z. B. General Aspects of the Chemistry of Radicals; Alfassi, Z. B., Ed. Wiley: Chichester, UK; Chapter 14.

- 26. Kamlet, M. J.; Abboud, J. L. M.; Taft, R. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 6027.
- Wu, Y.-W.; Tseng, M.-C.; Lu, C.-Y.; Chou, H.-H.; Tseng, Y.-F.; Hsieh, H.-J. J. Chin. Chem. Soc. 1999, 46, 861–863.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4467-4474

### Exhaustive degradation of the ring D of 3,20-epoxy ent-kaurane-type diterpene maoecrystal A

Liang Xu and Feng-Peng Wang\*

Department of Chemistry of Medicinal Natural Products, West China College of Pharmacy, Sichuan University, No. 17, Duan 3, Renmin Nan Road, Chengdu 610041, People's Republic of China

Received 9 September 2004; revised 16 February 2005; accepted 18 February 2005

Available online 18 March 2005

**Abstract**—This study described a new approach for exhaustive degradation of the ring D of maoecrystal A (1), an *ent*-kaurane-type diterpene from *Isodon eriocalyx*, in seven steps mainly involving retro-aldol reaction, epoxylation, NaIO<sub>4</sub> oxidation, and Baeyer–Villiger process in a 19% overall yield.

© 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

The *ent*-kaurane-type diterpenes are a group of highly oxygenated complex natural products displaying interesting chemical reactions<sup>1</sup> and important biological activities.<sup>2</sup> They were isolated mainly from the genus *Isodon* (Labiatae).<sup>2</sup> The rigorous work of both Fijita and Sun groups on the chemical reactions and the phytochemistry of

*Isodon* species has been reported.<sup>1,2</sup> In the course of investigations of this type diterpenes, we were interested in their chemical reactions. No studies on exhaustive degradation of the ring D of 3,20-epoxy *ent*-kaurane-type diterpenes have been reported so far. Herein we described the detailed isolation of maoecrystals A (1) and B (2) from *I. eriocalyx* and exhaustive degradation of the ring D of maoecrystal A (Scheme 1).



#### Scheme 1.

*Keywords*: Diterpene; *ent*-Kaurane-type diterpene; Maoecrystal A; Exhaustive degradation. \* Corresponding author. Tel./fax: +86 28 85501368; e-mail: wfp@wcums.edu.cn

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02.076



Scheme 2.

#### 2. Results and discussion

## **2.1.** Isolation of maoecrystals A (1) and B (2) from *I. eriocalyx*

The leaves of *I. eriocalyx* were extracted with 70% ethanol. Two methods were used to isolate the starting materials maoecrystals **A** (1) and **B** (2). The first method involved different solvents (EtOAc  $\rightarrow$  ether) extraction after the ethanolic extracts were obtained. From the ether extracts the major product 1 and the minor one 2 were isolated both in 0.2% yield by column chromatography. The second method (see Section 4) involved firstly an ether extraction, then a conversion of maoecrystal **B** (2) to maoecrystal **A** (1) in the presence of HCl<sup>3</sup> followed by a neutralization as well as an ether extraction. Crystallization of the final extracts with acetone gave maoecrystal **A** (1) in large scale (148 g).

## **2.2. Exhaustive degradation of the ring D of maoecrystal** A (1)

This degradation mainly involved with the cleavage of the C-8–C-15 and C-13–C-16 bonds. Capitalizing on the easy conversion of *ent*-kaurenoid diterpene (**3**) to *ent*-abietanoid compound (**5**) via a retro-aldol process (**4**) (Scheme 2)

Table 1. NMR data of compound 6 (<sup>1</sup>H: 400 MHz; <sup>13</sup>C:100 MHz)

reported by Fujita, et al.<sup>4</sup> we treated maoecrystal A(1) with K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> in CH<sub>3</sub>OH-H<sub>2</sub>O at room temperature for 1 h, resulting in the formation of aldehyde 6 in 79% yield along with two by-products. The <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra (Table 1) of **6** showed a distinct aldehyde signal at  $\delta_{\rm H}$  9.51 (s) and  $\delta_{\rm C}$  194.1 (s). The structure of **6**, in particular, the sterochemistry at C-8, was established by 2D NMR and X-ray crystallographic analysis of its derivative 14 (Fig. 1). The <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of one by-product,  $C_{20}H_{24}O_5$ (HRMS), exhibited an additional tetrasubstituted double bond ( $\delta_{\rm C}$  143.7s, 132.4s) and the absence of oxygenatedand non-oxygenated methine carbons compared with those of 6, thus, its structure was assigned to 7. The structure of remaining by-product (C20H26O6, HRMS) was determined as 8, a mixture of a pair of epimer bearing the 16,17-epoxy moiety, on the basis of spectral data.

The success of preparing **6** has prompted us to design a route for cleavage of the C-13–C-16 bond in **6** by Baeyer–Villiger oxidation. Treatment of **6** with NaBH<sub>4</sub> in MeOH at room temperature gave the products **9** (64%) and **10** (16%), a pair of epimer differing at C-7 with same formula (C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>32</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, HRMS). No carbonyl signals in the <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of **9** and **10** indicated that **6** was indeed reduced to the alcohols **9** and **10**, which was supported by the carbon signals at  $\delta$  71.4

No	$\delta_{\mathrm{C}}$	$\delta_{\rm H}$ mult. ( $J$ = Hz)	<sup>1</sup> H– <sup>1</sup> H COSY	HMBC $(H \rightarrow C)$
1	209.1 s	_	_	_
2	41.5 t	2.69 br s	H-3	C-1, C-3, C-4
		2.68 br s		
3	77.6 d	3.72 t (2.8)	H <sub>2</sub> -2	C-1, C-5, C-19, C-20
4	37.8 s	—	—	_
5	54.9 d	1.55 dd (1.6, 11.2)	H-20 (W), H-6	C-1, C-3, C-4, C-6, C-7, C-10, C-18, C-19, C-20
6	73.2 d	4.49 dddd (1.2, 40, 11.2)	H-5, H-19 (W), 6-OH	C-4, C-5, C-7, C-10
7	210.2 s	_	_	_
8	45.7 d	2.46 m (hidden)	Η-9, Η-14α, Η-14β	C-7
9	42.8 d	2.14 m	Η-8, Η-11α, Η-11β	C-1, C-7, C-8, C-10, C-11, C-12, C-14, C-20
10	49.6 s	_	_	_
11	28.6 t	1.89 m (β)	Η-11α, Η-9, Η-12α, Η-12β	C-8, C-9, C-12
		1.12 m (α)	Η-11β, Η-12β, Η-12α	C-9, C-12, C-13
12	30.8 t	1.80 m (α)	H-12β, H-11β, H-14α (W), H-13	C-9, C-11, C-13, C-14
		1.24 m (β)	Η-12α, Η-11α, Η-11β, Η-13	C-9, C-11, C-13, C-14
13	33.8 d	2.14 m	Η-12α, Η-12β, Η-14β	C-12, C-14, C-16
14	30.5 t	2.05 m (α)	H-14β, H-8, H-12α (W)	C-7, C-8, C-9, C-12
		1.39 m (β)	H-14a, H-8, H-13	C-7, C-8, C-9, C-12, C-13, C-16
15	194.1 d	9.51 s	_	_
16	153.6 s	_	_	_
17	133.2 t	6.31 d (0.8)	H-15	C-13, C-15, C-16
		6.03 br s	H-15	C-13, C-15, C-16
18	29.10 q	1.46 s	_	_
19	23.2 g	1.46 s	_	_
20	59.7 t	4.29 d (9.6)	H-20	C-1, C-3, C-5, C-20
		4.05 dd (1.6, 9.6)	H-20, H-5	C-1, C-3, C-5, C-20





Figure 1. Single-crystal X-ray structure of compound 14.

d (C-7), 66.6 d (C-1), 64.7 t (C-15), and  $\delta$  72.8 d (C-7), 64.6 d (C-1), 63.0 t (C-15) in the <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum of **9** and **10**, respectively. The presence of  $\gamma$ -gauche effect of the hydroxyl groups at C-1 and C-7 on C-5 and C-9 in **9** resulted in significant upfield shifts of C-5 ( $\Delta\delta_{\rm C}$  – 13.2) and

C-9 ( $\Delta\delta_{\rm C}$  – 9.3) compared with those of **6**. The H-7 ( $\delta$  3.51, br s) in the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum of **9** was considered to be  $\alpha$ -oriented according to the coupling constant (1H, d,  $J_{6,7}$ = 3.6 Hz,  $J_{5,6}$ = 10.0 Hz). The stereochemistry of the hydroxyl at C-1 was assigned as  $\beta$ -orientation considering the upfield



Scheme 3.

shift to  $\delta$  64.6 (C-1) due to the  $\gamma$ -steric compression effects between 1 $\beta$ -OH with H-9 $\beta$ , H-5 $\beta$  and Me-18. This deduction was indirectly confirmed by a single crystal X-ray diffraction study of **14**.

Treatment of 9 and 10 with 2,2-dimethoxypropane under slightly acidic condition gave, respectively, compounds 11 and 18 in quantitative yield. Their structures were determined by a comparison of the NMR spectra with those of 9 and 10, respectively. Meanwhile, several derivatives 19, 20, and 21 from 18 were also prepared in order to further elucidate the structure of 18. *m*-CPBA oxidation of 11 at room temperature gave a pair of epimer differing at C-16 in 98% yield with the twin peak signals in their NMR spectra. The absence of the signals for the exocyclic double bond and the appearance of two twin oxygen-bearing carbon signals at  $\delta$  62.3 (62.3) (s) and 48.6 (48.4) (t) indicated that the oxidation products are the epoxy derivative 12, a mixture of a pair of epimer differing at C-16 (Scheme 3).

An attempt to cleave the C-15–C-16 bond of **12** by  $Pb(OAc)_4$  oxidation led to expulsion of C-15 or C-17 to give ketone **13** in 61% yield. The <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum of **13** showed a characteristic ketone signal at  $\delta$  205.2 (s). In order to carry out the single crystal X-ray analysis, sulfonation of **13** with MsCl gave **14**, which was confirmed structurally by the X-ray diffraction study, leading to the establishment of the stereochemistry of the C-1, C-7 and C-8 in compounds **9–13**.

However, attempted treatment of 13 with molar excess of m-CPBA to cleave the C-13-C-16 bond by a Baeyer-Villiger process resulted in complex products, probably due to the substitution of the acetyl group at C-17. Finally, this fragment was furnished by the following sequence: LiAlH<sub>4</sub> reduction of 12 followed by a NaIO<sub>4</sub> fragmentation via 15 gave ketone 16 in 91% yield, which reacted with *m*-CPBA to afford the desired compound 17 in 56% yield. The molecular formula  $(C_{22}H_{34}O_6)$  of **17** was established by HREIMS. The <sup>1</sup>H- and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of **17** exhibited an acetyl group ( $\delta_{\rm H}$  1.99, 3H, s;  $\delta_{\rm C}$  171.6 s, 22.2 q). The structure was determined by observation of the shifted downfield from  $\delta$  52.2 to 73.3 in the <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum of 17 compared with those of 16, together with a downfield shifted methine signal at  $\delta$  4.60 (1H, m, H-13 $\alpha$ ). β-Configuration of the acetyl group at C-13 was deduced by the retention of the absolute configuration of C-13 in the Baeyer–Villiger reaction.<sup>5</sup>

The afore-mentioned results showed that exhaustive degradation of the D ring of maoecrystal A (1) might be finished by using the key reactions involving retro-aldol reaction,  $HIO_4$  oxidative fragmentation and Baeyer–Villiger oxidation in seven steps from 1 to 17 in a 19% overall yield.

#### 3. Conclusion

In summary, the present work offers an approach towards exhaustive degradation of the ring D of maoecrystal A (1), an *ent*-kaurane-type diterpene, from *Isodon eriocalyx*, mainly through retro-aldol reaction,  $HIO_4$  oxidative

fragmentation, and a Baeyer–Villiger oxidation in seven steps from 1 to 17 in a 19% overall yield. This is a useful new method for the degradation of the ring D of *ent*-kaurane-type diterpenes bearing the ketone group at C-7 and hydroxyl or acetyl group at C-15.

#### 4. Experimental

#### 4.1. General

Melting points were determined on a Kofler block (uncorrected); optical rotations were measured in a 1.0 dm cell with a PE-314 polarimeter at  $20 \pm 1$  °C; IR spectra were recorded on a Nicolet 200 SXV spectrometer; MS spectra were obtained with a Auto-Spec-3000 intrument; <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra were acquired on a Bruker AC-E 200 or a Varian INOVA-400/54 spectrometer, with TMS as internal standard; Silica gel GF<sub>254</sub> and H (10–40 µm, Qingdao Sea Chemical Factory, China) were used for TLC and CC. The leaves of *Isodon eriocalyx* were collected in Lijiang prefecture of Yunnan province, China, in October 2000.

### **4.2.** Isolation of maoecrystals A (1) and B from *Isodon eriocalyx*

*Maoecrystals* **A** and **B**. The dried and powdered leaves (5.0 kg) were extracted with 70% EtOH (30 L). The ethanol solutions were concentrated and extracted with EtOAc (500 mL×3) and evaporated to give a yellow residue (160 g), which was subjected to a silica gel column chromatography eluting with CHCl<sub>3</sub>–MeOH (10:1–5:5) gradient system to yield maoecrystals **A** (1) (150 mg) and **B** (2) (10 g, 0.2% yield).

*Maoecrystal* **A**. The dried and powdered leaves (210 kg) were extracted with 70% EtOH. The ethanol solutions were concentrated and extracted with ether (20 L×4), evaporated to give the residue (1.5 kg). This was dissolved in a mixture of methanol (1.5 L) and 15% HCl (200 mL) and filtered. The filtrate was dissolved in water (1000 mL) and basified with concentrated NH<sub>4</sub>OH to pH 8, extracted with ether (500×4). To ether extracts acetone (1000 mL) was added and refluxed, recrystallized with acetone to give maoecrystal **A** (1) (149 g).

## **4.3.** Exhaustive degradation of the ring D of maoecrystal A (1)

**4.3.1. Compounds 6, 7, and 8.** To a solution of maoecrystal **A** (1) (2.02 g, 5.84 mmol) in MeOH (80 mL), 10% K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (20 mL) was added at room temperature and the solution was cooled to 10 °C for 1.5 h. The reaction was quenched with aqueous NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (80 mL) and the resulting mixture was extracted with CHCl<sub>3</sub> (50 mL×3). Drying (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), evaporation in vacuum and column chromatography (silica gel H, CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH/98:2 to 95:5) afforded the pure products **6** (white needles, 1.43 g, 79%), **7** (white amorphous powder, 112 mg, 5%), and **8** (white amorphous powder, 428 mg, 15%).

*Compound* **6**. Mp 189–190 °C;  $R_{\rm f}$  (95% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.50;  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}^{20} = -54.0$  (*c* 0.6, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\rm max}$  (KBr) 3452 (OH),

4471

2876, 1725 (CO), 1689 (C=CH<sub>2</sub>), 1168, 1066 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{\rm H}$  (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) and  $\delta_{\rm C}$  (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) see Table 1; *m*/*z* (EI) 346 (100, M<sup>+</sup>), 328 (13, M-H<sub>2</sub>O); HRMS (HREI): M<sup>+</sup>, found 346.1784, C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>26</sub>O<sub>5</sub> requires 346.1780.

Compound 7. Mp 95–96 °C;  $R_f$  (95% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.42;  $[\alpha]_{20}^{20} = -26.4$  (c 0.5, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3424 (OH), 2929, 1734 (CO), 1677 (C=CH<sub>2</sub>), 1649, 1360, 1226, 1166 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$  (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 1.16 (3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>-19), 1.52 (3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>-18), 4.12 (2H, ABq, *J*=9.0 Hz, H<sub>2</sub>-0), 6.04, 6.49 (each 1H, s, H<sub>2</sub>-17), 9.52 (1H, s, H-15);  $\delta_C$  (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 206.4 (C-1), 194.1 (C-7), 194.1 (C-15), 153.7 (C-16), 143.7 (C-6), 132.4 (C-5), 132.1 (C-17), 77.9 (C-3), 64.7 (C-20), 52.1 (C-10), 42.5 (C-8), 41.1 (C-2), 40.4 (C-4), 34.2 (C-9), 33.8 (C-13), 30.9 (C-12), 30.8 (C-14), 27.2 (C-11), 23.0 (C-18), 21.4 (C-19); *m*/*z* (EI) 344 (56, M<sup>+</sup>), 326 (100); HREIMS (HREI): M<sup>+</sup>, found 344.1633, C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>24</sub>O<sub>5</sub> requires 344.1624.

Compound 8. Mp 179–180 °C; Rf (90% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.50;  $[\alpha]_D^{20} = -74.4$  (c 1.5, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\text{max}}$  (KBr) 3473 (OH), 2941, 1729 (CO), 1474, 1387, 1204, 1059 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{\rm H}$ (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 0.97 (0.97) (3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>-19), 1.39 (3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>-18), 2.93 (1H, d, J=4.0 Hz, 6-OH), 3.09 (3.07) (1H, d, J = 4.2 Hz, H-3 $\beta$ ), 3.66 (3.66) (1H, br s, H-17), 4.23–3.97 (each 1H, ABq, J=9.8 Hz, H<sub>2</sub>-20), 4.43 (1H, dd, J=3.4, 11.0 Hz, H-6 $\alpha$ ), 8.77 (1H, s, H-15);  $\delta_{\rm C}$  (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>), 209.0 (208.9) (C-1), 198.9 (198.7) (C-15), 77.4 (77.4) (C-3), 73.2 (73.1) (C-6), 63.2 (63.1) (C-16), 59.6 (59.6) (C-20), 54.6 (54.5) (C-5), 49.4 (49.4) (C-10), 47.5 (47.4) (C-17), 45.2 (45.1) (C-8), 42.5 (42.4) (C-9), 41.4 (41.4) (C-2), 37.7 (37.7) (C-4), 32.6 (32.6) (C-13), 29.1 (29.1) (C-18), 28.1 (28.0) (C-14), 26.8 (26.7) (C-12), 26.2 (26.1) (C-11), 23.1 (23.1) (C-19); m/z (EI) 362 (80, M<sup>+</sup>), 344 (50, M-H<sub>2</sub>O); HRMS (HREI): M<sup>+</sup>, found 362.1738, C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>26</sub>O<sub>6</sub> requires 362.1729.

**4.3.2. Compounds 9 and 10.** To a solution of compound **6** (800 mg, 2.31 mmol) in MeOH (25 mL), NaBH<sub>4</sub> (400 mg, 10.81 mmol) was added at 0 °C and the solution was slowly allowed to warm to room temperature and stir for 2 h. The reaction was quenched with aqueous NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (20 mL) and the resulting mixture was diluted with water and extracted with EtOAc (30 mL×5). The combined organic layer was dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, concentrated and purified by column chromatography (silica gel H, CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH/95:5 to 97:3), affording the pure product **9** (white amorphous powder, 520 mg, 64%) and a by-product **10** (white amorphous powder, 130 mg, 16%).

Compound **9**. Mp 129–130 °C;  $R_f$  (90% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.50;  $[\alpha]_D^{20} = -123.6$  (*c* 1.0, CH<sub>3</sub>OH);  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3382 (OH), 2930, 2867, 1647 (C=CH<sub>2</sub>), 1458, 1082, 1044 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$  (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>+CD<sub>3</sub>COCD<sub>3</sub>) 1.08 (3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>-19), 1.23 (3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>-18), 3.39 (1H, d, J=9.4 Hz, H<sub>a</sub>-20), 3.51 (1H, br s, H-7), 3.77 (1H, d, J=9.4 Hz, H<sub>b</sub>-20), 3.95 (1H, dd, J=10.0, 3.60 Hz, H-6 $\alpha$ ), 4.82, 5.00 (each 1H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-17);  $\delta_C$  (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>+CD<sub>3</sub>COCD<sub>3</sub>) 155.4 (C-16), 107.0 (C-17), 76.9 (C-3), 74.7 (C-6), 71.4 (C-7), 66.6 (C-1), 64.7 (C-15), 62.8 (C-20), 41.7 (C-5), 41.2 (C-10), 40.5 (C-13), 39.4 (C-8), 36.9 (C-4), 36.3 (C-2), 34.6 (C-14), 33.5 (C-9), 33.1 (C-12), 29.9 (C-18), 26.5 (C-11), 23.5 (C-19); m/z (EI) 352 (3, M<sup>+</sup>), 334 (27, M–H<sub>2</sub>O), 316 (100,

 $M-2 \times H_2O$ ), 298 (65,  $M-3 \times H_2O$ ); HRMS (FAB):  $M^+ + H$ , found 353.2323,  $C_{20}H_{33}O_5$  requires 353.2328.

Compound **10**. Mp 215–216 °C;  $R_f$  (90% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.45;  $[\alpha]_D^{2D} = -79.6$  (*c* 0.6, CH<sub>3</sub>OH);  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3335 (OH), 2930, 1651 (C=CH<sub>2</sub>), 1459, 1068, 1054 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$  (200 MHz, DMSO-*d*) 0.98 (3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>-18), 1.12 (3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>-19), 3.37 (2H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-15), 3.25, 3.57 (each 1H, ABq, J=9.2 Hz, H<sub>2</sub>-20), 4.73, 4.91 (each 1H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-17);  $\delta_C$  (50 MHz, DMSO-*d*) 154.8 (C-16), 105.9 (C-17), 78.6 (C-3), 75.2 (C-6), 72.8 (C-7), 64.6 (C-1), 63.0 (C-15), 62.2 (C-20), 42.4 (C-5), 40.8 (C-10), 40.7 (C-13), 39.5 (C-8), 37.5 (C-9), 36.1 (C-2), 36.0 (C-4), 34.1 (C-14), 31.9 (C-12), 29.5 (C-18), 25.4 (C-11), 23.4 (C-19); m/z (EI) 352 (2, M<sup>+</sup>), 334 (35, M-H<sub>2</sub>O), 316 (82, M-2×H<sub>2</sub>O), 298 (37, M-3× H<sub>2</sub>O); HRMS (FAB): M<sup>+</sup> +H, found 353.2337, C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>33</sub>O<sub>5</sub> requires 353.2328.

**4.3.3. Compound 11.** A solution of compound **9** (520 mg, 1.48 mmol) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (30 mL) was treated with 2,2-dimethoxypropane (1 mL, 8.21 mmol) and *p*-TsOH (103 mg, 0.54 mmol) and stirred at room temperature for 1.5 h. The reaction was quenched with saturated NaHCO<sub>3</sub> aqueous solution (20 mL). The organic layer was separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with CHCl<sub>3</sub> (10 mL×2). The combined organic layer was dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and concentrated to give the product **11** as white amorphous powder, 561 mg, (98%).

*Compound* **11.** Mp 177–178 °C;  $R_f$  (95% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.45;  $[\alpha]_D^{20} = -49.9$  (*c* 0.5, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3408 (OH), 2932, 2873, 1649 (C=CH<sub>2</sub>), 1459, 1221, 1031 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$  (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 1.08 (3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>-19), 1.20 (3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>-18), 1.32, 1.50 (each 3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>×2), 3.16 (1H, br s, H-3\beta), 3.31, 3.61 (each, 1H, ABq, J=9.4 Hz, H<sub>2</sub>-20), 3.95 (1H, br s, H-7 $\alpha$ ), 4.10 (2H, s, H<sub>2</sub>-15), 4.90, 5.00 (each, 1H, s, H<sub>2</sub>-17);  $\delta_C$  (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) see Table 2; *m*/*z* (EI) 377 (100, M–CH<sub>3</sub>), 317 (30); HRMS (FAB): M<sup>+</sup>+H, found 393.2632, C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>37</sub>O<sub>5</sub> requires 393.2641.

**4.3.4. Compound 12.** To a solution of compound **11** (573 mg, 1.46 mmol) in  $CH_2Cl_2$  (20 mL), *m*-CPBA (570 mg, 3.33 mmol) was added and the solution was allowed to stand at room temperature for 1.5 h. To the reaction mixture was added saturated Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (20 mL) with stirring vigorously. Extraction (CHCl<sub>3</sub>, 10 mL×3), drying (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) and evaporation in vacuum afforded the product **12** as white amorphous powder, 589 mg, (99%).

Compound 12. Mp 112–113 °C;  $R_f$  (95% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.55;  $[\alpha]_D^{20} = -31.9$  (*c* 0.7, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3435 (OH), 2937, 1577, 1245, 1086, 1030 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$  (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 1.08, 1.20, 1.32, 1.47 (each 3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>×4), 2.68 (2.70), 2.86 (2.88) (each 1H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-17), 3.18 (3.19) (1H, br s, H-3\beta), 3.30, 3.66 (each 1H, ABq, J=9.6 Hz, H<sub>2</sub>-20), 3.58 (3.63) (2H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-15), 3.83 (4.00) (1H, br s, H-7 $\alpha$ ), 4.00 (4.05) (1H, dd, J=3.6, 10.0 Hz, H-1 $\alpha$ ), 4.26 (4.28) (1H, dd, J=4.4, 9.8 Hz, H-6 $\alpha$ );  $\delta_C$  (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) see Table 2; m/z (EI) 409 (10, M<sup>+</sup> + 1), 393 (100, M–CH<sub>3</sub>); HRMS (FAB): M<sup>+</sup> + H, found 409.2579, C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>37</sub>O<sub>6</sub> requires 409.2590.

4.3.5. Compound 13. To a solution of compound 12

 Table 2.
 <sup>13</sup>C NMR data of compounds 11, 12, 15, 16, 17, and 18

Carbon	11	12	15	16	17	18
1	66.0 d	65.9 (65.8) d	65.9 (65.9) d	66.7 d	67.0 d	66.1 d
2	35.6 t	33.5 (33.5) t	33.5 (33.5) t	53.4 t	36.0 t	35.8 t
3	76.8 d	76.6 (76.6) d	76.9 (76.9) d	77.5 d	77.3 d	77.7 d
4	35.4 s	35.3 (35.3) s	35.3 (35.3) s	35.4 s	36.3 s	35.8 s
5	40.8 d	40.1 (40.1) d	40.1 (40.1) d	41.1 d	41.2 d	41.2 d
6	76.0 d	75.9 (75.9) d	76.0 (76.0) d	77.0 d	76.9 d	74.7 d
7	75.6 d	75.7 (75.7) d	75.7 (75.7) d	76.6 d	76.6 d	83.0 d
8	36.9 d	36.5 (36.4) d	36.9 (36.9) d	37.3 d	36.1 d	39.9 d
9	34.9 d	34.9 (34.9) d	35.0 (35.1) d	35.6 d	35.3 d	39.5 d
10	40.8 s	40.1 (40.1) s	40.2 (40.2) s	40.4 s	41.0 s	41.5 s
11	25.6 t	25.1 (24.9) t	25.5 (25.5) t	29.2 t	25.0 t	25.7 t
12	32.0 t	28.5 (27.2) t	27.5 (26.4) t	32.8 t	32.5 t	32.2 t
13	40.2 d	39.9 (39.5) d	44.4 (44.3) d	52.2 d	73.3 d	40.6 d
14	33.5 t	33.5 (32.2) t	31.1 (30.1) t	32.8 t	34.7 t	34.2 t
15	65.1 t	61.2 (61.1) t	68.2 (68.2) t	_	_	64.9 t
16	153.0 s	62.0 (62.0) s	74.4 (74.4) s	211.2 s	171.6 s	152.9 s
17	108.4 t	48.6 (48.4) t	20.3 (20.2) q	25.8 q	22.2 q	108.4 t
18	29.2 q	29.2 (29.2) q	29.2 (29.2) q	30.2 q	30.2 q	28.9 q
19	24.7 q	24.7 (24.7) q	24.7 (24.7) q	27.9 q	25.7 q	22.9 q
20	61.8 t	61.6 (61.6) t	61.8 (61.8) t	62.7 t	62.6 t	62.5 t
$H_{\rm H}C \approx 0$	108.0 s	108.1 (108.1) s	108.0 (108.0) s	108.1 s	108.0 s	108.9 s
	28.8 q	28.8 (28.8) q	28.8 (28.8) q	29.8 q	29.7 q	27.1 q
21	26.9 q	26.9 (26.9) q	26.9 (26.9) q	28.8 q	27.8 q	26.9 q
$H_{3}C^{23}O$						

(100 mg, 0.25 mmol) in PhH (10 mL), Pb(OAc)<sub>4</sub> (270 mg, 0.61 mmol) was added and the solution was allowed to stand at room temperature overnight. Removal of solvent afforded a residue, which was further dissolved in acetone (10 mL) and diluted with H<sub>2</sub>O. Basifying (NH<sub>4</sub>OH), filtering, extraction (CHCl<sub>3</sub>, 10 mL×4), drying (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), evaporation and column chromatography (silica gel H, CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH/100:1.25) afforded the pure product **13** as white amorphous powder, 65 mg (61%).

Compound 13. Mp 180–181 °C; R<sub>f</sub> (98% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.45;  $[\alpha]_{D}^{20} = -47.4$  (*c* 0.7, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3451 (OH), 2926, 2862, 1723 (COO), 1459, 1377, 1248, 1087 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{\rm H}$ (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 1.07, 1.19, 1.31, 1.49 (each 3H, s,  $CH_3 \times 4$ ), 2.14 (3H, s, OAc), 3.16 (1H, br s, H-3 $\beta$ ), 3.29, 3.60 (each, 1H, ABq, J=9.4 Hz, H<sub>2</sub>-20), 3.96 (1H, br s, H-7 $\alpha$ ), 4.00 (1H, br s, J = 10.0 Hz, H-1 $\alpha$ ), 4.29 (1H, dd, J =4.6, 9.8 Hz, H-6 $\alpha$ ), 4.72 (2H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-15);  $\delta_{\rm C}$  (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 205.2 (C-16), 170.2 (COCH<sub>3</sub>), 108.1 (C-21), 76.3 (C-3), 75.9 (C-6), 75.2 (C-7), 66.5 (C-15), 65.7 (C-1), 61.7 (C-20), 47.3 (C-13), 40.1 (C-5, C-10), 36.3 (C-8), 35.4 (C-4), 34.5 (C-9), 33.6 (C-2), 31.5 (C-14), 29.2 (C-18), 28.7 (C-22), 27.9 (C-12), 26.8 (C-23), 24.7 (C-11, C-19), 20.3  $(COCH_3)$ ; m/z (EI) 436 (5, M<sup>+</sup>), 421 (100, M-CH<sub>3</sub>), 361  $(25, M-HOAc), 343 (30); HRMS (FAB): M^+ + H, found$ 437.2544, C<sub>24</sub>H<sub>37</sub>O<sub>7</sub> requires 437.2539.

**4.3.6. Compound 14.** A solution of compound **13** (30 mg, 0.07 mmol) in pyridine (2.5 mL) was treated with MsCl (0.15 mL, 1.93 mmol) and allowed to stand at room temperature for 24 h. Evaporation in vacuum to dryness afforded a residue, which was further diluted with water. After basified to pH 8 with saturated NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, the solution was extracted with CHCl<sub>3</sub> (8 mL×3). Drying (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), removal of solvent, and column chromatography (silica gel H, CHCl<sub>3</sub>–Me<sub>2</sub>CO /30:1) afforded the pure product **14** as cubic crystals, 28 mg (78%).

*Compound* **14**. Mp 150–151 °C; *R*<sub>f</sub> (95% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–Me<sub>2</sub>CO) 0.45;  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}^{20} = -58.4$  (c 0.5, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\rm max}$  (KBr) 2930, 2860, 1720 (COO), 1458, 1370, 1240, 1050 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{\rm H}$  (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 1.07, 1.22, 1.31, 1.48 (each 3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>×4), 2.15 (3H, s, OAc), 3.05 (3H, s, OMs), 3.22 (1H, t, J=2.6 Hz, H-3 $\beta$ ), 3.66, 3.37 (each 1H, ABq, J = 10.0 Hz, H<sub>2</sub>-20), 3.96  $(1H, dd, J=3.0, 7.6 Hz, H-7\beta), 4.26 (1H, dd, J=4.8)$ 10.4 Hz, H-6 $\alpha$ ), 4.72 (2H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-15), 5.01 (1H, dd, J=2.0, 8.8 Hz, H-1 $\alpha$ );  $\delta_{C}$  (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 205.1 (C-16), 170.2 (COCH<sub>3</sub>), 108.3 (C-21), 76.0 (C-3), 75.3 (C-6, C-1), 74.9 (C-7), 66.5 (C-15), 61.2 (C-20), 47.2 (C-13), 40.7 (C-5), 39.8 (C-10), 38.7 (OMs), 36.1 (C-8), 35.4 (C-4), 34.8 (C-9), 32.0 (C-2), 31.3 (C-14), 29.0 (C-18), 28.8 (C-22), 27.9 (C-12), 26.8 (C-23), 24.9 (C-11), 24.5 (C-19), 20.3  $(COCH_3)$ ; m/z (EI) 499 (33, M-CH<sub>3</sub>); HRMS (FAB):  $M^+$  + H, found 515.2325,  $C_{25}H_{30}SO_9$  requires 515.2315.

*Crystal structure for* **14**. A colorless orthorhombic crystal from cyclohexane-acetone was mounted on a P<sub>4</sub> four circle diffractometer and exposed to graphite-monochromated Mo K $\alpha$  irradiation. The unit cell parameters are a=8.584 (2) Å, b=9.118 (3) Å, c=9.605 (5) Å, in space group  $P2_12_12_1$ , of the 3419 measured with  $2.43 \le \theta \le 25.99^\circ$  scan, 3302 were independently observed at the level of  $F_0 > 4\sigma(F_0)$ . The structure was solved by the directed method using the program SHELXTL and the atomic parameters were refined by the full-matrix least squares on  $F^2$  method. The final *R* indices  $[I > 2\sigma(I)]$  was R1=0.0344, WR2=0.0890. Crystallographic data for the structure have been deposited with the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre as supplementary publication numbers CCDC 260659.

**4.3.7. Compound 15.** To a solution of compound **12** (160 mg, 0.39 mmol) in dry THF (20 mL),  $\text{LiAlH}_4$  (59 mg, 1.55 mmol) was added and the solution was allowed to stand at room temperature for 75 min. The reaction solution was treated with EtOAc (5 mL), followed by saturated NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (1.5 mL) dropwise in ice-water bath. Filtering, washing with

4473

EtOAc, drying (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), evaporation and column chromatography (silica gel H, CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH/95:5) afforded the pure product **15** (white amorphous powder, 113 mg, 70%).

Compound **15**. Mp 110–111 °C;  $R_f$  (90% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.50;  $[\alpha]_D^{20} = -36.3$  (*c* 0.6, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3425 (OH), 2934, 2871, 1655, 1459, 1384, 1219, 1087 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$ (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 1.06 (3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>-17), 1.08, 1.18, 1.31, 1.50 (each 3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>×4), 3.13 (3.14) (1H, br s, H-3β), 3.28 (3.28), 3.58 (3.57) (each 1H, ABq, J=9.6 Hz, H<sub>2</sub>-20), 3.36~3.50 (2H, ABq, hidden, H<sub>2</sub>-15), 3.93 (3.95) (1H, dd, hidden, H-7 $\alpha$ ), 4.00 (4.00) (1H, dd, J=2.0, 10.4 Hz, H-1 $\alpha$ ), 4.25 (4.26) (1H, dd, J=3.8, 9.8 Hz, H-6 $\alpha$ );  $\delta_C$  (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) see Table 2; m/z (EI) 409 (1, M<sup>+</sup> – 1), 395 (100, M–CH<sub>3</sub>), 377 (5, M–CH<sub>3</sub>–H<sub>2</sub>O), 363 (10); HRMS (FAB): M<sup>+</sup> + H, found 411.2740, C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>39</sub>O<sub>6</sub> requires 411.2747.

**4.3.8. Compound 16.** To a solution of compound **15** (67 mg, 0.16 mmol) in MeOH–H<sub>2</sub>O (2:1 v/v, 10 mL), NaIO<sub>4</sub> (87 mg, 0.41 mmol) was added and the solution was allowed to stand at room temperature for 30 min. Diluting (H<sub>2</sub>O, 10 mL), extraction (CHCl<sub>3</sub>, 8 mL×4), drying (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) and evaporation afforded the pure product **16** as colorless cubic crystals, 60 mg, (97%).

Compound **16**. Mp 210–211 °C;  $R_f$  (95% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.45;  $[\alpha]_D^{20} = -57.3$  (*c* 0.5, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3505 (OH), 2927, 2869, 1711 (C=O), 1446, 1350, 1210, 1124 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$  (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 1.06, 1.18, 1.31, 1.49 (each 3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>×4), 2.12 (3H, s, COCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.15 (1H, br s, H-3 $\beta$ ), 3.29, 3.59 (each 1H, ABq, J=9.4 Hz, H<sub>2</sub>-20), 3.97 (1H, br s, H-7 $\alpha$ ), 4.00 (1H, br d, J=10.2 Hz, H-1 $\alpha$ ), 4.29 (1H, dd, J=4.6, 9.8 Hz, H-6 $\alpha$ );  $\delta_C$  (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) see Table 2; *m/z* (EI) 379 (1, M<sup>+</sup>+1), 363 (100, M–CH<sub>3</sub>), 303 (15), 285 (45); HRMS (FAB): M<sup>+</sup>+H, found 379.2487, C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>35</sub>O<sub>5</sub> requires 379.2484.

**4.3.9. Compound 17.** A solution of compound **16** (60 mg, 0.16 mmol) in  $CH_2Cl_2$  (5 mL) was treated with *m*-CPBA (109 mg, 0.64 mmol) and stirred at room temperature for 24 h. To this solution 10% Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> was added, then stirring vigorously for 10 min. The organic layer was separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with CHCl<sub>3</sub>. The combined organic layers were dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, concentrated and purified by column chromatography (silica gel H, CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH/100:2), affording the pure product **17** as white amorphous powder, 35 mg, (56%).

Compound 17. Mp 234–235 °C;  $R_f$  (98% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.55;  $[\alpha]_D^{20} = -22.6$  (*c* 0.5, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3480 (OH), 2932, 1730 (COO), 1440, 1387, 1247, 1221, 1087, 1024 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$  (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 1.07, 1.19, 1.30, 1.50 (each 3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>×4), 1.99 (3H, s, OAc), 3.16 (1H, br s, H-3 $\beta$ ), 3.28, 3.58 (each 1H, ABq, J=9.4 Hz, H<sub>2</sub>-20), 3.94 (1H, br s, H-7 $\alpha$ ), 4.00 (1H, dd, J=1.6, 9.8 Hz, H-1 $\alpha$ ), 4.28 (1H, dd, J=4.8, 9.8 Hz, H-6 $\alpha$ ), 4.60 (1H, m, H-13 $\alpha$ );  $\delta_C$  (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) see Table 2; *m*/*z* (EI) 393 (5, M<sup>+</sup> – 1), 379 (100, M–CH<sub>3</sub>), 319 (4, M–HOAc); HRMS (FAB): M<sup>+</sup> + H, found 395.2428, C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>35</sub>O<sub>6</sub> requires 395.2434.

**4.3.10. Compound 18.** To a solution of compound **10** (173 mg, 0.49 mmol) in  $CH_2Cl_2$  (10 mL), 2, 2-dimethoxy-propane (0.3 mL, 2.40 mmol) and *p*-TsOH (30 mg,

0.17 mmol) was added. The solution was stirred at room temperature for 1.5 h. The reaction was quenched with saturated NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (10 mL) and the aqueous layers was extracted with CHCl<sub>3</sub> (5 mL×3). Drying (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) and removal of solvent afforded the product **18** as white amorphous powder, 190 mg, (99%).

Compound **18**. Mp 109–110 °C;  $R_f$  (95% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.50;  $[\alpha]_D^{20} = -33.4$  (*c* 0.5, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3424 (OH), 2931, 1649 (C=CH<sub>2</sub>), 1452, 1371, 1233, 1087, 1057 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$  (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 1.04, 1.20, 1.41, 1.42 (each 3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>×4), 3.02 (1H, t, *J*=8.8, 9.8 Hz, H-7 $\beta$ ), 3.17 (1H, d, *J*=2.2 Hz, H-3 $\beta$ ), 3.43, 3.78 (each, 1H, ABq, *J*=9.6 Hz, H<sub>2</sub>-20), 3.64 (1H, dd, *J*=2.2 Hz, H-6 $\alpha$ ), 4.01 (1H, br d, *J*= 9.4 Hz, H-1 $\alpha$ ), 4.09 (1H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-15), 4.87, 501 (each 1H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-17);  $\delta_C$  (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) see Table 2; *m/z* (EI) 392 (2, M<sup>+</sup>), 377 (100, M–CH<sub>3</sub>), 317 (45), 299 (60); HRMS (FAB): M<sup>+</sup>+H, found 393.2642, C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>37</sub>O<sub>5</sub> requires 393.2641.

**4.3.11. Compound 19.** A solution of compound **19** (40 mg, 0.10 mmol) and DMAP (12.2 mg, 0.10 mmol) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (5 mL) was treated with TBSOTf (0.03 mL, 0.15 mmol) and stirred at room temperature for 40 min. The reaction was quenched with saturated NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (5 mL). The organic layer was separated and the water layer was extracted with CHCl<sub>3</sub> (5 mL×2). Drying (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), removal of solvent and column chromatography (silica gel H, CHCl<sub>3</sub>–Me<sub>2</sub>CO/ 60:1) afforded the pure product **19** as white amorphous powder, 41 mg, (80%).

*Compound* **19**. Mp 92–93 °C; *R*<sub>f</sub> (95% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.46;  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}^{20} = -51.5$  (*c* 0.6, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\rm max}$  (KBr) 3458 (OH), 2936, 1471, 1370, 1233, 1092 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{\rm H}$  (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 0.03 (6H, s, Si-CH<sub>3</sub>×2), 0.88 (9H, s, *t*-Bu), 1.02, 1.18, 1.39, 1.40 (each 3H, s,  $CH_3 \times 4$ ), 3.00 (1H, t, J=8.8, 9.8 Hz, H-7 $\beta$ ), 3.15 (1H, br d, J=3.4 Hz, H-3 $\beta$ ), 3.41, 3.78 (each, 1H, ABq, J = 9.8 Hz, H<sub>2</sub>-20), 3.62 (1H, dd, J = 8.8, 11.6 Hz, H-6 $\alpha$ ), 4.00 (1H, dd, J=3.0, 9.8 Hz, H-1 $\alpha$ ), 4.06 (2H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-15), 4.79, 5.01 (each 1H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-17);  $\delta_{\rm C}$  (50 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 152.4 (C-16), 108.9 (C-21), 106.8 (C-17), 83.0 (C-7), 77.7 (C-3), 74.7 (C-6), 66.2 (C-1), 64.8 (C-15), 62.5 (C-20), 41.5 (C-10), 41.2 (C-5), 40.8 (C-13), 40.0 (C-8), 39.2 (C-9), 35.9 (C-2, C-4), 34.2 (C-14), 32.4 (C-12), 28.9 (C-18), 27.1 (C-22), 26.9 (C-23), 25.9 (C-11), 25.8 ((CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>C-Si), 25.8 ((CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>C-Si), 25.8 ((CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>C-Si), 18.2 ((CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>C–Si), 22.9 (C-19), -5.4 (Me<sub>2</sub>Si), -5.4 (Me<sub>2</sub>Si); m/z (EI) 506 (1, M<sup>+</sup>), 491 (100, M-CH<sub>3</sub>), 449 (88, M- $C(CH_3)_2$ ), 391 (50, 2× $C(CH_3)_2$ ); HRMS (FAB): M<sup>+</sup>+H, found 507.3549, C<sub>29</sub>H<sub>51</sub>SiO<sub>5</sub> requires 507.3506.

**4.3.12. Compound 20.** A solution of compound **18** (70 mg, 0.18 mmol) and DMAP (49 mg, 0.40 mmol) in  $CH_2Cl_2$  (7 mL) was treated with Ac<sub>2</sub>O (0.1 mL, 1.06 mmol) and stirred at room temperature for 30 min. The reaction was quenched with saturated NaHCO<sub>3</sub> solution (7 mL). General work-up and column chromatography (silica gel H, CHCl<sub>3</sub>– CH<sub>3</sub>OH/98:2) afforded the pure product **20** (white amorphous powder, 65 mg, 77%).

Compound **20**. Mp 70–71 °C;  $R_{\rm f}$  (95% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.42;  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}^{20} = -86.2$  (*c* 0.5, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\rm max}$  (KBr) 2930, 1738 (COO), 1650, 1369, 1236, 1053 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_{\rm H}$  (200 MHz,

 $CDCl_3$ ) 1.01, 1.21, 1.41, 1.41 (each 3H, s,  $CH_3 \times 4$ ), 2.06, 2.11 (each 3H, s, OAc $\times$ 2), 2.97 (1H, dd, J=8.8, 10.2 Hz, H-7 $\beta$ ), 3.18 (1H, dd, J=1.2, 4.0 Hz, H-3 $\beta$ ), 3.49, 3.80 (each, 1H, ABq, J = 10.0 Hz, H<sub>2</sub>-20), 3.62 (1H, dd, J = 8.8, 11.4 Hz, H-6 $\alpha$ ), 4.50 (2H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-15), 4.92, 5.00 (each 1H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-17), 5.06 (1H, dd, J=2.8, 9.8 Hz, H-1 $\alpha$ );  $\delta_{\rm C}$  (50 Hz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 170.5 (COCH<sub>3</sub>), 170.4 (COCH<sub>3</sub>), 147.5 (C-16), 111.1 (C-17), 109.1 (C-21), 83.1 (C-7), 77.4 (C-3), 74.3 (C-6), 68.7 (C-1), 64.8 (C-15), 62.2 (C-20), 42.5 (C-5), 41.3 (C-13), 40.4 (C-10), 39.6 (C-8, C-9), 35.7 (C-4), 35.5 (C-2), 31.9 (C-14, C-12), 28.9 (C-18), 27.1 (C-22), 26.8 (C-23), 25.7 (C-11), 22.9 (C-19), 21.2 (COCH<sub>3</sub>), 20.9 (COCH<sub>3</sub>); m/z (EI) 476 (1, M<sup>+</sup>), 461 (100, M-CH<sub>3</sub>), 401 (8,  $M - CH_3 - HOAc)$ , 359 (30,  $M - CH_3 - HOAc - H_2O$ ); HRMS (FAB):  $M^+ + H$ , found 477.2858,  $C_{27}H_{41}O_7$ requires 477.2852.

**4.3.13.** Compound **21.** A solution of compound **18** (120 mg, 0.31 mmol) and DMAP (19 mg, 0.16 mmol) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (12 mL) was treated with Ac<sub>2</sub>O (0.04 mL, 0.47 mmol) and stirred at room temperature for 30 min. The reaction was quenched with saturated NaHCO<sub>3</sub> solution (7 mL) was added. The organic layer was separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with CHCl<sub>3</sub> (5 mL×2). Drying (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), evaporation and column chromatography (silica gel H, CHCl<sub>3</sub>–Me<sub>2</sub>CO/60:3) afforded the pure product **21** as white amorphous powder, 91 mg, (68%) besides the other product **20** (20 mg, 14%).

Compound **21**. Mp 118–119 °C;  $R_f$  (94% CHCl<sub>3</sub>–CH<sub>3</sub>OH) 0.45;  $[\alpha]_D^{20} = -72.3$  (*c* 0.7, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3487 (OH), 2933, 1740 (COO), 1650, 1369, 1236, 1053 cm<sup>-1</sup>;  $\delta_H$  (200 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 1.01, 1.17, 1.38, 1.40 (each 3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>×4), 2.12 (3H, s, OAc), 3.00 (1H, t, *J*=8.8, 9.8 Hz, H-7 $\beta$ ), 3.14 (1H, br d, *J*=3.4 Hz, H-3 $\beta$ ), 3.41, 3.76 (each, 1H, ABq, *J*=9.2 Hz, H<sub>2</sub>-20), 3.61 (1H, dd, *J*=8.8, 11.4 Hz, H-6 $\alpha$ ), 3.98 (1H, br d, *J*=9.8 Hz, H-1 $\alpha$ ), 4.50 (2H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-15), 4.92, 4.99 (each 1H, br s, H<sub>2</sub>-17);  $\delta_C$  (50 MHz,

CDCl<sub>3</sub>) 170.8 (*CO*CH<sub>3</sub>), 147.6 (C-16), 111.2 (C-17), 109.0 (C-21), 82.9 (C-7), 77.7 (C-3), 74.7 (C-6), 66.1 (C-1), 65.9 (C-15), 62.5 (C-20), 41.5 (C-10), 41.2 (C-5), 40.6 (C-13), 39.8 (C-8), 39.6 (C-9), 35.9 (C-4), 35.6 (C-2), 34.3 (C-14), 32.0 (C-12), 28.9 (C-18), 26.9 (C-22), 25.7 (C-11, C-23), 22.9 (C-19), 21.0 (CO*CH*<sub>3</sub>); *m*/*z* (EI) 434 (2, M<sup>+</sup>), 419 (100, M-CH<sub>3</sub>), 359 (30, M-CH<sub>3</sub>–HOAc), 341 (20), 299 (55); HRMS (FAB): M<sup>+</sup> + H, found 435.2744, C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>39</sub>O<sub>6</sub> requires 435.2747.

#### Acknowledgements

Financial support for this research was provided by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 30472075). We would like to thank Jian-Li Wang for checking and writing experimental section of this manuscript. The authors also acknowledged with thanks the help of Professor Han-Dong Sun, Kunming Institute of Botany, Chinese Academy of Sciences, in the collection and extraction of the plant materials.

#### **References and notes**

- Fujita, E.; Node, M. In Herz, M., Ed.; Progress in Chemistry of Organic Natural Products; Springer: New York, 1984; Vol. 46, pp 77–157.
- 2. Sun, H. D.; Yu, Y. C.; Jiang, B. Diterpenoids from Isodon species; Science: Beijing, 2001.
- 3. Li, C. B.; Sun, H. D.; Zhou, J. Acta Chim. Sinica 1998, 46, 782–784.
- 4. Fujita, E.; Fujita, T.; Shibuya, M. Tetrahedron 1969, 25, 2517–2530.
- 5. Berson, J. A.; Suzuki, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1959, 81, 4088–4094.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4475-4483

### Organometallic alkylation of 2-chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine: a study

Simona Samaritani, Giovanni Signore, Corrado Malanga and Rita Menicagli\*

Dipartimento di Chimica e Chimica Industriale, Università di Pisa, Via Risorgimento 35, 56126 Pisa, Italy

Received 30 August 2004; revised 4 February 2005; accepted 18 February 2005

Available online 23 March 2005

Abstract—The reactivity of 2-chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (1) has been investigated in Pd- or Ni-catalyzed cross-coupling processes with organostannanes, Grignard reagents, organoalanes and organozinc halides. All organometallic reagents considered form new C–C bonds on the heteroaromatic ring and afford the corresponding 2-alkyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazines in moderate to very good yields. The collected data allows the choice of the alkylating agent as well as the experimental conditions depending on the residue to transfer. © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### **1. Introduction**

During the last few years the potential of 1,3,5-triazine derivatives in molecular recognition, agrochemical and medicinal properties has been subject to investigation.<sup>1</sup> Our studies pointed out that 2-alkyl-4,6-dihetero(*N*,*O*)alkyl-1,3,5-triazines (Fig. 1) show interesting antitumor properties.<sup>1c-e</sup> Among the structures studied, 2-(alk-1'-ynyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazines were the most promising compounds. In order to gain an insight into the structure–activity relationship, the synthesis of 2-aryl (alkyl or alk-1'-enyl or benzyl or allyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazines was necessary.



#### Figure 1.

The use of transition metal-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions, between 2-chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (1) and different organometallic reagents, is hereby reported and critically discussed in order to provide the most convenient procedures for the synthesis of the desired compounds.

#### 2. Results and discussion

Since the 1990s, transition metal catalyzed cross-coupling reactions have been described for the preparation of symmetrical and non-symmetrical 1,3,5-triazine systems, starting from 2,4,6-trichloro-1,3,5-triazine or its derivatives.<sup>2</sup> Recently we used Sonogashira cross-coupling to prepare 2-(alk-1'-ynyl)-4,6-dialkoxy-1,3,5-triazines.<sup>3</sup> The good results obtained in the Sonogashira<sup>3</sup> and in the Stille<sup>1e</sup> cross-couplings prompted us to extend this last approach to the transfer of other unsaturated residues onto the heteroaromatic ring (Scheme 1). The use of tributylalk-1enylstannanes in Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling procedures is well known,<sup>4</sup> and in our case the introduction of prop-1enyl residue was successfully achieved, affording (E,Z)-2a (Scheme 1). The diastereomeric composition (glc) of the product was the same as the starting organotin derivative. In turn, when Stille cross-couplings are carried out with allyl stannanes, a process of isomerization of the double bond is often observed,<sup>4,5</sup> which can sometimes be prevented by using tri(2-furyl)phosphine as the palladium ligand.<sup>5d</sup> Nevertheless, the description of Stille non-isomerized allyl products under more usual conditions is frequent.4,56,6



Scheme 1.

*Keywords*: 2-Chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine; Organometallics; Coupling reactions; Palladium and nickel catalysts.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +39 50 2219281; fax: +39 50 2219260; e-mail: rime@dcci.unipi.it

<sup>0040–4020/\$ -</sup> see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02.085

Therefore, the synthesis of 2-allyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine was attempted under the same conditions allowing the preparation of the other derivatives (Scheme 1). It was found that the structure of the product was strongly affected by the work-up procedure: as a matter of fact, when the usual hydrolysis sequence was carried out [Procedure A: (1) KF<sub>aq</sub> (60% wt); (2) filtration on Florisil<sup>®</sup>/silica gel], only (*E*)-2-prop-1'-enyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine [(*E*)-**2a**] was obtained. It has to be underlined that only 2-allyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine had been detected (glc and GC/ms) in the reaction mixture prior to hydrolysis.

In order to understand if the formation of (E)-2a was a baseand/or Pd-mediated process, in a further experience the reaction mixture was (1) filtered on Florisil<sup>®</sup>/silica gel, to remove most of the catalyst and (2) treated with the KF solution (Procedure B). Under these conditions no traces of (E)-2a were detected and 2b was obtained in good yield (69%). Moreover, the quantitative isomerization of **2b** into (E)-2a was achieved when a pure sample of 2b was treated with both a 60% KF aqueous solution and a catalytic amount of Pd/C. In turn, **2b** was recovered unreacted when it was treated with the same basic solution in the absence of the Pd catalyst. The observed base- and Pd-catalyzed isomerization process conveniently afforded 2 (2',2'-dialkylalk-1'-enyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazines, whose synthesis would otherwise need the tedious preparation of the necessary 2-alkyl-1-haloalk-1-enes. In order to verify this possibility, a cross-coupling reaction was carried out between 1 and 2-methylprop-2-enyltributylstannane (
ß-methallyltributyltin, Scheme 1), following the work-up Procedure A. The reaction was much slower and no isomerization was observed; eventually, 2c was recovered with a moderate (55%) isolated yield.

Although tetraalkyltin compounds are sometimes used as cross-coupling alkylating agents,<sup>4</sup> their use for the preparation of 2-alkyl-4,6-dialkoxy-1,3,5-triazines seemed rather expensive. To overcome this problem, the use of readily available Grignard reagents under the Kumada reaction conditions was investigated (Scheme 2). In this context, arylation and allylation processes, previously carried out via Stille reaction, were repeated and compared under the Kumada protocol. A preliminary experiment, carried out in the presence of PdCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>, afforded only by-products arising from decomposition of **1**. Although recently iron-catalyzed cross-couplings between RMgBr  $(R=n.C_{14}H_{29} \text{ and } Ph)$  and 1 were described,<sup>2e</sup> the availability of NiCl<sub>2</sub>(dppe) in our laboratory prompted us to use this catalyst, which is widely employed in Kumada cross-couplings.' The main results obtained are collected in Table 1: while the reaction failed in the cases of Bn- and  $\beta$ -MethallylMgCl (Table 1, entries 4 and 5), 1 reacted



Table 1. Kumada cross-coupling between 1 and Grignard reagents<sup>a</sup>

Entry	<i>t</i> (h), <i>T</i> (°C)	R	Et <sub>2</sub> O/THF	2 % Yield <sup>b</sup>
1	2, 25	Et ( <b>d</b> )	100/0	74
2	1, 25	<i>i</i> .Bu ( <b>e</b> )	100/0	60
3	4, 25	<i>i</i> .Pr ( <b>f</b> )	100/0	68
4	76, 25	Bn (g)	100/0	35
5	48,60	$\beta$ -Methallyl (c)	80/20	0
6	14, 25	Ph ( <b>h</b> )	95/5	75
7	3, 25	$m.F-C_6H_4$ (i)	50/50	65
8	28, 25	$p.MeO-C_6H_4$ (j)	50/50	$30^{\circ}$

<sup>a</sup> Reactions carried out in the presence of NiCl<sub>2</sub>(dppe)<sub>2</sub>, 1/RMgX/cat = 1/1.3/0.05.

<sup>b</sup> Isolated yield.

<sup>c</sup> 50% conversion (glc).

smoothly with primary,  $\alpha$ -branched primary and secondary Grignard reagents (Table 1, entries 1–3) and afforded the corresponding products **2d–f** in good isolated yields (60–74%).

As far as arylmagnesium halides are concerned, the outcome of the reaction was strongly affected by the nature of the aromatic Grignard reagent used. In particular, good results were obtained in the preparation of 2h-i (Table 1, entries 6 and 7), while repeated experiments carried out in the presence of *p*-methoxyphenylmagnesium bromide always afforded 2j in modest yield, due to the partial conversion of 1 (Table 1, entry 8).

Moreover, it should be noted that, under the reaction conditions, minor amounts of by-products (7-10%) arising from the di- and trialkylation of **1** were observed (GC/ms).

In a further step and with the aim of comparing the use of organotin and organomagnesium derivatives in the alkenylation of **1**, the possible synthetic pathways to the necessary unsaturated organometallic reagents were critically considered (Scheme 3). A common and convenient synthetic procedure for the preparation of 1-haloalk-1-enes, precursors of both organometals, is the halolysys of C–B<sup>8</sup> or C–Al<sup>9</sup> bonds, arising from hydroboration<sup>10</sup> or hydroalumination<sup>11</sup> processes (Scheme 3, sequences *A*, *B*). An alternative, more recent procedure (Scheme 3, Sequence *C*) allows the direct transmetallation of the unsaturated residue from organoalane to organotin.<sup>12</sup> Unfortunately, this rather attractive approach is not general, since the obtained yields are satisfactory only in the case of non- $\alpha$ -substituted organoalanes.<sup>12</sup> Moreover, the preparation of vinylic



Scheme 3.

Grignard reagents has been recently achieved by Mnpromoted carbomagnesiation of acetylenic linkages.<sup>13</sup>

Taking into account that (i) alk-1-enyldialkylalanes are often key intermediates in the preparation of the corresponding halides and that (ii) these organometallic reagents have been known for years as alkenylating agents in Pd or Ni catalysed cross-coupling reactions,<sup>14</sup> their use for the alkenylation of **1** was considered.

In order to verify the reactivity of alkenylalanes with 1 under the usual cross-coupling conditions, 1 was reacted with di-isobutyl(hex-1-enyl)alane in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, using PdCl<sub>2</sub>- $(PPh_3)_2$  as catalyst. Since only decomposition products were observed, the reaction was repeated in THF (Table 2, entry 1). In this case, the analysis of the reaction mixture revealed the formation of the expected 2-(hex-1'-enyl)-4,6dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (2k). Nevertheless, 2k was recovered in modest yield (38%) due to the competitive formation of an equimolar amount of 2-(2'-methylpropyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (2e). In a further experiment the lack of selectivity in the chain transfer was solved (Table 2, entry 2) by replacing  $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$  with  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$ . In the presence of this catalyst the conversion of 1 into 2k was completely chemoselective and the desired derivative was recovered in 60% yield (Table 2, entry 2). Although the yield obtained in the synthesis of 2k was lower than that obtained in the preparation of 2a by the Stille cross-coupling (70%, see Scheme 1), it has to be underlined

Table 2. Cross-coupling reactions between 1 and alkenyldiisobutylalanes<sup>a</sup>

that the synthesis of alkenylalanes via hydroalumination is more convenient than the preparation of alkenylstannanes. This observation suggested the use of unsaturated alanes in the synthesis of other triazine derivatives. Thus, in a further experiment, phenylethyne was used as precursor of the organoaluminium reagent and afforded the expected 21 in moderate (51%) yield (Table 2, entry 3). In this case, a significant (21%) amount of 2-phenylethynyl-4,6dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine<sup>3b</sup> was observed due to the competitive metallation of phenylethyne. The cases reported in entries 4-6 of Table 2 were considered to verify if β-branched unsaturated residues as well as internal alkenyl chaines could be transferred. The reactions were carried out in the presence of ZnCl<sub>2</sub>, to enhance the reactivity of sterically hindered alkenylalanes.<sup>14b</sup> In none of the examples appreciable amounts of the corresponding 2-alkenyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazines were isolated, but 2e was always present in the reaction mixtures.

On the basis of these results it seems reasonable to conclude that alk-1-enyldi-isobutylalanes can be successfully used to prepare 2-(alk-1'-enyl)-4,6-dialkoxy-1,3,5-triazines only when the unsaturated chain is not hindered.

Although it is well-known that ethereal solvents can sometimes inhibit the reactivity of organoalanes,<sup>15</sup> the cross-couplings of 1 with unsaturated organoalanes (Table 2, entries 1–3) were successfully carried out in the presence of THF. These results suggested the in situ

	<i>i</i> .BuA	R <u>1, Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub></u>	MeO N OMe 2k,I		
Entry	<i>t</i> (h)	THF/n.Hexane	R	2 % Yield <sup>b</sup>	
1 <sup>c</sup>	15 (rt), 5 <sup>d</sup>	50/50	<i>n</i> .Bu ( <b>k</b> )	38 <sup>e</sup>	
2 <sup>f</sup>	13 (rt), 4 <sup>g</sup>	60/40	<i>n</i> .Bu ( <b>k</b> )	60	
3 <sup>h</sup>	5 (rt), 30 <sup>d</sup>	60/40	Ph (I)	51 <sup>i</sup>	
4 <sup>j</sup>	48 (rt)	50/50	Et Me	k	
5 <sup>j</sup>	20 (rt), 4 <sup>1</sup>	75/25	t.Bu	m	
6 <sup>i</sup>	4 (rt), 15 <sup>g</sup>	45/55	Et	m	

<sup>a</sup> 1/Organometal/cat = 1/1.15/0.03.

<sup>b</sup> Isolated yield.

<sup>c</sup> Reaction carried out in the presence of PdCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>.

<sup>d</sup> T = 40 °C.

<sup>e</sup> From the reaction mixture 2-*i*.butyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (2e) was recovered (45%).

f 90% conversion (glc).

 $^{g}_{T}T = 50 ^{\circ}C.$ 

<sup>h</sup> 100% conversion (glc).

<sup>i</sup> A sample (21%) of 2-(2'-phenylethynyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine<sup>3b</sup> was isolated.

 $^{j}$  0.5 equiv of ZnCl<sub>2</sub> were added.

<sup>k</sup> In the reaction mixture the main product was 2e (30%) along with traces of the desired product (GC/ms).

<sup>1</sup> At reflux.

<sup>m</sup>In the reaction mixture only 2e was detected (glc).

R

		AICI <sub>3</sub> $\frac{1) 3 \text{ RMgX}}{2) 1, \text{ PdCI}_2(\text{PPh}_3)_2} \text{ M}$	N N leo N OMe 2d-j,m-o		
Entry	<i>t</i> (h)	Et <sub>2</sub> O/THF	R	<b>2</b> % Yield <sup>b</sup>	
1	4	100/0	Et ( <b>d</b> )	81	
2	4	100/0	$n.\text{Hex}(\mathbf{m})$	75	
3	2	100/0	<i>i</i> .Bu ( <b>e</b> )	70	
4	2	100/0	$(S)$ - $(2Me)Bu(\mathbf{n})$	70	
5 <sup>c</sup>	18	65/35	<i>i</i> .Pr (f) Me	43 <sup>d</sup>	
6 <sup>e</sup>	6	60/40	Me (0) <sup>e</sup>	62	
7	$3^{\rm f}$	100/0	Bn (g)	74	
8	12	70/30	$Ph(\mathbf{\hat{h}})$	75	
9	200	50/50	$m.F-C_6H_4$ (i)	g	
10	$2^{\mathrm{f}}$	65/35	$p.MeO-C_6H_4(\mathbf{j})$	88	

<sup>a</sup>  $1/AIR_3/PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2 = 1/1.15/0.03$ ; reactions carried out at reflux if not otherwise stated; quantitative conversion was observed if not otherwise stated. <sup>b</sup> Isolated vield.

<sup>c</sup> 82% conversion (glc).

<sup>d</sup> In the reaction mixture 2-*n*.propyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine was also recovered (21%).<sup>17</sup>

 $^{e}$  When  $\beta$ -methallylMgCl was used 2-(2'-methylprop-1'-enyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (20) was obtained.

<sup>f</sup> Reaction carried out at room temperature.

<sup>g</sup> Repeated experiences never afforded more than 10% conversion (glc) of 1.

preparation of trialkyl (aryl or allyl or benzyl) alanes by a transmetallation reaction between  $AlCl_3$  and the suitable Grignard reagent<sup>15</sup> (Table 3). This approach, which was not a priori predictable, due to the possible interaction between Lewis acids and the catalytic system used,<sup>16</sup> would simplify the procedure, avoiding the rather cumbersome isolation of the organoalanes.

The collected data (Table 3) shows that 1 can be conveniently alkylated by organoalanes prepared in situ, and that the presence of magnesium salts does not affect the activity of the catalytic system.<sup>16</sup> In particular: (i) the yield of **2** was very good (70–81%) when aliphatic primary (Table 3, entries 1 and 2) as well as  $\alpha$ -branched primary (Table 3, entries 3 and 4) alanes were used. (ii) The partial isomerization of the transferred chain was observed when tri-isopropylalane was used (Table 3, entry 5) and, in repeated experiments, carried out under different reaction conditions (solvent, temperature, catalyst), the formation of 2-*n*-propyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine<sup>17</sup> could never be avoided. Anyway, chemically pure 2f was recovered in 43% yield. (iii) When  $\beta$ -methallylmagnesium chloride was used for the preparation of the corresponding alane, the crosscoupling yielded 2-(2'-methylprop-1'-enyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (20), isolated in 62% yield. (iv) Tribenzylalane was particularly reactive and afforded the desired 2 g in 74% yield (Table 3, entry 7). (v) Eventually, triarylalanes could be employed in the cross-coupling reaction with 1, although the outcome of the reaction seemed to depend on the nature of the transferred aryl residue. As a matter of fact, while triphenylalane and tri(4-methoxyphenyl)alane afforded **2h** and **2j** in very good yields (Table 3, entries 8 and 10, respectively), it was not possible to obtain 2-(3'fluorophenyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (2i, Table 3, entry 9), contrary to what was observed with Grignard reagents (see Table 1, entries 6-8).

The results concerning trialkyl (or aryl) alanes showed that

these organometallic reagents are complementary to the previously studied ones. In fact, they allowed the benzylation of **1** as well as the synthesis of **20** via the isomerization of the corresponding methallyl residue. Moreover, while Grignard reagents had afforded minor amounts of di- and trialkylated products (Table 1), no appreciable amounts (glc) of these byproducts were observed when trialkylalanes were used. Nevertheless, the protocol seemed rather expensive, because only one out of the three residues could be transferred from the organoalane to the heteroaromatic ring.<sup>15</sup> Further efforts were thus made to use mixed organoalanes (REt<sub>2</sub>Al) for the one-pot transfer of nonaliphatic residues. These organometallic reagents can be readily obtained by reaction between chlorodiethylalane and a suitable Grignard reagent.<sup>15</sup> While the cross-coupling between 1 and benzyldiethylalane gave unsatisfactory results in the presence of both  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$  and  $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$ (Table 4, entries 1 and 2), the reaction of 4-methoxyphenylas well as diethylphenylalane afforded 2j and 2h in 71 and

Table 4. Cross-coupling reaction between 1 and benzyl(aryl)diethylalanes  $REt_2Al^{\rm a}$ 

Et	1) RMgX	
Et	2) <b>1</b> , Pd(PPh <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>4</sub>	MeO <sup><sup>''</sup>N<sup>''</sup>OMe 2g,h,j</sup>

Entry	<i>t</i> (h)	Et <sub>2</sub> O/THF	R	2 % Yield <sup>b</sup>
$\frac{1}{2^d}$	68 2	70/30	Bn (g)	35 <sup>°</sup>
2 3	3 25	0/100	$p.MeOC_6H_4$ (j)	33 71
4	10	70/30	Ph ( <b>h</b> )	65 <sup>e</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Reactions carried out in the presence of  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$  in refluxing solvent,  $1/REt_2Al/cat = 1/1.15/0.03$ ; 100% conversion (glc).

<sup>b</sup> Chromatographic yield.

<sup>c</sup> 2-Ethyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (2d) was also detected (glc).

<sup>d</sup> Reaction carried out in the presence of PdCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>.

<sup>e</sup> Isolated yield.

Table 5. Cross-coupling reaction between 1 and in situ prepared organozinc halides  $^{\rm a}$ 



Entry	<i>t</i> (h)	Et <sub>2</sub> O/THF	R	2 % Yield <sup>b</sup>
1 <sup>c,d</sup>	3	0/100	$p.EtOOCC_6H_4$ ( <b>p</b> )	78
2	2	90/10	$p.MeOC_6H_4$ (j)	80 <sup>e</sup>
3	2	65/35	Ph ( <b>h</b> )	91
4	1.5	100/0	<i>i</i> .Pr ( <b>f</b> )	$64^{\rm f}$
5 <sup>d</sup>	4	0/100	$\beta$ -Methallyl (c)	42

<sup>a</sup> Reactions carried out at room temperature, in the presence of prereduced (*i*.PrMgCl) PdCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>, 1/RZnX/cat=1/1.15/0.03, 100% conversion if not otherwise stated.

<sup>b</sup> Isolated yield.

<sup>c</sup> The organozinc reagent was commercially available.

<sup>d</sup> 90% conversion (glc).

e Chromatographic yield.

<sup>f</sup> 5% of 2-*n*.propyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine was also present.<sup>17</sup>

65% yields, respectively (Table 4, entries 3 and 4), thus showing that aryldiethylalanes are at least comparable with aryltributyltin reagents in this type of cross-coupling reactions.<sup>1e</sup>

After investigation of the experimental conditions suitable for the selective transfer of alkyl, aryl, alkenyl residues, the synthesis of some functionalized derivatives was considered. The inspection of the literature would suggest use of organotin reagents, which tolerate most functional groups well, nevertheless the long and often expensive procedures necessary for their preparation prompted us to test the reactivity of **1** towards organozinc reagents.<sup>18–21</sup>

Commercial 4-carbethoxyphenylzinc iodide was reacted with **1** in the presence of  $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$ , after the reduction of the catalyst by iso-propylmagnesium chloride (Table 5, entry 1) and afforded the expected product **2p** in very good (78%) yield. This encouraging result suggested the use of organozinc reagents as alternative alkylating agents with respect of Grignard reagents.

Some organozinc derivatives were thus prepared by transmetallation,<sup>21</sup> starting from the corresponding organomagnesium compound and were used under the same reaction conditions affording 2p.

The yields in the expected products, after generally short reaction times, were very good and polyalkylation byproducts were never observed in the reaction mixtures (Table 5, entries 2–5).

It has to be underlined that, when iso-propylzinc chloride was used, the reaction was not optimized to avoid the isomerization product (Table 5, entry 4) and that the cross-coupling with  $\beta$ -methallylzinc chloride afforded **2c** in moderate (42%) yield (Table 5, entry 5). Anyway, the simplicity of the whole one-pot cross-coupling process make it undoubtedly interesting in the planning of 2-alkyl-4,6-dialkoxy-1,3,5-triazines.

#### 3. Conclusions

In the search for a general, simple approach to the synthesis of 2-alkyl (alk-1'-envl- or aryl or allyl or benzyl)-4,6dialkoxy-1,3,5-triazines, the reactivity of commercially available 1 has been investigated in Pd- or Ni-catalyzed cross-coupling processes with organostannanes, Grignard reagents, symmetrical and non-symmetrical organoalanes and organozinc halides. It has been found that all the organometallic reagents studied can be used to form new C-C bonds on the heteroaromatic ring and that the choice of the alkylating agent and/or the experimental conditions can be modulated in dependence on the residue to transfer. In particular: (i) according to what previously observed in the case of aryltin derivatives,<sup>1e</sup> alk-1-enyl- and allylstannanes afforded good results and, at least in the case of allyl derivative 2b, suitable work-up conditions have been found to avoid double bond migration. (ii) Kumada cross-coupling proved a very simple, convenient and economical process for the transfer of saturated chains. Unfortunately, the same methodology was not synthetically useful to transfer benzyl and  $\beta$ -methallyl residues. In the case of aryl Grignard reagents, the yield seems to be affected by the nature of the substituents, although further experiments are necessary to account for this. (iii) Critical observations concerning the synthesis of alk-1-envl organometallic reagents suggested the use of alk-1-enyldialkylalanes for the preparation of 2-(alk-1'-enyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazines. Unfortunately the reaction fails, even in the presence of ZnCl<sub>2</sub>,<sup>14b</sup> in the case of  $\alpha$ -branched and/or  $\beta$ -hindered residues. On the other hand, organoalanes (R<sub>3</sub>Al) were found to be efficient agents in the alkylation, benzylation and arylation of 1. This last process can be carried out also by using the economically more convenient aryldiethylalanes, which, at least in the case of 2j, afforded the product in even better yield than using organotin derivatives.<sup>1e</sup> Moreover, the easy in situ preparative protocol of these organometallic reagents has to be underlined. (iv) The cross-coupling reactions between 1 and organozinc halides were also very interesting, not only for the synthesis of functionalized 2p, but also in the case of **2c**,**f**, **h**–**j** 

Our results provide useful guidelines to choose the suitable organometallic reagent (Sn, Mg, Al, Zn), as well as the catalytic system (Pd or Ni) for a direct, time-saving preparation of 2-alkyl (aryl or alk-1'-enyl or allyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazines.

#### 4. Experimental

#### 4.1. General procedures and materials

Solvents were purified and dried by standard methods.<sup>22</sup> 2-Chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (CDMT, **1**) was prepared according to a reported procedure.<sup>23</sup> Benzyl- and allylmagnesium chlorides (1 and 2 M, respectively in diethylether) and 4-carbethoxyphenylzinc iodide (0.5 M in THF) were purchased from Aldrich; the other Grignard reagents used were prepared from the corresponding alkyl halides according to reported procedures.<sup>24,25</sup> (*S*)-2-methylbutylmagnesium chloride was prepared from (*S*)-2-methyl-1-chlorobutane (optical purity 97.5%<sup>26</sup>). Hydroalumination

of alk-1-ynes was performed according to described protocols.  $^{11a,27}$  Chlorotributyltin (Aldrich) and chlorodiethylalane (Schering) were distilled before use (bp 93–95 °C/0.2 mmHg<sup>28</sup> and 90 °C/10 mmHg<sup>15</sup>); aluminium trichloride was sublimed (194 °C)<sup>29</sup> under nitrogen; zinc dichloride (Aldrich) was dried at 140 °C/0.03 mmHg (15 h);<sup>30</sup> the catalysts Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>, PdCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> and NiCl<sub>2</sub>-(dppe) were prepared according to literature.<sup>31–33</sup> GLC analyses were performed on a Perkin-Elmer 8500 instrument [ZB1 capillary column (15 m×0.25 mm), film  $0.25 \,\mu\text{m}$ ] equipped with a flame ionization detector and a split-splitless injector, with He as carrier gas. The evaluation (glc) of conversions and yields was carried out by using suitable hydrocarbons as internal standards. Thin layer chromatography (TLC) analyses were performed on silica gel 60 plates (Fluka) and flash chromatography purifications were carried out on silica gel 60 (Fluka, 230-400 mesh) using the eluting mixtures (v/v) reported for each case. Melting points were determined using a Kofler hotstage apparatus and are not corrected. Optycal rotatory power was measured by a Perkin-Elmer 142 polarimeter. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR (200 and 50 MHz, respectively) spectra were recorded on a Varian Gemini 200 spectrometer; all NMR data were obtained using CDCl<sub>3</sub> solutions if not otherwise stated. Chemical shifts ( $\delta$  ppm) are referred to tetramethylsilane (TMS) (<sup>1</sup>H NMR) or CDCl<sub>3</sub> (<sup>13</sup>C NMR) as internal standard. Mass spectra (m/z, I%) were taken on a Perkin-Elmer Q-Mass 910 instrument.

#### 4.2. Synthesis of organotin compounds

Chlorotributyltin (0.8 equiv) in THF was slowly added to a solution of the suitable Grignard reagent in the same solvent, and the reaction mixture was refluxed until complete conversion of the chlorotributyltin (GLC, GC/ms). The mixture was hydrolysed (NH<sub>4</sub>Cl<sub>aq</sub>) extracted with diethyl ether and dried; after removal of the solvent (20 mmHg) the crude product was purified by distillation. The pure organotin derivatives, obtained with the reported yield, showed: (*E*,*Z*)-prop-1-enyltributyltin (77%, bp 86–88 °C/1 mmHg, *E*/*Z*=60/40, glc); prop-2-enyltributyltin (81%, bp 84–87 °C/0.05 mmHg, lit.<sup>34</sup> 106 °C/0.1 mmHg); 2-methylprop-2-enyltributyltin (77%, bp 119–120 °C/1 mmHg, lit.<sup>35</sup> 110 °C/0.3 mmHg).

#### 4.3. In situ preparation of symmetrical organoalanes

In a typical procedure, an ethereal solution of freshly sublimed  $AlCl_3$  (0.400 g, 3.00 mmol) was slowly added to the suitable Grignard reagent (3 equiv) and the mixture was stirred for 1–12 h at room temperature.

## **4.4.** In situ preparation of diethylbenzyl (or aryl) organoalanes

In a typical procedure, the suitable Grignard reagent (1 equiv) was added to a cooled (0 °C) ethereal solution of freshly distilled  $Et_2AlCl$  (0.2 ml, 1.6 mmol), and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 8 h.

#### 4.5. In situ preparation of organozinc halides

In a typical procedure, the suitable Grignard reagent

(1 equiv) was slowly added to a cooled (0 °C) diethyl ether solution of dry  $ZnCl_2$  (0.615 g, 4.60 mmol) and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 15 min.

#### 4.6. Reaction of 1 with organotin compounds (Scheme 1)

In a typical procedure, a THF (20 ml) solution of 1 (0.500 g, 2.85 mmol) was treated, under nitrogen, with PdCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> (0.03 equiv) and the suitable organotin compound (1.1 equiv); the mixture was refluxed (12–40 h) until satisfactory conversion of 1 (TLC and glc) was achieved. The reaction mixture was cooled and treated according to one of the following procedures: Procedure A: (1) treatment with 60% KF aqueous solution; (2) filtration on Florisil<sup>®</sup>/silica gel; (2) treatment with 60% KF aqueous solution. The recovered organic phase was dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and, after removal of solvents, the crude products were purified by flash chromatography. Chemically pure **2a–c** (for the characterizations see below) were isolated in 70, 69 and 55% yields, respectively.

#### 4.7. Reaction of 1 with RMgX (Table 1)

In a typical procedure, the suitable Grignard reagent (1.15 equiv) was quickly added to a cooled (0 °C) solution of 1 (0.500 g, 2.85 mmol) and NiCl<sub>2</sub>(dppe) (0.05 equiv) in diethyl ether. The mixture was stirred at room temperature until a satisfactory conversion of 1 (TLC and glc) was achieved. After hydrolysis with a saturated solution of NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, the reaction mixture was extracted in CHCl<sub>3</sub>, dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and, after removal of the solvent, the crude products were purified by flash chromatography. Chemically pure 2d–j (for the characterizations see below) were isolated in 30–75% yields.

## **4.8.** Reaction of 1 with alk-1-enyldi-isobutylalanes (Table 2)

The hexane solution of alkenylalane was diluted with THF (THF/hexane see Table 2) and treated with 1 (0.500 g, 2.85 mmol) and Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> (0.03 equiv); the reaction mixture was stirred at the temperature and for the time reported in Table 2 and was monitored by TLC and glc. After hydrolysis with a saturated aqueous solution of NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, the reaction mixture was extracted with CHCl<sub>3</sub>, dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and, after removal of the solvent, the crude products were purified by flash chromatography. Chemically pure **2k** and **1** (for the characterizations see below) were isolated in 58 and 51% yields, respectively.

## **4.9.** Reaction of 1 with symmetrical organoalanes (Table 3)

A mixture of solid **1** (0.500 g, 2.85 mmol) and PdCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> (0.03 equiv) was added to the white suspension of AlR<sub>3</sub> and the mixture was stirred under the experimental conditions described in Table 3 until the maximum conversion of **1** (TLC and glc) was achieved. After hydrolysis with a saturated aqueous solution of NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, the reaction mixture was extracted with CHCl<sub>3</sub>, dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and, after removal of the solvent, the crude products were purified by flash chromatography. Chemically pure **2d–j.m–o** (for the

characterizations see below) were isolated in 43-88% yields.

## **4.10.** Reaction of 1 with benzyl (or aryl) diethylalanes (Table 4)

Following the same protocol as 4.9, compound 1 (0.500 g, 2.85 mmol),  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$  (0.03 equiv) and the organoalanes were reacted under the experimental conditions specified in Table 4. The reaction mixture was stirred until the complete conversion of 1 (TLC and glc) was achieved. After hydrolysis with a saturated solution of NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, the reaction mixture was extracted with CHCl<sub>3</sub>, dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and, after removal of the solvent, the crude products were purified by flash chromatography. The reaction afforded **2g,h,j** in 35, 65 and 71% yields, respectively.

#### 4.11. Reaction of 1 with RZnX (Table 5)

To the suspension of organozinc halide, **1** (0.500 g, 2.85 mmol) and the catalyst, prepared immediately before use by addition of 2 equiv of *i*-PrMgCl to PdCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>, were added. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature until the complete conversion of **1** (TLC and glc) was achieved (Table 5). After hydrolysis with a saturated aqueous solution of NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, the reaction mixture was extracted with CHCl<sub>3</sub>, dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and, after removal of the solvent, the crude products were purified by flash chromatography. The reaction afforded **2c,f,h,j,p** in 42–91% yields (Table 5).

#### 4.12. Characterization of products 2a-p

For each of the prepared products the flash chromatography conditions, as well as the chemical-physical and spectroscopic characterization are reported.

**4.12.1.** (*E/Z*) **2-(1'-Propenyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine ((***E/Z***)-<b>2a**). Hexane/acetone 75/25 v/v, pale yellow oil; diastereoisomeric ratio *E/Z* (glc): 60/40; GC/ms (*m/z*, I%) for Z isomer: 181 (M<sup>++</sup>, 12), 166 (100), 151 (36), 109 (52), 82 (9), 66 (18), 58 (49); for *E* isomer see 4.12.2; <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.98, 2.35 (2dd, *J*=7.0 Hz, *J'*=1.2 Hz, *J*=7.0 Hz, *J'*=1.7 Hz, 3H), 4.05 (s, 6H), 6.27–6.53, 7.43 (m and dq, *J*=16.0 Hz, *J'*=7.0 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 26.7, 27.7, 54.0, 54.9, 127.3, 129.2, 142.3, 172.4, 174.5, 175.3. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>8</sub>H<sub>11</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C 53.03, H 6.12, N 23.19%; found: C 53.09, H 6.14, N 23.15%.

**4.12.2.** (*E*)-2-(1'-Propenyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine ((*E*)-2a). Hexane/ethyl acetate 70/30 v/v, pale yellow oil; GC/ms (*m*/*z*, I%): 181 (M<sup>+++</sup>, 100), 166 (43), 151 (34), 136 (47), 126 (14), 109 (26), 93 (21), 82 (18), 69 (41), 58 (60); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.98 (dd, J=7.0 Hz, J'=1.6 Hz, 3H), 4.04 (s, 6H), 6.37 (dq, J=16.0 Hz, J'=1.6 Hz, 1H), 7.43 (dq, J=15.0 Hz, J'=7.0 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 29.6, 54.8, 129.2, 142.5, 172.4, 174.5. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>8</sub>H<sub>11</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C 53.03, H 6.12, N 23.19%; found: C 53.09, H 6.14, N 23.15%.

**4.12.3. 2-**(2'-**Propenyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine** (**2b**). Hexane/ethyl acetate 70/30 v/v, pale yellow oil; GC/ms (m/z, I%): 181 (M<sup>++</sup>, 15), 180 (99), 155 (7), 108 (4), 82 (6), 69 (4), 41 (73), 39 (100); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>): 3.44

(dt, J = 6.9 Hz, J' = 1.5 Hz, 2H), 3.61 (s, 6H), 5.03–5.16 (m, 2H), 6.20 (ddt, J = 17.2 Hz, J' = 10.1 Hz, J'' = 6.9 Hz, 1H), <sup>13</sup>C NMR (C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>): 43.3, 54.5, 117.4, 133.5, 173.0, 181.2. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>8</sub>H<sub>11</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C 53.03, H 6.12, N 23.19%; found: C 53.00, H 6.15, N 23.23%.

**4.12.4. 2-**(2'-**Methyl-2**'-**propenyl**)-**4**,**6**-**dimethoxy-1**,**3**,**5**-**triazine** (**2c**). Petroleum spirit/ethyl acetate 85/15 v/v, pale yellow oil; GC/ms (*m*/*z*, 1%): 195 (M<sup>++</sup>, 22), 194 (100), 181 (6), 180 (67), 155 (25), 126 (6), 125 (5), 123 (8), 122 (6), 109 (9), 96 (9), 95 (7), 82 (8), 80 (7), 72 (14), 70 (13), 69 (10), 58 (11); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.47 (s, 3H), 3.50 (s, 2H), 4.09 (s, 6H), 4.92 (d, J=1.5 Hz, 1H), 4.96 (d, J=1.5 Hz 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 22.8, 47.4, 55.2, 114.4, 140.9, 172.8, 181.4. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>13</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C 55.37, H 6.71, N 21.52%; found: C 55.33, H 6.75, N 21.50%.

**4.12.5. 2-Ethyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine** (2d). Petroleum spirit/ethyl acetate 70/30 v/v; white solid mp 67 °C; GC/ms: (m/z, I%): 170 (4), 169 (M<sup>++</sup>, 100), 168 (67), 154 (41), 101 (30), 83 (10), 70 (55), 69 (54), 68 (19), 58 (6), 56 (14); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.38 (t, J=7.7 Hz, 3H), 2.83 (q, J=7.6 Hz, 2H), 4.10 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 11.5, 32.1, 55.3, 172.7, 184.5. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>11</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C 49.70, H 6.55, N 24.84%; found: C 49.73, H 6.57, N 24.80%.

**4.12.6. 2-(2'-Methylpropyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine** (**2e**). Hexane/ethyl acetate 70/30 v/v, yellow oil; GC/ms (*m*/*z*, I%): 197 (M<sup>++</sup>, 1), 196 (4), 182 (36), 155 (100), 126 (10), 101 (4), 82 (14), 72 (16), 69 (12), 58 (46), 55 (23); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 0.79 (d, J=6.6 Hz, 6H), 2.12 (sept, J=6.8 Hz, 1H), 2.44 (d, J=7.2 Hz, 2H), 3.87 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 22.3, 27.4, 47.4, 54.8, 172.2, 182.6. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>15</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C 54.81, H 7.67, N 21.30%; found: C 54.84, H 7.69, N 21.28%.

**4.12.7.** 2-*iso***Propyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine** (2f). Hexane/ethyl acetate 80/20 v/v, yellow oil; GC/ms (*m/z*, I%): 183 (M<sup>++</sup>, 13), 182 (10), 169 (10), 168 (100), 72 (10), 70 (14), 69 (13), 68 (24), 58 (13); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.19 (d, J= 13.2 Hz, 6H), 2.86 (sept, J=13.3 Hz, 1H), 3.92 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 20.5, 36.8, 54.8, 172.3, 187.4. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>8</sub>H<sub>13</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C 52.45, H 7.15, N 22.94%; found: C 52.48, H 7.11, N 22.90%.

**4.12.8. 2-Benzyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine** (**2g**). Hexane/acetone 80/20 v/v, dark yellow oil; GC/ms: (*m/z*, 1%): 231 (M<sup>++</sup>, 38), 230 (100), 216 (14), 201 (6), 159 (9), 158 (9), 132 (23), 117 (12), 116 (12), 91 (18), 69 (4); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 4.06 (s, 6H), 4.08 (s, 2H), 7.20–7.50 (m, 5H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 45.0, 54.8, 126.6, 128.3, 129.2, 136.3, 172.4, 181.3. Anal. Calcd for  $C_{12}H_{13}N_{3}O_{2}$ : C 62.33, H 5.67, N 18.17%; found: C 62.35, H 5.70, N 18.13%.

**4.12.9. 2-Phenyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine** (**2h**). Petroleum spirit/ethyl acetate 85/15 v/v, white solid mp 66 °C; GC/ms: 218 (M<sup>+</sup> + 1, 13), 217 (M<sup>++</sup>, 100), 216 (33), 187 (45), 186 (27), 172 (49), 104 (49), 103 (19), 77 (17), 69 (28); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 4.21 (s, 6H), 7.52–7.66 (m, 3H), 8.56–8.60 (m, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 55.4, 128.7, 129.3, 133.0, 135.3, 173.2, 175.2. Anal. Calcd for  $C_{11}H_{11}N_3O_2$ : C 60.82, H 5.10, N 19.34%; found: C 60.84, H 5.07, N 19.36%.

**4.12.10.** 2-(3'-Fluorophenyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (2i). Chemical-physical and spectroscopic properties were in agreement with the previously reported characterization.<sup>1e</sup>

**4.12.11. 2**-(**4**'-**Methoxyphenyl**)-**4**,**6**-dimethoxy-**1**,**3**,**5**-triazine (2j). Hexane/ethyl acetate 80/20 v/v; white solid mp 93–95 °C; GC/ms (*m*/*z*, 1%): 247 (M<sup>++</sup>, 100), 217 (20), 202 (35), 176 (18), 159 (10), 134 (54), 90 (12), 69 (13); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 3.88 (s, 3H), 4.11 (s, 6H), 6,97 (d, J=9.1 Hz, 2H), 8,46 (d, J=9.1 Hz, 2H), <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 55.0, 55.4, 113.8, 127.5, 130.9, 163.6, 172.7, 174.4. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>13</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: C 58.29, H 5.30, N 16.99%; found: C 58.32, H 5.27, N 16.96%.

**4.12.12. 2-(Hex-1'-enyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine** (**2k**). Hexane/acetone 85/15 v/v; yellow oil; GC/ms (*m*/*z*, I%): 223 (M<sup>++</sup>, 29), 208 (55), 194 (100), 180 (66), 166 (37), 155 (31), 151 (7), 122 (11), 108 (9), 94 (14), 80 (28), 69 (21), 58 (73); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 0.86 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 3H), 1.17–1.50 (m, 4H), 2.25 (qd, J=7.3 Hz, J'=1.5 Hz, 2H), 3.99 (s, 6H), 6.28 (dt, J=15.2 Hz, J'=1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (dt, J=15.6 Hz, J'=7.0 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 14.0, 22.5, 30.5, 32.6, 55.1, 128.0, 147.9, 172.7, 175.0. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>17</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C 59.17, H 7.67, N 18.82%; found: C 59.20, H 7.68, N 18.80%.

**4.12.13. 2-(2'-Phenylethenyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (2l).** Petroleum spirit/ethyl acetate 70/30 v/v; white solid mp 82–84 °C; GC/ms (*m*/*z*, 1%): 243 (M<sup>++</sup>, 32), 242 (100), 228 (19), 185 (25), 171 (10), 170 (32), 128 (32), 77 (12), 69 (9); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 4.15 (s, 6H), 7.08 (d, J=15.7 Hz, 1H), 7.46 (m, 3H), 7.68 (m, 2H), 8.24 (d, J=15.7 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 55.2, 125.5, 128.4, 129.1, 130.2, 135.5, 142.8, 172.8, 175.1. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>13</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C 64.19, H 5.39, N 17.27%; found: C 64.21, H 5.42, N 17.24%.

**4.12.14. 2**-*n*-Hexyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (2m). Hexane/ethyl acetate 80/20 v/v; yellow oil; GC/ms (*m/z*, I%): 224 (M<sup>++</sup> –1, 1), 210 (5), 182 (30), 168 (39), 155 (100), 87 (7), 72 (9), 69 (6); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 0.68 (t, J=6.9 Hz, 3H), 1.06–1.20 (m, 6H), 1.59 (tt, J=J'=7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.53 (t, J=7.6 Hz, 2H) 3.84 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 13.8, 22.3, 27.1, 28.7, 31.3, 38.4, 54.7, 172.2, 183.4. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>19</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C 58.64, H 8.50, N 18.65%; found: C 58.67, H 8.46, N 18.67%.

**4.12.15. 2-**[(*S*)-2'-Methylbuthyl]-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (2n). Hexane/ethyl acetate 70/30 v/v; yellow oil,  $[\alpha]_{589}^{26} + 4.04^{\circ} (c 0.99, CHCl_3); GC/ms ($ *m*/*z* $, I%): 211 (M<sup>++</sup>, 0.3), 210 (0.8), 196 (17.5), 182 (20), 155 (100), 72 (11), 69 (6), 58 (34), 41 (45); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 0.72–0.77 (d and t, <math>J_d$  = 6.6 Hz,  $J_t$ =7.3 Hz, 6H), 1.11 (m, 1H), 1.25 (m, 1H), 1,92 (m, 1H), 2.35 (dd, J=13.5 Hz, J'=8.1 Hz, 1H), 2.58 (dd, J=13.5 Hz, J'=6.3 Hz, 1H), 3.9 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 11.1, 18.9, 29.2, 33.6, 45.4, 54.8, 172.2, 182.9. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>17</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C 56.85, H 8.11, N 19.89%; found: C 56.84, H 8.09, N 19.92%.

**4.12.16. 2-(2'-Methylprop-1'-enyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5triazine** (**20**). Petroleum spirit/ethyl acetate 90/10 v/v; yellow oil; GC/ms (*m*/*z*, 1%): 195 (M<sup>++</sup>, 3), 181 (10), 180 (100), 165 (24), 123 (29), 122 (13), 80 (14), 69 (3), 58 (10); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.98 (m, 3H), 2.34 (m, 3H), 3.99 (s, 6H), 6.18 (m, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 21.5, 28.8, 55.2, 123.5, 155.0, 172.6, 175.6. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>13</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C 55.37, H 6.71, N 21.52%; found: C 55.39, H 6.74, N 21.49%.

**4.12.17. 2**-(**4**'-Ethoxycarbonylphenyl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (2p). Hexane/ethyl acetate 70/30 v/v; white solid, mp 89–91 °C; GC/ms (m/z, 1%): 289 (M<sup>++</sup>, 75), 261 (11), 259 (26), 245 (16), 244 (100), 231 (11), 216 (18), 186 (44), 176 (27), 159 (33), 148 (16), 144 (27), 132 (10), 130 (28), 116 (12), 107 (12), 104 (10), 103 (20), 102 (44), 100 (26), 99 (15), 90 (10), 84 (12), 76 (27), 75 (25), 72 (48), 70 (14), 69 (66); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 1.40 (t, J=7.1 Hz, 3H), 4.11 (s, 6H), 4.39 (q, J=7.1 Hz, 2H), 8.12 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H), 8.53 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 14.3, 55.3, 61.5, 128.9, 129.6, 134.1, 138.9, 166.1, 173.0, 174.1. Anal. Calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>15</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: C 58.13, H 5.23, N 14.53%; found: C 58.15, H 5.20, N 14.57%.

#### Acknowledgements

Financial support by University of Pisa is gratefully acknowledged. Authors thank Prof. Anna Maria Caporusso for providing a sample of 3-methylpentyne.

#### **References and notes**

- (a) Kukla, M. J.; Ludovici, D. W.; Janssen, P. A. J.; Heeres, J.; Moereels, H. E. L. Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 834 507 A1, 1998. (b) Pozharskii, A. F.; Soldatenkov, A. T.; Katritzky, A. R. *Heterocycles in Life and Society*; Wiley: Chichester, 1977.
   (c) Vaglini, F.; Samaritani, S.; Cavalletti, M.; Menicagli, R.; Salvadori, P. Cost Action D13 Workshop: *New Molecules Towards Human Health Care*, Firenze 17–20 Aprile 2002, Atti P21. (d) Samaritani, S., Cavalletti, M., Dioguardi, A., Vaglini, F., Menicagli, R., Salvadori, P. 3rd Italian–French meeting on Organic Chemistry: Organic Chemistry Towards Interfaces, Pisa 20–23 Novembre 2002, Atti P50. (e) Menicagli, R.; Samaritani, S.; Signore, G.; Vaglini, F.; Dalla Via, L. *J. Med. Chem.* 2004, 47, 4649–4652.
- (a) Janietz, D.; Bauer, M. Synthesis 1993, 33–34. (b) Fujita, M.; Oka, H.; Ogura, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 5247–5250. (c) Faust, R.; Göbelt, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 8017–8020. (d) Cooke, G.; de Cremiers, H. A.; Rotello, V. M.; Tarbit, B.; Vanderstraeten, P. E. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 2787–2789. (e) Fürstner, A.; Leitner, A.; Méndez, M.; Krause, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 13856–13863.
- (a) Menicagli, R.; Samaritani, S.; Gori, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1999, 40, 8419–8422. (b) Samaritani, S.; Menicagli, R. *Tetrahedron* 2002, 58, 1381–1386.
- Farina, V.; Krishnamurthy, V.; Scott, W. J. In *The Stille Reaction in Organic Reactions, Vol. 50*; Wiley: New York, 1997; and references therein.
- (a) Solberg, J.; Undheim, K. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. B 1987, B41, 712–716.
   (b) Nair, V.; Lyons, A. G. Tetrahedron 1989, 45, 3653–3662.
   (c) Tilley, J. W.; Sarabu, R.; Wagner, R.; Mulkerins, K. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 906–910.
   (d) Farina, V.; Krishnan, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9585–9595.

Echavarren, A. M.; Tamayo, N.; Paredes, M. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 4713–4716.

- Moriarty, R. M.; Epa, W. R.; Awasthi, A. K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1990, 31, 5877–5880.
- Undheim, K.; Benneche, T. Organometallics in Coupling Reactions in π-Deficient Azaheterocycles. *Adv. Heterocycl. Chem.* 1995, 62, 305–418.
- Brown, H. C.; Hamaoka, T.; Ravindran, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 5786–5788.
- 9. Zweifel, G.; Whitney, C. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1967, 89, 2753–2754.
- Brown, H. C. *Hydroboration*; Benjamin: New York, 1962; and references therein.
- (a) Zweifel, G.; Miller, J. A. In Syntheses Using Alkynederived Alkenyl- and Alkynylaluminum Compounds in Organic Reactions, Vol. 32; Wiley: New York, 1984; and references therein. (b) Magoon, E. F.; Slaugh, L. H. Tetrahedron 1967, 23, 4509–4515.
- 12. Groh, B. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 7647-7650.
- (a) Shinokubo, H.; Oshima, K. *Catalysis Surveys from Asia* 2003, 7, 39–46. (b) Shinokubo, H.; Oshima, K. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2004, 2081–2091.
- (a) Baba, S.; Negishi, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 6729–6731. (b) Negishi, E.; Okukado, N.; King, A. O.; Van Horn, D. E.; Spiegel, B. I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 2254–2256. (c) Hayashi, T.; Katsuro, Y.; Okamoto, Y.; Kumada, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1981, 22, 4449–4452. (d) Negishi, E.; Brown, H. C. Handbook of Organopalladium Chemistry for Organic Synthesis; Wiley: New York, 2002; and references therein.
- 15. Mole, T.; Jeffery, E. A. Organoaluminium Compounds; Elsevier: New York, 1972.
- Fryzuk, M. D.; Lloyd, B. R.; Cletsmith, G. K.; Retting, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 3804–3812.
- 17. 2-n-Propyl-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (21%): yellow oil;

GC/ms (m/z, I%): 182 (M-1, 3), 168 (43), 155 (100), 72 (10), 70 (16), 69 (13), 68 (15), 58 (15); <sup>1</sup>H NMR: 0.87 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 3H), 1.70 (tq, J=J'=7.5 Hz, 2H), 2.60 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 2H), 3.92 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR: 13.5, 20.5, 40.3, 54.8, 172.2, 183.1.

- Filippo, J. S., Jr.; Silbermann, J.; Fagan, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 4834–4842.
- Azizian, H.; Eaborn, C.; Pidcock, A. J. Organometal. Chem. 1981, 215, 49–58.
- Trost, B. M.; Herndon, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 6835–6837.
- 21. Erdik, E. Organozinc Reagents in Organic Synthesis; CRC: , 1996.
- Perrin, D. D.; Armarego, W. L. F.; Perrin, D. R. Purification of Laboratory Chemicals; Pergamon: New York, 1983.
- Cronin, J. S.; Ginah, F. O.; Murray, A. R.; Copp, J. D. Synth. Commun. 1996, 26, 3491–3494.
- 24. Wakefield, B. J. Organomagnesium Methods in Organic Synthesis; Academic: New York, 1995.
- Masilamani, D.; Manahan, E. H.; Vitrone, J.; Rogic, M. M. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 4918–4931.
- 26. Lardicci, L. Gazz. Chim. It. 1961, 91, 458-466.
- 27. Eisch, J. J.; Foxton, M. W. J. Org. Chem. 1971, 36, 3520–3526.
- 28. Davies, A. G. *Tin in Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry*; Pergamon: New York, 1982.
- 29. Jensen, F. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 1226-1231.
- Negishi, E.; Okukado, N.; Lovich, S. F.; Luo, F. T. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 2629–2632.
- 31. Coulson, D. R. Inorganic Synthesis 1990, 28, 107-109.
- 32. Itatani, H.; Bailas, J. C. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 1967, 44, 147–151.
- 33. Van Hecke, G. R.; Horrocks, W. D. *Inorg. Chem.* **1966**, *5*, 1968–1974.
- 34. Russell, G. A.; Lourdes, L. H. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 1037-1040.
- 35. Ueno, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1980, 21, 1767-1770.




Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4485-4494

## Amygdaloidins A–L, twelve new 13 α-OH jatrophane diterpenes from *Euphorbia amygdaloides* L.

Gabriella Corea,<sup>a</sup> Caterina Fattorusso,<sup>a</sup> Ernesto Fattorusso<sup>a</sup> and Virginia Lanzotti<sup>b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Dipartimento di Chimica delle Sostanze Naturali, Università di Napoli 'Federico II', Via D. Montesano 49, I-80131 Napoli, Italy <sup>b</sup>DISTAAM, Università degli Studi del Molise, Via F. De Sanctis, I-86100 Campobasso, Italy

Received 30 November 2004; revised 25 January 2005; accepted 10 February 2005

Available online 24 March 2005

Abstract—Twelve new diterpenes, named amygdaloidins A–L (1–12), possessing a unique substitution pattern of the jatrophane skeleton, have been isolated from the wood spurge, *Euphorbia amygdaloides* L. (Euphorbiaceae). The chemical structures of amygdaloidins A–L have been established through a combination of extensive nuclear magnetic resonance and mass spectrometry methods. To deeper investigate the conformations adopted by such compounds in solution, we have carried out a molecular mechanic and dynamics calculation on amygdaloidin A and on the previously isolated euphodendroidin I. The data obtained gave further information on the *endo-* and *exo-*type conformations, the two main orientations of the jatrophane diterpenes.

© 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

## 1. Introduction

In the course of our chemical survey of bioactive plant metabolites, a large number of diterpenes have been recently isolated from Euphorbia spp. that showed interesting pharmacological activities. In particular, over thirty new jatrophane and modified jatrophane diterpenoids were extracted, purified and characterized from *E. dendroides*,<sup>1,2</sup> E. *peplus*<sup>3</sup> and *E. characias*.<sup>4</sup> These compounds were potent inhibitors of P-glycoprotein,  $^{1-5}$  a membrane protein that confers upon cells the ability to resist lethal doses of certain cytotoxic drugs by pumping them out of the cells, thus resulting in a reduced cytotoxic effect.<sup>6–9</sup> Indeed, because these compounds were based on a structurally homogeneous skeleton, differing only in the substitution pattern, they have constituted an ideal target for the study of the structureactivity relationships of this new class of Pgp inhibitors.<sup>1–4</sup> Among the others, two compounds, named euphodendroidin  $D^1$  and pepluanin  $A^3$  were the most powerful inhibitors of daunomycin-efflux activity within the class of jatrophane diterpenes. Their efficiency was found to be at least two-fold higher than conventional modulator cyclosporin A, thus making both compounds very promising leads to improve drug therapy in multidrug resistant cancer.

We now describe the isolation and structure elucidation of twelve new diterpenes, named amygdaloidins A–L (1–12) from *Euphorbia amygdaloides*, a wild, common and quite inoffensive *Euphorbia* used in homeopathic medicine.<sup>10</sup> The isolated compounds are based on a unique substitution pattern on the jatrophane core which expands considerably the database for this class of compounds.

To investigate the conformational parameters of such compounds we have carried out a molecular dynamics simulation by using a Simulated Annealing (SA) procedure on amygdaloidin A and on euphodendroidin I, previously isolated from *E. dendroides*.<sup>1</sup> This analysis gave further data on the structural features which induce the *endo-exo*-type conformational option of jatrophanes; some diagnostic NMR features to identify the adopted conformation are also suggested.

## 2. Results and discussion

The EtOAc extract of the whole plant (1.3 kg, fresh weight) *E. amygdaloides* L. was filtered through silica gel in order to eliminate gummy compounds. The soluble material was separated using a combination of chromatographic techniques (MPLC and HPLC, both on silica gel column, using different gradients of hexane and EtOAc) to yield the new amygdaloidins A (1, 9.7 mg), B (2, 11.9 mg), C (3, 2.6 mg), D (4, 4.8 mg), E (5, 2.7 mg), F (6, 3.5 mg) G (7, 3.6 mg), H (8, 3.3 mg), I (9, 4.2 mg), J (10, 3.3 mg), K (11, 1.3) and L (12, 5.2 mg).

*Keywords*: Euphorbiaceae; Natural product; Diterpenes; Jatrophanes; Conformational studies; *endo*-Type conformation; *exo*-Type conformation; Molecular mechanic and dynamics calculations.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +39 874 404649; fax: +39 874 404652; e-mail: lanzotti@unimol.it

<sup>0040–4020/\$ -</sup> see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02.031

Table 1. <sup>1</sup>H NMR data of amygdaloidins A–F (1–6) [500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>,  $\delta$  (ppm) and mult]<sup>a</sup>

Н		1	2	3	4	5	6
1α		2.49 dd	2.56 dd	2.56 dd	2.57 dd	2.55 dd	2.54 dd
1β		1.80 dd	1.82 dd	1.84 dd	1.80 dd	1.80 dd	1.80 d
2		2.10 m	2.18 m	2.18 m	2.14 m	2.11 m	2.15 m
3		5.43 d	5.66 d	5.72 d	5.66 d	5.70 d	5.62 d
4		3.79 dd	3.41 dd	3.45 dd	3.40 dd	3.44 dd	3.44 dd
5		5.53 d <sup>b</sup>	4.43 dd	4.49 dd	4.42 dd	4.50 dd	4.47 dd
7		5.14 d	5.27 d <sup>b</sup>	5.33 d <sup>b</sup>	5.20 d	5.24 d	5.26 d
8		5.53 d <sup>b</sup>	5.50 d	5.55 d <sup>b</sup>	5.40 d <sup>b</sup>	5.41 d	5.49 d <sup>b</sup>
9		5.22 s	5.27 s	5.32 s	5.00 s	5.00 s	5.03 s
11		5.81 d	5.82 d	5.80 d	5.76 d	5.76 d	5.71 d <sup>b</sup>
12		5.52 d <sup>b</sup>	5.41 d	5.45 d	5.34 d	5.35 d	5.38 d
16		0.90 d	1.01 d <sup>b</sup>	1.05 d	1.01 d	1.00 d <sup>b</sup>	1.02 d
17a		5.65 s	5.43 s	5.55 s	5.40 s	5.45 s	5.28 s
b		5.78 s	5.62 s	5.73 s	5.54 s	5.60 s	5.49 s
18		1.00 s	1.01 s	1.00 s	0.96 s	1.00 s	0.95 s
19		1.12 s	1.10 s	1.06 s	0.96 s	1.00 s	0.96 s
20		1.49 s	1.45 s	1.46 s	1.43 s	1.44 s	1.42 s
5-OH			2.18 d	2.30 d	2.20 d	2.43 d	2.30 d
13-OH		4.95 s	4.85 s	5.40 s	4.86 s	4.75 s	4.47 s
15-OH		4.02.8	3.32.8	4.55 s	3.30 s	3 40 s	
3-OAc		1.97 s	01020	1000	0.000	0110 0	
5-0Ac		1.72 s					
8-0Ac		1.020	1 99 s	2.02	195 s	1 98 s	1 99 s
9-0Ac			1.77 5	2102	2 22 8	2 21 8	2 20 8
15-0Ac					2.22 5	2.21 5	1.70 s
3-Ang	31		6 98 bra		6 99 bra	6 96 bra	6.70 bra
5 mig	1'		1 90 d		1 80 d	1.88 d	$1.71 d^{b}$
	+ 5/		1.96 c		1.05 a	1.00 u	1.71 u 1.57 s
7 4 22	3	671 hag	1.90 S	6 66 has	1.95 S	1.92.8	1.57 8
7-Ang	3	0.74 biq	0.05 biq	0.00 biq	0.09 biq		
	4	1.07 u	1.70 u	1.70 u	1.72 u		
0.4	5'	1.66 s	1.66 s	1.65 s	1.70 s		
8-Ang	3'	6.89 brq					
	4'	1.86 d					
	5'	1.92 s					
Hydrp.	3″			4.95 brq		4.69 brq	4.92 brq
	3"-OH			10.30 s		9.30 s	10.33 s
	4″			1.51 d		1.32 d	1.52 d
	5″a			5.85 s		5.80 s	5.84 s
	5″b			6.45 s		6.27 s	6.45 s
Nic	2	9.27 s	9.30 s	9.30 s			
	4	8.33 d	8.38 d	8.37 d			
	5	7.44 brdd	7.45 brdd	7.45 brdd			
	6	8.80 brd	8.80 brd	8.82 brd			
	0	0.00 010	0.00 014	0.02 010			

<sup>a</sup>  $J_{H-H}$  (values in Hz). **1–6**:  $1\alpha - 1\beta = 15.0$ ;  $1\alpha - 2 = 8.0$ ;  $1\beta - 2 = 11.0$ ; 2-16 = 7.3; 2-3 = 7.0; 3-4 = 3.5; 4-5 = 10.0; 7-8 = 12; 11-12 = 16.0. For **2–5**: 5-OH = 2.5. Ang: 3'-4' = 7.0. Hydrp: 3''-4'' = 7.0. Nic: 4-5 = 8.0; 5-6 = 5.0.

<sup>b</sup> Overlapped by other signals.

Amygdaloidin A (1), obtained in relatively high amounts as a colorless amorphous solid, had a molecular weight of 754.3445 (positive ion HR-FABMS), corresponding to the molecular formula of  $C_{40}H_{51}O_{13}N$ . Structural assignment of amygdaloidin A was accomplished by extensive 2D NMR measurements (COSY, HSQC, HMBC and ROESY).

The nature of the diterpenoid core was evident by combined inspection of the <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR (Tables 1 and 3) and the 2D HSQC spectra of **1**, the latter allowing correlation of directly linked proton and carbon atoms. Analysis of <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra showed that amygdaloidin A (**1**) contained a ketone carbonyl group ( $\delta_C$  207.94), two double bonds [one exocyclic ( $\delta_H$  5.65 and 5.78, singlets;  $\delta_C$  122.98, t and 138.56, s) and one *trans* disubstituted ( $\delta_H$  5.81 and 5.52, J= 16.0 Hz;  $\delta_C$  137.76, d and 133.52, d, respectively)], and seven (five methines and two unprotonated) oxygenated sp<sup>3</sup> carbon atoms. Signals of four methyls ( $\delta_H$  0.90, d; 1.00, s; 1.12, s; 1.49, s;  $\delta_C$  13.61, 26.89, 21.36, 24.89, respectively), one methylene ( $\delta_H$  2.49 and 1.80, dd;  $\delta_C$ 

50.65), and two methines ( $\delta_{\rm H}$  2.10, m and 3.79, dd;  $\delta_{\rm C}$  37.06 and 51.16, respectively) were also present in the <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of **1** (Tables 1 and 3). Application of <sup>1</sup>H-<sup>1</sup>H correlation spectroscopy (COSY) allowed us to sequence the multiplets of the core diterpene structure into three spin systems: C-1/C-2 (C-16)/C-3/C-4/C-5, C-7 to C-9, and C-11/C-12. Extensive study of the <sup>2,3</sup>J<sub>C-H</sub> correlations, inferred from the heteronuclear multiple-bond correlation (HMBC) spectrum, showed in Figure 1, allowed the connection of the three above deduced moieties and methyls C-18, C-19, C-20 through the unprotonated carbons, C-6, C-10, C-13 and C-15; this pointed to a bicyclo [10.3.0]-pentadecane with 2,10,10,13-tetramethyl-6*-exo*-methylene branching, commonly known as jatrophane skeleton, having oxygenated carbons at positions 3, 5, 7, 8, 9, 13, 14 (ketone) and 15.

Further inspection of the <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum of **1** (Tables 1 and 3) indicated that the diterpene skeleton was pentaesterified with two acetyls ( $\delta$  1.72, 1.97, singlets), a

**Table 2.** <sup>1</sup>H NMR data of amygdaloidins G–L (7–12) [500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>,  $\delta$  (ppm) and mult]<sup>a</sup>

Н		7	8	9	10	11	12
1α		2.50 dd	2.55 dd	2.55 dd	2.47 dd	2.45 dd	2.42 dd
1β		1.81 dd	1.80 dd <sup>b</sup>	1.82 dd <sup>b</sup>	1.80 dd	1.78 dd	1.80 dd
2		2.07 m	2.02 m	2.10 m	2.12 m	2.10 m	2.08 m
3		5.60 d	5.65 d <sup>b</sup>	5.70 d <sup>b</sup>	5.51 d	5.52 d	5.55 d
4		3.68 dd	3.76 dd	3.75 dd	3.70 dd	3.70 dd	3.57 dd
5		5.50 d	5.65 d <sup>b</sup>	5.70 d <sup>b</sup>	5.80 d	5.85 d	5.70 d
7		4.06 dd	4.06 dd	4.00 dd	5.06 d	5.09 d	5.06 d
8		5.57 d	5.41 d	5.30 d	3.95 dd	3.95 dd	4.05 dd
9		4.92 s	4.95 s	4.92 s	4.81 s	4.83 s	4.83 s
11		5.77 d	5.70 d	5.76 d	5.76 d	5.75 d	5.75 d
12		5.42 d	5.38 d	5.40 d	5.37 d	5.39 d	5.52 d
16		0.90 d	0.95 d <sup>b</sup>	1.01 d	0.90 d	0.90 d	0.90 d
17a		5.55 s	5.54 s	5.60 s	5.60 s	5.60 s	5.60 s
b		5.70 s	5.80 s	5.77 s	5.70 s	5.70 s	5.66 s
18		0.97 s	0.95 s <sup>b</sup>	0.96 s <sup>b</sup>	0.95 s	0.99 s	1.00 s
19		1.02 s	0.95 s <sup>b</sup>	0.96 s <sup>b</sup>	1.15 s	0.99 s	1.20 s
20		1.48 s	1.45 s	1.46 s	1.43 s	1.50 s	1.52 s
7-OH		4.48 d	4.48 d	4.10 d			
8-OH					2.12 d	2.09 d	2.34 d
13-OH		4.92 s	5.09 s	5.25 s	4.87 s	4.40 s	4.01 s
15-OH		4.40 s	4.72 s	4.70 s	4.50 s	4.15 s	3.65 s
3-OAc				2.00 s		1.89 s	
5-OAc		1.91 s			1.85 s		1.90 s
8-OAc			1.98 s				
9-OAc		2.12 s	2.15 s	2.15 s	2.20 s	2.21 s	2.20 s
Ang	3'	6.87 brg	6.95 brg	6.96 brg	6.70 brg	6.80 bra	6.80 brg
	4'	1.82 d	1.80 d	1.81 d	1.70 d <sup>b</sup>	1.69 d	1.82 d
	5'	1.86 s	1.87 s	1.88 s	1.70 s	1.71 s	1.84 s
Hydrn	3//	$4.92 \text{ bra}^{\text{b}}$	4 90 bra	$4.92 \text{ bra}^{b}$	4.95 bra	4 78 bra	4.94 bra
nyuip.	3″ OH	9.66 s	9.94 s	10.30 s	10 70 s	10 50 s	9.70 s
	3 -011 4//	7.00 S	1.55 d	152 d	150 d	160 d	1.20.4
	4 5// o	5.80 .	5.00 s	1.33 u 5 92 o	1.50 u	5.04 s	1.37 u 5 91 o
	5" a	J.60 S	5.90 s	J.65 8	J.00 8	J.94 8	J.01 8
	5″ D	0.33 8	0.30 8	0.41 \$	0.3U S	0.30 S	0.39 S

<sup>a</sup>  $J_{\text{H-H}}$  (values in Hz). **7–12**: 1 $\alpha$ –1 $\beta$ =15.0; 1 $\alpha$ –2=8.0; 1 $\beta$ –2=11.0; 2–16=7.3; 2–3=7.0; 3–4=3.5; 4–5=10.0; 7–8=12; 11–12=16.0. For **7–9**: 7-OH= 3.5. For **10–12**: 8-OH=3.5. Ang: 3'–4'=7.0. Hydrp: 3''–4''=7.0.

<sup>b</sup> Overlapped by other signals.

nicotinyl [ $\delta$  9.27 (s), 8.33 (d, 8 Hz), 7.44 (brdd, 8 and 5 Hz), 8.80 (brd, 5 Hz)], and two angeloyl groups [6.74 and 6.89 (each brq, 7 Hz), 1.67 and 1.86 (each d, 7 Hz), 1.66 and 1.92 (singlets)]. The next step was the elucidation of the acylation pattern, which was solved by inspection of diagnostic  ${}^{3}J_{C-H}$  couplings between oxymethine protons and carbonyl ester carbons. As shown in Figure 1, all ester carbonyls could be correlated to oxymethine resonances (H-3, H-5, H-7, H-8, H-9), thus locating the free hydroxyls at the tertiary carbons (C-13 and C-15).



Figure 1. Selected HMBC correlations exhibited by amygdaloidin A (1).

The relative stereochemistry of **1** was deduced from coupling constant values and spatial proximity, evidenced through a ROESY experiment (Fig. 2), taking into account the results reported for the large variety of jatrophane

diterpenes isolated up to now. In this regard it is to be noted that all the naturally occurring jatrophane derivatives isolated so far possess very similar functionalities and unvarying stereochemical features; normally, they adopt one of the two following conformations: the *endo*-type conformation, with exomethylene perpendicular to the main plane of the molecule and the more common *exo*-type conformation with the exomethylene in the plane. It is also reported that the conformational option depends from the esterification pattern on the jatrophane core.<sup>11</sup> Diagnostic spectral features to discriminate between the two conformations are the  ${}^{3}J_{4-5}$  value and some ROESY correlations. Thus, large value of  ${}^{3}J_{4-5}$  (9–11 Hz) and NOEs between H-5/H-17a and H-17b/H-8 suggest an *endo*-type conformation, while small  ${}^{3}J_{4-5}$  value (0–3 Hz) and interactions



Figure 2. Selected ROESY correlations exhibited by amygdaloidin A (1).

between H-4/H-7 and H-5/H-8 are diagnostic for an *exo*-type conformation.  $^{12,13}$ 

Assuming that the relative stereochemistry at the chiral centers of **1** is that invariably found in all the jatrophanes, the detection of ROESY correlation peaks between H-17a/H-5 and H-17b/H-8, and the high value observed for  $J_{\text{H-4/H-5}}$  of 10 Hz suggested the presence of a preferred *endo*-type conformation for amygdaloidin A.

It is remarkable that all the known jatrophanes of the  $\Delta^{6(17)}$ ,  $\Delta^{11}$  type are characterized by *exo*-type conformation showing very small H-7/H-8 coupling constant, indicative of dihedral angles near 90°. Amygdaloidin A differed in having a larger coupling between H-7 and H-8 (J=12 Hz), indicating a distortion of the C-7/C-8 dihedral angle when compared with *exo*-type conformation.

In order to verify the *endo*-type option of compound 1, as well as the concurrence of the spectral data with the hypothesized conformation, compound 1 was subjected to a molecular simulation study. The molecular models of amygdaloidin A and euphodendroidin I were selected for this purpose, the last compound was taken as an example of an *exo*-type conformation.<sup>1</sup> The two models were firstly

energy minimised and then subjected to a Simulated Annealing (SA) procedure, followed by a Molecular Mechanic (MM) geometry optimization, a dielectric constant value of 4.806 being used to reproduce a chloroform environment (see Section 3). The resulting conformers were grouped into families and ranked by their conformational energy values.

The results obtained indicated that 98% of all amygdaloidin A conformers, obtained from Simulated Annealing/MM procedure, were characterized by an endo-type conformation and 65% presented dihedral angles enclosed by the CH bonds C-7/C-8 and C-8/C-9 in perfect agreement with NMR data ( ${}^{3}J_{7-8} = 12$  Hz, dihedral angle  $\Phi = [150^{\circ} - 180^{\circ}];$  ${}^{3}J_{8-9} \sim 0$  Hz, dihedral angle  $\Phi = [60-130^{\circ}]$ . It is noteworthy that all the energetically accessible conformations ( $\Delta E$  from the global minimum  $\leq$  5 kcal/mol) presented an *endo*-type conformation and geometrical features in agreement with NMR data. On the other hand, the majority of euphodendroidin I conformers, which includes all energetically accessible conformation, presented  $\Phi$  values for CH bonds C-7/C-8 and C-8/C-9 within 50 and 100°, in line with NMR experiments (both  ${}^{3}J_{7-8}$  and  ${}^{3}J_{8-9} \sim 0$  Hz). Lowest energy conformers of amygdaloidin A and euphodendroidin I are shown in Figure 3.



**Figure 3.** Molecular model of the lowest energy conformers found by SA/MM study for amygdaloidin A (A) and euphodendroidin I (B). Colours: carbon—green, oxygen—red, nitrogen—blue, hydrogen—white. Hydrogen bonds are evidenced by green dashed lines. Bottom: the relative position of H-7 and H-8 is indicated in detail to evidence the dihedral angle enclosed by the CH bonds C-7/C-8.

In Figure 3, the different conformational preferences at C-7, C-8 and C-9 in the two compounds can be easily discerned: both H-7/H-8 and H-8/H-9 are *gauche* oriented in euphodendroidin I, while in amygdaloidin A H-7/H-8 are *anti* oriented and the value of the dihedral angle between H-8 and H-9 is about 120° in an eclipsed conformation. Thus, the H-7/H-8 coupling constant value is a further NMR feature for discriminating between the two main jatrophane conformations.

Final support for the relative stereochemistry of 1 was

obtained by some additional coupling constant values and spatial proximity revealed by a ROESY experiment. In particular, NOE cross-peaks of OH-15 with H-1 $\beta$ , H<sub>3</sub>-16, and of H-4 with H-3 further supported the relative stereochemistry of ring A as depicted in the formula. The key NOE cross-peak of OH-13 with H-4 connected the relative stereochemistry of ring A with that of the medium-sized ring, whose relative stereochemistry has been obtained through the series of NOE correlations showed in Figure 2. By analogy with the other jatrophanes isolated to date, deduced by X-ray analysis of some derivatives,<sup>14</sup> the

**Table 3.** <sup>13</sup>C NMR data of amygdaloidins A–F (**1–6**) [125 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>,  $\delta$  (ppm)]

С		1	2	3	4	5	6
1		50.65 t	50.41 t	50.41 t	51.20 t	51.75 t	51.74 t
2		37.06 d	35.49 d	35.49 d	36.58 d	37.41 d	37.41 d
3		78.74 d	79.86 d	79.98 d	80.98 d	81.15 d	81.05 d
4		51.16 d	51.77 d	51.79 d	52.81 d	52.82 d	52.82 d
5		67.44 d	62.96 d	62.98 d	64.02 d	64.58 d	64.58 d
6		138.56 s	139.16 s	139.20 s	142.51 s	142.56 s	142.50 s
7		73.11 d	72.48 d	72.48 d	73.44 d	73.89 d	73.99 d
8		68.76 d	68.03 d	68.05 d	69.37 d	69.19 d	69.28 d
9		76.10 d	75.02 d	75.03 d	74.96 d	75.00 d	75.00 d
10		38.61 s	39.05 s	39.05 s	36.16 s	38.58 s	38.58 s
11		137.76 d	136.32 d	136.32 d	137.86 d	137.56 d	137.56 d
12		155.52 d	132.20 d	132.20 d	133.15 d	155.52 d 80.70 c	155.52 d
15		01.10 S 207.04 c	00.05 S	00.03 S	81.04 S	80.79 S	80.79 S
14		207.94 8	207.34 S	207.34 8	200.41 S	207.64 8	207.04 8 06.42 c
15		13.61 a	12 53 a	12 53 a	13 75 a	13 74 a	13 74 a
10		122 98 t	118 86 t	118 86 t	120.00 t	120 53 t	120 42 t
18		26.89 g	25.90 g	25.90 g	26.67 g	27.08 g	27.08 g
19		21.36 g	20.86 g	20.86 g	21.96 g	21.95 g	21.95 g
20		24.98 q	23.58 q	23.58 q	24.50 g	25.01 q	25.01 q
3-OAc		169.34 s	1	1	1	1	1
		20.84 q					
5-OAc		170.37 s 20.85 q					
8-OAc		*	169.35 s	169.35 s	170.67 s	171.02 s	171.03 s
			20.35 q	20.35 q	20.54 q	20.73 q	20.74 q
9-OAc					171.58 s	171.98 s	171.97 s
					21.13 q	20.93 q	20.91 q
15-OAc							169.25 s
<b>.</b> .	. 1						20.20 q
3-Ang	1'		166.91 s		167.79 s	167.64 s	167.62 s
	2'		127.19 s		127.84 s	127.47 s	127.41 s
	3'		137.07 d		138.01 d	137.98 d	137.95 d
	4'		13.02 q		14.31 q	14.58 q	14.53 q
	5'		10.98 q		12.05 q	12.42 q	12.39 q
7-Ang	1'	166.31 s	164.55 s	164.57 s	165.54 s		
	2'	127.75 s	127.09 s	127.10 s	128.21 s		
	3'	138.50 d	136.79 d	136.81 d	137.65 d		
	4'	14.21 q	13.05 q	13.04 q	14.12 q		
0.4	5'	11.39 q	10.35 q	10.34 q	11.48 q		
8-Ang	1' 2'	167.49 s					
	2'	128.23 s					
	3'	137.60 d					
	4' 5'	14.21 q					
TT 1	5'	11.99 q		1(2.00		1(471	16475
Hyarp.	1"			163.99 s		164./1 s	164.75 s
	2"			138.88 s		139.70 s	139.73 s
	5'' All			δ2.13 d		/9.09 a	/9./I d
	4" 5"			1/.84 q		10.// q	10.80 q
NI:-	<b>5</b> "	1(5.12 -	166.01 -	151.30 t		127.18 t	127.19 t
INIC	2	151.09 4	100.81 8	100.81 S			
	∠ 2	131.08 a 125.46 c	149.90 a	149.90 a			
	3 4	123.40 8	124.73 8	124.73 8			
	4 5	137.44 U 123 30 d	130.32 u 122 16 d	130.31 u 122.16 d			
	5	123.39 u 153.60 d	122.10 u 152 55 d	122.10 u 152 56 d			
	v	155.07 u	1 <i>52.55</i> u	1 <i>52.5</i> 0 u			

**Table 4**. <sup>13</sup>C NMR data (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) of amygdaloidins G–L (7–12) [125 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>, δ (ppm)]

C		7	8	9	10	11	12
1		50.45.4	50.02 /	50.02 /	50.00 /	50.00 /	50.40.4
1		50.45 t	50.82 t	50.82 t	50.88 t	50.88 t	50.49 t
2		36.00 d	36.22 d	36.32 d	36.91 d	36.91 d	36./3 d
3		/8.51 d	79.25 d	80.25 d	/9.11 d	/9.19 d	/8.06 d
4		51.42 d	52.08 d	52.08 d	50.78 d	50.78 d	51.53 d
5		66.61 d	66.61 d	66.91 d	66.48 d	66.58 d	66.81 d
6		143.02 s	142.91 s	142.99 s	138.23 s	138.23 s	138.44 s
7		73.95 d	73.45 d	73.31 d	76.00 d	76.00 d	74.72 d
8		71.00 d	71.15 d	71.05 d	69.41 d	69.41 d	69.18 d
9		75.23 d	76.08 d	76.08 d	76.01 d	76.01 d	76.07 d
10		38.33 s	38.55 s	38.55 s	38.23 s	38.23 s	38.53 s
11		137.55 d	138.81 d	138.81 d	138.61 d	138.61 d	138.59 d
12		132.95 d	133.83 d	133.83 d	132.93 d	132.93 d	132.64 d
13		82.23 s	82.35 s	82.35 s	82.05 s	82.05 s	82.10 s
14		207.50 s	207.15 s	207.15 s	207.32 s	207.32 s	207.30 s
15		87.81 s	88.23 s	88.23 s	87.84 s	87.84 s	87.95 s
16		13.36 q	13.56 q	13.56 q	13.09 q	13.09 q	13.24 q
17		122.11 t	123.01 t	123.09 <sup>°</sup> t	123.89 <sup>°</sup> t	123.89 t	121.49 t
18		26.09 q	26.88 q	26.88 q	26.33 q	26.33 q	26.48 g
19		21.38 g	21.09 g	21.09 g	22.10 g	22.10 g	20.90 g
20		24.93 a	25.02 g	25.02 g	25.10 g	25.10 g	25.31 g
3-OAc				172.53 s	1	170.61 s	1
				21.00 g		21.09 g	
5-OAc		172.21 s	172.53 s	1	170 59 s	1	169.75 s
0 0110		20.81 g	21.00 g		21.00 g		20.76 g
9-OAc		171 50 s	171 58 s	171 58 s	170.69 s	170.69 s	171.05 s
) Uni		20.51 a	20.93 g	20.93 a	20.50 g	20 50 g	20.64 a
Ang	1/	167 51 8	169.03 s	169.03 s	167.65 s	167.65 s	166.91 s
	2/	107.51 s	129.01 s	129.01 s	128 31 s	128 31 s	128 57 s
	2/	127.50 S	129.01 3 138.03 d	129.01 3 138.03 d	120.51 3 138 23 d	120.51 3 138 20 d	120.37 3 137 30 d
	3	130.45 u	136.95 u	136.95 u	136.25 u	130.29 u	137.39 u
	4	14.21 q	14.38 q	14.36 q	14.10 q	14.10 q	14.13 q
	5'	12.09 q	11.88 q	11.88 q	11.90 q	11.90 q	11.81 q
Hydrp.	1"	166.05 s	164.70 s	164.70 s	163.96 s	163.97 s	166.13 s
	2"	140.03 s	139.53 s	139.53 s	138.83 s	138.85 s	139.95 s
	3″	81.00 d	82.37 d	82.33 d	82.15 d	82.19 d	80.16 d
	4″	17.80 q	18.26 q	18.25 q	17.88 q	17.88 q	17.23 q
	5″	127.22 t	131.15 t	131.12 t	131.33 t	131.39 t	127.09 t

absolute configuration indicated in structure **1** (*S* configuration at C-4), can be confidently proposed to amygdaloidin A.

Amygdaloidins B-L (2-12) are analogues of amygdaloidin A, possessing the same jatrophane core and differing only for the acylation pattern. Their stereostructure determination has been thus aided by comparison of their spectroscopic data with those of 1. However, complete NMR studies on each metabolite have been performed in order to unambiguously determine the structures of the isolated compounds and to assign all the proton and carbon resonances (Tables 1-4). In particular, COSY and HOHAHA spectra, in combination with HSQC, acquired for all compounds, have shown that compounds 2-12contain spin systems which parallel those determined for compound 1 (C-1/C-2 (C-16)/C-3/C-4/C-5, C-7 to C-9, and C-11/C-12) and that they were connected, in the same sequence as 1, through the quaternary carbons by HMBC correlation peaks. Interpretation of HMBC spectra also allowed us to locate the acyl groups on methine carbons, while ROESY spectra gave information on the location of the functional groups on the quaternary carbons and also confirmed the same relative stereochemistry for all the isolated compounds. Some key points for structure elucidations of compounds 2-12 are described.

Amygdaloidin B (2), C<sub>38</sub>H<sub>49</sub>O<sub>12</sub>N by HRFABMS, appeared

closely related to **1** from which it differed in having one acetyl less and an hydroxyl group more, whose hydrogen resonated as an exchangeable broad singlet at  $\delta$  2.18, mutually coupled (J=2.5 Hz) with a double doublet at  $\delta$  4.43. HMBC correlations allowed us to assign the last signal to H-5 thus locating the free hydroxyl group at C-5. Further difference between **1** and **2** was the inversion of the acyl substituents at C-3/C-8, revealed by HMBC correlations: in compound **2** the cross-peak of H-3 ( $\delta$  5.66) with an angeloyl carbonyl ( $\delta$  166.91), and of H-8 ( $\delta$  5.50) with an acetyl carbonyl ( $\delta$  169.35), unambiguously located the angeloyl at C-3, and the acetyl at C-8, respectively.

The only differences between the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of amygdaloidin C (**3**),  $C_{38}H_{49}O_{14}N$ , with that of **2**, were confined to the absence of the signals corresponding to the angeloyl residue at C-3, and to the presence of extra signals (an exchangeable singlet at  $\delta$  10.30, two <sup>1</sup>H singlets at  $\delta$  6.45 and 5.85, and a methine quartet at  $\delta$  4.95, coupled with a methyl doublet at  $\delta$  1.51). These proton signals, and the corresponding carbon resonances, associated with the use of 2D HSQC and HMBC experiments, suggested the presence of a 3-hydroperoxy-2-methylen-butyryl residue. The low field value both of the exchangeable proton ( $\delta$  10.30) and of the connected carbon 3" ( $\delta$  82.13) are consistent with the presence of a hydroperoxide at C-3". This acyl residue has been located at C-3 on the basis of a HMBC cross-peak between its carbonyl carbon ( $\delta$  163.99) and H-3 ( $\delta$  5.72). To confirm the hydroperoxide functionality and the proposed structure, **3** has been subjected to a selective reduction with triphenylphosphine. Thus, 3(1 mg) and triphenylphosphine (2.1 mg), dissolved in diethyl ether (1 ml) and stirred at room temperature for 3 h, afforded compound 2.

Amygdaloidin D (4), C<sub>34</sub>H<sub>48</sub>O<sub>12</sub> in the HRFABMS, gave a <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum (Table 1) almost superimposable with that of 2, the only exception due to the substitution of the nicotinyl residue in 2 with a acetyl group in 4. HMBC correlation of the carbonyl group of this additional acetate with H-9 unambiguously located this residue at C-9.

Similar consideration allowed us to determine the structure of amygdaloidin E (5) with molecular formula  $C_{34}H_{48}O_{14}$ . The <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum (Table 1), when compared with that of 4, showed the absence of an angeloyl group replaced by a 3-hydroperoxy-2-methylen-butyryl residue. Detailed 2D NMR analysis confirmed this structural detail and located the additional residue at C-7.

Amygdaloidin F (6),  $C_{36}H_{50}O_{15}$  in the HRFABMS, was disclosed to be the 15-acetyl analogue of 5. Indeed, the  $^{1}$ H NMR spectrum showed the presence of a further singlet  $(\delta 1.70)$ , due to the 15-acetoxyl which replaced the characteristic exchangeable singlet attributed to the 15-OH (Table 1).

information for building up the structures of 7-12 as depicted in formula.

All the amygdaloidins possessed, as common and unique features, an  $\alpha$ -OH at C-13, and an angeloyl group at C-7. In addition, eight of the isolated compounds have a 3-hydroperoxy-2-methylen-butyryl residue, never isolated to date in a natural source. Interestingly, all the amygdaloidins adopt a preferred endo-type conformation, which is the less common among the naturally occurring jatrophane diterpenes. At present, a complete evaluation of the structural features determining the conformational option cannot be carried out. However, some conclusions can be drawn on the basis of the information acquired by our computational studies, as well as on the basis of the conformational options of the jatrophane compounds reported in the literature.

The *endo*-type conformation is generally adopted by compounds lacking substituents at C-7,  $^{12,13}$  while in jatrophanes preferring the exo-type conformation an acyloxy group is linked to this position.<sup>12,13</sup> In contrast with this general behaviour, amygdaloidin A-L, described in present paper, possess an *endo*-type conformation associated to the presence of a substituted C-7 (with OH, 3-hydroperoxy-2-methylen-butyrrate or angelate). This apparently unusual conformational option could be related

"OAc

10 Hydrp. Ac Ang Ac н Ac 11 Hydrp Ang Ac Н 12 Ang Ac Hydrp. н Ac Amygdaloidins G-L (7–12) showed the same molecular formula of 5 (see Section 3). Differences were related to the substituent location. This aspect has been solved by HMBC spectra, acquired for each compound, which gave key

to the presence of 13-OH, a structural feature peculiar to amygdaloidins; a hydrogen bond link with 15-OH (or with a 15-OAc in 6) could stabilise the observed *endo*-type conformation. This is in good agreement with our molecular



modelling study, pointing to a preferred *endo*-type conformation for 1 (Fig. 3), showing appropriate geometry between 13-OH and 15-OH for their intramolecular hydrogen binding.

In conclusion, the peculiar substitution pattern of the present set of jatrophane compounds expands considerably the library for this class of compounds, whose interest resides on their activity in reducing multidrug resistance associated to antitumor therapy. In this regard, a preliminary test on amygdaloidins showed them to increase drug accumulation in the cell. A complete analysis of their bioactivity will be published in the near future in a paper reporting a structure– activity relationship study of all jatrophane compounds so far isolated by our research group.

#### 3. Experimental

#### 3.1. General methods

High-resolution FAB mass spectra (glycerol matrix) were measured on a Prospec Fisons mass spectrometer. Optical rotations were determined on a Perkin-Elmer 192 polarimeter equipped with a sodium lamp (589 nm) and 10-cm microcell. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra were recorded at 500 and 125 MHz, respectively, on a Bruker AMX-500 spectrometer. Chemical shifts were referred to the residual solvent signal (CDCl<sub>3</sub>:  $\delta_{\rm H}$  7.26,  $\delta_{\rm C}$  77.0). The multiplicities of <sup>13</sup>C NMR resonances were determined by DEPT experiments. <sup>1</sup>H connectivities were determined by using COSY experiments; one-bond heteronuclear <sup>1</sup>H-<sup>13</sup>C connectivities were determined with 2D HSQC pulse sequence with an interpulse delay set for  ${}^{1}J_{CH}$  of 130 Hz. Two and three bond heteronuclear  ${}^{1}H^{-13}C$  connectivities were determined with 2D NMR HMBC experiments, optimized for  ${}^{2-3}J_{CH}$  of 8 Hz. Measurement of spatial coupling was obtained through 2D ROESY experiments. Medium pressure liquid chromatography (MPLC) was performed on a Büchi 861 apparatus using silica gel (230–400 mesh) as the stationary phase. HPLC in isocratic mode was performed on a Varian apparatus equipped with an RI-3 refractive index detector.

## 3.2. Extraction and isolation

The wild E. amygdaloides L., an evergreen shrub growing in shady, humid ground, has been collected in Parco Camaldoli (Napoli, Italy) on December 2002. The plant material was identified by Dr. Riccardo Motti, and a voucher specimen is kept at the Dipartimento di Arboricoltura, Botanica e Patologia Vegetale. Fresh whole plants (1.3 kg, fresh plant), including latex and roots, were extracted six times with 51 of EtOAc at room temperature. This extract (50.1 g) was partitioned between H<sub>2</sub>O and EtOAc, in order to remove hydrophilic and gummy compounds, and then the sole apolar fraction (20 g) was chromatographed by MPLC on silica gel column (230-400 mesh) using a gradient system from hexane 100% to EtOAc 100%. Preliminary NMR studies revealed that three fractions (eluted in hexane/ EtOAc 6:4, hexane/EtOAc 1:1 and hexane/EtOAc 3:7) contained diterpenoids of the jatrophane family and was further investigated.

The first fraction (hexane/EtOAc 6:4) was first purified by MPLC on silica gel column, from hexane/EtOAc 8:2 to EtOAc. Fraction eluted in hexane/EtOAc 4:6 was further separated first on a semipreparative HPLC direct phase column (hexane/EtOAc 7:3) and after on an analytic column in hexane/EtOAc 75:25 and afforded three new compounds 4 (4.8 mg), 6 (3.5 mg), 8 (3.3 mg) and 11 (1.3 mg). The second fraction (hexane/EtOAc 1:1) was first separated by MPLC on silica gel column, from hexane/EtOAc 7:3 to EtOAc, affording two jatrophane sub-fractions: 2A (88.0 mg) eluted in hexane/EtOAc 1:1 and 2B (285.6 mg) eluted in hexane/EtOAc 4:6. Fraction 2A was successively purified on an semipreparative HPLC direct phase column, using hexane/EtOAc 7:3 as the mobile phase, and finally on an analytical column in hexane/EtOAc 8:2 and afforded two new compounds: 9 (4.2 mg) and 7 (3.6 mg). Fraction 2B was further purified on an semipreparative HPLC direct phase column in hexane/EtOAc 65:35, and after on an analytic column in hexane/EtOAc 7:3 and afforded the new compounds 10 (3.3 mg), 5 (2.7 mg) and 12 (5.2 mg). The third fraction (hexane/EtOAc 3:7) was first separated by MPLC (from hexane/EtOAc 6:4 to EtOAc) and afforded two fractions: 3A (hexane/EtOAc 3:7, 190 mg) and 3B (hexane/EtOAc 2:8, 180 mg). Fraction 3A was purified two times by HPLC on silica gel, using hexane/EtOAc 1:1 and hexane/EtOAc 55:45 as the mobile phase, to give 1 (9.7 mg). Fraction 3B was purified two times by HPLC on silica gel, using hexane/EtOAc 45:55 and hexane/EtOAc 1:1 to give 2 (11.9 mg) and 3 (2.6 mg).

**3.2.1.** Amygdaloidin A (1). Yield 9.7 mg, colorless amorphous solid.  $[\alpha]^{25}{}_{\rm D}$  -22.17° (c=0.1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\rm max}$  (KBr) 3450, 1748, 1480 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRFABMS (positive ion): found *m*/*z* 754.3445 [M+H]<sup>+</sup>; calculated for C<sub>40</sub>H<sub>51</sub>O<sub>13</sub>N *m*/*z* 753.3360; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 1. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 3.

**3.2.2.** Amygdaloidin B (2). Yield 11.9 mg, colorless amorphous solid.  $[\alpha]^{25}{}_{\rm D}$  +117.69° (c=0.1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\rm max}$  (KBr) 3447, 1750, 1480 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRFABMS (positive ion): found *m*/*z* 712.3339 [M+H]<sup>+</sup>; calculated for C<sub>38</sub>H<sub>49</sub>O<sub>12</sub>N *m*/*z* 711.3255; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 1. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 3.

**3.2.3.** Amygdaloidin C (3). Yield 2.6 mg, colorless amorphous solid.  $[\alpha]_{D}^{25}$  +16.67° (c=0.1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>;  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3448, 1750, 1480 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRFABMS (positive ion): found *m*/*z* 744.3226 [M+H]<sup>+</sup>; calculated for C<sub>38</sub>H<sub>49</sub>O<sub>14</sub>N *m*/*z* 743.3153; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 1. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 3.

**3.2.4.** Amygdaloidin D (4). Yield 4.8 mg, colorless amorphous solid.  $[\alpha]^{25}_{D}$  +8.0° (*c*=0.1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3450, 1750, 1479 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRFABMS (positive ion): found *m*/*z* 649.3269 [M+H]<sup>+</sup>; calculated for C<sub>34</sub>H<sub>48</sub>O<sub>12</sub> *m*/*z* 648.3196; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 1. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 3.

**3.2.5.** Amygdaloidin E (5). Yield 2.7 mg, colorless amorphous solid.  $[\alpha]_{D}^{25}$  -16.71° (c=0.1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>;  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3450, 1749, 1479 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRFABMS (positive ion): found *m*/*z* 681.3128 [M+H]<sup>+</sup>; calculated for C<sub>34</sub>H<sub>48</sub>O<sub>14</sub>

m/z 680.3044; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 1. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 3.

**3.2.6.** Amygdaloidin F (6). Yield 3.5 mg, colorless amorphous solid.  $[\alpha]^{25}{}_{\rm D}$  -2.10° (c=0.1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\rm max}$  (KBr) 3448, 1750, 1478 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRFABMS (positive ion): found *m*/*z* 723.3231 [M+H]<sup>+</sup>; calculated for C<sub>36</sub>H<sub>50</sub>O<sub>15</sub> *m*/*z* 722.3149; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 1. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 3.

**3.2.7. Amygdaloidin G (7).** Yield 3.6 mg, white amorphous solid.  $[\alpha]_{D}^{25} - 25.0^{\circ}$  (c=0.1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3450, 1747, 1480 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRFABMS (positive ion): found m/z 681.3134 [M+H]<sup>+</sup>; calculated for C<sub>34</sub>H<sub>48</sub>O<sub>14</sub> m/z 680.3044; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 2. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 4.

**3.2.8.** Amygdaloidin H (8). Yield 3.3 mg, colorless amorphous solid.  $[\alpha]^{25}{}_{\rm D} -17.27^{\circ}$  (c=0.1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\rm max}$  (KBr) 3451, 1750, 1478 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRFABMS (positive ion): found *m*/*z* 681.3129 [M+H]<sup>+</sup>; calculated for C<sub>34</sub>H<sub>48</sub>O<sub>14</sub> *m*/*z* 680.3044; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 2. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 4.

**3.2.9. Amygdaloidin I** (9). Yield 4.2 mg, colorless amorphous solid.  $[\alpha]^{25}{}_{\rm D}$  -22.0° (c=0.1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\rm max}$  (KBr) 3450, 1749, 1480 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRFABMS (positive ion): found *m*/*z* 681.3135 [M+H]<sup>+</sup>; calculated for C<sub>34</sub>H<sub>48</sub>O<sub>14</sub> *m*/*z* 680.3044; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 2. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 4.

**3.2.10.** Amygdaloidin J (10). Yield 3.3 mg, colorless amorphous solid.  $[\alpha]^{25}{}_{D}$  -46.0° (c=0.1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{max}$  (KBr) 3448, 1750, 1479 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRFABMS (positive ion): found *m*/*z* 681.3132 [M+H]<sup>+</sup>; calculated for C<sub>34</sub>H<sub>48</sub>O<sub>14</sub> *m*/*z* 680.3044; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 2. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 4.

**3.2.11. Amygdaloidin K** (11). Yield 1.3 mg, colorless amorphous solid.  $[\alpha]^{25}{}_{\rm D}$  -19.33° (c=0.1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\rm max}$  (KBr) 3451, 1747, 1479 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRFABMS (positive ion): found *m*/*z* 681.3126 [M+H]<sup>+</sup>; calculated for C<sub>34</sub>H<sub>48</sub>O<sub>14</sub> *m*/*z* 680.3044; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 2. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 4.

**3.2.12.** Amygdaloidin L (12). Yield 5.2 mg, colorless amorphous solid.  $[\alpha]^{25}{}_{\rm D}$  -40.0° (c=0.1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>);  $\nu_{\rm max}$  (KBr) 3450, 1750, 1478 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRFABMS (positive ion): found *m*/*z* 681.3129 [M+H]<sup>+</sup>; calculated for C<sub>34</sub>H<sub>48</sub>O<sub>14</sub> *m*/*z* 680.3044; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 2. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) data: Table 4.

## 4. Molecular modelling calculations

Molecular modeling was run on a Silicon Graphics Indigo2 R10000 workstation. Amygdaloidin A and euphodendroidin I were built by using the Builder module in Insight2000.1 (Accelrys, San Diego). Atomic potentials and charges were assigned using the cff91 force field.<sup>15</sup> The starting conformations were geometrically optimized (Discover module, Accelrys, San Diego) with conjugate gradient<sup>16</sup> as minimization algorithm until the maximum RMS derivative was less than  $0.001 \text{ kcal mol}^{-1} \text{ Å}^{-1}$ . The conformational space of the compounds was sampled through 50 cycles of Simulated Annealing (Sybyl software, Tripos, San Louis). A starting temperature of 1000 K was applied to surmount torsional barriers, the structure was held at that temperature for 1000 fs, then the temperature was reduced to 200 K by an exponential decrement of 0.5 K/ fs. Resulting structures were subjected to the above reported molecular mechanic energy minimization protocol within the Insight2000.1 Discover module. All calculations were performed using CHCl<sub>3</sub> dielectric constant of 4.806. Resulting conformers were grouped in to families according to their dihedral angles values, and ranked by their conformational energy values.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Italian MIUR (Progetto Sostanze Naturali ed Analoghi Sintetici ad Attività Antitumorale). We thank Dr. Riccardo Motti (University of Naples Federico II) for identifying the plant material. Mass and NMR spectra were recorded at the 'Centro Interdipartimentale di Analisi Strumentale' of the University of Naples 'Federico II'.

#### **References and notes**

- Corea, G.; Fattorusso, E.; Lanzotti, V.; Taglialatela-Scafati, O.; Appendino, G.; Ballero, M.; Simon, P.-N.; Dumontet, C.; Di Pietro, A. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 46, 3395–3402.
- Corea, G.; Fattorusso, E.; Lanzotti, V.; Taglialatela-Scafati, O.; Appendino, G.; Ballero, M.; Simon, P.-N.; Dumontet, C.; Di Pietro, A. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2003, *11*, 5221–5227.
- Corea, G.; Fattorusso, E.; Lanzotti, V.; Motti, R.; Simon, P.-N.; Dumontet, C.; Di Pietro, A. J. Med. Chem. 2004, 47, 988–992.
- Corea, G.; Fattorusso, E.; Lanzotti, V.; Motti, R.; Simon, P.-N.; Dumontet, C.; Di Pietro, A. *Planta Med.* 2004, 70, 657–665.
- Hohmann, J.; Molnár, J.; Rédei, D.; Evanics, F.; Forgo, P.; Kálmán, A.; Argay, G.; Szabó, P. J. Med. Chem. 2002, 45, 2425–2431.
- Juliano, R.-L.; Ling, V. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1976, 455, 152–162.
- 7. Endicott, J.-A.; Ling, V. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1989, 58, 137–171.
- Bolhuis, H.; van Veen, H.-W.; Poolman, B.; Driessen, A.-J.-M.; Konings, W.-N. FEMS Microbiol.. *Rev.* 1997, 21, 55–84.
- 9. Higgins, C.-F. Curr. Biol. 1994, 4, 259-260.
- 10. Turner, R. *Euphorbias*; B.T. Batsford: London, 1995; pp 77–80.
- 11. Jeske, F. PhD Thesis, Technische Universität of Berlin, 1996.
- Jakupovic, J.; Jeske, F.; Morgenstern, T.; Tsichritzis, F.; Marco, J.-A.; Berendsohn, W. *Phytochemistry* **1998**, 47, 1583–1600.
- Appendino, G.; Jakupovic, S.; Tron, G.-C.; Jakupovic, J.; Milon, V.; Ballero, M. J. Nat. Prod. **1998**, 61, 749–756.

- Hohmann, J.; Vasas, A.; Gunther, G.; Mathe, I.; Evanics, F.; Dombi, G.; Jerkovich, G. J. Nat. Prod. 1997, 60, 331–335.
- 15. Maple, J. R.; Diniur, U.; Hagler, A.-T. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 1988, 85, 5350–5354.
- 16. Fletcher, R. In *Pratical Methods of Optimization*, Vol. 1; Wiley: New York, 1980.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 4495-4500

## **Reduction of indolo**[2,3-*b*]quinoxalines

Robert Engqvist,<sup>a</sup> Birgitta Stensland<sup>b</sup> and Jan Bergman<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Unit for Organic Chemistry, CNT, Department of Biosciences at Novum, Karolinska Institute, Novum Research Park, SE-141 57 Huddinge, Sweden and Södertörn University College, SE-141 04 Huddinge, Sweden

<sup>b</sup>AstraZeneca PAR & D, Preformulation and Biopharmaceutics, Solid State Analysis/SBBG BV341:3, SE-151 85 Södertälje, Sweden

Received 5 October 2004; revised 28 January 2005; accepted 10 February 2005

Available online 22 March 2005

**Abstract**—Reduction of indolo[2,3-*b*]quinoxalines with zinc in the presence of an anhydride gave *N*,*N*-diacyl trapped 6,11dihydroindolo[2,3-*b*]quinoxalines in 43–92% yields. When the reduction with zinc was performed in TFA/TFAA, an unexpected ring opened product was isolated in 49% yield. The structure of this product could be identified as 1,2-dihydro-1-trifluoroacetyl-3-[(2trifluoroacetylamino)phenyl]quinoxaline. © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Ellipticine (1) and a large numbers of its derivatives and analogues have potent antitumour activities.<sup>1</sup> Several indolo[2,3-*b*]quinoxalines have been studied in this context, which led us to the development of the lead compound 6-(*N*,*N*-dimethylaminoethyl-)2,3-dimethylindolo[2,3-*b*]-quinoxaline, **2a** (B-220), which contrary to ellipticine B-220 is inactive in most cancer models but does show potent activity against certain types of viruses (HSV-1, VZV, CMV).<sup>2</sup> The molecule B-220 exerts also a stabilizing effect on the formation of triple helixes of nucleic acids.<sup>3</sup>

Merour et al. have published an alternative route to tetracyclic indolic and azaindolic derivatives starting from 1-acetyl-2-bromo-3-indolinone and the appropriate diamine.<sup>4</sup> This reaction gave a mixture of dihydro compounds (e.g., **3a**) and the fully aromatized compounds (e.g., **2b**). Hydrolysis of **3a** gave the highly unstable parent dihydro compound **3b**.<sup>4</sup> At that point we wanted to synthesize dihydro derivatives of **2a**, such as **4a** and **4b**, because the dihydro derivative **4a** might be an active metabolite of **2a** and the diacetyl derivative **4b** might in vivo be hydrolysed to **4a**.

In this paper we report the outcome of the reduction of indolo[2,3-*b*]quinoxalines with Zn in the presence of anhydrides (Fig. 1).



Figure 1.

## 2. Results and discussion

As a part of our ongoing development of B-220 we aimed to have methodology to synthesize 5,11-dihydroindolo[2,3b]quinoxalines (potential metabolites). Reducing reagents such as Pd(C)/H<sub>2</sub>,<sup>5</sup> Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>,<sup>6</sup> LiAlH<sub>4</sub>,<sup>7</sup> Zn in acetic acid<sup>8</sup> are known to reduce, the structurally related, phenazines to the corresponding 5,10-dihydrophenazines. Reduction of phenazine itself with zinc in acetic anhydride was found, as

Keywords: Reduction; Indolo[2,3-b]quinoxaline.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +46 8 6089204; fax: +46 8 6081501; e-mail: jabe@cnt.ki.se

<sup>0040–4020/\$ -</sup> see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2005.02.060



Scheme 1. (i) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, Zn, reflux.



**Figure 2.** Atom numbering scheme for **6a** used in the crystal structure investigation. The displacements of the non-H atoms are drawn as ellipsoid at 50% probability level. H-atoms are shown as spheres with arbitrary radii.



Scheme 2. (i) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, THF, Zn, reflux.

expected, to give *N*,*N*-diacetyl-5,10-dihydrophenazine (5) in a good yield (79%) (Scheme 1).

Similar reduction of **2b** gave the desired product **6a** albeit contaminated with the *N*-acetylated product **2c**. Attemps to reduce **2c** failed. The formation of this by-product could be avoided by running the reaction in THF which exclusively gave **6a**. Recrystallisation of **6a** (Scheme 2) from ethyl acetate provided good quality crystals, which were used to confirm the structure of **6a** by X-ray crystallography (Fig. 2). According to this analysis, the dihedral angle between the two planes intersecting along the *N*,*N*-axis in the *N*,*N*-dihydropyrazine is 139°. This value could be compared with the corresponding angle reported for *N*,*N*-dihydrodimethylphenazine (144°).<sup>9</sup>

The corresponding dipropionylated compound, 6b, could similarly be prepared (43%) using propionic anhydride without any co-formation of 2d. When 2b was treated with zinc in boiling propionic anhydride (neat) for 20 h even the tripropionylated compound 6c could be obtained. Triacetyl or trifluoroacetyl derivatives could not be obtained even under forcing conditions, which most likely can be explained in terms of the relatively high boiling point (167 °C) of propionic anhydride compared to the boiling points of TFAA and acetic anhydride. When the reduction of 2a and 2b was performed with TFAA and zinc in THF the mono trifluoroacetylated compounds 6d and 6f, respectively, were isolated. To characterize 6d, NOE experiments were performed at 25 °C in DMSO. Due to the bent structure a very weak NOE interaction between the NH peaks ( $\delta$  11.11 and 9.72) could be observed. Because of a very weak NOE interaction between the NH peaks 6d was acetylated to attach a substituent  $(CH_3)$  which will be closer to the NH. This would corroborate the structure of the product to be **6d** and exclude the structure **6i**. The initial attempts were made with acetic anhydride with and without a solvent (THF) at room temperature and under heating failed and the product formed was 2c (quantitatively). The acetylation was successful under reductive conditions (zinc, THF, acetic anhydride) and the product thus formed was 6e.





Scheme 3. Reduction of indolo[2,3-b]quinoxalines to the corresponding mono-, di- or triacylated dihydro indolo[2,3-b]quinoxalines. \* From 6d.



Scheme 4. (i) Zn, TFAA, TFA, rt, 5 min.



Scheme 5. (i) KOH, EtOH, reflux, 48 h. (ii) Pd(C), H<sub>2</sub>, rt, 70 h.







To corroborate the structure of **6e** NOE experiments were performed, at 25 °C in DMSO, an NOE interaction between the NH peak and the methyl peak, from the acetyl group ( $\delta$  9.65 and 2.83) could be observed. Similarly, the product obtained by reduction of **2a** in the presence of zinc was



confirmed to be **6h** rather than the isomer **6j** (Fig. 3). Attempted hydrolysis of e.g. **6h** failed because the intended product **4a** is too prone to undergo dehydrogenation back to **2a** (Scheme 3).

When **2b** was reduced with zinc in a mixture of TFA and TFAA at room temperature a compound with the molecular weight of 415 was obtained. With this information the two structures **7** and **8** were contemplated (Scheme 4). Both trifluoroacetyl groups could be removed by KOH in refluxing ethanol. By reduction of the known nitro derivative **9**<sup>10</sup> with Pd(C)/H<sub>2</sub> to **10** we could exclude the



imine derivative **7** and confirm the structure as the dihydroquinoxaline derivative **8** (Scheme 5) (Fig. 4).

In summary, we have described the reduction of the biologically interesting indolo[2,3-*b*]quinoxalines with zinc and an appropriate anhydride delivering the corresponding dihydroindolo[2,3-*b*]quinoxalines in 43–92% yields (Scheme 3, Table 1).

### 3. Experimental

#### 3.1. General

Melting points were recorded on a Büchi Melting Point B-545 apparatus and are uncorrected. NMR spectra were recorded on a Brucker Advance 300 DPX spectrometer operating at 300 MHz ( $^{1}$ H)/75 MHz ( $^{13}$ C) and a Jeol Eclipse+500 FT NMR spectrometer operating at 500 MHz ( $^{1}$ H) (NOE experiments). DMSO-d<sub>6</sub> was used as solvent and internal standard if not otherwise noted. The IR spectra were recorded on an Avatar 330 FT-IR Thermo-Nicolet. Solvents were of analytical grade and used as received. Compound **9** was prepared according to a literature procedure.<sup>10</sup> Crystallographic data (excluding structure factors) for the structure in this paper have been deposited with the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre as supplementary publication numbers CCDC 251958.

Entry	S.m.	Solvent	Anhydride	Time (h)	Product (6)	Yield (%)	
1	2b	THF	(CH <sub>3</sub> CO) <sub>2</sub> O	20	а	68	
2	2b	THF	$(C_2H_5CO)_2O$	32	b	43	
3	2b		$(C_2H_5CO)_2O$	20	с	40	
4	2b	THF	$(CF_3CO)_2O$	2	d	92	
5	6d	THF	(CH <sub>3</sub> CO) <sub>2</sub> O	24	е	26	
6	2a	_	(CH <sub>3</sub> CO) <sub>2</sub> O	2	f	71	
7	2a	_	$(C_2H_5CO)_2O$	2	G	66	
8	2a	THF	$(CF_3CO)_2O$	1	Н	50	

Table 1. Reduction of indolo[2,3-b]quinoxalines with zinc in the presence of an appropriate anhydride

Copies of the data can be obtained, free of charge, on application to CCDC, 12 Union Road, Cambridge CB2 1EZ, UK [fax: +44-(0)1223-336033 or e-mail: deposit@ccdc.cam.ac.uk].

**3.1.1.** Synthesis of *N*,*N*-diacetyl-5,10-dihydrophenazine (5). Phenazine (3.60 g, 20 mmol) was heated at reflux with zinc powder (3.0 g, 46 mmol) in acetic anhydride (40 mL) for 3 h. The filtered mixture upon cooling deposited white crystals, 1.60 g. Concentration of the mother liquor gave a second crop 2.60 g, resulting in a total yield of 79%. Mp: 184–185 °C (lit.<sup>11</sup> mp: 180 °C). IR (neat): 3044, 2928, 1669, 1480, 1372, 1326, 1267, 1017, 780 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR:  $\delta$  7.68–7.62 (m, 4H, Ar*H*), 7.33–7.27 (m, 4H, Ar*H*), 2.30 (s, 6H, 2*Me*); <sup>13</sup>C NMR:  $\delta$  167.8 (s), 136.2 (s), 125.8 (d), 125.2 (d), 23.0 (q).

## **3.2.** General procedure for the reduction of indolo-[2,3-*b*]quinoxalines

Method A. Zinc powder (1.30 g; 20 mmol) was added to a solution of the appropriate indoloquinoxaline (2a or 2b, 5 mmol) in THF (50 mL) containing the appropriate anhydride (5 mL). The reaction mixture was heated under reflux until no starting material was left (determined by TLC). Thereafter the solution was poured into cold water and after a while a solid was formed. The crude product was isolated by filtration and washed with water and purified by recrystallisation.

*Method B.* Zinc powder (1.30 g; 20 mmol) was added to a solution of the appropriate indoloquinoxaline (**2a** or **2b**, 5 mmol) containing the appropriate anhydride (10 mL). The reaction mixture was heated under reflux until no starting material was left (determined by TLC). Thereafter, the solution was poured into cold water and extracted with ethyl acetate. The organic phase was washed with aq. NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, brine, dried with MgSO<sub>4</sub> and purified by chromathography (ethyl acetate–hexane).

*Method C.* Zinc powder (1.30 g; 20 mmol) was carefully added to mixture of **2b** (1.09 g; 5 mmol), TFA (2 mL) and TFAA (15 mL) at room temperature and the reaction mixture was stirred for 5 min and thereafter poured into ice-water. The solid thus formed was collected by filtration and washed with water. The solid was dissolved in EtOAc and washed with aq. NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (sat.), brine, dried with MgSO<sub>4</sub> and purified by chromatography (ethyl acetate–hexane, 3:7).

**3.2.1.** Synthesis of 6,11-diacetyl-5,11-dihydro-6*H*-indolo[2,3-*b*]quinoxaline (6a) via method A. Yield:

2.07 g (white crystals, double scale, 68%); mp: 201–204 °C; IR (neat): 3343, 1696, 1656, 1480, 1371, 1307, 1282, 752, and 746 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR:  $\delta$  9.18 (s, 1H, NH), 7.77 (d, *J*=8.2 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.42 (d, *J*=7.9 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.36–7.32 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.24 (t, *J*=7.3 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.17–7.11 (m, 2H, ArH), 6.98 (dt, *J*=7.6, 1.2 Hz, 1H, ArH), 2.82 (s, 3H, *Me*), 2.14 (s, 3H, *Me*); <sup>13</sup>C NMR:  $\delta$  170.9 (s), 170.8 (s), 138.9 (s), 136.9 (s), 131.3 (s), 128.3 (d), 126.9 (s), 126.1 (d), 125.5 (d), 124.5 (s), 123.4 (d), 121.2 (d), 117.1 (s), 116.7 (d), 114.5 (d), 103.2 (s), 26.8 (q), 21.9 (q). HR-MS (FAB): [M<sup>+</sup>], found 305.1156. C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>15</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub> requires 305.1164.

**3.2.2.** Synthesis of 6,11-dipropionyl-5,11-dihydro-6*H*-indolo[2,3-*b*]quinoxaline (6b) via method A. 2.5 equiv of propionic anhydride was used. 1.6 mL. Yield: 0.71 g (white crystals, 43%); mp: 120–123 °C; IR (neat): 3393, 2983, 2939, 1700, 1674, 1480, 1458, 1365, 1272, 1202 and 741 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR:  $\delta$  9.25 (s, 1H, N*H*), 7.76 (d, *J*=8.3 Hz, 1H, Ar*H*), 7.41 (d, *J*=7.8 Hz, 1H, Ar*H*), 7.35–7.29 (m, 2H, Ar*H*), 7.00 (t, *J*=7.4 Hz, 1H, Ar*H*), 7.16–7.08 (m, 2H, Ar*H*), 7.00 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 1.23 (t, *J*=7.0 Hz, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.47 (q, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H, *Me*); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (50 °C):  $\delta$  174.3 (s), 174.0 (s), 138.8 (s), 137.0 (s), 131.0 (s), 126.8 (s), 125.8 (d), 125.5 (d), 124.5 (s), 123.1 (d), 121.0 (d), 120.9 (d), 116.6 (d), 116.4 (d), 114.4 (d), 103.0 (s), 31.1 (t), 26.0 (t), 8.8 (q), 8.1 (q). HR-MS (FAB): [M<sup>+</sup>], found 333.1491. C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>19</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub> requires 333.1477.

**3.2.3.** Synthesis of 5,11-dihydro-5,6,11-tripropionyl-6*H*-indolo[2,3-*b*]quinoxaline (6c) via method B. Yield: 0.77 g (yellowish solid, 40%); mp: 165–166 °C; IR (neat): 2997, 2977, 2938, 2877, 1712, 1685, 1671, 1357, 1266, 1199, 1136, 767, 760, and 751 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR:  $\delta$  8.24 (d, *J*= 7.5 Hz, 1H, Ar*H*), 7.81–7.77 (m, 2H, Ar*H*), 7.61 (d, *J*= 6.8 Hz, 1H, Ar*H*), 7.41–7.29 (m, 4H, Ar*H*), 2.98–2.40 (m, 6H, 3C*H*<sub>2</sub>), 1.17–0.97 (m, 9H, 3*Me*); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (75 °C):  $\delta$  174.4 (s), 172.8 (s), 171.8 (s), 138.2 (s), 136.4 (s), 133.1 (s), 130.6 (s), 126.5 (d), 126.1 (s), 125.8 (d), 125.4 (d), 124.8 (s), 124.5 (d), 123.0 (d), 121.6 (s), 119.1 (d), 118.8 (s), 115.3 (d), 29.2 (t), 27.1 (t), 26.8 (t), 8.7 (q), 8.4 (q) and 8.2 (q). HR-MS (FAB): [M<sup>+</sup>], found 389.1743. C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>23</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>3</sub> requires 389.1739.

**3.2.4.** Synthesis of 5,11-dihydro-11-trifluoroacetyl-6*H*-indolo[2,3-*b*]quinoxaline (6d) via method A. Yield: 2.93 g (yellowish solid, double scale, 92%); mp: 231–232 °C; IR (neat): 3359, 3287, 1665, 1608, 1578, 1494, 1147, 1131, 758, 735, and 722 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR:  $\delta$  11.11 (s, 1H, *NH*), 9.72 (s, 1H, *NH*), 7.44 (d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.35–7.15 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.02–6.94 (m, 3H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (75 °C):  $\delta$ 

154.7 (s, q,  $J_{CF}$ =35.6 Hz), 139.4 (s), 137.2 (s), 132.1 (s), 127.1 (d), 124.2 (d), 123.9 (d), 123.8 (d), 121.5 (s), 120.4 (d), 119.3 (d), 118.5 (d), 117.0 (d), 116.7 (s, q,  $J_{CF}$ = 288.5 Hz), 110.6 (d) and 97.0 (s). HR-MS (FAB): [M<sup>+</sup>], found 317.0773. C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>15</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub> requires 317.0776.

**3.2.5.** Synthesis of 6-acetyl-5,11-dihydro-11-trifluoroacetyl-6*H*-indolo[2,3-*b*]quinoxaline (6e) via method A. Yield: 0.23 g (yellowish crystals, 1/2 scale, 26%); mp: 193– 194 °C; IR (neat): 3336, 3061, 2995, 2940, 1704, 1686, 1479, 1203, 1138, 1109, 995, 760, 744, and 720 cm<sup>-1:</sup>. <sup>1</sup>H NMR:  $\delta$  9.65 (s, 1H, N*H*), 7.79 (d, *J*=8.2 Hz, 1H, Ar*H*), 7.51 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H, Ar*H*), 7.46 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H, Ar*H*), 7.56 (d, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1H, Ar*H*), 7.29–7.23 (m, 2H, Ar*H*), 7.18 (t, *J*=8.2 Hz, 1H, Ar*H*), 7.08 (t, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1H, Ar*H*), 2.83 (s, 3H, *Me*); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (55 °C):  $\delta$  170.7 (s), 155.4 (s, q, *J*<sub>CF</sub>=36.5 Hz), 138.7 (s), 137.5 (s), 131.1 (s), 127.5 (d), 123.8 (d), 123.4 (s), 123.2 (d), 121.7 (d), 121.5 (d), 117.5 (d), 171.1 (d), 115.9 (s, q, *J*<sub>CF</sub>=287.9 Hz), 114.2 (d), 101.2 (s), and 26.5 (q). HR-MS (FAB): [M<sup>+</sup>], found 359.0876. C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>12</sub>F<sub>3</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub> requires 359.0882.

**3.2.6.** Synthesis of **5,11-diacetyl-5,11-dihydro-2,3-dimethyl-6-(2-dimethylaminoethyl)-6***H***-indolo[<b>2,3-***b*]-**quinoxaline (6f) via method B.** Yield: 1.43 g (white crystals, 71%); mp 86–88 °C; IR (neat): 3051, 2940, 2820, 2768, 1682, 1493, 1454, 1366, 1314, 1266, 1017, 743 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR:  $\delta$  7.64–7.54 (m, 3H, Ar*H*), 7.45 (s, 1H, Ar*H*), 7.22–7.10 (m, 2H, Ar*H*), 4.39–4.15 (m, 2H, –C*H*<sub>2</sub>–), 2.52–2.48 (m, 2H, –C*H*<sub>2</sub>–), 2.35 (s, 3H, *Me*), 2.32 (s, 3H, *Me*), 2.25 (s, 3H, *Me*), 2.23 (s, 3H, *Me*), 2.06 (s, 6H, 2*Me*); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (110 °C):  $\delta$  169.5 (s), 167.6 (s), 136.0 (s), 134.2 (s), 133.5 (s), 133.4 (s), 133.2 (s), 133.0 (s), 125.6 (d), 125.3 (d), 121.0 (d), 119.7 (s), 119.3 (d), 118.0 (d), 112.6 (s), 110.0 (d), 56.9 (t), 44.3 (q), 41.7 (t), 21.8 (q), 21.4 (q), 18.0 (q) and 17.9 (q). HR-MS (FAB): [M<sup>+</sup> + H], found 405.2299. C<sub>24</sub>H<sub>29</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>2</sub> requires 405.2291.

3.2.7. Synthesis of 5,11-dipropionyl-5,11-dihydro-2,3dimethyl-6-(2-dimethylaminoethyl)-6H-indolo[2,3-b]quinoxaline (6g) via method B. Yield: 1.43 g (white crystals, 66%); At larger scales a convenient work-up consist of: removing the remaining zinc by filtration and thereafter treating the reaction mixture with water and separating the two phases thus formed. The water phase was cooled and basified with ammonia (aq., conc.). The solid thus formed was collected by filtration and washed with water and dried. Yield: 6.90 g (80%, from 20 mmol B-220). mp: 66-68 °C; IR (neat): 2973, 2939, 2821, 2769, 1678, 1490, 1452, 1358, 1244, 1173, and 742 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR:  $\delta$ 7.55–7.48 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.45 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.19 (t, J =7.3 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.11 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H, ArH), 4.37–4.17 (m, 2H, -CH<sub>2</sub>-), 2.94-2.65 (m, 3H), 2.55-2.39 (m, 3H), 2.24 (s, 3H, *Me*), 2.22 (s, 3H, *Me*), 2.06 (s, 6H, 2*Me*), 1.02 (q, J=7.4 Hz, 6H, 2*Me*); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (110 °C):  $\delta$  173.3 (s), 171.4 (s), 136.3 (s), 134.1 (s), 133.7 (s), 133.6 (s), 133.4 (s), 133.0 (s), 125.8 (d), 125.4 (d), 121.0 (d), 119.8 (s), 119.4 (d), 117.7 (d), 112.5 (s), 110.1 (d), 57.0 (t), 44.4 (q), 41.6 (t), 26.6 (t), 26.4 (t), 18.1 (q), 18.0 (q), 8.5 (q) and 8.1 (q). HR-MS (FAB):  $[M^+ + H]$ , found 433.2601.  $C_{26}H_{33}N_4O_2$ requires 433.2604.

# **3.2.8.** Synthesis of 5,11-dihydro-11-trifluoroacetyl-2,3-dimethyl-6-(2-dimethylaminoethyl)-6*H*-indolo[2,3-*b*]-

**quinoxaline (6h) via method B.** Yield: 1.03 g (yellowish solid, 50%); mp: 170–173 °C; IR (neat): 3053, 2955, 2796, 1676, 1494, 1463, 1141, 855, and 723 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR:  $\delta$  9.88 (s, 1H, NH), 7.34 (d, J=6.6 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.29 (d, J= 7.2 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.22 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.00–6.95 (m, 3H, ArH), 4.29 (t, J=6.0 Hz, 2H,  $-CH_2$ -), 2.60 (t, J=6.0 Hz, 2H,  $-CH_2$ -), 2.27 (s, 6H, 2Me), 2.22 (s, 3H, Me), 2.18 (s, 3H, Me). No <sup>13</sup>C NMR could be recorded due to low solubility and instability in warm DMSO. HR-MS (FAB): [M<sup>+</sup>], found 416.1823. C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>23</sub>F<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O requires 416.1824.

**3.2.9.** Synthesis of 1,2-dihydro-1-trifluoroacetyl-3-[(2-trifluoroacetylamino)phenyl]-quinoxaline (8) via method C. Yield: 1.02 g (yellowish solid, 49%). mp: 150–151 °C; IR (neat): 2858, 1706, 1542, 1266, 1190, 1155, 1138, 1091, 749, 727, and 703 cm<sup>-1</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  14.49 (s, 1H, NH), 8.80 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.85–7.75 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.61 (dt, J=7.9 Hz, 1.2, 1H, ArH), 7.54–7.30 (m, 4H, ArH), 4.90 (s, 2H,  $-CH_2$ –). Due to instability in most solvents no <sup>13</sup>C NMR could be recorded. HR-MS (FAB): [M<sup>+</sup> + H], found 416.0840. C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>12</sub>F<sub>6</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>2</sub> requires 416.0834.

**3.2.10. Syntheses of 2-(2-aminophenyl)-quinoxaline (10).** *From compound* **8**. A solution of KOH (0.41 g; 7.3 mmol), **8** (0.75 g; 1.8 mmol) and ethanol (10 mL) was refluxed for 48 h. The reaction mixture was poured into water (100 mL) and the solid thus formed was collected by filtration, washed with water, dried and purified by chromatography (EtOAc–Hexane, 1:4). Yield: 0.30 g (yellow solid, 75%).

From compound 9. A solution of 910 (0.50 g; 2 mmol), Pd(C) (5%, 0.05 g) and ethanol (100 mL) was treated under  $H_2$  at for 70 h. The reaction mixture was filtered through Celite, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the solid thus formed was purified by chromatography (EtOAc–Hexane, 1:4). Yield: 0.26 g (yellow solid, 59%).

Mp: 127 °C (dec.); IR (neat): 3340, 3148, 1613, 1538, 1472, 1249, 760, and 735 cm<sup>-1</sup>.; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  9.34 (s, 1H, Ar*H*), 8.10 (dd, *J*=8.0 Hz, 1.9, Ar*H*), 8.05 (dd, *J*=7.5 Hz, 2.0, Ar*H*), 7.78–7.73 (m, 2H, Ar*H*), 7.28 (dt, *J*=7.7 Hz, 1.3, Ar*H*), 6.90–6.83 (m, 2H, Ar*H*), 6.21 (s, 2H,  $-NH_2$ ); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  153.8 (s), 148.4 (s), 145.0 (d), 140.8 (s), 140.5 (s), 131.6 (d), 130.5 (d), 129.7 (2C, d), 128.9 (d), 118.5 (s), 117.9 (d), 117.8 (d). HR-MS (FAB): [M<sup>+</sup> + H], found 222.1039. C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>12</sub>N<sub>3</sub> requires 222.1031.

### **References and notes**

- Gribble, G. W. In *The Alkaloids*; Academic: London, 1990; Vol. 39, p 239.
- (a) Harmenberg, J.; Wahren, B.; Bergman, J.; Åkerfeldt, S.; Lundblad, L. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 1988, 32, 1720.
  (b) Harmenberg, J.; Åkesson-Johansson, A.; Gräslund, A.; Malmfors, T.; Bergman, J.; Wahren, B.; Åkerfeldt, S.; Lundblad, L.; Cox, S. Antiviral Res. 1991, 15, 193.
- (a) Behravan, G.; Leijon, M.; Vallberg, H.; Bergman, J.; Gräslund, A. *Biopolymers* 1994, 34, 599. (b) Sehlstedt, U.;

Aich, P.; Bergman, J.; Vallberg, H.; Nordén, B.; Gräslund, A. *J. Mol. Biol.* **1998**, *278*, 31.

- 4. Alphonse, F.-A.; Routier, S.; Coudert, G.; Mérour, J-Y. *Heterocycles* 2001, 55, 925.
- 5. Birkofer, L. Chem. Ber. 1952, 85, 1029.
- 6. Scholl, R. Monatsh. Chem. 1918, 39, 238.
- 7. Birkofer, L.; Birkofer, A. Chem. Ber. 1952, 85, 286.
- Koegl, F.; Postowsky, J. Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1930, 480, 280.
- 9. Holzapfel, M.; Lambert, C.; Selinka, C.; Stalke, D. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 2002, 1553.
- 10. Steinbach, L.; Becker, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1954, 76, 580.
- 11. Birkofer, L. Chem. Ber. 1952, 85, 1023.